

HIGHER DEGREE THESIS AUTHOR'S CONSENT DOCTORATE DEGREE

This is to certify that I, Ranka Power of Philosophy in Ancient History am aware of the po	being a candidate for the degree of Doctor plicy of the University relating to the retention
and use of higher degree theses as contained in the University's H	Higher Degree Research Thesis Preparation,
Submission and Examination Policy.	
In the light of this policy, I agree to allow a copy of my thesis to consultation, loan and photocopying forthwith.	o be deposited in the University Library for
Signature of Candidate	Full Name & Signature of Witness
Date: - -	Date: 11-11-2011 ROBERT POWER



The Academic Senate on 03 April 2012 resolved that Miss Ronika Power had satisfied the requirements for admission to the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

This thesis represents a major part of the prescribed program of study.

1874811

Thesis DT 62 T6 P69 vol 1



FROM THE CRADLE TO THE GRAVE

Child, Infant and Foetal Burials in the Egyptian Archaeological Record from the Early Dynastic Period to the Middle Kingdom (ca. 3300–1650 BC)

VOLUME I



A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

by

Ronika K. Power

B.A. (Hons), MSc HOP

Department of Ancient History
Macquarie University
Sydney, Australia
2011

DECLARATION

I, Ronika Kathleen Power, hereby declare that the material in this thesis entitled *From the Cradle to the Grave: Child, Infant and Foetal Burials in the Egyptian Archaeological Record from the Early Dynastic Period to the Middle Kingdom (ca. 3300–1650 BC)* has not been previously submitted as part of the requirements for a higher degree at this or any other institution.

I declare that this is an original piece of research wholly written by me. Any assistance I have received in my research and in the preparation of this thesis have been duly acknowledged. All literature and information sources used within the thesis are cited in the text.

Dated this 11th day of November 2011.

Ronika Kathleen Power.

ABSTRACT

This research investigates how current disciplinary perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture correspond with its actual nature and scope. It engages the fields of history, archaeology, physical anthropology and philosophy to present an interdisciplinary investigation of child, infant and foetal burials in the Egyptian archaeological record. The research is based on a sample of 1,809 children, infants and foetuses derived from a survey of all available published archaeological data from the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods (ca. 3300–1650 BC), supplemented by unpublished Early Dynastic cemetery data from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project. This thesis addresses the absence of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture in Egyptian archaeological research. To date, scholars have surmised that published cemetery data rarely include significant numbers of child, infant and foetal burials, thereby rendering them unavailable for study. This apparent absence is attributed to differential burial practices for these individuals, based on an assumption that at this young age, they were not considered embodied members of the community. However, these hypotheses have been formed without consultation of available historical, archaeological, and skeletal evidence. As a result, children are marginalised within Egyptian archaeological narratives. While many studies consider the position, value and agency of Egyptian children via their artistic and epigraphic representations, such methodologies confine children's lived experiences within the conceptual boundaries of socialisation and familism. In this frame, they are denied the same ontological status as adults. Quantitative and qualitative data analyses delivered in this thesis recalibrate these perspectives of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture and revise their lived experiences and cultural capacities in Egyptian society. The identification of so many children in the archaeological record confirms their suitability as subjects of research. The observation of the majority of child, infant and foetal burials in communal cemetery contexts refute hypotheses of supposed differential mortuary treatment. Consistent observations of profound similarities between child and adult mortuary culture are found to be indicative of their ontological equity during the timeframes canvassed by this research. In contrast to current reconstructions of children as passive familial appendages, this research demonstrates that ancient Egyptian children, infants and foetuses were considered individual social entities with complete cultural capacities, and were actively engaged in extensive social networks between and amongst communities of both the living and the dead.

Morgan, Ethan, Harrison, Sebastian, Ameila, Anneka, Caris and Alistair Power

Pandora Humphreys-Power

Hayden, Jackson, Henry and Madeleine Gifford

Lily Foltyn, Dashiell Gurung and Antoine Tristant

Evie and Myles Vartha

ååå

This thesis is lovingly dedicated to all the little ones
Including those who didn't quite make it and those still to come
You are among the greatest teachers in my journey through life and learning
Thank you for your patience while Tante finished her 'book'
Now, let's go swimming!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOLUME 1: TEXT

Declaration		1
Abstract		iii
Dedication		iv
Table of Conte	nts	V
Abbreviations		xiv
Acknowledgen	nents	xvii
Epigram		xxi
CHAPTER 1	Introduction	
1.1	Research Context	1
1.2	Research Aims and Purpose	3
1.3	Research Objectives	3
1.4	Materials and Methods	4
1.4.1	Chronological Parameters	4
1.4.2	Geographical Parameters	5
1.4.3	Biological Parameters	6
1.4.4	Archaeological Survey Parameters	7
1.4.5	Data Storage and Presentation	7
1.5	Definitions	8
1.6	Structure	9
CHAPTER 2	LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1	Current Perceptions of Child, Infant and Foetal Mortuary Culture	13
2.2	Children, Infants and Foetuses in Published Cemetery Data	16
2.3	Differential Burial Practices	17
2.4	Infanticide and Pedicide	19
2.4.1	The Value of the Child in Ancient Egypt	23
2.5	Preservation Potential of Juvenile Remains	28
2.6	Identification and Excavation of Juvenile Remains	30
2.7	Child, Infant and Foetal Palaeodemography	31
2.7.1	Sex Assessment and Age Estimation	31
2.7.2	Palaeopathology	31
2.8	Children's Lived Experiences and Cultural Capacities	32
2.9	Artistic and Epigraphic Representations of Children	32
2.10	The Historiography of 'Childhood'	36
2.11	Children, Childhood and Social Theory	38
2.11.1	Children's Bodies and Social Theory	38
2.11.2	'Childhood' and Social Theory	41
2.12	Conclusion	42
CHAPTER 3	PRIMARY RESULTS	
3.1	Overview	45
3.2	Distributions by Geographical Regions	45
3.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	45

3.2.2	General Geographical Regions	48
3.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	48
3.3	Distributions by Relative Chronology	48
3.3.1	Specific Geographical Regions	49
3.3.2	General Geographical Regions	49
3.3.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	50
3.4	Distributions by Site Types	50
3.4.1	Cemetery Burials	51
3.4.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	51
3.4.1.2	General Geographical Regions	51
3.4.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	52
3.4.1.4	Individual Sites	52
3.4.1.5	Relative Chronology by Site Type	52
3.4.1.6	Relative Chronology by Site Type Relative Chronology in Specific Geographical Regions	53
3.4.2	Settlement Burials	53
3.4.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	53
3.4.2.2	General Geographical Regions	54
3.4.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	54 54
3.4.2.4	Individual Sites	54 54
3.4.2.5	Relative Chronology	56
3.4.2.6	Relative Chronology in Specific Geographical Regions	57
3.4.2.0		57
3.4.4	Temple Burials Funerary Enclosure Burials	58
3.4.5	Mixed-Type Sites	58
3.4.5.1	Specific Geographical Regions	58
3.4.5.2	Relative Chronology	58
3.4.3.2	Summary	59
3.3	Summary	39
CHAPTED 4	PALAEODEMOGRAPHY	
CHAPTER 4	I ALAEUDENIUGRAFII I	
4.1	Age-at-Death: Overview	61
		61 62
4.1	Age-at-Death: Overview	
4.1 4.1.1	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories	62
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories	62 63
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions	62 63 64
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions	62 63 64 64
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology	62 63 64 64 65
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types	62 63 64 64 65 65
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview	62 63 64 64 65 65
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 70 71 72
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72 73
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5 CHAPTER 5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72 73 75
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5 CHAPTER 5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION Overview	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72 73 75
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5 CHAPTER 5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION Overview Side Placement: Overview	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72 73 75
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5 CHAPTER 5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION Overview Side Placement: Overview Specific Geographical Regions	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 70 71 72 72 73 75
4.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.3.1 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.5 CHAPTER 5	Age-at-Death: Overview Specific Age Categories Specific and General Age Categories Age-at-Death Distributions Specific Geographical Regions Relative Chronology Site Types Sex Distribution: Overview Sex Distribution by Age Categories Palaeopathology Health Assessment Methodology Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories Summary BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION Overview Side Placement: Overview	62 63 64 64 65 65 66 70 71 72 72 73 75

5.2.4	Relative Chronology	81
5.2.5	Site Types	82
5.2.6	Age Categories	82
5.3	Head Orientation: Overview	83
5.3.1	Specific Geographical Regions	84
5.3.2	General Geographical Regions	84
5.3.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	85
5.3.4	Relative Chronology	85
5.3.5	Site Types	85
5.3.6	Age Categories	86
5.4	Facial Orientation: Overview	87
5.4.1	Specific Geographical Regions	87
5.4.2	General Geographical Regions	88
5.4.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	88
5.4.4	Relative Chronology	88
5.4.5	Site Types	89
5.4.6	Age Categories	89
5.5	Arm Position: Overview	89
5.5.1	Specific Geographical Regions	90
5.5.2	General Geographical Regions	90
5.5.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	91
5.5.4	Relative Chronology	91
5.5.5	Site Types	91
5.5.6	Age Categories	92
5.6	Leg Position: Overview	92
5.6.1	Specific Geographical Regions	92
5.6.2	General Geographical Regions	93
5.6.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	93
5.6.4	Relative Chronology	93
5.6.5	Site Types	94
5.6.6	Age Categories	94
5.7	Summary	94
CHAPTER 6	BODILY TREATMENT	
6.1	Overview	97
6.2	Wrapping	98
6.2.1	Wrapping in Reed Matting	98
6.2.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	99
6.2.1.2	General Geographical Regions	99
6.2.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	99
6.2.1.4	Relative Chronology	100
6.2.1.5	Site Types	100
6.2.1.6	Age Categories	100
6.2.2	Wrapping in Textile	100
6.2.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	101
6.2.2.2	General Geographical Regions	101
6.2.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	101
6.2.2.4	Relative Chronology	102
6.2.2.5	Site Types	102
6.2.1.6	Age Categories	102
6.2.3	Wrapping in Animal Skin	103
	11 0	100

6.2.4	Wrapping in Rope Matting	103
6.2.5	Wrapping in Gold Sheet	103
6.2.6	Wrapping in Multiple Materials	104
6.3	Bedding	104
6.3.1	Bedding in/on Reed Matting	105
6.3.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	105
6.3.1.2	General Geographical Regions	105
6.3.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	105
6.3.1.4	Relative Chronology	106
6.3.1.5	Site Types	106
6.3.1.6	Age Categories	106
6.3.2	Bedding in/on Textile Wadding/Padding	106
6.3.3	Bedding in/on Reeds	108
6.3.4	Bedding on Ash	109
6.3.5	Bedding in/on Wooden Boards	109
6.3.6	Bedding in/on Sticks	110
6.3.7	Bedding in/on Sand	111
6.3.8	Bedding in/on Rope Matting	111
6.3.9	Bedding in/on Straw	111
6.3.10	Bedding in/on Stone	112
6.3.11	Bedding in/on Multiple Materials	112
6.4	Bedding and Wrapping in Multiple Materials	113
6.5	Mummification	113
6.6	Topical Applications	115
6.7	Coffins	117
6.7.1	Wooden Coffins	117
6.7.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	117
6.7.1.2	General Geographical Regions	118
6.7.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	118
6.7.1.4	Relative Chronology	118
6.7.1.5	Site Types	119
6.7.1.6	Age Categories	119
6.7.2	Ceramic Vessel Coffins (Pot Burials)	119
6.7.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	120
6.7.2.2	General Geographical Regions	120
6.7.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	120
6.7.2.4	Relative Chronology	121
6.7.2.5	Site Types	121
6.7.2.6	Age Categories	121
6.7.3	Basketry Coffins	121
6.7.3.1	Specific Geographical Regions	122
6.7.3.2	General Geographical Regions	122
6.7.3.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	122
6.7.3.4	Relative Chronology	122
6.7.3.5	Site Types	123
6.7.3.6	Age Categories	123
6.7.4	Ceramic Coffins	123
6.7.5	Mud Coffins	125
6.7.6	Reed Coffins	126
6.7.7	Brick Coffins	127
678	Stone Coffins	128

6.7.9	Stucco Coffins	128
6.7.10	Burial in Multiple Coffins	128
6.7.11	Coffin Treatments	129
6.8	Multiple Treatments: Wrapping, Bedding and/or Coffins	129
6.9	Summary	130
CHAPTER 7	Tomb Architecture	
7.1	Overview	133
7.2	Superstructures: Overview	135
7.2.1	Mastabas	136
7.2.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	136
7.2.1.2	General Geographical Regions	136
7.2.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	136
7.2.1.4	Relative Chronology	137
7.2.1.5	Site Types	137
7.2.1.6	Age Categories	137
7.2.2	Brick Features	138
7.2.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	138
7.2.2.2	General Geographical Regions	138
7.2.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	138
7.2.2.4	Relative Chronology	139
7.2.2.5	Site Types	139
7.2.2.6	Age Categories	139
7.2.3	Stone Markers	139
7.2.4	Post Holes	140
7.3	Substructures: Overview	140
7.3.1	Pit Graves	141
7.3.1.1	Specific Geographical Regions	141
7.3.1.2	General Geographical Regions	141
7.3.1.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	141
7.3.1.4	Relative Chronology	142
7.3.1.5	Site Types	142
7.3.1.6	Age Categories	142
7.3.2	Shaft Graves	142
7.3.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	143
7.3.2.2	General Geographical Regions	143
7.3.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	143
7.3.2.4	Relative Chronology	144
7.3.2.5	Site Types	144
7.3.2.6	Age Categories	144
7.3.3	Rock-Cut Tombs	144
7.3.3.1	Specific Geographical Regions	145
7.3.3.2	General Geographical Regions	145
7.3.3.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	145
7.3.3.4	Relative Chronology	145
7.3.3.5	Site Types	146
7.3.3.6	Age Categories	146
7.3.4	Multi-Roomed Shaft Tombs	147
7.3.4.1	Specific Geographical Regions	147
7.3.4.2	General Geographical Regions	147
7.3.4.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	147

7.3.4.4	Relative Chronology	148
7.3.4.5	Site Types	148
7.3.4.6	Age Categories	148
7.3.5	Staircase Tombs	148
7.3.5.1	Specific Geographical Regions	148
7.3.5.2	General Geographical Regions	149
7.3.5.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	149
7.3.5.4	Relative Chronology	149
7.3.5.5	Site Types	150
7.3.5.6	Age Categories	150
7.3.6	Brick-Built Tombs	150
7.3.6.1	Specific Geographical Regions	150
7.3.6.2	General Geographical Regions	150
7.3.6.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	151
7.3.6.4	Relative Chronology	151
7.3.6.5	Site Types	151
7.3.6.6	Age Categories	151
7.4	Tomb Size: Overview	152
7.4.1	Superstructure Size	153
7.4.2	Substructure Size	154
7.5	Decorative/Religious Features	155
7.6	Summary	155
CHAPTER 8	ASSOCIATED FEATURES	
8.1	Overview	159
8.2	Multiple Burials: Incidence	160
8.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	162
8.2.2	General Geographical Regions	162
8.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	163
8.2.4	Relative Chronology	163
8.2.5	Site Types	163
8.2.6	Age Categories	163
8.3	Multiple Burials: Nature and Scope	164
8.3.1	Simple Multiple Burials with Other CIFs	164
8.3.2	Simple Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents	165
8.3.3	Combined Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents	165
8.3.4	Combined Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents and Other CIFs	166
8.4	Corresponding Burials: Incidence	167
8.4.1	Specific Geographical Regions	167
8.4.2	General Geographical Regions	167
8.4.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	168
8.4.4	Relative Chronology	168
8.4.5	Site Types	168
8.4.6	Age Categories	168
8.5	Corresponding Burials: Nature and Scope	169
8.5.1	Corresponding Burials: Demographic Overview	169
8.5.2	Corresponding Burials: Nature of Association	170
8.5.2.1	Corresponding Burials in Highly Disturbed Contexts	170
8.5.2.2	Mutually Associated Corresponding Burials within	
	Antecedent Burial Contexts (versus "Intrusive" Burials)	171
8.5.2.3	Corresponding Burials within Discreet Tomb Contexts	175

8.5.2.4	Mutually Associated Corresponding Burials	175
8.5.2.5	Corresponding and Multiple Burials within Discreet Tomb	
	Contexts	177
8.5.2.6	Corresponding Burials in Antecedent Burial Contexts	178
8.5.2.7	Corresponding Burial via Archaeological Intervention	179
8.6	Burials Associated with Pyramids	180
8.7	Unknown Features	181
8.8	Summary	181
CHAPTER 9	GRAVE GOODS	
9.1	Overview	186
9.1.1	Theories of Entitlement	188
9.2	Grave Good Distribution	191
9.2.1	Specific Geographical Regions	191
9.2.2	General Geographical Regions	191
9.2.3	Nilotic Geographical Regions	192
9.2.4	Relative Chronology	192
9.2.5	Site Types	193
9.2.6	Age Categories	193
9.3	Grave Good Categories	193
9.3.1	Jewellery	195
9.3.2	Ceramic Vessels	196
9.3.3	Amulets	197
9.3.4	Tools	199
9.3.5	Stone Vessels	200
9.3.6	Cosmetic Equipment and Products	202
9.3.7	Funerary Furniture	203
9.3.8	Shells and Fossils	204
9.3.9	Figurines and Models	205
9.3.10	Scarabs	206
9.3.11	Recreation Items	207
9.3.12	Personal Adornment and Equipment	208
9.3.13	Seals and Seal Impressions	210
9.3.14	Organics: Food Items	211
9.3.15	Weaponry	212
9.3.16	Other Vessels	213
9.3.17	Textiles	214
9.3.18	Clothing and Footwear	215
9.3.19	Inorganic Raw Materials	217
9.3.20	Organic Raw Materials	218
9.3.21	Organics: Fuel	218
9.3.22	Animal Products	219
9.4	Grave Good Materials	219
9.4.1	Ceramics	220
9.4.2	Local Stone	221
9.4.3	Faience and Glaze	223
9.4.4	Faunal Materials	224
9.4.5	Metal	225
9.4.6	Organics	226
9.4.7	Wood	227
9.4.8	Textiles	228

9.4.9	Imported Stone	229
9.4.10	Minerals	230
9.4.11	Raw Materials	231
9.4.12	Glass and Frit	232
9.4.13	Manufactured Materials	232
9.5	Grave Good Origins	233
9.6	Grave Good Inscriptions	234
9.7	Summary	236
CHAPTER 10	DISCUSSION	
10.1	Quantitative Summary	242
10.1.1	Differential Burial Practices	243
10.1.2	Corporeality	244
10.2	Qualitative Analyses	245
10.2.1	Understanding Mortuary Behaviour	247
10.2.2	The Ritual Context of Burial	249
10.2.3	Construction, Transmission and Transference of Collective Identity	252
10.2.4	Departures	255
10.2.5	Cultural Capacities and Lived Experiences	256
10.3	Limitations of the Study: Representativeness	259
10.3.1	Differential Preservation	260
10.3.2	Incomplete Excavation and Recording	261
10.3.3	The 'Osteological Paradox'	263
10.3.4	Intra- and Inter-Observer Error	264
10.3.5	Poor Reporting	264
10.4	Authorial Bias	266
10.5	'Toys'	267
10.5.1	'Toys' or Ritual Objects?	269
10.5.2	'Toys' or Weapons?	271
10.6	Coffins	272
10.6.1	Pot Burials	273
10.6.2	Incidence	274
10.6.3	Interpretations	275
10.6.4	(Mis)Understandings	278
10.6.5	(Re)Use	280
10.6.6	Gift Traditions	282
10.7	Differential Burial Practices	285
10.7.1	Settlement Burials	285
10.7.2	Incidence	286
10.7.3	Aetiology	288
10.7.4	Choice?	291
10.7.5	Stratigraphy	295
10.8	Status	298
10.8.1	Status Anxiety?	299
10.8.2	Thin Sample, Thick Description	303
10.9	Summary	304
CHAPTER 11	Conclusion	
11.1	Research Aims	309
11.2	Research Purpose	311
11.3	Opportunities for Future Research	311

BIBLIOGRAPHY 315

Epigram 366

APPENDIX Attached as a CD-ROM to the inside back cover of this volume

Contents: - User Guide (Microsoft Word 97–2003 Document)

- The Nursery (Filemaker Pro 9 Advanced database)

(DRNs 1-1454; GGRNs 1-2988)

- The Nursery (Microsoft Excel Document)

(DRNs 1-1454; GGRNs 1-2988)

VOLUME 2: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure Credits

Epigram

CHAPTER 1: FIGURES AND. TABLES

Figures 1.1–1.5; Table 1.1

CHAPTER 2: FIGURES

Figures 2.1–2.3

CHAPTER 3: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 3.1-3.21; Tables 3.1-3.16

CHAPTER 4: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 4.1–4.12; Tables 4.1–4.7

CHAPTER 5: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 5.1-5.26; Tables 5.1-5.30

CHAPTER 6: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 6.1-6.42; Tables 6.1-6.18

CHAPTER 7: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 7.1–7.53; Tables 7.1–7.14

CHAPTER 8: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 8.1-8.36; Tables 8.1-8.6

CHAPTER 9: FIGURES AND TABLES

Figures 9.1–9.135; Tables 9.1–9.2

CHAPTER 10: TABLES

Table 10.1

Epigram

ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviations used within the text and figures:

ACE Australian Centre for Egyptology

BARC Biological Anthropology Research Centre, University of Bradford, West

Yorkshire, UK.

CIF child, infant and foetal

CIFs children, infants and foetuses
CIFB/s child, infant and foetal burial/s
DRN/s Database Record Number/s
EBLE East Bank Lower Egypt
EBUE East Bank Upper Egypt
EDP Early Dynastic Period

FARAH Facility for Archaeological Research At Helwan

FIP First Intermediate Period GGRN/s Grave Good Record Number/s

Eastern Nile Delta

GRP Greco-Roman Period

LP Late Period MK Middle Kingdom

END

MMA Museum of Modern Art, New York MNI minimum number of individuals

N total number of sample (number indicated within brackets)

ND no data
NEO Neolithic
NK New Kingdom
OK Old Kingdom
PBs pot burials

PDP Predynastic Period RMN Roman Period

SIP Second Intermediate Period TACBs total age category burials TAFs total associated features

TBG total bedding
TBs total burials
TC total category

TCBs total cemetery burials

TCNs total coffins

TIP Third Intermediate Period TKABs total known-age burials

TKOBs total known-orientation burials
TKPBs total known-position burials
TKSABs total known-sex and –age burials

TKSBs total known-sex burials
TPBs total period burials
TPs total pathologies
TRBs total regional burials
TSBs total settlement burials

TSSBs total site synchronic burials

TSTBs total site type burials
TSUBs total substructures
TSUPs total superstructures

TT Theban Tomb TW total wrapping

WBLE West Bank Lower Egypt
WBME West Bank Middle Egypt
WBUE West Bank Upper Egypt
WND Western Nile Delta

 \bar{x} #/FB mean (average) number of objects per furnished burial

 Σ sum

Abbreviations used within the bibliography:

AA American Antiquity, Washington, D.C.

AAR African Archaeological Review, Cambridge.

AEMT P. T. Nicholson & I. Shaw (eds.) (2000) Ancient Egyptian Materials and

Technology, Cambridge.

AfO Archiv für Orientforschung, Berlin/Graz/Vienna.

AJA American Journal of Archaeology, New York.

AJPA American Journal of Physical Anthropology, New York.

ARA Annual Review of Anthropology, Palo Alto.

ARC Archaeological Review from Cambridge, Cambridge.

ASAE Annales du Service des Antiquités de l'Égypte, Cairo.

BACE Bulletin of the Australian Centre for Egyptology, Sydney.

BCE Bulletin de la céramique égyptienne, Cairo.

BIE Bulletin de l'Institut d'Égypte, Cairo.

BIFAO Bulletin de l'Institut Français d'Archéologie Orientale, Cairo.

CA Current Anthropology, Chicago.

CCE Cahiers Caribéens d'Egyptologie, Martinique.

CdE Chronique d'Égypte, Brussels.

DE Discussions in Egyptology, Oxford.

EA Egyptian Archaeology, London.

ES Ethology and Sociobiology, New York.

ET Études et Travaux, Warsaw.

EU Environment and Urbanization, London. FSI Forensic Science International, Lausanne.

GM Göttinger Miszellen, Göttingen.

IJO International Journal of Osteoarchaeology, Chichester.JAMT Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, New York.

JAR Journal of Anthropological Research, Albuquerque.

JARCE Journal of the American Research Center in Egypt, Boston/Princeton/

New York/Cairo.

JAS Journal of Archaeological Science, London.

JEA Journal of Egyptian Archaeology, London.

JFS Journal of Forensic Sciences, Chicago.

JIH Journal of Interdisciplinary History, Cambridge, Mass.

JSSEA Journal of the Society for the Study of Egyptian Antiquities, Toronto.

LÄ W. Helck & E. Otto (eds.) (1975–1986) Lexikon der Ägyptologie, 7 vols., Wiesbaden.

MDAIK Mitteilungen des Deutschen Archäologischen Instituts, Abteilung Kairo,

Mainz/ Cairo/Berlin/Wiesbaden.

Norwegian Archaeological Review, Oslo.

NAR Norwegian Archaeological Review, Oslo.

NARCE Newsletter of the American Research Center in Egypt, New York/Cairo.

NSSEA Newsletter of the Society for the Study of Egyptian Antiquities, Toronto.

D. Redford (ed.) (2001) Oxford Encyclopedia of Ancient Egypt, 3 vols.,

D. Rediord (ed.) (2001) Oxford Encyclopedia of Ancient Egypt, 3 Vols.,

Oxford.

OMRO Oudheidkundige Mededelingen uit het Rijksmuseum van Oudheden te

Leiden, Leiden.

PDR Population and Development Review, New York.

PS Population Studies, New York. RdE Revue d'Égyptologie, Paris.

SAK Studien zur Altägyptischen Kultur, Hamburg.

WA World Archaeology, London.

WB A. Erman & H. Grapow (1926–1931, repr. 1971) Wörterbuch der

Ägyptischen Sprache, 6 vols., 2nd Edn., Berlin & Leipzig.

YPA Yearbook of Physical Anthropology, New York.

ZÄS Zeitschrift für Ägyptische Sprache und Altertumskunde, Berlin/Leipzig.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"It takes a village to raise a child."

Traditional African proverb.

I can not think of a more appropriate way to open these acknowledgements than this pithy piece of African wisdom. Not only does it befit the theme of the research, it also allows me to recognise the veritable village of people that have helped to raise this thesis. Despite the length of the following testimony, it only represents a fraction of the community of scholars, mentors, family and friends who have helped bring this project to fruition.

I extend my gratitude to Prof. Dr. E. Christiana Köhler, University of Vienna, for her supervision of my project from 2005–2009 at Macquarie University, and for her comments on the final draft of the manuscript. I would also like to thank Prof. Köhler for including me in her team at the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project from 2002–2007, and for the provision of unpublished data from those excavations for use in this thesis. I also thank Ms. Chris Marshall, Institute of Bioarchaeology, San Francisco, for her resources and collaboration on the Helwan skeletal material and for her many efforts to enable my research.

I express my heartfelt thanks to Dr. Yann Tristant, who overtook the primary supervision of my project in 2010. Dr. Tristant provided immeasurable support and resources, and was perpetually available for questions and concerns. These offerings were tempered by pastoral care; his support, encouragement and belief have been decisive factors in the completion of this thesis. I am indebted to Dr. Tristant for heroically reading two complete drafts, and for offering erudite insights and identifying oversights. Despite his enormous workload, Dr. Tristant accomplished all of the above with his characteristic good humour and permanent smile. More importantly, this was all undertaken during the time that he and his partner, Sandra Aussel, welcomed their first child, Antoine. I extend my deepest gratitude to Sandra, not only for her patience and understanding of Yann's long hours spent revising and advising my work, but also for her bespoke creation of the beautiful maps which appear in this thesis. Again, these were created and refined in the context of pregnancy and new-parenthood. I am exceedingly grateful to Sandra for her kindness and generosity.

I would like to thank my associate supervisors, Dr. Susanne Binder and A/Prof. Boyo Ockinga for their contributions. Dr. Binder's vast portfolio of abilities has inestimably enhanced my work, particularly her mastery of Egyptian language, adroit editing and unrivalled authority on punctuation. Dr. Binder also read and offered detailed commentary on the final draft; her deft hand made this 'Wagnerian' document far wieldier than it would otherwise have been. I am indebted to A/Prof. Ockinga for his enduring support and for the many delightful conversations which shaped the key theoretical premises of this thesis. A/Prof. Ockinga's encyclopaedic knowledge of Egyptian language and religion, combined with his edifying spirit and characteristic wit have been among this project's greatest assets.

This thesis owes much to Prof. Marnie Hughes-Warrington, Pro-Vice Chancellor (Learning and Teaching), Monash University, for introducing me to historiography and theory. Prof. Hughes-Warrington permeates this work conceptually, temporally and fiscally. Her

benevolence in granting me study leave from her employ in the final months of this thesis is exemplary of her unwavering commitment to support the production and communication of knowledge. I shall not forget her many kindnesses.

I am exceedingly grateful to Mrs. Leonie Donovan for giving up so much of her time to help format and polish the text and figures. Leonie is an institution at the Australian Centre for Egyptology, and the journey to 'Camp Donovan' is a *rite de passage* for its completing doctoral candidates. I am grateful to Leonie for her enduring support and encouragement since my first year as an undergraduate student, and for her loyal and steadfast friendship.

I have been fortunate to receive the continued support of the Department of Ancient History at Macquarie University since my arrival in 2001. Of particular note are the efforts of Profs. Edwin Judge, Alanna Nobbs, Naguib Kanawati, Sam Lieu and Heike Behlmer; A/Profs. Tom Hillard and Andrew Gillett; Drs. Lea Beness, Peter Edwell, Linda Evans, Beth Thompson, Karin Sowada and Ken Sheedy; and the indefatigable Mrs. Anne Irish. I also extend my appreciation to Dr. Stephen Llewelyn for his championing of Higher Degree Research students, and to A/Prof. Marea Mitchell, Ms. Maryanne Hozijan and all the staff from the Faculty of Arts HDR office for their support and understanding throughout my candidature.

The scope of this project was only possible with the co-operation and generosity of Macquarie University's Document Supply Unit. Admirably led by Mr. Jim Kelly, this fearless battalion of librarians worked tirelessly for my project for five years. Thousands of interlibrary loans later, I hope they approve of this final reflection of their efforts. I also thank the staff of the UCL Institute of Archaeology Library, and Mr. Chris Naunton and Roo Mitcheson for providing access to the EES Archives in London.

In terms of resources, this thesis was enriched via the provision of many unpublished manuscripts and ideas from key thinkers in many disciplines across Australia and the globe. I express my sincere gratitude to the following scholars for entrusting me with their work: Prof. Dr. E. Christiana Köhler (Vienna), Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Drs. Yann Tristant and Jana Jones, Ms. Natasha Marshall (Macquarie), Dr. Helen MacDonald (Melbourne). Dr. Alice Stevenson (Pitt Rivers Museum), Dr. Claude Doumet-Serhal (British Museum), Prof. Dan Kahan (Yale), Prof. Peter Stephenson (Victoria, Canada), Dr. Stephanie Budin (Temple) and Ms. Amandine Marshall (Toulouse). I am very grateful to Ms. Irene el-Khorazaty of the Deutsches Archäologisches Institut Abteilung Kairo, who scanned and sent many issues of the Rundbrief via email. I am indebted to the scholars who were kind enough to discuss ideas and provide advice in person or via email, including Profs. Ann Macy Roth (New York), Salima Ikram (Cairo) and Dietrich Wildung (Ägyptisches Museum Berlin), Drs. Eleanor Scott (Portsmouth), Janine Bourriau (Cambridge), Diana Patch (New York), Aidan Dodson (Bristol) and Edwin van den Brink (IAA). Special thanks are due to the late Prof. Jac Janssen and Dr. Rosalind Janssen for receiving me in their home in London during the first year of my candidature. That visit set the stage for this project. Prof. Janssen passed away in the weeks before this thesis was completed. I send sincere condolences to Dr. Janssen, and pay tribute to the paramount contributions that she and her husband have made to the scholarship of ancient Egyptian children and childhood.

The interdisciplinary nature of my research has enabled me to engage with specialists in various fields. I deferred my doctorate from 2006–2007 to undertake an MSc in Human Osteology and Palaeopathology at the University of Bradford, UK, under the auspices of a British Council Commonwealth Scholarship. The knowledge and skills I gained from this

degree have immeasurably enhanced this thesis, as have the friendships established during my time in 'the North'. I offer resounding appreciation to Profs. Holger Schutkowski (now Bournemouth) and Christopher Knüsel (now Exeter), Drs. Alan Ogden, Jo Buckberry and Rebecca Storm, and the supreme Mrs. Anthea Boylston. I also extend my gratitude to the dynamic community of Death Studies scholars across Europe and Australia for their valuable contributions regarding the ethnography and theory of mortuary behaviour and ritual. Here, special thanks are due to Profs. Douglas Davies (Durham), Glennys Howarth (Cornwall), Eric Venbrux (Nijmegen), and Peter Stephenson (Victoria, Canada), Drs. Margaret Gibson (Griffith), Helen MacDonald (Melbourne) and Sheila Harper (Sydney).

The publication survey required engagement with materials written in five languages other than English. Finer points of occasionally opaque foreign materials were illuminated with the generous help of my sibling, friends and colleagues. For the Dutch, Ms. Eliza Maree Power; for the French, Dr. Yann Tristant; for the Italian, Drs. Camilla di Biase-Dyson and Arianna Traviglia; for the Spanish, Mr. Lorenzo Tuduri; and for the German, Drs. Susanne Binder, Todd Gillen and Ms. Dora Kranjcic. Special thanks must go to Dr. Todd Gillen for his stamina and perspicacity. I am also indebted to my 'glyph guru', Mr. Julien Cooper, for his patient and generous assistance with formatting the hieroglyphs within the text.

I gratefully acknowledge the assistance of an Australian Postgraduate Award from the Commonwealth Government of Australia for funding my doctoral candidature. The extensive overseas travel required to undertake research, archaeological excavations and conference participation was made possible through various grants and scholarships from the Macquarie University Postgraduate Research Fund, the Macquarie University International Office, the Macquarie University Division of Humanities Higher Degree Research Fund and the Macquarie Ancient History Association Grants-In-Aid Program.

In addition to Helwan, I have been fortunate to attend a number of projects as a juvenile human remains specialist. I thank Prof. Beatrix Midant-Reynes of the Institut Français d'Archéologie Orientale Adaima Project, A/Prof. Boyo Ockinga of the Australian Centre for Egyptology Theban Tombs Project, Dr. Claude Doumet-Serhal of the British Museum Sidon Project, and Mr. Kevin Booth of English Heritage (Barton-upon-Humber) for their generosity and hospitality, and for the opportunity to learn from their skilful teams.

Of all the things I have gained through my education, it is the friendships I cherish the most. I thank Ms. Toni Hurley for giving me my love for Egyptology. I thank Drs. Clare Rowan, Camilla Di Biase-Dyson, Eve Guerry, Todd Gillen, Arianna Traviglia and Jennifer Cromwell, Ms. Beverley Miles, Hanadah Tarawneh and Kavita Ayer for the great privilege of their camaraderie and unflagging support. I thank every member of the Telemachus Ancient History Mentor Program (*Tele's Angels*) for the generous gifts of their time, energy and passion over the last ten years at Macquarie University. Each of you fills me with pride, joy and inspiration. Special thanks to Ms. Alyce Peruzzi and Mrs. Amy Odlum for their outstanding leadership during the past year.

I can not express the depth of my gratitude to my family for their support, encouragement and understanding throughout this decade of education, but especially during the last eighteen months of my hermitage. My father, Robert Power, has always been my circumpolar star and the unshakable foundation of all my life's pursuits. I thank him for his wisdom and unbridled generosity, and for instilling in all his children the love of history, a ceaseless pursuit of knowledge and compassion for our fellow humans. I thank my mother, Maddy Cesti, for her tireless energy, enthusiasm and *joie de vivre*, and for keeping me supplied with paper for the entirety of my studentship. I am blessed to be among a

formidable cohort of siblings, each of whom inspires me with their unique attributes. I thank Michael for his courage, Ivan for his tenacity, Eliza Maree for her generosity and Euge for his determination. I also thank Vanessa, Erika and Danny for their enduring support and for not taking us Powers too seriously.

Perhaps the greatest lesson I have learned from this project has come by way of a lived ethnographic experience. I am incredibly fortunate to exist within a constellation of people who have taught me that the concept of 'family' is by no means restricted to biology. I will never be able to repay Marion Gifford for taking me into her heart and home and providing me with unfettered maternal care and affection. Marion's support through good times and bad has been unwavering. Without doubt, she is the backbone of this thesis and deserves whatever credit comes from its completion. I also thank her children Anni, James, Alice and Edward for welcoming me into their lives without hesitation and always making me feel at ease. I am indebted to my soul-sisters, Katherine Williams, Joanna Gurung, Lenore Vartha and Abigail Tweedie for their love, loyalty and resilience above and beyond the call of duty: and to Michael and Helen Williams, and Dupendra, Dashiell and Daniel Gurung for always making me feel like one of the family. Similarly, my adoption by Mary, Roger, Pete, Claresta, Susie and Nikki Hartley has brought untold joy and richness into my life. Via their demonstrations that families can assume all manner of configurations, these gentle folk have caused me to view the relationships manifest in the archaeological record through a different lens, thereby affording some rewarding, fresh perspectives in my research.

Finally, I would like to express my great appreciation to my partner, Tawfik Elgazzar. The completion of a doctoral thesis is perhaps hardest on our partners, requiring inhuman feats of endurance. Despite the rigours of starting his own business this year, Tawfik has exhibited immense patience, understanding and support, and has tolerated my absence and myopia with love and tenderness. In addition, his technological skills and immutable calm proved indispensible when this hungry thesis consumed five separate computers. Thanks to you, Tawfik, I am at peace as I finish this chapter of my life. More importantly, I am excited about starting the next one. *Khelest khalas, haboob*.

"Do not say 'I am too young to be taken away', for you do not know your death.

When death comes he steals the infant from the arms of his mother,

Just like him who has reached old age."

—Instruction of Any, 18th Dynasty.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO RESEARCH

1.1 Research Context

Egyptian archaeology deals with matters of life and death. After all, the majority of evidence used to reconstruct ancient Egyptian life-ways is derived from mortuary contexts.¹ This somewhat paradoxical configuration is based largely on the outcomes of cultural practices motivated by afterlife beliefs, whereby deceased community members were interred with artefacts and ecofacts in environments which, in the fullness of time, proved generally conducive to diachronic preservation and eventual archaeological retrieval.² By contrast, several factors conspire to impede archaeological access to settlement contexts, namely, perpetual habitation over millennia,³ the shifting course of the Nile,⁴ and the logistic and financial implications of stratified townsite excavation,⁵ all coalescing to result in a paucity of evidence for Egyptian domestic life.⁶ Funerary archaeology has therefore become the framework upon which the lived experience of ancient Egyptian populations is veneered,⁷ in much the same way as anthropological analyses seek to enflesh the skeletons – the individuals – at the very centre of these cultural practices.⁸

With a view to accessing social life,⁹ the discourse is replete with studies of every material and performative aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour. From tomb structure, size, construction, decoration and inscription, to analyses of the body and its treatment, to registers of seemingly infinite artefact and ecofact types, through to descriptions and speculations of funerary rituals. All elements are endlessly positioned, repositioned and juxtapositioned in scholars' attempts to resuscitate the socio-economic, religious, political and personal lives of the dead.

¹ Kemp (1977: 185); Bard (1997: 60); Stevenson (2009a: 175); cf. Tarlow (1999: 9); Pettitt (2006: 292); Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 5).

² Baines (1991: 144); Richards (1992: 60); Meskell (1994: 36).

³ Smith (1972: 705); Bietak (1979: 101, 112, 114, 115, 134); Mortensen (1991: 19).

Mortensen (1991: 19); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 13); Hillier et al. (2007); Ghilardi & Boraik (2011); Ghilardi et al. (forthcoming).

⁵ Smith (1972: 705); Bietak (1979: 134).

Mortensen (1991: 18); Adams (1997: 90); O'Connor (1997a: 15); Meskell (1999c: 129; 2002a: 195); Castillos (2000: 253); van Wetering & Tassie (2003: 133, 142).

Rowland (2004: 1003ff.) acknowledges the problematic issue of using grave goods as representative entities for utilitarian objects; Pettitt (2006: 292) discusses this issue from a cross-cultural perspective.

Baxter (2006a: 3).
 Garwood (2007: 63).

However, the dead do not bury themselves.¹⁰ It must be acknowledged that the study of graves and their contents provide opportunities to witness acts of suspended cultural animation¹¹ that reveal as much, if not more, about those performing the burial and their perception of the deceased's social persona, than it does about the deceased themselves.¹² This is especially pertinent in the case of child, infant and foetal burials. Here, we do not encounter the world of children directly, rather the expressions of adults who ascribe meaning to children's short lives and untimely deaths via the conduit of burial.¹³ Moreover, the dead do not speak for themselves, either.¹⁴ Therefore, it must be contended that archaeological narratives may reveal more about the cultural context and personal experiences of their authors than those of their subjects.¹⁵

With these factors in mind, current reconstructions of ancient Egyptian society based on funerary evidence may require reassessment. Certain demographic categories appear to have been largely overlooked in funerary analyses, namely, children, infants and foetuses. Despite palaeodemographic assertions that high mortality rates in pre-industrial societies lead to children, infants and foetuses comprising the greatest proportion of funerary populations, 16 to date, studies of Egyptian funerary culture have been focused on adults. Only a handful of studies exist which bear any reference to children's burials, in contrast to detailed investigations of their representations within the realm of Egyptian art. The implications of overlooking children, infants and foetuses in archaeological analyses are at least threefold. Firstly, we deny them their identities and cultural capacities in both life and death. Secondly, we also deny those orchestrating their burials their expressions of their perceptions of children's identities and cultural capacities. ¹⁷ Finally, we deny entire communities their opportunity to express the implications of removing children, infants and foetuses from the lived sphere, and to articulate how fleeting investments and engagements from the cradle to the grave call for renegotiations and recalibrations of individual and community identity networks. 18 Current archaeological narratives which exclude the testimonies of children, infants and foetuses from the funerary record and

¹⁰ Griswold (1992: 45); Mizoguchi (1993: 224); Parker Pearson (1993: 203; 2003: 3); Lucy (1994: 24); Baxter (2005: 94).

¹¹ Seidlmayer (2001: 247).

¹² Chapman (2000: 188, 189); Rowland (2004: 1004); Laneri (2007: 4); Lillie (2008: 41); Stevenson (2009b: 160).

¹³ Parker Pearson (2003: 103).

¹⁴ Mizoguchi (1993: 224).

¹⁵ Parker Pearson (2003: 104).

¹⁶ Hewlett (1991: 8); Chamberlain (2000: 208).

¹⁷ Lillehammer (2010: 25).

¹⁸ Mizoguchi (2000: 141-142); Garwood (2007: 66).

perpetuate adult-centric reconstructions of ancient Egyptian societies cannot be considered accurate reflections of the reality/ies of living and dying in these communities.¹⁹

1.2 Research Aims and Purpose

This thesis aims to compare how current perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture correspond with its *actual* nature and scope in published literature. In so doing, the thesis aims to examine the historiographical underpinnings of Egyptian funerary archaeology and determine the potential impact of authorial bias on researchers' abilities to generate accurate qualitative and quantitative analyses of child, infant and foetal burials and indeed, of ancient Egyptian mortuary culture at large. The thesis aims to demonstrate that engagements with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories serve to enable and enhance interpretations of child, infant and foetal funerary data, especially in mitigating cases of absent, exceptional or problematic evidence. By examining what the funerary nexus reveals about their lived experiences and cultural capacities, including their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society, this thesis aims to offer a recalibrated perspective of children, infants and foetuses in the Egyptian archaeological record.

The purpose of this research is to advocate more equitable approaches to funerary archaeology in all phases of disciplinary activity. From excavation to interpretation and publication – if we are to offer more accurate and ethical reconstructions of ancient Egyptian social life through the funerary nexus, *all* demographic and socio-economic segments of the population and *all* depositional contexts must receive equitable representations which adequately reflect the complete spectrum of funerary data across the Egyptian mortuary landscape.

1.3 Research Objectives

The research aims are achieved via the following objectives:

 To ascertain by way of literature review the current perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, as well as current reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities, including their social position, value and agency;

¹⁹ Meskell (2002b: 280, 293-294).

- 2. To undertake a comprehensive archaeological survey of published child, infant and foetal mortuary culture;
- 3. To test the outcomes of the archaeological survey against current perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, as established via the literature review;
- 4. To test the outcomes of the archaeological survey against current reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities in ancient Egyptian society, as established via the literature review; and
- 5. To appraise the outcomes of the archaeological survey via consultation of archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories and offer a recalibrated perspective of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities, including their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society.

1.4 Materials and Methods

The archaeological survey of published child, infant and foetal mortuary culture formed the experimental basis of this research. The survey was carried out according to strict methodological parameters which restricted the study's chronological, geographical and biological range. Survey parameters are expounded below.

1.4.1 Chronological Parameters

To investigate synchronic and diachronic patterns of mortuary behaviour, and to apportion appropriate rigour to the research, it was necessary to extend the survey across as many chronological periods as possible. However, research parameters were restricted to reflect the project's administrative constraints. Therefore, the survey included all available published archaeological evidence from the Egyptian Early Dynastic Period (beginning Dynasty 0; *ca.* 3300 BCE)²⁰ through the Old Kingdom²¹ and First Intermediate Period,²² until the end of the Middle Kingdom (ending Dynasty 13; *ca.* 1650 BCE),²³ encompassing approximately 1,650 years of cultural activity. These periods were selected to facilitate engagement with a substantial, continuous sample of pharaonic funerary data. Further, these parameters seek to address the imbalance observed within current literature on Egyptian children and childhood

¹⁰ Hendrickx (1999: 25; 2006: 92).

²¹ Seidlmayer (2006a); Verner (2006); Baud (2006).

²² Seidlmayer (2006b).

²³ Schneider (2006).

which focuses almost exclusively on the New Kingdom and later periods.²⁴ Chronological designations of burials follow those offered in publications, subject to review by this author upon availability of published primary evidence.

1.4.2 Geographical Parameters

The archaeological survey encompassed all sites within the geographical borders of Egypt (**Figure 1.1:** general map, ²⁵ located in Volume 2 of this thesis). ²⁶ In accordance with project aims, it was imperative to survey all site types (including cemeteries, settlements, military establishments, temples, quarries and mines) in order to establish the actual nature and scope of published child, infant and foetal mortuary culture. The locations of Early Dynastic archaeological sites were determined according to Kessler's $L\ddot{A}$ entry on "Nekropolen. Frühzeit und AR", ²⁷ supplemented by Mortensen's article on Early Dynastic settlement patterns ²⁸ and Hendrickx and van den Brink's site inventory. ²⁹ Kessler's $L\ddot{A}$ entry also formed the basis of Old Kingdom site locations. The locations of First Intermediate and Middle Kingdom Period sites followed Gomaà's $L\ddot{A}$ entry on "Nekropolen des MR". ³⁰ Site lists were extended as the research process revealed additional data described subsequent to the publication of these inventories.

Based on this methodology, 240 sites were identified for inclusion in the survey (Figures 1.2–1.5: regional maps; Table 1.1). Due to the broad geographical range of this project, it was necessary to divide these sites into 11 specific geographical regions in order to expedite data entry and analyses. These include: the Western Nile Delta, the Eastern Nile Delta, the West Bank of Lower Egypt, the East Bank of Lower Egypt, the West Bank of Middle Egypt, the Faiyum, Dakhla Oasis, the Eastern Desert, the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and the East Bank of Upper Egypt.³¹ It is stressed

Janssen (1997: 229). Meskell (1999a: 199) also states that the greater part of our knowledge of Egyptian mortuary behaviour is constituted from Ramesside to Late Period data.

I am grateful to Ms. Sandra Aussel for the creation and provision of all the maps contained within this thesis.

This author acknowledges the abundance of Egyptian Middle Kingdom cultural remains in Nubia, however this material falls beyond the geographical scope of the current investigation: Leprohon (1999).

²⁷ Kessler (1982: 396-414).

²⁸ Mortensen (1991).

²⁹ Hendrickx & van den Brink (2002).

³⁰ Gomaà (1982: 415-427).

For the purposes of this study, data for the Nile island of Elephantine is included with that of the East Bank of Upper Egypt. The reasons for this are twofold. Firstly, in the interests of data integrity, it was deemed unfeasible to treat Elephantine as a region unto itself. Secondly, Müller & De Dapper (forthcoming) have recently demonstrated a close topographical relationship between Elephantine and the settlement/cemetery site of Syene on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Syene was separated from Elephantine by a narrow 90-metre channel at its Southern bank. At this stage, Müller & De Dapper have

that these specific regional divisions reflect geographical territories following Baines and Malek³² and Hendrickx and van den Brink³³ and are not specifically aligned with areas of ancient cultural significance.

To facilitate further analyses and provide scope for readers' varying interests, data derived from the archaeological survey was also scrutinised according to 2 further regional distributions: 'general' (that is, traditional divisions of 'Upper Egypt', 'Middle Egypt', 'Dakhla Oasis', 'Lower Egypt' and the 'Nile Delta'); and 'Nilotic' (that is, divided according to the Nile River, including 'West Bank', East Bank', 'Faiyum', 'Dakhla Oasis' and the 'Nile Delta').

1.4.3 Biological Parameters

Age categories included in the survey accord with protocols established by the Biological Anthropology Research Centre (henceforth, BARC).³⁶ Here, a Foetus is considered any individual ≤40 weeks, an Infant is any individual of 40 weeks to 1 year *post partum*, a Young Child is any individual of 1–6 years, and an Older Child is any individual of 7–12 years of age. Children with published age range-estimates of 12 years as a basis (for example, 12–15 years) will also be included in the survey. In the absence of specialised physical anthropological reports, only those individuals specifically referred to by published data as a 'child', 'infant', 'baby', 'foetus', 'girl' or 'boy' were included in the survey. Those referred to only as 'young' were excluded, due to the ambiguity of that categorisation. In keeping with the historiographical aims of this thesis, it is essential to acknowledge that what culturally constitutes a 'child' differs between societies, across time and space.³⁷ Therefore, it is conceded that on many occasions excavators' identifications of 'children' were based purely on physical skeletal size and/or development, rather than an estimation of a culturally-situated phase of the life course.

identified traces of human activity in Syene during the Predynastic Period, Old Kingdom, Middle Kingdom, Late Period and Greco-Roman Period.

³² Baines & Malek (2002).

Hendrickx & van den Brink (2002).

Regarding Elephantine, see fn. 31, above.

In order to comply with this project's administrative constraints, data analyses in Chapter 9 (Grave Goods) are only presented for specific geographical regions.

³⁶ University of Bradford, West Yorkshire, United Kingdom.

These issues are explored further in Chapter 2 of this thesis.

1.4.4 Archaeological Survey Parameters

In accordance with the chronological, geographical and biological parameters listed above, the archaeological survey examined all available published literature for any references to child, infant and foetal mortuary culture. Publication lists were compiled for each of the 240 sites included in this study. Eligible publications were derived from exhaustive consultations of site inventory bibliographical lists detailed in §1.4.2, above. Additionally, exhaustive searches were performed of the LÄ, 38 Porter and Moss's Topographical Bibliography, 39 Hendrickx's Analytical Bibliography, 40 the University of Oxford's Online Egyptological Bibliography, 41 and the Universities of Munich and Heidelberg's Aigyptos Literaturdatenbank.42 Eligible publications included authored monographs, edited volumes, book chapters, journal articles, magazine articles, newsletters, online databases, and diaries, note books and tomb cards published in Dutch, English, French, German, Italian and Spanish.⁴³ While all efforts were made to include every extant archaeological publication in this survey it is acknowledged that some references are not included in the aforementioned bibliographical repositories, especially those of a more recent date.⁴⁴ It is hoped that future extensions of this project will enable the identification and inclusion of these resources.

The archaeological survey also included unpublished Early Dynastic Period data from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project, accessed with the kind permission of the site director, Prof. E. C. Köhler (now Vienna).

1.4.5 Data Storage and Presentation

Data extracted from the archaeological survey were entered into a *FileMaker Pro 9 Advanced* database for storage and analysis. Descriptive statistical data analyses are expounded in the text and accompanied by graphical and/or tabular representations, presented in a separate volume for the reader's convenience. Data points with a 'zero' value are not labelled in graphs. All numerical percentage and ratio figures presented in the text are correct to 2 decimal places. Many of the interments and grave goods referred to in

³⁸ Helck & Otto (1975, 1977, 1980, 1982, 1984, 1986, 1992).

³⁹ Porter & Moss (1934, 1937, 1939, 1960, 1964, 1972, 1974, 1981).

⁴⁰ Hendrickx (1995), plus annual addenda published in Archéo-Nil.

http://oeb.griffith.ox.ac.uk; accessed 2008-2011.

http://www.aigyptos.uni-muenchen.de; accessed 2008-2011.

Every effort was made to obtain an English translation of Takamiya (2000) but it was not able to be procured in time for inclusion in this study.

For example, the current Online Egyptological Bibliography publication terminus date is 2009.

the text have accompanying images which are presented within their relevant database entries. The photographs presented in the text and database are the best available reproductions of facsimiles remotely provided by various institutions. The finalised database is included on a CD-ROM for the reader's consultation and attached as an Appendix to the inside back cover of this volume.

1.5 Definitions

It should be noted that the term 'juvenile's' will be used to refer to the subjects of this investigation in preference to 'immature', 'non-adult' and 'sub-adult' terminology. 45 The term 'child/children' will also be used on occasion to refer to the combined age categories of children, infants and foetuses. The term 'sex' refers to biological identity, whereas 'gender' describes an aspect of an individual's social identity. 46 'Mortality' is defined as the relative frequency of deaths in a specific population, while 'morbidity' refers to the relative frequency of disease.⁴⁷ For the purposes of this study, 'pre-industrial' societies are those demonstrating little or no evidence of the so-called 'demographic transition'. ⁴⁸ Also note that the terms 'pre-industrial' and 'traditional' will be used interchangeably to refer to these societies. 'Tomb condition' describes the extent to which a tomb's primary context has been subject to cultural transformation processes (henceforth, C-Transforms) prior to excavation, such as: 'Archaeologically Intact' (no C-Transforms), 'Partially Disturbed' (some C-Transforms), 'Questionable' (suspected C-Transforms), 'Disturbed' (C-Transforms obfuscate original context), and 'Reused' (C-Transforms obfuscate original context and create subsequent context/s). When discussing individual age-at-death categories, the terms 'Foetus', 'Infant', 'Young Child', 'Older Child' and 'Unspecified Age' will appear in capitalised typeset. The term 'cultural capacity' is introduced to encompass the measure of rights, entitlements, abilities, responsibilities identification/s, in isolation or combination, selectively or automatically apportioned to an individual within a specific cultural context across the social and biological life course. 'Biocultural archaeology' is an integrated approach which views data derived from the analysis of human remains in context with all other forms of archaeological evidence to

The latter terms are considered pejorative as they imply hierarchical inferiority to adults; Sofaer (2006a: 121); Lewis (2007: 2); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 335).

⁴⁶ Walker & Collins-Cook (1998: 255).

Goodman & Armelagos (1989).

^{&#}x27;Demographic transition' is a term which describes the shift from high to low fertility and mortality rates as a society moves from pre-industrial to industrial systems and regimes; Kirk (1996: 361).

reconstruct the lived experiences of individuals and groups from past populations.⁴⁹ 'Socio-ecology' is the study of how social structures and organisation are influenced by an organism's environment.⁵⁰ The term 'stress' is used here to refer to a series of non-specific responses by the human body to endogenous and/or exogenous demands.⁵¹

1.6 Structure

The thesis is structured to achieve the objectives outlined within this introductory chapter. Chapter 2 reviews the current perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, as well as current scholarly reconstructions of children's lived experiences, including their position, value and agency in society. These objectives are achieved via comprehensive examination of available scholarship on ancient Egyptian children and 'childhood', as well as any studies that claim to be all-inclusive in their treatments of ancient Egyptian funerary culture, or attempt to reconstruct Egyptian society through the funerary nexus.

The literature review confirms that child, infant and foetal burials have not received due attention within Egyptian archaeology. Evidently, a series of long-held disciplinary assumptions and biases regarding this segment of the archaeological population have rendered them practically invisible within the discourse. These assumptions revolve around the central notion that children and infants cannot be easily located in the archaeological record, primarily due to hypotheses of differential burial practices for these members of society.⁵² Chapter 2 examines the historiographical underpinnings of these assumptions in order to quarantine and address the reasons behind the *status quo*.

The results of the archaeological survey are expounded in Chapters 3 through 9. Each of these chapters report quantitative survey data regarding the nature and scope of an aspect of child, infant and foetal funerary culture, including primary results (Chapter 3), palaeodemography (Chapter 4), position and orientation (Chapter 5), bodily treatment (Chapter 6), tomb architecture (Chapter 7), associated features (Chapter 8), and grave goods (Chapter 9). Pragmatic and theoretical obstacles to data collection and analysis are addressed

Pettitt (2006: 292); Schutkowski (2008: 10); Fuentes (2010: 9); Sofaer (2011: 286); Zuckerman & Armelagos (2011).

⁵⁰ Kappeler (2003).

⁵¹ Selve (1973).

I am grateful to Prof. Dr. E. C. Köhler, Vorständin und Professorin des Instituts für Ägyptologie, Vienna, for bringing these assumptions to my attention in 2004. It was this conversation that inspired the topic of this thesis.

within each chapter as appropriate. The development of novel theoretical approaches is required in Chapters 8 and 9 to deal with the unique challenges of processing published child, infant and foetal mortuary data. In alignment with the *Guidelines to the Standards for Recording Human Remains*,⁵³ all burial quantifications are offered as a *minimum* number of individuals (henceforth, MNI) in order to acknowledge the following variables: some members of archaeological populations may have been disposed of in ways that do not leave archaeological signatures; some individuals may have been buried in areas outside concession parameters; some bodies may have been removed from their primary depositional contexts due to cultural and natural transformation processes; some bodies may have been subject to diagenetic factors that eradicate their physical remains; and, especially in this research context, some individuals will not be accounted for due to many excavators' propensities not to publish definitive records of exhumed populations. The implications of this final variable may be extrapolated to all aspects of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture. For this reason, all quantifications reported in this thesis should be considered as minimum representations of burial phenomena.

Chapter 10 discusses the archaeological survey results. Here, quantitative child, infant and foetal mortuary data are interpreted in consultation with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories. This approach facilitates the production of qualitative analyses which explore the capability of the funerary nexus to reflect children's lived experiences and cultural capacities, including their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society. Through this process, the chapter addresses the prevailing disciplinary assumptions regarding child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, established in the literature review of Chapter 2. Chapter 10 also undertakes reflexive analyses which investigate one's ability to make comprehensive statements about this study's dataset, considering the circumstances under which its great majority was originally recorded and published. In this way, Chapter 10 considers this study's practical and theoretical limitations, primarily focusing on the issue of representativeness, including differential preservation, incomplete excavation, the 'osteological paradox', intra- and inter-observer error, poor reporting and authorial bias. With a view to exploring the dataset's representativeness, especially pertaining to authorial bias, the chapter presents four historiographical case studies of some of the most frequently stereotyped and misconstrued aspects of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture within Egyptological discourse, including 'toys', coffins, differential burial practices, and status. Via further engagement with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic

Institute of Field Archaeologists (2004: 6, 10, 14).

and social theories, these case studies serve to demonstrate that even problematic datasets can produce detailed, nuanced, ethically-balanced reconstructions of the cultural experiences of *all* members of ancient societies, including children, infants and foetuses.

Chapter 11 concludes by reviewing the extent to which the thesis fulfils the research aims and purpose outlined within this introduction. The chapter summarises the study's findings and proposes opportunities for further research to expand, enrich and elucidate our interpretations of child, infant and foetal funerary culture, as well as that of all members of ancient Egyptian communities.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter aims to ascertain the current scholarly perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture. Further, it seeks to examine current reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities within Egyptological discourse, including their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society. These aims will be achieved via a review of available scholarship on ancient Egyptian children and 'childhood', as well as any studies that claim to be all-inclusive in their treatments of ancient Egyptian funerary culture, or attempt to reconstruct Egyptian society through the funerary nexus. In alignment with the research aims established in §1.3, this chapter will also examine the historiographical underpinnings of the scholarship of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture to determine which factors may have contributed to the current position of this segment of the ancient population within Egyptology.

Due to the nascent level of juvenile mortuary culture studies in Egyptian archaeology,⁵⁴ appropriate bodies of theory or practice which facilitate engagement with this particular category of evidence are yet to be developed. As such, this chapter must adopt an inter-disciplinary approach and consult the fields of physical anthropology and palaeodemography, as well as ethnographic and social theory for apposite means to approach the particular challenges of studying child death in past populations.⁵⁵ Such a strategy will establish firm foundations for this thesis' ensuing appraisal of the lived experiences and cultural capacities of ancient Egyptian children, infants and foetuses through the material testimonies encapsulated within their mortuary remains.

2.1 Current Perceptions of Child, Infant and Foetal Mortuary Culture

Ethnographic studies have determined that high mortality risks in pre-industrial populations such as ancient Egypt should result in children representing approximately 50 percent of total deaths.⁵⁶ Accordingly, children are expected to be proportionately over-represented amongst Egyptian mortuary data,⁵⁷ logically leading to expectations of

⁵⁴ Meskell (2002a: 5).

⁵⁵ Baxter (2006a: 5); Lillehammer (2010: 21).

Chamberlain (2000: 208); Harrington (2007: 60); Stevenson (2009b: 168). Hewlett (1991: 8) has demonstrated that childhood mortality in pre-industrial societies varies from 20 to 56 percent.

Kemp (1968: 26); Roth (1995: 39).

frequent encounters with child, infant and foetal mortuary culture amongst published literature. In reality, however, the reverse is true: archaeological representations of children are disproportionately low within Egyptological discourse. This contrasts sharply against the archaeologies of other disciplines, where studies of juvenile mortuary culture have proliferated since the 1970s, providing substrate for some of the most exciting and paradigm-altering research produced within these fields.⁵⁸

It would be incorrect to claim that children are absent from Egyptology. Scholars such as Duchesne *et al.*, ⁵⁹ Feucht, ⁶⁰ Filer, ⁶¹ Fluck and Finneiser, ⁶² Harrington, ⁶³ Hassanein *et al.*, ⁶⁴ Janot, ⁶⁵ Janssen and Janssen, ⁶⁶ Marlow, ⁶⁷ Meskell, ⁶⁸ Patch, ⁶⁹ Robins, ⁷⁰ Stoof, ⁷¹ Wheeler ⁷² and Zillhardt ⁷³ have devoted entire books, articles or museum exhibitions to the subject of 'the child in ancient Egypt'. Furthermore, other scholars have discussed children (or, at least mentioned them) when they became relevant to the primary focus of their work. ⁷⁴ However, upon closer examination of this material, it is apparent that the predominant focus of the majority of these works is on extant artistic and epigraphic material – not on archaeological evidence. ⁷⁵ Even animal mortuary culture appears to have received more attention in Egyptology than that of children. ⁷⁶

⁵⁹ Duchesne *et al.* (2003).

⁶² Fluck & Finneiser (2009).

Reviews of this corpus are beyond the scope of this thesis and have been ably achieved elsewhere; see Scott (1999); Derevenski (2000); Baxter (2005); Schwartzman (2006); Bacvarov (2008a); Lillehammer (2010).

⁶⁰ Feucht (1980a; 1980b; 1995; 2001a).

Filer (1998). This article concerns Nubian evidence, thus is not within the geographical parameters of the archaeological survey conducted by this research.

⁶³ Harrington (2007).

⁶⁴ Hassanein et al. (1984-1985).

⁶⁵ Janot (2002; 2004).

⁶⁶ Janssen & Janssen (1990).

⁶⁷ Marlow (2001).

⁶⁸ Meskell (1994).

⁶⁹ Patch (2007).

⁷⁰ Robins (1994-1995).

⁷¹ Stoof (1978).

⁷² Wheeler (2009).

⁷³ Zillhardt (2009).

See Garstang (1907a); Kemp (1968); Donadoni Roveri (1969); Miosi (1970-1971); Hall (1977); Castillos (1977-1978; 1982a; 1982b); Baines (1985); Cole (1986; 1989); Desroches-Noblecourt (1986); Bard (1988); Whale (1989); Tooley (1991); Watterson (1991); Anderson (1992); Strouhal (1992); Loose (1993); Robins (1993; 2001); Tyldesley (1994); Nicholson & Shaw (1995); Richards (1997); Quirke (1998); Meskell (1999a; 1999b; 2002b); Feucht (2001b; 2001c); Filer (2001); Fischer-Elfert (2001); Kendall (2001); Ritner (2001); Taylor (2001); Wilfgong (2001); Baines & Lacovara (2002); Bowen (2003).

Meskell (1999b: 2; 2002a: 85); cf. Redford (2008: 25). Contra Janssen & Janssen's (1990: 163) comment that "The child in Egyptian art is hardly to be viewed as an interesting subject within the field of art history, and it is not surprising that such a study has never been written".

For attestations of this phenomenon, see Petrie (1898: 20); Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 91ff.). This situation mirrors archaeological practices across the globe; see Moore (1997: 255). For information

Only Baines and Lacovara,⁷⁷ Bowen,⁷⁸ David,⁷⁹ Duchesne et al.,⁸⁰ Feucht,⁸¹ Filer,⁸² Harrington, 83 Hassanein et al., 84 Janot, 85 Janssen and Janssen, 86 Kemp, 87 Marlow, 88 Meskell, 89 Nicholson and Shaw, 90 Patch, 91 Spieser, 92 Stevenson, 93 Szpakowska, 94 Wheeler⁹⁵ and Zillhardt⁹⁶ feature explicit discussions of juvenile mortuary culture beyond the well-known example of two mummified foetuses from the tomb of Tutankhamun. 97 Of these, only Bowen, Duchesne et al., Hassanein et al., Janot, Kemp, Marlow, Meskell, Patch, Stevenson, Wheeler and Zillhardt present research directly engaged with Egyptian primary data; the remaining references provide overarching comments on various aspects of Egyptian mortuary behaviour, or are concerned with material from outside Egypt. 98 Of the former group, only Duchesne et al., Hassanein et al., Janot, Kemp, Meskell, Patch, Stevenson and Zillhardt present data derived from the Predynastic and pharaonic periods; and of these references, only Zillhardt engages with evidence from more than one site and cultural phase. Produced in the parameters of her Lizentiatsarbeit, Zillhardt's discussion of child burials from Adaima, Elephantine and Deir el-Medina represents an admirable entry into this topic. However, the temporal and cultural disparities between Zillhardt's selected sites, as well as the small sample size, permits only cursory observations.

```
on animal burials in Egypt, see Ikram & Dodson (1998: 131-136); Taylor (2001: Chapter 8); Aufderheide (2003: Chapter 7); Rose (2004: 30-35); Friedman et al. (2011).
```

Baines & Lacovara (2002: 11, 14).

⁷⁸ Bowen (2003: 79, 81-82, 84-86).

⁷⁹ David (2002: 62, 273-274).

⁸⁰ Duchesne *et al.* (2003).

⁸¹ Feucht (1995: 124ff.; 2001a: 262).

⁸² Filer (1998).

⁸³ Harrington (2007: 60-61).

⁸⁴ Hassanein *et al.* (1984-1985).

⁸⁵ Janot (2002; 2004).

⁸⁶ Janssen & Janssen (1990: 21).

⁸⁷ Kemp (1968).

⁸⁸ Marlow (2001).

⁸⁹ Meskell (1994; 1999b: 110ff.; 2002a: 81).

⁹⁰ Nicholson & Shaw (1995: 64).

⁹¹ Patch (2007).

⁹² Spieser (2008).

⁹³ Stevenson (2009b).

⁹⁴ Szpakowska (2008: 33-35).

⁹⁵ Wheeler (2009).

⁹⁶ Zillhardt (2009).

Robins (1994-1995: 27); Tyldesley (1994: 75); Feucht (1995: 130); Filer (1995: 62). While Filer (1998) and Marlow (2001) have considered elements of child and infant burials, they have not conducted comprehensive studies into their overall mortuary data. Quirke (1998: 150), Meskell (1994: 37, 42; 1999b: 130, 155) and Grajetzki (2003: 53) have made this observation and highlighted the necessity for the present research.

⁹⁸ Filer (1998).

According to the aforementioned secondary sources, it may be argued that current scholarly perceptions of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture are characterised within Egyptological discourse by reoccurring assumptions, including:

- 1. It is assumed that published cemetery data rarely includes significant numbers of child, infant and foetal burials, ⁹⁹ thereby rendering them unavailable for study. ¹⁰⁰
- 2. This apparent absence is attributed to differential burial practices for these individuals, ¹⁰¹ based on an assumption that at this young age, they were not considered embodied members of the community. ¹⁰²
- 3. This same assumption immediately extends to questions of infanticide. 103
- 4. There is a lack of awareness regarding a) the preservation potential of child, infant and foetal skeletal remains;¹⁰⁴ and b) the specialised excavation and analysis procedures required to deal with this material.¹⁰⁵
- 5. Even if exhumed, it is assumed that we are unable to make meaningful demographic conclusions from juvenile remains, as it is thought that they cannot be aged, sexed or analysed from a bioanthropological perspective.

The scholarly community's tacit subscription to these assumptions may partially account for the paucity of representations of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture in Egyptian archaeological narratives. In alignment with the research aims established in §1.3, the present study will investigate the accuracy and historiographical underpinnings of each of these assumptions.

2.2 Children, Infants and Foetuses in Published Cemetery Data

The primary assumption regarding Egyptian juvenile mortuary culture is that "published cemetery data record very few infant and juvenile burials", 106 thereby rendering them

Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166); Richards (1992: 64, 80); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); Grajetzki (2003: 53); Patch (2007: 248); cf. Hendrickx (1984: 227); van Haarlem (2001; 2003: 538; 2005: 197; 2006: 390); Rose et al. (2008: 84).

of Strouhal (1992: 21); Tyldesley (1994: 75); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14).

^{Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); cf. Ucko (1969: 270); Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166, 167); Bard (1994: 77); van Haarlem (2001; 2003: 538; 2005: 197); Grajetzki (2003: 53); van Haarlem & Hikade (2006: 390).}

Ucko (1969: 271); Richards (1992; 65, fn. 4, 283; 2005: 66); Strouhal (1992: 21); Tyldesley (1994: 75).

Ucko (1969:271); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 12); Tyldesley (1994: 69); Filer (1998: 392); Feucht (2001a: 261).

¹⁰⁴ Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166); Baines & Lacovara (2002:14).

Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166).

Richards (2005: 66); cf. Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166); O'Connor (1972: 80); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); Grajetzki (2003: 53); Patch (2007: 248).

unavailable for integration into archaeological narratives.¹⁰⁷ However, the present study's archaeological survey reveals that substantial numbers of individuals from these age groups *are* represented amongst published archaeological data from cemeteries *and* settlements – a discovery which will be presented and expanded upon in the following chapters.¹⁰⁸ As was the case for many other branches of archaeology, it appears that the children, infants and foetuses of ancient Egypt have been rendered invisible simply because most scholars have not yet consciously looked for them.¹⁰⁹

2.3 Differential Burial Practices

One of the most frequently discussed elements of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture in Egyptology is that they have been found buried under the floors of houses or in the foundations of buildings. Well-known examples of Egyptian settlement burials are derived from the towns of Kahun, Elephantine, Abydos and Naqada, and the practice is also well-reported across the ancient cultures of the Mediterranean, Europe, Africa, Mesoamerica and the Near East. Petrie's early assessments of these burials were highly unfavourable, stating: I fear these discoveries do not reflect much on the manners and customs of the village occupants. In the absence of comparative Egyptian data, Petrie was influenced by their apparent similarity to the Near Eastern and Mediterranean examples, stating: These were similar to the burials of foreigners, afterwards found in

¹⁰⁷ Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14).

Some scholars have noted the large numbers of child and infant burials in sites such as Deir Tasa, Gurob, Maadi, Matmar, Merimde Beni Salame, Mostgedda and Deir el Medina; Robins (1994-1995: 28); Feucht (1995: 125); Meskell (2002a: 69).

¹⁰⁹ Chamberlain (1997: 249).

Kemp (1968); Ucko (1969: 274); Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166, 167); Hoffman (1979: 94); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 21); Watterson (1991: 92); Richards (1992: 65, 80, 284); Strouhal (1992: 21); Feucht (1995: 126; 2001a: 262); Bard (1997: 67, 72); Baines & Lacovara (2002:14); Patch (2007: 249); Szpakowska (2008: 33).

¹¹¹ See §§3.4, 3.4.2.

Szpakowska (2008: 33). For example, in chronological order, Upper to Middle Upper Palaeolithic Austria: Einwögerer et al. (2006); Einwögerer (2008: 17). African Final Palaeolithic to Epipalaeolithic Palestine (Natufian): Midant-Reynes (2000: 84). Mesolithic to Neolithic to Chalcolithic Balkans, including Hungary, Macedonia, Bulgaria, Serbia, Croatia, Bosnia, Romania: Chapman (2000: 174ff., 178); Boric & Stefanovic (2004); Naumov (2007: 257). Pre-Pottery Neolithic A Jericho; Pre-Pottery Neolithic Cyprus: Le Mort (2008: 23, 28). Neolithic Near East and Europe, particularly Anatolia, Greece and Italy: Hodder (2000: 19); Moses (2008: 46). African Neolithic Sudan: Midant-Reynes (2000: 71, 96, 131, 134). Neolithic and Chalcolithic Romania: Kogălniceanu (2008). Late Neolithic to Early Bronze Age Turkey: Hopwood (2008: 113). Neolithic to Bronze Age Bulgarian Thrace: Mishina (2008: 137). Middle Bronze Age Palestine and Jericho: Weinstein (1973: 400). Final Bronze Age Italy: van Rossenberg (2008: 166). Iron Age Britain: Tibbetts (2008). Roman Period Sallèles d'Aude, France: Andrews & Bello (2006: 15). Anglo-Saxon Britain: Crawford (2008). Establishment Period Grasshopper Pueblo, Arizona: Longacre (1975: 72). Middle to Terminal Formative Period K'axob, Belize: Storey & McAnany (2006: 61). Cholulteca II-III Cholula, Mexico: McCafferty & McCafferty (2006: 35). Regional Development Period Chalchaquí, Argentina: DeMarrais (2004: 19ff.).

³ Petrie's journal entry, 8-15 April 1889; cited in David (1986: 112); Meskell (1999b: 159); cf. van Haarlem (2005: 197).

large numbers."¹¹⁴ In conjunction with other evidence in the form of ceramic and stone vessels, weights and measures and pot marks, ¹¹⁵ Petrie interpreted infant settlement burials as evidence that people from neighbouring "Asiatic" regions had populated these towns and influenced their burial customs. ¹¹⁶ Considering his excavations at Kahun, Abydos and Naqada were among the first engagements with ancient Egyptian settlement data, ¹¹⁷ it is perhaps understandable that Petrie drew these conclusions in the absence of more extensive archaeological evidence from domestic contexts. However, his authoritative voice and derisive opinion regarding these interments may have been the seed which germinated current disciplinary sensibilities regarding the aetiology of child, infant and foetal settlement burials and the supposedly 'differential treatment' of this segment of the ancient population. ¹¹⁸

In the shadow of Petrie's interpretations, no research has been undertaken to determine the extent of settlement burial practices in ancient Egypt; nor have any efforts been made to compare the relative incidence of juvenile settlement *versus* cemetery interments. In the absence of such research, Gardiner attributed the presence of infant settlement burials at Tanis and Tell er-Ratabeh to a "well authenticated Palestinian practice", and Uphill classifies the so-called settlement burials at Merimde Beni Salame as a "Mesopotamian practice rather than Nilotic". David further perpetuates the theory of foreign influence, stating that these burials were a "non-Egyptian religious practice" that "do not fit into the pattern of Egyptian funerary customs ... they are known from other Near Eastern sites". Baines and Lacovara highlight the phenomenon of juvenile settlement burial as a "special practice", "suggesting that [for ancient Egypt], as in many cultures, they [children, infants and foetuses] were not necessarily interred in the same place or manner as older

¹¹⁴ Petrie (1896: 2).

Petrie (1890: 40-45); David (1986: 175-194, esp. 188-189).

¹¹⁶ David (1986: 137).

Cf. Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 80-82). Petrie (1905: 3) also excavated settlement burials at Ehnasya el-Medina (Herakleopolis Magna). His increasingly frequent encounters with this phenomenon caused him to say: "It is remarkable how, both at Abydos and here [Ehnasya el-Medina] the Egyptians seem to have had no objection to mixing cemetery and town together. At Abydos the desert was close at hand, and yet pit graves were dug, lined and vaulted, amid the deserted houses of the outskirts of the town, much as they seem to have been here. All this shows very different ideals of burial to what we usually associate with Egypt."

For further comments on the phenomenon of authoritarianism in Egyptology, see Redford (2008: 26). Crawford (2008: 199) argues for a similar historiographical understanding of current sensibilities towards infant settlement burials in Anglo-Saxon Britain as a result of E. T. Leeds' (1947: 86) early assessment of the practice as "abnormal...disorderly interment[s]".

¹¹⁹ Gardiner (1933: 127).

¹²⁰ Uphill (2001: 11).

¹²¹ David (1986: 255).

¹²² David (2002: 273); cf. David (1986: 137).

individuals". ¹²³ Here, Baines and Lacovara infer that children were somehow perceived differently than adult members of the community, and were therefore not included in normative communal burial customs including funeral ceremonies and interment within public burial grounds. ¹²⁴ Richards is in agreement, stating that "the issue may relate to differential modes of disposal ... the seeming exclusion of subadults from formal burial in cemeteries related to conceptions of full personhood and the age at which one attained that status in ancient Egypt. It may not have been necessary to formally inter 'nonpersons'." ¹²⁵ Strouhal goes so far as suggesting that appropriate means of disposing children's bodies may have taken place in other extramural areas, where they may be "exposed at the edge of the desert to be scavenged by wild animals and birds of prey, or cast into the Nile, or a canal, where crocodiles disposed of them". ¹²⁶

The present study seeks to determine the veracity of these enduring assumptions regarding the purported differential burial treatment of children, infants and foetuses in ancient Egypt. Of particular interest is the nature and scope of settlement burial practices as well as the relative incidence of juvenile settlement *versus* cemetery interments. These issues will be explored via the survey of all available published archaeological data, as described in §1.4.4. Results of this survey will be presented in the following chapters.

2.4 Infanticide and Pedicide

The preceding hypotheses of Strouhal, Richards and Baines and Lacovara regarding differential juvenile burial treatment implies that communities with suspected high levels

Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); cf. O'Connor (1972: 80); Bard (1994: 77); van Haarlem (2001; 2003: 538; 2005: 197); van Haarlem & Hikade (2006: 390).

¹²⁴ Patch (2007: 249-250).

Richards (2005: 66). Janssen & Janssen (1990: 154, 163) also state that Egyptians perceived that "an infant was an incomplete adult, still in a state of imperfection." *Cf.* Ariès (1962: 38-39); Heer (1968: 454); Hoffman (1979: 94); Harrington (2007: 63); Gobeil (2009: 169); Zillhardt (2009: 76); *contra* Meskell (2000: 429).

Strouhal (1992: 21). Delrue (2001: 27) extends this mode of burial to "the common class", whom he states "would have been left behind in the fields or the desert, or would have been thrown into the river"; cf. Murray (1956: 86); Savage (1995: 198-199); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 13). However, the present study suggests that disposal in the river would not have been a culturally-sanctioned practice for such a substantial proportion of the population, owing to the deep-seated and enduring fear of drowning in ancient Egypt, and concomitant fears for loss of deceased bodies into the water. Probably due to the destructive corporeal changes caused by prolonged immersion in water, as well as the tendency of moving water to remove a body far from home and family, death or disposal in the river was perceived as a complete destruction of identity, resulting in denial of access to the afterlife. For these reasons, it was used as the severest form of criminal punishment until the beginning of the New Kingdom, when prevailing Osirian afterlife beliefs precipitated a cognitive shift in the Egyptian psyche. From this point, individuals who drowned were identified with Osiris and were believed to enter into his cyclical rebirth; Strauss (1977); Binder (1995: 23). I am grateful to Dr. Susanne Binder, Macquarie University, for bringing this matter to my attention.

of child, infant and foetal mortality, such as ancient Egypt, ¹²⁷ might be expected to display a certain attitude of indifference towards children due to the improbability of their survival. Strouhal speculates that the small amount of time spent before their death did not allow Egyptian parents to "form an attachment" to their offspring. ¹²⁹ Extending this logic, one would also expect to observe a reduced level of care and attention on behalf of parents and adult kin towards newborn infants. Such neglect would increase the possibility of premature death, ¹³⁰ causing ethnographers, anthropologists and archaeologists to raise questions regarding culturally-sanctioned/tolerated practices of infanticide and pedicide.

Infanticide may be defined as "any behaviour that makes a direct and significant contribution to the immediate death of an embryo or newly hatched or born member of the perpetrator's own species", ¹³¹ usually occurring at birth or shortly thereafter. ¹³² However, human parental investment continues well after weaning, and decisions to terminate medical, nutritional, physical and/or emotional investment may take place much later in the overall reproductive process, potentially leading to 'passive' ¹³³ or 'deferred' infanticide, or 'pedicide' – the killing of a child. ¹³⁴ Infanticide and pedicide have been practiced in many different cultures over a wide span of time, with the earliest suspected example dating to the Upper Palaeolithic. ¹³⁵ The motives for infanticide are extremely varied both within and between cultures. A range of social, political and religious factors have been linked with its practice in both ancient and modern contexts. ¹³⁶ In attempts to account for the underrepresentation of child, infant and foetal remains in cemetery populations across cultures, the practice of infanticide is always among the first options offered in historical explanations, especially the type which sees neonates exposed in areas close to or within the settlement, without subsequent burial in the community cemetery.

^{Wainwright, in Petrie et al. (1912: 5); Baines (1985: 471); Whale (1989: 254); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 21); Strouhal (1992: 9, 256); Robins (1993: 85; 1994-1995: 27; 2001: 512); Tyldesley (1994: 51, 57, 79); Feucht (1995: 124; 2001b: 192); Nicholson & Shaw (1995: 64); Filer (1998: 391; 2001: 135); Meskell (1999b: 169; 2002a: 69); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14).}

¹²⁸ Strouhal (1992: 21).

¹²⁹ cf. Hertz (1960: 76); Stone (1979: 70); Baines (1991: 133).

¹³⁰ Ariès (1962: 38-39); Heer (1968: 454).

¹³¹ Hrdy & Hausfater (1984: xiv); cf. Langer (1974); Daly & Wilson (1984); Hrdy (1992).

¹³² Williamson (1978: 64); Scrimshaw (1984: 448); Mays (1993: 883).

¹³³ Via fatal neglect; Chamberlain (2000: 209).

Johansson (1984: 463). Scott (1999: 12) questions this assumption, considering that "the main causes of high mortality rates have always been illness and accidents."

¹³⁵ Carr-Saunders (1922: 113); Schwartz & Isser (2000: 23).

¹³⁶ Scrimshaw (1984: 445).

Despite a lack of evidence for infanticide and pedicide in the Egyptian archaeological record, 137 it is a subject frequently addressed within Egyptological literature. 138 Here, the question of infanticide is most often associated with women's studies, 139 as it was an act historians believe to have been perpetrated most often by women. 140 Contrary to Strouhal's aforementioned speculations regarding the value of children, 141 most scholars agree that infanticide appears *not* to have been a culturally-sanctioned/tolerated practice in ancient Egypt. 142 Nevertheless, it was not out of the ordinary for early archaeologists such as Brunton to interpret the appearance of child burials in 'unusual' places as a form of ritual or religious infanticide, also referred to as "sacrifice". 143 Tacit adherence to such hypotheses over ensuing decades has also contributed to current perceptions of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture in Egyptological discourse.

Such hypotheses are contextualised when one considers the cultural lenses through which excavators such as Brunton were interpreting archaeological data during the 19th and 20th Centuries. Many of the early Egyptian archaeologists were born, raised and educated in middle-to-upper class Britain and America. During the mid to late Victorian period in England there were higher rates of infanticide than seen in previous eras. In the anonymity of burgeoning industrial towns, tiny bodies could be disposed of in canals or abandoned in parks or alleyways. Reports of 150 dead infants being found in London streets during 1862 led *The Times* to lament that "infancy in London has to creep into life in the midst of foes". In the same year, a Middlesex coroner stated that the police

¹³⁷ It is acknowledged that many of the mechanisms of infanticide, including smothering, strangling and exposure leave no skeletal traces; Moses (2008: 45).

Janssen & Janssen (1990: 12); Filer (1998: 392).

Tyldesley (1994: 69); Feucht (2001a: 261).

Scott (1999: 30); Mays (2000: 180).

¹⁴¹ See also §2.4.1, below.

Weinstein (1973: 415); Harrington (2007: 61). The present study acknowledges that infanticide/pedicide may have occasionally occurred in ancient Egypt. We have textual evidence of the willful neglect of children: for example, the Demotic letter featuring some children's lamentations to the gods after being abandoned by their father: "Miserable by night, unhappy by day through a cruel father, a godless one, he feels no guilt", see Brunner-Traut (1974: 12). There is evidence for formal enquiries into the incidence of child death: for example, O.Letellier, 19th Dynasty, Deir el Medina: "Qenhirkhopshef addresses the woman Inerwau: What means your failing to go to the diviner on account of the two infants who died while in your charge? Inquire of the woman diviner about the death of the two infants, whether it be their fate or destiny", cited in Meskell (2000: 431); Harrington (2007: 61). Also extant are details of the punishment for infanticide: for example, Diodorus states that the punishment for pedicide was for the guilty parent/s to hold the dead child/ren in their arms for three days and nights under the supervision of a government guard, see Feucht (1995: 371); Scott (2001: 144).

⁴³ Brunton, in Petrie *et al.* (1923: 4); see Database Record Number 50; *cf.* Petrie *et al.* (1912: 11); Moses (2008: 45). *Contra* Zillhardt (2009: 77).

¹⁴⁴ Meskell (1999b: 1); Thomas (2006: 42).

¹⁴⁵ Mays (2000: 187-188); cf. Rose (1986); Kelly (1992).

¹⁴⁶ Cited in Higginbotham (1989: 319).

thought no more of finding a dead infant than a dead dog or cat.¹⁴⁷ Indeed, legal recognition of infanticide as a crime distinct from murder did not take place in England until the Infanticide Bill was passed in 1922.¹⁴⁸

Furthermore, in Victorian-Edwardian times illegitimacy and infant mortality were closely linked. 149 Illegitimate birth rates were significant during these periods, and constituted a high percentage of infants who died during their first year of life. 150 Women who had conceived a child out of wedlock were often left destitute as markers of their transgression of moral and social order. 151 Furthermore, children produced from such liaisons inherited similar social judgments and ostracism.

One cannot underestimate the impact that Christian beliefs may have had on early excavator's interpretative frameworks. 152 As discussed, infanticide was associated with lascivious behaviour and female promiscuity¹⁵³ – concepts most offensive to Victorian-Edwardian Christian middle-to-upper class sensibilities. One occasionally sees direct evidence of such culturally-relative anachronistic judgement regarding Egyptian sexual behaviour within the discourse. For example, when Brunton passes comment on the burial of a "young girl, epiphyses not joined, but pregnant" in the 9th-10th Dynasty Southern cemetery of Qau el-Kebir, his comments thinly veil his displeasure regarding her enceinte state at a young age. Moreover, encounters with child, infant and foetal interments outside of community cemetery contexts, such as settlement burials, would have challenged early excavators' Christian beliefs regarding the parameters of 'hallowed ground', leading them to view these interments as indicators of clandestine, liminal or deviant precipitants of cultural and religious ostracism. 155 Perhaps such burials also challenged adult-centric archaeological power relations, and the appearance of children's bodies outside of cemetery boundaries mobilised authoritative notions of children's obedience and leading to punitive assumptions of inclusion and exclusion. 156 disobedience, Compounding these issues, one must not forget that at this time 'uniformitarianism' was

¹⁴⁷ Langer (1974: 353-365).

¹⁴⁸ Mays (2000: 187).

¹⁴⁹ Scott (2001: 143).

¹⁵⁰ Featherstone (2003: 279-280).

¹⁵¹ Featherstone (2003: 280).

¹⁵² Milde (1994: 25).

¹⁵³ Scott (1999: 38).

¹⁵⁴ Brunton (1927a: 39).

¹⁵⁵ Crawford (2008: 202).

¹⁵⁶ Connolly & Ennew (1996); Derevenski (2000: 5).

¹⁵⁷ Lyell, cited in Renfrew & Bahn (2000: 24); Trigger (2007: 43).

still a legitimate interpretative tool. From this perspective, Filer notes that early excavators' awareness of the highly-publicised practice of infanticide in both Greek and Roman ancient cultures may also have influenced their interpretations.¹⁵⁸

This was the milieu under which early Egyptian archaeologists were excavating and interpreting child, infant and foetal burials, forming the foundations of disciplinary sensibilities regarding the lived experiences and cultural capacities of this demographic group. The present study does not claim that Western societies of the Victorian-Edwardian eras did not cherish their children, even in death; the renowned phenomenon of child and infant mortuary photography burgeoned during these periods, demonstrating mourning parents' desire to cling to fleeting encounters with their eternally 'sleeping' offspring. Despite this fact, at this time there was no social recognition of the infant as a discreet entity, and the practice of infanticide was well-known, exceedingly controversial and would have been at the forefront of these conservative middle-to-upper class gentlemen excavators' minds when they encountered children's bodies outside of 'normative' burial contexts.

2.4.1 The Value of the Child in Ancient Egypt

Even preceding the results of the present study's survey of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, it is apparent that Strouhal, Richards and Baines and Lacovara's hypotheses regarding the purported value and identity of children in ancient Egypt are unsubstantiated. It is clear that the desire to produce children was an incredibly strong aspect of Egyptian personal and cultural ideology. An abundance of evidence from domestic, mortuary and religious contexts across the breadth of the pharaonic period indicates that men and women alike had an overwhelming desire to produce offspring, this being a core function of Egyptian 'marriage'. According to *The Instructions of Prince Harjedef*:

Filer (1998: 393, 399). For example, see Haydn (1898: 151), who states that "many ancient nations exposed their infants, - the Egyptians on the banks of rivers, and the Greeks on highways, - when they could not support or educate them".

Meskell (1999c: 128) notes the propensity within Egyptology to "construct a normative Egypt, one that mirrors our own society".

¹⁶⁰ Robb (2007: 289).

¹⁶¹ Armstrong (1986: 212).

¹⁶² Stoof (1978: 115); Meskell (2002a: 65); Harrington (2007: 55).

Janssen & Janssen (1990: 159); Bourriau (1991: 3); Strouhal (1992: Chapter 1); Robins (1994-1995: 24, 26; 2001: 511-512); Meskell (1999b: 213; 2002a: 65); Wilfgong (2001: 341-342).

"When you prosper, found your household, take a hearty wife, a son will be born to you. It is for the son you build a house, when you make a place for yourself." 164

Further, The Instruction of Any advises:

"Take a wife while you are young, that she make a son for you; She should bear for you while you are youthful. It is proper to make people. Happy is the man whose people are many, he is saluted on account of his progeny." 165

Egyptian medical papyri feature magical spells and herbal remedies for the prevention of miscarriage and the promotion/testing of fecundity, ¹⁶⁶ while votive fertility figurines recovered from temples and domestic shrines also feature texts and prayers beseeching the gods or a deceased relative to assist the supplicant to conceive. ¹⁶⁷ Even in their grief, some prospective parents seized the opportunity to appeal to recently-deceased relatives to intercede on their behalf as they transitioned between worlds, placing letters in their graves beseeching them to "Cause that there be born to me a healthy male child." ¹⁶⁸ Such evidence implies that Egyptian couples were not merely biological drones, but actively and in many cases, passionately, wanted children to come into their lives. ¹⁶⁹

Moreover, there is a great deal of evidence to suggest that once children survived the challenges of gestation and birth, there was much concern regarding their continued survival. Spells and chants were aggressively recited in attempts to ward off the spectre of death, such as:

"Come on out, visitor from the darkness, who crawls along with your nose and face on the back of your head, not knowing why you are here! Have you come to kiss this child? I forbid you to do so! Have you come to cosset this child? I forbid you to! Have you come to do it harm? I forbid this! I have made ready

⁴th/5th Dynasty; Lichtheim (1975: 58). It should be noted that wherever ancient texts are cited, the reference is to published translations.

^{165 18}th Dynasty; Lichtheim (1976: 136).

Middle Kingdom: pKahun and pEbers; New Kingdom: pCarlsberg VIII and pBerlin; cf. Griffith (1898);
 Ebbell (1937); Barnes (1956); Stevens (1975); Feucht (1980c; 1995: 116); Sandison (1980); Cole (1986);
 Janssen & Janssen (1990: 159-160); Nunn (1996); Collier & Quirke (2004: 53-64).

Baines (1991: 181); Watterson (1991: 86); Robins (1994-1995: 26; 2001: 512); Feucht (1980c; 2001b: 192); Meskell (2002a: 91). Similar figurines have also been discovered without texts. These may simply have been imbued with reproductive intent.

For example, First Intermediate Period letter written on a pot, unprovenanced, Chicago; cited in Janssen & Janssen (1990: 160); Cf. Feucht (1980c: 440).

¹⁶⁹ Lillehamer (2010: 25).

¹⁷⁰ Janssen & Janssen (1990: 22ff.); Feucht (2001a: 262).

for its protection a potion from the poisonous afat herb, from garlic which is bad for you, from honey which is sweet for the living but bitter for the dead, from the droppings and entrails of fish and beast and from the spine of the perch";¹⁷¹

and

"Spell for a knot for a baby: 'Are you warm in the nest? Are you hot in the bush? Is your mother with you? Is there no sister to fan you? Is there no nurse to afford protection? Let there be brought to me pellets of gold, balls of garnet, a seal with a crocodile(-figure) and a hand to slay and dispel the Demon of Desire, to warm the body, and to slay his male or female enemies of the West. You will break out! This is a protection! (Make this spell) into an amulet and put to the throat of the child. Good!" 172

Archaeological evidence recovered from burials, such as amulets, 173 cylinder amulets, 174 knotted cords¹⁷⁵ and apotropaic wands¹⁷⁶ suggests that the practices advised in certain spells were actually carried out to protect and preserve the lives of children and infants.¹⁷⁷ This evidence corroborates with ethnographic studies of societies which experience high levels of infant mortality comparable to those purported for ancient Egypt. These studies have established that adult carers demonstrate "indulgent" parental and kin investment towards children and infants as a mechanism to mitigate perceived mortality risks.¹⁷⁹ These studies Strouhal and Richards' theories of parental emotional contrast

¹⁷¹ Middle Kingdom: Borghouts (1978: no. 65).

Feucht (1995: 127; 2001a: 262; 2001b: 192); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 9); Meskell (2002a: 76); Robins (1993: 87-88; 1994-1995: 29); Taylor (2001: 209); Tyldesley (1994: 72). The present study found a minimum of 566 amulets amongst child, infant and foetal burial assemblages; see §§9.3, 9.3.3.

Middle Kingdom: Parkinson (1991a: 129-130); cf. Loose (1993: 285); Robins (1993: 85); Strouhal (2001: 24); Meskell (2002a: 76). Peust (2008: 324-330) describes similar protective spells for children and infants in the Third Intermediate to Late Period oracular amuletic decrees.

The present study's archaeological survey identified 2 examples of cylinder amulets amongst published Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom mortuary data, both in Middle Kingdom cemetery burials of children of unspecified age at Harageh; see Grave Good Record Numbers (henceforth, *GGRNs*) 178 and 184.

The present study's archaeological survey identified an example of a knotted cord amongst published Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom mortuary data in the Middle Kingdom settlement burial of a 15–16 months old child in Elephantine; see GGRN 305.

See Parkinson (1991a: 130, BM 18175, 12th Dynasty apotropaic wand); Arnold (1992: 69-70, cat. 135, MMA 08.200.19, pls. 82-84a; 13th Dynasty apotropaic wand).

Janssen & Janssen (1990: 23-24); David (2002: 285); Meskell (2002a: 76).

¹⁷⁸ Le Vine (1974; 1977; 1980; 1983); Hewlett (1991: 13-17).

The Agta Foragers of the Philippines: see Peterson (1978). The Gusii agro-pastoralists of South-West Kenya: see Le Vine et al. (1994). The Ache hunter-gatherers of Paraguay: see Hill & Hurtado (1996). Hewlett (1991: 8, Table 3) reports that this pattern is equally observed among societies characterised by their 'peacefulness' (such as the Mbuti, !Kung and Semai) as it is amongst those known for their 'fierceness' (such as the Yanomamo and Tsembaga). Cf. Chamberlain (2000: 208); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 347); contra Ucko (1969: 271).

detachment/disinvestment – such approaches are described by Coale as a "lethal mutation", ¹⁸⁰ as they would defy evolutionary objectives, increase child and infant mortality even further and possibly even lead to a society's demise.

The position and value of children in traditional societies often also extends to their capacity to contribute to their family or community socio-economic profile.¹⁸¹ In this way, child mortality rates would have had significant implications for group viability and longevity.¹⁸² Thus, to the parents of ancient Egypt, the 'value' of children may also have been associated with their potential as future 'investments'.¹⁸³ In socio-economic terms, surviving children can provide political and economic support from a young age, ¹⁸⁴ as well as providing 'insurance' as carers for their ageing parents, ¹⁸⁵ becoming what the Egyptians termed "the staff of old age", had is in genetic terms, they embody their parents' share in the future collective gene pool. ¹⁸⁷ In communal terms, children bolster the labour force ¹⁸⁸ and provide future communal marriage partners. ¹⁸⁹

While pertinent to the present discussion and certainly applicable to the ancient Egyptian context, such ethnographically-determined hypotheses do not consider the religious imperative that permeated every facet of Egyptian life: the quest for immortality. Countless texts reveal that children were responsible for the provision of their parents' tombs, their

¹⁸⁰ Coale (1984: 542).

¹⁸¹ See Draper (1975); Friedel (1975); Nag et al. (1978: 293); Okore (1986: 54); Zeller (1987); Claassen (1992); Lillie (2008: 41); Littleton (2011: 381).

¹⁸² Reher (1995: 520); Chamberlain (2000: 208ff.).

¹⁸³ Kaplan (1996); Chamberlain (2000: 209); Montgomery (2009: 67-70).

Ethnographic research from agricultural areas of Egypt indicates that children begin to positively contribute to their household economies at 5 years of age; Mueller (1976); Littleton (2011: 381). This research is bolstered by analyses of dermatoglyphs (preserved fingerprints) on ceramic lamps from Kom el-Dikka dating to the 7th to 8th Centuries. Dzierżykray-Rogalski & Promińska (1992: 92) report that the majority of the lamps had been produced by children aged 8-14 years. Stoof (1978: 118), Feucht (1980b: 438-440) and Meskell (2002a: 83) note the artistic representations of children at work in ancient Egypt. Meskell (2002a: 83) also cites preserved children's footprints in the mud plaster surrounding the Early Dynastic mortuary complex of Khasekhemwy at Abydos as evidence that they may have worked alongside adults during construction. Quibell (1896: 4) believes that children were utilised in tomb robbery, and Caton-Thompson & Gardner (1934: 115, 118) suspect they were employed in mining, their diminutive size enabling them to fit in small spaces.

¹⁸⁵ Robins (1994-1995: 26); McDowell (1998); Feucht (2001a: 263); Meskell (2002a: 194); Harrington (2007: 55); cf. Cain (1978; 1981; 1982: fn. 7, 166-168; 1983; 1986: fn. 9; 1991: 519-528); Nugent (1985); Vlassoff (1990: 5-20); contra Mueller (1976: 133); Robinson (1986: 291).

WB II, 178.11: this phrase is attested from the Middle Kingdom (for example, the Maxims of Ptahhotep, pPrisse), and the 18th Dynasty (for example, the Autobiography of the High Priest Amenemhat, 18th Dynasty, TT 97; Janssen & Janssen (1990: 151-152, 158); cf. Fischer (1977: 158-160); Brunner (1984: 1224); Blumenthal (1987); el-Din (1997); McDowell (1998: 201-203); Karenburg & Leitz (2002).

Darwin (1859); Barkow & Burley (1980: 163); Turke (1989: 62); Cronk (1991: 30); Hill & Kaplan (1999: 416).

¹⁸⁸ Robins (2001: 514); Meskell (2002a: 83).

¹⁸⁹ Mizoguchi (2000: 148).

'house of eternity'; and for performing offerings and prayers for their parents' posthumous vivification and sustenance.¹⁹⁰ Even those parents who could not naturally conceive were encouraged to adopt children to ensure their own wellbeing in this life and the next:

"He who has no children should get for himself some orphan, to bring him up. Then he will be the one who pours water upon his hands as a genuine oldest son." 191

As such, it may be argued that children's lives – therefore, living children – were inextricably intertwined with those of their parents in a positive feedback mechanism coexisting across physical and metaphysical planes. It was in Egyptian parents' best interests to keep their children alive and thriving: they were the conduits through which their parents could access immortality. From a religious perspective, ancient Egyptian children were invaluable: they "caused [their parents] to live", $1.92 \, \text{s'nh}$. Within such a configuration, current theories of parental detachment and designations of children as 'nonpersons' can only be considered maladaptive.

With these factors in mind, one can see that the survival and well-being of foetuses, infants and children were linked to individual and communal longevity in this world and the next. Therefore, these issues would have held significant symbolic meaning and been of considerable personal and societal concern. According to the evidence cited thus far, it appears that ancient Egyptian carers recognised the value and significance of children and exercised every aspect of their physical and spiritual powers to sustain the lives of the youngest members of their families and communities. Chapters 3 to 9 of this thesis further investigate the personal, social and cultural value of children in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt. This is achieved by examining what published child, infant and foetal mortuary data reveals about how parents and carers responded when death did come and "steal the infant". 194

⁹⁰ Robins (1994-1995: 26).

Deir el-Medina ostraca (Berlin), 19th Dynasty, cited in Janssen & Janssen (1990: 159). For discussions of the practice of adoption in Egypt, see Robins (1993: 77; 1994-1995: 27); Tyldesley (1994: 71); McDowell (1998: 217-220); Feucht (2001a: 261; 2001b: 192; 2001c: 503); Meskell (2002a: 98); Harrington (2007: 55).

WB IV, 46-47a VI (figurative, funerary sense): this phrase is attested from the Old Kingdom (Pyramid Texts, Spells 341, 364, 571), through to the Coptic Period. Janssen & Janssen (1990: 72, 156, 158) cite text from the block statue of Bakenkhons, High Priest of Amun at Karnak, 19th Dynasty, now located in Munich, Gl. W.A.F. 38. Willems (2001a: 369, 370-372) discusses this concept in Coffin Text Spells 30-41 and 312. Cf. Baines (1991: 144); Feucht (1995: 86ff.); Harrington (2007: 55).

¹⁹³ Cronk (1991: 46); Hewlett (1991); Voland et al. (1991).

See epigram, page xxi of this thesis; *Instruction of Any*, 18th Dynasty, Lichtheim (1976: 138).

2.5 Preservation Potential of Juvenile Remains

Apart from the impact of cultural practices, it has recently been considered that child, infant and foetal skeletons may have lower preservation potential than those of adults, thus potentially affecting their representation in mortuary contexts. Certainly, their bones are smaller and more delicate and their graves are often shallower than those of adults, increasing the possibility that they may be damaged or lost through taphonomic processes following surface disruption, including natural soil erosion, or human activities such as ploughing, drainage or building. These reflections point towards a hypothesis of differential destruction. This theory could account for the generality of the phenomenon of juvenile under-representation in mortuary contexts across time and space, as well as the amplitude of differentiation between sites, and even between individual burials.

The mineral content of bone characteristically develops as a function of age. Density and mineral content levels initially decrease after birth. They are maintained at a minimum value during the first year *post-partum*, then rise to reattain birth levels at the end of the second year and increase until adult age. ¹⁹⁸ Internal compressive strength increases with the density of the bone. Hardness depends on density and on the size and orientation of the mineral crystals within the bone. ¹⁹⁹ Therefore, resistance to abrasion and tensile strength logically increase with age.

Subsequent to a child's death and burial, osseous responses during and after the processes of soft tissue decomposition depend on many taphonomic factors, some of which are thermodynamic, while others are kinetic, in particular porosity.²⁰⁰ To begin with, the principle for any given volume of mineral matter states that the smaller the crystal size the larger the surface area available for contact with demineralising agents. To compound the issue, crystals in juvenile bone do not contain much substituted fluoride in their lattice, thereby also making the minerals more soluble.²⁰¹ Therefore, young children's bones are quite easily breached by demineralising agents, because their small crystals present a large

Gordon & Buikstra (1981); Boddington (1987: 181); Jackes (1992: 206); Nawrocki (1995); Walker (1995: 41); Guy et al. (1997); Paine & Boldsen (2002:169); Stojanowski et al. (2002); Bello & Andrews (2006: 10); Perry (2006: 90-91); Gilchrist (2007: 143); Djurić et al. (2011); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 345); contra Lewis (2007: 37).

¹⁹⁶ Richards (1992: 62); Chamberlain (2000: 210); Lillehammer (2010: 30); Jackes (2011: 124).

¹⁹⁷ Perry (2006: 90).

¹⁹⁸ Chatterji et al. (1972); Galloway et al. (1997).

Hardness is a scientific term which refers to a material's ability to resist indentation and scratching. 'Mohs' is the acknowledged scale for hardness.

²⁰⁰ Gill-King (1997); Lyman & Fox (1997).

²⁰¹ Baud et al. (1977); Schultz (1997).

surface area for attack per unit volume and their poor mineralisation renders them porous and soluble.

The relationship between young age, mineral characteristics and mechanical properties explains why the skeletons of foetuses, infants and young children are so fragile. Their low tensile strength, and their extremely low compressive strength and hardness make them extremely vulnerable to breakage.²⁰² Their small skeletons poorly resist crushing by the pressure of overlying sediments.²⁰³ The fragmented bones are then subject to attack by the acid products of organic matter decomposition or by acid and saline soils.²⁰⁴

However, despite such compelling scientific explanations, we still cannot state with certainty that the apparent under-representation of very young children in almost all cemeteries across the world, including those of Egypt, can be explained purely by taphonomy, diagenesis²⁰⁵ and differential destruction processes.²⁰⁶ In this situation, where experiments are rarely possible, it is difficult to provide complete proof for this argument, especially when presented with great variability between sites; for example, the poor preservation reported for Kom el-Khilgan (**Figure 2.1**), *versus* the excellent preservation observed at Adaima (**Figure 2.2**).²⁰⁷ Nevertheless, as evidenced by the oldest 'anatomically modern human' burial in Egypt being that of a child at the Transitional/Upper Palaeolithic Taramsa Hill site (**Figure 2.3**),²⁰⁸ and the second-oldest being a Late Palaeolithic multiple burial including a foetus at Boulder Hill,²⁰⁹ it is clear that in certain areas, the desert surrounding Egypt's Nile Valley presents excellent dry-preservation conditions, providing archaeologists the best possible circumstances for encounters with the physical remains of children, infants and foetuses.²¹⁰

Vinz (1970) observed that, below 1.9 years, hardness was so low that he was not able to measure it.

²⁰³ Lyman & Fox (1997).

²⁰⁴ White & Hannus (1983); Garland & Janaway (1989); Gill-King (1997); Schultz (1997).

²⁰⁵ Jackes (2011: 126).

Some paleodemographers, such as Acsádi & Nemeskéri (1970: 239), refuse to admit the possibility that there may be any difference between the preservation rates of the bones of adults to those of children and infants.

I am grateful to Prof. Beatrix Midant-Reynes and Dr. Yann Tristant for providing these examples, and to the *Institut Français d'Archéologie Orientale* for the use of these images.

²⁰⁸ ca. 50,000 BP: Midant-Reynes (2000: 37); ca. 55,000 BP: Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 21, 25). This finding is mirrored elsewhere, with the earliest anatomically modern human found in the Lapedo Valley, Portugal, being that of a early Gravettian Palaeolithic child, ca. 26,000 BP; Harrington (1999).

²⁰⁹ ca. 20,000 BP: Midant-Reynes (2000: 43).

Meskell (2002a: 79). It is acknowledged that such ultra-dry preservation environments are not encountered in the Nile Delta. It is also acknowledged that the rising water table subsequent to the creation of the Aswan High Dam has led to increasingly high moisture and salinity levels in the Nile Valley, resulting in a highly destructive impact on the archaeological records of these contexts.

2.6 Identification and Excavation of Juvenile Remains

A further argument can be added to the aforementioned sociological, taphonomic and diagenetic hypotheses of juvenile under-representation in cemeteries: that of the highly-specialised training required to identify, recover and analyse young human bones from archaeological contexts. Such efforts are fraught with difficulties, particularly due to the under-development of fieldwork practices which address the specific challenges of exhuming child, infant and foetal remains.²¹¹ Even when they are preserved, child and infant skeletons are less likely to be recovered: they are smaller and less recognisable than those of adults,²¹² their graves may be smaller or less structured,²¹³ or they may be commingled with adult or animal remains.²¹⁴

Of the juvenile demographic group, the skeletons of foetuses and neonates are perhaps most susceptible to the vagaries of recognition. The foetal skeleton is comprised of hundreds of separate bones, with many epiphyses and bone segments presenting shapes and forms that could prove almost unrecognizable to an excavator trained using only adult skeletal material. Moreover, even experienced excavators have confused human foetal and infant bones with those of animals, such as the long bones of turtles, pigs, puppies, other mammals and birds.²¹⁵ Considering this, it is understandable that in times prior to the specialist professions of osteoarchaeology and physical anthropology, some excavators may have missed this delicate, amorphous material. However, even today, limited funding and other factors prevent the inclusion of specialists in every excavation team. In the absence of such experts, one can only speculate as to whether excavation manuals dedicated to the processes of exhuming and analysing children's skeletal remains are actually employed in the field.216 As such, due to inconsistent identification and excavation practices, the risks of juvenile under-representation in Egyptian archaeology should be considered ongoing.

²¹¹ Weaver (1998:188); Perry (2006: 91).

²¹² Djurić *et al.* (2011: 260).

²¹³ Crawford (1991: 21); Lee (1994: 67); Lucy (1994: 26).

²¹⁴ Chamberlain (2006: 89).

For example, see de Morgan (1912: 29); Rhine (1995: 4-5); Weaver (1998: 188); Lewis (2007: 26-27); Shepherd (2007: 94).

See Baker *et al.* (2005). Rhine's (1995) unpublished article also provides an excellent discussion of the recovery and analysis processes required for foetal remains. Scheuer & Black's (2000b) tome is unparalleled in terms of juvenile skeletal identification and analysis. These pieces should be seen as essential resources for archaeologists and anthropologists.

2.7 Child, Infant and Foetal Palaeodemography

Despite the abundance of scientific literature devoted to the study of child, infant and foetal skeletal remains, this segment of the population is often absent from anthropological analyses in Egyptology.²¹⁷ One of the most enduring assumptions regarding juvenile mortuary culture is that the physical remains of individuals from these age groups cannot be assessed in terms of age, sex and health statuses; therefore they cannot make meaningful contributions to population data-sets.²¹⁸ However, forensic and physical anthropological literature firmly establishes that the reverse is true, with this material having far greater promise than anticipated.

2.7.1 Sex Assessment and Age Estimation

Scientifically, it is well known that human sexual differentiation begins at least as early as the eighth to tenth foetal week, with the onset of appreciable levels of testosterone in the male. These developments of the endocrine system have led scientists to observe physical sex differences among foetal, neonatal and infant skeletons since the late 19th Century. As a logical consequence of growth, these differences become more marked with increasing age in children. Aging criteria for child, infant and foetal remains are even better developed than are those for sex assessment. Standards of skeletal ossification, long bone diaphyseal development and dental ontogeny at both macroscopic and histological levels have been well-researched. In the context of palaeodemographic analyses of the data derived from the archaeological survey detailed in §1.4.4, ageing and sexing methodologies will be further discussed in §4.1–4.3.

2.7.2 Palaeopathology

Recent decades have seen substantial increases in child, infant and foetal growth, health and trauma²²² research in forensic anthropology and palaeopathology.²²³ It is now widely

²¹⁷ St. Hoyme & İşcan (1989: 62).

The ongoing debate over the validity, utility and relevance of archaeological and anthropological attempts to infer biological affinity (usually couched as "race") using skeletal remains is not within the scope of this investigation.

²¹⁹ Weaver (1998: 187).

²²⁰ Thomson (1899).

See Scheuer & Black (2000b).

Skeletal injuries, whether accidental or intentional, should be rare in foetal and neonatal skeletal material, but may be of particular relevance to that of children; see Kerley (1978: 163). Unfortunately, the usual challenges experienced by archaeologists and physical anthropologists in distinguishing premortem, perimortem or postmortem fractures are likely to be amplified for such small and fragile bones: see Maples (1988). Of course, if any fracture healing had begun by the time of death, or if previously healed

recognized that juveniles provide the most sensitive barometer of the health statuses of entire past populations, ²²⁴ as these early growth processes are the logical pathways by which morphological variations among the adult population arise. Ethnographic studies have specified a wide variety of complex socio-ecological factors that, in isolation or combination, may influence child, infant and foetal health, morbidity and mortality. ²²⁵ These factors will be further discussed in §4.5 in the context of palaeopathological analyses of the data derived from the archaeological survey.

2.8 Children's Lived Experiences and Cultural Capacities

Having explored the current perceptions and historiographical underpinnings of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture in Egyptological literature, the present study now seeks to examine how these perceptions impact on current reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities within Egyptological discourse. Current precepts regarding children's position, value and agency in society will be critiqued according to historiographical associations and relativity to ethnographic and social theory. Such an approach ensures that the empirical findings delivered by the present study's archaeological survey will be situated within an ethical, balanced interpretative framework.

2.9 Artistic and Epigraphic Representations of Children

As highlighted in §2.1, current reconstructions of the lived experiences and cultural capacities of children, infants and foetuses in ancient Egypt are primarily based on artistic and epigraphic representations. Considering the diverse range of data available to Egyptologists, it is pertinent to critique the bias towards these categories of evidence apparent in many scholars' approaches. Further to this, it is worthwhile to consider the implications that exclusive use of these evidence categories may have on our reconstructions of the lived experiences of the actors contained therein.

fractures are found, it might be possible to reconstruct the timing and pattern of skeletal trauma in much the same ways as proposed for adult material (Lewis 2007: 163-183).

²²³ See Lewis (2007).

Hart (1998: 215); Humphrey (2000: 193); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 336).

It is acknowledged that many common acute illnesses which can lead to death in young children and infants, such as gastroenteritis, are rapid-onset and therefore difficult, if not impossible, to detect in the skeleton. However, it is certain that many aspects of poor nutrition and disease do effect the skeletal and dental development of foetuses, infants and children, and therefore have a tangible presence in the archaeological record.

²²⁶ Kemp (1977: 185); Andrén (1998: 41).

Artistic and epigraphic evidence may be critiqued in both quantitative and qualitative measures. It may be argued that Egyptology's preoccupation with artistic and epigraphic evidence is testimony not only to the surfeit of such material at our disposal;²²⁷ but it also reflects the umbilical ties to the intellectual milieu present at the foundation of our discipline,²²⁸ where our path was plotted along the lines of Classical studies.²²⁹ For many years following the establishment of Egyptology, items of textual and artistic evidence were viewed as worthy of study as ends in themselves, most likely due to the rigorous training of scholars in the fields of philology and political, military and art history in accordance with Classical conventions. Such practices have entrenched disciplinary bias towards historical evidence and led to the perception of archaeology as primarily the study of *pre*history, only to be employed as history's "handmaiden"²³⁰ in a "zero-sum"²³¹ equation, whereby its value is considered inversely proportional to the presence or absence of textual or artistic evidence.

However, scholars including Meskell²³² and Robins²³³ have recognized the propensity of such approaches to misrepresent the true lived experiences of individuals in ancient Egyptian communities, and have made measurable efforts to rectify the imbalance. They acknowledge that the only voices heard under the exclusive framework of artistic and literary evidence are those of its patrons.²³⁴ Generally speaking, these are the voices of elite adult males.²³⁵ We are yet to uncover either textual or artistic narrative created by children.²³⁶ Therefore, in reconstructions of ancient Egyptian society based on artistic and epigraphic evidence, children are *seen* but they are not *heard*.

²²⁷ Redford (2008: 25).

²²⁸ Strouhal (1992: 6).

²²⁹ Sherratt (1993: 119-120); Meskell (1999c: 129).

²³⁰ Knapp (1998: 8-9).

²³¹ Halsall (1997: 821).

²³² Meskell (1994: 37; 1999b: 2).

²³³ Robins (1993: 13-14; 2001: 510).

²³⁴ See also Stoof (1978: 115); Baines (1991: 124, 139); Kamp (2001: 24); Richards (2005: 49-58); Sowada (2010: 220).

Stoof (1978: 115); Robins (1993: 13); Meskell (1994: 37; 1999a: 37; 1999b: 5); Fischer-Elfert (2001: 438); Harrington (2007: 63). For a typically androcentric History, consider Gardiner (1935). Milde (1994) does not recognize the elite male bias in his article.

To this author's knowledge, the closest we have to extant textual narrative created by a child is the embedded direct speech of the boy-king Pepi II, in the Old Kingdom biography of Harkhuf: Lichtheim (1975: 23-27). The scribal exercises attested in New Kingdom 'schoolboy' manuscripts are not original narrative text; for example, pAnastasi, pBologna, pSallier, pKoller, pRainer and various ostraca, cited in Erman (1966: 188-218). In the second year of his reign, Pepi dictated a letter to be sent to the (eventual) Governor of Upper Egypt, Harkhuf, expressing his delight upon hearing news of Harkhuf's procurement of a 'dancing pygmy' from Yam, as well as his concern for all care to be taken so the pygmy would arrive safely at the palace. This was such an important event in Harkhuf's career that he included the contents of the letter in his autobiography, carved on his tomb façade in Aswan; see Lichtheim (1975: 23, 26-27). It should be noted, however, that this is an exceptional piece of evidence from a royal context

Such methodologies have reconstructed the lived experiences and cultural capacities of ancient Egyptian children and childhood within the conceptual boundaries of socialisation and familism.²³⁷ Egyptian children are essentially seen as the recipients of social influences, passive in social processes and the objects of parenting. In this frame, children are denied the same ontological status as adults. They are not perceived as social actors and are not ascribed any capacity for social agency. They play no part in the construction of their own social world.²³⁸

The impact of artistic and epigraphic bias in Egyptology has been problematised by Meskell.²³⁹ Meskell has responded to post-processualism's call for attention to areas of individual action and widening approaches to archaeology, rather than merely focusing on the 'big issues' which consumed processual archaeology during the 1960s and 1970s. A key component of post-processualist approaches such as Meskell's continues to be feminist studies: in the forms of critique, remedial research (or historical revision) and theory building.²⁴⁰ As a by-product of the feminist movement, feminist critique is now incorporated within the knowledge production and mainstream discourse of theoretical and practical archaeologies,²⁴¹ including that of Egyptology.

However, the same post-processual philosophy has not yet been extended to include wide-ranging studies on children in the Egyptian archaeological record. Indeed, it may be argued that many of the studies of children that *do* exist did not arrive as avenues of enquiry in their own right, but as a subset of the feminist trend.²⁴² Therefore, to this point in Egyptological literature, the majority of scholars have reconstructed the lived experiences and cultural capacities of children, infants and foetuses in the tertiary space conventionally occupied by children in Western history: as passive appendages to their mothers,²⁴³ who themselves are identified by and restricted to their relationship with their husbands.²⁴⁴ Within this configuration, the child remains in a semiotic lacuna, existing merely as a

and cannot be extrapolated beyond this frame. Moreover, it is clear that the contents are not *verbatim*, having been clearly subject to scribal mediation in accordance with royal protocol.

²³⁷ Scott (1997: 6).

²³⁸ Chandler (1991: 135).

²³⁹ See Meskell (1999b).

²⁴⁰ See Ovrevik (1991); Wylie (1991).

²⁴¹ See Sørenson (1988); Engelstad (1991); Meskell (1999b).

See Meskell (1999b). It is interesting to note that the feminist-inspired reaction against the 'woman as mother' paradigm did not precipitate interest in the socio-economic roles or gender development of children – the very individuals who are axiomatic to the perpetuation of parenting paradigms within culture.

²⁴³ Scott (1997: 7); Lillehammer (2000: 17); Zillhardt (2009: 2).

²⁴⁴ Meskell (1999b: 159); Olson (2001: 217).

relative term which belongs to the imperfect categories of 'not-adult' and 'not-male'.²⁴⁵ As a result, many Egyptological works may be argued to feature the phenomenon of "pseudo-inclusion".²⁴⁶, a form of tokenism, where children are included briefly for form's sake, but are then marginalized or dismissed without forming an integral or independent part of overall analyses.

From a historiographical perspective, such compartmentalisation and marginalisation of Egyptian children is discontinuous with the nature and scope of available artistic and epigraphic evidence. Children abound in artistic representations from the Old Kingdom onwards, engaging in all manner of activities in both sacred and secular spheres, across all socio-economic motifs. Children are clearly not marginalised in Egyptian art; rather, they are fully integrated into family and community life. Moreover, words for 'child' and 'children' are prolific in Egyptian language. Feucht's detailed lexicographical study of the major designations of $\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2}

See Janssen & Janssen (1990: 163). In awareness of this categorisation, the present study chooses not to refer to children and infants as 'sub-adults': see §1.5, fn. 45 of this thesis; cf. Baker (1997).

²⁴⁶ Scott (1997: 3).

Stoof (1978: 118, 120-121). For further discussion on the use of codified motifs to represent social events and constructs in Egyptian art, see Weeks (1979); Swinton (2010); Marshall (forthcoming).

Stoof (1978: 118, 121). Stoof also acknowledges that the children of slaves/prisoners, traders and foreigners are also represented with the same characteristic insignia of each of these groups, thus indicating that Egyptians also thought that the children of 'others' were completely integrated into their respective cultures.

²⁴⁹ WB I, 96.6, "young king; heir", attested from the Middle to New Kingdom: Feucht (1995: 503-512).

WB I, 151.8-11, "child; young ones", attested from the Old Kingdom to Greek Period; also idyt: WB I, 151.12, "young girls", possibly attested in the Old Kingdom: Feucht (1995: 513-515).

²⁵¹ WB I, 242.11-13, "youth", attested in the New Kingdom; also iddiw '3: WB I, 242.17; iddiw '3: WB I, 242.18, "young girls; young women", attested in the New Kingdom; iddw šriw and 'ddiw šrjw: WB I, 242.14-16, "child" attested in the New Kingdom: Feucht (1995: 515-518).

WB I, 410.1-3, "weanling", attested from the Middle Kingdom to Greco-Roman Period: Feucht (1995: 518-520).

WB II, 83, "youth, not yet a man", attested in the New Kingdom: Feucht (1995: 520-521).

WB II, 139, "child of every age group; seldom singular, usually a collective noun", attested from the Old Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 522-524).

²⁵⁵ WB II, 258, "post-pubescent boy or girl", attested from the Old Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 524-527).

²⁵⁶ WB II, 311, "newborn child; youth", attested from the Old Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 527-530).

WB III, 52ff., "infant; man", attested from the Middle Kingdom onwards; also hwnt "girl; mature young woman": Feucht (1995: 531-534).

WB III, 217, "small child; person recovered from an illness", attested from the New Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 534-537).

WB III, 386ff., "child of every age group", attested from the Old Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 537-539).

sri(t), 261 kti / kt.t, 262 and like words in the vocabulary that pertain to children. 264 Feucht's study found that although these words were used to designate certain phases of juvenility, they had the same broad meaning, were often used interchangeably, and remained in the lexica for millennia. 265 Moreover, these words could equally be used to designate certain adult phases of life, especially as pertains to learning, youthfulness, recuperation, innocence, cyclical processes and professional development. 266 Children are clearly not marginalised within Egyptian language; rather, they are completely integrated in the linguistic fabric of society. As such, one may argue that the relegation of children to Egypt's historical margins is a by-product of scholarly subjectivity, rather than an apposite reflection of evidence.

Considering the instabilities and biases identified in historical, feminist and androcentric approaches, it appears that our current reconstructions of the lived experiences and cultural capacities of ancient Egyptian children, infants and foetuses may be far from accurate. While these approaches certainly acknowledge that children were present in the past, the tacit assumption is that they were merely 'there'; only made relevant by their relationship to an elite male patron/parent, or through their mother, rather than as individual, active and dynamic participants with social positions, value and agency.

2.10 The Historiography of 'Childhood'

The present study acknowledges that all historical and archaeological narratives about the past are cultural constructions, and will therefore be unavoidably incomplete. Such constructions not only reflect the contextual and archaeological priorities and contingencies of interpretation, but also the temporal frameworks and concerns around which those interpretations are constructed.²⁶⁷ In light of this acknowledgment, it is essential to explore the historiography of 'childhood' and consider how cultural constructions of this life-course phase may have impacted on the encounters of both early and recent excavators with the remains of juveniles in the Egyptian archaeological

WB IV, 114, "young king or god", attested from the New Kingdom to Greco-Roman Period: Feucht (1995: 539-541).

WB IV, 526ff., "small child; man", attested in the Middle and New Kingdoms: Feucht (1995: 541-545).
 WB V, 147, "small – seldom used for a child or youth", attested in the Middle Kingdom and Ptolemaic

Periods: Feucht (1995: 546).

WB V, 344, "male child – from the womb to young child", attested from the Middle Kingdom onwards: Feucht (1995: 547).

²⁶⁴ See Hannig & Vomberg (1999: 404-414).

²⁶⁵ Feucht (1995: 551, 555, 556).

²⁶⁶ Feucht (1995: 551).

²⁶⁷ Meskell (1999b: 1).

record.²⁶⁸ Furthermore, if we are to enhance the accuracy of future archaeological narratives, it is essential to consider how social theory may assist our navigation of the complex cultural phenomena of child, infant and foetal burials.

The 'child' has occupied modern historians as a focus of study for decades. Phillip Ariès²⁶⁹ was one of the first historians to critically examine 'childhood' as an independent subject of investigation.²⁷⁰ His observations regarding both the radically contingent nature of what constitutes a 'child' in any society, as well as whether or not the concepts of 'child' and 'childhood' actually existed in history are fundamental to any discussion on this subject.

Ariès has stated that prior to the 17th Century in Western Europe, there was no such thing as a 'child'. Children were considered biologically immature humans who, when born into the world, were not fully and socially human.²⁷¹ They only entered the human world – that is, the *adult* world – several years later, occupying adult spaces, using adult artefacts, wearing adult clothing and engaging in adult labour to the best of their abilities. As a result of changes in theological understanding effected by religious orders in the later stages of the Middle Ages, there was a slow shift away from seeing young individuals as 'unformed humans', towards what we today would understand as 'children'.²⁷²

Perhaps the most valuable aspect of Ariès' work is his acknowledgement that the concept of 'childhood' and what constitutes a 'child' is a social phenomenon that is completely culturally constructed. In 19th and 20th Century Western society, the child was defined by its generalised position in the human life cycle, standing in opposition to adults due to its diminutive age and physical size. The child was perceived as dependent, innocent and in need of socialisation before it could fully participate in 'adult' culture. Retrospective inference from this culturally-specific concept of childhood led to an assumption that it was the adults of the past who had complete social and political control over social ideologies and the production and use of material culture. From an archaeological perspective, one can see the ontological congruencies between how children were recognised in the 'present' of 19th and 20th Century excavators, and how they were

Meskell (1999b: 4, 130, 213). Scholars who hypothesise for ancient Egyptian 'childhood' include Janssen & Janssen (1990: Chapter IV) and Feucht (2001a).

²⁶⁹ Ariès (1962).

²⁷⁰ See also De Mause (1974).

²⁷¹ Ariès (1962: 15ff.).

²⁷² Ariès (1962: 33ff.)

Ariès (1962: 365-404).

^{2/4} Lillehammer (2000).

constructed in the 'past'. It is possible that the application and perpetuation of this anachronistic framework has resulted in the marginalisation of children, infants and foetuses²⁷⁵ in Egyptological interpretations and rendered them practically invisible.

2.11 Children, 'Childhood' and Social Theory

Modern Western concepts of childhood tend to revolve around the living child as a subject, either of love or vilification. Children and infants are romanticised and intrinsically valued as the epitome of innocence and good²⁷⁶ and are recognized as distinct identities upon birth, if not already in the womb, especially following the advent of ultrasound technology. Thus, contemporary preoccupations are with and about children themselves. However, 'archaeological' children are rarely a focus of attention in their own right, rather, they are used in a fairly narrow way in efforts to understand, by contrast, constructions of what are implicitly regarded as 'adult' societies. This is despite the fact that textual evidence belies the Egyptian belief that children were embodied individuals from the time of conception;²⁷⁷ refuting Richards' aforementioned assessments that children were considered 'nonpersons' until they were more advanced in age. They also named the child immediately following birth, 278 according to their belief that without a name, an individual did not exist.²⁷⁹ Therefore, although it may be said that scholars have attempted to view ancient Egyptian society through the child, they are yet to conduct child-centred research which promotes investigations of children's social position, value and agency as worthy pursuits in and of themselves.

2.11.1 Children's Bodies and Social Theory

There are significant contrasts in the way that the way that children from the past and the present are identified in socio-cultural narratives. The identities of living children are usually perceived as variable and culturally constructed. Such identification is based in social relations, therefore discounting the construction of a 'universal' modern child. Archaeological' children, however, are primarily identified via the location of their

²⁷⁵ Hockey & James (1993: 60).

²⁷⁶ Zelizer (1985); Ardren (2006: 3).

Feucht (1995: 94, 128; 2001a: 261) states that the execution of a condemned pregnant woman could be postponed until she had delivered the baby. Cf. Meskell (1999b: 135, 172; 2002a: 69).

Janssen & Janssen (1990: 14); Hornung (1992: 178); Meskell (1994: 41; 1999b: 173; 2000: 425; 2002: 69); Feucht (2001a: 262; 2001b: 192); Strouhal (2001: 22); Zillhardt (2009: 72).

²⁷⁹ Meskell (2000: 425).

²⁸⁰ See Jenks (1982); James & Prout (1990); Ovortrup et al. (1994).

²⁸¹ See James *et al.* (1998).

physical bodies in mortuary contexts. Within this framework, children are categorised according to anthropological parameters and identified according to their bodily conformity with scientifically-determined developmental age groups, often based on sample populations temporally and geographically disparate from their own. Contrary to the identification of modern children, 'archaeological' children's identities are reduced to a universal biological category, rather than as individual social beings whose identities are explored via negotiated considerations of the material expressions and cultural contexts of their experience. ²⁸²

When considered in a purely developmental sense, the age categories commonly utilised by physical anthropologists are problematic. While biologically accurate, such assessments of skeletal ontogeny form prescribed divisions in terms of social and mental development. They make no allowances for how 'biological' and 'chronological' ages may have been conceptualised and negotiated to form contextualised 'social' ages across the life course in different in ancient cultures. Recent trends in psychological research move away from biological determinism and suggest that chronological age is becoming an increasingly inaccurate determinant of social engagement. However, biological identification of children continues to be employed as a predictive device in archaeology – transforming age into experience – thereby imposing a series of ethnocentric assumptions about links between biological development and socialisation.

By equating and restricting identity to biological status, the cultural capacities and experiences of 'archaeological' children remain unchartered and enigmatic. Biological identification prioritises the adult as 'complete' while demoting the child to an 'incomplete' status of 'sub-adult'.²⁸⁶ Failure to explore the dead child's skeleton as a culturally contextualised *lived* social persona undermines the epistemological basis of post-processual archaeology, the mandate of which is to make identity inferences from material remains.²⁸⁷ Excluding children's identities from archaeological narratives also prevents further insights into the role their bodies played in facilitating and determining their social relations, and in turn, how their bodies responded to these engagements.²⁸⁸ Until

²⁸² Derevenski (2000: 8).

²⁸³ See Morss (1990); Derevenski (1994); Baxter (2006a: 3); Perry (2006: 90, 92).

²⁸⁴ Gowland (2006: 143); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 335); Sofaer (2011: 286-287).

Neugarten (1981: 809-825); Gowland (2006: 143, 152); Stevenson (2009b: 171); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 334, 349); Sofaer (2011: 286).

²⁸⁶ See fn. 45; cf. James et al. (1998).

²⁸⁷ Meskell (1999b: 51); Derevenski (2000: 9).

²⁸⁸ See James *et al.* (1998); *cf.* James (1993).

'archaeological' children are viewed as more than reductionist, naturalised, universal biological phenomena, their identities will remain socially and culturally undifferentiated.²⁸⁹

To address this imbalance, however, we must not then substitute reductionisms by turning to complete social constructionism as a mechanism to access children's identities.²⁹⁰ Instead, the child's skeleton may be viewed as a site of articulation between body and culture.²⁹¹ Considering the body's capacity to reflect and project symbolic elements of culture, it is often implicated in the communication and reception of social transition at key points in the life course. ²⁹² Here, similarities, differences and transitions between bodies become signifiers of identity²⁹³ and are themselves mobilised as vehicles of cultural transmission. Due to the high volume of such physiological changes and the speed at which they take place in children, their bodies may be viewed as significant opportunities to examine the making, breaking and reshaping of identity in archaeological cultures.²⁹⁴

To access social life and social meaning through the body,²⁹⁵ we must understand the child's body in relation to material culture rather than privileging either as a focus of analysis.²⁹⁶ Social life is constructed from diverse cultural elements, including bodies, technology, material culture and cognition, each of which enrols (and is mutually enrolled by) the other elements in dynamic and variable configurations.²⁹⁷ In this way, it becomes difficult to delineate boundaries between bodies and material culture; it may even be argued that these elements coalesce to form a single, reconfigured identity.²⁹⁸ Such understandings of the interactions between bodies and material culture may be applicable to all individuals, but they are perhaps most pertinent when considering the unique cultural and biological interplay required to access the lived experiences of children from archaeological contexts.²⁹⁹

²⁸⁹ Derevenski (2000: 8).

²⁹⁰ James et al. (1998).

²⁹¹ Derevenski (2000: 9); Meskell (1999b: 35); Garwood (2007: 65).

²⁹² James et al. (1998: 162); Humphrey (2000: 193-205); Sofaer (2011: 285).

²⁹³ Derevenski (2000: 9).

²⁹⁴ James et al. (1998: 156); Garwood (2007: 65).

²⁹⁵ Armstrong (1987); cf. Laqueur (1990); Foucault (1974).

²⁹⁶ James et al. (1998: 166).

²⁹⁷ Latour (1993); Derevenski (2000: 9); Malafouris (2004).

²⁹⁸ Shilling (1993); Sørenson (1988; 1997); Gosden & Marshall (1999: 173); Malafouris (2004); Sofaer (2006a: 129); Garwood (2007: 66).

²⁹⁹ Derevenski (2000: 9).

In order to navigate these engagements between the body and the material world, Place³⁰⁰ distinguishes between 'child data' (the experience of the corporeal body, including the biological information obtained from the study of the child's skeleton as an artefact), and 'data child' (the manifestation of corporeality through connections with cultural artefacts; including bodily treatments, grave architecture, grave goods, *et cetera*). Such an approach allows children's cultural capacities to manifest via analysis of all aspects of the construction, provision and interaction of the grave with their physical bodies. Interpretations are then negotiated through the mutual illumination of 'data child' and 'child data', as the symbolic elements of biological and material culture are framed according to cultural, chronological and geographical context.³⁰¹

2.11.2 'Childhood' and Social Theory

The distinction between 'data child' and 'child data' becomes even more important when more than one child is available as a subject of study. In the presence of many children (as the following chapters reveal), tacit subscriptions to constructs of past 'childhood' are also problematised as they are incongruent with a homogenous 'ideal' or universal child. It is therefore important to further deconstruct the study of children by deliberately distinguishing between constructs of 'the child' from those of 'childhood'.

'Childhood' is often perceived as a structural category similar to other structural forms or life course phases, including 'youth', 'adulthood' and 'old age'. Contrasting with the concept of 'a child', which locates a physical entity in social discourse and archaeological practice, 'childhood' is an intangible 'experience'. Such ambiguity engenders relativism in many studies of 'childhood', particularly within archaeological contexts. Accounting for childhood in a particular cultural and chronological context requires analyses of broad, interactive social processes. Archaeological children lived their lives under diverse social, environmental, economic, religious and cultural conditions, engaging with equally diverse elements of material culture. Such diversity amongst archaeological contexts will produce many competing versions of 'childhood'. While some societies may have

Cited in Derevenski (2000: 10); cf. James et al. (1998: 168); Perry (2006: 89); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 334)

Derevenski (2000: 10); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1088); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 334).

³⁰² Qvortrup *et al.* (1994).

³⁰³ Derevenski (2000: 11).

³⁰⁴ Alanen (1988: 64).

³⁰⁵ James *et al.* (1998: 168).

material cultures of 'the child', this does not necessarily predicate either separate or homogenous material cultures of 'childhood'.³⁰⁶

Modern Western perceptions of childhood as a period of prolonged social dependency without social or personal autonomy has led archaeologists to favour adults in the reconstruction of past power relations and diminish children's agency to that of passive, immobile cultural 'automatons'. 307 Yet, children construct their own lives and, from a very early age, do not act only instinctively, but initiate action by choice. especially in traditional societies, children are known to be active participants in both social and economic facets of their communities and are situated within the same cultural milieu as adults.³⁰⁸ From this perspective, one cannot ascribe different ontological statuses to adulthood and childhood. 309 Arguments regarding the extent of children's capacities to engage with, create and manipulate the material world do not constitute ontological differences between themselves and adults; rather, these are only matters of scale.³¹⁰ From an archaeological perspective, if there are no ontological differences between childhood and adulthood, artefacts found in children's graves cannot be ascribed with different Rather than reverting to culturally-relativist statuses to those found with adults. anachronistic definitions of ancient Egyptian children, the following chapters turn to the archaeological record to explore what their burials reveal about their lived experiences and cultural capacities in their own communities.311

2.12 Conclusion

It has been the purpose of this chapter to investigate current scholarly perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, and to examine the scholarly reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities within Egyptological discourse. The chapter also sought to scrutinise the historiographical underpinnings of current scholarship in order to determine which factors may have contributed to the present positioning of children, infants and foetuses in Egyptology.

It appears that the current perceptions of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture have been heavily influenced by widespread and enduring assumptions regarding the purported

³⁰⁶ Derevenski (2000: 11).

³⁰⁷ Ovortrup *et al.* (1994); James *et al.* (1998); Derevenski (2000: 11).

³⁰⁸ Nag et al. (1978).

³⁰⁹ See Ovortrup *et al.* (1994).

³¹⁰ Derevenski (2000: 11).

³¹¹ Bonnichsen (1973); Hammond & Hammond (1981: 634-636).

absence of juveniles amongst published cemetery data. Such assumptions have engendered a disciplinary *fait accompli* regarding the futility of research in this area. In conjunction with suppositions regarding the preservation potential of their bodies within archaeological contexts, the purported absence of children is invariably attributed to differential burial practices. Such assumptions have precipitated unfavourable reconstructions of the lived experiences and cultural capacities of children, infants and foetuses in ancient Egypt, with scholars inferring that they were perceived differently than adult members of the community – as 'nonpersons' without social position, value and agency – and were therefore excluded from 'normative' communal burial customs including funeral ceremonies and interment within public burial grounds.

These hypotheses have been tacitly accepted and perpetuated within Egyptology without comprehensive testing of archaeological evidence. With a few notable exceptions, child-centred analyses of Egyptian mortuary culture have been neglected in favour of artistic and epigraphic research. However, the inherent biases of these categories of evidence limit reconstructions of ancient Egyptian children's lived experiences within the mechanisms of socialisation and familism. Such approaches have denied Egyptian children the same ontological status as adults, thereby reinforcing the aforementioned assumptions regarding their differential treatment in death. Within these reconstructions, ancient Egyptian children have no cultural capacity. Their social personae are limited to passive adult appendages. They are devoid of social agency and exist only as shadows within elite, male-oriented adult-centric constructions of the world.

From a historiographical perspective, the present study has identified that contemporary conceptualisations of children during the nascent stages of Egyptological enquiry in the late 19th and early 20th Centuries may have had significant bearing on early excavators' interpretations of archaeological data. Children appear to have been mobilised as conduits to view adult society, not engaged as subjects worthy of study in themselves. As a result, children, infants and foetuses have been marginalised in Egyptological research and rendered practically invisible, inconsequential and of little social worth. Such a position stands in stark contrast to literary evidence which espouses the immeasurable value, cultural embodiment and ontological equity of children within their families and communities. As we have seen, children were desired for many reasons in ancient Egypt, perhaps not the least of which was their fundamental metaphysical capacity to 'cause their parents to live'. For precisely this reason, social and ethnographic theorists have

recognised the value in studying the ways in which past societies constitute their offspring: in life and in death. As biological and cultural imperatives, children represent the 'collective future' of a society. They are inextricably engaged in social reproduction. Their treatments within living and mortuary spheres are therefore among the most important structuring elements of culture. From this perspective, it may be argued that current adult-centric constructions of Egypt's past simply do not reflect reality.

As a step towards tempering this imbalance, the following chapters report the results of a comprehensive survey of published child, infant and foetal mortuary culture from the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods, supplemented by unpublished data from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's excavations at the Early Dynastic cemetery of Helwan. From an empirical perspective, the survey tests the veracity of the assumptions regarding the mortuary culture of ancient Egyptian children, infants and foetuses which have led to their marginalisation within the discourse. To facilitate ethical and nuanced interpretations of the survey results, the present study engages methodologies endorsed within social theory, whereby symbolic elements of children's biological and material culture are framed and integrated according to specific cultural, chronological and geographical contexts. Such an approach provides an apposite framework to observe how individuals and communities in ancient Egypt may have mobilised the burial ritual to make, break and reshape perceptions of their deceased children, infants and foetuses' lived experiences and cultural capacities.

³¹² Barkow & Burley (1980: 178); Okore (1986: 54); Voland (1989: 391, 399-400); Hewlett (1991: 18).

CHAPTER 3: PRIMARY RESULTS

In accordance with the research objectives outlined in §1.3, an archaeological survey of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture was performed on all available published literature pertaining to the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods (*ca.* 3300-1650 BCE), ³¹³ supplemented by unpublished Early Dynastic data from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project. ³¹⁴ In adherence with the project structure outlined in §1.6, primary results of this research are presented below. Raw data is collated in the Appendix, attached as a CD-ROM to the inside back cover of this volume. ³¹⁵ All figures and tables are presented in a separate volume for the reader's convenience. Further results pertaining to individual aspects of juvenile funerary culture are expounded in the following chapters. Qualitative analyses will be proffered in Chapter 10.

3.1 Overview

The archaeological survey revealed that child, infant and foetal burials (henceforth, *CIFBs*) are published in 68 (28.33%) of the 240 sites eligible for this study, while 172 sites (71.67%) featured no published accounts of CIFBs whatsoever. The 68 productive sites, in addition to unpublished excavation data from Helwan, delivered a sample accounting for a minimum number of 1,809 children, infants and foetuses from the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egyptian archaeological record. These primary results are presented below in greater detail according to distributions by geographical regions, relative chronology and site types.

3.2 Distributions by Geographical Regions

3.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

According to the methodology outlined in §1.4.2, the sample was sub-divided into 11 specific geographical regions. Of these, the Eastern Desert region featured no published

This data was generously provided by Prof. E. C. Köhler, now at the Institut für Ägyptologie, Vienna. It should be noted that this data is preliminary and will be subject to further analysis by Prof. Köhler.

¹⁶ See §1.6 regarding the need to express burial data as a Minimum Number of Individuals (MNI).

Every effort was made to obtain and review every published reference for these time periods, however time and library resources dictated the final extent of enquiry. It is hoped that future extensions of this project will provide the opportunity to address gaps in the literature.

Appendix, *The Nursery*, a *FileMaker Pro 9 Advanced* database. Bibliographical references for the productive sites are contained within the database.

incidences of CIFBs. Data from the remaining 10 productive regions is tabulated and graphically represented in **Tables 3.1–3.10** and **Figure 3.1.**³¹⁷ The East Bank of Upper Egypt featured the most numerous accounts of CIFBs amongst the sample, accounting for a minimum number of 587 individuals (32.45% total burials, henceforth, *TBs*; **Table 3.10**). The next most frequent occurrences are substantially less, being the West Bank of Upper Egypt with 422 burials (23.33% TBs; **Table 3.9**) and the West Bank of Lower Egypt with 186 burials (10.28% TBs; **Table 3.3**). Almost equal results were observed for the East Bank of Lower Egypt and Western and Eastern regions of the Nile Delta, with these regions presenting minimum numbers of 139 (7.68% TBs; **Table 3.4**), 137 (7.57% TBs; **Table 3.1**), and 132 (7.30% TBs; **Table 3.2**) individuals, respectively. This was followed by 120 published interments for the West Bank of Middle Egypt (6.63% TBs; **Table 3.5**) and 78 for Dakhla Oasis (4.31% TBs; **Table 3.8**). Two regions appear to be substantially under-represented, including the Faiyum (MNI 5; 0.28% TBs; **Table 3.7**) and the East Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 3; 0.17% TBs; **Table 3.6**). Table 3.6).

When the above data is appraised in terms of publication rates, it is apparent that rough parallels can be drawn between levels of published excavation activity and the amount of data derived from each region. As seen in Table 3.11, the rankings of each specific geographical region's publication quantities roughly equal its ranking in terms of child, infant and foetal burial (henceforth, CIFB) quantities. In most cases, there is a difference of only 1 rank (higher or lower) between observed publication rates and CIFB quantities, while parity is observed for the Eastern Desert region. The only exceptions to this trend are the East Bank of Upper Egypt (ranked third by publication, first by CIFBs), the Eastern Nile Delta (ranked fourth by publication, sixth by CIFBs), the West Bank of Middle Egypt (ranked fifth by publication, seventh by CIFBs), and the East Bank of Lower Egypt (ranked eighth by publication, fourth by CIFBs). This finding may have subtle yet significant implications for the epistemological foundations of Egyptology. It is suggestive of the extent to which our knowledge of ancient civilisations may be spatially determined according to scholarly activities within favoured or prioritised regions of the landscape.³¹⁹ While more detailed considerations of this issue fall beyond the scope of this thesis, it is clearly worthy of further research. For the purposes of the present study, it is important to note that results may not represent the 'true' geographical character of the archaeological

It should be noted that the geographical region 'East Bank of Middle Egypt' is represented in this sample by a single productive site, Beni Hasan; Table 3.6.

Concerning the East Bank of Middle Egypt, see fn. 317, above.

This has also been noted by Rowland (2004: 999); cf. Hassan (1978).

record, rather the extent to which the featured regions have been prioritised in excavation and expedited in publication.

In terms of individual sites, CIFB distribution patterns do not necessarily adhere to those previously described for their respective geographical regions, especially at the higher end of the scale. Accounts of CIFBs >100 MNI were observed among the publications of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 144; 7.96% TBs; **Table 3.9**), Kom el-Hisn in the Western Nile Delta (MNI 132; 7.30% TBs; **Table 3.1**), Matmar (MNI 120; 6.63% TBs) and el-Mostagedda (MNI 110; 6.08% TBs) on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (**Table 3.10**), Adaima on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 119; 6.58% TBs; **Table 3.9**), and Helwan on the East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 101; 5.58% TBs; **Table 3.4**).

All regions featured sites that presented a MNI of ≤5, including: Kom Firin (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs), Kom Abu Billo (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), and Abu Ghalib (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs) in the Western Nile Delta (Table 3.1); Ezbet Hassan Dawud (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs) and Tell el-Farkha (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs) in the Eastern Nile Delta (Table 3.2); Dahshur (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs) and Zawiyet el-Aryan (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs) on the West Bank of Lower Egypt (Table 3.3); Maadi on the East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs; Table 3.4); Asyut (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), Ehnasya el-Medina (Herakleopolis Magna) (MNI 3; 0.17% TBs), and Riqqeh (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs) on the West Bank of Middle Egypt (Table 3.5); Beni Hasan on the East Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 3; 0.17% TBs; Table 3.6);³²⁰ Hawara (MNI 3; 0.17% TBs) and Oasr es-Sagha (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs) in the Faiyum region (Table 3.7); Ayn Asil in the Dakhla Oasis region (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs, Table 3.8); Abadiya (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), el-Amra (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs), el-Arabah (MNI 5; 0.28% TBs), Deir el-Ballas (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs), Deir Rifa (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), Dendara (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs), Gebelein (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), el-Hagarsa (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs); Naqada – North Town (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), Gebel el-Tarif (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs), the Ramesseum (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs), Sheikh 'Abd el-Ourna (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs), and Thebes (MNI 2; 0.11% TBs) on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (Table 3.9); and Nag el-Hai on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 1; 0.05% TBs; Table 3.10). Despite these small numbers, it must still be acknowledged that burials of children, infants and foetuses are present amongst the published archaeological records of these sites – they are absent from the majority of sites surveyed by this study (Σ =171; 71.25% total sites).

³²⁰ Concerning Beni Hasan, see fn. 317, above.

3.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed from a general geographical perspective, the data appears to be concentrated in the Southern regions of the country (**Figure 3.2**), with Upper Egypt containing more than half of the published CIFBs in this sample (MNI 1009; 55.78% TBs; **Tables 3.9–10**). Lower Egypt features the next most numerous account of CIFBs (MNI 325; 17.97% TBs; **Tables 3.3–4**), followed by the Nile Delta (MNI 269; 14.87% TBs; **Tables 3.1–2**) and Middle Egypt (MNI 128; 7.08% TBs; **Tables 3.5–7**). The Dakhla Oasis region is the most poorly-represented in this distribution, accounting for only 4.31% of the total burial sample (MNI 78; **Table 3.8**).

3.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

The data may also be assessed according to Nilotic geographical regions (**Figure 3.3**). When viewed as such, 2 regions account for the greatest, almost equal distributions: the East Bank presents a minimum number of 729 burials or 40.30% of the total sample (**Tables 3.4, 3.6, 3.10**), while the West Bank features 728 burials or 40.24% of total published CIFB data (**Tables 3.3, 3.5, 3.9**). With a minimum number of 269 individuals, the Nile Delta is the third best-published Nilotic region for child, infant and foetal (henceforth, *CIF*) interments (14.87% TBs; **Tables 3.1–2**), followed by Dakhla Oasis, which accounts for 4.31% (MNI 79; **Table 3.8**) of total burials. In this case, the Faiyum has the smallest frequency of published CIFBs, possessing 0.28% of the total sample (MNI 5; **Table 3.7**).

3.3 Distributions by Relative Chronology

In terms of chronological distribution, the Old Kingdom accounts for the largest portion of CIFBs in this study, featuring 601 interments or 33.22% of all published data (**Figure 3.4**).³²¹ This figure is closely followed by the Early Dynastic Period, with 593 published burials representing 32.78% of the sample.³²² Somewhat further behind are the 376 CIFBs of the Middle Kingdom (20.78% TBs),³²³ whilst the smallest portion of the sample may be attributed to the First Intermediate Period (MNI 239; 13.21% TBs).³²⁴

Figure includes 5 individuals from the transitional Early Dynastic Period to Old Kingdom phase: see Database Record Numbers (henceforth, *DRNs*) 164, 165, 533, 1136, 1137.

Figure includes 5 individuals from the transitional Predynastic to Early Dynastic Period phase: see DRNs 281, 1306, 1308, 1309, 1405.

Figure includes 11 individuals from the transitional First Intermediate Period to Middle Kingdom phase: see DRNs 70; 875-878; 1247-1248; 1423-1426. Figure also includes 16 individuals for whom only a

3.3.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The data may also be considered in terms of chronological incidence across specific geographical regions. From this perspective, the only region to follow the overall chronological distribution pattern described above is the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with its published data ordered in descending frequency from the Old Kingdom (MNI 158; 8.73% TBs) through to the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 149; 8.24% TBs), Middle Kingdom (MNI 104; 5.75% TBs) and First Intermediate Period (MNI 11; 0.61% TBs; Figure 3.5).

Child, infant and foetal burial data from the remaining regions do not follow any uniform distribution patterns. Regions featuring the aforementioned predominance of Old Kingdom burial data include: the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 313; 17.30% TBs) and the West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 55; 3.04% TBs). The Early Dynastic Period predominates amongst the published records of the East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 135; 7.46% TBs), the West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 126; 6.97% TBs), and the Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 108; 5.97% TBs). The Dakhla Oasis region presents the only instance where First Intermediate Period data dominates (MNI 38; 2.10% TBs), whilst Middle Kingdom CIFBs were most frequent in the Western Nile Delta (MNI 132; 7.30% TBs), Faiyum (MNI 4; 0.22% TBs), and East Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 3; 0.17% TBs).

Only 4 regions feature CIFBs across the complete relative chronological spectrum canvassed by this study: the Eastern and Western Banks of Upper Egypt, the West Bank of Middle Egypt, and the Eastern Nile Delta. The only other regions to demonstrate some degree of chronological continuity are the Dakhla Oasis region (Old to Middle Kingdom Periods), and the Eastern and Western Banks of Lower Egypt (Early Dynastic to Old Kingdom Periods). The published CIFB data for the remaining regions is either isolated (East Bank of Middle Egypt) or discontinuous (Western Nile Delta; Faiyum).

3.3.2 General Geographical Regions

When distributed according to relative chronological frequencies across general geographical regions, it is clear that Upper Egypt demonstrates the most numerous and continuous representation of CIFBs across the timeframes included in this study (Figure

chronological range of Old to Middle Kingdoms was provided: see DRNs: 138; 891-897; 900; 1184-1187; 1236-1237; 1397.

Figure includes 44 individuals from the transitional Old Kingdom to First Intermediate Period phase: see DRNs 139-144; 146-154; 283; 865-890; 913; 954; 1027; 1125-1126; 1181-1183; 1243.

3.6). This region holds the greatest portion of burials in every chronological category with the exception of the Early Dynastic Period, conceding to Lower Egypt by a margin of forty-three. Although distributions across remaining regions are again observed as irregular, what becomes clear is that the majority of published Old Kingdom data pertains to Upper Egypt. The predominant chronological period across more Northern regions is the Early Dynastic Period, representing a maximum of 261 burials in Lower Egypt (80.31% total regional burials, henceforth, *TRBs*), and a minimum of 108 burials in the Nile Delta (40.15% TRBs). The Old and Middle Kingdoms are almost equally represented in Middle Egypt (MNI 56 and 55; 43.73% and 42.97% TRBs respectively), while the First Intermediate Period continues to dominate published data in the Dakhla Oasis region (MNI 38; 48.72% TRBs).

3.3.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

Upon arranging the data according to relative chronological frequencies across Nilotic geographical regions, the Eastern and Western Banks present the most numerous and continuous representations of CIFBs (**Figure 3.7**). On the East Bank, the Old Kingdom dominates (MNI 313; 43.23% TRBs), followed by the Early Dynastic (MNI 204; 28.18% TRBs), First Intermediate (MNI 167; 23.07% TRBs) and Middle Kingdom periods (MNI 40; 5.52% TRBs). On the West Bank, Early Dynastic burials are most frequently observed (MNI 281; 38.34% TRBs), followed by a diminution of data from the Old Kingdom (MNI 260; 35.47% TRBs) to the Middle Kingdom (MNI 170; 23.19% TRBs) and First Intermediate Period (MNI 22; 3.00% TRBs).

The Early Dynastic Period also represents the greatest portion of published burials in the Nile Delta (MNI 108; 40.15% TRBs), where a complete chronological profile is observed through the Old Kingdom (MNI 10; 3.72% TRBs), First Intermediate Period (MNI 12; 4.46% TRBs) and Middle Kingdom (MNI 139; 51.67% TRBs). Again, the majority of published CIFBs in the Dakhla Oasis region is attributed to the First Intermediate Period (MNI 38; 48.72% TRBs), while the Middle Kingdom is most frequently represented in the Faiyum (MNI 4; 80.00% TRBs).

3.4 Distribution by Site Types

Of the 1,809 CIFBs identified amongst the published archaeological records of 68 Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom sites, a minimum of 54 individuals (2.99% TBs) were buried

in settlements, 325 >1 (<18) individual/s (\geq 0.05% TBs) were buried under a temple, \geq 1 individual was buried in a funerary enclosure (0.05% TBs), and the remaining 1,753 individuals (96.90% TBs) were buried in communal cemeteries across every known socioeconomic stratum (**Tables 3.1–3.10**; **Figure 3.8**). These findings contrast current disciplinary sensibilities regarding the supposed absence of children, infants and foetuses (henceforth, *CIFs*) from published cemetery data, as well as the alleged differential burial practices which presuppose settlement interments for the juvenile demographic, particularly its youngest constituents. Expressed proportionately, the ratio of Cemetery:Settlement burials in this dataset is 32.46:1.00. These findings suggest that current understandings of CIF mortuary culture require recalibration. Incidences of burials across site types are described further, below.

3.4.1 Cemetery Burials

3.4.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

As aforementioned, 96.90% (MNI 1,753) of the burials in this sample occurred in cemetery contexts. Of the 68 Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom sites found to feature CIFBs, 65 included cemeteries amongst their published (and, in the case of Helwan, unpublished) data. As seen in **Tables 3.12** and **3.13**, cemetery burials of CIFs were published for every period included in this study, in every region except the Eastern Desert. The East Bank of Upper Egypt provided the most numerous published cemetery interments (MNI 573; **Figure 3.9**), with the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 407) and the West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 184) displaying the second and third most substantial proportions of cemetery data. These results were followed by a data cluster in the East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 139), Western Nile Delta (MNI 132), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 127) and West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 109). The remaining regions had substantially fewer published juvenile cemetery burials, including Dakhla Oasis (MNI 74), the Faiyum (MNI 5) and the East Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 3).

3.4.1.2 General Geographical Regions

When distributed according to general geographical regions, it may be seen that the majority of published cemetery CIFBs are located in Upper Egypt (MNI 980; Figure 3.10;

²⁶ Zillhardt (2009: 87). Cf. Hodder & Cessford (2004); Kogălniceanu (2008: 107); Moses (2008: 46, 47).

The burials of 7 infants in the Old Kingdom to First Intermediate Period settlement of Ayn Asil were identified after finalization of the database and are therefore not included in this figure and all subsequent analyses; Gobeil (2009). Future extensions of this project will include these individuals.

Table 3.13). This singular region accounts for more cemetery CIFBs than all other regions combined, and more than 3 times the number of burials attributed to the next most numerous region, Lower Egypt (MNI 323). The Nile Delta follows with 259 published CIFBs, while Middle Egypt (MNI 117) and the Dakhla Oasis region (MNI 74) account for substantially smaller portions of the sample.

3.4.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When the data is assembled according to Nilotic geography, the East Bank emerges as the predominant region for cemetery CIFBs, accounting for a minimum of 710 individuals (**Figure 3.11; Table 3.13**). The West Bank features only slightly fewer published juvenile burials (MNI 705). The Nile Delta (MNI 259), Dakhla Oasis (MNI 74) and Faiyum regions (MNI 5) fall incrementally further behind.

3.4.1.4 Individual Sites

The cemeteries with the highest frequencies of CIFBs amongst the sample are Qubbet el-Hawa (MNI 144; 8.21% total cemetery burials, henceforth, *TCBs*; 7.96% TBs), Kom el-Hisn (MNI 128; 7.30% TCBs; 7.08% TBs), Matmar (MNI 120; 6.85% TCBs; 6.63% TBs), Adaima (MNI 119; 6.79% TCBs; 6.58% TBs), and el-Mostagedda (MNI 110; 6.27% TCBs; 6.08% TBs). When combined, these 5 sites account for 621 of the CIFBs in this sample, expressed proportionately as 35.42% of all cemetery burials or 34.33% of all burials.

3.4.1.5 Relative Chronology by Site Type

According to frequency distributions by relative chronology, the number of CIFBs in the two best-represented periods differ by only 2 interments. Here, the Early Dynastic Period features a MNI of 592 (**Figure 3.12; Table 3.13**), while the Old Kingdom almost equals that number with a minimum of 590 cemetery CIFBs amongst its published record. The Middle Kingdom presents a lesser figure of 342 cemetery burials, while the First Intermediate Period occupies the smallest portion of published CIFB cemetery data (MNI 229).

Whilst undertaking this research, portions of certain cemeteries were anecdotally observed to be exclusively (or almost exclusively) reserved for CIFBs at varying times during the pre-pharaonic, pharaonic, and post-pharaonic periods, including Adaima (Predynastic to

Early Dynastic Periods),³²⁷ Nag el-Hai (Predynastic to Early Dynastic Periods),³²⁸ Elkab (Early Dynastic to Old Kingdom Periods),³²⁹ Sebaiya (East) (Early Dynastic Period),³³⁰ Ain el-Labakha (Greco-Roman Period),³³¹ Douch (Greco-Roman Period),³³² Naga ed-Deir (Greco-Roman Period),³³³ and el-Ghurab and Deir el-Medina (New Kingdom).³³⁴

3.4.1.6 Relative Chronology in Specific Geographical Regions

When the data is organised according to the frequency of cemetery CIFBs by relative chronology across specific geographical regions, a somewhat different picture emerges to that described above (§3.4.1.5). While Early Dynastic and Old Kingdom data may be the most numerous overall, the Middle Kingdom has the broadest geographical representation, with cemetery CIFBs from this period observed in every productive region of this study (Figure 3.13). The Old Kingdom has the next-best coverage, appearing among the published data of 9 out of 10 specific geographical regions. This is followed by the Early Dynastic Period, presenting burials in 7 regions, and the First Intermediate Period, for which 5 out 10 regions bear cemetery interments.

3.4.2 Settlement Burials

3.4.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

As aforementioned, 2.99% (MNI 54) of the burials in this sample occurred in settlement contexts. Of the 68 Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom sites found to feature CIFBs, 11 of these included settlements amongst their published data. As seen in **Tables 3.14** and **3.15**, settlement burials of children, infants and foetuses were observed in 7 Egyptian regions during the timeframe canvassed by this study. Of these, the regions of the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 14), East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 13), and West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 12) presented the most numerous accounts of settlement burial (**Figure 3.14**). In the case of the West Bank of Middle Egypt, settlement burials represent just under 10.00% of total burials in the region. The regions of the Western Nile Delta (MNI 5), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 4), Dakhla Oasis (MNI 4), and West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI

³²⁷ Crubézy *et al.* (2002a).

³²⁸ Freed (1974: 28).

³²⁹ Hendrickx et al. (2003).

³³⁰ Lortet & Gaillard (1909: 214-218); cf. Needler (1984); Mortensen (1991).

³³¹ Szpakowska (2008: 42, fn. 71).

³³² Szpakowska (2008: 42, fn. 71).

³³³ Szpakowska (2008: 42, fn. 71).

³³⁴ Loat & Murray (1905; 2); Meskell (1994; 38ff.).

2) presented small numbers of settlement CIFBs. The regions of the East Bank of Lower Egypt, the East Bank of Middle Egypt, and the Faiyum featured no published settlement CIFBs.

3.4.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When considered from a general geographical perspective, settlement CIFBs are most heavily concentrated in one area: Upper Egypt. This region represents exactly 50.00% of all published data during the timeframe covered by this study (MNI 27; Figure 3.15; Table 3.15). The next most numerous region is Middle Egypt, featuring 22.22% of all settlement burials (MNI 12), followed by the Nile Delta (MNI 9) and Dakhla Oasis (MNI 4). Lower Egypt represents the smallest proportion of settlement CIFBs, with a minimum of 2 individuals attested amongst its published record.

3.4.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

A similar picture emerges when the data is distributed according to Nilotic geographical regions (**Figure 3.16**; **Table 3.15**). In this case, published settlement CIFB frequencies peak on the West Bank (MNI 28); through to almost equal representations on the East Bank (MNI 13) and the Nile Delta (MNI 9). Dakhla Oasis features 4 published settlement burials, while no settlement burials were observed in the Faiyum.

3.4.2.4 Individual Sites

Of the 240 sites examined by this study, only 11 (4.60% total sites) were found to have published settlement CIFBs within the relevant chronological periods.³³⁵ These sites include: Abu Ghalib, Abydos, Ayn Asil, Elephantine, Giza, Kahun, Kom el-Hisn, el-Lisht, Naqada – North Town, Tell Basta (Bubastis), and Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes).³³⁶ As seen in **Table 3.14** and **Figure 3.17**, the settlements of Abydos (MNI 13; 24.07% total settlement burials, henceforth, *TSBs*), Elephantine (MNI 13; 24.07% TSBs) and Kahun (MNI 7; 12.96% TSBs) feature the highest frequencies CIFBs amongst their published excavation

Early Dynastic settlement burials were also observed in Maadi: van den Brink (1989); Tell el-Iswid: van den Brink (1989); and Tell el-Mashala: Rampersad (2003), but excavators did not explicitly state the age

or sex of these interments. As such, they could not be included here.

It is acknowledged that settlement burials also occurred in certain sites outside the chronological parameters of this research, including Predynastic Adaima: Midant-Reynes & Buchez (2002); el-Badari: Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 40); Midant-Reynes (2000: 152-153); Hierakonpolis: Fairservis et al. (1971-1972: 18); Maadi: Menghin (1932; 1934); Menghin & Amer (1936); Klug & Beck (1985); Leclant & Clerc (1985); Rizkana & Seeher (1989); Matmar: Brunton (1948: 5); New Kingdom el-'Amarna: Peet & Woolley (1923: 17); Deir el-Medina: Meskell (1994a); Hermopolis: Roeder (1959: 209); Tell Basta: Farid (1964: 95ff.); and Christian Kellis: Marlow (2001: 108).

data, collectively holding 61.00% of the burials for this site type. None of the remaining 8 sites exceed single figures in either actual or proportional representations of published data.

It should also be noted that many published settlement contexts feature no CIFBs to date. Settlement sites with no published evidence of juvenile interments include:

- Eastern Nile Delta: Ezbet Rushdi, Gezira el-Faras, Kom el-Khilgan, Kom Om Sir, Minshat Abu Omar, Tell Abu Dawud, Tell el-Ain, Tell el-Daba'a, Tell el-Farkha, Tell el-Zragy, Tell Gandiya, Tell Ibrahim Awad, Umm el-Zaiyat.
- West Bank, Lower Egypt: Dahshur, Kom Ausim (Letopolis), Kom el-Fakhry, Memphis, Saqqara.
- Faiyum: Faiyum, Qasr es-Sagha.
- Eastern Desert: Gebel Zeit, Wadi Abu Had, Wadi Hammamat.
- West Bank, Upper Egypt: Hu, en-Nawahid, et-Tarif, Semaina.
- East Bank of Upper Egypt: Wadi el-Hudi.

Two of the settlement sites which feature CIFBs are worthy of further comment. Firstly, the burial of 2 children of unspecified age, DRN 1391, in the Old Kingdom pyramid workers' settlement at Giza, on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, is of social significance. As noted by Bußmann, "two child burials in this area suggest that families lived there". The presence of families within this workers' settlement expands our understanding of lifeways within such 'occupational' habitation zones. They are imbued with a more 'domestic' ambience and we are forced to shift our perspectives of the local economy, socio-ecology, infrastructure and utilisation of space.

Secondly, the presence of >1 child burial, DRN 1420,³³⁸ under the floor of the Middle Kingdom palace at Tell Basta (Bubastis) in the Eastern Nile Delta is also significant. This finding suggests that settlement burials were not the preserve of the poor. Even those of highest socio-economic status, including royalty, may also choose to inter their deceased offspring in such environs. That the children were royal is suggested by their accompanying grave goods, which included a necklace featuring beads and amulets which were variably engraved with the names of King Senwosret and King Amenemhat III, a steatite cartouche-shaped amulet engraved with the prenomen of Amenemhat III (*Ny*-

338 el-Sawi (1979: 178); Bakr (1992: 20).

³³⁷ Bußmann (2004a: 29; 2004b: 171); cf. Lehner (2001).

Ma'at Re'), and a feldspar crown of Upper Egypt amulet.³³⁹ It thus appears that the choice between intra- or extra-mural interment extended to all members of society, regardless of socio-economic status.

Whilst undertaking this research, adult interments were anecdotally observed in settlement contexts in all phases of Egyptian history,³⁴⁰ including Abu Ghalib,³⁴¹ Ashmunein,³⁴² E29-G1 (between Qasr es-Sagha and Kom Ausim),³⁴³ Elephantine,³⁴⁴ el-Hemmamiya,³⁴⁵ Kahun,³⁴⁶ Kom el-Hisn,³⁴⁷ Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes),³⁴⁸ Merimde Beni Salame,³⁴⁹ el-Mostagedda,³⁵⁰ el-Omari,³⁵¹ Tell el-Fara'in (Buto),³⁵² and Tell el-Mashala.³⁵³ This practice is also well-reported across the ancient cultures of Africa, Europe and Near East.³⁵⁴

3.4.2.5 Relative Chronology

The chronological distribution of published settlement CIFBs is presented in **Table 3.15** and **Figure 3.18**. Here, it can be seen that the majority of data pertains to the Middle Kingdom Period, accounting for 61.11% (MNI 33) of settlement burials within the sample. The Middle Kingdom features more published CIF settlement burials than all other periods combined, including the almost equal representations of the Old Kingdom (MNI 11; 20.37%) and First Intermediate Period (MNI 9), in addition to the smallest portion of data from the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 1).

³³⁹ See GGRNs 2861-2862.

³⁴⁰ Szpakowska (2008: 34); *contra* Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14).

³⁴¹ Junker (1928); Bagh (2002: 34).

³⁴² Spencer (1993: 66).

³⁴³ Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 36); Midant-Reynes (2000: 82).

³⁴⁴ von Pilgim (1996: 81).

³⁴⁵ Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 44).

³⁴⁶ Petrie (1890: 44); Quirke (2005: 114-115).

³⁴⁷ Wenke (1985); Cagle (2003a; 2003b).

³⁴⁸ Allen & Wilson (1982).

There is debate as to whether interments were made in inhabited or abandoned zones of the settlement; Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 38-39); Midant-Reynes (2000: 116-117).

Amongst other areas, Brunton (1937: 8, cf. 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 75, 79, 80) states that the lower part of the spur in areas 2900/3000 had been used as both a settlement and cemetery in Tasian times.

It is suggested that graves were in an abandoned zone of the settlement; Debono & Mortensen (1990: pl. 28.1); Midant-Reynes (2000: 121).

Hartung *et al.* (2003).

³⁵³ Rampersad (2006).

For example, African Final Palaeolithic to Epipalaeolithic Palestine (Natufian): Midant-Reynes (2000: 84). Neolithic to Chalcolithic Balkans, including Hungary: Chapman (2000: 174ff., 178), and Macedonia, Bulgaria, Serbia, Croatia, Bosnia: Naumov (2007: 257). African Neolithic Sudan: Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 36); Midant-Reynes (2000: 71, 82, 95, 96, 131, 134). Chalcolithic Byblos, Lebanon: Artin (2008: 85). Chalcolithic to Early Iron Age Tell Yunatsite, Bulgaria: Mishina (2008: 137). Iron Age to Anglo Saxon Britain: Tibbetts (2008: 191); Crawford (2008: 198-200).

3.4.2.6 Relative Chronology in Specific Geographical Regions

The above findings are consolidated when the data is examined according to occurrences by relative chronology in specific geographical regions (**Figure 3.19**). Here, not only does the Middle Kingdom Period contain the most examples of published settlement CIFBs *per se*, but it also has the widest geographical coverage, being represented in 4 of the 7 specific regions with CIFB settlement data. A pattern of gentle diminution follows, with the Old Kingdom represented in 3 of 7 regions, the First Intermediate Period represented in 2 of 7 regions, and the Early Dynastic Period only featuring a settlement burial among the published data of 1 region: the West Bank of Upper Egypt.

While no singular region demonstrates complete chronological continuity of published settlement CIFBs from the Early Dynastic Period to the Middle Kingdom, the region with the most continuous diachronic settlement burial record is the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with data attested in all periods canvassed by this study except the Old Kingdom (Figure 3.19). The Eastern Nile Delta also demonstrates a degree of cultural continuity, with its settlement CIFB data spanning across the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Periods. Apart from the Western Nile Delta, which features published settlement CIFBs in the Old and Middle Kingdoms, all other regions in which CIF settlement burials are observed are represented by single chronological periods only.

3.4.3 Temple Burials

A minimum of 1 child or infant was found to be buried in the temple precinct of the ram-god Banebjed at Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes) in the Eastern Nile Delta, in a mass-grave context pertaining to the Old Kingdom/First Intermediate Period.³⁵⁵ Here, the excavator did not provide a specific demographic profile, stating only that it was the mass burial of "18 human individuals" and that "both sexes are represented in the group, and ages range from infants to the aged". ³⁵⁶

Redford (2000: 20) suspects that this was a mass-grave associated with a violent event ("massacre"): "That they had suffered trauma at the moment of death is strongly supported by evidence of hands raised over their faces in a futile gesture of defence". Petrie (1905: 4) states that "there is no ground for supposing that Egyptians ever buried in or under a temple".

3.4.4 Funerary Enclosure Burials

One child was found to be buried in a Middle Kingdom context in an Early Dynastic funerary enclosure: specifically, the North-Western corner of the Second Dynasty tomb of Khasekhemwy, the so-called 'Shunet el-Zebib' at Abydos on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. Another individual was interred in the vicinity, however the excavator did not provide any demographic details for the second burial. For the purposes of this study, it was deemed appropriate to establish this burial as a separate site-type. This interment did not take place within an independent, contemporary cemetery context, rather within the archaising framework of the Middle Kingdom ritualistic veneration of the Early Dynastic Abydene funerary landscape, which includes Khasekhemwy's enclosure on the Kom es-Sultan. Second Dynastic Abydene funerary landscape, which includes Khasekhemwy's enclosure on the Kom es-Sultan.

3.4.5 Mixed-Type Sites

3.4.5.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Six of the 10 regions included in this study can be seen to demonstrate 'mixed-type' sites. These are sites where published CIFBs feature in 2 or more contexts, including cemeteries, settlements, temples and/or funerary enclosures. Regions featuring mixed-type sites include the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, West Bank of Lower Egypt, West Bank of Middle Egypt, West Bank of Upper Egypt and East Bank of Upper Egypt (Table 3.16; Figure 3.20). For every region where mixed-type sites occur, it is clear that cemeteries are the dominant context. The only region where this dominance is challenged is the West Bank of Middle Egypt, where parity is narrowly missed between published cemetery (MNI 14; 11.67% TRBs) and settlement (MNI 12; 10.00% TRBs) contexts.

3.4.5.2 Relative Chronology

Of all the published mixed-type sites, Giza (Old Kingdom), Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes) (First Intermediate Period), Tell Basta (Bubastis), Lahun/Kahun, el-Lisht and Abydos (Middle Kingdom), are the only locations with synchronic contexts (**Figure 3.21**). Within this framework, cemeteries emerge as the context of choice for CIFBs in the Egyptian mortuary landscape. With the possible exception of Lahun/Kahun, published cemetery burials

³⁵⁷ See DRN 764; Ayrton et al. (1904: 4).

The excavators merely state that another "burial of the same date was found in an almost similar position in the rubbish North of the trench"; Ayrton et al. (1904: 4).

³⁵⁹ O'Connor (1991: 17); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 20); Wildung (2003: 74).

outnumber those in contemporary settlements. While the difference is slim in the Middle Kingdom mixed context at el-Lisht, the balance still tips in favour of the cemetery (MNI 6; 54.55% total site synchronic burials, henceforth, *TSSBs*) over the settlement context (MNI 5; 45.45% TSSBs). The only synchronic mixed-type site to deviate from this pattern is Tell Rub'a (Mendes), where First Intermediate Period contexts do not include a cemetery, rather a settlement (MNI 3; 75.00% TSSBs) and a temple (MNI 1; 25.00% TSSBs).

3.5 Summary

This chapter has presented quantitative primary results of the archaeological survey of child, infant and foetal mortuary data from available published literature pertaining to the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods (ca. 3300–1650 BCE), supplemented by unpublished Early Dynastic data from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project. The survey determined that CIFBs are present in slightly less than one-third of the sites eligible for inclusion in the study, with 1,809 individuals identified amongst the published archaeological record during the timeframe canvassed by the research.

Of the 11 specific geographical regions included in the study, only the Eastern Desert failed to produce published CIFB data. The most productive regions in the sample were the Eastern and Western Banks of Upper Egypt and the West Bank of Lower Egypt. The least productive regions were Dakhla Oasis, the Faiyum and the East Bank of Middle Egypt. When each specific geographical region was ranked according to eligible publication rates, rough parallels were observed in terms of regional CIFB quantity rankings, suggesting that there may be a correlation between higher levels of (published) regional excavation activity and possibilities for the publication of CIFBs. This finding alludes to the extent that knowledge may be spatially determined in Egyptology according to the regional prioritisation of scholarly activities within the landscape.

In terms of distribution across general geographical regions, Upper Egypt was observed to hold more than half the sample. Dakhla Oasis, on the other hand, held the least number of burials. According to Nilotic geographical distributions, the majority of data is almost equally divided between the East and West Banks, while the Faiyum presented the fewest published burials in this configuration.

Overall, the greatest number of published CIFBs were attributed to the Old Kingdom, with only slightly fewer burials observed in the Early Dynastic Period. What is also apparent,

however, is the consistent under-representation of First Intermediate Period material amongst published data.

In terms of site types, the overwhelming majority of CIFBs were observed in published cemetery contexts across every productive region included in this study. This result has upturned expectations regarding the supposed differential burial treatment of juveniles. In contrast to prevailing disciplinary sensibilities, far fewer CIFBs were identified in published settlement *versus* cemetery contexts. Moreover, the observation of child burials in a workers' settlement and palace indicates that this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour was integrated across a range of domestic contexts and socio-economic strata. While the reporting of burial numbers in temples and funerary enclosures was not entirely clear, it is nonetheless apparent that a variety of interment fora were engaged during the timeframe explored by this research. These findings, combined with the identification of synchronic interments across site types, allude to a variety of culturally-situated interment options within the spectrum of Egyptian mortuary behaviour. It appears that the Egyptian mortuary landscape may have more complexity and diversity than is currently accepted. This issue, along with the broader results presented here, will be subject to qualitative discussion in Chapter 10 of this thesis.

CHAPTER 4: PALAEODEMOGRAPHY

Distributions of mortality and morbidity during gestation, infancy and childhood provide meaningful proxies of ambient living conditions and local socio-ecologies of past societies. As a means to explore such aspects of the lived experiences of ancient Egyptian children, infants and foetuses, a palaeodemographic profile was constructed based on data derived from the survey of Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom archaeological publications, as detailed in §1.4.4. This profile is dependent on published age, sex and palaeopathological assessments, with the exception of the skeletal material derived from the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project. 360 Age-at-death estimates for the Helwan skeletal material were determined by this author and Ms. C. Marshall using standards of development for the deciduous and permanent dentition.³⁶¹ In the absence of dentition, age was assigned using indices of diaphyseal lengths and skeletal maturation.³⁶² In alignment with biological parameters established in §1.4.3, data is presented according to BARC standardised skeletal age categories (Table 4.1).³⁶³ When age was not specified within a publication, individuals were relegated to the 'Children (Unspecified)' age category. Sex assessment was determined using Schutkowki's³⁶⁴ criteria of greater sciatic notch angle and depth, arcuate line, iliac crest curvature and dental arcade shape. In adherence with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research are presented below. Qualitative analyses will be presented in Chapter 10.

364 Schutkowski (1993).

Here, this author was given permission to physically examine and assess the skeletons associated with the following burials: Ops.4/12, 4/14, 4/16, 4/14, 4/20, 4/31, 4/37, 4/40, 4/41, 4/44/2, 4/44/3, 4/54, 4/56, 4/74, 4/82, 4/89, 4/93 and 4/103. Skeletal analysis was carried out between 16th December 2006 and 3rd January 2007 at the Facility for Archaeological Research at Helwan. Also included among the Helwan assemblage is data derived from the physical examination of the following burials, kindly carried out by Ms. Chris Marshall (Institute for Bio-Archaeology, San Francisco) and used here with her permission as well as that of the project Director, Prof. E. C. Köhler: Ops.4/112, 4/133, 4/136, 4/137, 4/139, 4/141, 4/143, 4/146, 4/147a, 4/155, 4/156 and 4/166.

³⁶¹ Moorrees et al. (1963a; 1963b); Smith (1991).

³⁶² Scheuer & Black (2000b).

Merging the "Neonate" and "Infant" BARC categories to form a single "Infant" category was necessary for this study due to the lack of detail provided in the majority of published material.

4.1 Age-at-Death: Overview

4.1.1 Specific Age Categories

Results for the age-at-death distribution of the sample may be viewed from two perspectives. The first distribution includes only those individuals for which a specific age category was provided (Σ =698; **Table 4.2**; **Figure 4.1**). Here, it can be seen that the greatest proportion of the sample is attributed to the 'Young Child/ren' category (1–6 years of age; MNI 269), followed by 'Older Children' (6–12 years; MNI 218), 'Infants' (ca. 40 weeks to 1 year *post partum*; MNI 154) and 'Foetuses' (\leq 40 weeks; MNI 57). When combined, Young and Older Children account for 69.77% (MNI 487) of the known-age component of the sample. Such a high proportion of child mortality suggests that exogenous factors, such as poor nutrition, hygiene and exposure to childhood diseases, ³⁶⁵ especially following weaning, ³⁶⁶ had strong bearing on child and infant mortality and morbidity in ancient Egypt during the periods canvassed by this study. ³⁶⁷

"Striking(ly) disproportionate"³⁶⁸ mortality during early-to-late childhood (1-12 years of age) is well-known to bio-anthropological studies and has parallels across temporally and regionally disparate populations: from prehistoric Sudan, Nubia, Lake Woodland, Middle Mississippi and Arizona;³⁶⁹ to Late Anglo-Saxon Raunds Furnells and Barton-Upon-Humber;³⁷⁰ to later medieval York, Wharram Percy, St. Helen-on-the-Walls, Jewbury and Fishergate.³⁷¹ This result contrasts with high levels of infant mortality (death from 40 weeks to 1 year *post partum*) usually expected within pre-industrial societies, where both exogenous and endogenous (maternal nutrition and health) factors³⁷² have bearing on populations. When faced with a mortality profile such as that observed by this study, one must question whether or not other factors, such as differential burial practices, recording or preservation bias may have affected the representativeness of the youngest members of the population. These factors are addressed in Chapter 10 of this thesis.

³⁶⁵ Saunders & Barrans (1999: 186); Lewis (2002: 38; 2007: 84); Lewis & Gowland (2007: 118-119).

³⁶⁶ Wood (1983)

A similar mortality pattern was observed for the First Intermediate Period-Middle Kingdom cemetery at Tell Ibrahim Awad in the Eastern Nile Delta: Rose *et al.* (2008: 983-985); as well as the Late-Ptolemaic Period cemetery at Abusir on the West Bank of Lower Egypt: Strouhal (1992: 23). *Cf.* Crubézy (2001); Tucker (2003).

³⁶⁸ Wood (1983: 80).

³⁶⁹ Clarke (1977); Rose et al. (1978).

³⁷⁰ Power (2007).

³⁷¹ Lewis (2007: 87).

³⁷² Lewis (2002: 38); Sofaer (2006b: 160); Lewis (2007: 84); Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 340).

4.1.2 Specific and General Age Categories

The second age-at-death distribution includes the general age category of 'Children (Unspecified)'. When viewed from this perspective, it becomes clear that skeletal age was not recorded/published by excavators for the majority of CIFBs in the sample; rather, they were generalised by juvenility (**Table 4.2**; **Figure 4.2**). Here, a minimum number of 1,111 (61.42% TBs) children, infants and foetuses are coalesced into a single, undefinable mass.³⁷³ This is despite the fact that juvenile skeletons are able to be aged with far greater precision than those of adults.³⁷⁴ It is quite straightforward to plot children's attained growth and development along well-defined ontogenetic trajectories, resulting in age determination to the level of numerated years or even months. As such, **Figure 4.2** represents a poignant illustration of the extent of lost opportunities for demographic understanding within in the published Egyptian archaeological record, as the number of 'Unspecified' child burials from the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods is more than one and a half times the total of those for which age-at-death is known (MNI 698).

Detailed age-at-death distributions are instrumental to our ability to gain accurate understandings not only of palaeodemographic profiles, but also to inform our reconstructions of the socio-ecological environment/s in which populations under study were living and, indeed, dying. For example, when accurate age-at-death distributions indicate infant mortality is high, physical anthropologists are given a great deal of information regarding prevailing palaeoecologies during the risky pre- to postnatal biological transition³⁷⁵ where, in addition to the stress of birth, immunologically immature neonates are exposed to new and potentially contaminated nutritional and environmental circumstances.³⁷⁶ While the sample presented in **Figure 4.1** is certainly substantial enough to be considered on its own merits, one can nonetheless acknowledge that an additional 1,111 accurately-aged individuals would have added further depth to our understanding of ancient Egyptian life-ways.

Patch (2007: 249) also acknowledges this phenomenon in the publication of juvenile burials.

³⁷⁴ Perry (2006: 90).

³⁷⁵ Wood (1983: 79).

³⁷⁶ Haas (1990).

4.2 Age-at-Death Distributions

4.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

When organised according to specific geographical regions, it is clear that the majority of the sample is concentrated in the Southern regions of Egypt (**Table 4.3**; **Figure 4.3**). The most 'Foetal' burials have been published for the East Bank of Upper Egypt, presenting a minimum number of 25 individuals, followed closely by Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23). Only 4 other regions present Foetal burials amongst their published data (West Bank, Upper Egypt: MNI 4; West Bank, Lower Egypt: MNI: 3; and the Western and Eastern Nile Delta regions: each with MNI 1). The remaining 4 regions have no published accounts of this age group (East Bank, Lower Egypt; West Bank, Middle Egypt; East Bank, Middle Egypt; and the Faiyum).

The East Bank of Upper Egypt presents the highest frequency of published 'Infant' burials, accounting for a minimum number of 43 individuals amongst the sample. The next most numerous accounts of Infant burials may be found on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 35), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 30), and the West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 26). Six regions appear to have <10 Infant burials amongst their published record, including Dakhla Oasis (MNI 7), the Western Nile Delta (MNI 4), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 4), East Bank, Lower Egypt (MNI 2), East Bank, Middle Egypt (MNI 2) and the Faiyum (MNI 1). Despite the comparatively low numbers of burials identified within this age group, Infants nevertheless have the broadest geographical representation, being present amongst published records in each of the 10 productive regions included in this study.

Burials of 'Young Children' are the most numerous among the known-age component of the sample, however their appearance is concentrated in certain geographical areas. The highest published frequencies of Young Children were observed on the Western and Eastern Banks of Upper Egypt, featuring minimum numbers of 113 and 57 interments, respectively. The next most numerous accounts of Young Children's burials include the Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 53), followed by the East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 17). Three regions have ≤10 Young Children amongst their published data (West Bank, Lower Egypt: MNI 10; Dakhla Oasis: MNI 10; and West Bank, Middle Egypt: MNI 9). This demographic segment is not attested in 3 of the productive regions included in this study (Western Nile Delta; East Bank, Middle Egypt; and the Faiyum).

The same regional pattern is observed for the higher end of the 'Older Children' distribution, with the Western and Eastern Banks of Upper Egypt and the Eastern Nile Delta presenting the most published accounts of this age group, each featuring a minimum of 88, 59 and 30 interments, respectively. The distribution pattern then deviates slightly to feature the Western (MNI 15) and Eastern (MNI 14) Banks of Lower Egypt as the next most frequent representations of Older Children's burials. While 2 sites feature <10 Older Children's burials (Dakhla Oasis and the West Bank of Middle Egypt, each with MNI 6), it is perhaps of greater interest that 3 regions feature no published accounts of this age group whatsoever (Western Nile Delta; East Bank of Middle Egypt; and the Faiyum).

Moving away from the known-age portion of the sample, the preponderance of CIFBs with an 'Unspecified' age is attributed to the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 403). The region accounts for almost a quarter (22.28%) of all burials; more than a third (36.27%) of all Unspecified burials; and more than double (2.23) the amount of the next most frequent region in this category, the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 181). 'Unspecified' age burials equal the geographical coverage of Infants among the known-age portion of the sample. They are included in the published records of each of the 10 productive regions included in this study, with an MNI of >30 in all but 2 regions (Faiyum: MNI 4; East Bank, Middle Egypt: MNI 1).

4.2.2 Relative Chronology

When viewed according to relative chronology, it appears that every age group is represented within each cultural period included in this study (**Table 4.4**; **Figure 4.4**). The greatest proportions of published Foetal burials (MNI 27), Young Children's burials (MNI 124), and Older Children's burials (MNI 115) were observed amongst the Old Kingdom published record. The Early Dynastic Period featured the most published Infant burials amongst the sample (MNI 58), as well as the highest number of CIFBs of Unspecified age (MNI 341).

4.2.3 Site Types

While it has already been established that cemeteries were the preferred interment space for the majority of individuals within this sample (MNI 1753; 96.90% TBs; see §3.4), further insights may be gleaned by arranging the data according to the prevalence of age categories within each site type (**Figure 4.5**). Here, the family/ies' and/or community/ies'

propensity to choose between the various interment options within the mortuary landscape is of interest, so the data is better considered in ratio rather than nominal form. According to published data, the incidence of Foetal Cemetery:Settlement burial is 10.40:1.00; Infant Cemetery:Settlement burial is 3.97:1.00; and Young Child Cemetery:Settlement burial is 88.66:1.00. No Older Children are known to be buried outside of cemetery contexts. Within the Unspecified age group, ratios between Cemetery:Settlement:Temple:Funerary Enclosure interments are 1094.00:15.00:1.00-1.00-again, cemeteries clearly prevail as the burial location of choice.

According to these results, it may be said that while cemetery burials predominate amongst the sample, Infants are the age group most likely to be encountered outside this context during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. For (approximately) every 4 cemetery interments, 1 Infant is likely to be buried in a settlement. This diachronic scenario is reinforced by interment ratios of differing age groups observed amongst the 5 synchronic mixed-type sites in the sample (see §3.4.5). Of these, only the publications of Middle Kingdom Abydos and el-Lisht provide specific age details for individuals interred across mortuary landscapes – the remainder feature only CIFBs of Unspecified age.³⁷⁷ While there are more cemetery CIFBs at both Abydos and el-Lisht overall (Figures 4.6–4.7), the Infant age category provides the only instance where necropolis prevalence is inverted, with Cemetery:Settlement ratios of 0.43:1.00 and 0.80:1.00 observed at these sites, respectively.

4.3 Sex Distribution: Overview

The assignment of sex to juvenile skeletons remains one of the most controversial issues in the study of skeletal biology. A sizeable volume of scholarship has amassed over the past 100 years as researchers have attempted to isolate skeletal markers specifically associated with juvenile sex from those more generally aligned with growth. In addition to its application in modern forensic contexts, practitioners of historical disciplines acknowledge the importance of determining biological sex from juvenile skeletal remains. As aforementioned, past societies generally suffered high child, infant and foetal mortality rates, resulting in this segment of the population representing high proportions amongst skeletal datasets.³⁷⁸ As such, there is unanimous agreement that attaining juvenile sex data

Hewlett (1991: 8); Chamberlain (2000: 208).

With the singular exception of DRN 50, the burial of a <5 months *post partum* neonate buried in the sand trench surrounding the pyramid of Senwosret II at Lahun; Petrie *et al.* (1923: 4).

would enable more accurate reconstructions of the demographic profiles of past civilisations than those currently proposed, as well as permit significant scope for research.³⁷⁹ Among the most frequently mentioned research opportunities are studies of relationships between sex and susceptibility to disease and stress, as it is often reported that juvenile males are more vulnerable to the spectres of illness and poor nutrition.³⁸⁰ Additionally, researchers are interested in establishing whether past societies practised preferential investment in one sex of child over another,³⁸¹ an enquiry which may be extended to address questions of actual or deferred foeticide, infanticide or pedicide.³⁸²

Either in conjunction with (or independent of) access to reliable molecular testing (aDNA),³⁸³ this study promotes the utility of non-metric skeletal traits proposed by Weaver, Schutkowski and Sutter³⁸⁴ to determine the sex of juvenile individuals. In many cases, the sex of juvenile skeletons can be determined with greater accuracy levels than widely-accepted methodologies used for adults.³⁸⁵ Sutter reports that greater sciatic notch angle and depth, arch criterion and iliac crest curvature traits meet and exceed the minimally acceptable 75% accuracy levels for forensic applications for children up to 6 years of age; and GSN angle and depth, arch criterion and mandibular arcade shape traits meet forensic standards for children up to age 15.³⁸⁶

Unfortunately, however, while this author is willing to apply the above methodologies to assess the biological sex of child, infant and foetal remains, others have either been unable (or less-willing) to do so. As seen in **Table 4.5** and **Figure 4.8**, the sex of 95.58% (MNI 1,729) of the total sample is unknown. In some cases, this may have been due to the absence or poor preservation of osseous elements required for sex assessment. In most cases, however, the absence of juvenile sex data is due to publications pre-dating the availability of reliable sex assessment methods, or due to a lack of awareness on behalf of physical anthropologists/excavators. Unfortunately, in other cases, practitioners perpetuate

³⁷⁹ Saunders & Barrans (1999).

³⁸⁰ Stinson (1985).

³⁸¹ Voland (1989); Saunders & Barrans (1999; 189, 201); Power (2007).

³⁸² Lewis (2007: 92ff.); Voland (1989).

³⁸³ Smith & Khalia (1992); Hummel & Hermann (1994: 205); Stone *et al.* (1996: 231); Faerman *et al.* (1997: 212); Lassen *et al.* (1997), cited in Schmidt *et al.* (2003: 337).

³⁸⁴ Weaver (1980); Schutkowski (1993); Sutter (2003).

Based on population-specific seriation analyses. For example, 60% accuracy of the "composed arch" adult trait, Novotný (1972), cited in Schutkowski (1993); 70–75% accuracy of the greater sciatic notch adult trait, Acsádi and Nemeskéri (1970); 80% accuracy of the long bones' adult traits, Krogman & Išcan (1986), both cited in Schutkowski (1993). Bello & Andrews (2006: 10) also note that no morphological methodologies for establishing age and sex for human skeletal remains can guarantee 100% accuracy for any age group.

³⁸⁶ Sutter (2003).

biases towards this segment of the ancient population by not applying these experimentally-verified methods,³⁸⁷ thereby unnecessarily obscuring our understanding of differential child, infant and foetal mortality and morbidity in the past.

The observation of a minimum number of 39 'males' (2.16% TBs) and 41 'females' (2.27% TBs) among the sample should not to be taken at face value, either (**Table 4.5**; **Figure 4.8**). Only 1 individual (DRN 131, Helwan) was physically examined and assessed as a 'possible female' by this author; ³⁸⁸ the remaining 79 sexed individuals were identified amongst published material. Of the 39 individuals stated to be 'male', 35 were assessed according to scientific protocols, ³⁸⁹ including the only individual amongst the sample (DRN 536, Harageh) confirmed as biologically male by successful aDNA typing. ³⁹⁰ Excavators do not state how 2 of the remaining individuals came to be assessed as 'male' (DRNs 138 and 1138), and it is possible that the sex of the final 2 'males' (DRNs 81 and 84) may have been determined via a gendered assessment of their burial assemblage. ³⁹¹ Grave goods observed to be buried only with excavator-determined (as opposed to scientifically-determined) 'males' include weights, ³⁹² precious metal ³⁹³ and a mask. ³⁹⁴

This phenomenon is more strongly represented among the individuals identified as 'female' within the sample, with excavators reading gender into 16 burial assemblages.³⁹⁵ Grave goods observed to be buried only with excavator-determined (not scientifically-determined) 'females' include: ceramic vessels,³⁹⁶ girdles,³⁹⁷ linen,³⁹⁸ bags,³⁹⁹ figurines,⁴⁰⁰

³⁸⁷ Scheuer & Black (2000a; 2000b); Lewis (2002: 3, 58; 2007: 13, 47ff., 187-188); Gowland (2006: 147); Waldron (2007: 34); Oxenham *et al.* (2008: 124); Zillhardt (2009: 35).

DRN 131 is part of the Australian Centre for Egyptology's Helwan Project skeletal assemblage. Sex assessment was determined via Schutkowski's (1993) arcuate line criterion.

³⁸⁹ See DRNs 104, 106-110, 536, 1152, 1159, 1172, 1178, 1179, 1189, 1195, 1205-1210, 1213, 1216, 1218, 1220, 1228, 1231, 1246, 1255.

³⁹⁰ Kanawati (1993a: 56-62, 86; 1993b: 36-38).

This methodology was also observed for child burials pertaining to later periods; see Hassanein et al. (1984-1985: 42). It has also been applied to determine the sex of adult burials from all periods; for example, see Brunton (1927a: 23, 24-25; 1939: 423; 1948: 37); Hamada & el-Amir (1947: 106); Hamada & Farid (1947: 197); Lythgoe & Dunham (1965: 234-235); Grajetzki (2004a: 13, 25, 29). The sex of burials have also been questioned when gendered objects have been found in the graves of individuals of the contrary sex, for example, Naville et al. (1914: 15) identified a mace head, "though found in a woman's tomb". These phenomena have also been observed in the archaeology of other cultures, for example, Chalcolithic Byblos in Lebanon; see Artin (2008: 83). Gowland (2006: 147) states that "material culture plays a big part in allowing us to distinguish boys from girls". Meskell (1999b: 167) discusses the pitfalls of making gendered interpretations of grave goods from a modern Western perspective; cf. Meskell (1999b: 167; 2002: 142).

³⁹² See DRN 84; GGRN 261.

³⁹³ See DRN 84; GGRN 264.

³⁹⁴ See DRN 84; GGRN 266.

³⁹⁵ See DRNs 42, 46, 49, 88, 97, 98, 160, 309, 487, 514, 539, 629, 630, 667, 1139, 1397.

³⁹⁶ See DRNs 42, 49, 97, 539; GGRNs 42, 64, 65, 288, 289, 1143.

³⁹⁷ See DRNs 42, 46; GGRNs 43, 59.

funerary furniture,⁴⁰¹ wooden vessels,⁴⁰² fish amulets,⁴⁰³ clothing,⁴⁰⁴ tools,⁴⁰⁵ combs,⁴⁰⁶ raw gemstones⁴⁰⁷ and a plaque/inlay.⁴⁰⁸ Excavators also appear to be influenced by individuals' physical appearance, anachronistically and ethnocentrically assessing that "plaits",⁴⁰⁹ and "pig-tails",⁴¹⁰ can only have been hairstyles worn by 'females'. Excavators do not state how 13 individuals were determined to be 'female',⁴¹¹ while scientific methods were used to assess the remaining 12 juveniles as biologically 'female'.⁴¹²

Biological sex was not ascertained in enough individuals among the sample (only 80 individuals; 4.42% TBs) to carry out credible analyses of cross-culturally common socioecological mechanisms which bear on differential child, infant and foetal mortality and morbidity. Analyses of the differential experiences of these so-called 'proximate determinants' between male and female CIFs have the capacity to provide detailed insights into the biology, household ecology and cultural practices of past populations, allowing researchers to tie differential manifestations of congenital abnormalities, disease, stress, trauma and/or malnutrition among skeletal samples to cultural behaviours. Unfortunately, for reasons outlined above, based on the material examined by this study it appears that the majority of this information has been lost for the 1,650 years of Egyptian

³⁹⁸ See DRN 42; GGRN 44.

See DRNs 49, 487, 539, 667, 1139; GGRNs 66 (model couch); 67, 1052, 1139 (wooden boxes).

⁴⁰² See DRN 49; GGRN 73.

³⁹⁹ See DRN 42; GGRN 46.

See DRNs 46, 49; GGRNs 57, 75, 76 (female figurines and accessories); 58 (dancing dwarves); 70 (animal figurine); 78, 79 (funerary figurines).

⁴⁰³ See DRNs 97, 487; GGRNs 291, 292, 1049.

⁴⁰⁴ See DRN 667; GGRN 1268.

⁴⁰⁵ See DRN 1139; GGRN 2538.

⁴⁰⁶ See DRN 1139; GGRN 2540.

⁴⁰⁷ See DRN 539; GGRN 1276.

⁴⁰⁸ See DRN 1139; GGRN 2541.

⁴⁰⁹ See DRNs 487, 539, 629, 630, 1139; *contra* Brunton (1937: 105), who interprets plaits as belonging to "boys".

⁴¹⁰ See DRN 514; *cf.* Janot (2004: 173).

⁴¹¹ See DRNs 164, 530, 943, 944, 951, 959, 1098, 1116, 1120, 1143, 1144, 1146, 1147.

⁴¹² See DRNs 131, 1170, 1171, 1182, 1199, 1200, 1202, 1217, 1221, 1230, 1251, 1275.

⁴¹³ Genetics; see Mosley & Chen (1984).

Hygiene, sanitation, safety; see Mosely & Chen (1984).

Health care (obstetric care, ecological characteristics such as climate, rainfall, presence of disease and vectors); Nutrition (differential nutritional distribution (pre- and post-weaning) in static, abundant and famine contexts); Relationships (parental affection, geriatric care, marriage practices (exogamy, endogamy, hypergamy, egalitarian, monogamy, polygamy, gift traditions), habitation practices, pre- and extra-marital sex (illegitimacy); Family planning and management (conception, contraception and birth spacing (coital timing and stopping behaviour), abortion, infanticide, pedicide, destruction or termination of parental investment (out-adoption, abuse, neglect); Socio-economic practices (household size and composition (including birth-order), general availability of critical resources (especially food, water, land), social security (uncertainty), sex-bias in education, employment, social stratification); Legal practices (inheritance laws); Religious practices (baptism, burial, folk *versus* sanctioned practices); see Mosely & Chen (1984).

Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom history canvassed by this research. It is hoped that in future excavators will go some way to rectifying this deficit by ensuring they use all available methods to determine and publish the biological age and sex of all CIFs exhumed within their concessions. Doing so will serve to illuminate the experiences of living, growing, suffering, convalescing and dying — not only for individuals, but for entire communities and, it is hoped, a civilisation.

4.3.1 Sex Distribution by Age Categories

The frequency distribution of biological sex by age categories is illustrated in **Table 4.5** and **Figure 4.9**. Again, as sex was not reliably ascertained in enough individuals among the sample, it is impossible to derive any statistical or meaningful insights from this data beyond merely reporting observed frequencies.

Of the known-sex and known-age individuals within the sample, 'male' Older Children have the highest representation (MNI 22), followed by 'male' Young Children (MNI 10). Young and Older 'female' children are equally represented (MNI 9). Infant 'females' are absent from the sample, in comparison to 4 Infant 'males'. 'Male' and 'female' Foetuses are equally represented (MNI 1). Amongst the known-sex, unknown-age portion of the sample (Children 'Unspecified'), there is a preponderance of females (MNI 22) over males (MNI 2). This disparity should be viewed with caution as more than half (MNI 13) of the 'females' in the Unspecified age category appear to have been sexed according to gendered interpretations of grave goods. 416

4.4 Palaeopathology

It is widely acknowledged that the study of child and infant human skeletal remains derived from archaeological contexts provides the most accurate barometer by which the overall health of past populations may be measured. By occupying the most sensitive and dependent phase of the human life-cycle, children's and infants' bodies readily reflect entire populations' ambient living conditions and socio-ecologies. Despite this capacity, information is only available for the health statuses of 55 individuals amongst the 1,809 CIFs in this sample (3.04% total burials). Of these, palaeopathological data was

⁴¹⁶ See DRNs 42, 46, 49, 88, 97, 98, 309, 514, 539, 629, 630, 667, 1397.

Hewlett (1991); Adler & Ostrove (1999); Saunders & Barrans (1999: 184); Murray & Frenk (2002); Perry (2006: 89); Lewis (2007: 81-83, 186-187); Lewis & Gowland (2007).

⁴¹⁸ Roth, E. (1992).

⁴¹⁹ Saunders *et al.* (1995); Saunders & Barrans (1999).

published in a less-than-comprehensive manner for only 24 individuals (1.33% TBs) from 4 sites (1.67% total sites). References to pathology were either made in isolation of all other biocultural data, as preliminary reports, or were unspecific. This author was able to determine the health status of 21 of the remaining individuals via physical examination at the Australian Centre for Egyptology's (henceforth, *ACE*) Facility for Archaeological Research at Helwan (FARAH), Egypt between 16th December 2006 and 3rd January 2007. Ms. Chris Marshall provided biodata for the further 10 individuals from Helwan, also examined at FARAH between January 2007 and March 2010.

4.4.1 Health Assessment Methodology

It is accepted that many individuals exhumed from archaeological contexts will present little or no skeletal evidence of pathology. When an individual dies as a result of an acute illness, there is not enough time for the body to manifest an osseous response. Some of the most common ailments suffered by juveniles in the past may be attributed to such acute biological/social stresses, including fevers, gastrointestinal and respiratory infections. As such, the present study refers to those individuals not exhibiting skeletal evidence of disease as "non-pathological".

On the other hand, individuals with more robust immune systems may have survived repeated insults or endured disease processes for longer. As such, the chronic nature of their illness allowed enough time for skeletal lesions to develop. The present study recorded the frequency of stress-indicators (including cribra orbitalia, linear enamel hypoplasia and growth disturbances) and non-specific infection (including endo- and ectocranial lesions and periosteal new bone formation), as well as evidence for other

Abusir: DRN 391; Abydos: DRNs 775-779; Adaima: DRNs 691-705, 710, 716; Naga ed-Deir: DRN 661. Pathological descriptions were provided for individuals from el-Hagarsa (DRNs 536 and 537), but they are excluded from analyses as this author does not agree with the suggested diagnosis (displacement and disruption of cranium, cervical vertebra and mandible due to perimortem trauma: hanging; Kanawati (1993b: 39). Instead, the present study suggests that these are pseudo-pathological observations attributed to post-depositional movement of the axial skeleton; Duday (2006: 35-36).

⁴²¹ See DRNs 691-705.

⁴²² See DRNs 775-779.

⁴²³ See DRN 661. See also DRN 283, a multiple entry for a mass-grave under the Temple at Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes). Here, trauma was implied but not described and as such cannot be included in palaeopathological analyses: Redford (2000: 20).

With the permission of Prof. E. C. Köhler: DRNs 125-128, 130, 131, 1429-1441, 1449, 1451.

⁴²⁵ With the permission of Prof. E. C. Köhler: DRNs 1442, 1444-1448, 1450, 1452-1454.

⁴²⁶ Goodman & Armelagos (1989: 228); Wood et al. (1992); Saunders & Barrans (1999: 197).

⁴²⁷ Wood (1983); Basu (1989: 205); Saunders & Barrans (1999: 195).

Ortner (1991: 10); for further discussion of the so-called "osteological paradox", see §10.3.3.

pathologies (including specific infections, trauma, dental disease and congenital abnormalities).

Observations were recorded for each individual regarding the presence or absence of skeletal pathologies. Pathologies were recorded by frequency of incidence: for example, if a single individual had cribra orbitalia, limb dysplasia and sharp force trauma, 3 pathologies were recorded. Individuals without skeletal pathology were counted only once. Observations of occlusal wear and calculus were recorded but not included in pathological analyses. Standards for tooth notation reflect those established by the Fédération Dentaire Internationale.⁴²⁹

4.4.2 Skeletal Pathologies

Primary results of the sample's health assessment are presented graphically in **Figure 4.10**; and in tabular form in **Table 4.6**. Of the 55 individuals for which health data was available (31 of which derive from the ACE Helwan Project), 37 (2.05% TBs) featured pathological changes, while 18 individuals (1.00% TBs) bore no traces of skeletal pathology, whatsoever. Of the 37 pathological individuals, 61 osseous changes were observed, including 19 accounts of periostitis (31.15% total pathologies, henceforth, *TPs*), 12 accounts of cribra orbitalia (19.67% TPs), 7 accounts of erosive lesions (11.48% TPs), 5 accounts of congenital variations (8.20% TPs), 4 accounts each of porotic hyperostosis and linear enamel hypoplasia (each 6.56% TPs), 3 accounts of proliferative lesions (each 4.92% TPs), 2 accounts each of sharp-force trauma, other trauma, and unknown pathology (each 3.28% TPs), and 1 account of limb dysplasia (1.64% TPs).

4.4.3 Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies

To further scrutinize the data, pathologies were categorised according to aetiology (most commonly attributed origin) (Table 4.7; Figure 4.11), as follows:

- Congenital abnormalities;
- Diet/deficiency related: cribra orbitalia, porotic hyperostosis, limb dysplasia, linear enamel hypoplasia;⁴³⁰
- Infectious/inflammatory: proliferative lesions, erosive lesions, other periostitis;⁴³¹

van Beek (1983: 3).

⁴³⁰ Lewis (2007: 104ff., 119ff.).

⁴³¹ Lewis (2007: 134ff., 141ff.).

- Trauma: sharp force, other; and
- Unknown: pathologies for which the aetiology is not known.

In this configuration, it can be seen that pathologies of an infectious or inflammatory origin were most frequent, with 29 observations among the sample (47.54% TPs) providing socio-ecological evidence that some ancient Egyptian children and infants were exposed to environments where pathogens flourished, ⁴³² causing chronic illness in some members of the population. ⁴³³ Furthermore, there were 22 observations of diet-deficiency related skeletal pathologies (36.07% TPs), indicating that some ancient Egyptian children and infants were subject to chronic periods of diminished nutrition. Incidence of congenital variation was relatively low amongst the sample (5 observations; 8.20% TPs), as was trauma (4 observations; 6.56% TPs). ⁴³⁴ Of the 55 individuals for which health data was available, 18 featured no pathological changes whatsoever (32.73% total known-health sample), indicating that some ancient Egyptian children and infants died as a result of acute biological insults which were not enduring, or were not of a nature to leave osseous signatures. There were no observations of dental pathology (for example, carious lesions) among the sample.

4.4.4 Aetiology of Skeletal Pathologies by Age Categories

While it is worthwhile to consider the distribution of skeletal pathologies according to age categories among the known-health portion of the sample (MNI 55; 3.04% TBs; **Figure 4.12**), findings cannot be extrapolated across the entire dataset as representation is too low. Young Children clearly have the most skeletal pathologies across the aetiological spectrum, with the most recorded/published incidences of infectious/inflammatory pathologies (23 observations; 79.31% total category, henceforth, *TC*), diet/deficiency related pathologies (13 observations; 59.10% TC), and congenital variations (3 observations; 60.00% TC). Young Children also had the highest rate of absence of skeletal pathology (66.66% TC).

Sharing living quarters with animals is one of the major determinants of pathologies of infectious or inflammatory origin. Friedman (1996: 16) reports that animal pens were associated with domestic structures in Hierakonpolis; *cf.* Harlan (1982: 23); Friedman (1994: 96-97). von Pilgrim (1997: 17) and Hauschteck (2004) confirm that goats/sheep were kept in houses on the island of Elephantine. *Cf.* Filer (2001: 133, 135).

⁴³³ Wood (1983: 80).

The burials of 2 children of unknown age in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Elephantine, associated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt, are worth mentioning here. These two individuals (see DRN 625) were described by Kaiser et al. (1982: 296) as interred in a tightly contracted position with their wrists and ankles bound. Although not explicitly described with any skeletal trauma, their manner of interment is evocative of some form of violent treatment.

Death during the 'Young Child' life-course phase accounts for a high proportion of mortality amongst modern and historical data. Many cultures (including ancient Egypt) wean children from breastfeeding between 1 and 6 years of age, radicalising their dietary intake, gastrointestinal ecology and immunological status, while simultaneously introducing a range of opportunities for socio-ecological exposure to pathogens. This scenario presents a barrage of challenges to Young Children's immune systems and can result in mortality or morbidity outcomes associated with respiratory and gastrointestinal infections. Dietary changes may also impact on Young Children's nutritional statuses, as they transition to soft- and whole-foods. These foods are not as nutritious as breast milk, are more likely to be contaminated, and are less likely to be readily absorbed in the case of illness. In isolation or combination, any of these factors may lead to acute or chronic malnutrition, resulting in sub-optimum health or even death.

Older Children were the next most frequently represented age group among the knownhealth portion of the sample. Older Children had the highest frequencies of trauma in the dataset (3 observations (75% TC). They were the second most frequently represented age group for diet/deficiency related pathologies (7 observations; 31.82% TC), no pathology (4 individuals; 22.22% TC) and congenital variations (2 observations; 40.00% TC); and they third behind Young Children and **Infants** in representations were infectious/inflammatory pathologies (2 observations; 6.90% TC). Of particular interest here is the concentration of trauma observations within this age category. This is in agreement with modern and ethnographic evidence that misadventure is frequently observed in children of this age group as they gain independence and may begin to venture further from home and away from supervision. 440 They may also commence employment at this age and thus be exposed to various occupational hazards.⁴⁴¹ It should be noted. however, that 2 of the 3 observations of trauma are from the same site (Adaima: DRNs 710 and 716) and chronological phase (Early Dynastic Period). Both individuals, although of distinctly different age groups (a 3-6 month old infant and a 12-15 year old child), suffered

435 Chen et al. (1980).

⁴³⁶ Lichtheim (1976: 141); Darby et al. (1977: 56); Strouhal & Bares (1992); Lovell & Whyte (1999: 76); Dupras et al. (2001); Dupras & Tocheri (2007).

Wood (1983: 79); Das Gupta (1987: 81); Goodman & Armelagos (1989: 227); Sear et al. (2002: 51); Lewis (2007: 99-100); Littleton (2011: 376).

Katzenberg et al. (1996); Robins' (1993: 85-88) studies of medical papyri reveal that gastrointestinal infections were the most common ailment for infants in ancient Egypt, with prophylactic spells and amulets prescribed as treatment.

⁴³⁹ Katzenberg *et al.* (1996); Lovell & Whyte (1999: 76).

⁴⁴⁰ Hanawalt (1977: 15); Levine (1987: 290); Sear et al. (2002: 43).

Littleton (2011: 380).

remarkably similar sharp-force injuries at or before the time of death which severed their right humeri. In the case of DRN 716, reconstruction of the severed limb was attempted within the coffin but for DRN 710, the truncated element has not been located. Considering the well-known evidence for adult interpersonal violence at Adaima during the Predynastic to Early Dynastic Periods, these findings suggest that children and infants were also subjects of violence.

Infants are under-represented amongst the known-health portion of the sample, with biological profiles only available for 3 individuals (5.45% total known-health sample; 0.17% TBs). The most frequent incidences of pathologies for this age group may be attributed to infectious/inflammatory origins (4 observations; 13.79% TC) – a somewhat expected outcome considering this phase of the life-course includes the vulnerable postnatal transition between endogenous and exogenous stressors on individual health. Infants were also represented in the diet/deficiency (2 observations; 9.09% TC), trauma (1 observation; 25% TC) and non-pathological (1 individual; 5.56% TC) categories. Foetuses are not represented amongst the known-health sample at all.

4.5 Summary

This chapter has constructed a juvenile palaeodemographic profile based on published age, sex and palaeopathological assessments derived from the survey of the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom archaeological record, supplemented by unpublished material from the ACE Helwan Project. According to this data, the ancient Egyptian juvenile mortality profile peaks with Young and Older Children. This result contrasts with expectations of high infant mortality usually encountered in pre-industrial populations. Should this high child mortality profile be accurate, we may infer that the exogenous rigours of poor nutrition and hygiene and high levels of pathogen exposure had great bearing on the health of ancient Egyptian children, as opposed to the endogenous threats of poor maternal nutrition and health, more characteristic of high infant mortality profiles. Distributions of skeletal pathology according to aetiology appear to support this hypothesis, with lesions of infectious/inflammatory origin most frequently observed. These results indicate that further study is required to determine whether the high-infant mortality rates generally associated with pre-industrial societies were less-severely expressed in ancient Egypt.

⁴⁴² Crubézy et al. (2002b).

Children were also among the victims of the "massacre" at Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes); see DRN 283; Redford (2000: 20).

⁴⁴⁴ Halcrow & Tayles (2011: 340).

Also noteworthy is the broad representation of all age categories among the sample. The high proportions of Foetuses encountered in such diverse preservation environments as the dry desert margins of Upper Egypt, through to the damp soils of the Nile Delta, indicate that all environmental contexts offer great potential for encountering even these most fragile of human remains. It thus appears that our challenge to accessing and understanding the 'true' ancient Egyptian juvenile palaeodemographic profile lies less in the nature of burial environments, and more on excavators' capacities to identify, exhume, analyse, record and publish CIF biodata. This finding is underscored by the complete absence of Older Children from the published archaeological records of 3 of the 10 specific geographical regions included in this study – osteological fragility can hardly be proffered to explain the absence of this age group. The present study found that >60 percent of published juvenile burials do not feature age-at-death data; >95 percent do not feature sex assessments; and >98% do not feature health assessments, despite the gamut of analytical tests at archaeologists' disposal. These results are a strong indictment of the low priority apportioned by our discipline to exploring the physical experiences of living and dying by the youngest members of the ancient Egyptian community.

Of the small numbers of individuals for whom biological sex data was published, the results cannot be reliably extrapolated across the sample, as the sex of many appears to have been determined by gendered assessments of grave goods and/or hairstyles rather than by scientific morphological or molecular tests. Furthermore, despite the unique capacity of CIF bodies to reflect the health and ecological status of their entire communities, the small numbers of published palaeopathological profiles, even when supplemented by data generated from the analysis of unpublished skeletal material from Helwan, also remain too few to enable confident extrapolation across the sample, and certainly cannot be argued to reflect the health status of all populations encompassed by the temporal and geographical confines of this study.

One of the strongest outcomes of this chapter has been the identification of age-at-death distribution trends of interments across site types. Here, while all age groups except Older Children were observed in non-cemetery contexts, Infants have been identified as the age group most likely to be interred in extra-mural fora, with approximately 1 Infant settlement burial reported for every 4 Infants interred in cemeteries. Indeed, the Infant category at the synchronic mixed-type sites of Abydos and el-Lisht present the only examples within the sample where intramural interments exceed those in extramural contexts. Notwithstanding

these facts, the most resounding finding to precipitate from the survey of published data is that all age categories, including Infants, were most frequently interred in communal cemeteries.

While the key findings of this chapter may be reviewed on their own merits, it would be remiss not to consider how the issue of 'representativeness' may have impacted on the sample. Questions regarding the potential effect of differential burial practices; methods of recording, excavation, preservation or authorial bias; the 'osteological paradox'; and intra-and inter-observer error will all be addressed in Chapter 10 of this thesis. Chapter 10 will also undertake qualitative analyses of the palaeodemographic results levelled here.

CHAPTER 5: BODY POSITION AND ORIENTATION

The manner in which a body is interred provides manifold information regarding community perceptions of the deceased's cultural capacities and social persona within prevailing social, religious, economic and political networks.⁴⁴⁵ Such notions are communicated via various symbolic elements of burial, many of which will be explored in the proceeding chapters. Included among this symbolic suite is the way a body is placed within the grave: 446 its position, including the arrangement of the body and limbs; and its orientation, including the alignment of the head and face with cardinal/ordinal points or culturally significant landmarks. 447 Abiding with, or diverging from, culturally 'normative' patterns of bodily position and orientation can provide powerful indicators of the deceased's cultural capacity, including perceptions of their social position, value and agency as expressed by those responsible for their burial. In order to determine the nature and scope of child, infant and foetal bodily positions and orientations during the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom periods, data derived from the archaeological survey described in §1.4.4 was analysed in terms of side placement, head and facial orientation, and positioning of the arms and legs. In adherence with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research and its respective theoretical considerations are presented below. Qualitative analyses will be offered in Chapter 10.

5.1 Overview

Before presenting the results of the archaeological survey of CIF bodily positions and orientations, it is crucial to consider how reporting standards regarding preservation statuses of both tombs and occupants impact our ability to obtain comprehensive data for these important aspects of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour. According to the survey, tomb condition was not published for more than half the burials in the sample (MNI 947; 52.35% TBs; **Figure 5.1**). A minimum of 456 tombs were reportedly "Intact" (25.21% TBs), 299 tombs were "Disturbed" (16.53% TBs), 98 tombs were of "Questionable" preservation status (5.42% TBs), and a minimum of 9 tombs were reportedly "Re-used" (0.50% TBs).

⁴⁴⁵ Chapman (2000: 188); Lillie (2008: 41).

⁴⁴⁶ Mizoguchi (1993: 225).

Raven (2005: 40).

Concerning the tomb occupants, bodily completion status was not published for almost three-quarters of the CIFs identified by this study (MNI 1,337; 73.91% TBs; Figure 5.2). Of the remaining individuals, 407 (22.50% TBs) were reported as "Complete" (all osseous elements present), while 65 (3.59% TBs) were said to be "Incomplete" (some osseous elements absent). Bodily articulation status was subject to similarly poor publication standards, this data being absent for 73.08% of individuals among the sample (MNI 1,322; Figure 5.3). The bodies of 414 individuals (22.89% TBs) were observed to be "Articulated" (all anatomical connections maintained), 32 individuals (1.77% TBs) were "Semi-articulated" (majority of anatomical connections maintained), while the bodies of 41 individuals (2.27% TBs) were reportedly "Disarticulated" (majority of anatomical connections displaced).

It is clear that a substantial amount of information has not been published regarding the condition of both the tombs and bodies eligible for inclusion in this survey. Nevertheless, the sample contains enough data to permit viable analyses which afford various insights into the funerary treatment of CIFs in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt.

5.2 Side Placement: Overview

In terms of the side placement of the deceased, of those individuals for whom data was published, placement on the left side was by far the most common position, with a minimum of 401 CIFs buried in this way (22.17% TBs; **Figure 5.4**). Supine interments were the next most frequent burial position, amounting to a minimum of 109 observations (6.03% TBs), followed by a minimum of 86 burials on the right side (4.75% TBs). Nine individuals were buried in a prone position (0.50% TBs), while 1 individual was reportedly buried in an upright position (0.05% TBs). Side placement data was not published for 1,203 individuals among the sample (66.50% TBs).

5.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Of the known-position portion of the sample, burial on the left side was most common on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 173), West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 88), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 59), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 35), East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 25), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 8) and the Western Nile Delta (MNI 6; **Table 5.1**; **Figure 5.5**). Right-sided burials were most frequently published for Dakhla

Located in Qau el-Kebir, the child was seated in an upright 'crouched' position with a burial pot inverted over the top of the body: see DRN 932; Brunton (1927a; 21).

Oasis (MNI 14), while supine burials were most often reported in the Faiyum (MNI 4). What is perhaps most interesting to observe is that a variety of side placements were published for each productive region.⁴⁴⁹ No single region exhibits a proclivity for interring the deceased on one side only.

5.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When considered according to general geographical regions, the pattern described above is essentially consolidated (**Table 5.2**; **Figure 5.6**). Of the known-position portion of the sample, burial on the left side was most common in Upper Egypt (MNI 232), Lower Egypt (MNI 113), Middle Egypt (MNI 35) and the Nile Delta (MNI 14). The only exception to this pattern was observed in the Dakhla Oasis region where, as aforementioned, right-sided interments were most frequently published (MNI 14).

5.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

The predominance of left-sided interments continues when the data is organised according to Nilotic geographical distribution (**Table 5.3**; **Figure 5.7**). Of the known-position portion of the sample, bodily placement on the left side is most frequently encountered on the East Bank (MNI 198), West Bank (MNI 182) and Nile Delta (MNI 14). Regional variation is observed in the Faiyum, where supine burials are most commonly reported (MNI 4).

5.2.4 Relative Chronology

A pattern of gentle diminution is observed when considering the chronological distribution of side placement among the known-position portion of the sample (**Table 5.4**; **Figure 5.8**). In the Early Dynastic Period, published data indicates that the deceased was most commonly placed on the left side (MNI 146). This finding mirrors the predominance of left-sided interments observed among the adult population at this time. Right-sided juvenile burials are also observed but are substantially less favoured (MNI 28), while supine (MNI 3) and prone burials (MNI 1) are rare.

Preference for the left side continues for Old Kingdom CIFBs (MNI 143), again reflecting reported trends for contemporary adult interments.⁴⁵¹ However, we begin to see

With the exception of the Western Nile Delta region for which no side placement data is published.

⁴⁵⁰ Reisner (1936: 11); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 7); Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁵¹ Reisner (1936: 12); Grajetzki (2003: 15, 25).

alternatives of right-sided (MNI 34) and supine burials (MNI 22) more frequently employed amongst published juvenile burial data during this period. Here, prone (MNI 3) and upright burials (MNI 1) are also occasionally observed.

A subtle shift characterises the First Intermediate Period, with left-sided burials continuing to dominate amongst children's interments (MNI 76), again corresponding with synchronic adult mortuary culture. During this period, however, supine burials (MNI 25) overtake right-sided interments (MNI 10) for the first time amongst published data. Prone burials remain an infrequent occurrence (MNI 3).

According to published data, the transition to supine burial prevalence is achieved in Middle Kingdom CIFBs (MNI 59), as it was for their adult contemporaries.⁴⁵³ For the first time, burial on the left side is the second most common practice (MNI 36), followed in turn by right-sided interments (MNI 14). Prone burials continue to sporadically appear during this period (MNI 2).

5.2.5 Site Types

Side placement of the deceased is not known for the majority of cemetery burials (MNI 1,155; **Table 5.5**; **Figure 5.9**). Among the known-position portion of the sample, left-sided interments predominate among published cemetery data, accounting for a minimum of 399 burials. The supine position was next most frequently observed in cemeteries (MNI 107), followed by right-sided (MNI 84), prone (MNI 7) and upright interments (MNI 1).

We are unable to glean much meaningful information from the known-position portion of settlement burials. Here, the left, right, prone and supine sides are all equally represented among published data (each with MNI 2). Again, unfortunately, side placement information is lost for the majority of settlement burials (MNI 46). Side placement details are also not known for the temple and funerary enclosure burials among the sample.

5.2.6 Age Categories

Bodily positions were not published for the majority of burials in each age category (**Table 5.6**; **Figure 5.10**). However, among the known-position portion of the sample, similar distribution patterns are observed for the Unspecified and Older Children age categories, whereby burial on the left side dominates (Unspecified=MNI 290; Older Children=MNI

⁴⁵² Grajetzki (2003: 38).

⁴⁵³ Grajetzki (2003: 54).

41), followed in frequency by supine (Unspecified=MNI 79; Older Children=MNI 13) and right-sided interments (Unspecified=MNI 56; Older Children=MNI 6).

While Young Children are also most frequently buried on their left sides in this sample (MNI 36), equal numbers of this age category are observed as supine and right-sided interments (each with MNI 11). Published data for Infant burials also indicates that they were most commonly interred on their left side (MNI 31), however in this case the right side is the next most frequently attested burial position (MNI 9), followed by supine interments (MNI 6). Foetal interments with known burial positions display a different burial pattern altogether, with most bodies placed on the right side (MNI 4), followed by the left (MNI 3). However, on account of the small numbers of known-position Foetal burials these results should be interpreted cautiously.

Prone burials were observed in every age category except for Older Children, with the most frequent occurrences in the Unspecified (MNI 4) and Infant groups (MNI 3). Unfortunately, age was not specified for the only example of upright burial amongst the sample.

5.3 Head Orientation: Overview

Information regarding the orientation of the head was published for 629 individuals among the dataset (34.77% TBs),⁴⁵⁴ and not published for 1,180 individuals (65.23% TBs) (**Figure 5.11**). Of the known-orientation portion of the sample, burial with the head towards the North was most common,⁴⁵⁵ accounting for a minimum number of 355 CIFs (56.44% total known-orientation burials, henceforth, *TKOBs*; 19.62% TBs). Southerly orientation was the next most frequently observed, with a minimum of 119 individuals (18.91% TKOBs; 6.58% TBs) interred in this position. Orientations towards remaining cardinal points were less-frequently observed, with a minimum of 59 individuals (9.38% TKOBs; 3.26% TBs) interred with their heads to the West, while a minimum of 35 individuals were placed with their heads towards the East (5.56% TKOBs; 1.93% TBs). Orientations towards ordinal points were less-frequently observed. Of these, burials with the head towards the North-East accounted for a minimum of 25 individuals (3.97%

Head orientation data was derived either from the text or registers of published reports; or, where possible, from photographs or drawings of *in situ* burials featuring cardinal indications. It is acknowledged that ancient Egyptians may not have aligned burials according to true cardinal/ordinal points. Instead, they may have followed the orientation of significant landmarks, such as the Nile River: see Bard (1994: 53); or the local configuration of the ground: see Bourriau (2001: 2).

TKOBs; 1.38% TBs), and 14 individuals were interred with heads towards the South-East (2.23% TKOBs; 0.77% TBs). Interments with heads towards the North-West and South-West were least-frequently observed, representing a minimum of 11 (1.75% TKOBs; 0.61% TBs) and 10 individuals (1.59% TKOBs; 0.55% TBs), respectively. One individual was interred with their head facing upwards, 456 thus not conforming to cardinal or ordinal orientations.

5.3.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Of the known-orientation portion of the sample, specific geographical regions to feature the predominant Northern head orientation include the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 186), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 44), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 21), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 30), Western Nile Delta (MNI 6) and the Faiyum (MNI 3) (**Table 5.7**). While Northern-oriented burials were also common on the Western (MNI 44) and Eastern (MNI 15) Banks of Lower Egypt, they were almost equalled by burials of other orientations: on the West Bank 43 individuals were interred with their heads towards the South, while on the East Bank a minimum of 14 individuals were also interred with their heads in a Southerly direction.

Dakhla Oasis was the only region to feature predominantly Western-oriented burials, with a minimum of 12 individuals reportedly interred in this way. Unfortunately, no head orientation data was published for the East Bank of Middle Egypt region.

5.3.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical regions, data for the known-orientation segment of the sample focuses on Northern head positioning (**Table 5.8**). Upper Egypt presents the most frequent observations of Northern-oriented burials amongst its published record, with a minimum of 216 individuals being interred in this manner: more than 4 times the number of the next most common regional burial position of head to the South (MNI 52). Other regions featuring predominantly Northern-oriented burials include Middle Egypt (MNI 47) and the Nile Delta (MNI 27).

An almost equal distribution is observed for the Lower Egypt region, where burials with a Northern orientation (MNI 59) marginally outnumber those oriented South (MNI 57).

⁴⁵⁶ See DRN 932.

Once again, the Dakhla Oasis region stands alone in its preponderance of Western-oriented burials among published data (MNI 12).

5.3.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

Upon arranging the data according to Nilotic geographical regions, the majority of published burials continue to feature Northern orientations (**Table 5.9**). Northern-oriented burials substantially outnumber other interment types among recorded data of the East Bank (MNI 201), West Bank (MNI 118), Nile Delta (MNI 27) and Faiyum regions (MNI 3). As aforementioned, Western-oriented burials are most common in Dakhla Oasis (MNI 12).

5.3.4 Relative Chronology

Viewing chronological distributions of the known-orientation component of the sample produces somewhat different outcomes to those levelled above (**Table 5.10**). As for contemporary adult burials, 457 Southern-oriented CIF interments are most frequent among published Early Dynastic Period data (MNI 78). It is not until the Old Kingdom that the Northern-oriented position prevails amongst juvenile (MNI 140) and adult burials, 458 and then is maintained through the First Intermediate Period (MNI 105) and Middle Kingdom (MNI 55). However, it must be noted that the published record indicates great variability in head orientation among burials of the Early Dynastic Period, Old Kingdom and Middle Kingdom, with orientations towards all cardinal and ordinal points noted during these eras. While still exhibiting some variability, the First Intermediate Period appears to be more consistent in the bodily positioning of deceased CIFs. Here a greater proportion of known-orientation burials are aligned towards the North, and where variations do occur, they are less-numerous in terms of range and frequency.

5.3.5 Site Types

Burials oriented with head towards the North are clearly most numerous in both cemetery and settlement contexts (**Table 5.11**). Of the known-orientation portion of cemetery burials, a minimum of 350 individuals have been interred in this manner, 3 times the

⁴⁵⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 2, 7); Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁵⁸ Grajetzki (2003: 15, 25); Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁵⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 37, 61).

Reisner (1936: 11, 12) also notes such variability in head orientation from the Early Dynastic Period onwards.

amount of the next most numerous orientation category, burials with head towards the South (MNI 117). Orientation towards the Western (MNI 58) and Eastern (MNI 34) cardinal points follow in frequency, while orientation towards ordinal points were less-represented.

The proportion of known-orientation burials is quite low in the settlement context, with data only published for 10 of the 54 intramural interments identified by this study (18.52% total settlement burials). Of these, 5 burials orient towards the North, 2 towards the South, and 1 interment is observed for each of the Eastern, South-Eastern and Western orientations.

Unfortunately, the orientation of burials located within temple and funerary enclosure contexts are unknown. So too are the majority of cemetery (MNI 1,134) and settlement burials (MNI 44) within the sample, underscoring again the substantial loss of data regarding the mortuary practices of this demographic segment of the ancient Egyptian population.

5.3.6 Age Categories

Northern head-orientation again dominates the known-position portion of the sample when distributed according to age categories (**Table 5.12**). This alignment is most dominant among the Unspecified (MNI 279) and Older Children age groups (MNI 37). While still most frequently recorded amongst Young Children (MNI 22) and Infants age categories (MNI 15), the prevalence of the North is not as strong in these groups, with burials aligned Southwards appearing almost as often within published data (Young Children=MNI 19; Infants=MNI 14).

Although the known-orientation portion of Foetal burials among the sample is quite small, preferred orientation towards the South in this group is noteworthy (MNI 3). The next most frequent burial orientations in this age group almost equal this amount, however, with burials oriented to the West (MNI 2), East and North East (each with MNI 1) also observed. The variability may be explained by the small numbers of comprehensively-published burials for foetuses in the Egyptian archaeological record. Moreover, the lack of age-related data for all individuals recorded as interred with their heads 'Upwards' (MNI 1) or towards the North-West (MNI 11) further highlights the lost opportunities for obtaining accurate demographic distributions of ancient Egyptian mortuary practices.

5.4 Facial Orientation: Overview

Facial orientation was able to be determined for 595 individuals (32.90% TBs) among the sample, while such details were not provided for 1,214 of the CIFs identified by this survey (67.11% TBs; Figure 5.12). For the known-orientation component of the sample, facial orientation towards the East was clearly the most frequent interment position, 461 accounting for a minimum number of 302 individuals (50.76% TKOBs; 16.69% TBs). The next most commonly observed facial orientation, towards the West, presented less than half this number (MNI 119; 20.00% TKOBs; 6.58% TBs). Deviating briefly from cardinal points, burials facing Upwards were next most frequently observed (MNI 60; 10.08% TKOBs; 3.32% TBs), while Northern (MNI 39; 6.55% TKOBs; 2.16% TBs) and Southern-facing interments (MNI 33; 5.55% TKOBs; 1.82% TBs) are the next most common positions among the known-orientation portion of the sample. The ordinal points were the least-frequently observed, with burials recorded facing South-East (MNI 18; 3.03% TKOBs; 1.00% TBs), South-West (MNI 13; 2.18% TKOBs; 0.72% TBs), North-West (MNI 4; 0.67% TKOBs; 0.22% TBs) and North-East (MNI 3; 0.50% TKOBs; 0.17% TBs) collectively only accounting for 6.38% of the burials for which orientation was known (MNI 38; 2.10% TBs). Finally, 4 individuals were reportedly interred facing 'Downwards' (0.67% TKOBs; 0.22% TBs).

5.4.1 Specific Geographical Regions

While interments facing East are the most common among the known-orientation portion of the sample overall, this predominance may be due to focal concentrations in well-published areas rather than a general adherence to a nationally-prescribed funerary culture (Table 5.13). We only see a strong prevalence (\leq 40.00% of regional known-orientation interments) towards Eastern-facing burials in 5 of the 10 regions included in this study, including the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 171), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 30), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 28), Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 16) and Western Nile Delta (MNI 6). On the Western and Eastern Banks of Lower Egypt there is instead a clear prevalence of West-facing burials, with 45 observations pertaining to the West Bank and 24 to the East.

A great deal of variability is observed in all other regions. While a single orientation may present the greatest frequency of burials, it is only by a narrow margin. For example, a

⁴⁶¹ Cf. Zillhardt (2009: 92).

minimum of 8 interments are recorded as facing South in the Dakhla Oasis region, however this figure only slightly outweighs the 7 interments facing West and 5 facing North. A similar situation is observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt where, as aforementioned, a minimum of 30 individuals are reported as buried facing East, only exceeding supine/upwards-facing interments by 2 burials (MNI 28).

Parity is observed in the Faiyum, where the only 2 individuals with published facial orientation data are buried facing completely opposite directions: 1 to the East and 1 to the West. The poor quality of published data is echoed by the situation on the East Bank of Middle Egypt, for which no facial orientation information is available.

5.4.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical distribution, the data is concentrated in one region: Upper Egypt (**Table 5.14**). Here, a minimum of 201 individuals were interred facing East. East-facing interments are also most common in published accounts for Middle Egypt (MNI 29) and the Nile Delta (MNI 22). Burials facing West were most frequently reported in Lower Egypt (MNI 69), while the tightly-contested situation in Dakhla Oasis has already been described above (see §5.4.1).

5.4.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When considered according to Nilotic geography, areas with strongest prevalence of East-facing interments are the East Bank (MNI 181), West Bank (MNI 94) and Nile Delta (MNI 22; **Table 5.15**). In this geographical configuration, regions previously identified for the variability of their known-orientation data emerge once again: parity is observed between Eastern and Western-oriented interments in the Faiyum, and only slight disparity appears between Southern and Western-oriented interments in Dakhla Oasis (see §5.4.1).

5.4.4 Relative Chronology

Facial orientation of the known-position portion of the sample was also considered according to relative chronology (**Table 5.16**). Burials facing West were most commonly recorded in the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 76), 462 while the East prevails as the most frequently observed orientation in the Old Kingdom (MNI 125), First Intermediate Period

⁴⁶² Castillos (1982a: 176; 1982b: 31); Raven (2005: 40).

(MNI 92) and Middle Kingdom (MNI 37).⁴⁶³ However, reflecting the increasing popularity of supine interments in the Middle Kingdom,⁴⁶⁴ one observes that incidences of 'Upwards' facing burials become much more frequent at this time, with the 34 individuals interred in this way almost equalling those facing East.

5.4.5 Site Types

The prevalence of East-facing interments is unquestioned amongst CIF cemetery burials, with 49.75% of the known-orientation component of the sample located in such contexts (MNI 296; **Table 5.17**). The picture is somewhat different for extra-mural interments, as parity is observed between settlement burials facing East and South-West (each with MNI 6). There is far less overall variability reported for settlement interments compared to those in cemeteries, with scattered observations falling between Northern- (MNI 2), Western-, 'Upwards'- and 'Downwards'-facing burials (each with MNI 1). There were no observations of individuals facing North-East, South-East, South or North-West in settlements. Facial orientation data is absent for burials from temple and funerary enclosure contexts.

5.4.6 Age Categories

East-facing burials predominate for the 'Unspecified' (MNI 233), Older Children (MNI 32) and Young Children (MNI 23) among the known-orientation component of the sample (**Table 5.18**). In terms of frequency, more variability is observed among the youngest constituents of the dataset, with parity reached between East- and West-facing Infant interments (each with MNI 13), as well as Foetus burials facing South and West (each have an MNI 3).

5.5 Arm Position: Overview

The position of the deceased's arms within the grave was able to be determined for 503 of the CIFs included in this study (27.81% TBs), while that of the remaining 1,306 individuals is unknown (72.19% TBs; **Figure 5.13**). Upon examining the data, 4 broad categories of arm-arrangements became apparent, including 'flexed' (forearm flexed at the elbow at an angle of $<90^{\circ}$ relative to the upper arm), 'semi-flexed' (forearm at full extension

⁴⁶³ Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁶⁴ See §5.2.4

at the elbow at an angle of ~180° relative to the upper arm), and 'combination' (where the each of the deceased's arms were positioned in different ways; for example, the left arm was flexed while the right arm was extended). Of the known-position portion of the sample, arms were most frequently reported as flexed (MNI 302; 60.04% total known-position burials, henceforth, *TKPBs*; 16.69% TBs). With less than half the number of incidences, extended arms were the next most commonly observed position amongst published data (MNI 116; 23.06% TKPBs; 6.41% TBs). The remaining two position categories were almost equally represented, with arms in semi-flexed arrangement recorded for a minimum of 45 individuals (8.95% TKPBs; 2.49% TBs), while the arm position of 40 individuals fell into the 'combination' category (7.95% TKPBs; 2.21% TBs).

5.5.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The flexed arm position was predominant in 7 of the 10 productive regions included in this study, including the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 105), West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 56), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 44), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 48), Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23), East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 17) and Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 8; **Table 5.19**; **Figure 5.14**). Extended arms were most frequently observed for the Western Nile Delta (MNI 5), while equal observations were made of semi-flexed and extended arms in the Faiyum (each with MNI 1). There was an absence of published data regarding the arm positions of deceased CIFs in the East Bank of Middle Egypt region.

5.5.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to general geographical regions, the predominance of the flexed arm position is straightforward (**Table 5.20**; **Figure 5.15**). Upper Egypt (MNI 153), Lower Egypt (MNI 73), Middle Egypt (MNI 44) and Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23) all feature flexed arms most frequently amongst their published data. While flexed arms are also most numerous in the Nile Delta (MNI 9), we see here an almost equal incidence of extended arms amongst the known-position component of this region's archaeological record (MNI 7). It should be noted that extended arms are also strongly represented in Upper Egypt (MNI 96).

⁴⁶⁵ For example, see DRN 1120.

5.5.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

In terms of arm positions in Nilotic geographical regions (**Table 5.21**; **Figure 5.16**), prevalence of flexed arm interments is observed amongst the published data of the West Bank (MNI 148), East Bank (MNI 122) and Dakhla Oasis regions (MNI 23). As described, above, the predominance of flexed arm burials in the Nile Delta is almost equalled by those presenting an extended position. The results offered for the Faiyum (parity between extended and semi-flexed arm positions; see §5.5.1) are undoubtedly due to the quality and quantity of available publications for this region.

5.5.4 Relative Chronology

As has been noted for contemporary adult burials, 466 the flexed arm position dominates from the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 107) through to the Old Kingdom (MNI 117) and First Intermediate Period (MNI 56; **Table 5.22**; **Figure 5.17**). During the latter period however, a substantial proportional increase in the number of extended arm interments is observed (MNI 39). Reflecting the developments reported for adult mortuary culture, 467 the extended position obtains prevalence in the Middle Kingdom, observed for a minimum of 49 children within the sample.

5.5.5 Site Types

Published cemetery data reveals flexed arms as the most frequently employed interment arrangement for known-position CIFBs in this context (MNI 300; Table 5.23; Figure 5.18). The number of flexed arm cemetery burials is more than 2.5 times the next most frequent interment position of extended arms (MNI 114). The situation is not quite as straightforward amongst settlement burials, with an equal number of flexed and extended arm interments observed amongst published data (each have MNI 2). This amount is almost equalled by the single representation of an individual buried with semi-flexed arms (MNI 1), again demonstrating the difficulties of making worthy analyses of such small amounts of data. The arm positions of the individuals buried in temple and funerary enclosure contexts among the sample are not known.

467 Grajetzki (2003: 54); Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁶⁶ Reisner (1936: 12); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 7, 15); Raven (2005: 40).

5.5.6 Age Categories

When considered in terms of age categories, the flexed arm position dominates in every group among the sample by a minimum factor of 2.2 times the next most frequently observed position in each category: from Foetuses (MNI 14), Infants (MNI 25), Young Children (MNI 35) and Older Children (MNI 31), through to individuals of Unspecified age (MNI 197; **Table 5.24**; **Figure 5.19**). The closest any other position comes to challenging the prevalence of flexed arm burials are extended arms amongst the Unspecified age category (MNI 89). One can only speculate as to how more detailed information may affect our perceptions of this important aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour.

5.6 Leg Position: Overview

Detailed information regarding *in-situ* leg positions was available for 531 CIFBs amongst the sample (29.35% TBs). Such information was lacking for the remaining 1,278 individuals identified by the survey (70.45% TBs; **Figure 5.20**). Three categories of leg arrangements were observed among the known-position portion of the sample, including 'flexed' (lower leg flexed at the knee at an angle of $<90^{\circ}$ relative to the thigh), 'semiflexed' (lower leg at full extension at the knee at an angle of $\sim180^{\circ}$ relative to the thigh). The majority of individuals in the dataset were interred with their legs in a flexed position (MNI 319; 60.08% TKPBs; 17.63% TBs), more than 2.5 times the next most frequently observed position of legs extended in the grave (MNI 122; 22.98% TKPBs; 6.74% TBs). The remainder of the known-position component of the sample were interred with their legs in a semi-flexed arrangement (MNI 90; 16.95% TKPBs; 4.98% TBs).

5.6.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Seven of the 10 specific regions included in this study feature flexed leg positions most frequently among their published data, including the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 109), West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 64), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 52), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 46), Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23), East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 17) and the Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 7; **Table 5.25**; **Figure 5.21**). Extended leg interments were most frequently observed among the published archaeological record of the Western Nile Delta (MNI 5) and the Faiyum (MNI 3). It should be noted that extended

leg interments were also well-represented on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 43), while the East Bank of Upper Egypt also featured high frequencies of semi-flexed (MNI 61) and extended burials (MNI 53). No information was available regarding the leg positions of interments for the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

5.6.2 General Geographical Regions

Flexed leg interments dominate in 4 of the 5 general geographical regions canvassed by this study. Upper Egypt (MNI 161), Lower Egypt (MNI 81), Middle Egypt (MNI 46) and Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23; **Table 5.26**; **Figure 5.22**) all feature the majority of their known-position CIFBs interred in this way. Parity is observed between flexed and extended leg burials in the Nile Delta (each with MNI 8), while the strong Upper Egyptian representations of extended (MNI 96) and semi-flexed leg burials (MNI 71) are also noteworthy.

5.6.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When viewed according to distribution in Nilotic geographical regions, flexed leg interments continue to predominate amongst the sample (**Table 5.27**; **Figure 5.23**). Child, infant and foetal interments across the West Bank (MNI 162), East Bank (MNI 126), and Dakhla Oasis (MNI 23) are predominantly buried in this manner. As aforementioned, extended burials were most frequently observed amongst published Faiyum data (see §5.6.1), whilst equal numbers of flexed and extended leg burials were reported for the Nile Delta (see §5.6.2).

5.6.4 Relative Chronology

Among the known-position portion of the sample, flexed leg arrangements were most frequently observed for Early Dynastic (MNI 119) and Old Kingdom juvenile burials (MNI 119; **Table 5.28**; **Figure 5.24**), once again mirroring the prevailing interment trends for adults during these periods. While flexed legs still present as the most frequent burial position for children during the First Intermediate Period (MNI 56), at this time a marked increase in extended position interments is also noted for both children (MNI 36) and adults. Reflecting the aforementioned trends towards supine, upwards-facing interments in the Middle Kingdom, the shift to predominance of extended leg juvenile

⁴⁶⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 15, 37); Raven (2005: 40).

⁴⁶⁸ Reisner (1936: 12); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 7, 15); Raven (2005: 40).

burials is completed by this period (MNI 58), corresponding with broader contemporary patterns reported for adults. 470

5.6.5 Site Types

Flexed leg burials form the preponderance of known-position burials in both cemetery and settlement contexts (**Table 5.29**; **Figure 5.25**). A minimum of 314 flexed leg burials were reported amongst published cemetery data, more than 2.5 times the number of extended leg burials (MNI 121), and more than 3.5 times the number of semi-flexed leg burials (MNI 89). Amongst the very small portion of known-position CIF settlement burials, only flexed leg interments register more than single observations (MNI 5). Unfortunately, leg positions were not published for either the temple or funerary enclosure burials included in this study.

5.6.6 Age Categories

Flexed legs are the dominant interment position for every age category included in this study (**Table 5.30**; **Figure 5.26**). Foetuses (MNI 14), Infants (MNI 33), Young Children (MNI 38), Older Children (MNI 34) and Unspecified age groups (MNI 200) each feature at least twice the number of flexed leg burials than the next most common interment position: extended legs. These are second most frequently recorded among the sample for every age group except Foetuses, where a single semi-flexed burial is the only other recorded position (MNI 1).

5.7 Summary

This chapter has presented the nature and scope of CIF bodily positions and orientations during the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom periods. The data was derived from the archaeological survey of all available published data pertaining to this timeframe, supplemented by unpublished material from the ACE Helwan Project. Significantly, the results suggest that the burials of CIFs conformed to the same position and orientation trends as observed for contemporary adult interments. Overall, the well-known chronological trends towards bodily placement on the left side, head to the South, facing West, dominated in the Early Dynastic Period. Thereafter, a gradual shift towards Northern-oriented supine burials commenced in the Old Kingdom, increased through the First Intermediate Period and emerged as the most common interment arrangement in the

⁴⁷⁰ Grajetzki (2003: 54); Raven (2005: 40).

Middle Kingdom. Similarly, the limb placement of CIFs also demonstrated broad agreement with synchronic adult mortuary behaviour, as flexed arm and leg interments were seen to predominate through the Early Dynastic era through to the First Intermediate Period. At this time, reflecting the aforementioned shift towards supine interments, a gradual proportional increase was observed in extended-position interments, which eventually eclipsed flexed burials in the Middle Kingdom. All age categories in the sample generally followed these distribution patterns, with the exception of Foetuses, who were mainly buried on their right side, oriented towards the South. These results, however, should be viewed with caution as the publication rates for Foetal bodily positions were extremely low.

Broadly speaking, the position and orientation trends observed in cemetery and settlement contexts reflected the broad patterns reported for the sample. While these findings indicate that this aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour was honoured regardless of interment fora, they should nonetheless be viewed with caution. The numbers of known-position and -orientation burials in settlements were very low, and there was no position or orientation data available for temple or funerary enclosure burials, whatsoever.

While these results represent the most common bodily positions and orientations among the dataset, it must be noted that much variability was observed in all regions, periods, site types and age categories canvassed by this study. It thus appears that those responsible for orchestrating the burials of CIFs were privy to a certain degree of freedom to choose how to commit their deceased child/community member's body to the earth. What is also apparent are the poor reporting standards regarding this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour, with tomb condition not reported in >50% of all published burials, and bodily completion and articulation statuses each not reported in >70% of all published burials, respectively. One should also consider the degree to which the data may be biased by scholarly prioritisation of excavation and publication in certain regions, as noted in previous chapters. Hints towards regional variability in all results categories suggest that further scholarly activities in some of the lesser-represented regions may divulge clearer articulations of cultural diversity across the Egyptian mortuary landscape.

Despite these inherent challenges, the findings presented by this research are substantial enough to be considered representative of the broad trends present in Egyptian mortuary culture within the timeframe addressed by the study. These trends, which appear to mirror

those observed among contemporary adult burials, will be subject to qualitative analyses in Chapter 10 of this thesis.

CHAPTER 6: BODILY TREATMENT

Chapter 1 of this thesis addressed the central axiom of mortuary behaviour, namely, that the dead do not bury themselves. 471 With this in mind, the present study is concerned with exploring what the funereal treatment of children, infants and foetuses in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt reveals about their position, value and agency within their communities, as expressed by those orchestrating their burial. Considering that the body is the means by which so much of an individual's lived experience within a community is facilitated, negotiated, embodied and maintained, 472 poignant expressions of the deceased's cultural capacities are often manifested via their bodily treatment in death. In order to determine the nature and scope of child, infant and foetal bodily treatments during the chronological periods canvassed by this research, data derived from the archaeological survey described in §1.4.4 was analysed for evidence of corporeal engagement; including the provision of wrapping, bedding and coffins, as well as the application of mummification techniques and other topical treatments. In adherence with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research and its respective theoretical considerations are presented below. Qualitative analyses will be undertaken in Chapter 10.

6.1 Overview

An array of mortuary treatment was found to have been applied to the bodies of CIFs within the sample. Evidence for direct corporeal engagement was published for 115 individuals (6.36% TBs; **Figure 6.1**). Further to this, it was established that 992 individuals had no published indications of bodily treatment (54.84% TBs). The treatment status of 10 individuals among the sample was unclear (0.55% TBs), while that of 692 individuals was not known (38.25% TBs). The present study only reports results for the 115 individuals for which evidence of bodily treatment was published in a concise manner.

In addition to these statistics, published data indicates that a minimum of 746 children, infants and foetuses were provided with some form of bodily container (coffin) within the grave (41.23% TBs; **Figure 6.2**), while 510 individuals had no evidence of funerary containers, whatsoever (28.19% TBs). The status of 45 individuals was unclear regarding

⁴⁷¹ Parker Pearson (2003: 3).

⁴⁷² Meskell (1999b: 38); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1105); Preucel & Meskell (2007: 10).

coffins (2.49% TBs), and no information was published regarding the presence or absence of receptacles for 508 individuals (28.08% TBs). The present study only reports results of the 746 individuals for which clear evidence of funerary containers was published.

Further to the archaeological survey described above, CIF bodily treatments may be categorised and enumerated as follows: 80 observations of wrapping, 43 observations of bedding, 8 observations of 'mummification', 473 5 observations of topical bodily applications and, as aforementioned, 746 observations of bodily containers (coffins). It is apparent that many CIFs received more than one form of corporeal intervention at or before the time of burial. As such, bodily treatments encountered among the sample were counted by individual occurrences. For example, an individual may have been wrapped in textile and subsequently placed in a wooden coffin: 474 each of these incidences was counted once. Each bodily treatment category is discussed in further detail, below.

6.2 Wrapping

To be eligible for inclusion in this category, an excavator must have explicitly described a body as having been "wrapped"; that is, the body was observed as completely encircled by a material/s, or there was sufficient evidence to indicate that the body was wrapped in its primary context prior to subsequent post-depositional intervention or decomposition. Of the 80 observations of wrapping amongst the sample, 46 consisted of reed matting (57.50% total wrapping, henceforth, TW), 29 of textile (36.25% TW), 2 of animal skin (2.5% TW) and 1 each of rope matting, gold sheet and an unknown material (each 1.25% TW; Figure 6.3). Two individuals were observed to have more than one wrapping treatment applied to their bodies. Incidences of wrapping materials are further described, below. Materials of ≥ 11 published examples are described as a group, while individual cases are described for wrapping materials of ≤ 10 published examples.

6.2.1 Wrapping in Reed Matting

As aforementioned, 46 CIFs were observed to be wrapped in reed matting as part of their mortuary treatment. Reed mat wrapping was attested for adults from the Predynastic

⁴⁷³ *Contra* Spieser (2008: 533).

⁴⁷⁴ For example, see DRN 49; *cf.* §6.8, below.

If an excavator recorded the presence of reed matting above and below the body but did not describe it as a continuous unit, it was included in the "Bedding" category of bodily treatment; see §6.3.1, below.

Here, this author is reliant upon excavators' descriptions of 'reed matting'. It is acknowledged that it is often difficult to distinguish between various types of reeds and papyrus.

period and continued throughout pharaonic history.⁴⁷⁷ Incidences of CIF wrapping in reed matting may be further described according to their manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

6.2.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The West Bank of Middle Egypt features the most frequent accounts of CIF reed mat wrapping amongst published data, with a minimum of 19 individuals reportedly receiving this form of mortuary treatment (**Table 6.1**; **Figure 6.4**). The Eastern Nile Delta featured the next most frequent observations (MNI 8), followed by the West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 6). A minimum of 4 individuals were wrapped in reed matting in both Dakhla Oasis and the East Bank of Upper Egypt, while the West Bank of Upper Egypt featured 3 observations of this treatment. The Eastern Banks of Lower and Middle Egypt were restricted to singular incidences, while the Western Nile Delta and Faiyum presented no published examples of CIFs wrapped in reed matting.

6.2.1.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to distribution in general geographical regions, Middle Egypt features the most published examples of CIFs wrapped in reed matting (MNI 20; **Table 6.2**; **Figure 6.5**). The Nile Delta features the second most frequent observations of this phenomenon (MNI 8), followed by equal observations for Lower and Upper Egypt (MNI 7). Dakhla Oasis presented 4 examples amongst published data.

6.2.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised according to distributions across Nilotic geographical regions, observations of CIFs wrapped in reed matting proliferate on the West Bank (MNI 28; **Table 6.3**; **Figure 6.6**). The Nile Delta again features the second most frequent published examples of this form of mortuary treatment (MNI 8), followed closely by 6 observations on the East Bank. With 4 observations, Dakhla Oasis is the fourth most numerous region for published examples of wrapping in reed matting, while the Faiyum features no published instances of this practice.

⁴⁷⁷ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 155); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 3, 25).

6.2.1.4 Relative Chronology

Old Kingdom examples predominate amongst the sample, with a minimum of 17 individuals buried in this period reportedly receiving this form of mortuary treatment (**Table 6.4**; **Figure 6.7**). This result is followed closely by equal observations of wrapping in reed matting amongst the published record of the Early Dynastic and Middle Kingdom Periods, each featuring a minimum of 12 examples. The First Intermediate Period is least attested for this phenomenon, with only 5 individuals recorded as receiving this bodily treatment.

6.2.1.5 Site Types

When organised according to site types, the clear majority of CIFs wrapped in reed matting were buried in cemetery contexts (MNI 41; **Table 6.5**; **Figure 6.8**). By contrast, only 5 of the individuals interred in settlements were reported to have received this form of mortuary treatment. No observations of wrapping in reed matting were recorded amongst published data for those individuals interred in either temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

6.2.1.6 Age Categories

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, 8 Young Children were observed to be wrapped in reed matting for burial (**Table 6.6**; **Figure 6.9**). This number was followed closely by those in the Infants category, with 7 individuals amongst this age group also receiving this form of bodily treatment. According to published data, this phenomenon was observed for 4 Older Children, while the body of 1 Foetus was reportedly treated in this way. Unfortunately, ages of the majority of children subject to this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour were not specified amongst published data (MNI 26).

6.2.2 Wrapping in Textile

As aforementioned, 29 CIFs amongst the sample were wrapped in textile as part of their mortuary treatment. As for reed matting, bodily wrapping in textile was attested in adult burials from the Predynastic Period, 478 continuing onwards throughout the entire pharaonic era. 479 It should be noted that the true incidence of CIF textile wrapping is probably greater than that reported here. In at least 5 cases it was impossible to decipher the handwriting of W. M. F. Petrie in the "Clothing/Textile" section of his tomb cards,

⁴⁷⁸ Jones (2008: 117).

⁴⁷⁹ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 155).

obscuring potential identification of further examples of this form of bodily treatment.⁴⁸⁰ The illegibility of Petrie's script is noted elsewhere in the sample and the scope of its potential impact on this study will be further discussed in Chapter 10. Notwithstanding Petrie's palaeography, the known-incidences of bodily wrapping in textile may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

6.2.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

According to published data, it appears that the practice of wrapping CIFs in textile is far less widespread than reed matting, with observations restricted to 5 of the 10 specific geographical regions included in this study (**Table 6.1**; **Figure 6.10**). The most numerous accounts of textile wrapping may be observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with a minimum of 10 individuals reportedly treated in this way. The East Bank of Upper Egypt and the West Bank of Middle Egypt follow closely, with each presenting a minimum of 9 and 8 examples of textile wrapping, respectively. Singular examples of this phenomenon were observed amongst published data of the Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis. There were no observations of CIFs wrapped in textile among the published records of any sites in the Nile Delta, Lower Egypt or the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

6.2.2.2 General Geographical Regions

The concentration of data noted above is also observed in general geographical distributions (**Table 6.2**; **Figure 6.11**). Here, we see data focused in the Southern and central portions of the country, with an outlier appearing in the Western region of Dakhla Oasis (MNI 1). Upper Egypt clearly features the preponderance of published CIF textile-wrapping, with 19 examples derived from this region. Observations of this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour also precipitate from the published record of Middle Egypt, with 9 individuals reportedly treated in this way. There are no published examples of CIFs wrapped in textiles in the Nile Delta or Lower Egypt.

6.2.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

Arranging the data according to Nilotic geographical regions reveals a slightly more balanced outcome (**Table 6.3**; **Figure 6.12**). According to this configuration, 18 incidences of CIF bodily wrapping in textile may be attributed to the West Bank, while 9

⁴⁸⁰ See DRNs 408-410, 414, 1145; Petrie (2000: sheets 236, 14).

were observed amongst the published data of the East Bank. As noted in §6.2.2.1, the Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis each feature singular examples, while no observations were made among the published records of the Nile Delta.

6.2.2.4 Relative Chronology

The highest frequency of bodily wrapping in textile was observed amongst the published data of the Middle Kingdom (**Table 6.4**; **Figure 6.13**). During this period, a minimum of 15 CIFs were subject to this mortuary practice, more than twice the number observed for the next most frequent occurrence of 7 individuals during the Old Kingdom. Between these eras, the number of recorded textile-wrapped CIFs drops to 5 individuals during the First Intermediate Period. The fewest observations of this phenomenon are associated with the published data of the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 2).

6.2.2.5 Site Types

The majority of CIFs subject to bodily wrapping in textile were buried within communal cemeteries (**Table 6.5**; **Figure 6.14**). A minimum of 24 individuals interred in such extramural contexts are reported to have received this form of mortuary treatment. Alternatively, a minimum of 5 individuals located in intra-mural contexts were also subject to this treatment at or before the time of burial. No observations of wrapping in textile were recorded amongst published data for those individuals interred in either temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

6.2.2.6 Age Categories

Considering the proportional appearance of the various known-age categories amongst the sample, ⁴⁸¹ the distribution of textile-wrapping may be said to be fairly balanced (**Table 6.6**; **Figure 6.15**). Amongst the known-age categories, 7 individuals from both Infant and Young Child age groups were reportedly subject to this form of mortuary treatment. Four Older Children amongst the sample were observed to be wrapped in textile, as was one Foetus. Unfortunately, the ages of many CIFs treated in this way remain unknown (MNI 10).

⁴⁸¹ See §4.1.1–4.1.2.

6.2.3 Wrapping in Animal Skin

Both incidences of wrapping in animal skin were observed in cemetery contexts. The first, DRN 1299, was attributed to the Early Dynastic site of Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. This was the intact burial of an 8 year old child in a pit grave, furnished with 3 grave goods. The second burial, DRN 1091, took place at the Old Kingdom site of el-Hemmamiya on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. This 1–2 year old child had also been wrapped in textile beneath the animal skin before being wholly placed into a ceramic vessel and interred in a pit grave, the condition of which is unknown. No grave goods were recorded for this burial. These findings expand the currently-accepted attestations of this form of bodily treatment which, for adults, are thought to have been limited to the Predynastic Period, with the singular exception of the New Kingdom burial of 'Man E', who was retrieved from the Deir el-Bahari cache wrapped in a sheep skin. 484

6.2.4 Wrapping in Rope Matting

An infant buried in the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, DRN 371, was the only individual amongst the sample to be wrapped in rope matting.⁴⁸⁵ This infant was subject to 2 acts of corporeal treatment – its body was also wrapped in reed matting. The condition of this pit grave was not reported, nor was the presence of any grave goods.

6.2.5 Wrapping in Gold Sheet

The only incidence of wrapping in a gold sheet, DRN 1389, was observed in the Old Kingdom royal cemetery at Giza on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. This author is unable to determine any parallels to this form of bodily treatment. This 12 year old child was the single occupant of a limestone-constructed mastaba which abutted the Northern mastaba wall of Prince Kai. In addition to gold sheeting, the child's body was adorned with 2 necklaces and 1 belt. Although the condition of the burial is not explicitly

⁴⁸² Macramallah (1940: 35); Castillos (1976: i-xii); Kaiser (1985: 45-60).

⁴⁸³ Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 89).

⁴⁸⁴ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 154).

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. vi).

Hassan (1941: 240-243) states that "fragments of thin sheet-gold" seemed to "[form] one sheet in which the skeleton was wrapped." According to Hassan's description, the sheet-gold appears to lie directly on top of and underneath the body. This description minimises the possibility that the gold foil was originally clad to the exterior coffin walls.

⁴⁸⁷ See GGRNs 2848-2849.

⁴⁸⁸ See GGRN 2850.

stated by the excavator, the presence of these aforementioned bodily adornments, as well as a funerary assemblage of 90 copper tools, vessels, implements and weapons suggests it was intact.⁴⁸⁹ The opulent nature and scope of this burial have caused the excavator to speculate that the occupant was a member of the royal family.⁴⁹⁰

6.2.6 Wrapping in Multiple Materials

Of the 2 individuals observed to have been wrapped in multiple materials, both were located in pit burials of unknown condition within cemetery contexts pertaining to the Old Kingdom. The burial of 1 individual may be attributed to the site of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt (DRN 371).⁴⁹¹ This infant was wrapped in both reed matting and rope matting at or before the time of burial. No grave goods are recorded for this individual.

The second interment was observed amongst the published records of el-Hemmamiya, located on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (DRN 1091).⁴⁹² The body of this 1 to 2 year old child was wrapped in both textile and animal (goat) skin, then further protected via placement within a ceramic vessel of coarse, red pottery. No grave goods were listed accompanying this burial.

6.3 Bedding

To be eligible for inclusion in this category, an excavator must have explicitly described a child, infant or foetus' body as having been in direct contact with one or more material: either above and/or below the body in its primary context prior to subsequent post-depositional intervention or decomposition, but not encircling or enveloping the body as was the criterion for "wrapping" (see §6.2, above). Of the 45 observations of bedding amongst the sample, 16 consisted of reed matting (35.56% total bedding; henceforth *TBG*), 7 of textile wadding or padding (15.56% TBG), 5 of each of reeds and ash (each 11.11% TBG), 4 of wooden boards (8.89% TBG), 3 of sticks (6.67% TBG), 2 of sand (4.45% TBG) and 1 each of rope matting, straw and stone (each 2.23% TBG; Figure 6.16). Six individuals were observed to have more than one bedding treatment applied to their bodies. Incidences of bedding materials are further described, below. Materials of ≥11 published

⁴⁸⁹ See GGRN 2852.

⁴⁹⁰ Hassan (1941: 240).

⁴⁹¹ Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. vi).

⁴⁹² See also §6.2.3. Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 89).

examples are described as a group, while individual cases are described for bedding materials of ≤ 10 published examples.

6.3.1 Bedding in/on Reed Matting

As aforementioned, 16 CIFs amongst the sample were placed on and/or under a bed of reed matting as part of their mortuary treatment. These known-incidences of bedding in reed matting may be further described according to their manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

6.3.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The most frequent observations of bedding in reed matting may be attributed to the West Bank of Middle Egypt (**Table 6.7**; **Figure 6.17**). Here, a minimum of 7 CIFs received this form of mortuary treatment at the time of burial. The West Bank of Lower Egypt presented the next most numerous account of this phenomenon, with a minimum of 4 individuals reportedly treated in this way. Three examples were cited for the West Bank of Upper Egypt, while singular observations of bedding in reed matting were recorded for the Eastern Nile Delta and East Bank of Upper Egypt. The Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis featured no published examples of reed mat bedding.

6.3.1.2 General Geographical Regions

Published data for reed mat bedding is concentrated in 4 of the 5 general geographical regions included in this study (**Table 6.8**; **Figure 6.18**). Middle Egypt accounts for the greatest proportion of evidence, with 7 individuals reportedly subject to this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour. Equal representations were observed for Lower and Upper Egypt (each with MNI 4). One example of this phenomenon was observed in the Nile Delta, while there were no observations of reed mat bedding amongst the published records of Dakhla Oasis.

6.3.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When assembled according to Nilotic geographical distribution, the data congregates in 3 of the 5 regions canvassed by this study (**Table 6.9**; **Figure 6.19**). The West Bank predominates with 14 CIFs receiving reed mat bedding. This result eclipses the single

observations attributed to the Nile Delta and East Bank regions. As mentioned in §6.3.1.1, the Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions featured no published examples of reed mat bedding.

6.3.1.4 Relative Chronology

A strong pattern of diminution is observed when the data is organised according to chronological parameters (**Table 6.10**; **Figure 6.20**). There is a preponderance of evidence in the Early Dynastic period, with 9 individuals reportedly embedded in reed matting at this time. This is closely followed by the Old Kingdom, with 6 individuals recorded as receiving similar funerary treatment. A substantial decrease is observed in recorded incidences pertaining to the First Intermediate Period, with this treatment reported for only 1 individual during this phase. Following this declining trend, there are no recorded examples of reed mat bedding amongst published Middle Kingdom data.

6.3.1.5 Site Types

All 16 incidences of reed mat bedding for CIFBs are ascribed to cemetery contexts (**Table 6.11**; **Figure 4.21**). This aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour was absent from all published accounts of CIF settlement, temple and funerary enclosure burials included in this study.

6.3.1.6 Age Categories

Unfortunately, specific ages are unknown for the majority of CIFBs interred with reed mat bedding (MNI 10; **Table 6.12**; **Figure 4.22**). Of the known-age component of the sample, 4 Young Children and 2 Older Children were recorded as receiving this type of mortuary treatment. There was no published evidence to indicate that reed mat bedding was provided for any Infants or Foetuses amongst the sample.

6.3.2 Bedding in/on Textile Wadding/Padding

All 7 instances of textile wadding/padding used as bedding materials for CIFBs are located in cemetery contexts (**Tables 6.7–6.12**). Of these, 3 pertain to the West Bank of Lower Egypt, 2 to the West Bank of Middle Egypt, and singular observations derive from the published data of both the East Bank of Upper Egypt and Dakhla Oasis.

Two of the burials with textile wadding/padding as grave-bedding are dated to the Early Dynastic Period. The first, DRN 633, is that of a child of unspecified age from an intact

pit burial in Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank, Upper Egypt. ⁴⁹³ This child received 2 types of bedding in the form of textile wadding/padding and placement upon a wooden board. The burial was also furnished with a minimum of 4 grave goods: a red-polished ceramic vessel, 2 alabaster vessels, and an unspecified quantity of jewellery (carnelian and garnet beads). ⁴⁹⁴ The second, DRN 1135, is that of an infant interred in a wooden coffin alongside an adult individual of unknown sex. ⁴⁹⁵ This multiple burial was observed in a staircase tomb of unknown condition in Saqqara on the West Bank, Lower Egypt. The tomb featured a mudbrick wall and separate burial chamber on the East. Linen wadding was found directly underneath the coffin lid, on top of both bodies. It is not known if any grave goods were associated with this burial.

A further 2 burials may be dated to the Old Kingdom. Both are observed in the cemetery of Kafr Ammar, on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, in intact shaft graves with burial chambers on the West. The first, DRN 411, was of a child of unspecified age interred in a papyrus coffin with a linen pad placed over the body. Grave goods may have been provided for this burial but unfortunately Petrie's handwriting regarding such details is illegible. The second, DRN 417, was also a child of unspecified age placed in a wooden coffin with a linen pad underneath the body. The coffin is painted with 2 eyes on the Eastern side at the Northern end. The child was also provided with a headrest of unknown material. The quality of Petrie's script obscures further information about this burial.

The only burial of the First Intermediate Period to feature textile wadding/padding as grave-bedding is from the site of Balat in the Dakhla Oasis region. This foetus burial, DRN 882, was one of a number of pit burials of unknown condition adjacent to the Western wall of the mastaba of Ima-Pepi. The foetus had been placed within a ceramic vessel, the mouth of which had been broken to admit the body. A quantity of linen had been placed between the vessel wall and the foetus' body in an act of "protection". No grave goods are thought to be associated with this burial.

⁴⁹³ Reisner (1908: 86-87).

⁴⁹⁴ See GGRNs 1221-1224.

⁴⁹⁵ Quibell (1923: 11).

⁴⁹⁶ Petrie (2000: sheet 236).

⁴⁹⁷ Petrie (2000: sheet 236).

⁴⁹⁸ See GGRN 747.

⁴⁹⁹ Minault-Gout (1992: 52).

⁵⁰⁰ Minault-Gout (1992: 52).

The final 2 burials within this category may be dated to the Middle Kingdom. Both were intact multiple-roomed subterranean tombs identified amongst the published data of Kafr Tarkhan on the West Bank, Lower Egypt. The first, DRN 1386, was of a young child in a multiple burial context with 3 adult females. The child was buried in a box stuccoed inside and out and painted red. As well as containing the child's body, the box was packed with linen. It is possible that grave goods were also placed inside the box but Petrie's illegible handwriting obfuscates these details. The second Old Kingdom burial, DRN 1387, was of an infant in a multiple burial context with 2 adults: 1 female and 1 of unknown sex. This infant's body was also placed in a box packed with linen, accompanied by 2 beads: 1 carnelian and 1 of unknown material. So

6.3.3 Bedding in/on Reeds

Of the 5 burials observed to feature reed bedding amongst the sample, 2 are dated to the Old Kingdom, while 3 pertain to the Middle Kingdom (Tables 6.7–6.12). Both Old Kingdom burials were located in cemetery contexts. The first, DRN 342, was the pit burial of a child of unspecified age in an unknown condition at the site of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. This child was actually the recipient of 2 forms of bedding: reeds were placed underneath the body while reed matting was placed on top of the corpse. An unspecified quantity of coarse clothing constituted the child's mortuary assemblage. The second Old Kingdom burial, DRN 503, was located amongst published data for the site of Mostagedda on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. This was the 'unregistered' burial of a 12 year old child; the only description afforded by Brunton was that reeds had been placed on top of the body.

All 3 Middle Kingdom interments in this category were intact pit burials within the settlement of Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt. ⁵⁰⁷ Each of these individuals, DRNs 104 (an infant), 106 (a young child) and 107 (an infant) received similar mortuary treatment: their bodies were all wrapped in textile (7 layers in the case of DRN 106) before being laid upon a bed of reeds, underneath which had been placed a layer of ash. Of the 3 burials, only DRN 106 is described as having associated grave goods

⁵⁰¹ Petrie (2000: sheet 17); Grajetzki (2004a: 47).

⁵⁰² Petrie (2000: sheet 17); Grajetzki (2004a: 47).

⁵⁰³ See GGRN 2847.

⁵⁰⁴ Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. iv).

⁵⁰⁵ See GGRN 672.

⁵⁰⁶ Brunton (1937: 96).

von Pilgrim (1996).

(various faience, carnelian and bone beads, pendants and knotted cords),⁵⁰⁸ while the grave of DRN 107 appears to have been covered and possibly marked with a large flat piece of sandstone and 2 grind-stones.⁵⁰⁹

6.3.4 Bedding in/on Ash

The placement of ash within graves has often been interpreted as an act of protection on behalf of those orchestrating burials, as ash is believed to have been used as an insecticide in ancient Egypt. Of the 5 CIFs within this sample known to have been placed on a bed of ash (**Tables 6.7–6.12**), 3 have already been described in §6.3.3, above, due to the fact that their graves were also bedded with reeds. These three individuals, DRNs 104, 106 and 107, were all located within the Middle Kingdom settlement on Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt. The remaining 2 individuals were interred in pit burials of unknown condition in the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. Very little information is provided for the first individual, DRN 353, merely that it was a child of unspecified age placed on a layer of ash within its grave. No grave goods were described for this burial. The second Old Kingdom burial, DRN 348, was that of a 1.5–2 year old child whose bodily treatment consisted of both wrapping in reed matting and placement upon a layer of ash. No grave goods were attributed to this burial, either.

6.3.5 Bedding in/on Wooden Boards

A minimum of 4 individuals amongst the sample were provided with wooden boards as grave-bedding (**Tables 6.7–6.12**). All incidences of wooden board bedding were observed in pit burials within cemetery contexts. The burials of 3 individuals may be dated to the Early Dynastic Period, while the remaining burial occurred during the Old Kingdom. Each of the Early Dynastic burials were identified in different locations. The first, DRN 1300, was the intact burial of a 12 year old child at Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, whose body was wrapped in reed matting as well as placed on a wooden board. The child was also supplied with an array of grave goods: 3 ceramic cylinder vessels, 2

⁵⁰⁸ See GGRN 305.

⁵⁰⁹ von Pilgrim (1996: 91).

Miller (1987: 14ff.). Ash has also been observed in pot burials across cultures during the Early Bronze Age; Bacvarov (2008b: 65).

⁵¹¹ von Pilgrim (1996: 91); see fns. 507-509, above.

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. v).

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. v).

⁵¹⁴ Macramallah (1940: 44); Castillos (1976: i-xii); Kaiser (1985: 45-60).

alabaster bowls, 1 breccia bowl and a limestone dish.⁵¹⁵ The second, DRN 1322, was the disturbed burial of a child of unspecified age at the site of Kafr Tarkhan, also on the West Bank of Lower Egypt.⁵¹⁶ Placement on a wooden board was the only bodily treatment described for this child. The burial was also furnished with 4 ceramic vessels.⁵¹⁷ The final Early Dynastic burial, DRN 633, was the intact burial of a child of unspecified age at Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Details of this burial have already been described in §6.3.2, above, owing to the fact that this child's bedding consisted of textile wadding/padding as well as a wooden board.⁵¹⁸

The Old Kingdom burial, DRN 362, was that of a child of unspecified age in el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt.⁵¹⁹ Apart from describing the provision of a wooden board as grave bedding, very little information is provided for this burial. No grave goods were associated with this interment.

6.3.6 Bedding in/on Sticks

While all 3 examples of stick bedding within the sample are attributed to cemetery contexts, incidences of this aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary treatment are broadly chronologically dispersed (Tables 6.7–6.12). Single individuals represent this phenomenon from Old Kingdom, First Intermediate Period and Middle Kingdom phases. The Old Kingdom example, DRN 349, was a pit burial of unknown condition belonging to a 9 year old child at el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. This individual was the recipient of 2 forms of bodily treatment: after being placed on a bed of sticks, their body was covered by a reed mat. No grave goods were recorded for this burial. The First Intermediate Period burial, DRN 261, was an intact shaft grave of a child of unspecified age at the site of Matmar on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. This child had sticks placed on top of their body, and was also supplied with 2 faience amulets. The Middle Kingdom burial, DRN 490, was also an intact shaft grave of a child of unspecified age on

⁵¹⁵ See GGRNs 2657-2661.

⁵¹⁶ Petrie *et al.* (1913: pl. lxiv).

⁵¹⁷ See GGRN 2694.

⁵¹⁸ See fns. 493-494, above.

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. vi).

Here, the present study follows excavators' explicit descriptions of this bedding material. It is acknowledged that it may be difficult to differentiate between 'sticks' and 'reeds'.

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. v).

⁵²² Brunton (1948: pl. xxvi).

⁵²³ See GGRN 553.

the East Bank of Upper Egypt, but on this occasion from the cemetery of el-Mostagedda.⁵²⁴ This child also had sticks placed on top of their body and was provided with a mortuary assemblage consisting of 1 pot-marked globular ceramic vessel and an unspecified quantity of beads and amulets.⁵²⁵

6.3.7 Bedding in/on Sand

The 2 individuals described with sand-bedding are actually cohabitants of a multiple burial (**Tables 6.7–6.12**). Identified as an intact shaft grave from the Old Kingdom cemetery of Harageh on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, the burial consisted of 2 children (DRNs 860 and 861) of unknown age interred with an adolescent (14 years of age) in the same coffin, at the base of which was a layer of sand. The wooden coffin had mitred joints and featured repair-work in the form of plastered superficial defects. On oval slate palette was recovered from inside the coffin. A further 2 coffins were also interred in this shaft grave: one contained another 14 year-old adolescent; the other held the bodies of a 12 year old child and an infant. S28

6.3.8 Bedding in/on Rope Matting

The only example of rope mat bedding amongst the sample was that of an infant (DRN 218) from the First Intermediate period cemetery of Matmar on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (Tables 6.7–6.12).⁵²⁹ The only details available for this burial include a perfunctory description of the infant's mortuary treatment: rope matting was placed over the body before being covered with an inverted deep ceramic bowl. No grave goods are described for this burial.

6.3.9 Bedding in/on Straw

A single instance of straw bedding was identified amongst the sample, pertaining to the burial of a child of unspecified age in an intact shaft grave in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Qau el-Kebir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt.⁵³⁰ This brick-built shaft grave featured a burial chamber with mud-plastered mud-brick walls and vaulted ceiling. As the sole

⁵²⁴ Brunton (1937: 114, pl. lxx)

⁵²⁵ See GGRNs 1062-1068.

⁵²⁶ Engelbach (1923: 14); Grajetzki (2001: 58).

⁵²⁷ See GGRN 1602.

⁵²⁸ See DRNs 862-863.

⁵²⁹ Brunton (1948: 38).

⁵³⁰ Petrie (2000: sheet 12).

occupant of this well-constructed tomb, this child received a wooden coffin with straw bedding. The mortuary assemblage consisted of a ceramic wine jar. 531

6.3.10 Bedding in/on Stone

The only reported incidence of stone bedding amongst the sample is derived from a mastaba tomb in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Abusir on the West Bank of Lower Egypt (**Tables 6.7–6.12**). The mastaba featured a corridor chapel with plastered walls and beaten clay floors, both of which were also whitewashed. The chapel contained 2 double niches and a false door embedded into the Western wall. Seven shafts were identified within the mastaba substructure, containing the bodies of 1 adult male, 3 females, 1 adult of unknown sex, 1 child of 12–13 years of age and 1 infant. In this case, the child's burial, DRN 389, is of interest, as it provides a unique example of a body being covered by a stone (limestone) plate. No other treatments or grave goods were described for this burial.

6.3.11 Bedding in/on Multiple Materials

In order to demonstrate the complexity and variability of bodily treatments associated with CIFBs, it is important to emphasise that 6 individuals amongst the sample were provided with bedding in/on more than 1 material. Each of these cases have been described above, including: the child who was bedded in textile and placed upon a wooden board in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (DRN 633);⁵³⁴ the child who was placed on a bed of reeds and then covered by a layer of reed matting in the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt (DRN 342);⁵³⁵ a child from the same cemetery and period, also placed on a bed of reeds but covered instead with a layer of sticks (DRN 349);⁵³⁶ and the 3 individuals (2 infants and a child) who received both reed and ash bedding in their graves within the Middle Kingdom settlement of Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt (DRNs 104, 106 and 107).⁵³⁷

⁵³¹ See GGRN 2282.

⁵³² Bárta (2000: 125-127).

For the infant burial, see DRN 390.

⁵³⁴ See §§6.3.2, 6.3.5.

⁵³⁵ See §§6.3.1, 6.3.3.

⁵³⁶ See §§6.3.3, 6.3.6.

⁵³⁷ See §§6.3.3, 6.3.4.

6.4 Bedding and Wrapping in Multiple Materials

To further highlight examples of mortuary variability within the sample, it should also be noted that several individuals received both bedding *and* wrapping in more than one material as part of their bodily treatment. These cases have each been described above, including: the child wrapped in reed matting and placed on a wooden board in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt (DRN 1300);⁵³⁸ the child wrapped in reed matting and placed between layers of ash in the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt (DRN 348);⁵³⁹ and the oft-mentioned settlement burials of Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt, who, in addition to the double-bedding of reeds and ash described above, were also wrapped in up to 7 layers of textile (DRNs 104, 106 and 107).⁵⁴⁰

6.5 Mummification

While scholars such as Jones are producing research which suggests that the first attempts to artificially preserve human bodies may have occurred as early as the Predynastic Period,⁵⁴¹ the Old Kingdom has long been acknowledged as the era when Egyptian mummification practices attained a level of recognisable success.⁵⁴² To be eligible for inclusion in this category, an excavator must have explicitly described an individual as being subject to mummification techniques. All 8 individuals amongst the sample complying with this description were located within cemetery contexts. However, for 1 of these individuals, DRN 122 from the Early Dynastic cemetery of Helwan on the East Bank of Lower Egypt, it is possible that use of the term "mummy" has been misappropriated. Here, one is inclined to interpret the reference to the child's body as a "mummy" as a misnomer assigned by a non-anthropologist rather than an accurate description of bodily treatment.⁵⁴³ The 7 remaining published cases of child mummification are geographically restricted to the region of Upper Egypt.

The burials of 4 mummified individuals were dated to the Old Kingdom. Each were located in intact rock-cut tombs on the West Bank of Upper Egypt: 2 at el-Hagarsa and 2 at Qubbet el-Hawa. Both el-Hagarsa interments (DRNs 536 and 537) were identified within

⁵³⁸ See §§6.2.1, 6.3.5.

⁵³⁹ See §§6.2.1, 6.3.4.

⁵⁴⁰ See §§6.2.2, 6.3.3; 6.3.4; 6.3.11.

Jones (2002a; 2002b; 2007); cf. Ikram & Dodson (1998: 109).

⁵⁴² Ikram & Dodson (1998: 109-110); Grajetzki (2003: 15).

⁵⁴³ Greiss (1955: 231).

a multiple burial context. Their rock-cut tomb featured a chapel, a sloping passage and 2 burial chambers, the first of which contained the burials of these children as well as 2 adult males and 2 adult females. The second burial chamber was empty. Each individual was furnished with their own wooden coffin. The first of the 2 children, DRN 536, was a 7 year old boy – the only individual amongst the sample for whom biological sex was determined via aDNA testing. The young boy is described as tightly wrapped in a plain flax-fibre cloth of medium weave without seams or rolled edge. Dark-brown stains on the cloth have been attributed to either bodily and/or embalming fluids. His coffin was decorated on 1 side with black-painted wadjet-eyes.

The second child interred in this tomb, DRN 537, was 4 years old. Unfortunately, in this case, sex could not be determined. The body is described as having been tightly wrapped in fine-woven flax-fibre cloth, described as amongst the finest textile recorded in antiquity. The fabric was seamed along the left side of the body and pulled together and stitched around the feet. Dark-brown stains were observed on 1 piece of cloth, again attributed to either bodily and/or embalming fluids. The child's coffin has been extensively decorated and inscribed for "the honoured one, Hefefi", including elaborate rendering of black and white *wadjet*-eyes. However, the excavator does not believe this coffin was intended for the child, stating that its placement was "erroneous", attesting to the embalmers' state of "confusion" surrounding this burial, causing them to make "mistakes". Nuclear and mitochondrial aDNA-typing has determined that both these children were the offspring of 2 of the adult individuals also interred within the chamber: the adult male in coffin 3 (Hefefi II), and the adult female in coffin 2 (Khewit).

As aforementioned, the remaining 2 mummified Old Kingdom burials were located in disturbed rock-cut tombs at the cemetery of Qubbet el-Hawa. The first individual, DRN 1257, was an 8–9 year old 'male' child observed in a multiple burial context with 7 adult males, 3 adult females and 1 other child of unknown sex. The chapel of this multi-occupancy tomb featured a false door, and while many artefacts were recorded within close proximity of the bodies, the highly-disturbed context obscures direct associations with

⁵⁴⁴ See §4.3, fn. 390; Kanawati (1993a: 56-62, 86; 1993b: 36-38).

The thread count is recorded as 55 x 15-47 x 14 threads/cm, 0.13mm thick: Kanawati (1993a: 62-63).

⁵⁴⁶ Kanawati (1993a: 86).

⁵⁴⁷ Kanawati (1993b: 37).

⁵⁴⁸ Kanawati (1993b: 37).

⁵⁴⁹ Kanawati (1993a: 56-62, 86).

Edel *et al.* (2008a: 1857). In light of the high level of disturbance, this may be a secondary burial context. For details regarding the second child identified within this context, see DRN 1258.

particular individuals. The 'male' child is described as having been fully mummified and wrapped in linen bandages. The second mummified Qubbet el-Hawa burial, DRN 1287, was a 6–7 year old 'male' child, described as fully mummified, wrapped in linen bandages, and interred in a multiple burial context with 7 adult males, 9 adult females, 2 'male' children and 1 child of unknown sex.⁵⁵¹ The chapel of this tomb was decorated with carved and painted relief and features a false door. As described for the previous burial, the highly-disturbed context renders individual associations with grave goods impossible.

The 3 mummified Middle Kingdom individuals all derive from pit burials of unknown condition at the cemetery of Abydos on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. Very few details are available for these burials (DRNs 798, 801 and 802), however the excavators explicitly use the term "mummy" to describe the appearance of each of these children, as opposed to "body" or "skeleton" used elsewhere. The case for mummification is strengthened for DRN 801, whose grave goods include quantities of a substance thought to be natron. Each of these individuals are described as children of unspecified age interred in surface graves in the sand. Only DRN 801 is observed with associated grave goods, including the (possible) natron described above, as well as a small faience pendant.

6.6 Topical Applications

Five individuals amongst the sample were observed to have various substances applied to the surfaces of their bodies at or before the time of burial, including resin, plaster and stucco. Each case is described in detail, below.

Both incidences of topical resin application are attributed to disturbed rock-cut tombs in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Qubbet el-Hawa. Details of these individuals' burials are provided above (DRN 1257 and 1287) due to their status of being "fully mummified", including the topical application of resin. 555

Two individuals are identified amongst the sample as having plaster applied to the surface of their bodies at the time of burial. Both incidences of this treatment are attributed to

Edel *et al.* (2008a: 1938). In light of the high level of disturbance, this may be a secondary burial context. For details regarding the other children identified within this context, see DRNs 1288-1289.

⁵⁵² Naville *et al.* (1914: 25).

⁵⁵³ See GGRN 1515.

⁵⁵⁴ See GGRN 1514.

⁵⁵⁵ See §6.5; Edel et al. (2008a: 1857, 1938).

multiple burial contexts in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Kom el-Hisn in the Western Nile Delta. The first, DRN 404, is the multiple burial of an adult male, female and a child, whom the excavator describes as "a man, his wife, and their child", an assumption based only upon differing corpse sizes! Plaster has been topically applied over all three individuals subsequent to their placement within the grave. The child's age is not specified, nor are any grave goods described with the burial. The second burial, DRN 405, is also a multiple burial: on this occasion, that of an adult female and 2 children. The excavator again makes familial assumptions based upon mutual association within the grave, stating that this is the burial of a "mother and her two children". In this case, only the adult female and 1 of the children were covered in a thin lining of plaster after being laid in the grave. No grave goods are attributed to this burial.

The only example of topical application of stucco identified amongst the sample, DRN 84, derives from an intact Middle Kingdom subterranean shaft tomb in the cemetery of el-Arabah on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. Although the excavator identifies this as a multiple burial, it is not clear exactly how many individuals are interred in this tomb. Of the three children described in this context, one was identified as a 'male' – perhaps due to a gendered assessment of 'his' bodily treatment and grave goods. His' body was dressed with a layer of stucco and a plaster mask was placed before 'his' face. He' was placed in a wooden coffin, the exterior of which was painted with a recti-linear pattern in blue, green and white. The coffin interior was also stuccoed. An array of grave goods were associated with this individual, including an unspecified quantity of beads, weights, he bone spatula, 1 slate spatula, 1 gold disc, and an unspecified quantity of kohl grains.

⁵⁵⁶ Orel (2000); Hamada & Farid (1947: 204).

⁵⁵⁷ Hamada & Farid (1947: 204).

⁵⁵⁸ Hamada & Farid (1947: 204).

Hamada & Farid (1947: 204); Orel (2000). For details regarding the second child identified within this context, see DRN 406.

⁵⁶⁰ Hamada & Farid (1947: 204).

⁵⁶¹ Garstang (1901: pl. ixv, 3).

⁵⁶² See DRNs 82-83.

⁵⁶³ See §4.3.

⁵⁶⁴ See GGRN 266.

⁵⁶⁵ See GGRN 260.

⁵⁶⁶ See GGPN 261

⁵⁶⁶ See GGRN 261.

See GGRN 262.

See GGRN 263.
 See GGRN 264.

⁵⁷⁰ See GGRN 265.

6.7 Coffins

To be eligible for inclusion in this category, an excavator must have explicitly described a child, infant or foetus' body as having been contained within a funerary receptacle (coffin) in its primary context prior to post-depositional intervention or decomposition. Despite Garstang's statement that "no coffin was ever made specially for a child", 571 746 CIFs were reported to have received this aspect of bodily treatment. In total, 748 coffins were identified – 2 individuals were observed with 2 coffins each. Of the 748 receptacles identified amongst the sample, 338 were constructed from wood (45.19% total coffins; henceforth, TCNs), 329 were in the form of ceramic vessels (43.98% TCNs), 572 32 were constructed from basketry (4.28% TCNs), there were 8 observations each of ceramic and mud coffins (each 1.07% TCNs), 5 coffins were made from reeds (0.67% TCNs), there were 2 observations each of brick and stone coffins (each 0.27% TCNs), and a single example of a stucco coffin (0.13% TCNs). The remaining 23 funerary containers were composed of unknown materials (3.07% TCNs; Figure 6.23). Of the 748 coffins within the sample, 67 were subject to superficial treatment; on 12 occasions, more than one treatment was observed. Results pertaining to coffin distribution by construction materials, employment of multiple coffins in burials, and incidence of superficial coffin treatment are elaborated below. Categories with ≥11 published examples are described as a group, while individual cases are described for categories of ≤ 10 published examples.

6.7.1 Wooden Coffins

As aforementioned, 338 CIFs amongst the sample were placed within wooden coffins as part of their mortuary treatment. Wooden coffins have been attested for adult burials from the Predynastic Period and continued in use throughout pharaonic history.⁵⁷³ Incidences of children's wooden coffins may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

6.7.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The majority of wooden coffins identified amongst the sample derive from the East Bank of Upper Egypt (Table 6.13; Figure 6.24). Here, a minimum of 194 CIFs reportedly

⁵⁷¹ Garstang (1907a: 82).

Of these, 1 burial was within a ceramic vessel imported from Palestine; see DRN 1308.

⁵⁷³ Castillos (1982a: 147, 175); Ikram & Dodson (1998: 193-195).

received this form of mortuary treatment; more than 3 times the published amount of the next most frequent region, the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 54). Further to this, evidence for wooden coffins was published for 48 individuals on the West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 48), 21 individuals on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, and 10 individuals in the Dakhla Oasis region. Results for the remaining regions do not exceed single figures: 5 wooden coffins were identified amongst the published data of the East Bank of Lower Egypt, 3 were observed for the Faiyum; 2 were recorded for the Western Nile Delta, and 1 for the Eastern Nile Delta. No wooden coffins were published for CIFBs in the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

6.7.1.2 General Geographical Regions

The above description is consolidated when the data is organised according to distribution in general geographical regions (**Table 6.14**; **Figure 6.25**). Again, Upper Egypt dominates with wooden coffins provided for a minimum of 248 CIFs. Substantially fewer examples were identified amongst the published records of Middle Egypt (MNI 51), Lower Egypt (MNI 26) and Dakhla Oasis regions (MNI 10). Three CIFs were reported to have been placed in wooden coffins in the Nile Delta.

6.7.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When considered according to distribution in Nilotic geographical regions, the East Bank presents the most published examples of CIFBs in wooden coffins (MNI 199; **Table 6.15**; **Figure 6.26**). In this configuration, the only other region to approach the dominance of the East Bank is its geographical counterpart, the West Bank, with a minimum of 123 CIFs identified as receiving this form of mortuary treatment. Examples among the remaining regions are far fewer: 10 in Dakhla Oasis, and 3 each in the Nile Delta and Faiyum.

6.7.1.4 Relative Chronology

A more balanced distribution is observed when considering frequencies of CIFBs with wooden coffins from a chronological perspective (**Table 6.16**; **Figure 6.27**). The fewest observations are attributed to the Early Dynastic Period, with a minimum of 21 wooden coffins recorded for this era. There is a surge of evidence for the employment of wooden coffins in the Old Kingdom, with 130 examples published for this phase. Slightly fewer examples were identified amongst the published data of the First Intermediate Period (MNI 93), almost exactly equal to results for the Middle Kingdom (MNI 94).

6.7.1.5 Site Types

The preponderance of data for CIFBs in wooden coffins precipitates from the published records of cemeteries (**Table 6.17**; **Figure 6.28**). A minimum of 327 individuals are observed to have received this form of mortuary treatment in extra-mural funerary contexts. By contrast, a minimum of 11 wooden coffin burials were described for those CIFs interred in intra-mural spaces. No examples of this aspect of Egyptian mortuary treatment could be attributed to those individuals exhumed from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

6.7.1.6 Age Categories

Our reliance upon complete publication is keenly felt when considering distributions of wooden coffins amongst the various age categories within the sample (**Table 6.18**; **Figure 6.29**). Of the 338 CIFs known to have been provided with this form of funerary container, age is unspecified for 77.51% of individuals (MNI 262) – a substantial lost opportunity for furthering understanding of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour across the demographic range. Nevertheless, amongst the known-age individuals in the sample, almost equal representations of wooden coffins were observed between the Infant (MNI 29) and Older Child categories (MNI 28). Young Children were also comparatively well-represented, with a minimum of 18 individuals reportedly placed in wooden funerary containers. A wooden coffin was identified for 1 Foetus within the dataset.

6.7.2 Ceramic Vessel Coffins (Pot Burials)

As aforementioned, 329 CIFs amongst the sample were placed within ceramic vessels as part of their mortuary treatment. Pot burials are known to have commenced for adults from the Predynastic Period, ⁵⁷⁴ although the full extent of their attestation in Egypt is the subject of some debate. To be eligible for inclusion in this category, children must have been interred within the ceramic vessel as a primary context, not as a secondary burial. ⁵⁷⁵ Incidences of so-called "pot burials" may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

⁵⁷⁴ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 194-195).

⁵⁷⁵ Bacvarov (2008b: 61)

6.7.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

According to published data, the greatest incidence of CIF pot burials took place in the Western Nile Delta (**Table 6.13**; **Figure 6.30**). Here, a minimum of 121 CIFs were placed within ceramic vessels at or before the time of burial. The next most frequent occurrence of pot burials was attributed to the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 75). The East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 47), West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 38), and Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 31) are the only other regions to present double-figure incidences of this phenomenon amongst their published data. Of the remaining regions, the West Bank of Middle Egypt featured a minimum of 8 interments in ceramic vessels, 7 examples were identified for Dakhla Oasis, while the West Bank of Lower Egypt featured 2 CIFBs in ceramic vessels. No incidences of pot burials were reported for the East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

6.7.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to distribution in general geographical regions, concentrations of data appear in the Northern and Southern-most aspects of the country (**Table 6.14**; **Figure 6.31**). The Nile Delta holds the greatest proportion of evidence, with a minimum of 152 CIF pot burials published for this region. This is followed by results for Upper Egypt, with a minimum of 113 individuals reportedly interred in this way. Lower Egypt presents substantially fewer examples, with 49 individuals subject to this mode of burial. Representations of pot burials are almost equal amongst the published records of Middle Egypt and Dakhla Oasis, with these regions featuring a minimum of 8 and 7 examples, respectively.

6.7.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised to reflect Egypt's Nilotic geography, 2 regions dominate data distribution (**Table 6.15**; **Figure 6.32**). With 152 examples, the Nile Delta continues to hold the most published CIF pot burials amongst the sample. In this configuration, however, the gap between the Nile Delta and next most numerous region narrows significantly, with the East Bank presenting 122 incidences of pot burials amongst its published data. There is then a considerable decline in observations, with the next most numerous region, the West Bank, accounting for 48 examples of the phenomenon. Results then diminish to 7 incidences in Dakhla Oasis; and there were no observations of pot burials attributed to the Faiyum.

6.7.2.4 Relative Chronology

According to published data, a minimum of 128 CIFs were interred in ceramic vessels during the Early Dynastic Period (**Table 6.16**; **Figure 6.33**). The number of published incidences then falls to 65 in the Old Kingdom, and further still to 8 examples in the First Intermediate Period. Coincidentally, the number of reported Middle Kingdom CIF pot burials then increases to equal the number observed during the Early Dynastic Period (MNI 128).

6.7.2.5 Site Types

The overwhelming majority of CIF pot burials were observed amongst published cemetery data: 99.39% of all examples precipitated from such contexts (MNI 327; **Table 6.17**; **Figure 6.34**). Only 2 pot burials were identified amongst settlement sites, while no examples were attributed to temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

6.7.2.6 Age Categories

As was the case for burials in wooden coffins, specific ages were not published for the majority of CIFs interred in ceramic vessels. Here, demographic data has been lost for 80.85% of the individuals subject to this quintessential aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour (MNI 266; **Table 6.18**; **Figure 6.35**). Notwithstanding this loss, we are able to determine that Infants were most frequently interred in ceramic vessels amongst the known-age component of the sample (MNI 29), followed closely by Young Children (MNI 20). Eleven Foetuses reportedly received this form of funerary treatment, as did 3 Older Children within the dataset.

6.7.3 Basketry Coffins

As aforementioned, 32 CIFs among the sample were placed within basketry coffins as part of their mortuary treatment. Adults are known to have been buried in baskets from the Predynastic and Early Dynastic Periods.⁵⁷⁶ Incidences of children's basketry coffins may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

⁵⁷⁶ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 194-195).

6.7.3.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Tabular and graphical representations of basketry coffin distributions in specific geographical regions are shown in **Table 6.13** and **Figure 6.36**. Here, it can be seen that several sites have similar incidences of this form of funerary container amongst their published data, including the West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 9), East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 8), and West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 7). Slightly fewer examples were observed for the East Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 4) and West Bank of Upper Egypt regions (MNI 3). A single basketry coffin was reported in the Faiyum, while the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Dakhla Oasis regions presented no examples of this phenomenon. Absence of basketry coffins from the Delta regions may be attributed, at least in part, to decay in the damp preservation environment.

6.7.3.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to frequency distributions in general geographical regions, a data cluster is again observed at the upper-end of the scale (**Table 6.14**; **Figure 6.37**). In this configuration, a minimum of 15 basketry coffins were attributed to CIFBs in Lower Egyptian sites, 10 in Middle Egypt and 7 in Upper Egyptian contexts. Basketry coffin incidence then falls to zero amongst the published data of the Nile Delta and Dakhla Oasis regions.

6.7.3.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised according to Nilotic geographical regions (**Table 6.15**; **Figure 6.38**), the Eastern and Western Banks account for the preponderance of CIF basketry burials, with 19 and 12 examples identified for each of these regions, respectively. Further to this, results substantially decrease to a singular observation amongst the published data of the Faiyum. Child, infant and foetal basketry burials are absent from the Nile Delta and Dakhla Oasis regions.

6.7.3.4 Relative Chronology

The Early Dynastic period clearly predominates when the data is distributed according to relative chronology (**Table 6.16**; **Figure 6.39**). During this phase, we are able to account for 18 CIFBs in basketry coffins: this is more than twice the amount identified amongst

published data for the Old Kingdom (MNI 8). The Middle Kingdom presents 5 examples of this phenomenon, while only 1 instance was observed for the First Intermediate Period.

6.7.3.5 Site Types

In terms of distribution among different site types, incidences of CIF basketry burials were almost exclusively restricted to cemeteries (**Table 6.17**; **Figure 6.40**). Apart from 2 examples of this mode of burial in settlement contexts, the remaining 30 observations were identified amongst published cemetery records. No examples of basketry burials were observed amongst temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

6.7.3.6 Age Categories

When considering the incidence of basketry burials across the juvenile population, our understanding of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour is limited by incomplete publication. Here again, the ages of the majority of occupants of basketry coffins have not been specified (MNI 19; **Table 6.18**; **Figure 6.41**). Nevertheless, 11 Infants were able to be identified as recipients of this form of funerary container, as were 2 other Young Children amongst the sample. No examples of Foetal or Older Child basketry interments were observed.

6.7.4 Ceramic Coffins

Ceramic coffins are attested in Egypt for adults from the Predynastic Period onwards, taking many shapes and forms during their employment throughout the pharaonic period. All 8 examples of CIFBs in ceramic coffins amongst the sample were located in cemetery contexts. Of these, 5 were of an Early Dynastic provenance, 2 were from the Old Kingdom, and the remaining instance was dated to the First Intermediate Period. In terms of the Early Dynastic examples, 2 were observed amongst the published data of Tura on the East Bank, Lower Egypt; 1 was noted for Kafr Tarkhan on the West Bank, Lower Egypt; while singular incidences of ceramic coffins were reported amongst the published records of both el-Amra and Hierakonpolis on the West Bank, Upper Egypt.

The el-Amra ceramic coffin was one component of the mortuary treatment of a "rather young female"⁵⁷⁸ and an infant in an intact, mud-brick lined pit burial (DRN 307) on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. Both individuals were interred within the ceramic coffin,

⁵⁷⁷ Castillos (1982a: 147, 175); Ikram & Dodson (1998: 195, 227, 233).

⁵⁷⁸ Randall-Maciver & Mace (1902: 27).

which was subsequently roofed with bricks. No other information is available regarding the infant's interment, and all grave goods within this multiple burial context were clearly associated with the older female.

Both individuals observed with ceramic coffins at Tura were children of unspecified age in disturbed pit burials (DRNs 564 and 565) on the East Bank of Lower Egypt.⁵⁷⁹ While no further information is available for their bodily treatment, both are reported to have associated grave goods. For the first individual, DRN 564, a single ceramic vessel was recorded.⁵⁸⁰ The second individual's burial, DRN 565, also contained a ceramic vessel, and an unspecified quantity of ceramic sherds was noted amongst the funerary assemblage.⁵⁸¹

The ceramic coffin observed in DRN 1134 is derived from one of the most remarkable child burials amongst the sample. Located in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, ⁵⁸² this burial of a 10–12 year old child in a 34.20m² pit-tomb features a unique funerary assemblage of at least 319 objects. On this occasion, the ceramic coffin is of interest. Made of straw-tempered pottery, the coffin measures 37.60 x 25.50cm and features a rudimentary window or door, causing the excavator to speculate that it may be modelling the features of a house. ⁵⁸³

The final Early Dynastic example, DRN 1320, was on a somewhat smaller scale. Observed amongst the published data of Kafr Tarkhan on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, this oval ceramic coffin was located in the multiple burial of 2 adult individuals of unknown sex and a child of unspecified age.⁵⁸⁴ The child was interred within the ceramic coffin in the South-Eastern corner of this disturbed shaft grave. A shared funerary assemblage including 20 ceramic vessels (some featuring potmarks) and 10 stone vessels was provided for the trio.⁵⁸⁵

The two examples of Old Kingdom ceramic coffins were each observed in quite different contexts. The first, DRN 648, was derived from the shaft burial of a child of unspecified age within a small, gravel-filled mastaba tomb of unknown condition at Naga ed-Deir on

⁵⁷⁹ Junker (1912: Table, 62ff.).

⁵⁸⁰ See GGRN 1154.

⁵⁸¹ See GGRNs 1155-1156.

⁵⁸² Adams (2000: 26-27, 75-128, 162, 182-183).

⁵⁸³ Adams (2000: 115).

⁵⁸⁴ Petrie *et al.* (1913: 13, 26, pls. lxxiii, lxviii).

⁵⁸⁵ See GGRN 2691-2692; see §9.1.1 for further discussion of 'shared' funerary assemblages.

the East Bank of Upper Egypt.⁵⁸⁶ The mastaba is described as having "niches on the East side".⁵⁸⁷ This brief architectural description and an account of the child's burial in an oval cist of red pottery were the only details available for this burial. No grave goods were described. The second Old Kingdom example, DRN 870, was located in the shaft burial (of unknown condition) of a child (of unspecified age) from the cemetery of Harageh on the West Bank of Middle Egypt.⁵⁸⁸ Apart from the description of the child's ceramic funerary container, very few details are available for this burial. No objects were listed for this grave.

The only First Intermediate Period ceramic coffin amongst the sample was also identified within the published records of Harageh. This burial, DRN 868, was that of a child of unspecified age interred within a ceramic coffin in an intact shaft grave. No graves goods were described for this burial.

6.7.5 Mud Coffins

Mud coffins were first attested for adult burials during the Early Dynastic Period. All 8 examples of mud coffins identified amongst the dataset are derived from Early Dynastic cemetery contexts. A single example from Helwan is the only representation of this phenomenon from the East Bank of Lower Egypt. The remaining 7 mud coffins all pertain to Upper Egypt: 5 to Adaima on the West Bank, and 2 to Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank. The Helwan burial, DRN 1438, was located within the pit burial of unknown condition of a 9–10 year old child. No other details are available for this burial at this time.

Both examples from Naga ed-Deir were observed in intact pit burials of children of unspecified age. The first, DRN 631, contained a mud coffin measuring approximately 65.00 x 30.00 x 15.00cm, with walls 2.00cm thick and rounded ends. In addition to this coffin, the child was also furnished with an array of grave goods, including 2 necklaces of faience, carnelian and steatite beads, 1 alabaster cylinder jar, 1 globular ceramic vessel and 1 wooden cylinder seal. The second example, DRN 632, featured a slightly larger mud

⁵⁸⁶ Reisner (1932: 225).

⁵⁸⁷ Reisner (1932: 225).

⁵⁸⁸ Petrie (2000: sheet 7).

⁵⁸⁹ Engelbach (1923: pl. lvii).

At Adaima, at least 3 adults have been observed with mud coffins: S980, S983 and S985; Dr. Yann Tristant, Macquarie University, *pers. comm.*; cf. Reisner (1908: 85-86); Petrie et al. (1913: 26).

Prof. E. C. Köhler, University of Vienna, pers. comm.

⁵⁹² Reisner (1908: 86).

⁵⁹³ See GGRNs 1216-1220.

coffin; its dimensions were approximately 80.00 x 56.00 x 20.00cm, with walls 2.00cm thick.⁵⁹⁴ No grave goods were associated with this burial.

Fortunately, detailed demographic data was available for each of the mud coffin burials at Adaima. The first 3 burials, DRNs 749–751, were 3 children interred together in a pit burial of unknown condition. Partially-fired mud coffins were associated with each of the bodies of these 2, 5 and 8 year old children. Beyond these details, very little is known about this burial. The next example, DRN 714, was the pit burial of questionable condition of a 3.5 year old child. In this case, the coffin walls appear to have collapsed, causing the excavator to speculate that it may have been made *in situ*. The coffin also featured a lid. This child's funerary assemblage consisted of a bone bangle, a ceramic dish, a pierced shell, a piece of charcoal, and 2 (possibly intrusive) ceramic sherds. The final Adaima example, DRN 716, was the intact pit burial of a 12–15 year old child. This child has already been introduced within this thesis, owing to the peri-mortem trauma observed on their upper right arm. In terms of the mud coffin, the excavator argues that it was also probably made *in situ*, and may have originally featured a covering of reed matting.

6.7.6 Reed Coffins

Each of the 5 reed coffins identified within the sample were derived from cemetery contexts. Of these, 3 are attributed to the Early Dynastic Period, 1 to the Old Kingdom and 1 to the First Intermediate Period. All 3 Early Dynastic examples were observed in pit burials of children of unspecified age from the site of Kafr Tarkhan on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. In addition to the reed coffin, the first Kafr Tarkhan burial, DRN 1324, was also provided with a stone bowl. The second burial, DRN 1326, had the same funerary container but additional grave goods: this individual was provided with 3 ceramic vessels,

⁵⁹⁴ Reisner (1908: 86).

⁵⁹⁵ Grimal (1999: 454).

⁵⁹⁶ Crubézy *et al.* (2002a: 377-378).

⁵⁹⁷ Crubézy et al. (2008: 306).

⁵⁹⁸ See GGRNs 1400-1405.

⁵⁹⁹ Crubézy et al. (2002a: 392-394).

⁶⁰⁰ See Tables 4.6-4.7; §§4.4.2-4.4.4.

Here, the present study follows excavators' explicit descriptions of 'reed coffins'. It is acknowledged that it may be difficult to distinguish between reed coffins and reed mat wrapping/bedding.

Petrie et al. (1913: pl. lxvi); Petrie (2000: sheet 16); see GGRN 2697. This burial was in a disturbed condition.

1 barrel-shaped stone vessel, and 1 quartzite grinder. The final Kafr Tarkhan reed coffin burial, DRN 1328, was furnished with 3 ceramic vessels. Other terms of the final Kafr Tarkhan reed coffin burial, DRN 1328, was furnished with 3 ceramic vessels.

The Old Kingdom example, DRN 411, was located in the intact burial of a child of unspecified age in a shaft-and-chamber tomb at Kafr Ammar on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. This burial has already been described in §6.3.2, owing to the fact that it also received textile padding as part of its mortuary treatment. The padding was placed inside the "papyrus" coffin, on top of the body. As aforementioned, further details are unable to be determined regarding this burial due to the illegibility of Petrie's script.

The First Intermediate Period reed coffin pertains to DRN 252, an intact shaft grave located at Matmar on the East Bank of Upper Egypt.⁶⁰⁷ This child of unspecified age was also provided with an unspecified quantity of beads amongst their funerary assemblage, as well as 12 amulets.⁶⁰⁸

6.7.7 Brick Coffins

Both examples of brick coffins amongst the sample derive from cemetery contexts. One burial was dated to the First Intermediate Period, the other to the Middle Kingdom. Brick coffins have also been reported for adults during these periods. The First Intermediate Period burial, DRN 1061, was that of a child of unspecified age in a shaft grave of unknown condition in Qau el-Kebir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Very few details were provided for this burial, however we do know that the coffin was constructed of bricks in a 12 x 6 x 3 configuration, and that a string of black faience and shell beads was included in the assemblage. In terms of the Middle Kingdom example, DRN 608, the minimal published data of this burial from Ehnasya el-Medina on the West Bank of Middle Egypt only allows us to determine that the individual within the brick coffin was an infant. No grave goods were described for this interment.

Petrie et al. (1913: pl. lxviii); Petrie (2000: sheet 18); see GGRNs 2700-2701, 2705. This burial was in a disturbed condition.

⁶⁰⁴ Petrie (1914: pl. xxxii); Petrie (2000: sheet 18); see GGRN 2704.

⁶⁰⁵ Petrie (2000: sheet 236).

Here, the present study interprets Petrie's description as being a coffin made from papyrus reeds.

⁶⁰⁷ Brunton (1948: pl. xxvi).

⁶⁰⁸ See GGRNs 519-522.

⁶⁰⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 52).

⁶¹⁰ Brunton (1928: pl. lxv).

⁶¹¹ See GGRN 2139.

⁶¹² Petrie (1905: 4).

6.7.8 Stone Coffins

Stone coffins, also known as sarcophagi, were introduced at the beginning of the Old Kingdom for adult royal and high-official burials. The Middle Kingdom cemetery of Tura, on the East Bank of Lower Egypt, provides the context for the only example of a stone coffin among the sample. In fact, this coffin housed the remains of 2 children, DRNs 527 and 528, both children of an unspecified age interred in a multiple burial with an adult male and female in a disturbed multiple-roomed subterranean shaft tomb. Both children were interred in the Northern chamber within this limestone sarcophagus alongside the adult male. The dimensions of the limestone sarcophagus are recorded as 175.00 x 30.00 x 145.00cm, with walls 5cm thick. The burial chamber, which was partially blocked with a mud-brick wall, also housed the burial of the adult female in a separate wooden coffin. Possibly due to the disturbed context, the grave goods listed for this burial cannot be directly associated with any individuals. Therefore, they are not listed here.

6.7.9 Stucco Coffins

The only stucco coffin within the sample was identified amongst the published data of the late Old Kingdom/early First Intermediate Period cemetery of Qila ed-Daba in Dakhla Oasis.⁶¹⁵ This interment, DRN 142, was a surface pit burial of unknown condition in the Southern Cemetery, located among the tombs surrounding the Ima-Pepi mastaba.⁶¹⁶ Here, a small, rectangular stucco box contained the bodily remains of a foetus. No other details are available for this burial.

6.7.10 Burial in Multiple Coffins

As outlined in §6.7, above, 2 individuals amongst the sample were interred within multiple coffins. The first, DRN 365, was an infant buried in a pit grave of unknown condition in the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Ghurab on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. The infant's body had first been contained within a basketry coffin, which had then been placed inside a ceramic vessel. No grave goods are described for this burial. The second

⁶¹³ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 245); Grajetzki (2003: 35).

⁶¹⁴ Yacoub (1988: 201-202).

For the purposes of this study, this burial has been included with the First Intermediate Period component of the dataset; see §3.3, fn. 324. Here, the present study follows the excavator's explicit description that the coffin was constructed from "stucco". It is acknowledged that stucco is generally a plaster that is applied to the surface of another base material.

⁶¹⁶ Minault-Gout (1995: 305).

⁶¹⁷ Brunton & Engelbach (1927: pl. vi).

example, DRN 752, was also a pit burial of unknown condition of a child of unspecified age at Adaima on the West Bank of Upper Egypt.⁶¹⁸ The child had also been placed within a basketry coffin at or before the time of burial, and subsequently placed within a ceramic vessel which was sealed with both reed matting and a lid. Few other details are available for this burial and no grave goods are described.

6.7.11 Coffin Treatments

Sixty-seven of the coffins within the sample were themselves subject to superficial treatment (**Figure 6.42**); on 12 occasions, more than one treatment was observed, creating a total of 80 treatments overall. Superficial application of cartonnage/stucco was observed on 54 occasions, inscription with text or symbols was observed on 17 occasions, painting of outer and/or inner surfaces was observed on 8 occasions, and 1 coffin was covered with resin. All 10 coffin was covered with resin.

6.8 Multiple Treatments: Wrapping, Bedding and/or Coffins

Within the sample, 42 CIFs were subject to more than one bodily treatment at or before the time of burial. Considering that many of these individuals have already been described above, a summary of the incidences of multiple bodily treatments will suffice:

- Of the 29 CIFs who were wrapped in textile, 20 individuals (68.97%) received multiple treatments: 12 were also placed within a wooden coffin, 624 3 were placed in basketry coffins, 625 3 were placed on double beds of reeds and ash, 626 and 2 were placed in ceramic vessels. 627
- Of the 46 CIFs who were wrapped in reed matting, 7 individuals (15.22%) received multiple treatments: 3 were also placed in wooden coffins, 628 2 were placed in ceramic vessels, 629 and 2 were placed in basketry coffins. 630

⁶¹⁸ Mathieu (2002: 454).

⁶¹⁹ See DRNs 42, 43, 49, 84, 365, 954, 965, 1139, 1140, 1386, 1397, 1427.

See DRNs 43, 49, 60, 70, 84, 109, 110, 309, 424, 539, 603, 614, 615, 660, 669-672, 871, 874, 915, 954, 957, 963, 965, 967, 1009, 1012-1014, 1016, 1018, 1020, 1032, 1043, 1049, 1051, 1052, 1056, 1065, 1071, 1073, 1123, 1134, 1139, 1140, 1142, 1144, 1146, 1195, 1386, 1387, 1397, 1427.

⁶²¹ See DRNs 42, 49, 50, 52, 60, 537, 709, 710, 713, 990, 1397, 1427.

⁶²² See DRNs 42, 43, 954, 965, 1139, 1140, 1386, 1397.

⁶²³ See DRN 42.

⁶²⁴ See DRNs 49, 54, 84, 215, 536, 537, 540, 544, 786, 1141, 1142, 1144.

⁶²⁵ See DRNs 542, 546, 651.

⁶²⁶ See DRNs 104, 106, 107.

⁶²⁷ See DRNs 881, 941.

⁶²⁸ See DRNs 541, 545, 1427.

⁶²⁹ See DRNs 343, 712.

- Of the 7 CIFs who received textile wadding/padding as bedding, 6 individuals (85.71%) received multiple treatments: 4 were also placed in wooden coffins, ⁶³¹ 1 was placed in a ceramic vessel, ⁶³² and 1 was placed in a reed coffin. ⁶³³
- Of the 16 CIFs who received reed mat bedding, 4 individuals (25.00%) received multiple treatments: 3 were placed in ceramic vessels, ⁶³⁴ and 1 was placed in a coffin of unknown material. ⁶³⁵
- Of the 2 CIFs who received sand-bedding, both received multiple treatment (100.00%): they were also interred in a wooden coffin.⁶³⁶
- Of the 2 CIFs who were wrapped in animal skin, 1 individual (50.00%) received multiple treatment: this child was also wrapped in textile beneath the animal skin, and then wholly placed inside a ceramic vessel.⁶³⁷
- The single individual to receive rope mat bedding received multiple treatment: this infant was also placed in a ceramic vessel. 638
- The single individual to receive straw-bedding received multiple treatment: this child was also placed in a wooden coffin. 639
- The single individual to be wrapped in a gold-sheet received multiple treatment: this child was also placed in a wooden coffin. 640

6.9 Summary

This chapter has articulated the nature and scope of CIF bodily treatments during the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom periods. The data was derived from the survey of all available publications containing archaeological information pertaining to these cultural phases, supplemented by unpublished material from the ACE Helwan Project. Observations of corporeal engagement for children include the provision of wrapping, bedding and coffins; as well as the application of mummification techniques and other topical treatments. Multiple bodily treatments were often observed.

⁶³⁰ See DRNs 543, 547.

⁶³¹ See DRNs 437, 1135, 1386, 1387.

⁶³² See DRN 882.

⁶³³ See DRN 411.

⁶³⁴ See DRNs 358, 708, 717.

⁶³⁵ See DRN 162.

⁶³⁶ See DRNs 860, 861.

⁶³⁷ See DRN 1091.

⁶³⁸ See DRN 218.

⁶³⁹ See DRN 1098.

⁶⁴⁰ See DRN 1389.

Perhaps the most striking finding of this chapter is that the variety of bodily treatments attested among CIF mortuary culture equals and potentially exceeds that described in contemporary adult burials. Within each of the numerous treatment categories identified in the sample, a diverse array of material culture was engaged to ensure the eternal protection, containment and preservation of children's bodies within their graves. In terms of wrapping: reed mats, textiles, animal skins, rope mats, gold sheet and unknown materials were variably employed, in isolation or combination, to envelop all age groups in both intra- and extra-mural interments in all periods, across all general and Nilotic regions included in the survey. All wrapping types were observed in cemetery contexts, while only reed mat and textile wrapping were identified in published settlement burials. The findings of CIFs wrapped in animal skins and gold sheeting are of particular note, as they expand our current understandings regarding the nature and scope of Egyptian mortuary behaviour per se. Concerning bedding: reed mats, textile wads/pads, reeds, ash, wooden boards, sticks, sand, rope mats, straw and stone were variably attested, in isolation or combination, to embed all age groups in both intra- and extra-mural interments in all periods, across all general and Nilotic regions within the dataset with the exception of the Faiyum. All bedding types were observed in cemetery contexts, while only reed and ash bedding were identified in published settlement burials.

Seven reliable cases of juvenile mummification were identified amongst published materials from Old and Middle Kingdom cemetery contexts on the West Bank of Upper Egypt: specifically, el-Hagarsa, Qubbet el-Hawa and Abydos. The attested age range for this form of bodily treatment spans from 4–9 years. The youngest individual among this group was mummified and wrapped in some of the finest textile recorded in antiquity. These findings suggest that CIFs were equally as eligible to receive the most expensive and technologically advanced forms of posthumous corporeal intervention as adults.

Although topical applications to CIF bodies were infrequently observed, their sheer presence among published literature nonetheless indicates that they were employed for juvenile bodily treatments during the timeframes canvassed by this research. Resin, plaster and stucco were applied to children's bodies in the Old to Middle Kingdom cemeteries of Qubbet el-Hawa and el-Arabah on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and Kom el-Hisn in the Western Nile Delta. Mummification and topical application were the only bodily treatment categories not identified in published settlement burials.

Coffin provision was commonly observed among the dataset with receptacles of wood, ceramic vessels (pot burials), basketry, ceramics, mud, reeds, brick, stone and stucco variably attested to contain all age groups in both intra- and extra-mural interments in all periods, across all general and Nilotic regions included in the survey. Every coffin type was observed in cemetery contexts, while only wooden, ceramic vessel and basketry coffins were observed in published settlement burials. The range of coffin styles and materials employed for CIFBs echoes those described for contemporary adult interments. Furthermore, the application of one or more superficial treatments, in isolation or combination, including cartonnage/stucco, textual inscriptions, paint and resin indicates that children's coffins were as much a forum for cultural, religious, artistic and socioeconomic expression as they were for the older members of the community.

Further insights into these modes of expression may be gleaned from the observations of multiple treatments afforded to CIFs bodies. Manifold combinations and variations of all categories and materials described above were employed by those responsible for orchestrating juvenile burials during the timeframes relevant to this research. Even under the obvious burdens of under-reporting and poor publication, the results presented here indicate that children's bodies were endowed with complete cultural capacity in life, expressed and invested via their treatment in death. The qualitative implications of these findings for the position, value and agency of ancient Egyptian children will be more fulsomely explored in Chapter 10.

CHAPTER 7: TOMB ARCHITECTURE

Data derived from analyses of funerary architecture provides valuable information regarding the cultural capacities of tomb occupants. With the possible exceptions of disaster, conflict, criminal and epidemic contexts, it is agreed that the nature and scope of funerary structures are indicative of the deceased's social, economic, religious and political capabilities.⁶⁴¹ Alternatively, these same features may express similar capacities held by those carrying out the burial.⁶⁴² Of greatest interest to this thesis is how such expressions may be mobilised to inform our reconstructions of the social position, value and agency of deceased children, infants and foetuses in ancient Egypt. Further to this, observations of horizontal and vertical variability across demographic profiles may reveal whether or not access to certain forms of burial architecture was restricted to particular individuals or groups. With these factors in mind, data derived from the archaeological survey described in §1.4.4 was analysed in order to determine the nature and scope of child, infant and foetal tomb architecture during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom periods, including tomb superstructures, substructures, size and decorative/religious features. In adherence with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research and its respective theoretical considerations are presented below. Qualitative analyses will be explored in Chapter 10.

7.1 Overview

Eligibility for inclusion in this analysis was determined by excavators' explicit descriptions of tomb structures, as well as the unequivocal identification of child, infant or foetal interments within the confines of the tomb. For the purposes of this study, tomb architecture was determined to consist of 2 essential components: superstructure (all architectural features at or above surface level) and substructure (all architectural features below surface level).

It is not claimed that all funerary monuments featured in this survey were purpose-built explicitly for juvenile burials. A significant component of Chapter 8 is devoted to exploring the nature and scope of shared funerary spaces between children, infants, foetuses and other individuals. The key interest of the present chapter is to explore what

Richards (1997: 37); Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 9).
 Crawford (2000: 173).

the archaeological record reveals about children's' access⁶⁴³ to all forms of funerary architecture. It must be acknowledged that the majority of monumental royal and private funerary architectural designs purposefully catered for the burial of additional family/community members via the provision of multiple burial shafts and/or chambers.⁶⁴⁴ Kanawati interprets these features as architectural expressions of filial affection, citing the Old Kingdom case of Wep-em-Nofret, who wrote a will (the first of its kind in Egypt) explicitly stating his desire for his son, Iby, to also be buried in his tomb.⁶⁴⁵ Kanawati further cites the intergenerational, interconnected funerary constructions of Hepi-kem the Black (grandfather), Sobekhotep (Hepi the Black, father), and Pepi-ankh the Black (son) in the Old Kingdom rock-cut necropolis of Meir on the West Bank of Middle Egypt as archaeological evidence of the desire for relatives to be physically close to one another posthumously.⁶⁴⁶ Kanawati also relays the biography of Djau in his Old Kingdom tomb at Deir el-Gebrawi on the East Bank of Middle Egypt, in which Djau states that:

"he arranged to be buried in one tomb with his father not because of the lack of means to build a second tomb but out of the love to be with him in one place so that he could see his father every day." 647

Indeed, the desire that their tombs should benefit more than one person (and indeed, more than just their family members) is articulated by Khnumhotep II in his Middle Kingdom tomb inscription at Beni Hasan on the East Bank of Middle Egypt:⁶⁴⁸

"[Khnumhotep's] first deed consisted of making his township effective, as he caused his name to endure for eternity and made it effective forever in his tomb in the cemetery (as well as) making the name(s) of his council endure, they (likewise) being made effective to their offices, (namely) the efficient ones

Goedicke (1988: 196-197, 199) argues for the possibility that these shafts/chambers may also have been available for 'subletting' to unrelated individuals at a price.

Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Macquarie University, pers.comm.; see Blackman (1914: 11): "The inscription on the architrave tells us that the chapel was constructed 'for his father the nomarch (h3ty-')...by his son whom he loves."

⁶⁴³ Richards (1992: 286).

⁶⁴⁵ Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Macquarie University, pers. comm.; see Hassan (1936: 190): "I gave to my eldest son, the ritualist Iby, the Wakf of the Northern burial chamber together with the Northern chapel of offerings, which are in the house of eternity on the necropolis, that he may be buried in it, and that offerings may come forth unto him at the voice continually there, he being the honoured one. No brother has claim to it, no wife, no children have [the right] to it except my eldest son, the ritualist Iby, to whom I have given [them]."

⁶⁴⁷ Kanawati (2006: 69).

⁶⁴⁸ I am grateful to A/Prof. Boyo Ockinga, Macquarie University, for bringing this text to my attention.

within his household whom he distinguished from among his associates, every office which he administered, and every craft as it is undertaken."⁶⁴⁹

Here, Khnumhotep acknowledges the wider social networks that stood to access the beneficence of his tomb. The present study merely argues that similar sensibilities may apply in both monumental and non-monumental tomb/grave contexts. Should children be granted similar access to tomb architecture as other individuals in these contexts, we may gain insights into their cultural capacities, including their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society. ⁶⁵⁰

With these considerations in mind, it can be stated that 83 individuals among the sample were interred in tombs with superstructures (4.59% TBs; Figure 7.1); 1,199 individuals' tombs did not feature recognisable surface features (66.28% TBs); and the presence or absence of superstructures was not decisively published for the tombs of 527 individuals (29.13% TBs). In terms of substructures, the nature of 1,419 individuals' tombs was published (78.44% TBs; Figure 7.2), while no published data was available for the architecture of 390 individuals' graves (21.56% TBs). Tomb size data was published in a manner conducive to research for 23 superstructures and 185 substructures, while 59 unique tomb contexts were observed to feature some form of decorative/religious architectural features. Results of the CIF tomb architecture survey are elaborated, below.

7.2 Superstructures: Overview

The 83 incidences of superstructures observed amongst the sample were of 4 main architectural types: 68 were mastabas (81.93% total superstructures; henceforth, *TSUPs*), 12 were brick features (14.46% TSUPs), 2 were stone markers (2.41% TSUPs), and 1 incidence of post-holes was observed (1.20% TSUPs; **Figure 7.3**). It should be noted that the determination of tomb superstructures is notoriously difficult within Egyptian archaeology, as many original surface features may have been removed, destroyed or weathered over time. As such, it is not suggested that the number of superstructures represented here is an accurate reflection of the original archaeological record. Rather, offered instead are inferences regarding the potential nature and scope of CIF funerary monuments within the cultural periods canvassed by this research. Superstructure incidence is further described, below. Superstructure types of ≥11 published examples are

⁶⁴⁹ Simpson (2003: 420-421).

⁶⁵⁰ Castillos (2000: 255) only acknowledges child interments in large-sized graves when they are associated with adult females in the context of multiple burials.

described as a group, while individual cases are described for types of ≤ 10 published examples.

7.2.1 Mastabas

As aforementioned, 68 CIFs were observed to be interred in tombs featuring mastaba superstructures. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.2.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The West Bank of Lower Egypt features the most published examples of CIFBs associated with mastaba superstructures, with 35 observations precipitating from this region (**Table 7.1**; **Figure 7.4**). With just over half that amount, Dakhla Oasis is the next most frequent region, with 18 mastaba tombs appearing amongst published data. Evidence for 7 mastaba tombs was identified for the West Bank of Upper Egypt, 4 for the East Bank of Lower Egypt, 3 for the East Bank of Upper Egypt and a single example was recorded for the Eastern Nile Delta. No examples of CIFBs within mastaba superstructures were observed in the Western Nile Delta, West Bank of Middle Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

7.2.1.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical divisions, Lower Egypt holds the preponderance of mastaba superstructures, with 39 incidences observed amongst published data (**Table 7.2**; **Figure 7.5**). With exactly half this amount, Dakhla Oasis is the next most frequent region for mastaba tombs amongst the sample (MNI 18). Upper Egypt features evidence for 10 mastaba superstructures associated with CIFBs, while a single case was observed amongst the published record of the Nile Delta. There were no observations of CIFBs in association with mastabas in Middle Egypt.

7.2.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When arranged according to Nilotic geography, the West Bank region presents the greatest incidence of CIFBs associated with mastaba tombs (MNI 42; **Table 7.3**; **Figure 7.6**). While presenting substantially fewer examples, mastaba tombs were also observed in the Dakhla Oasis (MNI 18) and East Bank regions (MNI 7). As aforementioned, a single

incidence of mastaba superstructure was observed for CIFBs in the Nile Delta, while the phenomenon was absent from published accounts of the Faiyum.

7.2.1.4 Relative Chronology

Mastaba tombs were first built for adults during the Early Dynastic Period, ⁶⁵¹ and continued in use until the Middle Kingdom. Although the fewest examples of mastaba interments among the current dataset were attributed to the Early Dynastic Period, the presence of 5 CIFs within such funerary structures nonetheless indicates that they were given access to these tombs from their earliest occurrence (**Table 7.4**; **Figure 7.7**). With 43 incidences, the Old Kingdom presents the most examples of CIFBs associated with mastaba superstructures – more than all other periods combined. The First Intermediate Period presents the second most frequent observations of mastaba tombs, with 11 incidences attested amongst published data, followed closely by 9 observations within the Middle Kingdom record.

7.2.1.5 Site Types

All examples of mastaba tombs within the sample were observed within cemetery contexts (MNI 68; **Table 7.5**; **Figure 7.8**). No incidences were reported within settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

7.2.1.6 Age Categories

All age categories within the sample were identified in association with mastaba superstructures (**Table 7.6**; **Figure 7.9**). Of the known-age portion of the sample, Infants were most frequently associated with mastaba tombs, with 11 interments associated with this form of architecture. This was closely followed by 8 observations amongst Young Children, while 5 Older Children were buried in mastaba tombs. Unfortunately, age was not specified for the majority of CIFBs associated with mastaba superstructures (MNI 42). The mastaba tomb described for DRN 1389, the intact burial of a 10–12 year old child in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Giza on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, ⁶⁵³ appears to have been explicitly created for this individual. This potentially royal burial has been described

⁶⁵¹ Reisner (1936: 13, 367ff.); Grajetzki (2003: 7, 15, 24, 29, 34).

⁶⁵² Grajetzki (2003: 43).

⁶⁵³ Hassan (1941: 240).

elsewhere in this thesis due to its unique attestation of bodily wrapping in a gold sheet and its extensive mortuary assemblage.⁶⁵⁴

7.2.2 Brick Features

As aforementioned, 12 CIFBs were published in tombs with brick features as superstructures. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.2.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The majority of data for CIFBs with brick-feature superstructures was observed amongst the published records of the West Bank of Upper Egypt (MNI 6; **Table 7.1**; **Figure 7.10**). The East Bank of Upper Egypt, Eastern Nile Delta and West Bank of Middle Egypt were the only other regions to display this form of architecture, with 3, 2 and 1 examples observed amongst their published data, respectively. Brick-feature superstructures were not described for CIFBs within the Western Nile Delta, West Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis.

7.2.2.2 General Geographical Regions

A similar distribution is observed when the data is organised according to general geographical regions (**Table 7.2**; **Figure 7.11**). Here, 9 examples of brick-feature superstructures are attributed to CIFBs in Upper Egypt, while the Nile Delta and Middle Egypt feature 2 and 1 published examples, respectively. There were no incidences of brick-feature superstructures in Lower Egypt or Dakhla Oasis.

7.2.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When distributed according to Nilotic geographical regions, 7 CIFBs are described with brick-feature superstructures on the West Bank, 3 are observed on the East Bank, and 2 incidences were described amongst published data of the Nile Delta (**Table 7.3**; **Figure 7.12**). As outlined above, no CIFBs were reported with associated brick-feature superstructures in the Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

⁶⁵⁴ See §6.2.5, 6.8.

7.2.2.4 Relative Chronology

According to Reisner, brick-feature superstructures were first attested during the Early Dynastic Period.⁶⁵⁵ Within the present dataset, chronological distribution reveals a general pattern of diminution (**Table 7.4**; **Figure 7.13**). With 6 recorded incidences, the Early Dynastic Period features the most examples of CIFBs with brick-feature superstructures, followed closely by 5 observations during the Old Kingdom phase. This form of superstructure is completely absent from published First Intermediate Period data. The phenomenon then reappears in the Middle Kingdom, with a single example reported for this era.

7.2.2.5 Site Types

All examples of brick-feature superstructures within the sample were observed within cemetery contexts (MNI 12; **Table 7.5**; **Figure 7.14**). No incidences were reported within settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

7.2.2.6 Age Categories

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, equal representations of brick-feature superstructures were observed in burials of Infants and Older Children; each group was represented by 2 examples of this form of monument (**Table 7.6**; **Figure 7.15**). No incidences of brick-feature superstructures were identified amongst published burial data for Foetuses or Young Children. Unfortunately, ages were not recorded for the majority of CIFs buried beneath brick-feature superstructures (MNI 8).

7.2.3 Stone Markers

Both examples of stone-markers as grave superstructures are attributed to intact pit burials in the Middle Kingdom settlement of Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt (Tables 7.1–7.6). The first burial, DRN 107, was that of a 'male' perinatal infant (birth to 4 months *post partum*) whose prone and flexed body was wrapped in textile and placed on a bed of reeds within the grave. The excavator states that the grave appears to have been roughly covered and marked with a piece of flat sandstone (40.00 x 35.00 x 12.00cm) and 2 grinding stones. No grave goods were attributed to this burial. The second burial, DRN 110, was that of a 'male' foetus (<40 weeks) whose prone and semi-

⁶⁵⁵ Reisner (1936: 367).

⁶⁵⁶ von Pilgrim (1996: 42); *cf.* §§6.3.3, 6.3.4, 6.3.11, 6.4 for more information regarding the burial of this individual.

flexed body was placed inside a wooden coffin bearing traces of white plaster, then interred within the grave.⁶⁵⁷ The excavator believes that this grave may also have been marked with "amorphe Rosengranitbrocken".⁶⁵⁸ The foetus was provided with 2 grave goods: a biconical faience bead was found at chest level, under the back,⁶⁵⁹ and a ceramic vessel was upturned on top of the coffin lid.⁶⁶⁰

7.2.4 Post Holes

The only examples of surface post holes were observed surrounding the remarkable tomb of a 10–12 year old child at the Early Dynastic cemetery of Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt (Tables 7.1–7.6). This tomb, DRN 1134, featured a regular line of post holes along the Western and Northern perimeters, as well as a short line of 6 post-stains perpendicular to its Southern end. A further line of 26 post-stains was observed towards the East, running parallel to the Southern side of the tomb. Wood excavated from the burial chamber is believed to have been part of the original superstructure. Scientific testing has determined that this wood is of the *Acacia* species. This tomb features other noteworthy architectural elements which will be discussed below, as well as a vast array of grave goods which will be elaborated in Chapter 9.

7. 3 Substructures: Overview

Of the 1,419 substructures reported amongst the sample, 6 main architectural types were identified: 826 individuals were interred in pit graves (58.21% total substructures; henceforth, *TSUBs*), 350 in shaft graves (24.67% TSUBs), 150 in rock-cut tombs (10.57% TSUBs), 69 in multi-roomed shaft tombs (4.86% TSUBs), 13 in staircase tombs (0.92% TSUBs), and 11 individuals were buried in brick-built tombs (0.76% TSUBs; **Figure 7.16**). Substructure incidence is further described, below. Considering all substructure types feature ≥11 published examples, each type is described as a group.

⁶⁵⁷ von Pilgrim (1996: 137-138).

⁶⁵⁸ von Pilgrim (1996: 137).

⁶⁵⁹ See GGRN 320.

⁶⁶⁰ See GGRN 321.

Adams (2000: 27); cf. §6.7.4, fns. 582-583 for more information regarding the burial of this individual.

⁶⁶² Adams (2000: 111).

⁶⁶³ See §7.4.2.

⁶⁶⁴ See §9.1.

7.3.1 Pit Graves

As aforementioned, 826 CIFs amongst the sample were interred in pit graves. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.3.1.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Pit graves were widely attested in the sample and featured amongst the published records of all but 1 of the specific geographical regions included in this study (**Table 7.7**; **Figure 7.17**). The West Bank of Upper Egypt presented the most numerous account of pit burials, with 222 CIFs interred in this form of grave. The East Bank of Upper Egypt was the next most numerous region for pit burials (MNI 154), followed by the West Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 133) and East Bank of Lower Egypt (MNI 105). A data cluster was observed for the Dakhla Oasis (MNI 61), West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 59) and Eastern Nile Delta regions (MNI 50). There is then a substantial drop in the frequency of published pit burials: from 39 in the Western Nile Delta to 3 in the Faiyum. There are no CIF pit burials reported for the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

7.3.1.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical distribution, Upper Egypt presents the highest frequency of pit burials, with 376 CIFs interred in this form of grave (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.18**). Lower Egypt is the next most numerous region and has just over half this number: here, 238 CIFs were interred in pit graves. This is followed by the Nile Delta region, which presents 89 examples of this type of tomb architecture. The balance is almost evenly split between Middle Egypt and Dakhla Oasis: these regions were observed to have 62 and 61 reported examples of CIF pit burials, respectively.

7.3.1.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

With 414 examples of CIFBs in pit graves, the West Bank predominates amongst Nilotic geographical distributions of published data (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.19**). The East Bank is the next most numerous region, with 259 reported incidences of pit burials, followed by the Nile Delta, which presents 89 examples of the phenomenon. The Dakhla Oasis region has

61 published incidences of CIFBs in pit graves, while the Faiyum presents only 3 reported incidences.

7.3.1.4 Relative Chronology

Pit burials were attested for all members of the population throughout Egyptian history.⁶⁶⁵ The Early Dynastic Period holds the preponderance of pit graves in the present dataset, with 462 CIFs amongst the sample interred in this way (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.20**). This figure is more than 3 times the number presented by the next most numerous chronological phases, the Old and Middle Kingdoms, which coincidentally each featured 148 published observations of this form of funerary architecture. The fewest examples of pit burials were attributed to the First Intermediate Period: here, 68 incidences were observed.

7.3.1.5 Site Types

Pit graves of CIFs were observed in every mortuary context identified by this sample (**Table 7.11**; **Figure 7.21**). The overwhelming majority of pit graves were attributed to cemeteries, with 770 individuals interred in these communal funerary spaces (93.22% total pit graves; 54.26% total substructures). All 54 published examples of CIFBs in settlement contexts were in the form of pit graves. The interments within temple and funerary enclosure contexts (each with a minimum of 1 individual) were also described as pit burials.

7.3.1.6 Age Categories

Of the known-age component of the sample, 118 Infants were associated with pit burials (**Table 7.12**; **Figure 7.22**). Young Children closely follow this result, with 93 individuals identified in pit graves. Forty-three Older Children amongst the sample were also reportedly buried in this way, as were 31 Foetuses. Unfortunately, the ages of 541 CIFs buried in pit graves were not specified.

7.3.2 Shaft Graves

As aforementioned, 350 CIFs among the sample were interred in shaft graves. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general

⁶⁶⁵ Reisner (1936: 1, 365); Richards (1992: 80); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 4, 25, 37, 52, 71ff.).

and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.3.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Amongst specific geographical regions, shaft graves are most numerous on the East Bank of Upper Egypt (**Table 7.7**; **Figure 7.23**). This region accounts for 247 CIFBs in shaft graves of varying shapes and sizes. The next most frequent regions present substantially fewer numbers, with 35 incidences of shaft graves reported for the West Bank of Lower Egypt, 34 for the West Bank of Middle Egypt, 24 for the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and 10 for the East Bank of Lower Egypt. Shaft graves were unattested for CIFBs within the remaining regions, including the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis.

7.3.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical regions, the majority of data coalesces in Upper Egypt. Here, 271 CIFBs were described with shaft grave architecture (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.24**) – more than 3 times the total number of shaft graves in all remaining regions. Of these, only Lower and Middle Egypt featured examples of CIFBs in shaft graves amongst their published data, with 45 and 34 observations attributed to these areas, respectively. No incidences of shaft graves were attributed to either the Nile Delta or Dakhla Oasis regions.

7.3.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When the data is viewed according to Nilotic geography, incidences of CIFBs in shaft graves are restricted to 2 regions (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.25**). The East Bank accounts for the preponderance of data, with 257 CIF shaft graves recorded for this region. The West Bank, on the other hand, presents 93 incidences of this form of funerary architecture. There were no published examples of shaft graves amongst the Nile Delta, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

7.3.2.4 Relative Chronology

Shaft graves were first attested for adult burials in the Early Dynastic Period⁶⁶⁶ and continued to be employed, in varying degrees, throughout the pharaonic era.⁶⁶⁷ The fewest observations of shaft graves among the sample were attributed to the Early Dynastic Period: here, 25 CIFs were interred within this form of substructure (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.26**). An exponential increase in this form of funerary architecture is observed in the Old Kingdom, with 160 CIF shaft burials published for this period. There is a gradual decline in observations over the remaining chronological phases included in this study: 115 CIFs were reportedly buried in shaft graves during the First Intermediate Period, while 50 individuals are known to have received this form of interment during the Middle Kingdom.

7.3.2.5 Site Types

All examples of shaft graves amongst the sample are attributed to cemeteries (MNI 350; **Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.27**). There were no observations of CIFBs in shaft graves in any of the settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts identified by this study.

7.3.2.6 Age Categories

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, Older Children were most frequently associated with shaft grave architecture, with 29 examples attributed to this age group (**Table 7.12**; **Figure 7.28**). Young Children were the next most frequently observed group, with 15 individuals reportedly buried in shafts. Of the remaining age groups, 11 Infants were associated with shaft grave architecture, as were 2 Foetuses amongst the sample. Unfortunately, age was not published for the majority of CIFs interred in shaft graves (MNI 293).

7.3.3 Rock-Cut Tombs

As aforementioned, 150 CIFs within the dataset were interred in rock-cut tombs. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

⁶⁶⁶ Reisner (1936: 5, 365, 366); Grajetzki (2003: 8, 15).

⁶⁶⁷ Richards (1992: 80); Grajetzki (2003: 23, 36, 52, 71).

7.3.3.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Incidences of CIFBs in rock-cut tombs are almost entirely restricted to 1 specific geographical region: the West Bank of Upper Egypt (**Table 7.7**; **Figure 7.29**). Here, 147 individuals were reportedly interred within this elaborate form of funerary architecture. The only other observations of CIFBs in rock cut tombs were identified amongst published data of the Faiyum (MNI 2) and the West Bank of Middle Egypt (MNI 1). There were no reported incidences of CIF rock-cut tomb burials in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, West Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Dakhla Oasis and East Bank of Upper Egypt.

7.3.3.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to general geographical distributions, the data is concentrated within 2 regions (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.30**). Upper Egypt features the greatest number of examples, with 147 CIFs interred within rock-cut tombs in this region. This is followed by Middle Egypt, which presents 3 CIF rock-cut tomb burials amongst its published records. Such interments are absent from the remaining regions, including the Nile Delta, Lower Egypt and Dakhla Oasis.

7.3.3.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When distributed according to Nilotic geographical regions, the data is concentrated further (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.31**). In this configuration, 148 CIFBs in rock-cut tombs are attributed to the West Bank, while 2 were observed in the Faiyum region. There were no observations of CIF rock-cut tomb burials in the Nile Delta, East Bank and Dakhla Oasis regions.

7.3.3.4 Relative Chronology

Rock cut tombs were favoured among the higher socio-economic echelons during the midlatter phases of pharaonic history. The first attestations of rock-cut tombs for adult burials are attributed to the Old Kingdom. Children appear to have been provided contemporaneous access to this mode of burial. The Old Kingdom features the most examples of CIFBs in rock-cut tombs among the dataset, with 133 individuals interred in these elaborate funerary spaces (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.32**). The number of reported

⁶⁶⁸ Grajetzki (2003: 43, 69).

⁶⁶⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 15).

incidences declines to 4 amongst published data of the First Intermediate Period, then rises to 13 during the Middle Kingdom. As may be expected, there were no observations of CIFBs in rock-cut tombs in any Early Dynastic contexts.

7.3.3.5 Site Types

It is perhaps not surprising to report that all incidences of CIFBs in rock-cut tombs were described within cemeteries (MNI 150; **Table 7.11**; **Figure 7.33**). There were no observations of CIFBs in rock-cut tombs in any of the settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts identified by this study.

7.3.3.6 Age Categories

Fortunately, demographic reporting for interments within rock-cut tombs is quite detailed. As a result, we are able to construct relatively robust demographic profiles of the occupants of these tombs. Of all age groups, Older Children were most frequently interred in these funerary spaces, with 73 examples identified amongst the dataset (Table 7.12; Figure 7.34). This result is closely followed by the observation of 66 Young Children buried within rock-cut tombs. There is then a substantial decline to the next most numerous age group, Infants, with 3 individuals from this age category included in this mode of interment. Two Foetuses were also buried within rock-cut tombs. individuals interred in these structures were of Unspecified age. While no incidences of a child's sole-occupancy of a rock-cut tomb were observed within the dataset, there were certainly instances where individual burial chambers were wholly devoted to independent child interments. An example is DRN 1152, the intact burial of a 6-8 year old 'male' child in Sargkammer \beta of the Old Kingdom rock cut tomb necropolis of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt.⁶⁷⁰ The child was buried in a 105.00 x 51.00 x >30.00cm wooden coffin with a mortuary assemblage comprising ≥50 objects including ceramic vessels, stone vessels, a cosmetic palette, grinding stone, copper mirror, wooden boxes, ivory spoons and spatulas, and various pieces of jewellery.⁶⁷¹ The tomb chapel was decorated with carved relief and featured a false door.

⁶⁷⁰ Edel et al. (2008b: 101ff.).

⁶⁷¹ See GGRNs 2571-2620.

7.3.4 Multi-Roomed Shaft Tombs

As aforementioned, 69 CIFs amongst the sample were interred in multi-roomed shaft tombs. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.3.4.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The West Bank of Upper Egypt presents the most numerous account of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs, with 18 examples observed amongst the published data of this region (Table 7.7; Figure 7.35). This result is followed by observations of 16 CIF interments on the East Bank of Lower Egypt, 12 on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, and 10 interments each on the Western Banks of Lower and Middle Egypt. There were 2 observations of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs amongst published data for the Eastern Nile Delta, and a single example identified for Dakhla Oasis. The remaining regions produced no examples of this form of funerary architecture, including the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum.

7.3.4.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to general geographical distributions, Upper Egypt is seen to present the highest frequency of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs amongst the sample, with 30 examples attributed to this region (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.36**). This is closely followed by Lower Egypt, with 26 individuals reportedly interred within this type of tomb. Incidences then reduce to 10 observations amongst the published record of Middle Egypt, 2 observations in the Nile Delta, and a single burial is recorded for Dakhla Oasis.

7.3.4.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

According to Nilotic geographical distributions, the majority of data is attributed to the Western and Eastern Banks, with 38 (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.37**) and 28 observations in these regions, respectively. Otherwise, 2 incidences of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs were recorded for the Nile Delta, and a single burial was published data for Dakhla Oasis. Multi-roomed CIF shaft tomb burials were not observed in the Faiyum.

7.3.4.4 Relative Chronology

The appearance of multi-roomed shaft tombs is first noted for adult burials amongst the Early Dynastic archaeological record, then continues through Egyptian history. In reference to the current dataset, there appears to be a general incremental data trend for CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs from the Early Dynastic Period onwards, with the exception of the First Intermediate Period (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.38**). Sixteen individuals are described in this mode of burial during the Early Dynastic Period, increasing to 19 observations amongst published data for the Old Kingdom. A sharp decline to 4 interments is then observed during the First Intermediate Period, followed by a steep increase to 30 reported incidences in the Middle Kingdom.

7.3.4.5 Site Types

All examples of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs are attributed to cemeteries (Table 7.11; Figure 7.39). There were no observations of CIFBs in multi-roomed shaft tombs in any of the settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts identified by this study.

7.3.4.6 Age Categories

Of the known-age portion of the sample, there were 4 examples each of Infants and Young Children interred in multi-roomed shaft tombs (**Table 7.12**; **Figure 7.40**). The burials of 3 Older Children were also associated with this form of funerary architecture, as was that of a single Foetus. Unfortunately, ages of the greatest proportion of CIFs interred in multi-roomed shaft tombs were not specified (MNI 57).

7.3.5 Staircase Tombs

As aforementioned, 13 CIFs amongst the sample were interred in staircase tombs. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.3.5.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Despite the small number of CIFBs associated with staircase tombs amongst the dataset, they are relatively well-distributed across the specific geographical regions canvassed by

⁶⁷² Reisner (1936: 5, 365); Grajetzki (2003: 8, 71).

this study (**Table 7.7**; **Figure 7.41**). Three regions lay equal claim to the most published accounts of CIFBs in staircase tombs: the East Bank of Lower Egypt, Dakhla Oasis and the East Bank of Upper Egypt each feature 3 examples. These results are followed closely by 2 incidences of staircase tombs on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and single observations for the Western Banks of Lower and Middle Egypt. The remaining regions feature no published examples of CIFBs associated with staircase tombs, including the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum.

7.3.5.2 General Geographical Regions

When arranged to reflect general geographical distributions, Upper Egypt narrowly emerges with the most published examples amongst the dataset. Here, 5 CIFBs were associated with staircase tombs (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.42**). Lower Egypt immediately follows with 4 incidences, scarcely exceeding the 3 observations attributed to Dakhla Oasis. A single CIFB is reported within a staircase tomb in Middle Egypt, while the Nile Delta features no published examples of the phenomenon.

7.3.5.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When viewed according to Nilotic geographical distributions, the East Bank presents the most numerous accounts of CIFBs associated with staircase tombs, with 6 examples published for this region (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.43**). Four incidences of staircase tombs were reported for the West Bank, followed closely by 3 observations in Dakhla Oasis. No CIFBs were observed amongst the published records of the Nile Delta.

7.3.5.4 Relative Chronology

The first observations of staircase tombs for adult interments are attributed to the Early Dynastic Period.⁶⁷³ The most frequent associations within the present study were also during this era, with 8 published CIFBs observed in this mode of burial (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.44**). The Old Kingdom follows in both chronology and frequency, accounting for the remaining 5 examples amongst the dataset. There were no published examples of CIF interments in staircase tombs during the First Intermediate and Middle Kingdom periods.

⁶⁷³ Reisner (1936: 5, 365-366); Grajetzki (2003: 8).

7.3.5.5 Site Types

All examples of CIFBs in staircase tombs are attributed to cemeteries (**Table 7.11**; **Figure 7.45**). There were no observations of CIFBs in staircase tombs in any of the settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts identified by this study.

7.3.5.6 Age Categories

Fortunately, age was published for a substantial proportion of individuals interred in staircase tombs. Of these, Older Children are most frequently associated with this form of burial, with 6 individuals identified amongst the sample (**Table 7.12**; **Figure 7.46**). Infants were associated with half this number of tombs (MNI 3), while a single Young Child was reportedly interred in this way. There were no published incidences of Foetal burials within staircase tombs. Age was not specified for the 3 remaining individuals interred in this form of funerary architecture.

7.3.6 Brick-Built Tombs

As aforementioned, 11 CIFs amongst the sample were interred in brick-built tombs. These incidences may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

7.3.6.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Observations of CIFBs within brick-built tombs are restricted to 4 of the 10 specific geographical regions included in this study (**Table 7.7**; **Figure 7.47**). With 4 published burials, the Eastern Nile Delta has the most examples of this form of funerary architecture. Three incidences of CIFBs within brick-built tombs were observed amongst published data of both the Western Nile Delta and East Bank of Upper Egypt, while a single example was attributed to Dakhla Oasis. There were no observations in the remaining regions, including the West Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Lower Egypt, West Bank of Middle Egypt, East Bank of Upper Egypt.

7.3.6.2 General Geographical Regions

When organised according to distributions across general geographical regions, the Nile Delta emerges as the predominant region for CIFBs in brick-built tombs, with 7 individuals

reportedly interred in this manner (**Table 7.8**; **Figure 7.48**). With 3 examples, Upper Egypt is the next most frequent region, and the single incidence from Dakhla Oasis completes observations among the sample. There were no published examples of CIFBs in brick-built tombs from either Lower or Middle Egypt.

7.3.6.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When viewed according to Nilotic geographical regions, the Nile Delta maintains the highest frequency of CIFBs in brick-built tombs, with 7 observations amongst the dataset (**Table 7.9**; **Figure 7.49**). The East Bank features the next most numerous examples of the phenomenon, with 3 incidences identified amongst its published record. The single brick-built tomb described for Dakhla Oasis was highlighted in the preceding sections. Brick-built tombs were not described for any CIFBs within the West Bank and Faiyum regions.

7.3.6.4 Relative Chronology

Brick-built tombs are first observed for adult burials during the Early Dynastic Period.⁶⁷⁴ During the chronological phases canvassed by this study, there appears to be an incremental trend in the appearance of CIFBs in brick-built tombs, with the exception of the First Intermediate Period (**Table 7.10**; **Figure 7.50**). Commencing with the Early Dynastic Period, 2 individuals are described in this mode of burial. Continuing through to the Old Kingdom, 4 CIFs are observed with brick-built tombs; however as aforementioned, incidences fall sharply to zero during the First Intermediate Period. A resurgence is observed amongst Middle Kingdom published data, with 5 individuals observed in this form of funerary architecture.

7.3.6.5 Site Types

All examples of CIFBs in brick-built tombs are attributed to cemeteries (**Table 7.11**; **Figure 7.51**). There were no observations of CIFBs in brick-built tombs in any of the settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts identified by this study.

7.3.6.6 Age Categories

Of the known-age portion of the sample, Older Children were most frequently associated with brick-built tombs, with 3 individuals from this age category reportedly buried in such

⁶⁷⁴ Reisner (1936: 367).

structures (**Table 7.12**; **Figure 7.52**). One Young Child was described within a brick-built tomb, while there were no published examples of Infant or Foetal burials within this form of funerary architecture. Unfortunately, age was not disclosed for the majority of individuals interred in brick-built tombs (MNI 7).

7.4. Tomb Size: Overview

Architectural measurements were published for 723 individuals amongst the sample. The recording of such dimensions was extremely inconsistent across publications. It was often unclear to which parts of the tomb such measurements pertained;⁶⁷⁵ measurement series were often incomplete: usually only 2 out of 3 dimensions were provided,⁶⁷⁶ and in some cases only shaft depths were indicated;⁶⁷⁷ and measurement units (imperial or metric) were often either not clearly stated, or a combination of units were employed at different points in the same publication.⁶⁷⁸

To minimise error, measurements were subjected to an integrity assessment. Tombs with incomplete, inconsistent or unintelligible data were eliminated from analyses. Furthermore, to minimise duplication, multiple interments within single tomb structures were consolidated to single entries.⁶⁷⁹ Subsequent to these protocols, 23 tombs were eligible for superstructure size analysis, and 185 for substructure analysis.

While all care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of these analyses, it is acknowledged that the aforementioned data integrity issues significantly impact on our ability to make comprehensive statements regarding the size of tombs which housed deceased CIFs in ancient Egypt. Therefore, the proceeding results should be received with caution. At best, perhaps we can obtain an understanding of the tomb size-range to which this demographic group had access. Further to this, perhaps we can extrapolate the resources required to procure and produce such spaces, thus intimate the nature and scope of the deceased's cultural capacities and provide some indication regarding their social position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society.

⁶⁷⁵ For example, see DRNs 942, 898, 1312.

^{6&}lt;sup>76</sup> For example, see DRNs 187, 188, 217, 223, 243, 259, 263, 265, 280, 295, 297, 298, 386, 418, 427-429, 433, 434, 439, 442-445, 446, 458, 466-468, 478, 481, 482, 487, 611, 770, 771, 774, 1008, 1018, 1062, 1037, 1078, 1089, 1138.

⁶⁷⁷ See DRNs 45, 47, 71, 72, 98, 927, 942, 943, 1096, 1097.

⁶⁷⁸ For example, see Engelbach (1915).

⁶⁷⁹ For superstructures, see DRNs 389, 1401, 1403, 1407, 1408, 1410, 1412, 1413, 1416, 1433; for substructures see DRNs 113, 114, 116, 188, 429, 444, 446, 528, 537, 656, 867, 1036, 1433.

7.4.1 Superstructure Size

Subsequent to integrity tests and metric conversion, 23 tomb superstructures were deemed eligible for inclusion in size analyses (**Table 7.13**). The nature of the data determined that analyses should occur across 2 parameters: area and volume. This approach facilitates retention of a greater number of tombs: of those structures for which size data was published, the majority recorded only length and width measurements (area), far fewer also featured height dimensions (volume).

In terms of area, of the 23 CIF tomb superstructures included in analyses, the mean superstructure measurement was 55.23m². The smallest published superstructure was 0.14m². This tomb, DRN 107, was the intact pit burial of a neonatal infant within the Middle Kingdom settlement of Elephantine, affiliated with the East Bank of Upper Egypt. The superstructure consisted of a rudimentary stone arrangement: a large, flat piece of sandstone measuring 0.40 x 0.35 x 0.12m and 2 grinding stones.

The largest superstructure was 512.00m², observed for DRN 1138, the disturbed Old Kingdom burial of a 2 year old 'male' child in a wooden sarcophagus within galleries beneath a mastaba tomb in Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt.⁶⁸¹ The mastaba, measuring 16.00 x 32.00m, combined with a step pyramid and bastioned and panelled enclosure wall to form the unfinished funerary enclosure of King Horus Sekhemkhet, second ruler of the Third Dynasty. The entire complex measures 481.30 x 166.60m (80,184.58m²). The child's burial was the only extant interment within the complex. 'He' was provided with an unspecified quantity of stone vessels, remnants of gold foil and gemstones as part of 'his' funerary assemblage.⁶⁸²

In terms of volume, 12 CIF tomb superstructures were eligible for inclusion in size analysis. Here, the mean superstructure measurement was 117.19m³. The smallest published superstructure measured 0.02m³, for DRN 107, the same neonatal settlement burial described for Elephantine, above. The largest published superstructure measured 1,933.89m³, DRN 673, the disturbed burial of a child of unspecified age beneath a mastaba in Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt.⁶⁸³ The mastaba, dating to the Old Kingdom, measured 16.40 x 8.80 x 13.40m and featured a cruciform chapel and 11 extant

 $^{^{680}}$ von Pilgrim (1996: 42). Cf. §§ 7.2.3, 6.3.3, 6.3.4, 6.3.11, 6.4 for further details regarding this burial.

⁶⁸¹ Lauer (1976: 137-140). It is not known how sex was determined in this case.

⁶⁸² See GGRNs 2535-2537.

⁶⁸³ Reisner (1932: 232-233).

niches on its Southern face, 8 extant niches on the Northern face, and 1 extant niche on the Western face. The burial of another individual of unknown age and sex was also associated with this structure. The child was interred in a ceramic red-ware cist-coffin and was accompanied by a mud vessel – described by the excavator as a "flower pot" – as a funerary offering.⁶⁸⁴

7.4.2 Substructure Size

Subsequent to integrity tests and metric conversion, 185 tombs were deemed eligible for inclusion in substructure size analyses (**Table 7.14**). As described above, the nature of the data required analyses to be restricted to area and volume. For some tombs, a range of measurements were published; for example, DRN 665, where burial chamber measurements were recorded as 1.80 x 0.80-1.70 x 0.60m. In these cases, the minimum measurement was selected for computation.

In terms of area, the mean substructure measurement was 2.96m². The smallest published substructure was 0.22m², that of DRN 837 from Abu Rawash, on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. This Early Dynastic grave is described as a pit burial with a separate chamber, measuring 0.55 x 0.40m². It housed the body of a child of unspecified age in a basketry coffin. The largest published substructure was 45.75m², being that of DRN 1138, the child buried within the unfinished funerary enclosure of King Horus Sekhemkhet at Saqqara, described above. The gallery in which the child was placed measured 2.10 x 17.50m, accessed by a shaft measuring 3.00 x 3.00m.

In terms of volume, 136 CIF tomb substructures were eligible for inclusion in size analysis. Mean substructure volume was 4.85m³. The smallest published substructure size was 0.17m³, belonging to DRN 78, a child of unspecified age in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Qau el-Kebir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt.⁶⁸⁸ This shaft grave of questionable condition measured 0.30 x 0.91 x 0.61m and contained not only the child's body but also a suite of grave goods including a ceramic vessel, some blue faience beads, and a blue faience scarab with hieroglyphic symbols inscribed on the base.⁶⁸⁹

⁶⁸⁴ See GGRN 1278; Reisner (1932: 233).

⁶⁸⁵ See also DRNs 659, 664, 665, 871-874, 1399-1401, 1407, 1408.

⁶⁸⁶ Klasens (1960: 71).

⁶⁸⁷ Lauer (1976: 137-140).

⁶⁸⁸ Brunton (1927b: pl. ii); Petrie (2000: sheet 10).

⁶⁸⁹ See GGRNs 235-237.

The largest published substructure was 34.20m³, being that of DRN 1134, the monumental child's tomb from Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. The tomb measured 5.70 x 3.00 x 2.00m. It was lined with mudbrick walls 2 courses thick, on the surface of which traces of mud- and white-mica plaster were detected. There were two benches constructed at opposing ends of the tomb, as well as a deeper excavation in the centre with 2 or 3 possible post-holes carved into the bedrock. The roof was lined with wooden planks.

7.5 Decorative/Religious Features

The sample was also examined in order to determine whether or not any CIFs were interred in tombs featuring extant decorative/religious architectural elements. While it is acknowledged that in many cases these tombs and their decorative/religious schemes were not specifically created for the CIFs interred within, ⁶⁹³ what is of key interest to this study is determining the nature and scope of CIFs' access to various types of funerary architecture as a marker of their cultural capacity, reflective of their social position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society. Moreover, as will be argued in Chapter 8, according to ancient Egyptian beliefs anyone interred or named within these mortuary spaces was entitled to their beneficence.

A minimum of 181 CIFs amongst the sample were identified in tombs with 1 or more extant decorative/religious architectural elements. Of these, 140 individuals were observed in multiple burial contexts with other CIFs, reducing the number of unique tomb contexts to 59 tombs. Of these, 39 tombs featured 1 or more extant decorative/religious elements, producing a total of 96 observations, including 30 tombs with false doors, 20 with cult spaces including chapels and/or niches, 19 with plaster finishing, 18 with painted/carved scenes and/or inscriptions, 5 with a serdab, 2 with stelae, and 2 were fitted with wood panelling (Figure 7.53).

7.6 Summary

This chapter has examined the results of the archaeological survey in order to determine the nature and scope of CIFs' access to funerary architecture during the Egyptian Early

⁶⁹⁰ Adams (2000: 26-27, 75-128, 162, 182-183); Cf. §§7.2.4, 6.7.4, fns. 582-583 for further details regarding this burial.

⁶⁹¹ Adams (2000: 27).

⁶⁹² Adams (2000: 157).

⁶⁹³ See §7.1, above.

Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. Significantly, this data indicates that CIFs were included in a diverse range of mortuary spaces. While the present study does not claim that all funerary monuments identified by this study were purpose-built explicitly for the CIFs interred within them – although in many cases they certainly were – it must also be acknowledged that not every adult interred within a tomb can be identified as its exclusive owner, either. Many Egyptian tomb-types were deliberately designed to house a number of burials, not just that of the tomb owner. Of key interest here is the determination of an individual's cultural capacity – adults and children alike – to access such monuments as a marker of their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society.

In terms of tomb superstructures, CIFBs were identified in tombs with mastabas, brick features, stone markers and post holes. The issue of representativeness is of particular concern for this aspect of mortuary behaviour. In addition to the usual challenges of under-reporting and poor publication levels, the true nature and scope of superstructure incidence is obscured by their removal following both natural and cultural transformation processes over millennia. Notwithstanding these obstacles, individuals from all age groups and periods included in this research were variably attested in tombs with superstructures across all general and Nilotic regions, with the exception of the Faiyum. In terms of differential distribution across site types, all forms of superstructure were attested in cemeteries, with the exception of stone markers. These were the only form of superstructure observed in published settlement burial contexts.

A wide range of substructures were also attested among the sample, including pit graves, shaft graves, rock-cut tombs, multi-roomed shaft tombs, staircase tombs and brick-built tombs. These substructure types were variably attested among the dataset across all general and Nilotic regions, in all periods, across all age groups included in this research. All substructure types were observed in cemetery contexts, while pit burials were the only form of substructure employed in CIF settlement burials. It should be noted that in each case where new super- and substructure architectural types were introduced during the periods canvassed by this study, children and adults appear to have been afforded contemporaneous access, including mastaba and brick feature superstructures and all substructure types except pit graves, which were introduced during the Predynastic Period. This finding suggests that access to architectural innovation was determined according to socio-economic and political statuses, as opposed to age. Dependent on parents'/carers'

access to resources, it appears that they were free to choose from a variety of interment options for their deceased child, infant or foetus.

It thus appears that CIFs had access to an extensive array of funerary architecture. With the possible exception of certain modes of burial preserved for royalty, such as pyramid tombs, CIFs were included in every contemporary structural category within the Egyptian funerary repertoire. Indeed, this caveat may even be challenged when considering the burial of a 2 year old child within the unfinished Old Kingdom step pyramid complex of King Horus Sekhemkhet at Saqqara. While a general trend was observed among the dataset towards greater access to larger and more elaborate funerary architecture with increasing age, this Saqqara example also indicates that such a rule cannot be comprehensively imposed.

The occasion of children's deaths would have caused parents/carers to mobilise their resources for the procurement and production of mortuary spaces, the nature and scope of which reflected children's cultural, religious and socio-economic integration. Indeed, the size-range of children's tombs, as well as their inclusion in mortuary spaces with such decorative/religious schemes as false doors, cult spaces, plastered/painted/wood panelled/carved wall furnishings, serdabs and stelae provide no indications of cultural ostracism. In fact, the reverse appears to be true. The nature and scope of CIFs' access to funerary architecture among the periods investigated by this research appears to at least equal — and in some notable cases, surpass — that of contemporary adult burials. The qualitative implications of these results will be further discussed in Chapter 10.

CHAPTER 8: ASSOCIATED FEATURES

Spatial relationships between human burials and other features in the archaeological record are analogous to dialogues between and amongst individuals, kinship groups, communities, structures and ideologies. When viewed through this lens, analyses of spatial relationships facilitate reconstructions of social networks amongst and between communities of the living and the dead, ⁶⁹⁴ and explicate the cultural capacities of their constituents. ⁶⁹⁵ Results of such analyses may then be extrapolated to illuminate aspects of the lived experiences of individuals and communities in ancient Egyptian society. 696 The spatial relationships of child, infant and foetal burials have been subject to varying interpretations in Egyptian archaeology. Some scholars only include children's burials in their analyses when they are present in adults' graves. 697 Others excuse children's presence amongst 'adult' archaeological spaces as deviant, "intrusive" behaviour. 698 At best, such treatments restrict children's roles in archaeological dialogues within the bounds of passivity, relativism and tokenistic inclusion; at worst, they are completely excluded. With a view to determining what the spatial relationships of juvenile burials reveal about their position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian social networks, data derived from the archaeological survey described in §1.4.4 was analysed to ascertain the nature and scope of child, infant and foetal burial associations during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom periods. In accordance with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research and its respective theoretical considerations are presented below. Qualitative analyses will be presented in Chapter 10.

8.1 Overview

For the purposes of this exercise, an associated feature is defined as any immovable component of the archaeological record – including other burials – with which a child, infant or foetal burial directly physically communicates, adjoins, abuts, intersects or corresponds. Of the 1,809 individuals included in the sample, associated features were

Meskell (1999b: 117; 2002: 210); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 9); Richards (2003: 405); Stevenson (2009a: 183-185).

⁶⁹⁵ Pettitt (2006: 293); Laneri (2007: 1).

Rowland (2004: 1004) discusses the capacity of spatial relationships to act as legitimizing statements of relationship strength with ancestors.

⁶⁹⁷ For example, see Castillos (2000: 255).

⁶⁹⁸ For example, see Garstang (1907a: 102).

identified for 490 CIFs (27.09% TBs; **Figure 8.1**), while 905 CIFs were buried independently in self-contained graves (50.03% TBs). Unfortunately, the spatial relationships of the remaining individuals amongst the sample were unclear as 411 CIFs' burial associations were unstated (22.72% TBs), while that of the final 3 individuals was ambiguous (0.17% TBs).

Of the 490 CIFs observed with associated features, 487 were identified in spatial relationships of various configurations with other human burials (99.39% total associated features; henceforth, TAFs; Figure 8.2), the burials of 2 individuals were connected with pyramids (0.41% TAFs), and 1 individual was associated with an unknown feature (0.20%) TAFs).⁶⁹⁹ Incidences of associated features will be further elaborated, below. Spatial relationships with human burials will be classified according to 2 types of burial associations: 'multiple' burials (that is, 'shared' burials within the same primary context), and 'corresponding' burials (that is, burials in related contexts). In order to determine the extent of these phenomena amongst the dataset, burial configurations were counted by incidence, not by individuals. Of the 487 CIFs amongst the sample associated with other human burials, some individuals were simultaneously engaged in both multiple and corresponding burial configurations. As such, the overall sum of multiple and corresponding burial incidence is greater than this base number. Incidences of multiple and corresponding human burials are first described according to distributions in specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories. Further to this, the nature and scope of burial associations between CIFs and other individuals in the archaeological record are examined according to demographic and structural configurations. Incidences of associations with pyramids and unknown features are presented on a case-by-case basis.

8.2 Multiple Burials: Incidence

Of the 487 CIFBs identified in spatial relationships with other human burials, there were 222 incidences of 'multiple' burials. Relatively few scholars have commented on the phenomenon of multiple burials in ancient Egypt.⁷⁰⁰ According to Grajetzki, multiple

Interestingly, there were no observations among the dataset of CIFBs associated with animal interments, a phenomenon often reported in the archaeology of other cultures; for example, see Fahlander (2008: 36-38).

Murray (1956: 90); Hendrickx (1984); Niwiński (1984); Feucht (1995); Thomas (2004); Grajetzki (2003; 2007); Rowland (2003: 66); Quirke (2005: 113ff.); Stevenson (2006; 2009a: 184); Harrington (2007: 61). The subject has also received limited treatment in the archaeology of other cultures; see Mizoguchi (2000); Jiao (2001: 52); Stoodley (2002); Crawford (2007); Shepherd (2007: 99); Littleton (2011).

burials only became common during and after the late Middle Kingdom, 701 with single burials as the "rule" in the Predynastic, Old Kingdom and early Middle Kingdom The only acknowledged exceptions to this rule pertain to the "common" practice in the Predynastic, First Intermediate and early Middle Kingdom periods of "plac[ing] husband and wife in a single tomb." Feucht, on the other hand, acknowledges that children are attested in multiple burials, and extrapolates familial associations from these interment types by stating that all adults buried with children were their "mother", 704 "father", 705 or parents. 706 In terms of the present study, familial associations were only able to be reliably determined in 1 case of multiple burial amongst the sample, that of DRN 536 at the Old Kingdom cemetery of el-Hagarsa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, 707 where aDNA testing was employed to confirm genetic relationships between individuals in Otherwise, the only opportunity to determine genetic this multiple burial context. relationships via burial associations with confidence is in the case of adult/adolescent females buried with a foetus in situ, of which there were 6 instances amongst the sample.708

For the purposes of this study, 'multiple' burials are defined as any interments of 2 or more individuals within the same primary context, most likely occurring at the same time. ⁷⁰⁹ In the case of pit and some shaft graves, this generally necessitates that burial of deceased individuals would have taken place at the same time. In the case of other tomb structures,

⁷⁰¹ Grajetzki (2003: 72, 86, 102, 126).

Grajetzki (2003: 58). Murray (1956: 90), on the other hand, states that multiple burials were only prevalent in the Amratian Period and then only occurred under the framework of "foreign influence". *Contra* Castillos (1982a: 127); Midant-Reynes (2003); Friedman *et al.* (2011: 174), who all attest to the phenomenon from the Predynastic Period onwards.

Grajetzki (2003: 58; 2007: 16, 19, 22, 26). Grajetzki's (2007: 23) further suggestion that the bodies of predeceased spouses or family members were kept in storage until their partner or other family members died in the Middle Kingdom is unsubstantiated.

⁷⁰⁴ Feucht (1995: 128, 130-131; 2001a: 262); *cf.* Garstang (1901: 25); Petrie *et al.* (1912: 5); Hamada & Farid (1948: 308); Strouhal (1992: 21); Grajetzki (2003: 83; 2007: 19, 20).

⁷⁰⁵ Feucht (1995: 130, 131; 2001a: 262); cf. Hamada & Farid (1947: 204; 1948: 307); Grajetzki (2007: 23).

Feucht (1995: 133); cf. Hamada & Farid (1947; 1948); Hamada & el-Amir (1947); Davis (1983: 27); Yacoub (1983); Cagle (2003a; 2003b); Grajetzki (2003: 72; 2007: 23, 26); Harrington (2007: 61); Spieser (2008: 501).

⁷⁰⁷ Kanawati (1993a: 56-62, 86; 1993b: 36-38).

See DRNs 39, 403, 511, 958, 960, 1394. DRN 831 may also be included amongst this group as it is possible that the excavator has described the phenomenon of postmortem foetal extrusion (also known as 'Sarggeburt' or 'coffin birth'), whereby the accumulation of putrefactive gasses in the abdomen applies pressure on the uterus, causing it to prolapse and expel the foetus via the birth canal; see Jungmichel & Musick (1941); Panning (1941); Schulz et al. (2005); Lewis (2007: 36).

Stoodley (2002: 106) refers to this category of multiple burials as "contemporary". Multiple burials are distinct from a "mass grave", inasmuch as a mass grave is defined as "any location containing two or more associated bodies, indiscriminately or deliberately placed, of victims who have died as a result of extra-judicial, summary or arbitrary executions, not including those individuals who have died as a result of armed confrontations or known major catastrophes"; Jessee & Skinner (2005: 56).

such as brick-built tombs, multiple-roomed shaft graves, staircase tombs and rock-cut tombs, it is exceedingly difficult to prove simultaneous burial in the absence of highly detailed stratigraphical and/or archaeothanatological reports⁷¹⁰ – the majority of archaeological publications lack such analyses. In any case, what is of interest here are the deliberate actions (choices) of those burying the dead to place bodies within shared funerary spaces, regardless of timing, as opposed to the provision of autonomous burial. Although broader spatial relationships amongst and between *all* cemetery occupants are of interest, the present study is restricted to analysing only those interments with which a child, infant or foetal burial directly physically communicates. Multiple burial incidence may be further described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

8.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Multiple burials were identified in 9 of the 10 specific geographical regions included in this study. The most prolific region for the phenomenon was the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with 67 CIFs reportedly interred in this way (**Table 8.1**; **Figure 8.3**). This was followed by the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 62 incidences of multiple burial, and 34 examples for the West Bank of Middle Egypt. Equal numbers of multiple burials were described for the Western and Eastern Banks of Lower Egypt, while observations did not exceed single figures in the Eastern Nile Delta (MNI 9), Western Nile Delta and Dakhla Oasis (each with MNI 7), and Faiyum regions (MNI 2). There were no published incidences of CIF multiple burials in the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

8.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to general geographical regions, Upper Egypt has the highest frequency of CIF multiple burials amongst the dataset, accounting for 129 examples of the phenomenon (**Table 8.2**; **Figure 8.4**). The next most numerous region, Middle Egypt, featured 36 incidences of child burials in shared primary contexts: 3.5 times fewer observations than Upper Egypt. Following this, 34 incidences were described amongst the published record of Lower Egypt, and 16 examples were observed for the Nile Delta. The

Archaeothanatology is the study of the dynamic processes that take place within the grave/tomb following initial deposition of the body. It is concerned with distinguishing between post-depositional movement that may occur as a result of either the natural decomposition of the body and other organic elements within the burial, and/or cultural practices that may include disturbance/s of the grave. See Duday (2006).

Dakhla Oasis region presented the lowest incidence of multiple burials, with 7 CIFs reportedly buried in this way.

8.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised according to Nilotic geographical distributions, the data is concentrated in 2 regions: the West Bank features 118 observations of CIF multiple burials (**Table 8.3**; **Figure 8.5**), and the East Bank presents 79 examples amongst published records. The remaining regions feature substantially fewer accounts of the phenomenon, with 16 observations attributed to the Nile Delta, 7 in the Dakhla Oasis region, and 2 multiple burials identified in the Faiyum.

8.2.4 Relative Chronology

It may be said that CIF multiple burials are well-represented within each of the chronological phases included in this study (**Table 8.4**; **Figure 8.6**). The Old and Middle Kingdoms feature equal observations, each with 72 accounts of the phenomenon. The Early Dynastic Period presents the next most numerous account of this aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour, with 52 published examples identified within this cultural phase. With 26 incidences of CIFBs in shared primary contexts, the First Intermediate Period presented the fewest examples of multiple burials amongst the dataset.

8.2.5 Site Types

Among the 4 site types identified by this study, cemeteries dominate multiple burial data, with 213 CIFs observed in shared primary interments in such contexts (**Table 8.5**; **Figure 8.7**). Beyond this, 8 individuals were observed in multiple burial configurations in published settlement sites, while at least 1 child, infant or foetus was part of a mass-burial within a temple complex. There were no observations of CIF multiple burials within funerary enclosures.

8.2.6 Age Categories

Of the known-age portion of the sample, Infants predominate as most frequently interred in shared primary contexts with other individuals (MNI 27; **Table 8.6**; **Figure 8.8**). Older and Younger Children are almost equally represented in multiple burials amongst the sample, with 20 and 19 incidences reported for these age-groups, respectively. Foetal

⁷¹¹ Contra Murray (1956: 90) and Grajetzki (2003: 58); see §8.2, above.

burials feature the fewest published incidences of the phenomenon, with 8 examples identified amongst this age group. Unfortunately, age-at-death was not published for the majority of CIFs attested in multiple burials amongst the sample, with the absence of 148 individuals' demographic data substantially impacting on our understanding of this important facet of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour.

8.3 Multiple Burials: Nature and Scope

The sample was also examined in order to determine the nature and scope of multiple burial configurations amongst the CIFs of the Egyptian archaeological record. According to published data, multiple burials manifested in the following configurations: 'simple' multiple burials with other CIFs, 'simple' multiple burials with adults/adolescents, 'combined' multiple burials with adults/adolescents, and 'combined' multiple burials with adults/adolescents and other CIFs. For the purposes of this study, 'simple' multiple burials are defined as any burial of a child, infant, or foetus within the same primary context as another individual/s from a single demographic category: for example, the burial of an infant with an adult female.⁷¹² On the other hand, 'combined' multiple burials are defined as any burial of a child, infant, or foetus within the same primary context as other individuals from more than 1 demographic category: for example, the burial of an infant with an adult female and an adult male. It should be noted that in some cases, exact numbers of individuals interred within multiple burials were not published. On these occasions, a minimum number of '1' was counted for each demographic category explicitly mentioned by the excavator. 713 Incidences of multiple burial configurations are elaborated, below.

8.3.1 Simple Multiple Burials with Other CIFs

Among the sample, 41 individuals were found to be engaged in simple multiple burial configurations with another child, infant or foetus (**Figure 8.9**). Of the known-age portion of the sample, Infants were most frequently interred in multiple burials with other CIFs, with 7 examples cited amongst published data. This was followed by 4 observations of Young Children and a single example of an Older Child placed in a multiple burial with another child. There were no observations of Foetuses in simple multiple burial contexts with other CIFs amongst the sample. Unfortunately, age-at-death was not published for 29

Griswold (1992: 61) counts multiple burials of women with newborns as a single burial, thus denying both categories of individuals independent social identities.

For example, see DRNs 82-84, 282-283, 630, 634.

individuals identified in multiple burials. The maximum number of CIFs interred in this multiple burial configuration was 4, the minimum was 2, and the mean was 2.31.

8.3.2 Simple Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents

We may also consider incidences of children, infants or foetuses interred in the same primary contexts as adult/adolescent males, females, and individuals of unknown sex. Within the dataset, 18 CIFs were identified in simple multiple burial configurations with 21 adult/adolescent males, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:1.17 (**Figure 8.10**). The maximum number of adult/adolescent males observed in a multiple burial context with a single child, infant or foetus was 4. In terms of age distributions, 1 Foetus, 1 Young Child, 4 Older Children and 12 individuals of Unspecified Age were observed in simple multiple burials with adult/adolescent males (**Figure 8.11**). There were no published examples of Infants in simple multiple burials with adult/adolescent males.

The survey revealed that 54 CIFs were identified in shared primary contexts with 61 females, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:1.13 (**Figure 8.10**). The maximum number of adult/adolescent females observed in a multiple burial context with a single child, infant or foetus was 3. In terms of age distributions, 6 Foetuses, 9 Infants, 7 Young Children, 3 Older Children and 29 individuals of Unspecified Age were observed in simple multiple burials with adult/adolescent females (**Figure 8.12**).

Unfortunately, biological sex data was not provided for many of the adults/adolescents identified in simple multiple burial contexts. Here, 33 CIFs were engaged in multiple burials with 42 adults/adolescents of unknown sex, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:1.27 (Figure 8.10). The maximum number of adults/adolescents of unknown sex observed in a multiple burial context with a single child, infant or foetus was 4. In terms of age distributions, 3 Infants, 4 Young Children, 5 Older Children and 21 individuals of Unspecified Age were observed in simple multiple burials with adults/adolescents of unknown sex (Figure 8.13). There were no published examples of Foetuses in simple multiple burials with adult/adolescents of unknown sex.

8.3.3 Combined Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents

Within the sample, 13 CIFs were identified in combined multiple burial contexts with 36 adults/adolescents from differing demographic categories: 14 adult/adolescent males, 17 adult/adolescent females, and 1 adult/adolescent of unknown sex, producing a burial ratio

of 1.00:1.07:1.31:0.08 (Figure 8.14). A maximum of 2 adult/adolescent demographic categories were observed amongst these combined multiple burials. Male:Female:Child configurations were observed on 12 occasions, while there was and 1 observation of a Female:Unknown Sex Adult/Adolescent:Child burial among published data. The maximum number of adult/adolescent males observed in a combined multiple burial was 2, the maximum number of adult/adolescent females was 5 and, as aforementioned, there was 1 observation of a combined multiple burial with an adult/adolescent of unknown sex. In terms of age distributions, there was 1 Foetus, 3 Infants, 1 Older Child and 8 Individuals of unspecified age interred in combined multiple burials with adults/adolescents (Figure 8.15). There were no published examples of Young Children in combined multiple burials with adults/adolescents.

8.3.4 Combined Multiple Burials with Adults/Adolescents and Other CIFs

The survey identified 62 children in multiple burial configurations with adults/adolescents and other CIFs. To provide a more detailed analysis of the nature and scope of these burials, each burial was calibrated to a single child, infant or foetus, and the remaining constituents were counted according to demographic categories. It should be noted that in some cases, exact numbers of individuals interred within multiple burials were not published. On these occasions, a minimum number of '1' was counted for each demographic category explicitly mentioned by the excavator. Further to these considerations, 29 children, infants and foetuses were identified in multiple burial configurations with 11 adult/adolescent males, 20 adult/adolescent females, 24 adult/adolescent individuals of unknown sex, and 33 other children, infants and/or foetuses, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.38:0.69:0.83:1.14 (Figure 8.16).

A maximum of 3 demographic categories were observed among these combined multiple burials. Unknown Sex Adult/Adolescent:Child:Child configurations were observed on 15 occasions, Female Adult/Adolescent:Child:Child configurations were observed on 8 occasions, Male Adult/Adolescent:Female Adult/Adolescent:Child:Child configurations were observed on 4 occasions, and there were 2 observations of Male Adult/Adolescent:Child:Child multiple burials amongst the sample.

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 5 Infants, 3 Young Children, 6 Older Children and 48 individuals of Unspecified Age were attested in combined multiple burials with

⁷¹⁴ See DRNs 82-84, 282, 283, 630.

adults/adolescents and other CIFs (**Figure 8.17**). There were no published examples of Foetuses in combined multiple burials with adults/adolescents and other CIFs.

8.4 Corresponding Burials: Incidence

Of the 487 CIFs identified in spatial relationships with other human burials, 293 individuals were observed in 266 'corresponding burial' associations. For the purposes of this study, 'corresponding burials' are defined as any interments of 2 or more individuals in related contexts, most likely occurring at different times. These are distinguished from multiple burials which are observed within a shared primary context, most likely occurring at the same time. Examples of corresponding burials may include: secondary-context burials explicitly communicating, adjoining, abutting, intersecting or corresponding with primary-context burials; burials in discreet *loci* of the same tomb; subsidiary/satellite burials surrounding a central/focal burial; and burials in disturbed contexts which, although clearly associated, can no longer be scrutinised according to primary/secondary-context configurations. Incidences of corresponding burials may be further described according to their manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

8.4.1 Specific Geographical Regions

Corresponding burials were observed in 7 out of the 10 specific geographical regions included in this study. The West Bank of Upper Egypt had the majority of corresponding burials, with 161 incidences identified amongst the published record (**Table 8.1**; **Figure 8.18**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences, with 54 examples cited for Dakhla Oasis, 29 for the West Bank of Lower Egypt, 24 for the East Bank of Upper Egypt, 20 for the East Bank of Lower Egypt, 3 for the West Bank of Middle Egypt, and 2 observations were made for the Eastern Nile Delta. There were no published examples of CIFs in corresponding burial associations in the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

8.4.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to distributions across general geographical regions, Upper Egypt clearly dominates with 185 CIFBs engaged in this aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour (**Table 8.2**; **Figure 8.19**). Far fewer observations of corresponding burials were

made among the published data of the remaining regions, with 54 incidences identified for Dakhla Oasis, and 49 examples observed in Lower Egypt and the Nile Delta (MNI 2).

8.4.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised to reflect Nilotic geographical distributions, the data is concentrated on the West Bank. Here, 193 CIF corresponding burials were identified amongst published data (**Table 8.3**; **Figure 8.20**). The next most numerous region, Dakhla Oasis, presents 54 observations, while the East Bank features 44 examples of corresponding burials: more than 4 times less than its geographical counterpart. Substantially fewer incidences were reported for the Nile Delta with only 2 examples cited for this region. As discussed in §8.4.1, there were no published observations of CIFs in corresponding burials in the Faiyum.

8.4.4 Relative Chronology

In terms of chronological incidences, the highest frequency of CIF corresponding burials were observed amongst published data of the Old Kingdom, with a total of 169 examples attributed to this cultural phase (**Table 8.4**; **Figure 8.21**). Results are more balanced among the remaining chronological periods included in this study, with 50 incidences pertaining to the Middle Kingdom, 46 to the First Intermediate Period, and 28 examples were identified amongst the Early Dynastic component of the sample.

8.4.5 Site Types

The clear majority of CIF corresponding burials were observed amongst published cemetery data. Here, 278 incidences were described (**Table 8.5**; **Figure 8.22**), compared to 15 examples in settlement contexts. There were no reported incidences of CIF corresponding burials in either temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

8.4.6 Age Categories

All age categories included in this sample feature strong representations of corresponding burials (**Table 8.6**; **Figure 8.23**). Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, Young Children are most frequently reported in corresponding burial configurations, with 77 incidences described amongst published data. While Older Children follow closely with 74 observations, Infants and Foetuses present substantially fewer cases of corresponding burial, with 29 and 24 examples identified for these age categories, respectively.

Unfortunately, age-at-death was not published for the majority of corresponding burials among the sample (MNI 89).

8.5 Corresponding Burials: Nature and Scope

The sample was examined in order to determine the nature and scope of corresponding burial associations between CIFs and other individuals within the Egyptian archaeological record. Matters of key interest include determining the demographic profiles of corresponding burials, as well as the nature of spatial relationships within the funerary context. These matters are expounded, below.

8.5.1 Corresponding Burials: Demographic Overview

To facilitate accurate analysis of the corresponding burial phenomenon, each interment was calibrated to a single child, infant or foetus. The remaining constituents were then counted according to demographic categories. In cases where the exact number of individuals interred within a corresponding burial was not published, a minimum number of '1' was counted for each demographic category explicitly mentioned by the excavator.⁷¹⁵ It should also be noted that the assignment of sex to adults in both multiple and corresponding burial contexts was dubious on several occasions. Some excavators displayed a tendency to sex adult skeletons based on their associations with children, with a distinct bias towards 'female' designation. 716 Such designations align with the aforementioned tendency to apportion parental roles in multiple/corresponding burial contexts.⁷¹⁷ In 1 case, the sex of the associated adult differed in the same report, ⁷¹⁸ and in another instance biological sex was assigned based on a gendered assessment of grave goods, 719 a phenomenon noted in Chapter 4 of this thesis.⁷²⁰ Notwithstanding these challenges, 153 CIFs were observed in corresponding burials with 311 adult/adolescent males, 254 adult/adolescent females, 148 individuals of unknown age/sex, and 142 other children, infants or foetuses, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:2.03:1.66:0.97:0.93 (Figure 8.24).

⁷¹⁵ For example, DRN 1420.

⁷¹⁶ See DRNs 4, 6, 137, 1425, 1426; cf. Patch (2007: 252, fn. 4).

See §8.2, above. Such tendencies have also been noted in the archaeology of other cultures; see Stoodley (2002: 115).

Perhaps a typographical error. See DRN 1127; Adams (1987: 20-21).

⁷¹⁹ See DRN 39.

⁷²⁰ See §4.3.

A maximum of 4 demographic categories were observed amongst corresponding burials.⁷²¹ In descending order of frequency, overall demographic configurations of corresponding **burials** were Unknown Age/Sex Individual/s:Child/ren (70 cases); Male Adult/Adolescent/s:Female Adult/Adolescent/s:Child/ren (37 cases): Male Adult/Adolescent/s: Female Adult/Adolescent/s: Unknown Age/Sex Individual/s:Child/ren (13 cases); Child/ren:Child/ren (10 cases); Female Adult/Adolescent/s:Child/ren (8 cases); Male Adult/Adolescent/s: Child/ren (8 cases); and Male Adult/Adolescent/s: Unknown Age/Sex Individual/s:Child/ren (7 cases).

Age-at-death distributions for CIFs engaged in corresponding burials were reported in §8.4.6, above (Figure 8.23).

8.5.2 Corresponding Burials: Nature of Association

As aforementioned, 153 incidences of corresponding burials were observed among the sample. The following corresponding burial configurations were observed in descending order of frequency: burials in highly disturbed contexts; mutually associated burials within antecedent burial space; burials within discreet tomb contexts; burials in mutual association; corresponding *and* multiple burials in discreet tomb contexts; burials in antecedent burial space; and burial via archaeological intervention. Incidences of corresponding burial configurations are further elaborated, below. In all categories, each corresponding burial was calibrated to a single child, infant or foetus. The remaining constituents were then counted according to demographic categories.

8.5.2.1 Corresponding Burials in Highly Disturbed Contexts

The survey revealed 47 cases of CIF corresponding burials in highly disturbed spaces where all evidence of primary context had been lost. All incidences of this burial configuration were identified within the Old to Middle Kingdom use-phases of the rock-cut tomb necropolis of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. Here, 47 children were described in corresponding burials with 280 Adult/Adolescent Males, 230 Adult/Adolescent Females, 18 Individuals of Unknown Age/Sex, and 85 other CIFs, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:5.95:4.89:0.38:1.80 (Figure 8.25).

⁷²¹ See DRNs 390, 1159, 1161, 1162, 1167, 1190, 1218, 1225, 1249, 1250, 1274, 1286, 1290.

A maximum of 4 demographic categories were observed for burial configurations in these There were 30 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child/ren configurations; 12 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s: Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren configurations; 3 observations of Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child/ren configurations; and 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren configurations.

In terms of age-at-death distributions, all 132 CIFs amongst the sample observed in corresponding burials within highly disturbed contexts were of known-age, including 2 Foetuses, 3 Infants, 62 Young Children and 65 Older Children (Figure 8.26).

8.5.2.2 Mutually Associated Corresponding Burials within Antecedent Burial Contexts (*versus* "Intrusive" Burials)

Thirty-four cases of mutually associated corresponding burials within antecedent burial contexts were observed amongst the sample. This configuration accounts for many of the so-called "intrusive" burials among the literature, 723 that is, secondary burials associated in vertical/horizontal stratigraphical relationships with each other, within another individual/s antecedent primary burial space. The present study is reluctant to perpetuate the term "intrusive" for these burials as it semantically assigns negative, elitist, deviant connotations to one of the most widespread practices in Egyptian mortuary culture. In nature, 'intrusive burials' bear all the characteristics of cultural investment. In scope, their sheer abundance is indicative of normative behaviour. The present study proposes "corresponding burials within antecedent burial contexts" as an alternative phrase, as it offers a scientific description of the spatio-temporal archaeological relationships of these burials while removing cultural judgement.

As discussed in Chapter 7,⁷²⁴ it was the Egyptians' intention that monumental royal and private funerary architecture should have the capacity to purposefully cater for the corresponding burial of family/community members via the optional provision of multiple burial shafts and/or chambers.⁷²⁵ The present study argues that while the physical expressions of corresponding burial in communal cemetery contexts (clustering,

⁷²² See DRNs 1159, 1161, 1162, 1167, 1190, 1218, 1225, 1249, 1250, 1274, 1286, 1290.

⁷²³ See also §8.5.2.6, below. For example, see Quibell (1923: 18); Reisner (1932: 232); Weinstein (1973: 405); Redford (2000: 18); Grajetzki (2007: 16).

⁷²⁴ See §7.1.

⁷²⁵ Cf. Goedicke (1988:196-197, 199).

intercutting, and/or insertions)⁷²⁶ may be less formal and structured than in monumental tombs, they nonetheless bear the same ontological premise. As evidenced by the Coffin Texts, 727 it was the greatest wish of Egyptians to be posthumously reunited not only with their families, 728 but also with their wider social networks. The Egyptians actively and explicitly sought to generate continuing bonds⁷²⁹ with their fathers, ⁷³⁰ mothers, ⁷³¹ children, 732 brethren (and their relatives), 733 dependants, 734 friends, 735 loved ones, 736 companions, 737 concubines, 738 associates, 739 workers, 740 and servants. 741 In death, as in life, they considered themselves "incomplete" without them. 742 As such, it is reasonable to extrapolate that the spatial relationships observed in the necropolis mirrored corporeal relationships held on earth. The present study therefore suggests that corresponding and multiple⁷⁴³ burial configurations may have comprised of individuals from any of the preceding groups.

Working examples of the broad social networks described above can be seen in the vast Old Kingdom mastaba cemeteries of Giza and Saggara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. Here, posthumous beneficence derived from proximity to royal or noble tombs has long been promoted as an acceptable practice within archaeological narratives of aristocratic mortuary

726 Crawford (2007: 84).

Meskell (2001: 35).

For example, with reference to Faulkner (1973: 113, 116, 121-124), Spell 131: "The Sealing of a Decree Concerning the Family: The Giving of a Man's Family [to Him] in the Realm of the Dead": Spell 134: "Spell for Sealing a Decree for a Man Concerning His Family"; Spell 135: "Recitation for Sealing a Decree Concerning the Family and for Giving a Man's Family to Him in the Realm of the Dead"; Spell 136: "Assembling a Family in the Realm of the Dead"; Spell 142: "Assembling for Him the Dependants of N Who are in the Realm of the Dead"; Spell 143: "Assembling N's Family for Him in the Realm of the Dead and Giving His Family to Him in the Realm of the Dead"; Spell 144: "Spell for Assembling the Family"; and Spell 146: "Assembling a Man's Family for Him in the Realm of the Dead", "Assembling the Family, Father, Mother, Friends, Associates, Children, Women, Concubines, Servants, Workers and Everything Belonging to a Man for Him in the Realm of the Dead. A Spell a Million Times Right". 728

Lloyd (1989: 120); Klass et al. (1996); Walter (1996); Klass & Walter (2001).

CT 131.151; CT 144.178; CT 146.181, 185, 186, 192; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³¹ CT 131.151; CT 146.182, 185, 186, 192; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³² CT 131.151; CT 136.164; CT 146.182, 183, 186, 193; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³³ CT 131.151; CT 136.164; CT 146.182, 187; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³⁴ CT 131.151; CT 142.174; CT 143.176; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³⁵ CT 146.182, 187, 193; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³⁶ CT 146.182, 187, 193; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

⁷³⁷ CT 136.164; cited in Faulkner (1973).

CT 146.183, 184, 193; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

CT 146.182, 184, 189, 193; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

CT 146.205; cited in Faulkner (1973).

CT 131.151; CT 146.182, 189, 195; all cited in Faulkner (1973).

CT 141 II.174; cited in Faulkner (1973). Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Macquarie University, pers. comm., also cites the presence of family members in Old Kingdom wall scenes of fishing and fowling as further indicators of filial affection, semantically indicating the tomb owner's desire to be joined by his family members in perpetuity. For example, see the Old Kingdom tomb of Ibi at Deir el-Gebrawi on the East Bank of Middle Egypt, South Wall, East of Entrance: Kanawati (2007: 27ff., pls. 7-10, 45-46, 67).

See §8.2, above.

behaviour.⁷⁴⁴ The present study suggests that similar sensibilities also translate to those outside aristocratic spheres and, in conjunction with the personal wishes articulated within the Coffin Texts, two further lines of argument are offered to support this claim. Firstly, all evidence suggests that fundamental religious beliefs, such as basic afterlife entitlement, permeated all socio-economic groups in Egypt. Therefore, it follows that groups/individuals of meagre means would also be eligible to seek perpetual beneficence via proximity to more affluent groups/individuals' tombs. Secondly, the ontological underpinnings of such religious beliefs were the social obligations of the centralised, redistributive Egyptian economy. Even when this model evolved to feature elements of free enterprise, those of greater means shared resources with impecunious family members and dependents.⁷⁴⁵ In agreement with Assmann's "Versorgungsgemeinschaft", 746 the present study argues that this model was perpetuated into the funereal realm, with spatially-determined beneficences manifesting via associations between and amongst burials across the mortuary landscape. Membership in such a community was the "only way for the deceased to partake of the sustenance of the gods", 747 and the very act of sharing was what granted membership into the gods' community.

To refer to corresponding burials as "intrusive" fails to account for the agency of those orchestrating burials – as well as that of the deceased themselves – to mobilise space as a mechanism which creates and assures deliberate, perpetual dialogues between and amongst living and dead individuals and communities within mortuary landscapes. Following Schiffer and Crawford, the present study views primary, antecedent burials as a 'systemic context', as they are invested with meaning and retain a physical and metaphorical place within social memory. In this framework, Mizoguchi views subsequent associated burials as demonstrative statements of remembrance which deliberately locate the deceased in multiple constellations of the living and the dead. Here, diachronic spatial dialogues forge continuing bonds between antecedent burials, which in turn create their own synchronic systemic context with which their own kinship group or community may

⁷⁴⁴ Kemp (1991: 239); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 9, 19).

Kemp (1991: 239-240) cites as an example the First Intermediate Period Hekanakht archives.

⁷⁴⁶ Assmann (1989: 145-146, 152); cf. Assmann (1976: 16-20).

⁷⁴⁷ Assmann (1989: 145).

⁷⁴⁸ Baines (1991: 147); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 9); Pettitt (2006: 293); Robb (2007: 291, fn. 1); Hopwood (2008: 120).

⁷⁴⁹ Schiffer (1976: 27-28); Crawford (2007: 84); cf. Shepherd (2007: 99).

Mizoguchi (2000: 143); cf. Baines & Lacovara (2002: 19); Crawford (2007: 84, 86). Pettitt (2006: 293) also argues that notions of fixed dichotomies between the living and the dead are "products of enlightenment thought"; symptomatic of the "modern, scientifically informed and anti-superstitious world".

engage: a pattern which may be repeated over time. Harrington argues that ancestors may have had a special role in protecting children, adding a further dimension to funereal spatial relationships involving children and adults. That such spatial relationships were intended to be intergenerational is exemplified by the interconnected funerary constructions of Hepi-kem the Black (grandfather), Sobekhotep (Hepi the Black, father), and Pepi-ankh the Black (son) in the Old Kingdom rock-cut necropolis of Meir on the West Bank of Middle Egypt; then in later times by the New Kingdom tomb of Paheri at Elkab on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Paheri's tomb was constructed next to that of his grandfather, the warrior hero Ahmose Son of Abana, which Paheri also claims to have built. Continuing bonds can be traced for at least five generations inside Paheri's tomb, as he is depicted receiving offerings from his children and his children's children $msw\ msw=f$), while his father, mother, grandfather and grandmother also all feature in his banqueting scenes.

Within the present dataset, 34 CIFBs were described in mutually associated burials within antecedent burial contexts with 10 Adult/Adolescent Male/s; 6 Adult/Adolescent Female/s; 41 Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex; and 9 other CIFs, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.29:0.18:1.20:0.26 (Figure 8.27). The presence of both adults *and* CIFs is significant in this context: clearly, engagement with antecedent burials was not restricted to the youngest members of the population. Moreover, as noted above, associations in this context may not be restricted to the primary antecedent burial. Spatial dialogues, with all their politico-religious implications, should be viewed as occurring amongst and between antecedent and subsequent interments within mortuary communities.

For the social production and significance of space, see Tilley (1994: 10).

Harrington (2005: 79) argues that ancestors may have had a special role in protecting children, adding a further dimension to funereal spatial relationships involving children and adults.

Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Macquarie University, pers. comm.; cf. Richards (2007) for her discussions of the spatial relationship between the tombs of the 6th Dynasty official Weni and his father Iuu in the Middle Cemetery at Abydos.

⁷⁵⁴ 18th Dynasty; Tylor & Griffith (1894).

⁷⁵⁵ Tylor & Griffith (1894: 24).

Tylor & Griffith (1894: 18, pl. x); Feucht (1995: 524); Meskell (2001: 35). Khewen-wekh also represents his grand-daughter in his Old Kingdom tomb at Quseir el-Amarna on the East Bank of Middle Egypt; El-Khouli & Kanawati (1989: 37, 47, 56). The involvement of grandchildren in the burial ritual (at least in name) has also been observed in material culture. Edel (1966: 50) notes that votive offering pots excavated from the burial of a certain Lady Ipi in the necropolis of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt were inscribed with the names of her children and grandchildren.

⁵⁷ Tylor & Griffith (1894: 23, pls. v-vi).

⁷⁵⁸ For example, see DRNs 140-144, 146-148, 153-154, 872, 876-880, 881, 882-897, 928.

⁷⁵⁹ Stoodley's (2002: 106) "consecutive" burials.

A maximum of 3 demographic categories were observed in burial configurations in this context. There were 30 observations of Individual's of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child/ren; 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Individual's of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; and 1 observation of Child/ren:Child/ren configurations.

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 43 CIFs amongst the sample were observed in mutually associated corresponding burials within antecedent burial contexts: 19 Foetuses, 6 Infants, 2 Older Children and 16 individuals of Unspecified Age (**Figure 8.28**). There were no observations of Young Children within this burial category.

8.5.2.3 Corresponding Burials within Discreet Tomb Contexts

The survey revealed 20 cases of corresponding burials within discreet tomb contexts. This configuration accounts for synchronic burials interred within different parts of the same tomb. Here, 20 CIFs were described in such configurations with 4 Adult/Adolescent Males; 1 Adult/Adolescent Female; 22 Individuals of Unknown Age/Sex; and 9 other CIFs, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.20:0.05:1.10:0.45 (**Figure 8.29**).

A maximum of 3 demographic categories were observed in burial configurations in this context. There were 12 observations of Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; 2 observations of Child/ren:Child/ren; 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male:Child/ren; 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Female:Child/ren; and 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male:Adult/Adolescent Female:Child/ren configurations.

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 29 CIFs amongst the sample were observed in corresponding burials within discreet tomb contexts: 7 Infants, 6 Young Children, 1 Older Child and 15 individuals of Unspecified Age (**Figure 8.30**). There were no observations of Foetuses within this burial category, whatsoever.

8.5.2.4 Mutually Associated Corresponding Burials

Among the dataset, 18 cases of corresponding burials were observed in mutually associated contexts. This configuration accounts for burials associated by direct vertical/horizontal stratigraphical relationships. These burials are distinct from configurations described in §8.5.2.2, above, inasmuch as the interments do not appear to

⁷⁶⁰ See DRNs 876, 878.

⁷⁶¹ See DRN 770.

have taken place in *antecedent* burial contexts. The 18 CIFs within this category were identified in association with 4 Adult/Adolescent Males; 1 Adult/Adolescent Female; 8 Individuals of Unknown Age/Sex; and 15 other CIFs, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.22:0.06:0.44:0.83 (**Figure 8.31**).

A maximum of 2 demographic categories were observed in burial configurations in this context. There were 8 observations of Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; 7 observations of Child/ren:Child/ren; 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male:Child/ren; 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Female:Child/ren configurations.

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 33 CIFs among the sample were observed in mutually associated corresponding burials: 1 Foetus, 10 Infants, 4 Young Children, 2 Older Children and 2 Children of Unspecified Age (**Figure 8.32**).

Four observations were made of mutually associated corresponding burials in noteworthy contexts. The first two examples, DRNs 783 and 784, are the disturbed shaft graves of children of unspecified ages serving amongst 62 subsidiary burials to a royal tomb, described by the excavator as that of the third king of the First Dynasty Uadji (Djed), in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Abydos.⁷⁶³ The graves are roofed with timber, above which has been placed a layer of reed matting to prevent the filling from falling into the grave. The grave walls are faced with mud plaster. Each grave had a rubble-filled domed mudbrick superstructure with a small niche at the South end of the East façade. Extant grave goods include 3 ceramic vessels in the first child burial, and 2 ceramic vessels in the second interment.⁷⁶⁴

The remaining mutually associated corresponding burials in noteworthy contexts were those of DRNs 1388 and 1389, both located in the Old Kingdom mastaba fields of Giza on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. The former, DRN 1388, was the interment of a Young Child in a shaft grave with a burial niche associated with the mastaba tomb of Re'-Wer. The latter, DRN 1389, was the burial of a 12 year old 'male' child in 'his' own limestone-constructed mastaba tomb with burial shaft and chamber. This burial has already been described by this thesis, due to its unique example of funerary treatment: the child was wrapped in a

⁷⁶² See DRNs 92, 100, 652, 653, 769, 783, 784, 792, 898, 927, 1388-1390, 1451.

⁷⁶³ Emery (1954: 5-6, 13, 33).

⁷⁶⁴ See GGRNs 1503-1507.

⁷⁶⁵ Hassan (1932: 58).

⁷⁶⁶ Hassan (1941: 240).

gold sheet, placed in a wooden coffin, and furnished with an assemblage of over 90 grave goods. The Pertinent to the present discussion however, is the fact that the child's mastaba uses the Northern wall of the larger antecedent mastaba of Prince Kai as its Southern wall, establishing not only a *terminus post quem* of the child's tomb construction, but also consolidating a significant spatial dialogue. Hassan interprets the association as evidence that the child was a member of the royal family. The same property of the royal family.

8.5.2.5 Corresponding and Multiple Burials within Discreet Tomb Contexts

The survey identified 14 cases of corresponding *and* multiple burials within discreet tomb contexts. This configuration accounts for synchronic burials which are not only multiple in nature but also correspond with other interments located in different parts of the same tomb. Here, spatial dialogues between individuals and groups of individuals extend across specific contexts. Fourteen CIFs were described in such configurations with 11 Adult/Adolescent Males; 14 Adult/Adolescent Females; 17 Individuals of Unknown Age/Sex; and 14 other CIFBs, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.79:1.00:1.21 (**Figure 8.33**).

A maximum of 4 demographic categories were observed in burial configurations in this context. There were 4 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child/ren; 4 observations of Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; 4 observations of Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child/ren; 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren; 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male:Child/ren; and 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male/s:Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Individual/s of Unknown Age/Sex:Child/ren configurations.

Within this category, 3 individuals were observed in corresponding and multiple burials within the same noteworthy context: DRNs 881, 1125 and 1126 were all interred in the burial chamber of the mastaba tomb of Governor Ima-Pepi in the late Old Kingdom/early First Intermediate Period cemetery of Balat in the Dakhla Oasis. The first multiple burial, DRN 881, was that of a foetus, interred within a ceramic vessel in the same primary context as the Governor himself.⁷⁷⁰ While an abundance of grave goods were described in this context, the only item that was reliably associated with the foetus was a quantity of

⁷⁶⁷ See §§7.2.1.6, 6.2.5, 6.8.

⁷⁶⁸ Hassan (1941: 240).

⁷⁶⁹ See DRN 390.

⁷⁷⁰ Minault-Gout (1992: 43).

beads, some of which were covered in gold foil.⁷⁷¹ The corresponding multiple burials of DRNs 1125 and 1126 were those of children of unspecified ages, interred within the burial chamber during its secondary-use phase along with 2 adults of unknown sex. An assemblage of 2 ceramic globular vessels and 1 bivalve shell was provided for DRN 1125,⁷⁷² while DRN 1126 was provided with 8 ceramic globular vessels and 1 bivalve shell.⁷⁷³

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 28 CIFs amongst the sample were observed in corresponding and multiple burials within discreet tomb contexts: 2 Foetuses, 1 Older Child and 25 individuals of Unspecified Age (**Figure 8.34**). There were no observations of Infants or Young Children in this burial category.

8.5.2.6 Corresponding Burials in Antecedent Burial Contexts

Among the sample, 18 cases of corresponding burials were observed in antecedent burial contexts. This configuration accounts for secondary-context burials within another individual/s' primary-context burial space. Such interments are also referred to as "intrusive" among the literature, particularly when seemingly 'non-elite' secondarycontext burials adjoin, abut or intersect with 'elite' antecedent tombs/graves. This category of burials is distinct from those described in §8.5.2.2, above, as they are not associated with any other secondary-context burials, only that of the antecedent/s. While examples of this form of interment proliferate amongst elite burials, they are not considered "intrusive" in such contexts. For example, a doorway was cut into the antecedent decorated wall of the Old Kingdom tomb of the Vizier Mereruka in the Teti Cemetery at Saqqara to create an entrance to the mortuary chapel of Mereruka's son, Meri-Teti.⁷⁷⁴ Rather than being 'intrusive', the excavator describes such associations as "communicating". The present study merely appeals for similar considerations to be given to "communicating" or 'corresponding' burials in non-elite contexts. Here, 18 CIFs were described in such configurations with 2 Adult/Adolescent/Males; 2 Adult/Adolescent Females; and 15 Individuals of Unknown Age/Sex, producing a burial ratio of 1.00:0.11:0.11:0.83 (Figure 8.35). There were no Child: Child corresponding burials in this context.

⁷⁷¹ See GGRN 1632.

⁷⁷² See GGRNs 2342, 2343.

⁷⁷³ See GGRNs 2344-2346.

Entrance cut into the Pillared Hall A13; Kanawati et al. (2010: 39).

Prof. Naguib Kanawati, Macquarie University, pers. comm.

A maximum of 3 demographic categories were observed in burial configurations in this context. There were 14 observations of Individual's of Unknown Age/Sex:Child; 2 observations of Adult/Adolescent Female/s:Child; 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male:Child; and 1 observation of Adult/Adolescent Male:Individual of Unknown Age/Sex:Child configurations. Once again, the presence of both adults and children should be noted in this context. Moreover, there were 2 incidences among the sample whereby adult interments were subsequent to an antecedent child burial.

One observation was made of corresponding burial in noteworthy antecedent burial context: DRN 158, the disturbed pit burial of a 3–5 year old child in the North-East corner of the mastaba of Prince Netjer-Aperef in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Dahshur on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. 778

In terms of age-at-death distributions, 18 CIFs amongst the sample were observed in corresponding burials within antecedent burial contexts: 3 Infants, 5 Young Children, 2 Older Children and 8 individuals of Unspecified Age (**Figure 8.36**). There were no observations of Foetuses in this burial category.

8.5.2.7 Corresponding Burial via Archaeological Intervention

One case of corresponding burial via modern archaeological intervention was observed amongst the sample. This burial, DRN 124, accounts for the reburial of 9 children, 27 adults, more than 800 ceramic vessels and an unspecified quantity of stone vessels by Zaki Saad in a so-called "storage tomb" at the Early Dynastic cemetery of Helwan on the East Bank of Lower Egypt. Saad did not record the provenance of these human remains, so all original associations have been lost. Nevertheless, cultural transformation processes such as archaeological intervention should be acknowledged within diachronic analyses and as such, these individuals are represented here. In the absence of published age-at-death distributions and sex assessments, reporting is restricted to a simple Adult:Child burial ratio of 3.00:1.00.

⁷⁷⁶ See DRN 874.

^{&#}x27;'' See DRNs 685, 871.

⁷⁷⁸ Alexanian (1999: 168).

⁷⁷⁹ Köhler (2003: 18).

8.6 Burials Associated with Pyramids

Two individuals amongst the sample are engaged in burial associations with pyramids. The first, DRN 50, is the burial of a 5 months *post-partum* neonate in the marl bank on the North side of the Southern sand trench surrounding the base of the Middle Kingdom pyramid of Senwosret II at Lahun on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. The deposit was covered with broken marl chips. The body was placed in a plain wooden box, marked at the Southern end with the seal of an Official of the Treasury. The burial was furnished with 1 limestone and 2 ceramic bowls as grave goods. Brunton explains the presence of this burial as a "foundation sacrifice". The present study disagrees with this interpretation and offered a historiographical appraisal of Brunton's comments in Chapter 2 of this thesis.

The second burial, DRN 1138, is the interment of a 2-year old 'male' child within the gallery of the South tomb of the unfinished Old Kingdom monumental funerary complex of Horus Sekhemkhet, second ruler of the Third Dynasty, at Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. The complex featured a step pyramid, similar to that of Horus Sekhemkhet's predecessor Djoser, as well as a bastioned and panelled enclosure wall. Lauer explains the presence of the burial as follows:

"The child was certainly not the king, who would have rated a more luxurious coffin made of alabaster or hardstone. It could only be a young prince who died a short time after his father's death, perhaps during a distant campaign, and this might explain why the king's body was not buried beneath his pyramid and why the building of his funerary monument had suddenly been cut short."⁷⁸⁵

It is certainly possible that the child interred within the gallery may have been the offspring of Horus Sekhemkhet. However, in alignment with arguments offered earlier in this chapter, 786 the present study is inclined to interpret this burial merely as that of a child somehow imbricated in the king's broader familial and/or social networks.

⁷⁸⁰ Petrie et al. (1923: 4).

⁷⁸¹ See GGRNs 80-82.

Petrie *et al.* (1923: 4). Weinstein (1973: 403, 415) states that there is no textual or archaeological evidence for human foundation sacrifice in pharaonic Egypt.

⁷⁸³ See §2.4.

⁷⁸⁴ Lauer (1976: 137-140); see §§7.4.1, 7.4.2, 7.6 for further details regarding this burial.

⁷⁸⁵ Lauer (1976: 139).

⁷⁸⁶ See §8.5.2.2, fns. 727-742.

8.7 Unknown Features

One burial, DRN 66, is known to have been associated with at least 1 other feature in the archaeological record, but the nature of association is not clear. The interment is the intact burial of a child of unspecified age, wrapped in reed matting and placed on a funerary bed somewhere within the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Beni Hasan on the East Bank of Middle Egypt. The precise grave location and type are not disclosed. Very few details are available for this burial; although Garstang describes it as "intrusive", he does not provide any information regarding the nature and scope of the antecedent burial space, nor of the individual to whom it belongs.

8.8 Summary

This chapter has examined CIFB associations during the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. Data was derived from the survey of all available archaeological publications pertaining to this timeframe, supplemented by unpublished material from the ACE Helwan Project. Analyses sought to determine what the nature and scope of CIFB associations reveals about their position, value and agency amongst and between the communities of the living and the dead. The majority of individuals among the sample were interred in independent graves, thus establishing that autonomous burial was well within the cultural capacity of this demographic group. Of those CIFs for whom associated features were attested, the majority consisted of spatial relationships with other human burials. Far fewer CIFs were observed in association with other features, including 2 pyramids and a structure of unknown nature.

The study identified 2 broad categories of human spatial relationships in Egyptian mortuary contexts: multiple burials and corresponding burials. Each category featured further distinctions in order to accommodate for the manifold ways that space may be mobilised by individuals, kinship groups and communities in the context of the burial ritual. Multiple burials – that is, any interments of 2 or more individuals within the same primary context – were variably attested among the sample for all age groups, across all general and Nilotic geographical regions, in all chronological periods, across all socioeconomic strata, and in all site types except funerary enclosures. These findings expand the nascent understandings of this phenomenon within Egyptian mortuary behaviour, as it

⁷⁸⁷ See GGRN 210.

⁷⁸⁸ Garstang (1907a: 102).

⁷⁸⁹ Garstang (1907a: 102).

has previously been restricted to occasional burials of male and female 'couples' prior to the Middle Kingdom, with somewhat broader demographic attestations thereafter. Indeed, relative to publication rates, the fairly balanced observations across all chronological periods within this study suggest that it was a normative, enduring cultural practice.

Overall, of all the juvenile age categories, Infants were most frequently identified within multiple burial configurations, dispelling notions that these practices were restricted to older members of the community. Further analysis of these configurations determined that children were most likely to be interred with other children; then with an adult of one demographic category (male or female, but most often, due to poor recording, with an individual of unknown sex); followed by adults of more than one demographic category; and finally with adults and other children.

Corresponding burials – that is, any interments of 2 or more individuals in related, not shared, contexts – were also variably attested among the sample for all age groups, across all general and Nilotic geographical regions except the Faiyum, in all chronological periods, across all socio-economic strata, in both settlement and cemetery contexts. In this case, Young Children were most commonly observed in corresponding burial associations. A variety of configurations were identified for this mode of burial amongst the sample. Most frequently, children were engaged in spatial relationships with individuals of unknown sex and age, again highlighting the poor reporting of many archaeological publications. Further to this, children were seen to be interred with individuals from all demographic groups in every conceivable configuration.

Corresponding burials were identified across a wide range of contexts, most frequently in highly disturbed spaces where all evidence of primary context had been lost. The next most frequent observations were of CIFs in mutually associated burials within antecedent burial space, followed by burials within discreet tomb contexts, burials in mutual association, burials featuring corresponding *and* multiple burial configurations within discreet tomb contexts, burials in antecedent burial space, and finally, burial via archaeological intervention.

The major findings of this chapter are threefold. Firstly, the discovery of children in multiple burial contexts prior to the Middle Kingdom extends current understanding of this facet of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour. The articulation of the nature of multiple burials also contributes to knowledge in this area. Here, the attestation of burials which

include all demographic groups in every conceivable configuration quashes the supposed 'rule' that only adult male and female 'couples' were engaged in such posthumous spatial relationships.

Secondly, assumptions regarding the nature of these spatial relationships must be called into question. This research identified many instances where scholars apportioned familial (husband, wife) and genetic (mother, father, parent) relationships based on burial association alone. Within the entire dataset, familial relationships were only able to be reliably established for one burial group through aDNA typing. In the absence of such scientific tests, the only other cases where genetic relationships may be inferred are those of adult/adolescent females buried with a foetus in situ. While it is accepted that some of the multiple burials within the dataset may have been those of parents and children, it is highly improbable that all cases of multiple burial represent simultaneously deceased individuals from the same immediate family.⁷⁹⁰ Such sustained, consistently localised mortality rates would have had devastating effects on community fecundity, cohesion, economy and politics. Moreover, such interpretations cannot account for the variety of demographic configurations presented here. Multiple burials are more likely to replicate wider individual, kinship, community, structural and ideological social networks, 791 spatially manifest as continuing bonds between and amongst deceased individuals from all these groups.

Thirdly, this research has questioned the current conceptions of 'corresponding burials' in the Egyptian archaeological record as "intrusive" and offered new terminology to describe the phenomenon. Individuals from every demographic segment of the ancient population, across all socio-economic strata, in all major forms of funerary architecture were here seen to be engaged in corresponding burials which featured all the hallmarks of cultural investment. In some cases, adults were interred in children's antecedent mortuary space. Rather than deferring to the long-held sensibility that such burials amongst any demographic segment were "intrusive", the present study has considered these interments from a different perspective. It suggests we mobilise them as opportunities to witness synchronic and diachronic dialogues in systemic contexts which function between and amongst the communities of the living (those orchestrating the burial) and the dead (those previously and subsequently buried). Again, the present study argues that such deliberate

⁷⁹¹ Mizoguchi (2000: 145); Shepherd (2007: 99).

⁷⁹⁰ Hendrickx (1984: 227); Meskell (1999b: 117); Mizoguchi (2000: 145).

spatial relationships within the mortuary sphere echo those in the realm of the living. It calls for the widely-accepted conceptions of spatially-determined beneficences between and amongst aristocratic antecedent and subsequent interments to be extended across the entire mortuary community. Such an approach mirrors the socio-political and religious ontological underpinnings of the redistributive economy, whereby the wealth of the country trickled through every socio-economic and demographic stratum. As for so many aspects of ancient Egyptian culture, it is suggested that the structures and facilities instituted within the living community also persisted after death.

While further research is required across the entire ancient population to determine the complete spectrum of associated features within Egyptian mortuary behaviour, each of the findings levelled here appear to indicate that this facet of children's mortuary culture parallels that observed for contemporary adult burials, and is certainly more complex than currently thought. The spatial relationships observed amongst the sample suggest that CIFs were thoroughly embedded in social networks during the timeframes canvassed by this study. These findings promote them as active participants in social dialogues between and amongst communities of the living and the dead, and upturn their previous relegation to the margins of society. The qualitative implications of these results for the position, value and agency of ancient Egyptian children will be considered further in Chapter 10.

CHAPTER 9: GRAVE GOODS

The provision of grave goods is one of the most characteristic elements of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour. Artefacts and ecofacts derived from funerary contexts inform not only our reconstructions of ancient Egyptian funerary practices and beliefs, but due to the dearth of published settlement data, they are also foundational to our understandings of ancient Egyptian life-ways. Notwithstanding the weighty responsibilities placed upon this category of evidence to comprehensively represent ancient Egyptian civilisation, studies concerning the distribution of grave goods across demographic profiles are exceedingly limited in number. Where extant, they focus on quantitative analyses of adult data, using the elite adult male as the barometer against which all other evidence is calibrated.⁷⁹² Within such a framework, children's grave goods are invariably intellectually processed in one of two ways. On one hand, they may be overtly excluded from quantitative analyses when they differ in type or number to those of adults, ⁷⁹³ thereby perpetuating disciplinary narratives which promulgate children's social, religious, political and economic ostracism and poverty. On the other hand, "exceptional" children's grave goods are summarily included when they exceed excavators' expectations. Generally, however, they are not accepted as children's property, rather 'ownership' is guarantored via associations with adults. 794 In order to determine what children's grave goods reveal about their social position, value and agency in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt, data derived from the archaeological survey described in §1.4.4 was analysed to ascertain the nature and scope of published child, infant and foetal funerary assemblages, including their distributions, categories, materials, origins and inscriptions. In accordance with the project structure outlined in §1.6, results of this research are presented below, as are some theoretical considerations which stand to elucidate the procurement, processing and understanding of this category of evidence. Qualitative analyses of these results will be offered in Chapter 10.

⁷⁹² For example, Petrie (1925).

⁷⁹³ For example, Petrie (1914: 21); Castillos (1982a: 68, 95).

For example, see Castillos (1977-1978: 92, 93, 97; 1982a: 51, 52, 55, 61, 65, 125, 145, 176; 1982b: 31; 2000: 255); cf. Garwood (2007: 75); Stevenson (2009b: 174).

9.1 Overview

The sample was examined to determine how many CIFs were identified with grave goods among the published archaeological record of the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. A minimum of 835 individuals (46.16% TBs; Figure 9.1) were reported as receiving a minimum of 4,749 grave goods, producing a sample mean of 5.69 items per furnished interment. The minimum number of grave goods amongst furnished burials was 1, while the maximum number of items identified in a single burial was 319: that of DRN 1134, the Early Dynastic tomb of an 8-10 year old child at Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. 795 Conversely, 302 individuals amongst the sample were explicitly identified without grave goods (16.69% TBs), 205 individuals may have received grave goods, although this cannot be determined with certainty (11.33% TBs), and the provision status of 467 individuals was not published (25.82% TBs). Anecdotally, it should be noted that adults were also interred with and without grave goods during the periods canvassed by this research, with the extent of individual's funerary assemblages determined by both fashion⁷⁹⁶ and socio-economic status.⁷⁹⁷ Direct comparisons between the nature and scope of child and adult grave good provision would exponentially expand our understandings of differential demographic mortuary behaviour in ancient Egypt. While such investigations fall beyond the scope of the present research, they are nonetheless intended for future extensions of this project.

It is acknowledged that the aforementioned figures only represent a fraction of the 'true' scope of CIF funerary assemblages of the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. As discussed in §5.1, 22.45% of burials among the sample were identified as 'disturbed', 'possibly disturbed', or 're-used'; and tomb condition was not published for 52.35% of burials. Only 25.21% of burials were reported as 'archaeologically intact' (see **Figure 5.1**). Tomb robbery was endemic throughout Predynastic, pharaonic and post-pharaonic Egypt. ⁷⁹⁸ While not denying that tomb robbery was a social, economic and occupational cultural phenomenon worthy of study in its own right, its profound impact on our reconstructions of ancient Egyptian culture is nonetheless widely accepted. ⁷⁹⁹ Indeed, it may be argued that the plundering of children's tombs is evidence that they contained enough quality and quantity of materials to justify thieves' time, effort and risk. Further, it demonstrates that CIFs were

For further information regarding this burial, see §§6.7.4, 7.2.4, 7.4.2.

⁷⁹⁶ Grajetzki (2003: 16, 20, 24-26, 35, 38, 42, 90).

⁷⁹⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 7, 24, 52, 90).

⁷⁹⁸ Richards (1992: 67); Savage (1995: 125ff.; 1997: 253); Meskell (1999a: 195); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 24-25).

⁷⁹⁹ Kemp (1991: 242-246, 248, 272-273); Anderson (1992: 60); Griswold (1992: 52); Castillos (1998a: 27; 1998b: 28-29); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 13, 24-25); Rowland (2004: 999).

not subject to any differential treatment, even amongst the more nefarious elements of Egyptian culture.

It is also acknowledged that a substantial proportion of grave goods may have been organic in nature, thus highly susceptible to decomposition and difficult or impossible to identify in archaeological contexts. This phenomenon has the propensity to obfuscate 'true' provision rates of such grave good categories as food, fuel, textile, clothing and footwear, the composite materials of which are often organically-based. Furthermore, archaeobotanical investigations of soil matrices and vessel contents are relatively recent to Egyptian archaeology. Due to the highly specialised nature of sample collection, processing and analysis, such studies have not received widespread applications, thus further limiting opportunities for understanding this category of evidence.

Moreover, from a historiographical perspective, one cannot underestimate the impact of excavators' tendencies to only publish – or only publish in explicit detail – 'exceptional' burials: those of great size, content, quantity, quality, interest or contrast. There were also those who declined to publish burial data if it seemed to resemble assemblages that had been published elsewhere. Such practices dramatically inhibit our capacity to accurately reconstruct the 'true' nature and scope of every evidence category within the archaeological record; thus also limiting our ability to draw meaningful, ethical, balanced interpretations which represent all demographic and socio-economic facets of ancient

Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 10).

For example, at Abydos: Ayrton (1904: 7) only published burials of "importance"; Frankfort (1930: 213) "merely describe[d] the tombs which contained objects or information of sufficient importance to make a full record of the circumstances of the finding desirable", because "full publication" was an "unjustifiable strain". At el-Amra: MacIver & Mace (1902: 15ff.) only published "tombs which contained objects or combinations of some interest". At Armant: Myers & Fairman (1931: 230) only recorded burials with objects. At Ballas: Quibell (1896: 4) only published "selected tombs". At Kom el-Hisn: Hamada & Farid (1947: 201; 1948: 303) only described "rich", "important" or "very important" tombs. At el-Mahasna: Ayrton & Loat (1908-1909: 6) only published "important tombs"; Garstang (1903) only published 13 exceptional adult graves out of "five or six hundred" tombs, further discussed by Thomas (1987: 55). At Minshat Abu Omar: Kroeper (1988: 13) does not consider "graves of burials without offerings and ... foetus burials in vessels" in her classifications, and counts only "exceptional burials" (1992: 135-136). At el-Mostagedda: Brunton (1937: 98, 100, 101) says that graves were "not registered, as they contained no objects, or none of any new interest". At Naqada: Petrie (1896: 23) only published "notable graves", the "great majority" being "so much alike that the important facts would be easily lost sight of in the wilderness of notes if they were all printed". At Qau el-Kebir and Badari: Brunton (1927a: 10, 50; 1930: 1, 2) does not "consider" child burials and only published pot burials with associated objects. At Riqqeh and Memphis: Engelbach (1915: 4) only published "special graves". At Sedment: Brunton (1924: 13) only described "principal graves". At Tarkhan and Memphis: Petrie et al. (1913: 3) only recorded burials with more than one pot. Cf. Richards (1992: 66, 68); Strouhal (1992: 9); Castillos (2000: 254); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 13); Crubézy et al. (2008: 289); Weeks (2008: 9).

For example, for Hierakonpolis: de Morgan (1984: 57).

Egyptian society. 803 Although the juvenile demographic is particularly susceptible to archaeological ostracism via 'exceptional' publication practices, the material testimonies of individuals of *all* ages and sexes have been rendered inadmissible by being too 'normal', 'unexceptional', 'poor' or 'insignificant' to warrant publication. By excluding such 'unexceptional' evidence after the 'destructive' processes of excavation, the majority of exhumed Egyptian material testimonies have been lost. 804 Notwithstanding such loss, it should be noted that in almost every 'exceptional' publication list, at least 1 child, infant or foetal burial is identified in some way as remarkable. 805

Further to this, 518 grave good entries within the sample do not feature explicit quantities because such information was not published. Many excavators merely registered object types without enumeration. In such 'unspecified' cases, a minimum number of '1' was counted for the purpose of this analysis. In other cases, where 'minimum' grave good quantities were published, only the specific amount identified by excavators was processed within the database. The present study acknowledges that such under-reporting praxes greatly compromise our understanding of the nature and scope of ancient Egyptian funerary culture.

A more mundane, yet equally detrimental phenomenon observed amongst the sample was the illegibility of Petrie's handwriting, already noted in Chapter 6 of this thesis. On many occasions, types and quantities of grave goods could not be determined as his script, exacerbated by the poor resolution of the Petrie Museum CD-ROM, could not be deciphered. It is hoped that future extensions of this project will include examination of Petrie's actual tomb-cards and notebooks, potentially resolving some of the issues encountered with digital versions.

9.1.1 Theory of Entitlement

A final theoretical consideration must address the issue of 'shared' grave good associations, problematised by the well-attested phenomenon of child and adult 'multiple' burials described in Chapter 8. Despite the ubiquity of multiple burials amongst published data, and the widespread attestation of funerary monuments which facilitate such

⁸⁰³ Ciałowicz (1985: 157).

⁸⁰⁴ Grajetzki (2004b: 21; 2005: 18).

⁸⁰⁵ For example, see Kroeper (2004: 878).

⁸⁰⁶ For example, see Yacoub (1983: 105).

¹⁰⁷ For example, see GGRNs 707, 2676-2677.

⁸⁰⁸ Cf. §§6.2.2; 6.3.2; 6.7.6.

⁸⁰⁹ See DRNs 381, 407-417, 1145, 1386.

interments, no study thus far has examined the theoretical implications of objects encountered in such shared spaces, especially regarding notions of 'ownership'.810 In multiple burials, when direct corporeal associations are not apparent between individuals and objects, 'ownership' appears to be inconsistently determined: either by physical proximity to objects;811 by deferral to the 'highest-ranking' constituent as determined by the excavator; 812 or by gendered/ageist assessments of grave goods. 813 The theoretical implications of such approaches profoundly affect our reconstructions of ancient Egyptian social, economic and religious dynamics, producing distorted perceptions of activity and agency amongst and between communities of the living and the dead. According to these 'ownership' configurations, when children, infants and foetuses are engaged in multiple burials with adults, they are denied access to the funerary repasts and assemblages in their graves, ostensibly intended to sustain the dead for eternity.⁸¹⁴ Ontologically, such interpretations delimit deceased children's cultural capacities in one of two ways: at best, they are designated as posthumous parasites, sustained by adult hosts;815 at worst, as mortuary stowaways without accessibility or entitlement.816

The present study argues that such reconstructions do not take into account the duty-of-care that was central and quintessential to Egyptian mortuary culture. Those burying the dead were responsible for ensuring their posthumous safety and sustenance. The 680 examples of independent, fully-furnished CIFBs identified by the present study's archaeological survey demonstrate that deceased children were undeniably beneficiaries of this cultural imperative. To think otherwise would implicate the Egyptians in a 'sin' of such gravity that it features in the *Negative Confession*: "I have not taken the milk from the mouths of children." Moreover, representations of deceased children as shared recipients in offering scenes from stelae and tomb walls provide iconographic evidence to substantiate the claim that they were entitled to partake of offerings brought to the tomb/grave. As such, the present study advocates for revisions of archaeological

Problematised by Grajetzki (2003: 53).

⁸¹¹ Castillos (1977-1978: 92, 93, 97; 1982a: 51, 52, 55, 61, 65, 125, 145, 176; 1982b: 31; 2000: 255).

⁸¹² Castillos (1977-1978: 92, 93, 97; 1982a: 51, 52, 55, 61, 65, 125, 145, 176; 1982b: 31; 2000: 255); Grajetzki (2003: 70).

⁸¹³ Grajetzki (2003: 6, 11, 36, 39, 52, 61, 83, 111).

For example, see Garwood (2007: 75); Zillhardt (2009: 35).

For example, see Zillhardt (2009: 90).

For example, see Castillos (1982a: 57).

The Papyrus of Ani, Book of the Dead, Chapter 125; Faulkner et al. (1998: 115).

Feucht (1995: 388ff.). See the Old Kingdom stela of Nefer and Kahay from Saqqara, cited in Feucht (1995: 389, fig. 34); as well as the Middle Kingdom stela from Thebes and the New Kingdom stela of Humay and Senetnofret, both in the Metropolitan Museum of Art, cited in Harrington (2007: 58, figs. 10 and 11). Perhaps the best-known of the many representations of children sharing in offering scenes

dialogues which allow such culturally-bound magnanimity to permeate the interstices of shared mortuary spaces. The proposed theory expands the current understanding of grave good 'ownership' to include considerations of 'entitlement' in multiple burials from 'individual' to 'shared' provisions. Shared' designations of grave goods should only be made in intact or relatively complete contexts when it is clear that objects have been deposited in mutual/neutral space. In practice, this approach calls for a reconsideration of how shared funerary assemblages are procured, recorded, published and interpreted amongst disciplinary analytical protocols.

By way of clarification, by no means does the present study suggest that *all* grave goods in *all* multiple burials should be recorded or considered as 'shared'. In fact, shared associations could not be determined with confidence for many multiple burials amongst the sample and, as such, the accompanying objects were not recorded in the database. In other cases, clear spatial delineations between and amongst multiple burial constituents indicated straightforward individual associations; in some cases, children appeared as primary beneficiaries in multiple burial configurations that included adults. In the particular context of this study, 'shared' grave good associations between two or more children, infants and foetuses in multiple burial contexts presented more practical than theoretical concerns. Here, while grave goods were clearly listed as 'shared' between 2 or

derives from TT359, the 20th Dynasty tomb of Inherkha'u. Here, Inherkha'u and his wife receive offerings accompanied by their deceased grandchildren; for image, see Davies (2001: pl. 26.4).

⁸¹⁹ *Cf.* Mizoguchi (2000: 148).

Following Jiao (2001: 56), who advocates the consideration of "shared property" for grave goods in multiple burials of adults in the Dawenkou culture of Neolithic China. In Egyptology, Strudwick (2005: 51) also advocates that groups of people buried in tombs with textual inscriptions "shared" in their efficacy. Harrington (2007: 61) raises the possibility that children buried with their "parents" may have been able to "receive offerings brought to the tomb".

Examples of 'shared' object associations among the present study include: DRN 531, with GGRNs 1094-1096; DRN 532, with GGRNs 1097-1098; DRN 534, with GGRNs 1102-1115; DRN 664, with GGRN 1265; DRN 665, with GGRN 1266; DRN 675, with GGRNs 1282-1291; DRN 679, with GGRNs 1307-1332; DRN 681, with GGRNs 1349-1351; DRN 682 and 683, with GGRNs 1352-1365; DRN 684, with GGRNs 1366-1371; DRN 686, with GGRNs 1376-1384; DRN 818, with GGRNs 1451-1548; DRN 841, with GGRNs 1565-1573; DRN 842, with GGRNs 1574-1578; DRN 843, with GGRNs 1579-1585; DRN 864, with GGRNs 1603-1610; DRN 873, with GGRNs 1624-1628; DRN 941, with GGRN 1710; DRN 954, with GGRNs 1731-1734; DRN 1136, with GGRNs 2533-2534; DRN 1319, with GGRNs 2689-2690; DRN 1320, with GGRN 2691-2692.

⁸²² See DRNs 51, 133, 187, 247, 250, 277, 292, 295, 344, 422, 458, 467, 492, 669, 772-774, 866, 867, 953, 958, 960, 967, 1022, 1068, 1140, 1148, 1189, 1239, 1246, 1256, 1432, 1433, 1444-1447, 1453.

See DRN 112, with GGRNs 323, 324; DRN 113, with GGRN 325; DRN 115, with GGRN 326; DRN 260, with GGRN 552; DRN 307; DRN 874, with GGRNs 1613-1616; DRN 949, with GGRNs 1723, 1917-1921; DRN 950, with GGRNs 1724-1725, 1922; DRN 966, with GGRNs 1781-1782, 2250-2256; DRN 1127, with GGRNs 2347-2352.

See DRN 1028, with GGRNs 1956-1961. In other contexts, children were the only individuals to receive grave goods amongst the funerary population; see Patch (2007) for an example pertaining to the Third Intermediate Period.

more children, they were only entered into the database once; hence only counted once to avoid data duplication and distortion of results.⁸²⁵

9.2 Grave Good Distribution

Having identified the major practical and theoretical considerations required for nuanced understanding of grave goods as a source of evidence, the present study may now proceed to report the nature and scope of CIF funerary assemblages amongst available published data. The incidence (number of individuals with grave goods) and extent (number of items) of grave good provision is first described according to manifestations within specific, general and Nilotic geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below.

9.2.1 Specific Geographical Regions

The highest incidence of grave good provision was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Here, 374 individuals received a total of 2,085 items (**Figures 9.2–9.3**), producing a mean of 5.57 objects per furnished burial. The next highest incidence of grave good provision was substantially less than this amount: the West Bank of Upper Egypt featured 106 individuals with a total of 917 items amongst published data, producing a higher mean of 8.65 objects per furnished burial. This was followed by the West Bank of Lower Egypt, where 101 individuals received 927 items (the highest mean of 9.18 objects per furnished burial); the Eastern Nile Delta, where 80 individuals received 223 items (mean of 2.79 objects per furnished burial; henceforth, \bar{x} #/FB); the West Bank of Middle Egypt, where 67 individuals received 303 items (\bar{x} 4.52/FB); the East Bank of Lower Egypt, where 44 individuals were observed with 131 grave goods (\bar{x} 2.98/FB); and Dakhla Oasis, where 26 individuals featured 93 items amongst published data (\bar{x} 3.58/FB). Incidences of grave good recipients across the remaining regions do not exceed single figures, with 4 individuals in the Faiyum published with 23 items (\bar{x} 5.75/FB), and 1 individual on the East Bank of Middle Egypt identified with 1 object.

9.2.2 General Geographical Regions

When viewed according to distributions across general geographical regions, Upper Egypt emerges with the highest grave good provision frequency, with 480 individuals recorded

⁸²⁵ See DRNs 211 and 212, with GGRN 394; DRNs 443 and 444, with GGRNs 801-813; DRNs 860 and 861, with GGRN 1602; DRN 948, with GGRNs 1720-1722, 1900-1913.

with 3,002 items amongst published data, producing a mean of 6.25 objects per furnished burial (**Figures 9.4–9.5**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences, with the next most frequent region, Lower Egypt, accounting for 145 individuals with a total of 1,058 items (the highest mean of 7.30 objects per furnished burial), followed by the Nile Delta with 112 individuals receiving 269 items (\bar{x} 2.40/FB). In Middle Egypt, 72 individuals were reported with a total of 327 grave goods (\bar{x} 4.54/FB), while 26 individuals were described with a total of 93 items amongst published data for Dakhla Oasis (\bar{x} 3.58/FB).

9.2.3 Nilotic Geographical Regions

When organised according to Nilotic geographical distribution, the East Bank features the highest incidence of grave good provision amongst published data, as 419 individuals are described with a total of 2,217 items, producing a mean of 5.29 objects per furnished burial (**Figures 9.6–9.7**). This was followed by the West Bank, where 274 individuals received 2,147 items among their funerary assemblages, producing a mean of 7.84 objects per furnished burial. As described in $\S 9.2.2$, above, 112 individuals received a total of 269 items in the Nile Delta (\overline{x} 2.40/FB), and 26 individuals are known to have received 93 items in the Dakhla Oasis region (\overline{x} 3.58/FB). The Faiyum featured 4 individuals with 23 published grave goods, equating to 5.75 objects per furnished burial.

9.2.4 Relative Chronology

The Early Dynastic Period features the highest published incidence of grave good provision amongst the sample, with 291 individuals reported to have received 1,908 items (\bar{x} 6.56/FB; **Figures 9.8–9.9**). Despite the trend in aristocratic burials of the Old Kingdom to replace grave goods with scenes and inscriptions on tomb walls, ⁸²⁶ object provision continued for children as it did for many adults during this period, with published accounts for 226 CIFs furnished with a total of 1,079 items (\bar{x} 4.77/FB). While the Middle Kingdom featured 162 individuals with a total of 733 published items (\bar{x} 4.52/FB), the First Intermediate Period demonstrated fewer overall individuals with funerary assemblages (156 CIFs), although their total number of grave goods was higher than the Middle Kingdom (1,029), therefore producing a higher mean rate of 6.60 objects per furnished burial.

⁸²⁶ Grajetzki (2003: 18, 32).

9.2.5 Site Types

Of the 835 individuals amongst the sample to have been provisioned with grave goods, 821 were interred within cemetery contexts. Of the 4,749 grave goods identified by this study, 4,606 were observed in cemetery interments, producing a mean of 5.61 objects per furnished burial (**Figures 9.10–9.11**). While only 14 individuals interred in settlement contexts were identified with a total of 143 grave goods, this nonetheless represents a much higher mean rate of 10.21 objects per furnished burial – almost double that observed for cemeteries. No grave goods were reported for those individuals amongst the sample buried in temple and funerary enclosure contexts.

9.2.6 Age Categories

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, Young Children featured the highest incidence of grave good provision, with 102 individuals from this group identified with 405 items, producing a mean of 3.97 objects per furnished burial (**Figures 9.12–9.13**). While fewer Older Children were published with grave goods (Σ =90), they featured substantially more items, with a total of 1,208 published grave goods producing a mean rate of 13.42 objects per furnished burial. According to published data, 57 Infants were provided with a total of 312 items (\bar{x} 5.47/FB), while only 4 Foetuses were published with a total of 12 items, producing a mean of 3.00 objects per furnished burial. Unfortunately, age-at-death data was not published for the greatest proportion of burials furnished with grave goods, resulting in the loss of demographic information for 582 individuals and their respective 2,812 objects (\bar{x} 4.83/FB).

9.3 Grave Good Categories

The sample was examined in order to determine the nature and scope of grave good categories associated with CIFBs. In total, 23 object categories were identified (**Figure 9.14**), these representing 114 different object types (**Table 9.1**). In descending order of frequency, categories observed amongst the sample include: Jewellery (Σ =1,710), Ceramic Vessels (Σ =1,277), Amulets (Σ =556),⁸²⁷ Tools (Σ =294), Stone Vessels (Σ =240), Cosmetic Equipment and Products (Σ =126), Funerary Furniture (Σ =88), Shells and Fossils (Σ =84),

It was decided to keep Amulets as a separate category to Jewellery as it is important to quantify the symbolic associations of particular amuletic categories in CIFBs.

Figurines and Models (Σ =68), Scarabs (Σ =56), ⁸²⁸ Recreation Items (Σ =48), Personal Adornment and Equipment (Σ =40), Seals and Seal Impressions (Σ =27), Food Items (Σ =25), Weaponry (Σ =24), Other Vessels (Σ =23), Textiles (Σ =19), Clothing and Footwear (Σ =13), Inorganic Raw Materials (Σ =10), Organic Raw Materials (Σ =8), Organics: Fuel (Σ =8), Unknown (Σ =6), ⁸²⁹ and Animal Products (Σ =4).

It should be noted that on some occasions a single grave good represented more than one object type. For example, a cosmetic palette with malachite adhered to its surface can be counted as both cosmetic equipment as well as cosmetic product. For this reason, the number of categories and object types observed in Figure 9.14 and Table 9.1 produce a slightly higher result than the overall number of grave goods. Differential recording practices are also noteworthy: for example, some excavators listed a necklace as '1' object, while others would record each of its constituent beads and amulets as individual objects. In this situation, the present study honours excavators' original recordings in terms of overall grave good quantities. However, upon more detailed discussions of grave good categories, objects such as amulets have their full incidences reported, including appearances in items such as necklaces, in order to determine items most commonly-associated with CIFBs.

Other items can be considered multi-functional – either on pragmatic or symbolic planes. For example, while shells are one of the more commonly attested grave goods amongst the sample, their function is arguable. In some cases, they featured suspension holes and appeared to have been worn as a form of adornment. The imitation of shells in various materials as amulets, however, suggests that they may not have been regarded as merely aesthetic objects, rather imbued with symbolism and contextualised meaning. In other cases, they are used as containers for cosmetic products such as malachite, adding further layers of pragmatism, luxury and ritual to these objects' cultural significance. Other possible uses for shells may include eating implements or means of exchange. Model' objects may also be considered multi-functional, causing one to question whether they should be counted as an independent category, or grouped with the objects they

It was decided to keep Scarabs as a separate category to Jewellery as they often have uses other than ornamentation, including administration. It is important to quantify CIFs access to such objects, as well as their access to objects such as scarabs which feature inscriptions.

⁸²⁹ See GGRNs 27, 2502, 2688, 2689, 2881, 2978.

For example, see GGRN 2359.

⁸³¹ For example, see GGRNs 15, 22, 23.

⁸³² For example, see GGRNs 120, 121, 610.

For the diverse functions and symbolism associated with shells in cross-cultural mortuary contexts, see Lillie (2008: 38); Oxenham *et al.* (2008: 132); Tillier (2008: 3).

ideologically represent.⁸³⁴ Regrettably, the present study's administrative parameters prevent further discussions of these important ontological questions regarding the parallel use-lives of objects. Instead, what is offered are categorisations of objects based on their apparent *primary* function following careful assessment of published context, descriptions, drawings and photographs.

Having identified the major practical and theoretical considerations of processing grave goods as a source of evidence, we may now proceed to reporting the nature and scope of CIF object categories among available published data. Category incidences are described in descending order of frequency according to manifestations within specific geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type, and age categories, below. Due to administrative constraints, general and Nilotic distributions are not presented. Categories consisting of ≥ 11 published examples are described as a group, while individual cases are described for categories featuring ≤ 10 published examples. The 'Unknown' category of objects is not described. As a means of comparison, the reported chronological attestations for adult burials are also described in each grave good category.

9.3.1 Jewellery

Jewellery emerged as the most frequently recorded grave good category within the sample, being published in CIFBs on 1,710 occasions. The highest provision frequency was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where 889 jewellery offerings were identified amongst published data (**Figure 9.15**). The remaining regions feature substantially fewer incidences, and are listed here in descending frequency order: West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =411), West Bank of Upper Egypt Egypt (Σ =216), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =72), Western Nile Delta (Σ =36), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =34), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =24), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =19) and the Faiyum (Σ =9). There were no published incidences of jewellery within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

Jewellery is attested in adult funerary assemblages in all periods of Egyptian history.⁸³⁵ In terms of its attestation in CIF mortuary culture, the Early Dynastic Period featured the highest frequency of CIF jewellery offerings, with 632 incidences identified amongst published data (**Figure 9.16**). In descending frequency order, the remaining periods

⁸³⁴ Ciałowicz (1985: 157); Grajetzki (2003: 11, 19).

Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 2-3, 5, 8, 10, 11, 20, 21, 23ff., 36, 38, 41, 43, 51, 52, 55, 58, 59, 61, 65, 70ff., 82ff., 86, 89ff., 98, 107, 114ff.).

appear as follows: First Intermediate Period (Σ =437), Old Kingdom (Σ =368) and Middle Kingdom (Σ =273).

When considered according to incidences across site types, cemeteries clearly predominate with 1,627 incidences of jewellery provision for CIFBs within this context (**Figure 9.17**). There were 83 instances of jewellery offerings observed amongst settlement contexts, however there were no published examples of this category of evidence in temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children feature the highest frequency of jewellery provision amongst the knownage portion of the sample, with 205 incidences identified amongst published data (**Figure 9.18**). This result was followed by Young Children (Σ =180), Infants (Σ =83) and Foetuses (Σ =3). Unfortunately, age-at-death data was not published for individuals associated with 1,239 jewellery offerings amongst the sample.

9.3.2 Ceramic Vessels

Ceramic vessels were observed on 1,277 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. These incidences can be further described by object types: there were 187 instances of decorated ceramic vessels, 298 instances of undecorated ceramic vessels, and the nature of 792 ceramic vessels was not specified (**Table 9.1**). Approximately 30 vessels amongst the sample were inscribed with potmarks of varying descriptions. In terms of vessel types, there were 279 vessels of excavators' own types (only vessel codes offered), 218 vessels of unknown types (no descriptions offered), 145 globular vessels, 110 bowls, 72 cylinder vessels, 66 closed high-shouldered vessels, 64 ovoid vessels, 58 ceramic vessel sherds, 56 beer jars, 47 dishes, 40 wine jars, 36 squat vessels, 17 bagshaped vessels, 12 plates, 11 bread-moulds, 9 beakers/cups, 8 jugs/juglets, 7 barrel-shaped vessels, 6 closed low-shouldered vessels, 4 Meidum Ware vessels, 7 flasks, 2 ewers, 2 waisted-vessels and 1 example of Tell el-Yahudiyeh ware.

The highest provision frequency was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where 364 ceramic vessels were identified as grave goods amongst published data (**Figure 9.19**). Incidences in remaining regions are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =301), West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =292), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =153), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =85), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =40), East Bank of Lower

This figure does not include ceramic vessels provided as coffins, detailed in §6.7.2.

⁸³⁷ See GGRNs 142, 148, 710, 1062, 1531-1533, 1599, 1808, 1860, 2136, 2285, 2691, 2887.

Egypt (Σ =37), Faiyum (Σ =4) and Western Nile Delta (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of ceramic vessels within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

Ceramics were ubiquitous in adult funerary assemblages throughout Egyptian history, ⁸³⁸ although their attestations are slightly reduced during the Ramesside Period. ⁸³⁹ Within the present dataset, the Early Dynastic Period featured the highest frequency of CIF ceramic vessel offerings, with 729 incidences identified amongst published data (**Figure 9.20**). When organised according to descending frequency, the remaining regions appear in logical chronological order, as follows: Old Kingdom (Σ =200), First Intermediate Period (Σ =177) and Middle Kingdom (Σ =171).

When considered according to site types, cemeteries continue to predominate with 1,272 incidences of ceramic vessel provision for CIFBs in this context (**Figure 9.21**). Only 5 incidences of ceramic vessel offering were identified amongst published settlement contexts, while there were no published examples of this category of evidence in temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children feature the highest ceramic vessel provision amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 327 incidences recorded for this age group (**Figure 9.22**). Young Children and Infants present almost equal provision of ceramic vessels among their funerary assemblages, with 117 and 112 incidences identified for these age groups, respectively. Six instances of ceramic vessel provision were observed for Foetal burials. Unfortunately, the majority of ceramic vessels amongst the sample were associated with individuals of unknown age (Σ =715).

9.3.3 Amulets

In terms of primary offerings, amulets were observed on 566 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. These primary incidences can be expanded to include descriptions of amulets within other primary objects, for example, necklaces and bracelets. Such expansion is essential to quantify the symbolic significance of amulet types associated with CIFBs. According to this methodology, amulet incidence may be enumerated in descending frequency order, as follows: Amulets (Non-Specific, Σ =208), Lions (Σ =49), Scorpions (Σ =42), Hathor/Cow (Σ =27), Horus/Hawk/Falcons (Σ =24),

³³⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 10, 11, 19, 21, 23, 25, 30, 31, 38, 39, 49, 51, 52, 55, 59ff., 63, 65, 70ff., 77, 83, 86, 89ff., 107, 110ff., 117, 120).

Humanoids (Σ =24), Shells (Σ =22), Rams (Σ =20), Dogs (Σ =19), Human Legs (Σ =17), Crocodiles (Σ =14), Birds (Σ =12), Wadjet Eyes (Σ =12), Human Hands, Sphinxes (each $\Sigma=11$), Royal Crowns ($\Sigma=9$), Tawaret/Hippopotami ($\Sigma=8$), Human Heads, Heh (each $\Sigma=7$), Fish, Flower/Plants/Fruit (each Σ =6), Catfish, Anubis/Jackals (each Σ =5), Bastet/Cats, Children/Infants, Flies, Frogs, Human Arms, Thoth/Ibises, Monkeys, Uraeus/Cobra/Snakes (each Σ =4), Ankh, Osiris/Djed Pillars, Vultures (each Σ =3), Bes, Bulls, Furniture, Ichneumons, Cylinder Amulets (each $\Sigma=2$), Bread, Cartouche, Gazelle, Heart, Hieroglyphic Symbol, Mace Head, Min, Rabbit, Seed Pod, and Sekhmet (each Σ =1; Table 9.1). Amongst this assortment, it is pertinent to note the manifold presence of amulets of overt pharaonic and religious symbolism.⁸⁴⁰ This finding indicates that children were entitled to access the protective beneficence bestowed by both the king and the Egyptian pantheon, thereby denoting their identity as fully vested members of the community. Conversely, the relative infrequency of published amulet types stereotypically associated with CIFs amongst the literature, such as Bes and Tawaret, 841 is also noteworthy. Further study may elucidate whether the potency of these deities was more generally associated with the protection of living as opposed to deceased children. Such a belief may be manifest in the archaeological record via the spatial demarcation of object frequencies between domestic and funerary contexts.

The highest provision frequency was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where 496 amulets were identified as primary grave goods amongst published CIFB data (**Figure 9.23**). Remaining regions present substantially fewer incidences of amulet provision and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =28), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =20), Western Nile Delta (Σ =6), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =3), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =2) and Dakhla Oasis (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of amulets within funerary assemblages in the Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

This trend was also noted by Leclant (1986: 248-249) in Protodynastic excavations at Minshat Abu Omar, where 'bull's head' amulets were "found to be placed in an obvious position in children's tombs". Andrews (1994: 15, 74) states that amulets resembling royal regalia, such as crowns and sceptres, or royal animals such as the cobra and sphinx were "imbued with authority and power, or else were representative of a certain condition, state or quality which the deceased desired to enjoy in the afterlife". She further states that theomorphic amulets "would have been worn purely to place their wearer, whether dead or alive, under the protection of a particular deity ... to assimilate the person of the deity represented and thus gain access to their particular powers or characteristics ... or to show patronage by or devotion to the deity".

Robins (1994-1995: 29); Meskell (2002: 79); Grajetzki (2003: 107).

Amulets of varying descriptions were first attested in adult burials from the Predynastic Period, and continued in use throughout Egyptian history. The highest frequencies of CIF amulet offerings in the dataset were observed amongst published Old Kingdom contexts, with 260 instances attributed to this phase (**Figure 9.24**). The First Intermediate Period demonstrated 223 instances of amulet provision, while 66 observations precipitated from Middle Kingdom contexts. There were 7 instances of amulet provision recorded for the Early Dynastic Period.

The majority of cases of amulet provision were identified amongst CIF funerary assemblages from cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.25**). Here, 533 instances of amulet provision were observed, as opposed to 3 instances from settlement burials. There were no published examples of this category of evidence in temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Among the known-age portion of the sample, Older Children dominate amulet distribution in published funerary assemblages, with 81 instances attributed to this age group (**Figure 9.26**). There were 21 instances of amulet provision reported for Young Children, while amulets were described among Infants' assemblages on 11 occasions. There were no published incidences of amulet provision for Foetuses. Unfortunately, age-at-death data was not specified for individuals associated with 443 amulets amongst the sample.

9.3.4 Tools

Tools were observed on 294 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample (**Table 9.1**). These incidences can be further described by object types: there were 230 instances of general tools including flints, scrapers, chisels, diggers, knives (including ripple-flaked), grinders, scoops, needles, borers, blades, bladelets and adzes; 2 instances of weights; 83 ceramic discs; and 15 pebbles/stones.

The highest tool provision frequency was observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, where 128 instances were observed amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.27**). This was closely followed by the East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =100) and West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =57). The remaining regions demonstrated substantially fewer incidences of tool provision and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =4), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =3) and Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =2).

⁸⁴² Grajetzki (2003: 5, 29, 30, 36, 38, 58, 60, 84, 86ff., 89ff., 98ff., 103, 107, 111, 115, 120ff.).

There were no published incidences of tools within funerary assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

Tools were observed in adult funerary assemblages from the Predynastic Period,⁸⁴³ only declining in popularity during the Ramesside Period following shifting trends in object provision.⁸⁴⁴ The highest frequency of CIF tool offerings were observed amongst the published Early Dynastic Period record, with 124 instances attributed to this phase (**Figure 9.28**). The First Intermediate Period featured the next highest frequency of tool provision amongst CIFB assemblages, with 91 instances observed amongst published data, followed closely by 62 instances in the Old Kingdom. The Middle Kingdom featured fewest examples of tool provision, with 17 instances reported for burials at this time.

All incidences of tool provision precipitate from CIFBs in cemetery contexts (Figure 9.29). There were no published examples of tools amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children feature the highest frequencies of tool provision amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 258 instances identified amongst funerary assemblages of this age group (Figure 9.30). Ten instances of tool provision were reported for Young Children, while 7 instances were attributed to Infant burial contexts. There were no published incidences of tools amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. On this occasion, demographic data was quite well-reported for individuals with tools as grave goods, with only 19 instances associated with individuals of unknown age-at-death.

9.3.5 Stone Vessels

Stone vessels were observed on 240 occasions amongst CIFB assemblages within the sample (**Table 9.1**). Instances of stone vessels can be further described according to object types: open vessels (Σ =91; including cups/flasks, bowls (some with spouts), cylinder vessels, dishes, plates and squat vessels); closed vessels (Σ =78; including bowls, dishes, globular shapes, ovoid shapes, barrel shapes, high-shouldered vessels, elongated vessels and squat vessels – each type featured variations with and without handles); non-specific vessels (Σ =53); composite vessels (Σ =13); and fragmented vessels (Σ =5).

⁸⁴³ Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 5, 10, 11, 19, 28, 38, 39, 48, 82, 86).

⁸⁴⁴ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

The highest stone vessel provision frequency was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where 63 instances were observed amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.31**). Stone vessel provision seems more widespread across remaining regions than previous object categories, appearing in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =58), West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =38), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =36), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =24), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =18) and Dakhla Oasis (Σ =3). There were no published incidences of stone vessels within funerary assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

Stone vessels were first attested as adult grave goods in the Predynastic Period, and persisted throughout the pharaonic period⁸⁴⁵ until the Ramesside shift in mortuary trends. The highest frequency of CIF stone vessel offerings amongst the dataset were observed amongst published Early Dynastic data, with the 153 instances attributed to this phase eclipsing results for other periods (**Figure 9.32**). The Old Kingdom featured precisely 3.00 times fewer recorded instances of stone vessels than the preceding period (Σ =51), while 25 instances of this category of evidence derived from Middle Kingdom contexts. There were 11 instances of stone vessel provision observed amongst published First Intermediate Period CIF funerary assemblages.

A singular instance of stone vessel provision was attributed to an infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.33**). All remaining examples of stone vessels derive from CIFBs in cemetery contexts (Σ =239). There were no published examples of stone vessels amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children continue to present the highest object frequencies amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 102 instances of stone vessel provision attributed to assemblages associated with this age group (**Figure 9.34**). Young Children were furnished with stone vessels in 21 instances, while Infants presented 10 examples amongst published data. There were no published incidences of stone vessels amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, demographic data was not published for individuals associated with 107 stone vessels amongst the sample.

846 Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 2, 5, 10, 19, 23, 30, 35, 39, 59, 60, 65, 70ff., 83, 107, 111).

9.3.6 Cosmetic Equipment and Products

Cosmetic equipment and products were observed on 126 occasions amongst CIFB assemblages within the sample. Instances of cosmetic equipment and products can be further described according to object types: cosmetic containers (Σ =6), kohl pots (Σ =12), kohl sticks (Σ =7), mirrors (Σ =13), mortar (Σ =1), palettes (Σ =39), pestles/spatulas (Σ =6), and cosmetic products (Σ =28; including malachite, ochre, galena and kohl; **Table 9.1**).

The highest provision frequency of cosmetic equipment and products was observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with 50 instances amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.35**). The East Bank of Upper Egypt and West Bank of Lower Egypt are equal second, each with 26 recorded instances of cosmetic equipment and products. Data for the remaining regions are presented in descending frequency order as follows: Dakhla Oasis (Σ =14), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =6), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =2), Western Nile Delta (Σ =1) and the Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of cosmetic equipment and products within funerary assemblages in the East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

Cosmetic equipment and products are first attested in Predynastic adult burials,⁸⁴⁷ but also declined in popularity during the Ramesside Period.⁸⁴⁸ Within the present study, the highest frequency of CIF stone vessel offerings were observed amongst published Early Dynastic data, with 65 instances amongst the sample (**Figure 9.36**). The remaining regions feature substantially fewer examples of cosmetic equipment and product provision, with 28 instances identified for the Middle Kingdom, 19 for the Old Kingdom, and 14 observations associated with CIF funerary assemblages of the First Intermediate Period.

All incidences of cosmetic equipment and product provision precipitate from CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.37**). There were no published examples of cosmetic equipment and products amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Once again, Older Children feature the highest provision rates amongst the known-age component of the sample, with 33 observations of cosmetic equipment and products identified amongst published assemblages of this age group (Figure 9.38). There were 18

⁸⁴⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 11, 29, 35, 36, 38, 39, 41, 51, 52, 59, 70, 77); cf. Richards (1992: 81).

Young Children and 13 Infants described with this category of evidence amongst their grave goods, while 1 published example of a cosmetic product was identified in a Foetal burial.

9.3.7 Funerary Furniture

Funerary furniture was observed on 88 occasions amongst CIFB assemblages within the sample. Instances of funerary furniture can be further described according to object types: general funerary furniture (Σ =71, including headrests, boxes, beds, couches, pillows, baskets, furniture components, including bull's-feet furniture legs), plaques/inlays (Σ =12), offering tables/slabs (Σ =4), and a ceramic lamp (Σ =1; **Table 9.1**).

The majority of funerary furniture provisions were observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, where 66 instances were observed amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.39**). The remaining regions feature substantially fewer provisions, listed in descending frequency order as follows: East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =8), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =7), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =2), Faiyum (Σ =2), and single observations were recorded for the Eastern Nile Delta; East Bank of Middle Egypt and Dakhla Oasis. There were no published incidences of funerary furniture within CIF assemblages from the Western Nile Delta and East Bank of Lower Egypt regions.

Funerary furniture was first included for adult burials in the Predynastic Period and was variably attested throughout the pharaonic era. In the present study, the highest frequency of CIF funerary furniture provisions were observed in published Early Dynastic data, with 64 instances amongst the sample attributed to this phase (**Figure 9.40**). The remaining chronological periods feature substantially fewer examples of funerary furniture amongst CIFB assemblages. Ten instances were attributed to the Old Kingdom, while the First Intermediate Period and Middle Kingdom each feature 7 examples amongst published data.

All incidences of funerary furniture provision are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.41**). There were no published examples of funerary furniture amongst CIF assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children continue to present the highest object provision rates, with 67 examples of funerary furniture identified amongst funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.42**). Single observations of funerary furniture provision were identified amongst

Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 6, 10, 11, 20, 23, 25, 27, 28, 30, 34, 42, 43, 45, 49, 55, 56, 58, 59, 60, 63, 65, 67, 70ff., 77, 82ff., 86, 111, 114, 117).

published assemblages of Young Children, Infants and Foetuses. There were 18 examples of funerary furniture provision derived from CIF assemblages for whom age-at-death data was not provided.

9.3.8 Shells and Fossils

In terms of primary offerings, shells and fossils were observed on 84 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample (**Table 9.1**). Shell types (species) are expounded in the 'materials' section of this chapter (see §9.4.4, below). The majority of shell and fossil provisions were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 38 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages from that region (**Figure 9.43**). The next highest incidence was recorded for the West Bank of Lower Egypt, with 24 examples described amongst CIF grave goods. The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences of shell and fossil provision, and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =9), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =5), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =4) and Dakhla Oasis (Σ =4). There were no published incidences of shells and fossils as primary grave goods within CIF assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

To date, no comprehensive studies have been presented regarding chronological attestations of shell and fossil provision in ancient Egypt. Anecdotal evidence indicates that they were first observed amongst Predynastic adult funerary assemblages, however further research is required to determine the nature and scope of their employment as a funerary item. In terms of the present study, the highest frequency of CIF shell and fossil provision was observed amongst published Early Dynastic data, with 38 instances attributed to this phase (**Figure 9.44**). Equal observations of shell and fossil provision were observed amongst published data from the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period (each Σ =18), while 8 examples were attributed to CIFB assemblages dating to the Middle Kingdom.

All incidences of shell and fossil provision are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.45**). There were no published examples of shells and fossils as grave goods amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

For example, Kom el-Khilgan; Dr. Yann Tristant, Macquarie University, pers. comm.; cf. Dartevelle-Puissant (1937); Lucas & Harris (1999: 39).

Older Children predominate as recipients of shells and fossils amongst the known-age sample, with 9 incidences attributed to funerary assemblages associated with this age group (**Figure 9.46**). Young Children featured slightly fewer examples, with 6 incidences reported for this demographic segment. There was 1 example of shell and fossil provision cited in an Infant burial, while no Foetuses were described in association with this object category.

9.3.9 Figurines and Models

Figurines and models were observed amongst CIFB assemblages on 68 occasions. Instances of figurines and models can be further described according to object types: animals (23, including dogs, hedgehogs, birds, lions, bovines, fish, pigs, crocodiles, hippopotami, baboons and 'monsters'), deities (Σ =1; Ptah-Sokar), shabtis (Σ =6), humanoids (Σ =21; males, females, children, dwarves, prisoners) and their accessories (Σ =2: wigs), non-specific figurines (3), model scenes (Σ =9; granaries and grain grinding, butchery, row-boats and sail boats), model vessels (Σ =2), and model tools (Σ =1; chisel; **Table 9.1**).

Two regions shared the highest frequencies of figurine and model provisions: 25 observations of this category of evidence were attributed to published CIFB assemblages from the West Banks of Middle and Upper Egypt (**Figure 9.47**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: Faiyum (Σ =6), East Bank of Lower Egypt, Dakhla Oasis and East Bank of Upper Egypt (each Σ =3), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =2) and Western Nile Delta (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of figurines and models within CIF assemblages in the West Bank of Lower Egypt and East Bank of Middle Egypt regions.

Figurines and models were attested in adult graves from the Predynastic Period and were variably attested throughout the pharaonic era. The Middle Kingdom featured the highest incidences of figurines and models in CIFB assemblages, with 36 examples attributed to this phase (**Figure 9.48**). This result aligns with broader trends concerning the popularity of this category of grave goods during the Middle Kingdom. There were 28 instances of figurine and model provision identified amongst published data of the Early Dynastic Period, while the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period each presented 2 examples of this object category.

852 Forbes (1995); Ikram & Dodson (1998: 30-31).

Richards (1992: 81); Grajetzki (2003: 5, 10, 11, 19, 20, 21, 23, 27, 28, 29, 34, 35, 37, 39ff., 48ff, 52, 55, 57ff., 60, 63, 68, 71, 77, 82ff., 86ff., 89, 95, 101, 110, 114, 120).

In terms of distribution by site types, the greater portion of figurines and models identified amongst CIFB assemblages were derived from cemetery contexts. Here, 56 instances were reported, as opposed to 12 examples from settlement burials (**Figure 9.49**). There were no published examples of figurines and models amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, Older Children feature the highest frequency of figurine and model provision, with 26 examples derived from burial assemblages associated with this age group (**Figure 9.50**). There were 14 instances of figurine and model provision reported for Infant burials, 1 example with the burial of a Young Child, and no reported incidences of figurines and models associated with Foetal burials.

9.3.10 Scarabs

Scarabs are often considered as status symbols of religious or administrative office when found in adult tombs, thus their appearance in children's tombs is noteworthy. In terms of primary offerings within the dataset, scarabs were observed amongst CIF funerary assemblages on 56 occasions. These primary incidences can be expanded to include a further 6 descriptions of scarabs within other primary objects such as necklaces and bracelets (**Table 9.1**). Such expansion is essential to obtain an accurate estimate of CIFs access to these symbolic objects, as well as their inscriptions. Of the 56 scarabs observed in CIFB assemblages, 25 were inscribed with hieroglyphic text and symbols (excavators' transliterations include: nfr and the crown of Lower Egypt, nfr nfr nfr nfr nfr nfr and the crown of Lower Egypt, nfr
The majority of scarab provisions were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 37 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages for that region (**Figure 9.51**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Middle Egypt (9), West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =8), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1) and Faiyum (Σ =1). There were no published

⁸⁵³ Grajetzki (2003: 39).

⁸⁵⁴ See GGRN 195.

⁸⁵⁵ See GGRN 281.

⁸⁵⁶ See GGRN 63.

⁸⁵⁷ See GGRN 530.

⁸⁵⁸ See GGRN 2862.

⁸⁵⁹ See GGRNs71, 136, 162, 188, 255, 594

See GGRNs 63, 71, 136, 162, 169, 188, 195, 232, 237, 255, 281, 530, 541, 594, 965, 966, 987, 1038, 1039, 1046, 1048, 1061, 1069, 2150.

incidences of scarabs within CIF assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, West Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Dakhla Oasis.

Scarabs were first included among adult funerary assemblages during the late Old Kingdom, 861 and then continued in use for the remainder of pharaonic history. The highest frequency of scarab provision amongst CIFB assemblages was observed during the Middle Kingdom (Σ =30; **Figure 9.52**). Equal quantities of scarabs were identified in published data for the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Periods (each Σ =13). In alignment with attestations for adult tombs, there were no observations of scarab provision amongst Early Dynastic CIF funerary assemblages.

One incidence of scarab provision was identified amongst the funerary assemblage of an Infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.53**). The remaining incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of scarabs amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children continue to dominate grave good distributions, with 8 incidences of scarab provision identified amongst funerary assemblages for this age group (**Figure 9.54**). Scarabs were also described amongst the published burial assemblages of 4 Infants and 2 Young Children. There were no accounts of scarabs in Foetal burials.

9.3.11 Recreation Items

Recreation items were observed on 48 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. Instances of recreation items can be further described according to object types: miscellaneous amusement items (Σ =32), board games (Σ =15) and musical instruments (Σ =1) (**Table 9.1**).

The highest frequency of recreation items was observed on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, with 35 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages for that region (**Figure 9.55**). Only 2 other regions amongst the sample feature incidences of recreation items in CIFB assemblages: the West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =12), and the Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =1). There were no further instances of this object category amongst the sample.

⁸⁶¹ Andrews (1994: 51).

⁸⁶² Andrews (1994: 50); Grajetzki (2003: 38-39, 43, 52, 59, 61, 65, 70ff., 107).

Recreation items were observed amongst adult funerary assemblages from the Early Dynastic Period, ⁸⁶³ only diminishing in frequency during the cultural shifts brought about by the Ramesside Period. ⁸⁶⁴ The majority of recreation items amongst the sample are attributed to CIFB assemblages of the Middle Kingdom, with 35 instances derived from contexts of this date (**Figure 9.56**). According to published data, 13 recreation items were included amongst CIF grave goods during the Early Dynastic Period. There are no examples of recreation items reported for Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period burial contexts.

It is important to note that this category of evidence presents the first and only occasion where object frequencies in settlement burial assemblages outnumber those in cemetery contexts. This finding may indicate that this category of objects had a strong association with the domestic sphere. According to published data, recreation items were interred in 35 settlement CIFBs, as opposed to 13 incidences in cemeteries (**Figure 9.57**). This is an intriguing finding, considering that recreation items are relatively common among adult cemetery assemblages from the Early Dynastic Period onwards. There were no published examples of recreation items amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Infants feature the highest frequency of recreation items amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 35 examples identified amongst published burial assemblages. This was followed by 13 examples observed amongst Older Children's offerings (Figure 9.58). There were no examples of recreation items interred with Foetuses or Young Children amongst the sample. For the first and only occasion amongst the sample, all incidences of this object category were associated with known-age burials.

9.3.12 Personal Adornment and Equipment

Items of personal adornment and equipment were observed on 40 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. Incidences of personal adornment and equipment items can be further described according to object types: personal adornment (Σ =10, including headbands, girdles, belts, diadems, sashes and ornaments), face masks (Σ =3), bags (Σ =2), combs (Σ =2), hairpins and pins (Σ =11), spoons (Σ =9), and staves and staff heads (Σ =3) (**Table 9.1**). Several items from this category, including belts, face masks,

⁸⁶³ Grajetzki (2003: 8, 70ff., 111).

⁸⁶⁴ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

staves and staff heads are often interpreted as symbols of status or authority when found in adult tombs. Here again, it noteworthy that such items are also attested in CIF funerary assemblages.⁸⁶⁵

The highest frequency of personal adornment and equipment provisions precipitated from the West Bank of Lower Egypt, with 12 observations of this category of evidence amongst published assemblages of this region (**Figure 9.59**). This result was closely followed by 11 instances on the West Bank of Upper Egypt; and 10 on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. The remaining regions demonstrated substantially fewer incidences of personal adornment and equipment provision and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =3), Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis (each Σ =1). There were no observations of personal adornment and equipment items amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta and East Bank of Middle Egypt.

Personal adornment and equipment items were attested in adult burials from the Predynastic Period onwards. This category of objects was also subject to a brief hiatus during the Ramesside Period, but experienced a renaissance thereafter. A fairly balanced representation of personal adornment and equipment items was observed amongst CIFB assemblages of all periods canvassed by this study. The Early Dynastic Period features the highest frequency of this object category (Σ =12, **Figure 9.60**), followed closely by equal observations in the Old and Middle Kingdoms (Σ =10). The First Intermediate Period presents the fewest published incidences of personal adornment and equipment provisions, with 8 observations attributed to this phase.

All incidences of personal adornment and equipment provision are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.61**). There were no published examples of personal adornment and equipment items amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Amongst the known-age component of the sample, Older Children present the highest frequencies of personal adornment and equipment items amongst published funerary assemblages. There were 18 observations of this category of evidence attributed to this age group (**Figure 9.62**), as opposed to 8 instances for Infant burials and 4 examples for

⁸⁶⁵ Grajetzki (2003: 3, 60).

⁸⁶⁶ Grajetzki (2003: 3, 10, 11, 23, 29, 41, 43, 48, 50, 51, 56, 58, 59, 60, 65, 70ff., 80, 83).

⁸⁶⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

⁸⁶⁸ Grajetzki (2003: 86, 88, 98, 102, 112, 114ff.).

Young Children. There were no observations of items of personal adornment or equipment amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, demographic data was not provided for individuals associated with 10 items from this object category.

9.3.13 Seals and Seal Impressions

In terms of primary offerings, seals and seal impressions were observed on 27 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. These primary incidences can be expanded to include a further 6 descriptions of seals and seal impressions within other objects, for example, necklaces and bracelets. Such expansion is essential to obtain accurate estimates of object types most frequently associated with CIFBs (**Table 9.1**). The variety of seals observed amongst CIFB assemblages include: button seals (several with backs assuming animal shapes, including baboons, dogs and frogs) and cylinder seals of many different materials. It is axiomatic that all of the items in this object category were inscribed, variably featuring cartouches (including that of Senwosret III⁸⁶⁹), stylised patterns and shapes, ⁸⁷⁰ and images of deities (including Anubis, ⁸⁷¹ Thoth, ⁸⁷² Khepri⁸⁷³ and Seth ⁸⁷⁴).

The highest frequency of seals and seal impressions was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 16 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages of that region (**Figure 9.63**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences of seals and seal impressions and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =5), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =4), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =1) and West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =1). There were no observations of seals and seal impressions amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, West Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

Seals and seal impressions are first observed in adult burials in the Early Dynastic Period, ⁸⁷⁵ and persisted in use ⁸⁷⁶ until the changing trends of Ramesside Period. ⁸⁷⁷ There appears to be fairly balanced chronological distributions of seals and seal impressions

⁸⁶⁹ See GGRN 38.

⁸⁷⁰ See GGRNs 626, 1630.

⁸⁷¹ See GGRN 611.

⁸⁷² See GGRN 1638.

⁸⁷³ See GGRN 1261.

⁸⁷⁴ See GGRN 1752.

Prof. E. C. Köhler, University of Vienna, pers. comm.; attested at the Early Dynastic necropolis of Helwan

⁸⁷⁶ Grajetzki (2003: 28, 35, 37).

⁸⁷⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

amongst published CIFB assemblages. The Middle Kingdom narrowly emerges with the highest frequency of this object category, with 9 instances of seals and seal impressions attributed to this period (**Figure 9.64**). The Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period follow closely behind, with 8 and 7 observations, respectively. The Early Dynastic Period features the fewest representations of seals and seal impressions, with 3 examples identified amongst CIFBs of this era.

One incidence of seal provision was identified within the funerary assemblage of an Infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.65**). The remaining 26 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of scarabs among CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Once again, the greatest number of seals and seal impressions among the known-age portion of the sample were identified in the funerary assemblages of Older Children. This object category was identified with individuals from this age group on 7 occasions (**Figure 9.66**), while singular instances were observed in the burials of a Young Child and an Infant. There were no observations of seals and seal impressions amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, 18 instances of seal and seal impression provision were associated with individuals for whom demographic data was not provided.

9.3.14 Organics: Food Items

Food items (including seeds, bread and animal bones⁸⁷⁸) were observed on 40 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample (**Table 9.1**). Comments made at the beginning of this chapter regarding the survival potential of organic remains are again evoked here. The highest frequency of *extant* food items was observed in the Eastern Nile Delta, with 9 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages of that region (**Figure 9.67**). This result was closely followed by 8 observations of food items on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and 5 observations from the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Only 2 other regions feature incidences of food provision, with 2 instances observed in Dakhla Oasis and 1 on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. There were no observations of food items amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, West Bank of Middle Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

Three bucrania were observed amongst the sample (see GGRNs 913 and 1191). Although this author is uncertain as to whether this part of the beast was placed within the grave for food consumption or symbolic purposes, the present study defers to Ikram's (1995: 118) assessment of bucrania as food items while awaiting further research on this issue.

Food items were attested amongst adult burials from the Predynastic Period onwards, ⁸⁷⁹ although attestations diminished during the Ramesside Period. ⁸⁸⁰ In the present study, the highest frequency of food items was observed amongst CIFB assemblages of the Early Dynastic Period, with 14 instances observed amongst published data from this phase (**Figure 9.68**). There is a sequential decline in published incidences of food provision from this point onwards, with 8 observations precipitating from Old Kingdom CIFBs, 2 observations from the First Intermediate Period, and a single observation attributed to the Middle Kingdom period.

All incidences of food provision are associated with CIFBs in cemetery contexts (Figure 9.69). There were no published examples of food items amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

On this occasion, Young Children emerge with the highest incidence of food provision amongst the known-age portion of the sample (Σ =8; **Figure 9.70**), followed closely by 7 observations for Infants and 6 for Older Children. There were no observations of food provision amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. On 4 occasions, food items were associated with individuals of unknown age-at-death.

9.3.15 Weaponry

Weaponry items (including arrowheads, maceheads, spearheads, axeheads, slingshots, harpoons, and spears) were observed on 24 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample (**Table 9.1**). The highest frequency of weaponry items were observed on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, with 15 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.71**). Only 3 other regions feature incidences of weaponry provision, including 7 observations on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and singular examples for the West Bank of Middle Egypt and East Bank of Upper Egypt. There were no observations of weaponry amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

Weaponry was attested in adult burials from the Predynastic Period onwards.⁸⁸¹ Compared to other early civilisations, this category of objects is relatively rare in Egyptian funerary assemblages⁸⁸² and is often interpreted as a symbol of status when encountered in adult

882 Grajetzki (2003: 61).

⁸⁷⁹ Grajetzki (2003: 2, 8, 10, 11, 21, 39, 43, 48-49, 61, 65, 70, 83).

⁸⁸⁰ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

Ciałowicz (1985) notes the presence of weaponry in CIFBs from the Predynastic Period; Grajetzki (2003: 5, 8, 11, 38, 39, 41, 48, 55, 60, 70).

tombs. ⁸⁸³ As such, their appearance in CIF tomb assemblages is noteworthy. Like many other object categories, weaponry diminished in popularity during the Ramesside Period, ⁸⁸⁴ and then experienced a slight resurgence in the Third Intermediate Period. ⁸⁸⁵ Within the present study, the Old Kingdom features the highest frequency of weaponry provision, with 17 instances derived from published CIF funerary assemblages (**Figure 9.72**). The remaining chronological phases feature substantially fewer incidences, with 6 examples of weaponry provision attributed to the Early Dynastic Period and 1 observation precipitating from the Middle Kingdom. There were no published examples of weaponry amongst CIFB assemblages from the First Intermediate Period.

One incidence of weaponry provision was identified in the funerary assemblage of an Infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.73**). The remaining 23 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of weaponry amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, the clear majority of weaponry provision is associated with Older Children, with 18 incidences identified in published funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.74**). Single observations of weaponry provision were attributed to the burials of an Infant and a Young Child. There were no observations of weaponry amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. On 4 occasions, weapons were associated with individuals of unknown age-at-death.

9.3.16 Other Vessels

'Other Vessels' were observed on 23 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. The category of 'Other Vessels' serves to represent those vessels constructed from materials other than ceramics and stone, and can be further elaborated as follows: faience vessels (Σ =9), mud vessels (Σ =2) and a wooden vessel (Σ =1; **Table 9.1**). The highest frequency of Other Vessels was observed on the West Bank of Lower Egypt, with 11 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages for that region (**Figure 9.75**). This result was closely followed by 8 observations for the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Only three other regions featured examples of Other Vessels amongst CIF grave goods, including 2 observations for the West Bank of Middle Egypt, and 1 observation each for the East Bank of Lower Egypt and the West Bank of Upper Egypt. There were no

⁸⁸³ Grajetzki (2003: 38, 61).

⁸⁸⁴ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

⁸⁸⁵ Grajetzki (2003: 98, 101, 111).

observations of Other Vessels amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

Other Vessels were first attested in adult burials during the Early Dynastic Period, ⁸⁸⁶ then continued in use throughout Egyptian history. ⁸⁸⁷ The highest frequencies of Other Vessel provision within the dataset were attributed to the Old Kingdom, with 12 incidences derived from published funerary assemblages of this phase (**Figure 9.76**). There were only slightly fewer observations of this object category in the First Intermediate Period (Σ =8), while Other Vessels were only observed on 2 occasions in the Early Dynastic Period, and once amongst published data for the Middle Kingdom.

All incidences of Other Vessel provision are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.77**). There were no published examples of Other Vessels amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children predominate amongst the known-age component of the sample as the major recipients of this object category. There were 18 incidences of Other Vessel provision identified amongst funerary assemblages associated with this age group (**Figure 9.78**). Otherwise, there was a single observation of a faience vessel amongst the grave goods of a Young Child, and no observations of Other Vessels in any Foetal or Infant burials. On 4 occasions, Other Vessels were associated with individuals for whom age-at-death was not known.

9.3.17 Textiles

Textiles were observed on 19 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample (Table 9.1). To be eligible for inclusion in this category, a quantity of textile – usually in folded form – must have been explicitly described by an excavator as a component of a deceased's funerary assemblage. It should be noted that textiles provided as part of mortuary treatment (wrapping, padding and wadding)⁸⁸⁸ are *not* included here as grave goods. Moreover, textiles used in the construction of clothing are also not listed here, as clothing is treated as a separate object category, below. Comments made at the beginning of this chapter regarding the survival potential of organic remains, including textiles, are again evoked here.

888 See §§6.2.2, 6.3.2.

Prof. E. C. Köhler, University of Vienna, pers. comm.; attested at the Early Dynastic necropolis of Helwan.

⁸⁸⁷ Grajetzki (2003: 20, 23, 49, 55, 61, 70ff., 83, 90, 98, 101).

The highest frequencies of *extant* textiles were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 15 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages for that region (**Figure 9.79**). Three other regions featured instances of textile provision, including 2 examples for the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and singular observations for the Western Banks of Lower and Middle Egypt. There were no observations of textiles amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

Textiles were first attested as grave goods during the Early Dynastic Period, ⁸⁸⁹ and continued in regular use ⁸⁹⁰ until the dramatic shifts in funerary culture brought about by the Ramesside Period. ⁸⁹¹ Almost equal incidences of textile provision were observed amongst published CIFB assemblages for the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Periods, with these regions demonstrating 8 and 7 observations of this object category, respectively (**Figure 9.80**). Parity was observed amongst Early Dynastic and Middle Kingdom data, with single examples of textile provision reported for each of these cultural phases.

All incidences of textile provision are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.81**). There were no published examples of textiles amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Unfortunately, demographic data was only available for a small number of individuals who featured textiles among their funerary assemblages. Here, we see 2 incidences of textile provision associated with burials of Young Children (Figure 9.82), and single instances identified amongst Infant and Older Child Assemblages. There were no observations of textiles amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. On this occasion, 15 observations of textiles were attributed to individuals of Unspecified Age.

9.3.18 Clothing and Footwear

Clothing and footwear were observed on 13 occasions amongst CIF funerary assemblages within the sample. More specifically, there were 10 incidences of clothing provision and 3 of footwear (sandals; **Table 9.1**). Considering that these items were constructed from organic materials, comments made at the beginning of this chapter regarding the survival potential of such remains are again evoked here. The highest frequency of *extant* clothing

⁸⁸⁹ Jones (2008: 121).

⁸⁹⁰ Grajetzki (2003: 43, 65, 70).

⁸⁹¹ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

and footwear was observed on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, with 8 instances identified amongst published CIFB assemblages from that region (**Figure 9.83**). The remaining regions featured substantially fewer incidences of clothing and footwear as grave goods and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =3), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1) and West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =1). There were no observations of clothing and footwear amongst published CIFB assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

Items of clothing were first observed amongst adult funerary assemblages of the Early Dynastic Period⁸⁹² and continued in use thereafter,⁸⁹³ albeit at a reduced scale during and after the Ramesside Period.⁸⁹⁴ Within the present study, the highest frequencies of clothing and footwear provision were attributed to the Old Kingdom, with 5 instances derived from published CIF assemblages of this phase (**Figure 9.84**). This result was closely followed by 4 observations amongst Middle Kingdom assemblages, while the Early Dynastic and First Intermediate Periods each featured 2 published instances of clothing and footwear.

One incidence of clothing and footwear provision was identified amongst the funerary assemblage of an Infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.85**). The remaining 11 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of clothing and footwear amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

A similar provision profile is observed for clothing and footwear as was described for textiles, above. Here, Young Children feature the highest incidence of clothing and footwear provision amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 3 incidences identified amongst published assemblages associated with this group (Figure 9.86). Again, Infants and Older Children feature equal distributions of this object category, with 2 instances described for each group. There were no observations of clothing and footwear amongst Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, on 6 occasions clothing and footwear was associated with individuals for whom age-at-death data was not provided.

⁸⁹² Jones (2008: 121).

⁸⁹³ Grajetzki (2003: 5, 25, 42, 67, 70, 86).

⁸⁹⁴ Grajetzki (2003: 84, 89).

9.3.19 Inorganic Raw Materials

The 10 incidences of inorganic raw materials amongst the sample pertain to 2 object types: precious metal (Σ =7; 5 incidences of gold, 2 of copper)⁸⁹⁵ and gemstones (Σ =3; among them carnelian, amethyst and graphite;⁸⁹⁶ **Table 9.1**).

All incidences of precious metal provision were attributed to the West bank, with 4 instances observed in Upper Egypt (3 in Hierakonpolis; 1 in el-Arabah), 2 in Middle Egypt (1 each in Lahun and Harageh), and 1 in Lower Egypt (Saqqara). The Early Dynastic Period represented the highest frequencies of precious metal provision amongst the sample, with 4 examples identified amongst published data for this phase. Two observations of precious metals were observed amongst CIFB assemblages of the Middle Kingdom, while a single instance was attributed to an Old Kingdom interment. There were no incidences of precious metal provision amongst First Intermediate Period assemblages, whatsoever. All observations of precious metals as grave goods precipitated from cemetery contexts; there were no recorded incidences of this object type amongst settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts. Amongst the known-age portion of the sample, 3 incidences of precious metal provision were identified in assemblages of Older Children, while 1 example was recorded in the burial of a Young Child. There were no observations of precious metals among funerary assemblages of Infants or Foetuses. On 3 incidences, precious metals were associated with individuals of Unspecified Age.

Gemstones were observed in 2 published CIFB assemblages in el-Kubaniya and Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, and a singular instance was attributed to Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt. Singular observations of gemstone provision precipitated from the published records of the Early Dynastic, Old Kingdom and Middle Kingdom periods. There were no examples of gemstones within First Intermediate Period burials, whatsoever. All incidences of gemstone provision derived from cemetery contexts; this object type was not represented amongst settlement, temple or funerary enclosure funerary assemblages. Singular observations of gemstones were identified among the published grave goods of a Young Child, an Older Child and a child of Unspecified Age. Gemstones did not appear amongst Foetal or Infant funerary assemblages.

⁹⁶ See GGRNs 1276, 2477, 2537.

See GGRNs 137, 264, 724, 2490, 2492, 2536. Here, the present study is dependent on excavators' published descriptions. It may have been that these items were objects from other categories of grave goods that the excavator/s failed to recognize.

9.3.20 Organic Raw Materials

The 8 incidences of organic raw materials amongst the sample may be sub-divided into 5 types: clay $(\Sigma=3)$, ⁸⁹⁷ wood $(\Sigma=2)$, ⁸⁹⁸ resin $(\Sigma=1)$, ⁸⁹⁹ natron $(\Sigma=1)$, ⁹⁰⁰ and a wreath $(\Sigma=1)$. ⁹⁰¹ Comments made at the beginning of this chapter regarding the poor survival potential of organic remains are again evoked here. All instances of clay provision were attributed to Early Dynastic CIF assemblages from cemetery contexts in Abydos $(\Sigma=2)$ and Adaima on the West Bank of Upper Egypt $(\Sigma=1)$. Clay was described among the grave goods of a Foetus, a Young Child and a child of Unspecified Age.

Both instances of wood provision were observed in Upper Egyptian cemetery contexts: 1 in the Old Kingdom burial of an Older Child in Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank, the other in a Middle Kingdom Infant burial at Abydos on the East Bank. The single observation of resin amongst the sample was derived from the Early Dynastic cemetery burial of an Older Child at Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, cited on many occasions elsewhere in this thesis. 902

The only instance of natron provision amongst the sample was identified within the funerary assemblage of a child of Unspecified Age in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Abydos on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. The only published instance of a 'wreath' amongst the sample was described within the First Intermediate Period burial of a child of Unspecified Age in the cemetery of Sedment on the West Bank of Middle Egypt.

9.3.21 Organics: Fuel

Of the 8 incidences of fuel provision amongst the sample, 6 are of charcoal⁹⁰³ and 2 are of animal dung.⁹⁰⁴ Considering these items are also organic in nature, comments made at the beginning of this chapter regarding the poor survival potential of such remains are again

See GGRNs 1399, 1440, 1520. According to individual classification, clay may be also regarded as an inorganic substance.

⁸⁹⁸ See GGRNs 1493, 2623.

⁸⁹⁹ See GGRN 2497.

See GGRN 1515. According to individual classification, natron may be also regarded as an inorganic substance.

See GGRN 2563. Petrie (2000) provided a single word description – 'wreath' – for this item in one of his notoriously illusive tomb cards. In alignment with archaeological best practice, this find is interpreted here as a simple cluster/bunch of vegetation, i.e., Raw Materials, as opposed to the modern, Western, funerary interpretation of a 'wreath'. The absence of any description of this object's position within the grave prevents its appropriation as a piece of Personal Adornment and Equipment.

For further details regarding this burial, see §§6.7.4, 7.2.4, 7.4.2, 9.1.

⁹⁰³ See GGRNs 1403, 1405, 2863-2865, 2985.

⁹⁰⁴ See GGRN 379.

evoked here. Perhaps it is also worth questioning whether or not this category of evidence is consistently identified, collected, recorded and published in excavation protocols.

Of the 6 incidences of charcoal provision amongst the sample, 3 are attributed to Early Dynastic cemetery burials on the West Bank of Upper Egypt: 2 at Adaima and 1 at Hierakonpolis. Both Adaima burials are of Young Children, while the Hierakonpolis example once again stems from the frequently-mentioned burial of an Older Child, cited above.

Both instances of animal dung provision are derived from the burial of a Young Child in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Matmar on the East Bank of Upper Egypt.

9.3.22 Animal Products

Four examples of animal products were observed as grave goods amongst the sample, including an ostrich egg, 905 a large animal tooth, 906 quantities of tusk 907 and a felid claw. 908 Here again, our understanding of the preservation potential of organic remains calls us to question how decomposition processes may affect representations within this object category.

The ostrich egg was described in the burial of an Older Child in the Old Kingdom cemetery of Balat in the Dakhla Oasis. The large animal tooth was also derived from an Old Kingdom burial, on this occasion amongst the funerary assemblage of a Young Child in the cemetery of Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Unfortunately, age is not known for the individual who received quantities of tusk among their cemetery burial in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Hierakonpolis on the West Bank of Upper Egypt; we do however know that the remarkable example of a felid claw from the same cemetery, may have been part of a leopard skin (which included the bones of the hand or at least the claws), identified amongst the extraordinary funerary assemblage of a 10–12 year old child often cited throughout this thesis.

9.4 Grave Good Materials

The sample was examined in order to determine the nature and scope of materials used to manufacture CIF grave goods. In this case, the objective was to measure material incidence *per entry* in the grave good database; for example, if a single necklace featured quantities of faience, carnelian and steatite beads, each listed material received an

⁹⁰⁵ See GGRN 1620.

⁹⁰⁶ See GGRN 1238.

⁹⁰⁷ See GGRN 2351.

⁹⁰⁸ See GGRN 2986.

⁹⁰⁹ For further details regarding this burial, see §§6.7.4, 7.2.4, 7.4.2, 9.1, 9.3.20.

incidence count of '1' for this object, rather than counting the individual number of beads made from each material. Such a protocol mitigates (somewhat) the variable levels of recording between publications. It should be noted that the results of this section *only* reflect the *material constituents of grave goods*, not of any other components of the burial; for example, wood from a coffin or architectural feature are not included, nor is the textile used in bodily wrapping. These materials have been accounted for in previous chapters of this thesis.

Again, it must be stated that the present study does not claim that the following results are an accurate account of the 'true' archaeological record. The cultural and natural transformation processes outlined in §9.1 which affect preservation levels, one the one hand, and recovery, recording and publication potentials on the other, have equal bearing on representations of materials within the archaeological record.

Further to these methodological considerations, 14 material categories were identified amongst the sample (**Figure 9.87**), these representing 126 individual material types (**Table 9.2**). In descending order of frequency, material categories observed amongst the sample include: Ceramics (Σ =913), Local Stone (Σ =781), Unknown (Σ =496), Faience and Glaze (Σ =482), Animal Products (Σ =237), Metal (Σ =134), Organics (Σ =46), Wood (Σ =41), Textiles (Σ =38), Imported Stone (Σ =34), Minerals (Σ =32), Raw Materials (Σ =22), Glass and Frit (Σ =9) and Manufactured Materials (Σ =6). Material incidence is further described in descending order of frequency according to manifestations within specific geographical regions, then by relative chronology, site type and age categories, below. Categories consisting of \geq 11 published examples are described as a group, 910 while individual cases are described for categories featuring \leq 10 published examples.

9.4.1 Ceramics

Ceramic materials were observed in CIFB assemblages on 913 incidences amongst the sample. Of these, additional surface treatments (for example, washes, slips, incised decorations) were applied on 183 incidences (**Table 9.2**). The highest incidence rates were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where ceramic materials were present on 365 incidences amongst published funerary assemblages (**Figure 9.88**). Incidences in remaining regions are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =220), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =149), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =88), East

With the exception of the 'Unknown' material category which, by nature, cannot be described further.

Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =39), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =30), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =16), Faiyum (Σ =4) and Western Nile Delta (Σ =2). There were no published incidences of ceramic materials employed within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

In terms of incidence by relative chronology, the Early Dynastic Period featured the highest use of ceramic materials, with 449 incidences identified amongst published CIF assemblages (**Figure 9.89**). A decline in occurrence is then observed over all proceeding periods, with 175 incidences attributed to the Old Kingdom, 164 incidences to the First Intermediate Period, and 125 to the Middle Kingdom phase.

The majority of ceramic material incidence is attributed to published cemetery burials, with 907 observations derived from assemblages within this context (**Figure 9.90**). There were 6 incidences of ceramic materials amongst settlement burial assemblages, while there were no published incidences within temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Amongst the known-age component of the sample, the highest frequencies of ceramic materials were observed with Older Children, with 171 incidences identified within the funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.91**). Ceramic materials were observed in each of the remaining age categories amongst the sample, including 98 incidences in Young Children's interments, 77 incidences in Infant burials and 6 within Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, on 435 occasions, demographic data was not published for individuals featuring grave goods manufactured from ceramic materials.

9.4.2 Local Stone

Local stone (that is, stone quarried within Egypt) was employed in object manufacturing on 781 occasions amongst the sample, with the incidence of 52 specific stone types listed in descending frequency order as follows: 911 carnelian (Σ =231), alabaster (Σ =92), nonspecific stone (Σ =63), limestone (Σ =46), calcite (Σ =41), steatite (Σ =40), blue steatite (Σ =31), slate (Σ =30), flint (Σ =27), amethyst (Σ =25), garnet (Σ =17), green steatite (Σ =12), serpentine (Σ =10), feldspar, quartz, sandstone (each Σ =9), diorite (Σ =7), quartzite, rock crystal (each Σ =5), haematite, pink limestone, green feldspar, greywacke, marble, schist, soapstone (each Σ =4), basalt, breccia, white feldspar, porphyry, black steatite (each Σ =3), agate, azurite, black limestone, yellow limestone, blue schist, chert, dolemite, white steatite (each Σ =2), chalcedony, gypsum, onyx, graphite, brown limestone, red limestone, green

Designation of stone types adheres to descriptions in original publications. Identifications of stone origins follow Aston *et al.* (2000: 5-77).

diorite, granite, black granite, siltstone, steaschist, jasper and green jasper (each $\Sigma=1$; **Table 9.2**). Of these, there were 2 incidences of local stone objects receiving additional surface treatments (pigment). 912

The highest inclusion rates of local stone were observed among the published data of the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 306 incidences identified within CIFB assemblages in this region (**Figure 9.92**). Incidences in remaining regions are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =217), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =96), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =54), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =42), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =25), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =21), Western Nile Delta (Σ =18) and Faiyum (Σ =2). There were no published incidences of local stone materials employed within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

The Early Dynastic Period presented the highest rates of local stone employment, with 310 incidences observed in published CIF assemblages from this cultural phase (**Figure 9.93**). The Middle Kingdom featured the next highest incidence of local stone materials, with 185 observations attributed to this period. This result was closely followed by 165 published incidences in the Old Kingdom, and 121 incidences in the First Intermediate Period.

In terms of site types, apart from 7 observations among settlement burial assemblages, the remaining 767 incidences of local stone employment were identified in published CIF cemetery grave goods (**Figure 9.94**). There were no published examples of local stone materials amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Older Children demonstrated the highest inclusion rates of local stone amongst the sample, with 237 incidences attributed to this age group (Figure 9.95). The remaining age categories presented substantially fewer observations amongst published funerary assemblages, with 64 incidences attributed to Young Children's burials, and 45 incidences identified within Infant interments. There were no incidences of local stone amongst published Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, 435 incidences of local stone employment were attributed to items associated with individuals for whom age-at-death was not provided.

Both were sandstone objects; see GGRNs 2389, 2390.

9.4.3 Faience and Glaze

Due to the similarities in their manufacturing methods, faience and glaze are included within the same material category. There were 482 incidences among the dataset where faience and glaze materials were employed in grave good manufacture. Faience accounted for 430 incidences, while glaze was observed on 52 occasions (**Table 9.2**). Of these, there were 2 incidences when faience objects received additional surface treatments (paint). The highest incidences of faience and glaze were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with these materials included amongst CIFB assemblages on 333 incidences (**Figure 9.96**). The remaining regions feature substantially fewer published instances of these materials, and are listed in descending order of frequency as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =62), Western Nile Delta and West Bank of Middle Egypt (each Σ =26), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =16), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =13), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =4), and the Eastern Nile Delta and Faiyum (each Σ =1). There were no published incidences of faience and glaze materials employed within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

The First Intermediate Period featured the highest inclusion rates of faience and glaze, being identified amongst published CIF funerary assemblages on 171 occasions (**Figure 9.97**). The Old Kingdom presented only slightly fewer examples, with 157 incidences reported in burial contexts dating to this phase. This was followed by 107 incidences of faience and glaze amongst Middle Kingdom assemblages, while the Early Dynastic Period demonstrated the least employment of these materials amongst CIF grave goods (Σ =47).

Seven incidences of faience and glaze materials were identified amongst settlement CIF funerary assemblages (**Figure 9.98**). The remaining 475 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of faience and glaze materials amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Faience and glaze materials were observed on 73 occasions in the burial assemblages of Older Children (**Figure 9.99**). These materials were also observed amongst the grave goods of each of the remaining age categories, including 38 incidences for Young Children, 38 incidences for Infants, and 1 example was attributed to a Foetal burial. Unfortunately, demographic data was not available for individuals associated with 351 incidences of faience and glaze within the dataset.

⁹¹³ See GGRNs 1778, 2551.

9.4.4 Faunal Materials

Faunal materials were observed to be employed in grave good manufacturing on 237 incidences amongst the sample. This figure is comprised of 28 specific materials listed in descending frequency order, as follows: non-specific shells (Σ =68); ivory (Σ =63); ⁹¹⁴ bone (Σ =31); *Cowrie* shells (marine gastropod; Σ =11); *Comus* and *Nerita* shells (marine gastropods, Red Sea; each Σ =9); leather, ostrich eggshell (each Σ =6); horn (Σ =5), oyster shells (marine bivalve; Σ =4); *Nassa* shells (marine gastropod; Σ =3); *Cardium* (Nile bivalve), *Collumbella* (marine gastropod, Mediterranean), mussel (marine bivalve), *Mutela* (Nile bivalve) and *Spatha* (Nile mollusc) shells (each Σ =2); and animal skin, ⁹¹⁵ tortoise shell, *Caelatura* (Nile bivalve), *Echinoid* (marine 'sea urchin'), *Helix* (terrestrial gastropod), *Mitra Maculosa* (marine gastropod), *Petunculus* (marine bivalve), *Patella* (marine mollusc), *Tonna* (marine gastropod), *Glycymeris* (marine bivalve), *Chlamys* (marine bivalve) and *Macrocallista* (marine bivalve) shells (each Σ =1; **Table 9.2**).

The highest inclusion rates of faunal materials were observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 92 incidences identified amongst CIFB assemblages in this region (**Figure 9.100**). Substantially fewer published instances of these materials were observed within the remaining regions, and are listed here in descending frequency order: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =62), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =33), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =15), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =13), Eastern Nile Delta and Dakhla Oasis (each Σ =7), and the Western Nile Delta and Faiyum (each Σ =4). There were no published incidences of faunal materials employed within funerary assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

The peak of faunal material employment in CIF grave goods was observed during the Early Dynastic Period, with 99 incidences identified for this cultural phase (**Figure 9.101**). This result was followed by 63 incidences in the Old Kingdom and 45 incidences in the Middle Kingdom. The First Intermediate Period presented the fewest published examples of faunal material employment, with 30 examples derived from CIFB assemblages of this date.

The majority of items manufactured from faunal materials were observed in cemetery burials, with 233 incidences identified in such contexts (Figure 9.102). Of the remaining

There were no distinctions made between hippopotamus (indigenous in ancient Egypt) and elephant ivory (imported from the Sudanese savannah; Krzyszkowska & Morkot (2000: 322-327) in original publications.

Leopard skin, GGRN 2986, possibly imported from Africa; see van Driel-Murray (2000: 302).

site types, faunal materials were observed in settlement burials on 4 occasions; there were, however, no published incidences of faunal materials in temple or funerary enclosure CIFB assemblages.

Older Children featured the highest faunal material inclusion rates amongst the known-age portion of the sample, with 55 incidences attributed to published funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.103**). Inclusion rates then appear to diminish relative to age: there were 32 incidences associated with Young Children, 15 incidences associated with Infants, and no published incidences of faunal materials within Foetal funerary assemblages. Unfortunately, 135 incidences of faunal materials were derived from funerary assemblages for which demographic data was not known.

9.4.5 Metal

Metal was observed in grave good materials on 134 incidences amongst the sample, with incidences of 7 specific materials listed in descending frequency order, as follows: gold (Σ =60), copper (Σ =46), silver (Σ =15), bronze (Σ =5), non-specific metal (Σ =4), electrum (Σ =3) and tin (Σ =1; ⁹¹⁶ **Table 9.2**). The highest incidence of metal inclusion was observed on the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 38 observations amongst published CIFB assemblages from this region (**Figure 9.104**). This result was almost equalled by the West Bank of Upper Egypt, which presented 37 instances of metal materials. Metal was also observed amongst grave goods in the following regions in descending frequency order: West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =24), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =19), Western Nile Delta (Σ =5), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =5), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =3), and East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =3). There were no published incidences of metal within funerary assemblages in the East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

On this occasion, the Middle Kingdom presents the highest inclusion rates, with metal identified on 50 incidences amongst published CIF funerary assemblages from this period (**Figure 9.105**). Inclusion rates were quite balanced among the remaining regions, with 31 incidences of metal attributed to the Old Kingdom, 30 to the Early Dynastic Period, and 23 incidences were identified amongst First Intermediate Period CIFBs.

According to Ogden (2000: 171), the incidence of tin in ancient Egyptian grave goods was extremely rare. While the identification of tin should not be ruled out here (see GGRN 2543), it should nonetheless be treated with caution.

There was 1 example of metal within the grave goods of an Infant settlement burial (**Figure 9.106**). The remaining 133 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of metal materials amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

The majority of metal materials observed amongst the known-age component of the sample were associated with Older Children, with 40 incidences attributed to the published funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.107**). The remaining age categories feature substantially fewer examples of metal grave goods, with 9 incidences associated with Young Children, 4 incidences associated with Infants, and a singular example of metal was observed in a Foetal burial. Unfortunately, age-at-death data was not published for individuals associated with 80 incidences of metal materials amongst the sample.

9.4.6 Organics

Organic materials were observed in grave goods on 46 incidences among the dataset, comprised of 14 specific materials listed in descending frequency order, as follows: non-specific animal remains (Σ =8), charcoal (Σ =7), vegetable matter (Σ =6), bovine remains, seeds (each Σ =5), non-specific organics (Σ =4), goat/sheep remains (Σ =3), dates (Σ =2), and animal dung, avian remains, bread, fibres, grain, hair (each Σ =1; **Table 9.2**). The highest incidence of organic materials was observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with 17 observations amongst this region's published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.108**). Organic materials were also observed in the following regions in descending order of frequency: East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =13), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =7), East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =3), Faiyum (Σ =2), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =2), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1) and West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of organic materials within funerary assemblages in the Western Nile Delta and East Bank of Middle Egypt regions.

The Early Dynastic Period demonstrates the highest inclusion rates of organic materials, with 17 incidences attributed to published CIFB assemblages from this cultural phase (**Figure 9.109**). This is closely followed by results from the Old and Middle Kingdoms, which feature 14 and 12 reported incidences of organic materials, respectively. The First Intermediate Period demonstrated the fewest examples of organic materials, with 3 incidences identified amongst published CIF grave goods during this cultural phase.

All incidences of organic materials are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (Figure 9.110). There were no published examples of organic materials amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

The highest frequencies of organic materials were observed amongst the grave goods of Older and Younger Children, with 13 and 10 incidences attributed to these age groups, respectively (**Figure 9.111**). Equal inclusion rates were observed for Infants and Foetuses, with 2 incidences identified amongst published funerary assemblages of each of these age categories. Unfortunately, there were 19 incidences of organic material inclusion amongst the grave goods of individuals for whom age-at-death estimates were not provided.

9.4.7 Wood

Wood was observed in CIFB assemblages on 41 incidences amongst the sample;⁹¹⁷ of these, applied surface treatment (paint) was observed on 8 occasions (**Table 9.2**).⁹¹⁸ Wood was most frequently observed amongst published funerary assemblages from the West Bank of Middle Egypt, where it was employed on 14 incidences (**Figure 9.112**). Wood was also observed in funerary assemblages from the following regions in descending order of frequency: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =12), East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =9), Faiyum (Σ =4), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1) and East Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of wood within funerary assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt and Dakhla Oasis regions.

The highest inclusion rates were observed for the Middle Kingdom, with 20 incidences of wooden objects attributed to CIFB assemblages from this phase (**Figure 9.113**). The remaining chronological periods feature substantially fewer incidences of wooden items, with 9 observations reported for the Old Kingdom, and 6 attributed to published CIF grave goods of both the Early Dynastic and First Intermediate Periods.

There were 4 incidences of wooden items within published CIF settlement burials (**Figure 9.114**). The remaining 37 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of wooden objects amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Tree species were not published for the wooden objects among the sample. This is unfortunate as wood was a valuable commodity in ancient Egypt, with the paucity of indigenous timber-producing trees leading to substantial imports of wood from the Mediterranean, Africa, the Near East and possibly India; Gale et al. (2000: 334).

⁹¹⁸ See GGRNs 75, 102, 2871-2876.

Older Children again featured the highest inclusion rates of wooden items among the sample, with 11 incidences identified amongst published funerary assemblages for this age group (Figure 9.115). On this occasion, Infants demonstrated the next most frequent inclusions of wooden items, with 5 incidences reported amongst published data. Young Children were furnished with wooden items on 2 occasions, while there were no published incidences of wooden grave goods in Foetal burials.

9.4.8 Textiles

Here, the present study sought to determine the incidence of textile as a material constituent of grave goods. Textiles were identified in CIFB assemblages on 38 occasions amongst the sample, including 33 incidences of linen and 2 of twine (**Table 9.2**). The highest incidence rates were observed amongst published funerary assemblages from the East Bank of Upper Egypt, where textiles were observed on 21 occasions (**Figure 9.116**). Textiles were also observed in the following regions in descending order of frequency: West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =9), West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =6) and West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =2). There were no published incidences of textiles within funerary assemblages in the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

The highest frequency of textile inclusion was observed amongst CIF grave goods of the Old Kingdom, with 14 observations attributed to this period (Figure 9.117). This result was closely followed by 13 reported incidences amongst Middle Kingdom data, and 8 incidences in First Intermediate Period funerary assemblages. The Early Dynastic Period demonstrated the fewest textile objects, with 4 incidences attributed to this cultural phase.

The highest frequencies of textiles were identified in published cemetery burials, with 34 incidences attributed to CIF assemblages in this context (**Figure 9.118**). There were 4 reported incidences of textile inclusion amongst grave goods in settlement burials, while no textiles were observed in CIFBs from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

On this occasion, Young Children demonstrate the highest inclusion rates of textiles among the known-age component of the sample, with textiles featuring in their published grave goods on 8 occasions (**Figure 9.119**). Infants exhibited the next highest-frequency of textiles, with 5 incidences identified among their assemblages, followed by Older Children, for whom textile items were observed on 2 occasions. There were no published

examples of textiles amongst Foetal grave goods. Unfortunately, age was not known for individuals associated with 23 textile items amongst the sample.

9.4.9 Imported Stone

Imported stones were observed in grave goods on 34 occasions amongst the sample, ⁹¹⁹ with incidences of 5 specific materials listed in descending frequency order as follows: lapis lazuli (Σ =14; Afghanistan), ⁹²⁰ turquoise (Σ =11, Sinai), ⁹²¹ obsidian (Σ =5; Armenia, Cappadocia, Ethiopia, Yemen, Tibesti, Mediterranean Islands), ⁹²² nephrite (Σ =3; Western Asia), ⁹²³ and olivine (Σ =1; Island of Zabargad/St. John's Island, Red Sea; ⁹²⁴ **Table 9.2**). The highest published incidence of imported stone was observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with 18 observations attributed to CIFB assemblages within this region (**Figure 9.120**). Imported stones were also observed amongst funerary assemblages in the following regions in descending frequency order: West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =9), East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =3), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =2), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1) and East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1). There were no published incidences of imported stone within funerary assemblages in the Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Middle Egypt, Faiyum and Dakhla Oasis regions.

The highest frequency of imported stone objects was observed during the Middle Kingdom, with 16 incidences attributed to CIFB assemblages from this era (**Figure 9.121**). The Early Dynastic Period demonstrated the next highest inclusion rates, with 11 incidences described amongst published data. The Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period feature successively fewer imported stone objects, with 5 and 2 incidences respectively reported for each cultural phase.

All incidences of imported stone objects are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (**Figure 9.122**). There were no published examples of imported stone items amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Designation of stone types adheres to descriptions in original publications. Identifications of stone origins follow Aston *et al.* (2000: 5-77).

Aston et al. (2000: 39-40); Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 61). Griswold (1992: 6, 223) argues that in the early periods of Egypt, lapis lazuli and turquoise was primarily associated in the burials of women and children, possibly due to the "symbolism of blue stones". He states that these materials are therefore indicative of gender and age, rather than status. Owing to the economic and effort expenditure required to procure such foreign objects (Richards 1992: 51), the present study argues that it is more appropriate to interpret this material as an intersection of all three of these facets of identity.

Aston et al. (2000: 62-63); Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 60).

Aston et al. (2000: 46-47). Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 60) state that it is improbable that obsidian found in Egyptian Predynastic and Early Dynastic contexts was sourced from the Near East (Armenia and Cappadocia).

⁹²³ Aston et al. (2000: 38-39).

⁹²⁴ Aston et al. (2000: 47-48).

Furthermore, all incidences of imported stone objects are attributed to the funerary assemblages of Older Children (Figure 9.123). There were no examples of imported stone items amongst published Young Child, Infant or Foetal grave goods. It is possible, however, that these age categories may have been represented amongst those individuals associated with 19 imported stone objects for whom demographic data was not provided.

9.4.10 Minerals

Minerals were identified in grave goods on 32 occasions amongst the sample, with incidences of 4 specific materials listed in descending frequency order as follows: malachite (Σ =20), kohl (Σ =6), galena (Σ =5), and ochre (Σ =1; **Table 9.2**). With 13 observations, the highest incidence of minerals was observed in grave goods from the West Bank of Upper Egypt (**Figure 9.124**). Only 3 of the remaining regions featured minerals among their published funerary assemblages, including the East Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =11), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =5) and Dakhla Oasis (Σ =3). There were no published incidences of minerals amongst published grave goods of the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, East Bank of Lower Egypt, West Bank of Middle Egypt, East Bank of Middle Egypt and Faiyum regions.

The majority of grave goods with mineral constituents were observed in the Early Dynastic Period, with 25 incidences attributed to published CIFBs of this phase (**Figure 9.125**). The remaining chronological periods demonstrated substantially fewer examples of mineral inclusion, with 3 incidences identified amongst First Intermediate Period data, and 2 incidences observed in published assemblages of both the Old and Middle Kingdoms.

All incidences of mineral inclusion are attributed to CIFBs in cemetery contexts (Figure 9.126). There were no published examples of mineral constituents amongst CIF funerary assemblages from settlement, temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

There were equal observations of mineral inclusion for Young and Older Children, with each category featuring 6 incidences among published burial assemblages (Figure 9.127). Coincidentally, there were also equal observations of mineral inclusions amongst Infant and Foetal burials, with each category presenting single instances of minerals amongst their grave goods. Unfortunately, 19 incidences of mineral grave goods were associated with individuals for whom age-at-death data was not provided.

9.4.11 Raw Materials

Raw Materials were identified in grave goods on 22 occasions amongst the sample, with incidences of 5 specific materials listed in descending frequency order, as follows: clay (Σ =10), unbaked mud (Σ =7), resin (Σ =3), and natron and pink clay (each Σ =1; **Table 9.2**). The highest raw material incidence rate was observed on the West Bank of Upper Egypt, with 8 examples observed amongst published CIFB assemblages (**Figure 9.128**). These results were closely followed by the West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =5), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =3), East Bank of Upper Egypt and Dakhla Oasis (each Σ =2), and East Bank of Lower Egypt and Faiyum regions (each Σ =1). There were no published incidences of raw materials amongst grave goods of the Western Nile Delta, Eastern Nile Delta, and East Bank of Middle Egypt regions.

The highest frequency of raw material inclusion was observed in the Middle Kingdom, with 12 incidences attributed to published CIFB assemblages from this cultural phase (**Figure 9.129**). The next highest incidence rate was observed during the Early Dynastic Period, with 8 observations of raw materials derived from contexts of this date. Further to this, the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period each featured 1 instance of raw materials among published grave goods.

There were 5 incidences of raw materials within published CIF settlement burials (**Figure 9.130**). The remaining 17 observations were all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of items with raw material constituents amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Infants featured the highest inclusion rate of raw materials amongst the known-age portion of the sample. Seven incidences were attributed to published grave goods associated with individuals from this age group (**Figure 9.131**). This result was followed by 5 observations for Older Children, while a singular instance was identified amongst the funerary assemblage of a Young Child. There were no published incidences of raw materials amongst the Foetal age category. Unfortunately, on 9 occasions objects with raw material constituents were associated with individuals for whom demographic data was not provided.

9.4.12 Glass and Frit

Glass was reported as a material constituent of grave goods on 8 occasions among the sample. On 7 incidences, it was in the form of beads strung in necklaces interred with children of Unspecified Age in Upper Egypt: 5 in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of el-Kubaniya on the West Bank, and 1 each in the First Intermediate Period cemetery of Qau el-Kebir, as well as in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Abydos, both on the West Bank. The final incidence was observed amongst the grave goods of a 3 year old child in the First Intermediate Period cemetery of Matmar on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. Here, an ivory 'goat-sucker' (bird) pendant was described with inlaid blue glass bead eyes.

Blue frit was described on 1 occasion in the sample, in the form of loose beads interred with a child of unspecified age in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Kom el-Hisn in the Western Nile Delta. Beads of gold, carnelian, steatite, turquoise and glazed quartz were also reported in this context.

9.4.13 Manufactured Materials

For the purpose of this study, 'manufactured materials' include cartonnage/stucco and ink. There were 4 examples of cartonnage/stucco employment amongst the sample. Two incidences were identified as the primary constituent of face masks: 930 the first, in the burial of a 12 year old child in the First Intermediate Period cemetery of Qau el-Kebir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt; 931 the second, in the burial of a child of Unspecified Age in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of el-Arabah on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. The third instance of cartonnage/stucco employment was identified on a wooden box amongst the grave goods of a child of Unspecified Age in the First Intermediate Period cemetery of Qau el-Kebir, mentioned above. The final example manifest in a wooden stuccoed

⁹²⁵ In the absence of scientific testing and/or expert analysis, Nicholson & Henderson (2000: 195ff.) state that all reported 'glass' items in Egypt prior to the New Kingdom should be viewed with caution as they may be erroneously diagnosed by excavators, and/or accidents of production, rather than deliberately locally manufactured or imported objects.

⁹²⁶ See GGRNs 1189, 1192-1195.

⁹²⁷ See GGRNs 1516, 1961.

⁹²⁸ See GGRN 398.

⁹²⁹ See GGRN 2.

As stated in §6.7.9, the present study follows the excavator's explicit descriptions that the items were constructed from "stucco".

⁹³¹ See GGRN 1753.

⁹³² See GGRN 266.

⁹³³ See GGRN 1733.

model boat, interred with a 2 year old child in the Old Kingdom rock-cut tomb necropolis of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt.⁹³⁴

Ink was identified on 2 occasions amongst the sample. Both incidences derived from the Old Kingdom cemetery of Naga ed-Deir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt: the first, as an ink inscription (text not provided) on a stone in the burial of a Young Child;⁹³⁵ the second, also as an ink inscription on a stone in the burial of an Older Child, reading: "... sole companion *Yepy*...".⁹³⁶

9.5 Grave Good Origins

The presence of imported objects and/or materials as grave goods is often cited to infer the high social status of tomb owners, with distance from objects' material source or place of manufacture often used indexically to determine their relative worth. Apart from providing indications regarding the socio-economic capacities of deceased CIFs, the appearance of imported items and/or materials in their burials places them within international trade networks, even as beneficiaries. The imported items and/or materials in CIFB assemblages have already been noted in §§9.4.4, 9.4.7 and 9.4.9, including 34 incidences of imported stone and possible cases of imported floral (wood) and faunal (ivory and animal skin) materials. Further examples of imported items amongst CIF grave goods within the sample include: Park a Nubian decorated ceramic vessel in the burial of a 2–2.5 year old child in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Adaima on the West Bank of Upper Egypt; Park a Palestinian ceramic vessel in the vast funerary assemblage of a 10–12 year old child in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Hierakonpolis, also on the West Bank of Upper Egypt; Park an African or Sudani ceramic box in the burial of a 12 year old child in the First

⁹³⁴ See GGRN 2631.

⁹³⁵ See GGRN 1266.

⁹³⁶ See GGRN 1281.

⁹³⁷ Richards (1997: 37-38).

Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 59-60); Rowland (2004: 1004); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1102). It is important to note that the use of the word 'trade' is not semantically appropriate concerning Canaanite (Palestinian) objects/materials, particularly during the late Early Bronze Age I period. At this time, Egypt controlled Southern Canaan, however relations between these nations certainly changed over time; Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 59-75).

Although not a grave good *per se*, the use of a Palestinian vessel as a funerary container in the pot burial of a 7-9 month old infant in the Predynastic to Early Dynastic cemetery of Minshat Abu Omar in the Eastern Nile Delta is noteworthy; see DRN 1308; Kroeper (1994: 28); Kroeper & Wildung (2000: 80); *cf.* Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 67, Table 3.5).

See GGRN 1450. It is acknowledged that foreign pottery was most probably imported into Egypt for the contents, rather than the vessel itself; see Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 58).

⁹⁴¹ See GGRN 2532.

Intermediate Period cemetery of Sedment on the West Bank of Middle Egypt; and unspecified quantities of 'imported' ceramic vessels observed within the expansive burial of a 9 year old child in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Minshat Abu Omar in the Eastern Nile Delta. Adams also claims that the silver used to manufacture a bead from the aforementioned funerary assemblage of a 10–12 year old child from Hierakonpolis was imported, stating that "silver was a rare commodity in Egypt which had to be imported from Syria." Ogden, however, argues that some silver used in manufacturing in ancient Egypt may have been 'aurian' silver extracted from Egyptian and Nubian gold mines. Although the relative scarcity and value of silver, particularly in early periods, is not contested, one cannot state with certainty that *all* silver objects were imports.

9.6 Grave Good Inscriptions

The presence of inscribed items in CIFB assemblages has already been noted in §§9.3.2, 9.3.10, 9.3.13 and 9.4.13, above, including approximately 30 ceramic vessels inscribed with potmarks; 25 scarabs inscribed with hieroglyphic text, stylised patterns and shapes; 27 seals and seal impressions inscribed with cartouches, stylised patterns and shapes and images of deities; and 2 stones inscribed with hieroglyphic script in ink. Further examples of inscribed items amongst CIF grave goods include: 20 ceramic jars with attached inscribed labels (featuring content descriptions), 4 pieces of jewellery, 251 2 funerary figurines (featuring the name *Hont-nofret*, Lady of the House, 252 and *htp-di-nsw* formulae 253), 2 ivory

See GGRN 2539. To explain the presence of this imported object within the child's grave, the excavator surmises that they were "probably a foreign slave"; Petrie & Brunton (1924: 10).

⁹⁴³ See GGRN 2678.

⁹⁴⁴ See GGRN 2472.

⁹⁴⁵ Adams (2000: 102).

⁹⁴⁶ Ogden (2000: 170); cf. Gale & Stos-Gale (1981).

⁹⁴⁷ Hendrickx & Bavay (2002: 66)

While many potmarks may not be in hieroglyphic script *per se*, the present study follows Baines (2004: 150-151, 158-161) in his acknowledgement that they are nonetheless a form of communication and may be precursors to later script. In his discussions regarding the inscribed material from the Protodynastic Tomb U-j at Abydos, Baines compares the ivory labels and potmarks, stating: "I therefore believe that the two media and modes of inscription of the U-j material belong to the same overall system and constitute two graphically distinct, but systematically almost identical and mutually convertible forms. Comparable duality, plurality and convertibility is known from later Egyptian writing; the modern names for principal script forms are 'hieroglyphic' and 'hieratic'. Many scripts in other civilizations have had numerous realizations, but Egyptian may be the clearest case where this characteristic was integral from the start. The complex as a whole constitutes "writing"..." As such, potmarks are included here. *Cf.* Baines (1989); Mawdsley (2011).

⁹⁴⁹ Cf. Feucht (1995: 127) regarding the presence of inscribed items in children's tombs.

⁹⁵⁰ See GGRNs 2635-2637.

⁹⁵¹ See GGRNs 55, 2568, 2618-2619.

⁹⁵² See GGRN 78.

⁹⁵³ See GGRN 79.

plaque/inlays (featuring hieroglyphic symbols), 954 2 copper mirrors (featuring the names Bebt-tha⁹⁵⁵ and Idut, 956</sup> both Priestesses of Hathor) and 2 amulets (featuring pharaonic prenomens of Senwosret and Amenemhat III). 957 In some cases, objects assume the form of hieroglyphs, such as gold plaques forming the hnt sign 958 in the necklace of a child of unspecified age buried in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Saqqara on the West Bank of Lower Egypt; 959 or the carnelian and gold leaf beads forming the hr sign 960 in 2 necklaces belonging to a 6–8 year old 'male' child in the Old Kingdom rock-cut tomb necropolis of Qubbet el-Hawa on the West Bank of Upper Egypt. 961

Although each of the objects listed above have been included within detailed descriptions for their respective object categories, it is nonetheless worthwhile to briefly examine the 86 incidences of inscribed objects according to their distributions across specific geographical regions, relative chronology, site types and age categories. In terms of geographical distribution, the majority of inscribed objects were reported amongst CIFB assemblages of the East Bank of Upper Egypt, with 41 incidences attributed to this region (**Figure 9.132**). The remaining regions feature substantially fewer incidences and are listed in descending frequency order as follows: West Bank of Upper Egypt (Σ =14), West Bank of Middle Egypt (Σ =12), Dakhla Oasis (Σ =5), West Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =4), Faiyum (Σ =4), Eastern Nile Delta (Σ =3), Western Nile Delta (Σ =2), and East Bank of Lower Egypt (Σ =1). There were no observations of inscribed objects amongst published CIF assemblages of the East Bank of Middle Egypt.

The Middle Kingdom featured the highest frequencies of inscribed objects, with 32 incidences identified amongst published data for this period (**Figure 9.133**). Almost equal observations were made for the Old Kingdom and First Intermediate Period, with 24 and 22 incidences attributed to these cultural phases. The Early Dynastic Period demonstrated the fewest examples, with 8 inscribed items derived from contexts of this date. Even so,

954 See GGRNs 1542, 2687.

⁹⁵⁵ See GGRN 667.

⁹⁵⁶ See GGRN 1654.

⁹⁵⁷ See GGRNs 29, 2861.

⁹⁵⁸ Gardiner (1994: 529, sign-list W17).

⁹⁵⁹ See GGRN 55.

⁹⁶⁰ Gardiner (1994: 450, sign-list D2).

⁹⁶¹ See GGRNs 2618-2619.

Further to fn. 948, above, the present study notes that 6 of the 8 inscribed Early Dynastic items were ceramic vessels featuring potmarks; GGRNs 441, 1596, 1599, 1808, 2691, 2887. The remaining 2 items were inscribed pieces of ivory; GGRNs 1542, 2687.

it is crucial to note that CIFs had access to inscribed objects, even at the time when writing was first introduced into Egyptian culture and society.

There were 3 incidences of inscribed objects within published CIF settlement burials (Figure 9.134). The remaining 83 incidences are all derived from cemetery contexts. There were no published examples of inscribed items amongst CIF funerary assemblages from temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Amongst the known-age component of the sample, Older Children featured the highest frequencies of inscribed objects, with 12 incidences identified amongst published funerary assemblages of this age group (**Figure 9.135**). This was followed with equal observations amongst Young Child and Infant age categories, with 5 observations attributed to each of these groups. There were no observations of inscribed objects amongst published Foetal grave goods. Unfortunately, demographic data was not published for individuals associated with 64 incidences of inscribed objects, significantly impeding opportunities for contextualised understandings of this important component of ancient Egyptian cultural practices.

9.7 Summary

Using data derived from the survey of the published archaeological record, supplemented by unpublished material from the ACE Helwan Project, this chapter has determined the nature and scope of CIF grave goods during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. The research has ascertained the distribution of children's grave goods, as well as their constituent categories, materials, origins and inscriptions. These findings serve to illuminate children's cultural capacities during the timeframes included in this study; particularly, how the occasion of children's death motivated their parents/carers to mobilise the burial ritual as a material expression of children's position, value and agency in ancient Egyptian society.

While poor publication practices have diminished our capacity to access the funerary assemblages of at least one-third of the individuals within the dataset, we can nonetheless observe that almost half of the published CIFBs from the Early Dynastic Period to the Middle Kingdom were furnished with grave goods of some description. These findings parallel anecdotal evidence for contemporary adult burials, which were also furnished and unfurnished according to both fashion and socio-economic status. Grave goods were variably included in CIFBs in all geographical regions encompassed by this study, as well

as in all chronological periods, for all age groups, in cemetery and settlement contexts. The study determined that burials in cemetery contexts had higher *overall* grave good provision rates, while settlement burials had substantially higher *mean* provision rates per furnished burial. These findings indicate that intra-mural interments received commensurate cultural investment to those in extra-mural interments. These results contrast current disciplinary sensibilities regarding children's cultural ostracism, poverty and 'nonpersonhood'. There were no published accounts of grave good provision in temple or funerary enclosure contexts.

Children were observed with 23 grave good categories among the sample, including Jewellery, Ceramic Vessels, Amulets, Tools, Stone Vessels, Cosmetic Equipment and Products, Funerary Furniture, Shells and Fossils, Figurines and Models, Scarabs, Recreation Items, Personal Adornment and Equipment, Seals and Seal Impressions, Food Items, Weaponry, Other Vessels, Textiles, Clothing and Footwear, Inorganic Raw Materials, Organic Raw Materials, Organics: Fuel, Animal Products and Unknown Objects. Every grave good category was attested in cemetery contexts. On the other hand, published settlement burials did not feature any Tools, Cosmetic Equipment and Products, Funerary Furniture, Shells and Fossils, Personal Adornment and Equipment, Other Vessels, Textiles, Inorganic Raw Materials, Organic Raw Materials, Organics: Fuel, or Animal Products. The 'Recreation Items' category represented the only occasion among the sample where published incidences were higher in settlement burials than those in cemeteries. This finding is suggestive of a strong association of this category of grave goods with the domestic sphere. Overall, the range of objects observed in children's funerary assemblages appears to mirror that available to contemporary adult burials during the periods canvassed by this research.

These grave good categories were variably constructed from 14 different materials, including Ceramics, Local Stone, Faience and Glaze, Animal Products, Metal, Organics, Wood, Textiles, Imported Stone, Minerals, Raw Materials, Glass and Frit, Manufactured Materials, and Unknown Materials. Every material type was observed in cemetery contexts, while published settlement burials did not feature any Organics, Imported Stone, Minerals, Glass and Frit, or Manufactured Materials.

In terms of demographic distribution, there were clear trends throughout the sample towards increased grave good provision with age, 963 both in terms of overall frequencies, as well as by category and material types. Older Children featured the highest provision rates across grave good categories within the known-age component of the sample, except for Recreation Items (where Infants prevailed); Food Items, Textiles, Clothing and Footwear, and Fuel (where the highest provisions were attributed to Young Children); and Raw Materials (specifically, gemstones, where equal observations were made for both Young and Older Children). Older Children were also observed with the highest provision rates for grave good materials within the known-age component of the sample, except for Raw Materials (most often associated with Infant burials); Textiles (most often provided for Young Children); Manufactured Materials (equally provided for Infants, Young Children). While such provision patterns are noteworthy from a quantitative perspective, it is crucial to note that they do not necessarily constitute ontological identity differences between age groups; rather, they are illustrative of scale.

Identity differences may be better articulated via the presence or absence of certain objects among demographic groups. 964 Future extensions of this project would seek to undertake this exercise for the entire ancient Egyptian population. In terms of the present study, Foetuses presented the narrowest range of grave good categories among the known-age component of the sample, only featuring 5 of the 23 categories identified by the survey, including Jewellery, Ceramic Vessels, Cosmetic Products, Funerary Furniture and Organic Raw Materials. With 18 categories observed amongst Infants' burials, their provision range was significantly higher, only missing Other Vessels, Inorganic Raw Materials, Fuel, Animal Products and Unknown grave goods. Young Children's provision range was still higher: the 21 object categories observed for this age group were only missing Recreation Items and Unknown grave goods from their funerary assemblages. Every grave good category identified by the study was observed amongst the burials of Older Children. While these results go some way to determining differences in the cultural capacities of the

963

Robins (1994-1995: 28).

For example, items such as stelae or canopic jars were not observed in any juvenile burials. However, this may be due to post-depositional transformation processes, as empty stela niches were observed in the domed mudbrick superstructures of the tombs of 2 children of unspecified age, DRNs 783 and 784, subsidiary to the tomb of King Djed at Abydos (see §8.5.2.4). In terms of canopic jars, 7 of the children amongst the sample were mummified (see §6.5). Of these, only 2 of their tombs (DRNs 536 and 537) were observed to be intact. It is possible that canopic jars may have featured amongst the mortuary assemblages of 1 or some of the remaining 5 children, but been subsequently removed from their original context.

juvenile demographic, it is certain that poor recording practices have impacted on our ability to establish comprehensive results. Here, an absence of evidence is most certainly not evidence of absence. Further research will aim to contextualise these results within broader population profiles in order to crystallise our understandings of how material culture was mobilised in the burial ritual to express individuals' cultural capacities across the demographic spectrum.

In addition to its empirical findings, this study has also considered the theoretical dimensions of material culture research as it pertains to the mortuary sphere. Issues of representativeness pervade this chapter, as they have elsewhere in this thesis. As aforementioned, incomplete publication practices were of particular concern, as was tomb robbery and object decomposition. Each of these transformation processes, in isolation and combination, contributes to the obfuscation of the 'true' archaeological record. Of these, perhaps the most avoidable loss of data may be attributed to the poor publication practices which precipitate from authorial bias, particularly to the widespread practice of only publishing (or, only publishing in detail) 'exceptional' burials – those judged by excavators to be of greatest size, content, quantity, quality, interest or contrast.

Subsequent to this chapter's finding of equity between children's and adults' access to grave goods during the periods canvassed by this study, perhaps the most significant outcome of the research is the correlate observation of equity in authorial bias. As a transformation process, authorial bias does not discriminate by age; rather, by materially expressed, extant indicators of socio-economic status. Generally, it appears that burials were not ignored because they belonged to children; they were not recorded and/or published because they were materially poor. The burials of countless impecunious adults have suffered the same fate. Evidence to support this argument resides in the manifold examples of 'exceptional' burial litanies resident amongst the literature. On almost every occasion, a child features within such lists. While further research is required to determine the true extent of authorial bias on material testimonies across the entire ancient population, the present study suggests that it is elitism, not ageism, that has had the greatest impact on our capacity to access the true record of Egyptian CIF mortuary culture.

In principle, this chapter has determined that children were given equal access to resources in the funerary sphere as their adult contemporaries. Importantly, there did not appear to be a lag in terms of the introduction of certain grave good categories in children's tombs; objects including Recreational Items, Seals and Seal Impressions and Other Vessels (Early

Dynastic Period), as well as Scarabs (late Old Kingdom/First Intermediate Period) were introduced during the timeframe canvassed by this research and were concurrently attested in both adult and juvenile funerary assemblages. Whether or not children's access to grave goods was a direct function of their own independent socio-political and economic status remains as much of a question as it does for adults. The issue at hand is whether or not the death of *any* individual/s elicited comparable cultural responses amongst their community to facilitate their transition between worlds of the living and the dead. The presence of all manner of grave goods in children's burials – objects locally and internationally manufactured from Egyptian and imported materials; inscribed objects; objects imbued with pharaonic and religious symbolism; and objects associated with status and power – suggests that the death of CIFs in ancient Egypt elicited responses that were at least ontologically, if not materially, equitable to the death of adults.

Further to this, this chapter also argued for a reconsideration of the manner in which we intellectually and physically process objects identified in 'shared' burial contexts. The issue was problematised by the present study owing to the presence of multiple burials involving CIFs, adults and adolescents amongst the dataset. However, the topic would undoubtedly benefit from further consideration across the discipline of Egyptology. What was the philosophy of entitlement in Egyptian mortuary behaviour? Who was entitled to what in the manifold contexts of multiple and corresponding burials? Based on its empirical findings of ontological equity between all members of the ancient population, the deliberate construction of communal funerary spaces across all socio-economic strata, and the culturally-bound magnanimity which permeates all aspects of religious and social morality, the present study suggests that in some multiple interments, the Egyptians liked to share. The compulsion to determine individual ownership in the archaeological record perhaps says more about the capitalistic sensibilities of modern scholars than it does about our subjects. The qualitative implications of each of these findings for the position, value and agency of children will be explored in the following chapter.

CHAPTER 10: DISCUSSION

The central aim of this thesis is to assess how current perceptions of ancient Egyptian child, infant and foetal mortuary culture compare with its *actual* nature and scope in published literature of the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. With a view to achieving this aim, this chapter will juxtapose the quantitative archaeological survey results detailed in Chapters 3–9 against the prevailing perceptions of juvenile mortuary culture outlined in the literature review of Chapter 2. Further to this, the present study will pursue qualitative data analyses by engaging archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories to interpret the survey results. It will also investigate the extent to which the lived experiences and cultural capacities of ancient Egyptian children can be gleaned through the funerary nexus, including their social position, value and agency. These qualitative analyses will be compared to the current paradigms of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities in Egyptological discourse to determine the accuracy of prevailing sensibilities and evaluate the need for review.

Crucial to the above endeavours, however, are reflections on one's ability to make comprehensive statements about funerary data, especially considering the particular context under which its great majority was originally recorded and published. As such, this chapter will also consider the study's practical and theoretical limitations, with a primary focus on the issue of representativeness, including differential preservation, incomplete excavation, the 'osteological paradox', intra- and inter-observer error, and poor reporting. It may be argued, however, that the greatest obstacle to accurate representations of ancient Egyptian children resides in the issue of authorial bias. As a means to illustrate the nature, scope and effect of these biases, this chapter will draw on archaeological evidence identified in Chapters 3–9 to construct critical, historiographical reviews of those aspects of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture most frequently stereotyped and misconstrued among the Egyptological discourse including 'toys', coffins, differential burial practices and status. These case studies serve to caution against the unequivocal use of published mortuary data in reconstructions of ancient Egyptian society. However, they also demonstrate that engagements with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories can mitigate inherent gaps and partialities in the dataset and strengthen qualitative interpretations. Within this framework, plentiful opportunities arise for detailed, nuanced,

ethically-balanced reconstructions of the cultural experiences of *all* members of the ancient population, including children, infants and foetuses.

10.1 Quantitative Summary

In accordance with the research objectives outlined in §1.3 and parameters delineated in §1.4, a comprehensive survey was carried out on all available published literature for any references to CIF mortuary culture from the Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. Survey data was supplemented by unpublished Early Dynastic material from the ACE Helwan Project. The survey sought to address the prevailing assumption identified by the literature review of Chapter 2: that published cemetery data rarely includes significant numbers of CIFBs, thereby rendering them unavailable for study.⁹⁶⁵ detailed in Chapter 3, of the 240 sites included in the survey, 68 sites (28.33%) produced a minimum of 1,809 CIFBs in excavation reports spanning almost 200 years of disciplinary activity. 966 One may view these results from several perspectives. Some may argue that the majority of sites (Σ =172; 71.67%) examined by the survey produced no CIFBs amongst their published data whatsoever, thus confirming the aforementioned assumption regarding the relative absence of children from cemetery data. However, the present study would view such an interpretation as a superficial, uncritical reading of the archaeological record. Such a view lacks understanding of the manifold cultural transformation processes in archaeology which ultimately dictate and create modified, commodified versions of the 'true' Egyptian archaeological record. These transformation processes will be explored throughout this chapter. The 68 productive sites within the survey provided glimpses into the 'true' archaeological record and established that CIF mortuary culture is by no means 'rare' in published cemetery data. The 1,809 CIFBs identified by the survey, together with their 4,749 associated grave goods, amount to a substantial dataset. While the present study does not claim that these figures represent a complete account of CIF mortality during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods, it nonetheless provides a worthy sample of the prevailing spectrum of Egyptian mortuary behaviour during these eras. Child, infant and foetal mortuary culture is not merely available for study, it is a fertile substrate for contemporary research questions which have the potential to recalibrate some of the central doctrines of Egyptology.

⁹⁶⁵ See §2.1, fns. 99, 100.

See §3.1. *Cf.* Appendix: attached as a CD-ROM to the inside back cover of this volume.

Cf. Lillehammer (2000: 19).

10.1.1 Differential Burial Practices

One such enduring doctrine attributes the apparent absence of CIFBs from published cemetery data to differential burial practices for these individuals, based on an assumption that at this young age, they were not considered embodied members of the community.⁹⁶⁸ As discussed in the literature review of Chapter 2, one of the most frequently stereotyped aspects of CIF mortuary culture in Egyptology is that they have been found buried under the floors of houses or in the foundations of buildings. 969 As described in Chapter 3, while the archaeological survey certainly identified some CIF interments within settlement contexts, such burials were by no means common amongst the sample. In terms of distribution by site type, the archaeological survey identified 1,753 individuals in communal cemeteries (96.90% TBs), 54 individuals in settlement contexts (3.00% TBs), >1 (<18) individual/s were buried under a temple (\ge 0.05\% TBs), and a minimum of 1 individual was buried in a funerary enclosure (0.05% TBs). The identification of the majority of CIFBs in communal cemetery contexts emerges as one of the most significant findings of this research, 970 upturning long-standing stereotypes of juvenile spatial ostracism to the settlement realm. The issue of differential burial practices will be further discussed in §10.7, below.

It would be overly simplistic, however, to limit investigations of differential burial practices to the locations of CIF interments within the mortuary landscape. Therefore, the present study sought to determine the nature and scope of *every* extant element of CIF mortuary culture through the archaeological survey. Such an approach sought to establish a sturdy empirical platform from which to view the mobilisation of the burial ritual on behalf of parents/carers as an expression of their perceptions of children's social personae, potentially reflecting their lived experiences and cultural capacities. It is widely accepted that differential treatment in the funereal realm may function as a marker of difference in the lived sphere, thus enabling us to test statements such as that made by Robins, that "... few resources were spent by the ancient Egyptians on the burial of children. Very often bodies were put into crude or reused containers, or poorly fashioned coffins; and the typical child burial was accompanied by very few grave goods ... few children received any formal funerary monuments of their own." However, when aligned against

⁹⁶⁸ See §2.1, fns. 101, 102.

[&]quot; See §2.3.

Cf. Hodder & Cessford (2004); Kogălniceanu (2008: 107); Moses (2008: 46, 47); Zillhardt (2009: 87).
 Robins (1994-1995: 26).

anecdotal evidence from contemporary adult burials, the archaeological survey consistently produced data of resounding similarity rather than difference. In every category of evidence examined in Chapters 3–9 of this study, including bodily position and orientation, bodily treatment, tomb architecture, associated features and grave goods, and every geographical region, chronological period, age and socio-economic group, CIFs appear to have been given access to the same range of mortuary treatment, at the same time, as that afforded to adults. These findings thus refute enduring assumptions regarding the supposed poverty of juvenile mortuary culture, and problematise prevailing reconstructions of children's lived experiences and cultural capacities as subordinate to adults.

10.1.2 Corporeality

Further disciplinary assumptions regarding CIF mortuary culture concern their physical bodies in the archaeological record. There is a lack of awareness regarding both the preservation potential of CIF skeletal remains, as well as the specialised excavation and analysis procedures required to deal with this material.⁹⁷² Although these issues were theoretically addressed in the literature review of Chapter 2, their practical impact on the dataset's representativeness will be discussed further in §10.3, below.

A further assumption suggests that even if juvenile remains are exhumed, 'we are unable to make meaningful demographic conclusions' from their remains, as it is thought that they cannot be aged, sexed or analysed from a bioanthropological perspective. The inaccuracy of this assumption was demonstrated in Chapter 4 of this thesis. Despite the majority of excavation reports not providing fulsome bioanthropological information, ⁹⁷³ the present study was nonetheless able to use biodata derived from the archaeological survey, supplemented by unpublished skeletal material from the ACE Helwan project, to construct a juvenile mortality profile for the 'known-age' component of the sample. This mortality profile peaks with Young and Older Children, contrasting the expectations of high infant mortality usually encountered in pre-industrial populations and diminishing possibilities for the widespread, culturally-sanctioned/tolerated practice of infanticide. Should this high child mortality profile be accurate, we may infer that the exogenous rigours of poor nutrition and hygiene and high levels of pathogen exposure had greatest bearing on the health of Egyptian Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom children. Distributions of skeletal pathology according to aetiology appear to support this hypothesis, with lesions of

⁹⁷² See §2.1, fns. 104, 105; §2.5.

⁹⁷³ Cf. Rowland (2007: 1631).

infectious/inflammatory origin most frequently observed. Through further study, one may therefore question whether the high infant mortality rates generally associated with pre-industrial societies were less-severely expressed in ancient Egypt during the timeframes canvassed by this research. The high-proportions of infant burials noted by Patch in New Kingdom and Third Intermediate Period cemeteries of el-Ghurab (*ca.* 50.00%), Matmar (*ca.* 48.00%) and el-Mostagedda (*ca.* 42.00%) suggest that infant mortality was high in later periods. Additional research may determine the geographical and chronological extents of this phenomenon and test for correlations between increased population levels and infant mortality rates.

It is possible that the high child mortality curve presented within this thesis may be a by-product of authorial bias. A general tendency towards increased access to resources with increased age was observed among the sample. As such, considering many excavators' tendencies to only record and publish 'exceptional' material, it is possible that the data may be biased towards older elite children. The impact of such status-driven archaeological praxes on our understanding of ancient Egyptian CIF mortuary culture will be further discussed in §10.8, below.

10.2 Qualitative Analyses

The present study has considered the archaeological survey's quantitative results and will test a range of interpretative options for closeness of fit within larger fields of social and cultural representation.⁹⁷⁷ At the simplest level, it may be argued that the very fact that CIFs have been buried at all testifies to their inclusion in communal afterlife beliefs⁹⁷⁸ and importance in family and community networks.⁹⁷⁹ In the majority of cases, children were provided with their own graves/tombs and funerary assemblages, signifying their status as 'individuals' within the community,⁹⁸⁰ and refuting the idea that parent/carer-child relationships were not constituted by strong emotional bonds.⁹⁸¹ To bring the infanticide question to a close, ethnographic evidence indicates that societies, such as ancient Egypt,

Castillos (1998c: 258) also notes a decreasing infant mortality rate from the Badarian (ca. 30.00%), through to Naqada I (ca. 15.00%) and the late Predynastic Period (ca. 10.00%). He interprets this decline as evidence of substantially improved living conditions during these eras. Cf. Castillos (1977: 23; 1982b: 31).

⁹⁷⁵ Cited in Robins (1994-1995: 28).

⁹⁷⁶ Robins (1994-1995: 28).

⁹⁷⁷ Ascher (1961: 323); Wahrman (2004: 45); Orrelle (2008: 72).

⁹⁷⁸ Zillhardt (2009: 87).

⁹⁷⁹ Feucht (1995: 128); Harrington (2007: 60); Naumov (2007: 266); Szpakowska (2008: 34).

⁹⁸⁰ Janik (2000: 124); Meskell (2000: 431); Midant-Reynes *et al.* (2004: 478).

⁹⁸¹ Duchesne *et al.* (2003: 148-152).

which consider newborns as fully-fledged social beings⁹⁸² are much less likely to tolerate infanticide than those in which they are not.⁹⁸³ The withholding of full 'personhood' until some time after birth is considered as a mechanism by which infanticide may be rendered socially acceptable.

Already, these preliminary outcomes challenge prevailing sensibilities regarding the supposed disembodiment and ostracism of children in ancient Egypt. Perhaps the most significant finding to stem from this research, however, is that there appears to be no essential differentiation between the mortuary culture of children and adults during the timeframes canvassed by this research. In light of high child and infant mortality levels in pre-industrial populations, Parker Pearson suggests that incidences where child burials received similar mortuary treatment and provision to that of adults are more surprising and noteworthy than when they were buried with less, if any, consideration in such contexts. In alignment with the research aims outlined in Chapter 1, this finding will be interpreted within a consultative framework of archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories. It does so with a view to exploring what the funerary nexus may reveal about the lived experiences and cultural capacities of CIFs in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt.

⁹⁸² Contra Tooley (1983), who controversially contends that newborn infants cannot be said to have the right to life.

⁹⁸³ Hrdy (1992); Mays (2000: 181).

Cf. Feucht (1995: 125, 128; 2001a: 262); Filer (1998: 391-393); Patch (2007: 249); Zillhardt (2009: 40). Contra Robins (1994-1995: 28). Meskell (1994: 38-40; 1999a: 181; 1999b: 146; 2000: 425, 429; 2001: 24) also notes this phenomenon in the 18th Dynasty Eastern Necropolis at Deir el Medina; cf. Harrington (2007: 61). While Feucht (1995: 125) recognises this phenomenon, she limits it only to multiple burials of children and adults: "bei den Begräbnissen, die Beigaben enthielten, lagen die kleinen Kinder dicht bei einem Erwachsenen, dem die Beigaben wohl galten." Anderson (1992: 57) details higher provision rates for children than adults for Predynastic cemetery burials at Badari. Midant-Reynes et al. (2004: 478) notes the similarity of burial treatment for children and adults in the Predynastic cemetery of Kom el-Khilgan. Stevenson (2006: 29; 2009b: 174ff.) also notes the general equity of child and adult mortuary culture at the Predynastic cemetery of el-Gerzeh; cf. Murray (1956: 93). Stevenson however states that the absence of wavy-handled vessels and imported objects from children's burials may have served as an age indicator. By contrast, both wavy-handled vessels and imported objects were well-represented within the present sample, so perhaps Stevenson's findings are suggestive of a differing mortuary treatment in the Predynastic Period, or of a variable expression localised to el-Gerzeh. Further research is required to determine the extent of this finding across the Predynastic Period. For attestations of wavy-handled vessels within the present study, see GGRNs 1285, 1290, 1298, 1303, 1310, 1311, 1312, 1313, 1314, 1338, 1339, 1340, 1341, 1800, 1805, 2375, 2511, 2512, 2513, 2514, 2515, 2516, 2517, 2518, 2519, 2718. For discussion of imported objects, see §9.5. In terms of the attestation of this phenomenon in later periods of Egyptian history, Bowen (2003: 85) comments on the similarity of burial treatment for foetuses, infants, children and adults in the early Christian cemetery of Kellis 2, which she interprets as an equal "expectation of resurrection"; cf. Marlow (2001: 108, 109).

10.2.1 Understanding Mortuary Behaviour

To date, much of the disciplinary research into mortuary data revolves around the principle that social organisation is the primary determinant of funerary practices. As a result, socially institutionalised, philosophical-religious beliefs and world views have (somewhat ironically) not had academic priority in the study of Egyptian mortuary culture. This typically empiricist view classifies beliefs as "epiphenomena", only loosely related to more 'core' cultural institutions and practices, which are thought to be predominantly responsible for both cultural continuity and change. Therefore, philosophies and beliefs have been seen as less relevant to the study of human socio-ecology, socio-cultural adaptation and social evolution in general, and to the study of mortuary practices, in particular. 988

As a published proponent of this view, Binford suggests that archaeologists must be restricted to study the *structure* rather than the *form* of mortuary remains. He reasons that the form of any mortuary practice holds merely an arbitrary relationship to the beliefs or social identities it might reflect, which remain archaeologically unreconstructable. However, Binford does not consider that this same structured variation in mortuary remains might analogously reflect the organisation of a society's philosophical-religious beliefs and themes which may, in part, also comprise the society's world-view.

Binford's thesis aligns with prevailing voices in Egyptological discourse by implying that burial data simply reflects occupants' socio-economic status. However, the present study's finding of material equity between child and adult mortuary culture problematises this hypothesis. According to Binford and others, shill children have not yet lived the life of adults, they have not had the opportunity to accumulate independent wealth, and are not considered as embodied members of the community. So, why does their mortuary culture differ so little from their adult counterparts? What does this say about the position of CIFs in ancient

⁹⁸⁶ Carr (1995: 106).

⁹⁸⁷ Downes (1997: 218-224).

⁹⁸⁸ Carr (1995: 114).

⁹⁸⁹ Binford (1971); Cf. Saxe (1970); Tainter (1975; 1978).

⁹⁹⁰ Binford (1971: 16).

This point of particular relevance to Egyptian archaeology, owing not only to the great amount of textual evidence available from early times asserting the paramount role of philosophical-religious beliefs in the development of mortuary culture, but particularly considering that the entire pharaonic society was subject to a divine king; Frankfort (1948).

⁹⁹² Stevenson (2009a: 180).

⁹⁹³ See §2.3; *cf.* Alekshin (1983: 140).

Egyptian society? To date, the prevailing empirical view in many disciplines, ⁹⁹⁴ including Egyptology, ⁹⁹⁵ is that materially wealthy or equitable child burials are merely indicative of a ranked society with ascribed socio-economic status. Such interpretations, however, may be considered myopic as they only address one aspect of individuals' cultural capacities within their community and take no account of their broader identity or embodiment, nor do they consider the function and purpose of the specific ritual context of burial. ⁹⁹⁶ We must accept that mortuary behaviour reflects both the socio-economic *and* philosophical-religious aspects of Egyptian culture. These mortuary practices are not passive, mindless, mechanical reflections of social organisation. They are the manifestation of active, cognitive social, philosophical and personal choices and strategies, which comprise the dynamics of social relations and organisation and are made relative to beliefs. ⁹⁹⁷

Brown has identified the mortuary treatment of children as a key indicator of the relationship between social and demographic variables. In cases where children are exclusively buried with particular artefacts, or conversely, are the only individuals deposited without them, this is understood in terms of horizontal differentiation and the deliberate construction of cognitive difference between age groups. Following Brown's theory, the lack of distinction between the type, quantity, and quality of child and adult burial assemblages suggests that there was ontological equity between these groups during the timeframes canvassed by this research. This argument gains cadence when considering Malafouris' thesis that "the relationship between the world and human cognition is not one of abstract representation or some other form of action at a distance but one of ontological inseparability". It is acknowledged that this database does not include a detailed survey of Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom adult graves. Nevertheless, this interpretation can be made with confidence owing to such studies as those of

Peebles & Kus (1977: 431); Lillie (1997: 223); Parker Pearson (2003: 77-78, 119); Roveland (2000: 34);
 Baxter (2005: 103-104); Rowland (2005: 59); Wileman (2005: 86); King (2006: 170); Shepherd (2007: 101, 104-105). Cf. Crawford (2000: 175); Kogălniceanu (2008: 109); Thomas et al. (2011: 774).

Predynastic Armant: Bard (1988: 74; 1994: 71); Wilkinson (2001: 30); David (2002: 62); Predynastic el-Gerzeh: Murray (1956: 94); Predynastic Hierakonpolis: Wilkinson (2001: 30-31); Early Dynastic Minshat Abu Omar: see DRN 1312, Kroeper (1992: 135-136, 140; 2004: 878); Wilkinson (2001: 22); Early Dynastic Kafr Tarkhan: Ellis (1992: 254). Cf. Bard (1994: 35, 69); Rowland (2003: 67; 2005: 59; 2007: 1631, fn. 16).

⁹⁹⁶ Parker Pearson (2003: 78); Stevenson (2009b: 169).

⁹⁹⁷ Carr (1995: 111).

⁹⁹⁸ Brown (1981: 29); cf. Chapman & Randsborg (1981: 1-24); O'Shea (1981: 39-52).

⁹⁹⁹ Contra Szpakowska (2008: 34), who states that "while newborns were certainly valued and even already named, what they may have lacked at this stage was any sort of social status."

¹⁰⁰⁰ Malafouris (2004: 58).

Grajetzki, ¹⁰⁰¹ Ikram and Dodson, ¹⁰⁰² Raven, ¹⁰⁰³ Reisner ¹⁰⁰⁴ and Richards, ¹⁰⁰⁵ which provide detailed descriptions of adult mortuary practices and socio-economic differentiation contemporary to this study's dataset.

Ontological equity between children and adults has also been noted within the mortuary culture of many ancient populations. 1006 Scholars across disciplines unanimously agree this phenomenon reflects the early integration of children into the social, economic, religious and political activities of their respective groups. 1007 In many of these cases interpretations are buttressed by bioanthropological evidence – including caries rates, incidence of enamel hypoplasia, trace element levels and stable isotope ratios – which does not indicate any differential access to dietary resources, either between sexes or age classes. In combination, these manifold studies generate an archaeological 'class action' which serves to dispel prevalent, reactionary notions that child burials reflect nothing more than their parents' (particularly their fathers') wealth, prestige and position in social hierarchies. According to the outcomes of the archaeological survey, the present study concludes that ancient Egyptian children's cultural capacities were perceived as equitable to adults. They were fully manifested social beings in their own right.

10.2.2 The Ritual Context of Burial

It must be remembered, however, that the Egyptian funerary nexus represents a specific, ritualised response to the pragmatics of corpse disposal following the biological imperative of death. As such, the above findings must be further scrutinised within the ritual context of burial. From an anthropological perspective, the burial ritual's *purpose* within the community rarely features in Egyptological discussions, focus is usually

¹⁰⁰¹ Grajetzki (2003).

¹⁰⁰² Ikram & Dodson (1998).

¹⁰⁰³ Raven (2005).

¹⁰⁰⁴ Reisner (1936).

¹⁰⁰⁵ Richards (1997).

For example, Upper-Middle Upper Palaeolithic Austria: Einwögerer et al. (2006; 2008: 17). Upper Palaeolithic La Madeleine; Rocher de la Peine; Grottes des Enfants; Kostenki XV; Sungir: Roveland (2000: 34). Mesolithic Latvia: Lillie (2008: 35, 39, 41). Mesolithic-Neolithic Serbia/Romania: Boric & Stefanovic (2004). Mesolithic-Neolithic Ukraine: Lillie (1997: 224); Kamp (2001: 6); Baxter (2005: 98). Neolithic & Chalcolithic Romania: Kogălniceanu (2008: 107). Middle Neolithic Sweden: Lillehammer (2000: 220). Holocene South Africa: Jerardino et al. (2000: 44, 47). Archaic Greece: Shepherd (2007: 98). Anglo-Saxon England: Crawford (2000: 173).

¹⁰⁰⁷ See Rega (1997); cf. Lillie (1997).

¹⁰⁰⁸ Davies (2002: 1); Stutz (2008: 23).

¹⁰⁰⁹ Barrett (1998: 31); Garwood (2007: 66).

¹⁰¹⁰ Stevenson (2009a: 175).

maintained on its material and religious elements.¹⁰¹¹ Such a focus is perhaps understandable, considering that many aspects of the community's experience of burial do not leave tangible traces in the archaeological record. Indeed, social practices central to ritual performances such as intellectual heritage, emotions, beliefs, ideologies, and relationships would be paramount in such frameworks,¹⁰¹² but remain ephemeral and/or ethereal in nature, and therefore difficult or impossible to identify materially.¹⁰¹³ Nevertheless, it is crucial to attempt an understanding of *why* such "formalised, consecrated"¹⁰¹⁴ performances were considered necessary if one hopes to arrive at interpretations of archaeological assemblages that were deposited in such contexts. Here, prior to a description of *how* CIFs' identities are composed within the funerary nexus, it is essential to consider *why* they are formed, transmitted and transferred.

The burial ritual is but one facet of the suite of cultural responses to death. ¹⁰¹⁵ In agreement with Assmann, the present study suggests that the Egyptian burial ritual was mobilised as an opportunity for transmission and transference of cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity between family/community social networks. ¹⁰¹⁶ Simultaneously, the burial ritual served to reconfigure and reinforce intersubjective familial/communal bonds subsequent to the removal of an individual from within that social network, facilitating and eventually mitigating the individual and collective experiences of grief brought about by the physical separation of death. ¹⁰¹⁷ From an archaeological perspective, residues of earthly material goods, especially food or drink

Willems (1988; 1996; 2001a) has made valuable contributions regarding the ritual significance of coffins. Roth, A. (1992) explores the ritual of the Opening of the Mouth ceremony. Savage (1995: 195ff.) presents evidence for ritual activity in the Predynastic cemetery of Naga ed-Deir. Duchesne *et al.* (2003) explore the ritual aspects of jewellery in Predynastic infant burials at Adaima. Raven (2005) considers the ritual aspects of the orientation of the human body within the grave. Stevenson (2009b: 72ff.) discusses the significance of mortuary ritual in her analyses of the Predynastic cemetery of el-Gerzeh. *Cf.* Assmann (1989); Richards (1992: 54); Bard (1994: 34); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1100ff.).

Taylor (2001: 187); cf. van Gennep (1960); Morris (1992); Tarlow (1999: 21); Heinze (2000: vii-xiii); MacDonald (2001); Morris (2007: 16). Scholars have called for 'theories of emotion' to be explored by anthropology and archaeology; see Kus (1992: 172-173); Meskell (1994: 40; 1999b: 120, 128-129; 2002a: 193); Tarlow (1999: 22-49). Consider, however, Huntington & Metcalf (1979: esp. 23-43); Young & Papadatou (1997).

Garstang (1907a: 8); Bourriau (1991: 4; 2001: 1); Richards (1992: 54, 62); Rowland (2004: 998; 2005: 57); Pettitt (2006: 293); Stevenson (2006: 56); Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 6).

¹⁰¹⁴ Willems (1996: 10).

¹⁰¹⁵ Morris (1992: 2); Willems (1996: 7); Pettitt (2006: 292).

Assmann's (1992) "kulturelles Gedächtnis"; Durkheim's (1995: 375, 405) "conscience collective"; cf.
 Shanks & Tilley (1982: 130); David (1992: 184); Barrett (1998: 31); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 27-28);
 Davies (2002: 4, 10); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1100ff., 1105); Laneri (2007: 1-2, 5, 8, 9).

Lloyd (1989: 120, 122-125, 130); Baines (1991: 134); Durkheim (1995: 403, 405); Walter (1996: 13, 14, 20; 2007: 123,125); Barrett (1998: 31); Klass & Walter (2001: 440, 441); Meskell (2001: 28, 31); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 27-28); Davies (2002: 1, 4, 6, 10, 15, 16); Robben (2004: 13); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1102-1103); Pettitt (2006: 292); Laneri (2007: 1-2, 5); Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 10).

(either literally or symbolically), ¹⁰¹⁸ may be viewed as manifestations of the same social dynamics we witness in funerary texts. ¹⁰¹⁹ Here, humans – both individually and collectively – connect via their earthly and posthumous dependence on the same vital sources, ¹⁰²⁰ forging and reinforcing inextricable links between sustenance and community. Within this framework, knowledge, memory and identity become community resources. ¹⁰²¹ Burial is a learned behaviour. It is a socially prescribed comportment involving engagement with artefacts, buildings, and a natural environment that has itself been transformed through human use. According to ethnographic examples, the shared experience and possession of the knowledge, memory and identity inherent within the burial ritual is the groundmass that solidifies bonds between the members of small groups, such as families. The ritual also legitimates and naturalises relationships with members of other community groups and broader social networks. ¹⁰²² Infants, children and adolescents are increasingly involved in the rituals to facilitate the transmission of culture and ensure its continuity. ¹⁰²³

When death is experienced in a community, the nature and substance of the burial ritual are decisive elements in the restoration of normative individual and collective socio-cultural dynamics after such a traumatic and dramatic event. The burial ritual thus provides an opportunity for mourners to participate in the restoration of order (ma'at) by performing what they know, remember and recognise as their collective cultural identity. Here, we return to Place's theories of 'child data' and 'data child' to consider how children's identities were performed by their families/communities in the burial ritual through the treatment and placement of their bodies and their mutual associations with artefacts and features in their mortuary assemblages. 1026

¹⁰¹⁸ Renfrew (2004: 29); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1102).

1020 Hornung (1992: 181).

¹⁰²² Tonkinson (1988);

Assmann (1989: 146, 152) cites *CT* III, *passim*; see Faulkner (1973: 142ff.); also *pBM* 10470 (*pAni*) col.3-4: "A truly righteous one. Let him be given bread and beer, which issues forth from Osiris. He shall be forever amongst the followers of Horus".

¹⁰²¹ Assmann (1989: 143ff.); Mizoguchi (1993: 231); Barrett (1998: 31).

Janik (2000: 117); cf. Davies (2002: 109); Ardren (2006: 11). Children's presence at and participation in Egyptian funerary rituals is confirmed via mourning scenes in tomb art representations, including that of the 18th Dynasty Amarna princess, Meketaten, and the tombs of Neferhotep (TT49) and Ramose (TT55); Feucht (1995: 122-123, 134, 348, figs. 25 and 26); Harrington (2007: 56). In the 19th/20th Dynasty tomb scenes of Nebenmaat (TT219), children are present at the Opening of the Mouth ritual held for their parents; Harrington (2007: 57). The presence of infants at funerals is also confirmed via representations of young girls carrying babies in slings in mourning processions in the wall scenes of the 18th Dynasty tomb of Neferhotep (TT49) and the 19th Dynasty tomb of Qen (TT4); Harrington (2007: 57).

Laneri (2007: 4).
Laneri (2007: 10).

¹⁰²⁶ See §2.11.1. Cf. Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1088); Robb (2007: 289).

10.2.3 Construction, Transmission and Transference of Collective Identity

The oft-repeated axiom that 'the dead do not bury themselves' is again evoked here, as the burial ritual is further dissected as a vested, symbolic performance of the deceased's cultural capacities by those orchestrating the burial, as opposed to a representation made by an individual on their own behalf. From this perspective, the present study has been influenced by the work of Butler, 1028 who has argued that certain facets of cultural identity, such as gender, should be viewed in the context of performativity, inasmuch as they are recitals of culturally-situated and -negotiated tropes synchronically and diachronically enacted across a variety of sites or stages in society. 1029 Butler's work builds on the phenomenology of Husserl and Heidegger, which repudiates separation between the observer and the observed; 1030 and seeks to explore the social constitutions of worldviews through acts of (inter)subjective experience. 1031 Phenomenological approaches argue that human thought and behaviour, whether intuitive or conscious, always relates to 'things' (natural or synthetic), thus making objects social agents. ¹⁰³² In this way, analyses of the funerary nexus find particular resonance with Butler's theses, as they seek to explore facets how of social identity, including constructs of sex, gender, age and status, are thought, imagined and practiced via performative engagement with material culture. 1033

Identities are performed by communities in the ritual context of burial through repeated, stylised patterns of behaviour, bodily practices and cultural forms which are temporally and operationally linked by long-term material effects. ¹⁰³⁴ Identity claims are performed as social acts, made on behalf of the individual/s being buried. The nature and substance of these ritual performances may be understood as a 'representational economy'. ¹⁰³⁵ Theories of representational economy were developed in sociology and have subsequently

¹⁰²⁷ In the particular context of Egyptian elite monumental tombs, it is accepted that many of the artistic and epigraphic components of the burial would have been controlled to some extent by the deceased, considering the logistical and temporal requirements for construction to commence before their death; Lloyd (1989: 124); cf. Chapman (2000: 188); Meskell (2001: 32).

Butler (1990; 1993); cf. Tambiah (1979: 119); Gilchrist (2007: 148); Preucel & Meskell (2007: 15).

Cf. Searle (1995), whose consideration of 'institutional facts' illuminate the constitution of social reality/ies through the linguistic and material regulation and practice of particular activities, including burial. The present study agrees with Willems' (1996: 9, fn. 39) assessment of Bell's (1992: 37ff., 108) criticisms of ritual 'performance theory', both in terms of her ambiguous distinctions between theory and

practice, as well as her claims regarding the lack of awareness amongst ritual participants.

¹⁰³⁰ Trigger (2006: 472-473); Lillehammer (2010: 17, 19).

¹⁰³¹ Butler (1988: 522).

¹⁰³² Robb (2004: 137-138).

¹⁰³³ Jenkins (1996); Gunn (2006: 132).

Butler (1988: 519; 1990: 140); Gunn (2006: 152); cf. Goffman (1961; 1970); Parker Pearson (1982: 31); Barrett (1998: 30-31); Meskell (1999b: 77).

¹⁰³⁵ Law & Hetherington (1998: 2).

been engaged by many disciplines to understand how individuals/groups represent, represent, perform or communicate concepts which reflect the state of their world. 1036 Considerations of representational economies include analyses of the manner in which a concept's composite elements are generated, allocated and weighted in performance or communication, 1037 including that/those being described (object/s), links between that/those being described (relations), the situation of knowledge about object/s and/or relations (epistemology), and the situation of those who have that knowledge (subjectivity/intersubjectivity). 1038 In this way, the present study suggests that the material remnants of the burial ritual may be 'read' as a representational economy, which, in its original performance, sought to communicate the cultural identity of the deceased in relation to those performing the burial.

The notion of 'selfhood' is a fundamental epistemological element within the representational economy of the Egyptian burial ritual. According to Meskell, the Egyptian notion of identity was unbounded and traversed the limitations of corporeality to be functional in both life and death. To the Egyptians, death was not thought of as a truncation, rather a punctuation of existence. As such, death required dynamic mediation to facilitate the identity transition and transfiguration ($\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{3} +$

¹⁰³⁶ Tambiah (1979: 119); Tarlow (1999: 3).

¹⁰³⁷ Law & Benschop (1997).

¹⁰³⁸ Law & Hetherington (1998: 3).

¹⁰³⁹ Meskell (1999b: 108; 2001: 31; 2002a: 203); cf. Robb (2007: 288).

¹⁰⁴⁰ Assmann (1989: 136-137, 139-140, 142, 147-149, 155); Lloyd (1989: 126); Baines (1991: 147); Meskell (2001: 32).

Meskell (2002a: 210); cf. Baines (1991: 145); Richards (1992: 58); Laneri (2007: 5). Assmann (1989: 135ff., 143) uses textual evidence from the *Pyramid Texts*, Coffin Texts and the Book of the Dead to expresses this transition as an "initiation into the realm of the dead"; cf. Morenz (1952); Grieshammer (1974). Roth, A. (1992) describes how the Opening of the Mouth ceremony facilitates the posthumous transition of bodies or statues to partake of the metaphysical nourishment from offerings.

Humphrey & Laidlaw (1994: 88-107) state that the essence of ritual involves transformation in the intentionality of action; cf. Assmann (1989: 143); Parker Pearson (1993: 204); Willems (1996: 9); Chapman (2000: 189); Davies (2002: 10); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1092); Bloch (2005: 21). Baines & Lacovara (2002: 26) speculate that the provision of the grave and performance of burial ritual may have

Aligning with Bourdieu's *habitus*, ¹⁰⁴⁴ this cultural funerary identity was 'collective' inasmuch as it was materially and immaterially created, ¹⁰⁴⁵ performed and shared by all eligible members of the group. ¹⁰⁴⁶ However, according to both Butler and Bourdieu, ¹⁰⁴⁷ to be constituted within such a framework does not necessitate being determined by it. Therefore, there is always the possibility of agency to appear to transform, reinscribe or even subvert cultural practices. Therefore, while accommodating a certain level of heterogeneity of forms (due to entropy, creative expressions of individuality, socio-economic capacity and/or choice), ¹⁰⁴⁸ Egyptian cultural funerary identity was homogenous inasmuch as its every performance served the same fundamental purpose.

As argued above, the *purpose* of the burial ritual was to transmit and transfer cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity within familial/community networks, while reconfiguring and reinforcing specific intersubjective relationships during the processes of individual and collective grieving for the deceased's physical removal from broader social networks. To reiterate, the *function* of the burial ritual was to 'perform' a cultural funerary identity on behalf of the deceased which facilitated and assured their transition into the afterlife. As a material expression of the burial ritual's representational economy, broadly speaking, Egyptian mortuary culture does not articulate *any* individuals' age status because that is *not its purpose nor its function*¹⁰⁵⁰ – not for foetuses, infants, children, adolescents, young adults, middle adults or the elderly. To ascertain such notions of age, it appears that one must look elsewhere. The inclusion of children in fully-vested burial

been the essential facets of Egyptian mortuary behaviour – more important than the long-term maintenance of the funerary cult. Cf. Klass & Walter (2001: 433, 439).

¹⁰⁴³ Garwood (2007: 67); Meskell & Preucel (2007: 125).

¹⁰⁴⁴ Bourdieu (1990: 54).

¹⁰⁴⁵ DeMarrais (2004: 12-13).

¹⁰⁴⁶ See also Durkheim (1995: 403).

¹⁰⁴⁷ Butler (1988: 520; 1993: 125, 139); cf. Barrett (1998: 31).

Butler (1988: 520); Tarlow (1999: 41); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1097). Meskell (2001: 28) also argues that ritual is not a binary structure and acknowledges that a range of practices may have been involved in burial. From the perspective of a field anthropologist, Tambiah (1979: 115) reminds us that no two ritual performances, no matter how prescribed, are the same, due to the variability of the officiants, participants, audience, environment, material and immaterial components, et cetera.
 Here, the present study departs from the 'communal' or 'social grieving' theories of Ariès (1974, 1981)

Here, the present study departs from the 'communal' or 'social grieving' theories of Ariès (1974, 1981) and Durkheim (1995) in its acknowledgement that individuals were just as profoundly affected by the experience of loss and grief and the reconfiguration of identity following the death of someone from their familial or social network/s.

Many scholars agree that the burial ritual does not necessarily constitute an unambiguous reflection of social organisation or individual biography; see Ucko (1969: 273-274); Hodder (1982: 141, 144-145); Savage (1995: 229, 260-261); Garwood (2007: 67). Contra Anderson (1992:57ff.).

¹⁰⁵¹ Meskell (1994: 37; 1999a: 181; 1999b: 169) acknowledges the need for an Egyptian 'theory of age'.

rituals therefore indicates the totality of their cultural capacity, ¹⁰⁵² their complete integration into familial/community networks, and a social position, value and agency equal to that of adults.

10.2.4 Departures ¹⁰⁵³

By arguing for recognition of the Egyptian burial ritual as a specific performative context which constructs, transmits and transfers a collective funerary identity, the present study represents somewhat of a departure from interpretations of children's mortuary culture offered by scholars of other disciplines. Such studies promote the mobilisation of CIFBs as a negotiation of parents' and carers' self-identity. They suggest that adults' notions of selfhood were constructed referentially to children. 1054 The death of a child is argued to have problematised the self-identity of the parent and other adult carers. The child's burial is therefore understood to have been specifically mobilised by adults as a symbol of loss, manipulated by adults to map themselves "in a mesh of imagined life-courses, genealogies, self-identities and social expectations from which they reconstitute themselves." 1055 It is postulated that parents/carers therefore apportioned 'adult' mortuary culture to CIFs as a deliberate performance of unrealised or projected social status. 1056 Considering that children are fundamental to the continuation of society, and represent its collective future, 1057 it is proposed that the allocation of 'adult' mortuary treatment places the child in a symbolic, spatio-temporally mapped genealogy which serves to signify their unfulfilled cultural future and potential. 1058

The present study acknowledges that notions of 'cultural biography' were also active in ancient Egyptian society. The term 'cultural biography' is used within social, ethnographic and mortuary theory to designate the processes of identity construction, transformation and transmission by which each individual is invested with a culturally-idealised narrative of the life course. These biographies serve as referents for individuals to locate their past

¹⁰⁵² Ucko (1969: 264).

An homage to the film by the same name, which exquisitely articulates the specific performative context and representational economy of the Japanese burial ritual: Takita (2008). I am grateful to Dr. Susanne Binder, Macquarie University, for her recommendation to see this film.

¹⁰⁵⁴ Mizoguchi (1992; 2000: 142).

¹⁰⁵⁵ Mizoguchi (2000: 149).

¹⁰⁵⁶ Mizoguchi (2000: 149); Garwood (2007: 63, 64).

¹⁰⁵⁷ Buchli & Lucas (2000: 132); Feucht (2001c: 503); Baxter (2006a: 3). Meskell (1999b: 20); Robins (1994-1995: 24).

¹⁰⁵⁸ Lillehammer (2000: 23; 2010: 31, 33); Mizoguchi (2000: 149).

¹⁰⁵⁹ Robb (2007: 288).

experiences and determine their future activities at various stages of the life course, ¹⁰⁶⁰ as well as those of other individuals within the community. As demonstrated through manifold linguistic examples, the adult phase of the Egyptian cultural biography was certainly determined with reference to children, and more importantly, a completed childhood. ¹⁰⁶¹

However, the present study does not conform to the aforementioned interpretations levelled by other disciplines which promote the idealisation of 'adult' mortuary culture. Such interpretations appear to unwittingly perpetuate the "idealisation of adulthood" within archaeological narratives and the subordination of children as 'unideal', 'unfulfilled' and 'incomplete' by focusing on what children are "going to be, rather than what he or she presently is". These appear to be the self-same paradigms scholars have been toiling against for the past 30 years. By viewing Egyptian CIF mortuary culture as the material remnants of the specific performative context of burial ritual, the function of which was to construct, transmit and transfer collective funerary identity, the present study departs from models of negotiated equity and allows for true ontological equity between all demographic segments of the ancient community.

10.2.5 Cultural Capacities and Lived Experiences

While the present study has demonstrated that the ontological equity of CIF and adult mortuary culture is indicative of equitable cultural capacity, it is yet to address the issue of children's lived experiences. Here again, we must return to the ritual context of burial to consider how, and indeed *if*, the lived experiences of Egyptian CIFs can be located through the funerary nexus. As aforementioned, the present study has argued that the burial ritual's function was to perform a collective cultural funerary identity on behalf of the deceased which facilitated their transition into the afterlife. It further argued that the purpose of the burial ritual was to transmit and transfer cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity within familial/community networks, while reconfiguring and reinforcing specific

Renfrew (1994: 3-12) previously described similar concepts as "mappas".

For example, which id(w): WB I, 151.8-11; "child; young ones" and "pupil"; will idd: WB I, 242.11-19; "youth" and "servant"; which idd: WB II, 83.13-17; "youth" and "stripling"; which idd: WB II, 83.13-17; "youth" and "stripling"; which idd: WB II 434.14-17; "youth" and "young man"; will infant; which infant; which idd: WB II 52.2-53.5; "infant, child, boy, girl" and "young man (also above 30 years of age), youthful man, unmarried girl, to be youthful, to regenerate"; which is rich; which is regenerate.

¹⁰⁶² Lillehammer (2000: 23; 2010: 31, 33); cf. Roveland (2000: 33); Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 11); Stevenson (2009b: 174).

¹⁰⁶³ Goodwin (1997: 1).

For example, Lillehammer (2010: 37) states that "As long as children are perceived as immature and incomplete human beings, they are relegated to a subordinated position in the society."

intersubjective relationships during the processes of individual and collective grieving for the physical removal of the deceased from the lived sphere. As such, it may be argued that it was *not* the explicit purpose of the burial ritual to articulate biographical elements of the deceased's true 'lived experiences', although, on occasion we may observe reflections (or refractions) of the materiality of that experience. As will be discussed below, the presence of certain objects within tombs does not necessitate 'ownership' on behalf of the deceased. Objects may have been placed in tombs as gifts, tributes or heirlooms and may not have been used, or even seen, by the deceased in their lifetime. ¹⁰⁶⁵ As such, it is dangerous to speculate that the presence of certain objects in a tomb provide reliable indications of the deceased's profession, proclivities or personality. While on some occasions such interpretations of objects may be bolstered by the appearance of accompanying texts, these should also be viewed with circumspection as it is argued that certain elements of Egyptian "ideal biographies" may have been prescribed, or at least formulaic. ¹⁰⁶⁶

According to Parker Pearson, child burials "bring home the gap between those being buried and those doing the burying". 1067 Here, Parker Pearson underscores the fact that children's burial rituals would have been orchestrated by adults. 1068 While other children may have been present, or even participated in the funeral, 1069 it is highly unlikely they would have coordinated the event. Children are therefore manipulated by adults within the burial ritual to address its specific function and purpose. It thus appears that CIF mortuary culture does not accurately reflect children's worlds or experiences, only the experiences of adults attempting to negotiate the cultural, biological, social and psychological implications of their deaths. 1070 In this way, CIF mortuary culture is epistemologically similar to the artistic and epigraphic representations of children described in the literature review of Chapter 2. Its representational economy is created by adults to mediate the philosophical-religious constructs borne out of adult responses to the biologically imperative, socially traumatic experience of death. As such, the present study suggests that the lived experiences of Egyptian CIFs are somewhat illuminated via the finding of their complete and embedded cultural capacities during the timeframe canvassed by this research, including an equitable

¹⁰⁶⁵ Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 7); Stevenson (2009a: 181).

¹⁰⁶⁶ Parkinson (1991b: 762); Strudwick (2005: 43ff.); contra Lichtheim (1988: 7).

¹⁰⁶⁷ Parker Pearson (2003: 183).

For artistic and textual examples of children's funerals in ancient Egypt, Feucht (1995: 122-123, 134) cites the scene where royal parents Akhenaten and Nefertiti mourn the death of their daughter Meketaten, along with their surviving children (for the scene, see Robins (1997: 152, fig. 176); as well as a late Greek text that reports a funeral ceremony for a child.

¹⁰⁶⁹ Cf. fn. 1023, above.

¹⁰⁷⁰ Lucy (1994); Parker Pearson (2003: 183); Roveland (2000: 34).

social position, value and agency with contemporary adults. However, it appears that the specific ritual context of burial does not allow CIF mortuary culture to serve as a forum where children's personal experiences or views are expressed.¹⁰⁷¹

Children's physical remains may provide more apposite windows through which to view certain aspects of their lived experiences. 1072 By studying children's bodies we have the potential to glean profound insights into their diet, lifestyle, health, relationships, environment and geographical location, at both individual and group levels. The present study has only been able to achieve this aim to a limited degree, owing to the small sample size and poor reporting of published skeletal data. As detailed in §10.1.2, above, the present study's palaeodemographical and palaeopathological profiles suggest that the lived experiences of some ancient Egyptian children involved periods of compromised nutrition, unhygienic socioecological environments and practices, and high levels of pathogen exposure. Some of these experiences resulted in chronic and/or acute biological insults and death. Should future projects obtain greater access to larger datasets and more sophisticated analytical technologies, they could potentially open the world of children as experienced through their bodies even further. Syntheses of children's 'osteobiographies' within appropriate historical and cultural contexts would enable sensitive, nuanced interpretations of children's corporeality. As will subsequently be discussed in terms of the 'paradox' of mortuary samples, however, it must be remembered that the skeletons of children in archaeological contexts represent those who, for whatever reason, did not survive beyond a young age. As such, children in mortuary samples may provide powerful insights into cultural experiences of sickness and therapy in ancient Egypt. In terms of the healthier population, we must not forget that every adult exhumed from archaeological contexts represents a biological repository of successful ontogenetic experiences. Adult bones and teeth retain osseous signatures of biological, nutritional, occupational or emotional stress experienced during the processes of growth. viewed in context with other sources of evidence, the presence of such signatures – or

¹⁰⁷¹ Kamp (2001: 24); *cf.* Welinder (1998: 188); Crawford (2000: 174); Garwood (2007: 66, 79); Shepherd (2007: 93, 104-105); Stevenson (2009b: 168, 174); Lillehammer (2010: 33).

¹⁰⁷² Meskell (1999c: 129); Kamp (2001: 9-10); Stutz (2008: 19-20).

^{&#}x27;Osteobiography' is a widely-used term in biological anthropology to describe the variable corporeal aspects of individuals' biographical profiles, as attested at the time of their death, that provide insights into their life histories; for example, age, biological sex, genetic/isotopic signatures, nutritional/pathological statuses, occupational/stress markers, handedness, body modification, osteometrics, et cetera. See Mayes & Barber (2008: 574).

indeed, the lack of them – stands to provide significant insights into the lived experiences of every adult through the entirety of their life course, from birth to death. 1074

10.3 Limitations of the Study: Representativeness

It is acknowledged that the 1,809 individuals identified by this research are not a complete account of all the CIFs that died and were buried in Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt. With the total population during this timeframe estimated by Butzer at approximately 4.6-5 million, 1075 it is clear this figure is far too low to represent any kind of demographic reality. 1076 Indeed, the exact extent to which any archaeological assemblage constitutes a reliable sample of its original population remains unknown. 1077 Several factors may act alone or in combination to affect the representativeness of the recovered archaeological record. 1078 Among them, differential preservation, incomplete excavation, the 'osteological paradox', intra- and inter-observer error, poor reporting and authorial bias may all render archaeological samples under-representative of the population from whence they came. 1079 The present study briefly explores each of these factors with a view to determining their potential impact on the dataset, as well as their capacity to compromise one's ability to draw sound conclusions from this research.

Of these, the issue of authorial bias appears to have had the largest impact on archaeological praxes surrounding published CIF mortuary culture. Excavators' variable, predetermined ideas regarding what constitutes viable archaeological evidence seems to have significantly influenced their decisions regarding what to (and what *not* to) excavate, record, and publish. Therefore, the greater part of the known archaeological record potentially reflects more of excavators' personal/cultural sensibilities and less of a 'true' material record of past populations. As such, the present study will pursue a more detailed

¹⁰⁷⁴ Meskell (2000: 423); Glencross (2011).

<sup>Butzer (1976): Early Dynastic Period, ca. 1 million; Old Kingdom, ca. 1.6 million; Middle Kingdom, ca.
million; no data available for the First Intermediate Period. Cf. Filer (1995: 22); O'Connor (1972; 1995: 572); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 12). These figures are more conservative than Strouhal's (1992: 256) population projection of 5.25 billion for Dynastic Egypt.</sup>

The high child and infant mortality rates of 20-56 percent usually associated with preindustrial societies would project a revised estimate of ca. 1-2.5 million; see Chamberlain (2000: 208). Mortensen (1991: 29) notes the general under-representation of all demographic categories from cemetery data in comparison to population projections; cf. Williams (1994: 278).

¹⁰⁷⁷ Ubelaker (1999: 135); Waldron (2001: 46); Bello & Andrews (2006: 10).

¹⁰⁷⁸ Richards (1992: 56); Meskell (1999: 129).

Boddington (1987: Table 14.4); Molleson (1991); Crawford (1993, 1999); Buikstra & Ubelaker (1994: 39); Lucy (1994: 26); Larsen (1997: 335); Mays (1998); Saunders & Barrans (1999: 184); White & Folken (1999: 437); Chamberlain (2000: 102); Perry (2006: 81, 89ff.); Lewis (2007: 83); Lewis & Gowland (2007: 118).

¹⁰⁸⁰ Lillehammer (2000: 19).

examination of the phenomenon of authorial bias in Egyptology towards the end of this chapter. It does so with a view to exploring its particular impact on the representation of CIF mortuary culture in the archaeological record, as well as the reconstructions of ancient Egyptian children's lived experiences and cultural capacities through the funerary nexus.

10.3.1 Differential Preservation

As outlined in Chapter 2, the absence of CIF mortuary culture in Egyptological literature is frequently attributed to differential preservation. As noted in §2.5, it is often reported that the reduced mineral content of juvenile bones makes them more susceptible to diagenesis than those of adults. Density and mineral content levels decrease after birth and are maintained at minimum values during the first year post-partum. They rise to reachieve birth levels at the end of the second year and continue to increase until adulthood. Reduced mineralisation results in low tensile and compressive strength and hardness, making juvenile bones extremely vulnerable to crushing by the pressure of overlying sediments. Poor mineralization also makes juvenile bones more porous and soluble, their small crystals presenting a large surface area for invasion by the acid products of organic matter decomposition or by acid and saline soils. 1087

There is no doubt that diagenesis would have impacted on the preservation of CIFs in the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom archaeological record over the transpiring millennia since their burial. However, it is impossible to quantify the number of individuals whose biological testimonies have been obscured as a result of such processes. In terms of the present study, it is pertinent to note the relatively strong representation of CIFBs in areas commonly promulgated as poor preservation environments, especially the Nile Delta. As demonstrated in Chapter 3, a minimum of 269 CIFs (14.87% TBs) were identified amongst the published records of the Nile Delta, representing the third-highest result of the 5 general geographical regions included in the survey. This result was only slightly less than that of Lower Egypt (MNI 325; 17.97% TBs), and substantially more than Middle

¹⁰⁸¹ See §2.1.

Gordon & Buikstra (1981); Boddington (1987: 181); Jackes (1992: 206); Nawrocki (1995); Walker (1995: 41); Guy et al. (1997); Paine & Boldsen (2002: 169); Stojanowski et al. (2002); Perry (2006: 90-91); Bello & Andrews (2006: 10); Gilchrist (2007: 143); contra Lewis (2007: 37).

¹⁰⁸³ Chatterji et al. (1972); Galloway et al. (1997).

¹⁰⁸⁴ Vinz (1970); Galloway et al. (1997).

¹⁰⁸⁵ Lyman & Fox (1997).

¹⁰⁸⁶ Baud et al. (1977).

¹⁰⁸⁷ White & Hannus (1983); Garland & Janaway (1989); Gill-King (1997); Schultz (1997).

Egypt (MNI 128; 7.08% TBs) and Dakhla Oasis (MNI 78; 4.31% TBs), each of which have highly favourable preservation environments compared to the damp, organically-profuse soils and sands of the Delta. Broadly speaking, the evidence produced from the Delta indicates that CIF bones in ancient Egyptian burial environments have greater preservation potential than the catastrophic diagenesis projections proposed within the literature. This argument is supported by the fact that many published cemetery sites feature juvenile palaeodemographic profiles that fall well within the expected mortality rates for pre-industrial populations of 20.00–56.00%, 1089 including el-Gerzeh (20.48%) 1090 Kom el-Hisn (43.00%), 1091 Minshat Abu Omar (22.00%); 1092 and as noted in §10.1.2, above, el-Ghurab (*ca.* 50.00%), Matmar (*ca.* 48.00%), Mirgissa (50.00%) 1093 and el-Mostagedda (*ca.* 42.00%).

It thus appears that the relatively low levels of CIFBs in the known archaeological record have less to do with the natural transformation processes of diagenesis and more to do with the cultural transformation processes of excavation, recording and publishing. Rather than reflecting localised unfavourable preservation environments, the geographical distribution of data echoes regional prioritisation of excavation and publication activities, following enduring disciplinary foci on monumental tomb architecture and associated artistic and epigraphic studies. These findings challenge disciplinary assumptions regarding the poor preservation potential of CIF remains and, as stated in Chapter 3, 1095 intimates towards the extent to which Egyptological knowledge may be spatially determined. The impact of other modern cultural transformation processes, such as political, religious, or commercial/residential expansion issues should also be noted, 1096 especially with reference to settlement archaeology.

10.3.2 Incomplete Excavation and Recording

As established in Chapter 2, juvenile skeletons are less likely to be recovered than those of adults because their graves and bodies are smaller and less easily identified. Compared

¹⁰⁸⁹ Hewlett (1991: 8).

¹⁰⁹⁰ Petrie et al. (1912: 5).

¹⁰⁹¹ Orel (2000: 45)

¹⁰⁹² Kroeper & Wildung (1985: 26).

¹⁰⁹³ Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); Harrington (2007: 60).

¹⁰⁹⁴ Crubézy *et al.* (2002a: 418) also state that the juvenile palaeodemographic profile in the Eastern Necropolis of Adaima represents a "population naturelle".

¹⁰⁹⁵ See §3.2.1.

¹⁰⁹⁶ Garstang (1907a: 1); Strouhal (1992: 8); Meskell (1999c: 129).

¹⁰⁹⁷ See §2.6.

to the 206 bones of an adult skeleton, that of a perinate consists of *ca.* 156 separate bones, while the skeleton of a 6 year old is comprised of *ca.* 332 bony elements. Excavators who had been trained using only adult skeletal material may not recognise the unusual shapes and forms of juvenile epiphyses and bone segments. Furthermore, the amorphous shapes of human foetal and infant bones have caused even the most experienced excavators to occasionally confuse them with those of animals, particularly if they have been commingled with adult or animal remains.

Studies devoted to the earliest phases of skeletal ontogeny are relatively recent in human osteology, with the first comprehensive manual produced in 1978 by Fazekas and Kósa. 1100 Although the science has subsequently burgeoned and specialist manuals for the excavation and analyses of CIF skeletons are now readily available, 1101 it is impossible to ascertain the extent to which they are utilised in the field. It is equally impossible to quantify how many juvenile burials may have been accidentally overlooked, ignored or misappropriated during two centuries of archaeological endeavour in Egypt, with or without the aid of such heuristic measures. Moreover, we cannot attribute the loss of CIF burial data to accidents or ignorance alone. The deliberate choice to exclude certain socioeconomic segments of the population from analyses will subsequently be explored further. Nevertheless, one can certainly state that the overall size of the current dataset is sufficient to be considered a representative sample of the general trends and practices resident in ancient Egypt during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods.

The extent to which incomplete recording practices have impacted on Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom juvenile palaeodemographic profiles is perhaps more readily quantified. As stated in Chapter 4, of the 1,809 CIFs identified amongst published (and unpublished) excavation data, age-at-death was *not* reported for 1,111 individuals (61.42% TBs). Unfortunately, many additional individuals were not able to be included in the study as their reported age range was too ambiguous or broad (for example, simply presented *en masse* as ≤ 20 years). Further to this, biological sex was *not* reported for 1,729

1098 Lewis (2007: 26).

Sundick (1978); Boddington (1987: 181); Henderson (1987); Waldron (1987; 2001: 45); Galloway et al. (1997); Saunders (2000); Paine & Boldsen (2002: 169); Lewis (2007: 26ff.).

¹¹⁰⁰ Fazekas & Kósa (1978).

¹¹⁰¹ Rhine (1995); Scheuer & Black (2000b); Baker et al. (2005).

¹¹⁰² See §10.8.

¹¹⁰³ See §4.1.2.

For example, see Mace (1909: 53); van Haarlem & Hikade (2006: 390). Amélineau (1904: 104) could not differentiate a skeleton as being either that of a "child or dwarf".

individuals (95.58% TBs). This represents a dramatic data loss and has significant implications for our abilities to accurately reconstruct Egyptian juvenile population profiles. This, in turn, impacts on our abilities to understand certain aspects of the lived experiences of CIFs during the timeframes canvassed by this research, including family structures, differential mortality and morbidity experiences, differential parental investment, competition for 'marriage' partners, composition of the labour force, *et cetera*. Further extensions of this project also hope to determine whether adult palaeodemographic profiles may have been similarly affected by incomplete recording.

10.3.3 The 'Osteological Paradox'

A controversial paper published by Wood *et al.*¹¹⁰⁶ highlighted a paradox which must be addressed by anyone wishing to infer the health of past populations based on the analysis of skeletonised human remains. The central thesis of Wood and colleagues was that demographic data derived from palaeopathological research only reflects the mortality and morbidity of a group's 'non-survivors'. Furthermore, they disputed traditional notions that individuals displaying skeletal lesions were the frail members of a community, whilst non-pathological individuals were robust. This position was anticipated by Ortner, who stated in 1991 that skeletal lesions implied "a good immune response and a relatively healthy individual". He proposed that skeletal lesions were evidence that an individual had recovered from an episode of biological stress, while the absence of lesions testifies to an individual's failure to survive, or adapt to, a particular health crisis.

Although the effects of the "osteological paradox" can never be completely eliminated from skeletal research, Goodman demonstrated that its impact can be minimised by analysing skeletal samples according to age categories and utilising multiple indicators of stress, as well as the absence of stress, in order to identify any subgroups. ¹¹⁰⁸ In addition, Perry suggests that placing research outcomes within their bio-cultural context diminishes opportunities for palaeodemographic and palaeopathological misrepresentation. ¹¹⁰⁹ While this research has certainly followed Goodman and Perry's recommendations to mitigate issues of paradox, one should nonetheless be circumspect when attempting to use the results presented in Chapter 4 to infer the health of *all* children from the Egyptian Early

¹¹⁰⁵ See §4.3.

¹¹⁰⁶ Wood et al. (1992).

¹¹⁰⁷ Ortner (1991: 10).

¹¹⁰⁸ Goodman (1993). 1109 Perry (2006: 92).

Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. It is axiomatic that *all* CIFs contained within the dataset are *non-survivors*. Their presence among these published (and, in the case of Helwan, unpublished) assemblages indicates that for whatever reason, they failed to adapt to endogenous and/or exogenous pressures.¹¹¹⁰

10.3.4 Intra- and Inter-Observer Error

The capacity for intra-observer error must be acknowledged for the osteological analyses undertaken in Chapter 4 of this thesis. As with all bioanthropological studies, the possibility remains that an observer may overlook or misjudge morphological characteristics associated with age, sex and/or health assessments, resulting in perturbations of palaeopathological and palaeodemographic results. In terms of the present study, the capacity for intra-observer error in the analysis of human skeletal remains derived from the ACE Helwan Project was ameliorated via cross-checking independent analyses undertaken by this author and Ms. C. Marshall. In cases of disagreement, data was re-checked until consensus was reached.

In the case of published data, the capacity for both intra- and inter-observer error is somewhat larger. This applies not only to the published palaeopathological and palaeodemographic data incorporated into Chapter 4 of this thesis, but also to all published archaeological data analysed by the survey and captured within the database. Here, the present study was reliant on the accuracy of excavators' accounts of all aspects of CIFBs, as represented within Chapters 3–9 of this thesis. While all excavators' best efforts to ensure accuracy in archaeological reporting are lauded, one must nonetheless acknowledge that errors may infiltrate published material and are subsequently unwittingly perpetuated by scholars and students alike. Moreover, although all care has been taken in the production of this research, one's human capacity to err when undertaking large amounts of data entry must also be acknowledged. It is hoped that careful proofreading has eliminated such errors.

10.3.5 Poor Reporting

The poor reporting described for palaeodemographic data in §10.3.2, above, only scratches the surface of the prevalence of this phenomenon within the published archaeological record. Overall, considering the amount of fieldwork undertaken in Egypt over the past

¹¹¹⁰ Lewis (2002: 51).

two centuries, it may be said that there is a dearth of published cemetery and settlement excavation reports *per se*. Therefore, while it is acknowledged that many more CIFBs have been excavated than those presented in this research, they cannot be included in studies if they have not been published.¹¹¹¹ Furthermore, notwithstanding the acknowledgement that reporting standards are themselves culturally situated and subject to professional and technological evolution, the quality and/or comprehensiveness of many early reports are nonetheless disappointing.¹¹¹² For example, many CIFBs were rendered ineligible for inclusion in the dataset due to several early (and modern) excavators' tendencies to omit explicit dates for individual interments¹¹¹³ or even entire cemeteries,¹¹¹⁴ or not to provide explicit grave or cemetery occupancy figures.¹¹¹⁵

A further source of data loss stems from the mundane phenomenon of Petrie's illegible handwriting in his tomb cards and notes books, noted on several occasions throughout this thesis. 1116 It is acknowledged that these records were ostensibly only ever intended for Petrie's personal use and not as a primary data source. However, in the absence of comprehensive publication of sites including Dendara, Harageh, Hu, Kafr Ammar, Qau el-Kebir, Sedment and Kafr Tarkhan, these notes are the only remaining trace of the archaeological record. On many occasions, additional CIFBs were identified among the tomb cards and notebooks, but they were not able to be included in the database as they did not feature explicit dates (especially those burials without ceramic vessels) or they were indecipherable. 1117 Their illegibility is exacerbated by the poor resolution of the generic CD-ROM supplied by the Petrie Museum, London, where the original records are housed. This author hopes to conduct a physical examination of these records in the future and potentially harvest additional data to supplement the present research. 1118

¹¹¹¹ Richards (2005: 170ff.); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 6, 14).

¹¹¹² Kemp (1977: 186); Bourriau (1991: 8); Richards (1992: 68); Strouhal (1992: 6); Weeks (2008: 9).

For example, Gebelein: Marro (1929: 609); Kom el-Hisn: Hamada & Farid (1947: 104); Minshat Abu Omar: Kroeper (1988; 1994; 2004: 878); Naga ed-Deir: Mace (1909: 53); Saqqara: Quibell (1923: 24); Youssef (1996: 107); Thebes: Carnarvon (1912: 24, 26). Cf. Junker (1928: 35, 36, 42).

For example, Naville *et al.* (1914: 1-11, 24); Peet (1914a: 17-29, 54-75); Hamada & el-Amir (1947: 104, 197, 204); Bourriau & Millard (1971). *Cf.* Masali & Chiarelli (1972).

¹¹¹⁵ For example, see Naville (1921: 161); Brunner (1952-1953: 387); Hamada & el-Amir (1947: 110); Bernand (1970: 1047-1048); Yacoub (1983: 105).

¹¹¹⁶ See §§6.2.2; 6.3.2; 6.7.6; 9.1.

For example, see Petrie (2000: Abydos Sheet 2; Dendara Notebook 13; el-Ghurab Sheet 5; Harageh Sheets 7, 8; Hu Notebook 40; Kafr Ammar Sheet 236; Qau el-Kebir Sheets 10, 11, 12; Sedment Sheets 13, 14, 15; Kafr Tarkhan Sheets 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22). For further comments regarding the inconsistencies of the tomb cards and notebooks, see Picton & Pridden (2008).

Further research should also include examinations of other excavators' original, unpublished field diaries and journals. The articles of Gallorini (1998) and Orel (2000) highlight the value of such an exercise.

10.4 Authorial Bias

The present study argues that authorial bias presents the greatest obstacle to obtaining accurate representations of ancient Egyptian children's lived experiences and cultural capacities through the funerary nexus. Despite Western archaeology's pursuit of theoretical, methodological and practical innovation, it nonetheless remains deeply embedded in cultural conditioning.¹¹¹⁹ In Egyptology, such conditioning is exemplified by Petrie's statement: "so intimate may you now feel in walking in their streets, and sitting down in their dwellings, that I shall rather describe them as a living community than as historical abstractions".¹¹²⁰ While on the one hand Petrie recognizes the need to transform the past by creating meaning and identity in the present,¹¹²¹ on the other, the archaeologist must consider the recognition of a past (or pasts) which may diverge from anything we can claim to know or experience in our contemporary realities. As a result, we must accept that any modern archaeological investigation will inevitably encounter many of these apparent contradictions, anachronisms and biases amongst the works of our predecessors,¹¹²² despite their undoubted best intentions to do otherwise.

Further to the present study's finding of ontological equity between the mortuary culture of children and adults, it is apparent that the current distorted perceptions of juvenile mortuary culture have been created and perpetuated by various forms of authorial bias. As a means to explore the nature, scope and effect of these biases, the present study will draw on archaeological evidence identified in Chapters 3–9 to build qualitative, historiographical analyses of 4 aspects of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture most frequently stereotyped and misconstrued among the discourse. These include 'toys', coffins, differential burial practices and status. While these case studies caution against the unequivocal use of published mortuary data in reconstructions of ancient Egyptian society, they also demonstrate that considered applications of archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories can mitigate the gaps and partialities inherent in our dataset, strengthen qualitative analyses, and establish new avenues for detailed, nuanced, ethically-balanced research.

¹¹¹⁹ Problematised in Meskell (1999c: 128).

¹¹²⁰ Petrie (1890: 21).

¹¹²¹ Hodder (1996: 278).

¹¹²² Meskell (1999b: 7).

10.5 'Toys'

Perceptions of children, and the particular forms of material culture with which they may be observed, are deeply affected by the preconceptions of those interpreting the evidence. In a modern context, toys and children-specific artefacts were originally introduced by adults to suggest and enforce certain norms of behaviour for children based upon their gender, age, socio-economic class and even socio-cultural ideals of beauty and behaviour. For example, in the early 19th Century, dolls portraying adults were marketed to female children of wealthy classes to instil an aspirational sense of style, fashion and etiquette, while dolls portraying children and babies were intended to impart mothering and childcare values and skills. As end-users of toys during their own childhoods, and/or as adult purchasers of such items for children, it is understandable that the personal experiences of many early and recent excavators may have influenced their interpretations of outwardly similar archaeological artefacts. However, it is inappropriate to impose such modern conceptions onto societies temporally and culturally distinct from our own.

The most common theoretical and methodological approach employed by archaeologists towards CIF mortuary culture is referred to as 'miniaturisation'. In this approach, anything that is small, of inferior quality or design, of little practical use, or novel in nature may be assumed to belong to a child, either in the presence or absence of juvenile skeletal remains. For example, consider GGRN 1757, a copper seal, the superior aspect shaped in

¹¹²³ Wilkie (2000: 101-102); Garwood (2007: 65).

¹¹²⁴ See Pritchett & Pastron (1980); Goodfellow (1993).

¹¹²⁵ Wilkie (2000: 102).

¹¹²⁶ Crawford (2009: 60-61); Zillhardt (2009: 27).

Quirke (2005: 105). For example, see Petrie (1890: 30; 1893: 101); Ayrton et al. (1904: 38, 54); Carnaryon (1912: 32, pl. xxiii); Brunton (1937: 11); Strouhal (1992: 26); Crubézy et al. (2002a: 474; 2008: 304-305); Stevenson (2009b: 161, 176). This author also observed spatial miniaturisation; consider Caton-Thompson & Gardner (1934: 115, 118): "The Rock Shelters and Basins...BI was merely a shallow recess in the scarp, with a 20ft. frontage and maximum headroom of under 2ft. even when freed of the gypsum powder and sand mixture which filled it. It could hardly, therefore, have been a human habitation unless used by small children. Nevertheless, at the rear, twenty gypsum oblate spheroid roughmodels had been left in a neat pile" ... "That the shelters themselves, in spite of their low roofs, were used as auxiliary workshops seems certain. The accumulation of gypsum debris, the collection of twenty rough-model vases, the flint drills, the smoke on the roof, combine to prove it. So cramped, however, are the dimensions of BI, BII and BIIIb that one may suspect the employment of children." Scholars also evoke miniaturisation principles when analysing artistic representations of children, describing them as "miniature adults"; see Janssen & Janssen (1990: 160); Harrington (2007: 52ff.). However, such interpretations appear not to consider the strict canon of proportion which applied to representations of human figures in Egyptian art. Taken literally, even the figures of adults are disproportionate and anatomically incorrect. Here, this author again cites the scholarship of Weeks (1979), Swinton (2010) and Marshall (forthcoming) to suggest that these representations are codified motifs of humans, excised within the confines of a strict canon of proportion, regardless of the subject's age.

the baboon-manifestation of Thoth, the inferior aspect incised with 2 hawks, an ankh and wadjet eyes. This object was found in the intact shaft grave of a 12 year old child in the First Intermediate Period cemetery of Qau el-Kebir on the East Bank of Upper Egypt. The excavator states "We may imagine that the father's worn-out seal had been given to the child as a plaything." Such observations are problematised, however, when similar objects are also found in adults' graves. Here, one is forced to question why identical objects should be considered ontologically different based purely on age associations.

It is also assumed that miniature items may have been manufactured by children, in an assumption that they imitate adults to their own scale, producing small items with their small hands. This perspective is transformed if we consider that children were imbricated in ancient Egyptian socio-economic frameworks. They served as employees and producers and created items to comply with societal norms. A further assumption is the equation of crude and poorly made objects with children, a hypothesis often evoked in attempts to identify children in apprentice or novice positions. Certainly, it is accepted that anyone acquiring new skills will experience a learning curve, and it is fair to assume that they may produce a range of errors. However, such items should bear no explicit connection to age, as one certainly does not have to be a child to be a novice.

The above interpretations are based on the morphological assumption that, since children are smaller and less developed than adults, only children will interact with small or 'inferior' objects. It also draws on the modern Western construction of children as passive – people who play rather than contribute socially or economically to society. In this way, when archaeologists identify miniature objects as 'toys' their archaeological value is minimised. The significance of the object is generally relegated to the level of curiosity, and it is rarely related to social significance or meaning. However the functional identification of an object as a purpose-built toy is actually a complex task, sepecially considering that the nature of play varies cross-culturally and is governed by prevailing mores, local environment and available materials. We often forget that being a child is

¹¹²⁸ DRN 961; Brunton (1927a: 39).

¹¹²⁹ Brunton (1927a: 39).

¹¹³⁰ Meskell (1999a: 185).

¹¹³¹ See §2.4.1, fn. 184; Finlay (1997: 205).

¹¹³² Finlay (1997: 205).

¹¹³³ See Lillehammer (1989: 89-105).

¹¹³⁴ As does Petrie (1890: 30); Garstang (1907a: 10); Cole (1989: 33); Strouhal (1992: 21, 25-26); Feucht (2001a: 262).

¹¹³⁵ Egan (1996); Derevenski (2000: 7); Lillehammer (2010: 32).

¹¹³⁶ Kamp (2001: 18); Crawford (2009: 58).

not simply defined by age and power relations, but it is also experiential. Accordingly, children constantly interact with the everyday objects that surround them; any object/s within their grasp are potential 'toys'. We must also acknowledge that not everything a child engages with is a toy – children make and use other objects, too. Finally, we often forget (or perhaps, choose not to admit) that adults also own and use toys. It thus appears that the spectrum of children's material realities is just as broad and complex as those of adults.

10.5.1 'Toys' or Ritual Objects?

There is much debate in Egyptology surrounding the identification of human, animal and miniature figurines and objects (whether they are well-formed or crudely made) either as items for the amusement of children, or as objects used in ceremonies and rituals. ¹¹⁴¹ A viable case study to illustrate this issue may be found in the controversial "dolls" ¹¹⁴² or "concubines du mort" ¹¹⁴³ of the Middle Kingdom, 5 of which feature in the present study's database. ¹¹⁴⁴ Janssen and Janssen make the distinction between 'toys' and 'fertility figurines' by declaring that "A clear indication that the human figurine was indeed a toy is when it is found in a child's grave". ¹¹⁴⁵ The first point to note is the relative infrequency with which these objects have been published in children's graves. As detailed in Chapter 9, human figurines represent 0.44% of all Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom CIF grave goods identified by this study (Σ =21). ¹¹⁴⁶ In the particular case of GGRN 75, a wooden female figurine found in the intact pit burial of a 'female' child of unspecified age in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Hawara in the Faiyum, ¹¹⁴⁷ Janssen and Janssen state that its moveable arms and lack of overt genital representation reinforce its playful purpose. ¹¹⁴⁸ However, Tooley's examination of this object in the Petrie Museum at University College,

¹¹³⁷ Wileman (2005: 28); Crawford (2009: 62, 64).

¹¹³⁸ Baxter (2005: 114).

Quirke (2005: 105); Kamp (2006: 120). For example, see the "toys or games" described by Petrie (1896: 35) in adults tombs at Naqada.

¹¹⁴⁰ See Schlereth (1990); Derevenski (1994: 7-20).

¹¹⁴¹ See Tooley (1991); Quirke (1998); cf. Meskell (1999b: 172ff.; 2002a: 84).

Petrie (1893: 101); Griffith (1900-1901: 1); Randall-MacIver (1901: 52); Ayrton et al. (1904: 38, 54); David (1979: 12); Janssen (1996: 231).

Posener-Kriéger (1983: 346); Castel *et al.* (1984: 51); Jeffreys *et al.* (1986: 7); Aufrère (1990: 11); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 7, 46); Robins (1990: 234; 1993: 75); Grimal (1991: 282); Pinch (1994: 126ff.); David (2002: 174).

¹¹⁴⁴ See GGRNs 75, 102, 111, 112, 1640,

¹¹⁴⁵ Janssen & Janssen (1990: 46); Jannsen (1996: 231). Problematised in Robins (1994: 234). *Cf.* Bruyère (1937: 170, 179, 271) who also interprets clay figures found in child burials at Deir el-Medina as toys.

¹¹⁴⁶ See §9.3.9. 1147 DRN 49.

¹¹⁴⁸ Petrie (1927: 59; 1937: 12); Janssen & Janssen (1990: 7, 46).

London,¹¹⁴⁹ reveals that there is actually very little movement in the arms.¹¹⁵⁰ Tooley further states that any arm movement reported in such figures should perhaps be considered an unintentional by-product of wood desiccation following burial.¹¹⁵¹ Alternatively, joint mobility may also reflect the object's construction and assemblage, rather than its interactivity. Finally, the lack of painted definition in the genital area is not enough to confirm the object's use as a toy. The overall nakedness of the figure could also be interpreted as a connotation of sexuality.

The fertility figurine genre may be argued to encompass various forms, including the Middle Kingdom 'paddle dolls' and other footless figures made of ivory, faience, stone and wood. Many of these figures feature singular or combined elements which confirm their ritual use, for example, strongly emphasized pubic areas, tattoo markings and the general dress of ritual dancers. In order to understand the purpose of these objects, one must first consider the environment in which they were found. Contexts include tombs, towns, mining sites and temples. The appearance of these figures in adults' tombs (of both sexes) challenges Janssen and Janssen's assumption regarding their identification as 'dolls'. Furthermore, their presence at town sites raises at least two possibilities: that their use-life was not restricted to funerary contexts, and/or that settlements were their manufacture location. In settlements, these objects are often found in a ritual context, identified by their association with other ritual objects such as 'soul houses' and offering trays. Scholars suggest that their major function in ritual is associated with reproductive fertility. Their presence in both settlement and cemetery contexts therefore implies that concerns with fertility permeated the consciousness of both the living and the dead. 1154

In the absence of an established archaeology of children in Egyptology, the evidence remains too ambiguous to assert with any certainty that these items were made exclusively as toys, either by or for children.¹¹⁵⁵ Indeed, one may follow Pettitt in his assessment that such objects may have been polysemous, ¹¹⁵⁶ that is, engaged in both ritual and recreational

¹¹⁴⁹ UC 16148.

¹¹⁵⁰ Tooley (1991: 103).

¹¹⁵¹ Tooley (1991: 103, fn. 36).

¹¹⁵² See Posener-Kriéger (1983: 346; 1984: 349; 1985: 297-298; 1986: 381); Jeffreys et al. (1986: 7).

Meskell (2002a: 84). For example: a female figurine in an adult male's tomb at Badari; Castillos (2000: 254).

Meskell (2001: 34; 2002a: 84). Such figures have also been interpreted as symbols of 'rebirth' in funerary contexts; Milde (1994: 17).

Seidlmayer (1998: 14) expresses a similar lack of certainty regarding the overall purpose of these objects per se.

¹¹⁵⁶ Pettitt (2006: 301-302); cf. Baxter (2005: 114).

activities at certain points (or possibly simultaneously) during their use-lives. Indeed, the cultural biographies discussed for humans in §10.2.4, above, may also be applied to objects. The capacity for identity and functional transformation exists as much for objects as it does for those that create, use and re-create them. These issues will be further discussed in the context of children's coffins in §10.6.5, below.

10.5.2 'Toys' or Weapons?

The appearance of weapons in children's graves provides a further opportunity to contrast diverging ontological approaches to objects dependent on age associations. Weapons have been found in children's graves since the beginning of the Predynastic Period in Egypt, 1157 as well as in those of other cultures. 1158 In terms of the present study, weapons were identified in Chapter 9 on 24 occasions in published Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom CIFBs (including arrowheads, maceheads, spearheads, axeheads, slingshots, harpoons, and spears). 1159 When uncovered in adult graves, weapons are generally interpreted as symbols of power, status, wealth, profession and often masculinity. 1160 When uncovered in children's graves, however, weapons are often apportioned a different ontological status. Here, it is often stated that weapons either indicate inherited status, wealth and profession, 1161 as it is believed that children were too young to have attained such attributes (or used such objects) independently. 1162 Alternatively, they may be interpreted as 'toys'. 1163 Similar sentiments are also applied to tools, 1164 which were observed amongst the present study's sample on 294 occasions. These included flints, scrapers, chisels, diggers, knives (including ripple-flaked), grinders, scoops, needles, borers, blades, bladelets, adzes, weights, discs and pebbles/stones.

el-Mostagedda: boomerangs (graves 2706 [child], 210 [child]); flint arrow head (grave 11706 [child]); mace-head (grave 1864 [female and child]). el-Amra: bone harpoon (grave B106 [child]). Naga ed-Deir: flint fish tail knife (grave 7016 [child]); 2 ivory arrow heads (grave 7419 [child]). Matmar: 4 arrow butts (grave 3117 [child]). Diospolis Parva/Abadiya: 2 stone mace heads and a double-pointed mace head (grave B102 [4 males and 1 child]). el-Hemmamiya: limestone conical mace head (grave 2064 [child]). Badari: flint fish tail knife (grave 3802 [female and child]). Hierakonpolis: conical porphyry mace head, 2 arrow heads (grave 3, Loc.6 [2 males and 1 child]). el-Mahasna: diorite conical mace head, copper fishtail knife (H85 [child]). Ciałowicz (1985).

Child burials with tools and weapons have been observed in Upper Palaeolithic Kostenki XV and Sungir (Russia): Roveland (2000: 34); Late Mesolithic Zvejnieki (South East Baltic): Janik (2000: 124); Middle Neolithic Cerny culture (France): Thomas et al. (2011: 782-783); Anglo-Saxon (England): Crawford (2000: 176).

¹¹⁵⁹ See §9.3.15.

¹¹⁶⁰ David (2002: 62); Grajetzki (2003: 38, 61).

¹¹⁶¹ Peebles & Kus (1977); Lillie (1997); Welinder (1998); Janik (2000: 125); Roveland (2000: 34).

¹¹⁶² Pader (1982: 57); Derevenski (2000: 6); Baxter (2005: 96-97).

¹¹⁶³ Crawford (2009: 63).

¹¹⁶⁴ Lillehammer (2010: 32).

¹¹⁶⁵ See §9.3.4.

These interpretations exemplify the divergent approaches towards material culture in mortuary archaeology, whereby children's objects are relationally defined to those of adults. Such approaches may be argued to be hegemonic insofar as they subsume the category of 'child' to that of 'adult'. Despite the fact that there are no overt ontological differences between weapons and tools placed in adults' and children's graves, the former are invested with all social identity, power and agency, the latter with none. 1166 In alignment with the present study's advocacy of the specific ritual context of burial, this author follows Gowland's interpretation that weapons should be considered as representative of broader aspects of social identity. 1167 As discussed in §10.2.2, above, the function of the Egyptian burial ritual was to 'perform' a cultural funerary identity on behalf of the deceased which facilitated and assured their transition into the afterlife, regardless of their age. Weaponry and tools are only two material components of the manifold Egyptian representational economy that might be called upon by those orchestrating the burial to construct a funerary identity on behalf of the deceased. In response to the tendency to diminish the meaning of model weapons and tools under the 'miniaturisation' approach (and indeed, all model object categories), Ciałowicz is careful to note that the criterion of size should not be considered relevant, as model objects were conceptualised as complete signifiers of the full-sized objects they represented. 1168 As such, the present study argues that in the specific Egyptian ritual context of burial, size did not matter - both in terms of the occupants themselves and the weapons, tools or other objects with which they were interred.

10.6 Coffins

Garstang's statement that "no coffin was ever made specially for a child" provides an apposite starting point to consider how authorial bias has shaped perceptions of children's coffins in Egyptian archaeological narratives. The present study's finding of 748 CIF coffins problematises Garstang's pronouncement and indicates that this aspect of Egyptian mortuary culture warrants further study. As an initial engagement, the present study will illustrate how authorial bias has impacted our understandings of children's coffins from two perspectives. Firstly, we shall consider the phenomenon of pot burials, followed by a discussion of the role of gift traditions in the ritual context of burial. These examples serve to demonstrate the

¹¹⁶⁶ Derevenski (2000: 6).

¹¹⁶⁷ Gowland (2006: 151).

¹¹⁶⁸ Ciałowicz (1985: 157); contra Stevenson (2009b: 178).

¹¹⁶⁹ Garstang (1907a: 82); see §6.7.

capacity of authorial bias to distort our reconstructions of Egyptian mortuary behaviour specifically, and wider socio-economic and political processes in general.

10.6.1 Pot Burials

Despite their ubiquity in the archaeological record, pot burials are yet to receive comprehensive analyses in Egyptology. 1170 In their seminal treatment of Egyptian funerary containers, Ikram and Dodson do not consider pot burials as "proper coffins", 1171 rather as an incipient phase along an evolutionary trajectory towards the idealised wooden rectangular type. It is often suggested that pot burials were the preserve of the poor, 1172 who "made do" with this type of receptacle while they "aspired to elaborately decorated wooden coffins". 1173 Only a few Egyptologists acknowledge the extensive cross-cultural attestations of this mode of burial, and there appear to be discontinuities within the discourse regarding their geographical, chronological and demographic incidence. Some scholars restrict the use of pot burials to certain regions and timeframes, while most agree that apart from direct interment into the earth, pot burials were the most common form of interment for CIFs in ancient Egypt. 1174 The prior domestic use of the burial vessel is often noted, 1175 with respective interpretations invariably attributing this as an act of rubbish disposal, 1176 thereby reducing the value of both the containers and their human occupants to cultural refuse. The present study briefly explores each of the above claims with a view to accessing a more holistic, culturally-situated understanding of the incidence, meaning and significance of this ubiquitous aspect of ancient Egyptian mortuary behaviour.

For the purposes of this study, a 'pot burial' is defined as a primary inhumation in/under any ceramic vessel/s. The practice of burying deceased human bodies in ceramic pots is one of the most widespread funerary practices across the cultures and geographies of the ancient world. To date, the earliest incidences of pot burial are attributed to the Neolithic

Hendrickx (1998: 115ff.) performs a preliminary analysis of "des inhumations en pots et en cerceuils de terre en Egypte, pendant la période pré- et protodynastique". Stevenson (2009b: 173-174) discusses the Predynastic pot burials at el-Gerzeh on the West Bank of Middle Egypt. Cf. Masali & Chiarelli (1972: 166); van Wetering & Tassie (2003: 124).

¹¹⁷¹ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 194-195).

^{Randall MacIver (1901: 53); Randall-MacIver & Mace (1902: 25); Garstang (1904: 51); Petrie (1905: 38); Brunton (1927a: 21; 1937: 104); Brunton & Engelbach (1927: 7); Myers & Fairman (1931:229); Donadoni Roveri (1969: 37, 38); Hendrickx (1998: 105, 126, 127, 128); Ikram & Dodson (1998: 223).}

¹¹⁷³ Ikram & Dodson (1998: 223); cf. Hendrickx (1998: 127); Zillhardt (2009: 42).

Brunton & Engelbach (1927: 7); Donadoni Roveri (1969: 35, 39); Masali & Chiarelli (1969: 166); Hendrickx (1998: 128).

Loat & Murray (1905: 2); Brunton (1927a: 21; 1948: 27); Brunton & Engelbach (1927a: 7); Donadoni Roveri (1969: 31, 36, 39); Kroeper (1994: 31, 32); (Robins 1994-1995: 26); Hendrickx (1998: 105, 127); Bacvarov (2008b: 64).

¹¹⁷⁶ Brunton (1927a: 21, 22; 1948: 27).

Northern Levant in the 6th Millennium BP. 1177 Petrie was among the first archaeologists of this region to view pot burials as evidence of intercultural contact following early experimentation with ceramic production and use. 1178 Pot burials may be traced from the Northern Levant across to the central Balkans, South-East Europe and Anatolia; down to the Southern Levant, Mesopotamia, Syria, Bahrain and Africa; and North to the Caucasus. 1179 Pot burials of CIFs have also been observed in South America, 1180 and in Nagaoka, Japan, during the Yayoi Period. 1181

10.6.2 Incidence

Comparatively, Egypt was quite late to introduce this mode of interment into its funerary repertoire. Midant-Reynes cites the first incidences of pot burial as occurring during the Gerzean/Naqada II Period (*ca.* 3,500 BP), ¹¹⁸² some 2,500 years after their appearance in the Near East. Midant-Reynes also states that burials in ceramic vessels and those in other forms of funerary containers (including baskets, reeds, and eventually, wooden coffins) appeared roughly simultaneously, ¹¹⁸³ thereby suggesting that the objective for these practices was the same: to contain the body and separate and protect it from the surrounding earth into which it was interred. ¹¹⁸⁴ While there is general agreement regarding the broad geographical attestation of this mode of burial in ancient Egypt (the present study has identified pot burials in 46 sites; **Table 10.1**), scholars are divided regarding its chronological continuity. Some limit the practice to the Predynastic to Old Kingdom periods, ¹¹⁸⁵ while others correctly identify its persistence through the entire pharaonic era and beyond. ¹¹⁸⁶ The practice was still observed among Coptic communities at the beginning of the 20th Century, ¹¹⁸⁷ and is even reported to endure in Egyptian rural

¹¹⁷⁷ Bacvarov (2008b: 61); cf. Wileman (2005: 74).

¹¹⁷⁸ Petrie (1896: 4, 9); Bacvarov (2008b: 65-66).

¹¹⁷⁹ Bacvarov (2008b: 61, 62, fig.7.1, 67, fig.7.2, 68, fig.7.3); *cf.* Dzierżykray-Rogalski (1973: 242); Weinstein (1973: 400); Shepherd (2007: 93); Littleton (2011: 364).

¹¹⁸⁰ ca. 100 BC; DeMarrais (2004: 15, 19).

¹¹⁸¹ 300BC-100BC; Mizoguchi (2000: 143, 145).

¹¹⁸² Midant-Reynes (2000: 187); cf. Castillos (1982a: 175).

Midant-Reynes (2000: 187); Hendrickx (1998: 127) states that wooden coffins were introduced at the end of Naqada I.

Minault-Gout (1992: 52); Rowland (2003: 66); Patch (2007: 248); Spieser (2008: 533). Donadoni Roveri (1969: 19-20, 39) argues that all forms of coffins may have evolved from the earlier practice of lining tomb walls with clay as a means to protect the body and separate it from the surrounding earth, in much the same way that storage ditches were lined to preserve cereals and foods.

Garstang (1904: 53); Peet & Loat (1913: 20-22); Brunton (1927a: 15); Zillhardt (2009: 89, 92).

¹¹⁸⁶ Weinstein (1973: 413).

¹¹⁸⁷ Blackman (1968: 101).

communities today. ¹¹⁸⁸ In agreement with Garstang, the present study argues that pot burials actually represent one of the most "unvarying and persevering" modes of burial in Egypt, with their utilisation before, during and after the pharaonic period spinning "but a single thread in the bond of continuity" which is "yet unbroken and without a flaw." ¹¹⁸⁹

Despite the widely-held belief that pot burials were mainly used for CIF interments, ¹¹⁹⁰ many sites feature contemporaneous pot burials of both children and adults (**Table 10.1**). ¹¹⁹¹ While Spieser agrees regarding the longevity of pot burial, she stipulates that it was only utilised for infants after the New Kingdom. ¹¹⁹² However, published excavation data for the sites of Kom el-Hisn, ¹¹⁹³ el-Gerzeh, ¹¹⁹⁴ Tell el-Fara'in (Buto), ¹¹⁹⁵ and San el-Hagar (Tanis) ¹¹⁹⁶ refute this proposition, with each site variably featuring adult pot burials through the Third Intermediate and Greco-Roman Periods. In fact, it is worth noting that at some sites, such as Reqaqna, ¹¹⁹⁷ Kawamil, ¹¹⁹⁸ Nag el-Madamud (Roda), ¹¹⁹⁹ Beni Hasan ¹²⁰⁰ and Gebel el-Silsila, ¹²⁰¹ only adult pot burials have been published thus far. ¹²⁰²

10.6.3 Interpretations

Several scholars have argued that the repetition of this form of burial over large geographical and temporal frames indicates spheres of cultural interaction with a common/similar belief system. ¹²⁰³ In the European, African and Near Eastern contexts there is unanimous subscription to the proposal that the pot is analogous to the uterus, implying that a return to the womb in death will promote metaphorical rebirth in the afterlife. ¹²⁰⁴ Such interpretations

¹¹⁸⁸ Zillhardt (2009: 70); following El-Shohoumi (2004: 56, 157). Pot burials also persist in Zimbabwe: Aschwanden (1982: 285); Barley (1994: 158, fn. 74); and the Sudan: Geus (1984); and were observed until the end of the 19th Century in Southern Europe; Mishina (2008: 141, 143).

¹¹⁸⁹ Garstang (1904: 56); cf. Weinstein (1973: 437).

¹¹⁹⁰ Zillhardt (2009: 42, 92).

Contemporaneous pot burials of adults and children are also observed in Lebanon in Chalcolithic Byblos: Artin (2008: 80ff.) and Middle Bronze Age Sidon: Dr. Claude Doumet-Serhal, British Museum, pers. comm..

¹¹⁹² Spieser (2008: 502); cf. Brunton (1927a: 21); Donadoni Roveri (1969: 37).

¹¹⁹³ Hamada & Farid (1950); Orel (2000: 45).

¹¹⁹⁴ Petrie et al. (1912: 5).

¹¹⁹⁵ Petrie (1905: 38).

¹¹⁹⁶ Weinstein (1973: 406ff.).

Garstang (1902: 65-66; 1904: 55); Peet (1914b: 38); Engelbach (1923: pl. lvii).

de Morgan (1897); Forrer (1901: 50); Garstang (1904: 54); Hendrickx (1998: 119).

¹¹⁹⁹ Hendrickx (1998: 119, 123).

¹²⁰⁰ Garstang (1904: 56; 1907a: 27-28).

¹²⁰¹ de Morgan (1897: 137ff.).

Here, Egyptian data diverges from that of other regions: to date, there have been no observations of adult pot burials in South-Eastern Europe.

¹²⁰³ Bar-Yosef & Belfer-Cohen (1989); Cauvin (1989); Orrelle (2008: 75).

¹²⁰⁴ Aschwanden (1982: 285); Geus (1984); Evers & Huffman (1988: 739); Barley (1994: 158, fn. 74); Ilan (1995: 135); Kulemann-Ossen & Novák (2000: 121-128); Mishina (2008: 141, 143); Orrelle (2008: 71,

receive theoretical impetus from the writing of Hertz, ¹²⁰⁵ Bloch and Parry, ¹²⁰⁶ and Conkey ¹²⁰⁷ who argue that womb metaphors link with sentimental burial associations, or rebirth following death. ¹²⁰⁸ The present study suggests that it is possible that this symbolism may also have been applicable in the Egyptian context. ¹²⁰⁹ An early attestation of the association between pots and the gravid uterus has been identified in the 6th Dynasty tomb chapel of Watetkhethor at Saqqara, where dancers appear to be engaged in a ritual performance aiming to remove impediments to birth. They say:

"But see, the secret of birth! Oh pull! See the pot, remove what is in it! See, the secret of the *hnrt*, Oh Four! Come! Pull! It is today! Hurry! Hurry! See, it is the abomination of birth." 1210

The use of the word \triangle^{8} \triangle kht, 'pot/vessel', 1211 in this situation indicates that it was a well-known metaphor, easily understood in the audience's context. Moreover, Assmann describes placement in the coffin as "regressus ad uterum", 1213 in alignment with Egyptian beliefs concerning posthumous transitions to the afterlife through the body of the sky-goddess.

It is also possible that further layers of symbolism may have been applicable in this context, particularly considering literal and metaphorical understandings of the egg. The ancient Egyptians had a profound, biologically accurate understanding that the origins of human life sprung forth from the egg after being fertilised by sperm. Here, the emphasis is placed on the individual *within* the egg, into whom Amun breathes the breath of life. 1215

^{76);} Powell (2009:120-122); Budin (2011). Willems (1988) and Meskell (1999b: 121; 2001: 32) have also noted associations between coffins and afterlife 'rebirth' beliefs.

¹²⁰⁵ Hertz (1960: 81).

¹²⁰⁶ Bloch & Parry (1982).

¹²⁰⁷ Conkey (1997).

¹²⁰⁸ See Tarlow (1999: 38ff.) for further discussion of the role of metaphor in the construction, reproduction and transformation of meaning in archaeological funerary contexts.

¹²⁰⁹ Cf. Donadoni Roveri (1969: 39); Zillhardt (2009: 50-51).

¹²¹⁰ North Wall, Room B3, Third register: Roth, A. (1992: 141); Kanawati (2008: 26, pl. 60).

¹²¹¹ WB I, 1339; Hannig & Vomberg (2006: 934); also attested in the Middle Kingdom: WB V: 2528.

When an anatomical approach was appropriate, for example, in the Kahun medical papyri (UC 32057, see Collier & Quirke (2004: 58ff.), the designated terminology for womb/uterus was 21, idt: usually expressed by the ideogram for a well of water (Gardiner 1994: 492, sign-list N41), often using the determinative of the bicornuate uterus of a cow (Gardiner 1994: 466, sign-list F45).

Assmann (1972: 115ff.; 1989: 139, 140). While tempting to forge a parallel between Khnum's act of creating humans on the potter's wheel (Frankfort (1975: 20); Hart (1986: 110-112); Dorman (1999: 83); Assmann (2001: 117) and the creative power of the uterus, such analogies cannot be supported at this stage. There is no continuous association of this symbolism in Egyptian religion, and the pottermanifestation of Khnum was formulated after the 4th -5th Dynasty introduction of the potter's wheel (Bourriau *et al.* (2000: 125-126), while pot burials had been occurring in Egypt since the Predynastic Period.

¹²¹⁴ Stoof (1978: 115); cf. Meskell (2002a: 68).

¹²¹⁵ pCairo, no. 87, 1.15; Assmann (2001: 205).

The word \(\) wht, 'egg', was used to define the ova of birds and fish and to describe the ovoid form, \(\) but from as early as the Old Kingdom it was also used to designate the place where human life gestates in the female body. \(\) Moreover, Late Egyptian attestations of swht using the egg determinative are designations for the term "inner coffin". \(\) Thus, it is plausible that such textual references which analogise between coffins and eggs — as places of metaphorical/literal gestation and (re)birth — may demonstrate a well-known connection that had been established for some time, only appearing in textual form at a later date. \(\) It is also possible that earlier textual associations may have been made but are no longer extant. In the manifold cases of pot burials of adults and children in the Egyptian archaeological record, it is hard to dismiss the visual similarities between pots laden with human bodies in the so-called "foetal position" and embryo-bearing eggs.

Arguments which endorse interpretations of the pot as a womb may be equally applied to eggs, including the ability to serve as containers, 1221 to incubate, 1222 to be modified by temperature, 1223 and to be non-porous and watertight. 1224 As identified among the Egyptian examples, 1225 all regions featuring this mode of burial are noted to have intentionally damaged the vessel mouth and/or pierced the base. Apart from the pragmatic function of admitting the body to the vessel in the context of burial, such acts of breakage have been interpreted as symbolic means to facilitate ease of rebirth in the afterlife, 1226 an argument which could equally apply to eggs and wombs. In any case, it is clear that further study is required to untangle the symbolic meaning of this mode of burial which has clear associations with gestation and (re)birth. As highlighted by Conkey, 1227 it is possible that these burials may have different levels of meaning, nuanced according to the

¹²¹⁶ WB IV, 73, I-III.

¹²¹⁸ WB IV, 74.

1220 Scott (1999: 105).

WB IV, 73, IV; cf. Meskell (2002a: 68). In the Middle Kingdom pBerlin 3024, The Dispute Between a Man and His Ba, the egg is used as a metaphor for young life, where the man "grieve[s] for her children, broken in the egg, who have seen the face of the Crocodile before they have lived"; Lichtheim (1975: 165).

¹²¹⁹ I am grateful to A/Prof. Boyo Ockinga, Macquarie University, for bringing this possibility to my attention.

¹²²¹ Naumov (2007: 262ff.); Budin (2011).

¹²²² Naumov (2007: 262ff.).

¹²²³ Naumov (2007: 262ff.).

¹²²⁴ Donadoni Roveri (1969: 32, 36); Boddy (1982); Orrelle (2008: 73).

¹²²⁵ Donadoni Roveri (1969: 34); Kroeper (1994: 31-32).

Bacvarov (2008b: 66); Orrelle (2008: 72); cf. Loat (1905: 2). For the Thonga of South Africa, a notch on the rim of a vessel used to convey food indicates to a mother that her son has died during the process of initiation; Barley (1994: 107).

¹²²⁷ Conkey (1997).

multiscalar components of their particular cultural, temporal and geographical contexts. ¹²²⁸ In fact, such multiplicities of meaning may be described as characteristic of the "elusive entity" of Egyptian religion.

10.6.4 (Mis)Understandings

In light of the apparent symbolism of these burials, it is worthwhile to consider why so many Egyptians chose to bury their deceased family/community members in pots, as it is clear that they had many options at their disposal, including wrapping in linen, animal skins and/or reed matting; or placement in receptacles constructed from basketry, mud, ceramics, wood or stone. Many also appear to have been buried without any form of funerary container, their bodies being placed directly into the sand/earth. What is apparent here is that the final mode of interment was a product of choice.¹²³⁰

As aforementioned, several scholars have stated that apart from direct interment in the sand/earth, pot burials were by far the most common mode of interment for deceased CIFs in ancient Egypt. However, results of the present study's archaeological survey question this hypothesis. As detailed in Chapter 6, of the 1,809 CIFBs identified by this study, a minimum of 746 individuals were reportedly buried within a funerary container of some description (see Figure 6.2). Of these, 338 were wooden coffins, followed by 329 pot burials (see Figure 6.23). The prevalence of wooden coffins over ceramic vessels for CIFBs is noteworthy, considering the high cost of wood as a construction material during these periods. At least for the periods canvassed by this study, it is clear that our understanding of the mortuary treatment of CIFs may require some recalibrations.

Precisely what motivated the choice of pots as funerary containers is what divides opinions on this subject. As aforementioned, most scholars who have commented on the subject believe that pot burials were the preserve of the poorest members of the community, and the procurement of pre-used vessels from domestic contexts is often cited as a marker of such destitution. In light of the preceding evidence regarding the preponderance of more-expensive wooden coffins among the dataset, the present study is not favourably disposed to

¹²²⁸ Orrelle (2008: 74).

¹²²⁹ Frankfort (1975: 21); cf. Assmann (1989: 137); Baines (1991: 123).

¹²³⁰ Kroeper (1994: 31).

¹²³¹ See §6.1.

¹²³² See §6.7.

Due to their supposed poverty, Castillos (1982a: 95) excludes pot burials from his statistical analyses of the Protodynastic tombs at Qau, Badari and Hemmamiya.

this interpretation and tends to agree with Garstang, who states that this mode of burial is "no proof of poverty", ¹²³⁴ citing examples of pot burials from Elkab and Reqaqna which are "more elaborately furnished than those of other kinds which are more plentiful". ¹²³⁵ To this evidence one may add data from Abydos, ¹²³⁶ Adaima, ¹²³⁷ Armant, ¹²³⁸ Badari, ¹²³⁹ Balat, ¹²⁴⁰ Deir el-Ballas, ¹²⁴¹ el-Ghurab, ¹²⁴² Kom el-Hisn, ¹²⁴³ el-Kubaniya, ¹²⁴⁴ Matmar, ¹²⁴⁵ el-Mostagedda, ¹²⁴⁶ Naga ed-Deir, ¹²⁴⁷ Qau el-Kebir, ¹²⁴⁸ Riqqeh, ¹²⁴⁹ and Sebaiya (East), ¹²⁵⁰ all of which feature CIF pot burials furnished with an array of grave goods. ¹²⁵¹

Other examples further refute scholars' appropriations of poverty to this mode of burial. Of particular note is the pot burial of a perinate, DRN 881, interred in a contemporary context alongside the body of Governor Ima-Pepi in the burial chamber of his elaborate late Old Kingdom/early First Intermediate Period mastaba tomb at Balat in Dakhla Oasis. Accompanying this baby was a quantity of beads, 7 of which were covered in gold foil. Those responsible for the multiple burial of Ima-Pepi and this tiny individual in such an opulent manner clearly had vast resources and political power at their disposal. Whatever their reason/s for choosing to inter the deceased perinate in a pot, it is difficult to argue that their choice was motivated by poverty. Additionally, one may cite further incidences of pot burials within Old Kingdom mastaba tombs at Abydos 1254 and Naga ed-Deir, 2255 each of which were accompanied by grave goods. Moreover, the discovery of a neonate buried in an imported ceramic vessel from Palestine at the Early Dynastic

```
1234 Garstang (1904: 56); cf. Garstang (1907a: 27); Peet & Loat (1913: 20-22); also Orelle (2008: 76), who
    sees pots burials as possible indicators for high-status burial.
<sup>1235</sup> Garstang (1904: 51, cf. 56).
<sup>1236</sup> See DRNs 812-814.
<sup>1237</sup> See DRNs 708-709, 711, 717-718, 754-755, 759-760, 762.
<sup>1238</sup> See DRNs 612, 617.
<sup>1239</sup> See DRN 1025.
<sup>1240</sup> See DRN 881.
<sup>1241</sup> See DRN 688.
<sup>1242</sup> See DRNs 358-359.
<sup>1243</sup> See DRNs 7-33.
<sup>1244</sup> See DRN 538.
<sup>1245</sup> See DRNs 167, 169, 239.
<sup>1246</sup> See DRNs 420-421, 423, 426.
    See DRN 673.
    See DRNs 923-924, 931, 935-939, 941, 972, 977-979, 982, 984, 991.
1249 See DRN 393.
<sup>1250</sup> See DRN 554.
<sup>1251</sup> Contra Donadoni Roveri (1969: 37).
<sup>1252</sup> See DRN 881; Minault-Gout (1992: 43).
<sup>1253</sup> See GRN 1632.
```

¹²⁵⁴ See DRNs 812 [associated GGRN 1531]; 813 [GGRN 1532]; 814 [GGRNs 1535-1537].

See DRN 673 [GGRN 1278].
 Donadoni Roveri (1969: 39) also cites examples of pot burials from Nuierat that were placed in rock-cut tombs.

cemetery of Minshat Abu Omar in the Eastern Nile Delta casts further doubt on the notion that pot burials were the exclusive preserve of the poor.¹²⁵⁷

10.6.5 (Re)Use

Many cite the reuse of domestic ceramic vessels as funerary containers as further signifiers of poverty. 1258 or of the diminished value of their occupants, particularly children, infants and foetuses. 1259 However, such interpretations do not acknowledge the 'cultural biographies' of objects - a well-recognised approach used in the archaeologies of other disciplines - which provides capacity for transitions in the function and/or symbolism of objects across the span of their use-lives. 1260 Theories of cultural biography stem from Appadurai and Kopytoff's economic models which allow for significant changes in the way an object is used and/or conceptualised by humans within specific cultural contexts. 1261 These changes both modify and are modified by humans, as such transformations form inextricable links between humans and the components of their material world. 1262 Such an approach endorses the role of literal and metaphorical 'recycling' of objects within cultures, in a manner which does not necessitate 'devaluing' as the object moves along its use-life, shifting and changing in function and/or meaning until its eventual accidental or deliberate entry into the archaeological record. 1263

The present study argues that pots were deliberately selected and reused as funerary containers for what may have been a variety of pragmatic and symbolic reasons mediated within a framework of socio-cultural intersubjectivity. Firstly, ancient societies were not 'throw-away' societies. If an object was no longer viable for its initial function, it was not immediately disposed of, rather repaired, functionally or symbolically transformed, stored for future reuse, or broken down to be integrated into another

¹²⁵⁷ See DRN 1308. Kroeper (1994: 28); Kroeper & Wildung (2000: 80).

¹²⁵⁸ Zillhardt (2009: 52). Reused domestic vessels have also been noted in cross-cultural contexts; for example, Turkey: Hopwood (2008: 117).

Menghin & Amer (1936: 25). Szpakowska (2008: 33) apportions similar attitudes to the boxes used to bury infants at Kahun, stating that they had "previously been used for another purpose rather than specially built coffins".

Tringham (1994; 1995: 98); Gosden & Marshall (1999: 169); Strasser (1999: 22ff.); Crawford (2007: 89; 2009: 57-58); Stevenson (2009a: 190).

¹²⁶¹ Appadurai (1986: 3); Kopytoff (1986: 66-67, 68). Cf. Meskell (2004: esp. 55ff.).

¹²⁶² Gosden & Marshall (1999: 169).

¹²⁶³ Kamp (1991: 25-27); Giddy & Jeffreys (1993: 19); Gosden & Marshall (1999: 170).

¹²⁶⁴ Shanks & Tilley (1987: 98).

¹²⁶⁵ Rathje & Murphy (2001: 191-192); Schwartz (2006: 151).

object. ¹²⁶⁶ Indeed, the very idea of 'rubbish' is culturally-situated ¹²⁶⁷ – to view recycled objects as a 'zero-signifiers' ¹²⁶⁸ is anachronistic and ethnocentric – especially considering that the practice of recycling appears to be a "fundamental characteristic of the human species". ¹²⁶⁹ As long as objects continue to participate in a cultural system they remain constituted within that system. ¹²⁷⁰ *Re*-constitution does not equate to *dis*-constitution. Recycling was an essential component of ancient economic and technological sustainability and does not necessarily represent a diminishment of 'value'. ¹²⁷¹

Secondly, the durability and impermeability of pots made them excellent coffins. Scholars have noted that bodies buried in pots are often the best preserved amongst entire cemeteries; ¹²⁷² a fact some may find ironic considering that these were supposedly the community's poorest constituents. Thirdly, there may have been a notion that the (re)use of domestic objects within the mortuary landscape facilitated 'continuing bonds' ¹²⁷³ between the dead and those burying them, whereby the accompaniment of familiar objects with the deceased may have provided means to assuage the grief of family/community members by facilitating enduring material and corporeal connections. ¹²⁷⁴ Fourthly, as aforementioned, there may have been some symbolic associations between pots, wombs and eggs in ancient Egypt. As the symbols of life *par excellence*, it is hard to recommend a more fitting means to facilitate the transition into the afterlife.

Regardless of the myriad of potential motivations (either in isolation or combination)¹²⁷⁵ behind the transformation of pots into funerary containers, it is clear that their prior functions and sometimes incomplete state did not impede their cultural capacity for biographical transformation into perfect "ritual machines"¹²⁷⁶ that in themselves would recycle the deceased 1277 into an 3h: a transfigured and effective spirit in the afterlife. 1278

Strasser (1999: 22ff.); Rathje & Murphy (2001: 33, 191-192). For ethnographic analogies, see Hayden & Cannon (1983: 131-139); Horne (1983); Kamp (2000: 91, 92); Schwartz (2006: 151).

¹²⁶⁷ Staski & Sutro (1991: 3); Strasser (1999: 111ff.); Rathje & Murphy (2001: 52).

¹²⁶⁸ Lucas (2002: 16).

¹²⁶⁹ Rathje & Murphy (2001: 191-192).

¹²⁷⁰ Lucas (2002: 16).

¹²⁷¹ For ethnographic analogies, see Siegel & Roe (1986: 99, 100); Chang (1988: 152, 155).

¹²⁷² Petrie (1905: 38); Donadoni Roveri (1969: 38); Dzierzykray-Rogalski (1973: 242); Kroeper (1994: 31).

Klass et al. (1996); Walter (1996); Klass & Walters (2001); cf. Kroeper (1994: 31); Renfrew (2004: 29-30). Similarly, Goedicke (1971: 1-7) argues that stones reused from older temples complexes may have been selected for their "numinous" capabilities, as the symbolic association of their original functional context carried forth into the new structure.

¹²⁷⁴ Stevenson (2009a: 190).

¹²⁷⁵ Gosden & Marshall (1999: 172).

¹²⁷⁶ Willems (1988: 239); cf. Bourriau (1991: 5).

¹²⁷⁷ Willems (1988; 1996); Hornung (1992: 169); (Meskell 1999b: 121; 2001: 32).

¹²⁷⁸ Meskell (2002a: 179).

Indeed, such multiplicity in object manifestations and meanings harmonises well with Egyptian religious beliefs, where different correlations of phenomena were commonplace, and such differences did not compromise phenomenal coexistence. Theories which expand our understanding of the infinitely variable shifts and transformations within the functional and symbolic cultural biographies of objects stand to greatly enhance and expand engagements with all aspects of material culture in Egyptology. In the particular case of pot burials, it calls for a reversal of understanding: from refuse to rebirth. Despite the reticence of some scholars to acknowledge pot burials as 'coffins', the present study calls for their legitimation as authentic, culturally-situated, enduring funerary containers and as such, their rightful integration into Egyptian coffin typologies.

10.6.6 Gift Traditions

While studies of reuse and recycling as normative practice are emerging in Egyptology, ¹²⁸⁰ it appears that aspersions are only cast towards the behaviour when the instigators or recipients are children or the 'poor'. ¹²⁸¹ Similar ageist and elitist authorial biases may be observed when considering incidences of children buried in so-called 'adult' coffins. At best, such burials have been described by excavators as "erroneous", ¹²⁸² causing them to speculate that those orchestrating the burial made "mistakes" by placing children in coffins that were "intended for [someone else]". ¹²⁸⁴ At worst, some have interpreted such coffins as being "usurped" to accommodate the child's burial, seemingly endorsing Garstang's proclamation that "no coffin was ever made specially for a child". ¹²⁸⁶ As

¹²⁷⁹ Frankfort (1975: 21).

For the reuse of coffins and sarcophagi, see Dodson (1988; 1993); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 18); Manley & Dodson (2010: 41). For the reuse of tombs and construction materials, see Goedicke (1971: 1-7); Richards (1992: 56, 64); Meskell (2001: 35; 2002a: 206); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 6, 17-20); Grajetzki (2003: 103); Jeffreys (2003: 203); El-Khadragy (2006: 89-90); Ockinga (2007). For the reuse of domestic space, see Hope et al. (2010: 26, 29, 32, 38). For the reuse of objects, see Stevenson (2009a: 189-191). For the reuse of royal sculpture, see Tait (2003: 11-12); Wildung (2003: 64-65). For the recirculation of objects stolen from graves, see Griswold (1992: 222); Savage (1997: 253-254).

Apart from pots, scholars note that several of the wooden 'coffins' used for juvenile burials also had prior use in domestic contexts; see Petrie (1890: 24); Brunton (1927a: 27); Petrie (2000: Kafr Tarkhan Sheet 17, Grave 509D); Meskell (2002a: 82); Grajetzki (2004a: 47). Within the present study's dataset, see DRNs 50, 52, 236, 237, 357, 372, 461, 495, 513, 945, 1386 and 1387 for examples of wooden 'boxes' used as funerary containers for CIFBs. Spieser (2008: 502) also notes the reuse of domestic baskets and reed containers as 'coffins'.

¹²⁸² See DRN 537; Kanawati (1993a: 86).

¹²⁸³ Kanawati (1993a: 86).

Picton & Pridden (2008: 123); see DRN 1427. Cf. Grajetzki (2004b: 40), who states that the coffin featured in DRN 60, the multiple burial of a child of unknown age and an adult female in the Middle Kingdom cemetery of Harageh on the West Bank of Middle Egypt, was "much too big for the child", so "it seems plausible that it was reused". Grajetzki does not identify this interment as a multiple burial.

¹²⁸⁵ Tooley (1991: 106).

¹²⁸⁶ Garstang (1907a: 183).

described in Chapter 9 of this thesis, within these configurations children are seen as cultural stowaways or parasites, ¹²⁸⁷ not as individuals whose social position, value and agency would entitle them to 'own' such 'adult' possessions.

There are also manifold examples of adult bodies in the 'wrong coffins'. While there certainly may have been isolated incidences of misplacement, the practice is too widespread, and the implications too dire to dismiss it merely as error. Such interpretations do not appear to consider the concept of 'the gift', a subject of extensive anthropological, ethnographic and archaeological research since Mauss' seminal publication on the nature and motives for exchange in archaic societies. The specific context of CIFBs provides an apposite forum to consider gift traditions, as many individuals within this demographic segment (especially those at the younger end of the spectrum) would not have had the means to generate an independent income and would not have been in the position to fund or facilitate their own burials. Children may also have been recipients of heirlooms, another form of cultural gift. 1290

It is appropriate to consider the role of gift traditions within this thesis' broader proposition that the purpose of funerary rituals was to transmit and transfer cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity within familial/community networks, while reconfiguring and reinforcing specific intersubjective relationships during the processes of individual and collective grieving for the deceased's physical removal from broader social networks. The essence of gift giving aligns with the purpose of the funerary ritual. It is actively concerned with the production of sociability and the maintenance of connections between giver/s and receiver/s, and establishes mutual identity configurations within social networks. ¹²⁹¹ Gosden and Marshall contrast the capacity of gifts to create and maintain bonds between givers and receivers in traditional societies, as opposed to the relative economic and social alienability of commodities in Western society. ¹²⁹² In this way, a gifted object, such as a coffin, can accumulate layers of meaning within the ritual context of burial. Not only does it facilitate the deceased's transition into an effective spirit, it is also imbued with social, economic and political agency and significance as it creates continuing bonds between the giver and the deceased which last beyond the grave. It further cements ties between the

¹²⁸⁷ See §9.1.1.

¹²⁸⁸ For example, see Andrews (1998: 55, fig.50).

¹²⁸⁹ Mauss (1990); cf. Stevenson (2009a: 181).

¹²⁹⁰ For discussion of heirlooms in Egypt, see Jeffreys (2003).

Mauss (1990: 5, 20); Walter (2007: 124); Stevenson (2009a: 181).
 Gosden & Marshall (1999); cf. Appadurai (1986: 11-12); Wengrow (2006: 165, 187); Stevenson (2009b: 160-161).

giver and the deceased's family members, who are the effective cultural recipients of the gift. Even if a coffin was originally created for another individual, it is plausible to suggest that they may have been offered as gifts to bereaved family members. Especially in the context of the sudden death of a beloved child, what greater gift could one's friends or associates offer than their own coffin – the very means of transition to the afterlife.

Parker Pearson's 1293 suggestion that mourners of high office or wealth may have bestowed gifts in funerary contexts is met with inestimable evidence in Egyptian archaeology. Htp-inscription in funerary contexts¹²⁹⁴ – frequently on coffins – at least two of which feature within this dataset. 1295 The location of the king as a literal or metaphorical benefactor in this mode of gift provision suggests that he, too, was imbricated in the purpose of the burial ritual: 1296 the transmission and transference of cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity, and the reconfiguration and reinforcement of relationships during the process of grief. Indeed, as the intermediary between humans and the gods, the key role of the pharaoh was to reinstate and maintain order - ma'at - when any form of disorder, including death, prevailed upon his subjects. 1297 Further to this, in alignment with arguments offered in Chapter 8, it is plausible that individuals from all socio-economic strata¹²⁹⁸ may have acted as benefactors in accordance with the social, political and religious obligations of the redistributive economy. 1299 Especially in the funerary context, the provision of food, clothing, burial, a boat and a landing place to those of lesser means were key elements in Egyptian morality and essential to the performance of ma'at. 1300 Considering the present study's finding of ontological equity between children and adults during the timeframes canvassed by this research, there seems little reason to doubt that children were also imbricated in these benefaction networks.

¹²⁹³ Parker Pearson (2003: 84, 90); cf. Griswold (1992: 222).

¹²⁹⁴ Strudwick (2005: 31).

See DRN 49, 537. Further incidences may include DRNs 42, 1397 and 1427, however the text is either not explicitly reported, or it is too degraded to decipher.

¹²⁹⁶ Baines (1991: 128-129); Strudwick (2005: 31).

¹²⁹⁷ Trigger (1979: 44); Baines (1991: 124, 128).

¹²⁹⁸ Griswold (1992: 222).

^{§8.5.2.2.} Cf. Mauss (1990: 18).

¹³⁰⁰ Lichtheim (1988: 6-7); Baines (1991: 140); Strudwick (2005: 43, 45). For example, see the Old Kingdom inscriptions of Nefer-Seshem-Re called Sheshi and Harkhuf: Lichtheim (1975: 17, 23), and Oar: Simpson (2003: 413); the Middle Kingdom inscription of the butler Merer: Lichtheim (1975: 87)

10.7 Differential Burial Practices

As outlined in the literature review of Chapter 2, one of the most enduring assumptions regarding Egyptian CIFBs is that they are generally absent from cemeteries. hypothesis precipitates from authors' assumptions that children were not considered embodied members of the community and were therefore subject to differential burial practices, namely interment in settlements as opposed to communal cemeteries. The present study now seeks to investigate whether such "differential modes of disposal" 1301 should be perceived as cultural exclusion, or whether alternative interpretative frameworks may be proffered for this facet of Egyptian mortuary behaviour. To explore these issues, data derived from the archaeological survey may be framed within the broader context of diachronic Egyptian mortuary practices, and tempered via perspectives gleaned from ethnographic evidence across temporal and geographical contexts. Further to this, the present study questions the extent to which stratigraphic evidence has been (mis)used to create apocryphal accounts of settlement burial phenomena and construct polarised notions of the Egyptian mortuary landscape. By investigating the aetiology of this enigmatic aspect of mortuary behaviour, the present study seeks to determine the extent to which biases towards settlement burial may have contributed to current (mis)conceptions of CIFs as personae non gratae in ancient Egypt.

10.7.1 Settlement Burials

For the purposes of this study, an authentic 'settlement burial' is considered a primary inhumation of a deceased individual within an occupation layer of a domestic locus. Settlement burials have been observed amongst the archaeological record of various cultures across Europe and the Near East since the Palaeolithic era. In an attempt to explain this phenomenon, Binford states in his cross-cultural survey that age commonly determines grave location. Specifically, he reports that in many traditional societies, children are frequently buried outside communities' public life-spaces, either under the house in private familial space, or beyond settlement boundaries. In contrast, he states that adults tend to be buried within the realm of the public life-space, such as the communal cemetery. To explain this pattern, Binford suggests that in these societies a

¹³⁰¹ Richards (2005: 66).

See § 2.3, fn. 112. Following El-Shohoumi (2004: 56, 157), Zillhardt (2009: 70) notes that settlement burial is still practised in Egypt today.

¹³⁰³ Binford (1971: 21-22); cf. Alekshin (1983: 140).

For example, the *cillini* of Ireland: separate burial grounds for unbaptised infants and children utilised from the Medieval period through to the 21st Century; Finlay (2000:408-409).

child has relatively few relationships outside of the immediate family. Consequently, a child's death does not affect the larger society or require its ritual involvement. By contrast, the death of an adult, who through life has accrued social relationships, rights and duties, requires wider community involvement, symbolised by their burial within the public life-space. Carr goes beyond these claims to suggest that these kinds of differential burials may even represent a difference in beliefs regarding the nature of the juvenile deceased's afterlife. 1305

In agreement with Binford's and Carr's theories, Richards, ¹³⁰⁶ Baines and Lacovara ¹³⁰⁷ and Strouhal ¹³⁰⁸ propose that CIFs interred in Egyptian settlement contexts are deliberately excluded from burial in communal cemeteries because they have not yet attained 'personhood'. The literature review of Chapter 2 suggested that Petrie's authoritative and derisive opinion towards infant settlement burials as evidence of foreign influence may have instigated these now-prevailing scholarly attitudes towards this facet of mortuary behaviour. ¹³⁰⁹ This may have been fuelled by further assumptions that traditional societies with high levels of child and infant mortality might be expected to display a disassociated attitude towards children due to the improbability of their survival, with the small amount of time before their death not allowing them to become attached to their offspring. ¹³¹⁰ As a result, settlement burials are thought of as clandestine, perfunctory means to dispose of unviable progeny, or as foundation deposits. ¹³¹¹ To date, however, there has been little research in Egyptology to explore the anthropological, philosophical or religious dimensions of this practice, with Kemp stating that "there seems to be no need to find some special religious theory to explain it". ¹³¹²

10.7.2 Incidence

As detailed in §10.1.1, above, the present study's archaeological survey found that the clear majority of published CIFBs from the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods pertain to communal cemetery contexts, problematising theories of spatial exclusion and indicating that settlement burial was the exception, rather than the rule. Moreover, the great

¹³⁰⁵ Carr (1995: 156, 184, 188-194).

¹³⁰⁶ Richards (2005).

¹³⁰⁷ Baines & Lacovara (2002).

¹³⁰⁸ Strouhal (1992).

¹³⁰⁹ See §2.3.

¹³¹⁰ cf. Hertz (1960: 76); Heer (1968: 454).

¹³¹¹ Crawford (2008: 201).

¹³¹² Kemp (1968: 28).

similarity between CIF and adult mortuary culture suggests that there was ontological equity between these groups, refuting the aforementioned hypotheses of cultural ostracism and disembodiment, and determining that CIFs were indeed fully integrated members of their communities with equal cultural capacities to adults.

Notwithstanding these outcomes, the fact remains that some of the juveniles who died during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods do appear to have been treated 'differently'; but how differently? The archaeological survey identified 54 (3.00% TBs) incidences of juvenile settlement burial in 11 sites (4.60% total sites) during the timeframe canvassed by this research. While the under-representation of settlement archaeology is rightfully noted in Egyptology, 1313 the present study is disinclined to accept that this factor profoundly affects our understanding of the settlement burial phenomenon. As noted in Chapter 3, 28 settlement sites examined by the archaeological survey bore no published evidence of burials whatsoever, 1314 implying that intra-mural interment may not have been comprehensively practised during Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom eras. paribus, the sample obtained by the present study would thus appear to be representative of this aspect of Egyptian mortuary behaviour during these cultural phases. As detailed in Chapter 3, the majority of published settlement burials examined by this study were attributed to the Middle Kingdom Period, followed by the Old Kingdom, First Intermediate and Early Dynastic Periods. 1315 Infants were the most frequently observed age group in such contexts, followed by Foetuses and Young Children. No Older Children were identified amongst published settlement burials. The absence of Older Children may represent a legitimate finding. However, this author is reluctant to apportion it too much significance, particularly considering that adult settlement burials were anecdotally observed in 13 published sites, 1316 mirroring the broad demographic attestations of this phenomenon across cultures. 1317 Therefore, age does not appear to be the definitive point of 'difference' in selecting this form of burial.

As discussed in Chapter 9, of the 54 CIFs in the sample that were buried in settlements, 14 individuals were furnished with 143 grave goods. This produces a mean provision rate of 10.21 objects per furnished burial, almost double the mean provision rate for cemeteries (\bar{x}

¹³¹³ See §1.1; cf. Lewis (2002: 32); Perry (2006: 90).

¹³¹⁴ See §3.4.2.4.

¹³¹⁵ See §3.4.2.5.

¹³¹⁶ See §3.4.2.4.

¹³¹⁷ See §3.4.2.4, fn. 354.

5.61/FB). While a narrower range of object categories were identified in settlement burials than those in cemeteries, this does not constitute an ontological difference; rather, it is a matter of scale. In the particular case of settlement burials, it has been suggested that the inclusion of grave goods was actually a symbol of effusive care, as the deceased already had everything required for the afterlife at their disposal within their earthly home. This theory has some credibility, considering that the Egyptian word for tomb or grave was probable probable, "house of eternity".

The evidence may also be considered in alignment with Hertz's middle-range theory, whereby the fate of the body is used as a metaphor for the fate of the soul. 1320 Each of the settlement burials encountered in this database appear to have been carried out with the greatest care, 1321 variably including wooden, ceramic vessel and basketry coffins, 1322 wrapping in reed matting and textile, 1323 and bedding in/on reeds and ash. 1324 The latter finding is particularly significant as ash is thought to have been used as an insecticide in ancient Egypt, suggesting that attempts were made to postpone the (inevitable) effects of decomposition. 1325 Each of the preceding points of evidence, in isolation and combination, infer that no overt cultural 'differences' exist between settlement and cemetery burials. Material remnants from both contexts indicate that either were eligible to host the burial ritual. Both cemetery and settlement burials bear all the hallmarks of the performance of Egyptian funerary identity, which served to facilitate deceased children's transition to the afterlife in exactly the same manner as it did for adults. These findings refute Binford's claims regarding the absence of ritual from children's burials, 1326 as well as Carr's speculations regarding the differential nature of children's afterlife entitlements.

10.7.3 Aetiology

In light of the present study's inability to attribute the 'difference' of settlement burials to either the age of occupants or funerary ritual, we now seek to explore the aetiology of the

¹³¹⁸ See §9.2.5.

¹³¹⁹ Midant-Reynes (2000: 116); cf. Naumov (2007: 267).

¹³²⁰ Hertz (1907); cited in Carr (1995: 193).

¹³²¹ Kus (1992: 172); Szpakowska (2008: 33).

¹³²² See §6.7.

¹³²³ See §6.2.

¹³²⁴ See 86.3.

Miller (1987: 14ff.). See DRNs 104, 106, 107, 348, 353. Meskell (1999b: 121) discusses how spells from the *Coffin Texts* and the *Book of the Dead* were invoked to maintain the transitional state of the body, as there was great concern over the corpse's loss of integrity through the invasion of maggots and other insects. For the use of ash as a disinfectant and protection against insects, see Miller (1987: 14ff).

¹³²⁶ Ucko (1969: 264).

practice to ascertain if the 'difference' lies therein. One of the major, over-arching theories of Egyptology is the claim to almost unwavering intra-cultural stability. Innumerable tombs, texts, artefacts and human remains confirm the enduring nature of this civilisation's social and mortuary practices over millennia. It appears that the practice of Egyptian settlement burial also conforms to this paradigm, and may even predate pharaonic civilisation itself.

Indeed, it is somewhat difficult to determine the precise chronological origin of this phenomenon, in light of the ethereal archaeological evidence for Egyptian prehistoric habitation patterns. Some excavators suggest that several of the earliest human burials in Egypt may be thought of as 'settlement burials', including the African Upper/Final Palaeolithic (ca. 30,000-20,000 BP) burials at Wadi Kubaniya, 1328 Wadi Halfa. 1329 Tushka¹³³⁰ and Esna, ¹³³¹ where it is reported that "bodies were placed in shallow pits in the occupation area[s]."1332 In her comprehensive treatment of Egyptian pre-protohistoric culture. Midant-Reynes also describes a Mesolithic settlement burial at the site known as E29-G1 (between Qasr el-Sagha and Kom Ausim (Letopolis); ca. 9,000-8,000 BP). 1333 However, other scholars argue that these early sites are better interpreted as transitional 'camps', as opposed to permanent 'settlements'. 1334 As such, it becomes difficult to determine whether burials found in such locations were synchronic with ongoing habitation in these areas. They argue that permanent settlements are not attested in Egypt until the Neolithic Period (ca. 5,000-4,000 BC). Even if one defers to these more conservative chronological estimates, arguments regarding the antiquity of settlement burial as a cultural practice still stand, as intra-mural interments have been reported for the Neolithic to Predynastic sites of Merimde Beni Salame (ca. 5,000-4,400 BP), 1335 el-Omari (ca. 4,500-4,000), ¹³³⁶ el-Badari (ca. 4,400-3,800 BP), ¹³³⁷ Nagada (ca. 4,000-3,500 BP), ¹³³⁸ Adaima (ca. 4,000-3,000 BP), ¹³³⁹ and Maadi (ca. 3,800-3,500 BP). ¹³⁴⁰ To this list, one may

¹³²⁷ Wenke (1997: 117).

¹³²⁸ Wendorf & Schild (1986: vii, 1, 74); Midant-Reynes (2000: 51).

¹³²⁹ Greene & Armelagos (1972); Wendorf & Schild (1986: 74).

¹³³⁰ Wendorf (1968); Wendorf & Schild (1986: 74).

¹³³¹ Butler (1974); Wendorf & Schild (1986: 74); Midant-Reynes (2000: 65-66).

¹³³² Wendorf & Schild (1986: 74).

¹³³³ Midant-Reynes (2000: 82); cf. Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 36).

¹³³⁴ McDonald (2009: 5, 37-38).

¹³³⁵ Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 38-39); Midant-Reynes (2000: 116-117).

¹³³⁶ Debono & Mortensen (1990: pl. 28.1); Midant-Reynes (2000: 116-117).

¹³³⁷ Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 46); Holmes & Friedman (1994: 110); Hendrickx & Vermeersch (2000: 40); Midant-Reynes (2000: 152-153).

¹³³⁸ Petrie & Quibell (1896: 1-2); Midant-Reynes (2000: 187-199).

¹³³⁹ Midant-Reynes & Buchez (2002: 71ff.).

also add purported settlement burials in Predynastic el-Hemmamiya.¹³⁴¹ It is important to note that communal cemeteries also emerged in during the Neolithic to Predynastic era. Following this line of evidence, it may be argued that Egyptian settlement and cemetery burials co-evolved.

Perhaps the most significant finding to arise from pre-protohistoric settlement burial data is its broad demographic profile. As noted in Chapters 2 and 3,¹³⁴² adult males, females, children and infants were all interred in settlements since the Neolithic Period, indicating that the origins of this practice included all community members, not just its youngest constituents. Furthermore, grave goods were distributed amongst all population members, across all periods in both settlement and cemetery contexts. While some children were certainly interred without funerary offerings, it must be noted that this is equally the case for adults as well. The egalitarian nature of prehistoric mortuary data provides diachronic evidence that complements and extends the present study's finding that CIFs were fully integrated members of their communities, even in the most ancient times.

A crucial transition is nonetheless detected in the mortuary behaviour of the Egyptian Predynastic Period (ca. 4,000-3,300 BC). Here, the settlements of el-Badari, Naqada and Adaima began to almost exclusively feature CIFBs, with adults (and other CIFs) being interred in contemporary communal cemeteries. Adult skeletal remains continue to be recovered from prehistoric settlement contexts, albeit on a more infrequent basis. He fourth millennium BP was a cathartic period for ancient Egyptian civilisation, with social and ideological upheavals leading to the formation of the Egyptian state in approximately 3,300 BP. Scholars such as O'Connor have suggested that these burgeoning social processes were undoubtedly related to a population explosion. He present study suggests that the exponential population growth around this time may have provided impetus for shifts in social, economic, political and religious behaviour, including mortuary practices. Even from a pragmatic perspective, it is possible that communities simply outgrew the practice of interring both adults and children within the confines of the settlement, with space and hygiene restrictions limiting the practice, generally speaking, to

¹³⁴⁰ Menghin (1932: 109); Menghin & Amer (1936: 24-25); Midant-Reynes (2000: 187-199).

¹³⁴¹ Brunton & Caton-Thompson (1928: 44).

¹³⁴² See §§2.3, 3.4.2.4.

¹³⁴³ Chronology follows Hendrickx (2006: 92).

¹³⁴⁴ For example, Maadi, ca. 3,800–3,500 BP; Midant Reynes (2000: 210-216).

¹³⁴⁵ Midant-Reynes (2000: 256).

¹³⁴⁶ O'Connor (1995); contra Patch (1991: 359; 2004: 914).

the youngest (hence, the smallest) members of the group. This 'settlement-to-cemetery' burial shift has also been noted in other cultures, arguably for the same reasons, during the same chronological era. This is a radical modification of the current disciplinary position of child and infant exclusion from cemeteries. On the contrary, it appears that it was adults who began to be generally 'excluded' from the ancient practice of settlement burial from the Predynastic period onwards.

Following the Predynastic shift in mortuary behaviour, CIF settlement burials continued as a culturally-invested practice. The present study attests to their appearance up until the end of the Middle Kingdom, and anecdotal evidence indicates that they continued through the New Kingdom until the present day in unparalleled acts of cultural continuity that traverse deep time. From this perspective, CIF settlement burials can be mobilised as a rare opportunity to explore Egyptian socio-cultural reproduction, as well as socio-cultural continuity and change. Scholars such as Lillie have argued that diachronic burial practices should increase the visibility of archaeological cultures via the constancy of meaning over time and place. In Ironically, in the case of Egyptian CIF settlement burials, misunderstandings of their duration and significance have relegated them to the realms of invisibility and insignificance.

10.7.4 Choice?

The aforementioned attestations of CIFBs in contemporary cemeteries and settlements during the Neolithic to Predynastic Periods can be extended by the present study. As described in Chapter 3, synchronic intra- and extra-mural interments were observed at Giza (Old Kingdom), Tell el-Rub'a (Mendes) (First Intermediate Period), Tell Basta (Bubastis), Lahun/Kahun, el-Lisht and Abydos (Middle Kingdom). These findings suggest that there may have been an element of choice for parents/carers regarding the interment

¹³⁴⁷ Contra Parker Pearson (2003: 140), who argues that the placement of the dead is not a matter of functional expediency; cf. Panelli (2004) who argues that spatial shifts in interment locations reflect shifting perceptions of social geography from personal to communal and from family to group; Hopwood (2008: 113, 118-120).

¹³⁴⁸ Chapman (2000: 189); Andrews & Bello (2006: 15); Kogălniceanu (2008: 107).

¹³⁴⁹ Midant-Reynes (2000: 217-218).

Examples of New Kingdom settlement burials include el-Amarna: Peet & Woolley (1923: 17); Deir el-Medina: Bruyère (1937: 271), Hermopolis: Roeder (1959: 209, a 'mother and child' were also buried in this context), and Tell Basta (Bubastis): Farid (1964: 95ff.).

¹³⁵¹ Cowgill (2000: 52); DeMarrais (2004: 20).

¹³⁵² van Rossenberg (2008: 170).

¹³⁵³ Lillie (2008: 35); cf. Orelle (2008: 72).

¹³⁵⁴ See §3.4.5.2.

location of their deceased offspring. As aforementioned, there appears to be little differentiation in terms of bodily treatment and grave good provision between settlement and cemetery burials. Unfortunately, the present study is unable to comment regarding skeletal data at this stage, as detailed reports are absent from all settlement burial publications with the notable exception of von Pilgrim's work at Elephantine. Although von Pilgrim presents intriguing male mortality sex-ratios, interpretations of sex-based practice in the absence of comparative data would only amount to an *argumentum e silentio*. Therefore, as location is the only tangible difference between these burials, it can only be said that hitherto unknown factors must have led parents/carers to choose either settlement or cemetery as a preferred place of interment.

Theoretical archaeologists have wrangled with the concepts of "choice" and "agency" since the introduction of New Archaeological epistemologies in the 1960s. A review of the vast corpus of literature pertaining to agency in archaeology is beyond the scope of this thesis and has been achieved elsewhere. However, the present study acknowledges the importance of including analyses of 'variation' in any encounter with the archaeological record, such as that which exists between settlement and cemetery burials. As observed by Shackel, variation indicates the existence of viable choices for individual social actors, 1359 or as phrased by Clark, "the ability to have done otherwise". Variation also provides archaeologists with an opportunity to gauge the degree of social conformity observed by past societies. 1361

In light of ethnographic parallels, the present study suggests that Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom parents/carers may have chosen to bury their children either within the confines of their home or settlement for several reasons. Being small and shallow in structure, CIF graves are especially susceptible to exploitation by scavengers. To witness the exhumation of a child's grave by carnivores, such as common Egyptian jackals and foxes, would have been traumatic for parents/carers and indeed, the greater community. In some cultures, such posthumous re-emergences have led to superstitions associating recently deceased CIFs with

1355 Lucy (1994: 24).

von Pilgrim (1996); skeletal analysis was carried out by Prof. Michael Schultz, Zentrum Anatomie, Georg-August-Universität, Göttingen.

Contra Szpakowska (2008: 42, fn. 79), who interprets this data as indicative that male infants were specifically selected to be buried close to home.

¹³⁵⁸ See Shanks & Tilley (1987); Brumfiel (2000); Dobres & Robb (2000); Trigger (2006: 468-470).

¹³⁵⁹ Shackel (2000: 234).

¹³⁶⁰ Clark (2000: 107).

¹³⁶¹ Brumfiel (2000: 253).

¹³⁶² Barber (1988); Crawford (1993; 1999: 85).

revenantism.¹³⁶³ Interring the child close to or within the home would have enabled the parents/carers and community to safeguard the burial against animal intervention.

Some scholars consider that settlement burial may have provided a less-expensive option to cemetery interment for families of lower socio-economic status. 1364 However, ethnographic evidence indicates that burials in domestic contexts are not necessarily economically motivated, rather indicating that the parents were reluctant to be separated from their deceased child. 1365 This theory is supported by the appearance of grave markers in some settlement burials, 1366 indicating a desire to return to the grave for commemoration and to maintain bonds between the deceased child and members of the household. 1367 Moreover, the higher mean provision rate of grave goods in settlement burials versus those in cemeteries suggests that economic factors were not the key impetus for these interments. The child burials under the floor of the Middle Kingdom Palace at Tell Basta (Bubastis), 1368 as well as those in the palatial 'elite' Middle Kingdom houses at Kahun further indicate that settlement burials were not the preserve of the poor. 1369 The find context and pharaonic insignia associated with the Tell Basta palace burials provide strong evidence that they were utilised by both royal and non-royal individuals. 1370 Pinch has suggested that settlement burials may be interpreted as a specific cultural practice irrespective of socio-economic status, whereby the interment represents the mother's desire for the soul of the deceased child to return to her in the form of another pregnancy. 1371 Extending the present study's claims regarding cultural continuity, Bowen notes that the "pharaonic" 1372 practice of settlement burial continued into the Christian era, with the burial of a 2 year old child observed in the wall of a house at Kellis in the Dakhla Oasis. It has even been proposed that this tradition has survived into modern times, as an expression

¹³⁶³ Barber (1988); Crawford (1993; 1999: 84ff.).

¹³⁶⁴ Gobeil (2009: 169); Zillhardt (2009: 92). For Anglo-Saxon Britain: Crawford (2008: 198).

Golden (1990); Marlow (2001: 107). Parker Pearson (2003: 89) argues that in some cultures, settlement burial is a marker of elite status. Naumov (2007: 257) also argues that settlement burials were markers of "privileged individuals" in the Neolithic Balkans.

¹³⁶⁶ See DRNs 107, 110; §7.2.3. Grave markers were also noted in infant settlement burials in Early Bronze Age Tell Yunatsite, Bulgaria; Mishina (2008: 141).

¹³⁶⁷ Hopwood (2008: 116); Tibbetts (2008: 193).

¹³⁶⁸ See DRN 1420; §3.4.2.4.

¹³⁶⁹ See DRNs 52, 53; cf. O'Connor (1997b); Quirke (2005: 102); Richards (2005: 170); Szpakowska (2008: 33).

¹³⁷⁰ See GGRNs 2861-2862.

¹³⁷¹ Pinch (1994: 132); cf. Tibbetts (2008: 193).

Bowen (2003: 85); cf. Marlow (2001: 108). Hope (1999: 62) states that an exact date for this burial cannot be determined, but estimates that it may have taken place during the Second Century AD.

of Egyptian women's beliefs that the practice facilitates future births.¹³⁷³ At Çatalhöyük, the Anatolian Neolithic settlement site in Turkey, settlement burials are interpreted as indications of the importance of ancestry and kinship lineages, with children especially selected to play an integral role in maintaining connections to the ancestors, creating sacred spaces and facilitating communication with the supernatural world.¹³⁷⁴

One should not speculate as to which of the preceding factors were most influential for ancient Egyptian parents/carers when choosing a burial location for their child. Indeed, it is highly probable that there may have been other factors at play than those proposed here. Nevertheless, the present study is steadfast in its refutation of Binford's thesis that mortuary behaviour is merely a passive, mindless, mechanical reflection of social organisation. Following Carr, the variety observed in ancient mortuary practices, such as settlement burial, should be viewed as the manifestation of active social and philosophical choices and strategies, which comprise the dynamics of social relations and organisation and are made relative to beliefs. Carr explains that there is no such thing as a comprehensive mortuary practice in any society, including Egypt. Variations, such as CIF (and adult) burials under house floors or within the bounds of settlements, are completely 'normal', and should be viewed in context as a singular element within an overall spectrum of mortuary culture.

While these individuals may have been afforded 'differential' mortuary treatment from the rest of the community, here, 'different' need not necessarily imply 'better' or 'worse', only 'different'. As stated, variability is 'normative' within funerary culture, and should not indicate a divorce from communal afterlife beliefs or entitlements. Settlement burials are not cases of careless or shamed people dumping their unwanted, unembodied children into clandestine holes in the ground. The evidence suggests that these are powerful manifestations of care and grief, situating the participants in acts of cultural continuity that span millennia. Familial memory is constructed as parents/carers display their reluctance

Moses (2008: 47); Hodder & Cessford (2004). Szpakowska (2008: 34) suggest that this belief may have also been applicable in ancient Egypt.

Menghin & Amer (1936: 25); Blackman (1968: 101); Watterson (1991: 92); Meskell (1994: 40); cf.
 Wileman (2005: 79). Also observed in ethnographic studies in Cameroon: David (1992: 188-189).

¹³⁷⁵ Carr (1995: 111); cf. Willems et al. (2004: 244) regarding the capacity for the residents of el-Ashmunein (Hermopolis Magna) during the First Intermediate Period-Middle Kingdom to 'choose' their burial location: in the town, desert plain, or high in the cliffs.

¹³⁷⁶ See Robb (2007: 287).

¹³⁷⁷ Meskell (1999a: 199; 2002a: 82); Willems (2001b: vii).

¹³⁷⁸ Ucko (1969: 273-274); Meskell (1999b: 159).

to be separated from cherished children. Cultural memory is perpetuated as the diachronic practice of settlement burial articulates domestic and funerary spheres within the broader mortuary landscape. The deep antiquity of intra-mural burial calls for a recalibration of current sensibilities which spatially and philosophically construct settlements as categorically secular and domestic in nature. If we hope to detect more complex patterns of ritual and ideology in Egyptian mortuary behaviour, we must move beyond Petrie's perpetuated Victorian sensibilities of abhorrence regarding this category of burial which echo in our discipline, towards the inclusion of modern social and mortuary theories which seek to identify, interpret and integrate mortuary variability. Only then will we be able to include all mortuary evidence and obtain a deeper, richer, more contextualised understanding of the spectrum of ancient Egyptian social, familial and funerary practices.

10.7.5 Stratigraphy

Accessing the true incidence rate of settlement burial is by no means straightforward. It is frequently reported that some of the most widely-publicised intra-mural interments – including Merimde Beni Salame and el-Omari – were actually not 'authentic' settlement burials at all, insofar as they were interred into pre-existing occupation layers after they had been abandoned. Certainly, identification of each burial's accurate depositional context is paramount in archaeological praxes. Should such interments be determined as having been placed in antecedent domestic stratigraphy, their interpretation may subtlety differ from those interred within the confines of an inhabited community. Here, the present study may turn to the arguments posed in Chapter 8 of this thesis, whereby individuals may

¹³⁷⁹ Scott (1999: 107-108). Retaining deceased children in familial space is given increased temporal significance according to Kóthay's (2002: 354) argument that houses were part of inheritance structures, passed down through the family over time.

¹³⁸⁰ Weinstein (1973: 437); Chapman (2000: 189); van Rossenberg (2008).

¹³⁸¹ Crawford (2008: 200). Harrington (2005: 79) writes persuasively about the evidence for religious activities in the form of ancestor cults in the New Kingdom settlement at Deir el-Medina. Following Pinch (1993: 219), Harrington argues that the ancestor busts found in domestic contexts may have had apotropaic qualities and served to protect women and children during pregnancy in a manner similar to the iconography of Bes. She further argues that ancestor busts may have helped ensure that children would continue to be born into the family. Cf. Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 5).

¹³⁸² Petrie (1890: 24).

¹³⁸³ Carr (1995: 7).

Kemp (1968: 26); Bard (1994:22); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 14); cf. Arnold (1996: 17, fn. 24, 19) for comments regarding the stratigraphy of the settlement burials at Lisht-North; Petrie (1905: 3) for comments regarding interments in deserted houses at Ehnasya el-Medina; and Quirke (2005: 102) and Szpakowska (2008: 42, fn. 78) for comments regarding the Elephantine juvenile interments as a postabandonment context. On the other hand, Quirke also tables evidence which suggests that the town of Kahun was occupied at the time that the New Kingdom adult burials described by Petrie (1890: 44) occurred.

have sought to inter their deceased family/community members within a systemic context of particular meaning or relevance to their group. 1385

Nevertheless, these 'pseudo-settlement' burials serve as an excellent heuristic device: firstly, to illustrate the vast spectrum of Egyptian mortuary behaviour; and secondly, to highlight yet another example of authorial bias. They demonstrate a common tendency within archaeology to only include cemetery populations in ancient demographic and cultural profiles, excluding all those who, for whatever reason, were interred in other ways and places, ¹³⁸⁶ thereby semantically relegating them as 'deviant' burials. ¹³⁸⁷ Considering these burials bear all the hallmarks of Egyptian funerary identity, the present study questions why they should be perceived as evidence of 'exclusion'. To do so appears to be forcing the archaeological record to conform to our modern Western notions of 'appropriate' mortuary behaviour. 1388 It is apocryphal to infer that only cemetery burials were important, when we have no evidence to suggest that those buried outside such contexts were not equally as 'important' in other respects. 1389 By assuming only one inhumation type – for example, cemetery burial - was culturally sanctioned in ancient Egypt, 1390 we may be seriously compromising the accuracy of our reconstructions of the past. 1391 Moreover, it must be reemphasised that children were not the only demographic category to be interred in extramural contexts. The evidence cited above, as well as reported under-representations of adults from some cemetery contexts indicates that factors other than age may have determined one's final burial place. In this way, perhaps we should think of pseudo-

¹³⁸⁵ See §8.5.2.2.

The under-representation of adults in cemeteries such as Predynastic Armant has caused Bard (1994: 69, cf. 77, 97-98) to acknowledge that Egyptian mortuary practices must have included interments in a variety of locations.

¹³⁸⁷ Laneri (2007: 9).

¹³⁸⁸ Weiss-Krejci (2011: 68).

¹³⁸⁹ Garwood (2007: 65).

¹³⁹⁰ For example, see Anderson (1992: 51-52); Richards (1992: 77); Seeher (1992).

¹³⁹¹ Roth (1993: 33-34); Weiss-Krejci (2011: 68).

For example, see Kaiser (1985: 52) for the under-representation of adult females in the Early Dynastic cult district of King Den at Saqqara. Kemp (1968: 26) suggests that adult males were under-represented in the Predynastic cemetery of Merimde Beni Salame. Mortensen (1991: 19) relays the under-representation of adult females in the Protodynastic cemeteries of Abydos, Saqqara and Nazlet Kafr Batran. Morris (2007: 26) describes the under-representation of adult women in the Early Dynastic cemetery of Wadi Abusir, West of the Djoser complex at Saqqara. Patch (2007: 250) describes the under-representation of adult males in the Third Intermediate Period Site 8 cemetery of Abydos. Rose et al. (2008: 983-984) state that children are under-represented (Σ=7; 35.00% TBs) in the First Intermediate-Middle Kingdom Period cemeteries at Tell Ibrahim Awad, citing this as evidence that children "were buried elsewhere". However, their claims are based on an extremely small cemetery sample (N=20). Taken at face value, the sample published by Rose et al. actually comfortably falls within the 'normal' child mortality range of 20-56 percent for pre-industrial societies, described by Hewlett (1991: 8). Moreover, they do not apply the same under-representation logic to the small adult population (Σ=13; 65.00%), demonstrating how ontological approaches to archaeological evidence often diverge according to age.

settlement burials less as examples of 'exclusion', rather as evidence for 'inclusion' within yet another facet of the broader Egyptian mortuary landscape.

There is increasing awareness among archaeologists and anthropologists of other disciplines that interment possibilities were not restricted to cemeteries. Symbolic locations for the interment of the dead may have equally occurred across the landscape. 1393 Even apart from symbolism, one may also consider the pragmatic aspects of living and dying within a geographically-restricted space. For a variety of reasons, a community's functional landscape requirements may change over time. Due to population growth or shrinkage, modifications of subsistence strategies, disrepair, ecological or climate changes, et cetera, there may be synchronic and diachronic flux in the articulation of spaces respectively occupied by the living and the dead. 1394 In a similar manner to Appadurai and Kopytoff's cultural biographies of objects, Kamp acknowledges that the landscape may also experience functional and/or conceptual transformation processes during its use-In this way, understanding the oft-attested shift from settlement-to-cemetery becomes much clearer in Egyptian archaeological contexts. 1396 To illustrate this point, Holmes and Friedman suggest that settlement-to-cemetery shifts may have occurred at the Predynastic sites of Badari and el-Hemmamiya, 1397 and Quirke discusses the conversion of a Middle Kingdom rock-cut domestic cellar into a New Kingdom tomb in the town of Kahun. 1398 It must be noted, however, that the reverse may also be true. Meskell notes the transformation of some of the Southern tombs at Deir el-Medina into domestic space during the Ramesside expansion: here, we go from sepulchres to cellars! 1399

The problematisation of settlement and pseudo-settlement burials again highlights the capacity of authorial bias to colour our perceptions of Egyptian mortuary behaviour. It underscores the need for comprehensive research to be carried out before making generalisations regarding mortuary practices, particularly when considering that it is normal for past communities to have exercised a range of alternative burial customs within the schema of a larger national funerary culture. This finding should also demonstrate

¹³⁹³ Parker Pearson (2003); Crawford (2008: 199).

¹³⁹⁴ See Midant-Reynes (2000: 198-199) for her description of the gradual movement of settlements at Naqada, Hierakonpolis and Adaima from the desert towards the river.

¹³⁹⁵ Kamp (2000: 91); cf. Mortensen (1991: 27, 28).

¹³⁹⁶ For example, see Grajetzki (2003: 70); cf. Petrie (1905: 3).

¹³⁹⁷ Holmes & Friedman (1994:116-117).

¹³⁹⁸ Quirke (2005: 113).

Meskell (1999b: 143). The same phenomenon was observed in New Kingdom burials at the Middle Kingdom town of Kahun; Quirke (2005: 113).

¹⁴⁰⁰ Feucht (1995: 124; 2001b: 193); Ucko (1969: 273-274).

that while each type of archaeological context should be analysed on its own merits, only considerations of *all* categories of mortuary deposit across the landscape are likely to provide accurate representations of archaeological populations.¹⁴⁰¹

10.8 Status

Status prejudice may be argued to have been the most detrimental form of authorial bias to Egyptian cultural heritage. As noted in Chapter 9, 1402 the tendency of excavators to only publish - or only publish in explicit detail - 'exceptional' burials (those of great size, content, quantity, quality, interest or contrast) has dramatically inhibited our capacity to accurately reconstruct the 'true' nature and scope of every evidence category within the archaeological record, including CIF mortuary culture. While it is acknowledged that this practice was most common in early excavation reports, vestiges of these inclinations still linger in contemporary Egyptian archaeology. Many reports only feature the finest burials in cemeteries, as excavators state that the remainder were 'poor', and therefore not worthy of comment. Alternatively, while some excavators may provide arbitrary categorical descriptions of 'poorer' burials, they do not quantify these categories, 1404 nor do they explicate categorical variations. 1405 A similar attitude extends to exclude the material remnants of tomb robbery from description and recording, most commonly human remains, mundane ceramics and architectural features. 1406 Many early excavators believed these 'impoverished' or disturbed contexts had little or no contribution to make to scholarly knowledge. 1407 As a result, countless datasets have been rendered forever inaccessible to study. We have also seen in the preceding discussion that excavators' and authors' interpretations of CIF mortuary culture is biased towards elite data, with burials in pots and settlements ostracised to the realms of material and cultural 'poverty'.

This author acknowledges that the comprehensiveness of the present study's database is diminished as a result of this practice. Furthermore, it may also be biased towards wealthier CIFBs of the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. As such, one's ability to reconstruct local, regional and national population and behavioural profiles is inexorably

¹⁴⁰¹ Chamberlain (2000: 211); cf. Hodder (1986: 140); Parker Pearson (1993: 207, 227); David (1992: 184). See §9.1, cf. fn. 801.

Petrie (1898: 2; 1901: 42); Peet & Loat (1913: 23); Naville et al. (1914: 19); Peet (1914: 48); Hamada & Farid (1947: 201); Weeks (2008: 9).

¹⁴⁰⁴ Garstang (1907b); Peet & Loat (1913: 23); Peet (1914a: 54); El-Khouli (1968).

¹⁴⁰⁵ Meskell (1999b: 148).

¹⁴⁰⁶ For example, Naville et al. (1914: 15-17).

¹⁴⁰⁷ Engelbach (1915: 10).

¹⁴⁰⁸ Richards (1992: 65); Meskell (1999a: 198; 1999b: 173); Baines & Lacovara (2002: 6, 12ff.).

inhibited.¹⁴⁰⁹ However, all is not lost. The present study seeks to demonstrate how engagements with historiographical and theoretical apparatus can serve to identify the cause of authorial bias in Egyptology, as well as to mitigate its effect. In this way, despite its shortcomings, the archaeological record can still be used to draw meaningful, ethical, balanced interpretations of all demographic and socio-economic facets of ancient Egyptian society.

10.8.1 Status Anxiety?

The literature review of Chapter 2 explored the possibility that a certain level of cultural relativity may have been exercised towards CIF mortuary culture on behalf of the founders of our discipline. Petrie was profoundly aware of the implications of such subjectivity, stating: "It is not too much to say that the discoverer is the maker of society." It may be argued, however, that despite their undoubted best intentions, the society created by Petrie and his colleagues perhaps more closely resembled the world of the white, middle-upper class English, French or American gentleman scholar than it did 'ancient Egypt'. 1411 Society of the late 19th to early 20th Centuries was rife with socio-economic issues, particularly in England and France. 1412 Exponential population growth, high unemployment and housing shortages lead to unprecedented levels of poverty. 1413 Deplorable sanitary conditions, overcrowded ghettos, homelessness and rising crime rates led to an anathematisation of the poor and commensurate status anxiety of the middle and upper classes. 1414 As stated in Chapter 2, poverty was associated with immorality, alcoholism, insanity, disease and disorder. 1415 The middle-upper classes justified their marginalization of 'the poor' not only as punitive, but as maintenance of God's 'natural order'. 1416

Ciałowicz (1985: 157) notes that only 100 of ca. 500 excavated graves have been published from Abydos; and only 150 out of ca. 1,000 at el-Amra. Patch (2007: 246) makes similar lamentations regarding the publication status of Matmar. Crubézy et al. (2008: 293) state that only 20 out of 580 excavated graves have been published from Adaima. de Morgan (1912: 43) states that he excavated approximately 100 grave at el-Qara, but only publishes 7 burials because the contexts appeared disturbed. Cf. Richards (2005: 68); Crubézy et al. (2008: 289); Sowada (2010: 220).

¹⁴¹⁰ Petrie (1923: 1).

For the continuity of this phenomenon, see Redford (2008: 25).

¹⁴¹² Himmelfarb (1984: 392ff.).

¹⁴¹³ Himmelfarb (1984: 6, 18, 398).

¹⁴¹⁴ Frankfort & Pendlebury (1933: 3, 14-20) even described part of the North Suburb of the New Kingdom settlement of el-Amarna as a "slum", saying that "certain estates, such as U.36.17, 22, 39, 48 were never inhabited on the scale originally planned; and into these open spaces there crowded a population of poor people, who, for some reason, wanted to live there". Kemp (1972: 674-675) challenges this classification, suggesting instead that these areas should be considered "organic neighbourhood units" which represent "a probably very effective and acceptable type of urban layout", providing unique insight into the "New Kingdom Egyptians' own sense of urban aesthetics".

See§2.4. Cf. Himmelfarb (1984: 327, 372, 375-376, 381, 385, 397). The marginalisation of the poor by the middle-upper classes is nowhere more poignantly illustrated than in the passing of the Anatomy Act by British Parliament in 1832. The Act to regulate schools of anatomy sought to address the demand for human corpses by medical schools for the purpose of dissection. Prior to 1932, schools had obtained

In alignment with recent research into status anxiety in cultural theory, the present study suggests that prevailing dire socio-economic circumstances of the mid 19th to early 20th Centuries may have lead early excavators to perpetrate a form of "cultural identityprotective cognition". 1417 Identity-protective cognition is a recognised social phenomenon which sees traditionally dominant status groups attempt to reinforce their visions of how society should be organised¹⁴¹⁸ by consciously or subconsciously mobilising action which "glorifies the values of one group and demeans those of another", effectively "enhancing the social status of ... the affirmed culture" while simultaneously diminishing the opposing group as "deviant", 1419 even in the face of contrary factual information. 1420 mechanism of "identity self-defense", individuals manipulate outside stimuli and information to conform to their own world view and reinforce their membership of the dominant status group. 1421 As a result, the probability that they will learn from and apply the potentially important outside stimuli and information is diminished. 1422

Bourdieu's concept of habitus explores the nature of the status anxieties and power relations that exist between social classes. He argues that class inequalities and dominance of one class over another arise covertly. We again witness a concordance between the theories of Bourdieu and Butler, as Bourdieu defines social class as "the unity hidden under the

corpses under the auspices of the 1752 Act for better preventing the horrid crime of murder, whereby dissection was made a punitive measure imposed on those found guilty of homicide. However, supply of such subjects could not meet demand, so to address the requirements of science (and circumvent the increasing phenomenon of 'body-snatching') the Anatomy Act authorised those governing institutions in which significant numbers of poor people died - including workhouses, hospitals, prisons and mental asylums - to dispose of their bodies to a medical school, thereby turning them into "useful things". The Act was passed notwithstanding the outcries of the "destitute" who, according to Lord Tenterden in a speech in parliament in 1829, felt "the most unconquerable objection to the dissection of their bodies"; see MacDonald (forthcoming); Richardson (2000: 30ff., 52ff., 102); cf. Laqueur (1983: 122ff.); and Hurren (2004), who describes a similar situation in France. Aligning with historiographical insights offered in §2.4 of this thesis regarding early excavators' sensibilities towards juvenile death and burial, the only other social categories subject to involuntary dissection were those of foetuses and stillborn infants. They were subjected to such practices because they were considered "non-persons" by the law until 1832 and as such were treated as waste (MacDonald (forthcoming). The present study is at pains to note the same terminology is used by some Egyptologists to describe the status of juveniles in ancient Egypt (see §2.3) and again argues that the prevailing social sensibilities of the founders of our discipline appear to have influenced their perceptions of the archaeological record and been perpetrated by subsequent generations of scholars as History.

¹⁴¹⁶ Himmelfarb (1984: 3, 18).

¹⁴¹⁷ Kahan et al. (2007); Kahan (in press. 21ff.); cf. DiMaggio (1997).

¹⁴¹⁸ Douglas & Wildavsky (1982: 36); cf. Kahan et.al (2007: 468).

Gusfield (1968: 57-59).

Also known as 'biased assimilation'; Sherman & Cohen (2006: 186, 190); Kahan et.al (2007: 470, 496, 500); Kahan (in press: 24); cf. Lord et al. (1979).

Baumeister & Leary (1995: 504); Sherman & Cohen (2006: 205); Kahan et.al (2007: 470); Kahan (in press: 37).

Sherman & Cohen (2006: 186).

diversity and multiplicity of the set of practices performed."¹⁴²³ Here, one's access to economic capital not only has fiscal exchange value, but its possession and manner of deployment attain symbolic value as 'cultural capital'. As described for identity-protective cognition, cultural capital is deployed to perpetrate and maintain power relations, class distinctions and social inequality under the appearance of their ideological 'naturalness'. In this configuration, economic capital and cultural capital are analogised, and the material symbols of economic capacity serve as markers of cultural capacity, including status. Here, it is argued that early excavators may have consciously or unconsciously undertaken "motivated distortions of social perception", ¹⁴²⁴ and projected their own sense of *habitus* and its concordant status anxieties onto the archaeological record. ¹⁴²⁵

This is especially pertinent when considering the culturally-situated fear and disdain of 'pauper burials' in mid 18th to early 20th Century England. Laqueur writes that pauper burials (that is, burials carried out by the church or state on behalf of those too poor to pay funeral costs) were a source of "life-long stigma" for families, with one mother stating in ca. 1811 that "she would rather have her dead child picked up by a dust-cart than have it carted through the neighbourhood by the 'Black Mariar' of the parish". Laqueur argues that the pauper funeral thus became a powerful symbol of "social worthlessness, earthly failure, and profound anonymity", even striking fear into those of middle-upper class status who were "in no danger of ever being subject to it". 1427 The "spectacle, display and magnitude of numbers" exhibited at funerals were seen to directly reflect the deceased's "respectability". 1428 The present study argues that contemporary sensibilities towards 'poor' burials further fuelled the identity-protective cognition and status anxiety of early excavators, 1429 causing them to relegate meagre ancient Egyptian interments to the realms of ignominy and insignificance. By pursuing selective archaeologies which promoted the funereal narratives of 'the rich' and eradicated the material testimonies of 'the poor', they re-constructed an idealised world in the past which validated and assured their own status –

¹⁴²³ Bourdieu (1984: 101).

¹⁴²⁴ Sherman & Cohen (2006: 202-203).

In agreement with Meskell (1999b: 28), the present study only engages Bourdieu's *habitus* theory in a circumscribed manner. It addresses a specific social category whose documented personal responses to archaeological data have explicitly 'performed' a duplication of their own cultural ideologies.

¹⁴²⁶ Laqueur (1983: 109).

Laqueur (1983: 109); *cf.* Richardson (2000: xvi-xvii; 274-275, 279ff.), who states that fear of the pauper funeral even persisted into the late 20th Century in England.

¹⁴²⁸ Richardson (2000: 275).

See Laqueur (1983: 117, 126), who states that "in the funeral of others one could contemplate the meaning of one's own life".

as well as that of their wealthier benefactors – of power and dominance in the present. ¹⁴³⁰ In this way, the foundations of Egyptian archaeology were established with a profound epistemological bias towards the elite. ¹⁴³¹

The legacy of early excavators' habitus projection is not restricted to the immeasurable loss of archaeological data during the late 19th to early 20th Centuries. Rather, its effect has compounded via its looming spectre in contemporary disciplinary praxes. As argued in Chapter 2, the authoritative doctrines and professional protocols established in the burgeoning years of Egyptology have been perpetuated largely unquestioned by subsequent generations of scholars. 1432 'Wealth' and 'poverty' assessments are observed writ large in both primary and secondary sources without consideration of the cultural relativity of such concepts. 1433 But what did it actually mean to be 'rich' or 'poor' in ancient Egypt? Did such concepts even exist? Was poverty conjunctural, structural, or both?¹⁴³⁴ While a handful of authors have considered the evidence for poverty in written texts, 1435 there has been little to no research undertaken on archaeological manifestations of the lived experience and cultural sensibilities of (and towards) notions of wealth and poverty in Egypt. Although quantitative studies of funerary assemblages and architecture are certainly of merit in their own right, we must extend our research questions beyond Binford's model of the mere socio-economic structure of mortuary remains, towards the reconstruction of social identities and experiences across all demographic spectra. 1436

While CIFs are particularly susceptible to archaeological ostracism via 'exceptional' publication practices, 1437 it must be said that individuals of *all* ages and sexes were at risk of being judged as too 'normal', 'unexceptional', 'poor' or 'insignificant' to warrant publication. By excluding such 'unexceptional' evidence after the destructive processes of

¹⁴³⁰ Cf. Robb (2007: 287).

¹⁴³¹ Baines (1991: 124).

¹⁴³² See §2.3.

¹⁴³³ For example, Naville *et al.* (1914: 7; 1921: 161); Brunton (1927a: 21; 1937: 104); Myers & Fairman (1931: 229); Rizkana (1952: 121); Castillos (1977; 1977-1978; 1981; 1982a; 1982b; 1983; 2000); Bard (1988); Baines (1991: 136); Anderson (1992: 55ff., 62-63); Ellis (1992; 1996); Richards (1992: 79, 283, 285; 1997); Strouhal (1992: *passim*); Savage (1995; 1997); Redford (2000: 18); Grajetzki (2003: esp. 74ff.; 2004a: 13; 2004b; 2005: 5); Zeid (2004: 205, 209); Chłodnicki & Ciałowicz (2005: 140-145); Picton & Pridden (2008); cf. Delrue (2001: 27), §2.3, fn. 126 of this thesis.

¹⁴³⁴ Iliffe (1987); Amis & Rakodi (1994); Amis (1995); Sabry (2010).

¹⁴³⁵ Washington (1994); Bolkenstein & Hermann (2002).

¹⁴³⁶ Stevenson (2009a: 180).

¹⁴³⁷ Spieser (2008: 501).

excavation, the majority of exhumed Egyptian material testimonies have been rendered inadmissible. 1438

10.8.2 Thin Sample, Thick Description

The greater part of this chapter has sought to (re)view the inherent challenges to the representativeness of the present study's dataset. It is acknowledged that this dataset only represents a small portion of the 'true' Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom CIFB profile. It is further acknowledged that the dataset may be biased towards the higher end of the Egyptian socio-economic spectrum. Nevertheless, the outlook remains optimistic. This author believes that it is better to think of what we can do with what we have rather than abandon all attempts at meaning. Egyptology is not the only discipline to be affected by problems of 'exceptional evidence'. Due to equally manifold and diverse natural and cultural transformation processes, other disciplines are also faced with the challenge of constructing cultural narratives from small samples or exceptional examples. For instance, scholars such as Sherman have turned to the field of microhistory to place unique Medieval and Renaissance manuscripts within a scale of cultural observation. 1439 Here, it is argued that exceptional evidence can be used to complement superabundant stereotypical data. 1440 As has been demonstrated by the present study, marginal cases have the capacity to problematise prevailing paradigms, refresh them as a focus of disciplinary attention, and produce revised paradigms which are more inclusive, balanced and complex. 1441 Sherman argues that this is the simultaneous challenge and benefit of working with singular examples or small samples, as opposed to starting with a well-trodden concept and looking for illustrative data. 1442

In alignment with Geertz's "thick description", 1443 the present study argues that even though we may never know an object's or sample's true representativeness, provided that practitioners place data in appropriate cultural and chronological contexts, 1444 underpin

¹⁴³⁸ Grajetzki (2004b: 21; 2005: 18).

¹⁴³⁹ Sherman (2008: 108-109); cf. Grendi (1977: 512); Ginzburg & Poni (1991: 8); Burke (1992: 38-43); Levi (1992: 99). Fahlander & Oestigaard (2008: 11) also argue that microhistorical principles can be applied to archaeological data as "microarchaeology", using detailed analyses of small datasets to illuminate differences between local "microtraditions" and overarching regional structures. See Chapman (2000: 175ff., 187, 192) for a working example of how such principles may be applied to cemetery analyses.

¹⁴⁴⁰ Contra Crawford (2000: 177).

Ginzburg & Poni (1991: 8).

¹⁴⁴² Sherman (2008: 109).

¹⁴⁴³ Geertz (1973: 6ff.).

¹⁴⁴⁴ Levi (1992: 102).

interpretations with appropriate theoretical apparatus, and demonstrate links between datasets and macrohistorical processes, small samples can still illuminate larger social, structural and symbolic logics of their respective culture/s. As seen in the present study, by operating from a small scale of observations, phenomena previously thought to be adequately described and understood – such as CIFBs – can assume entirely new and different meanings. These results may then be mobilised to draw much wider cultural narratives – such as the ontological equity of ancient Egyptian children and adults – that dwarf seemingly narrow initial observations. 1447

Anyone wishing to utilise archaeological evidence in their re-constructions of ancient cultures must enter the engagement with a firm understanding of our disciplinary *fait accompli*. Inasmuch as it is a human construct which exists in tension between the present and the past, it is axiomatic that the archaeological record can never, and will never, provide a comprehensive cultural account. We must not restrict our pursuit of the past to only research questions for which there is a surfeit of evidence, leaving more ethereal people and processes to fade into invisibility. Meskell reminds us of the role we play and the responsibility we hold as cultural mediators to celebrate the disjunctures and heterogeneity of archaeological evidence. She delivers an apposite reminder of the "supreme unknowability of the past, the constant linear narratives we construct and the multiplicity of accounts we could reasonably offer." After all, this author suggests that it is precisely such multiplicities and lacunae that make the study of CIFBs, in particular, and history, in general, so infinitely intriguing.

10.9 Summary

This chapter has addressed the central aims of this thesis. It has compared the quantitative results of the archaeological survey detailed in Chapters 3–9 with the current perceptions of CIF mortuary culture in Egyptological discourse, as outlined in the literature review of Chapter 2. In so doing, the study has identified a discontinuity between current understandings of juvenile mortuary culture and its actual nature and scope during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. Contrary to prevailing assumptions, significant numbers of CIFBs are included in published (and in the case of Helwan, unpublished) archaeological data. A minimum of 1,809 individuals were identified with

¹⁴⁴⁵ Burke (1992: 43); Wengrow & Baines (2004: 1094-1095); Sherman (2008: 109).

¹⁴⁴⁶ Levi (1992: 99)

¹⁴⁴⁷ Levi (1992: 102)

¹⁴⁴⁸ Meskell (2002a: 208). cf. Levi (1992: 107).

4,749 grave goods during the timeframes canvassed by this research. Further to this, the present study has demonstrated that current opinions which suggest CIFs were subject to differential burial practices because they were not embodied community members are unsubstantiated. To the contrary, the overwhelming majority of CIFBs were interred in communal cemeteries in a completely culturally-invested manner. Certainly, some children were interred within the confines of settlements, but the present study also observed adult settlement burials before, during and after the chronological parameters this research. Of crucial importance, however, was the observation that settlement interments bore all the hallmarks of cultural investment. With the exception of obvious architectural limitations, the only major way settlement burials differed from cemetery burials was their location. Moreover, CIFBs in both settlements and cemeteries bore resounding material similarities to those of contemporary adults in every category of evidence examined by this study. This finding indicates that CIFs were given access to the same range of mortuary treatment, at the same time, as that afforded to adults.

Qualitative analyses of quantitative survey data were enabled via engagement with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories. These endeavours bore significant outcomes. By honouring the survey data's situation within the specific ritual context of burial, the study determined that the lack of distinction between the type, quantity and quality of child and adult mortuary culture is indicative of ontological equity between individuals across the demographic spectrum in ancient Egypt during the timeframes canvassed by this research. This finding was buttressed by considering what the representational economy of both child and adult mortuary culture revealed about the function and purpose of the burial ritual. Here, social and mortuary theories elucidated that the specific function of the burial ritual was to perform a cultural funerary identity on behalf of the deceased which facilitated and assured their transition into the afterlife, regardless of age. The overarching purpose of the burial ritual was to transmit and transfer cultural knowledge, memory and collective identity within familial/community networks, while reconfiguring and reinforcing specific intersubjective relationships during the processes of individual and collective grieving for the deceased's physical removal from broader social networks. In this way, the ontological equity between child and adult mortuary culture is explained: biographical distinctions of attained age-at-death were not involved in the representational economy of the burial ritual because that was not its function, nor its purpose.

Children's inclusion in fully-vested burial rituals therefore indicates the totality of their cultural capacity, their complete social embodiment and integration into familial/community networks, and a social position, value and agency equal to that of adults. These findings indicate that the prevailing disciplinary sensibilities which construct children as 'nonpersons' and exclude them from communal burial practices require revision.

While these findings determine that the ritual context of burial is an apposite forum to assess children's cultural capacities, it appears that this context is less forthcoming regarding their lived experiences. Children's bodies and material culture are manipulated by adults within the funerary context to address its specific ritual function and purpose. As such, CIF mortuary culture does not seem to accurately reflect children's worldviews or experiences *per se*, rather the experiences of adults attempting to negotiate the broadranging implications of their deaths. Going forward, detailed biocultural analyses of children's (and adults') physical remains appear to hold the greatest potential to access reflections of their lived experiences throughout the life course, including such aspects as diet, lifestyle, health, therapy, relationships, environment and geographical location.

This chapter also sought to determine the extent to which its foundational dataset could be considered representative of the original population/s from which it was derived. In this way, considerations of differential preservation, incomplete excavation, the 'osteological paradox', intra- and inter-observer error, poor reporting and authorial bias determined that the study sample was somewhat diminished from the 'true' CIFB population of Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Egypt. In accordance with another of this thesis' key aims, an examination of the historiographical underpinnings of Egyptian archaeology determined that of all the aforementioned challenges to the dataset, authorial bias has had the greatest impact on Egyptian cultural heritage. These impacts take the shape of selective excavation praxes which characterised the early years of the discipline, as well as subsequent interpretations of this partial archaeological record which have precipitated through generations of scholars.

The impact of authorial bias was illustrated via historiographical case studies of the most frequently stereotyped aspects of CIF mortuary culture, including 'toys', coffins, differential burial practices and status. These studies revealed the profound misunderstandings that authorial bias has generated within the discourse, including divergent ontological approaches towards miniature objects or objects associated with children; a jettisoning of the ubiquitous and enduring funerary phenomenon of pot burials;

a cultural ostracism of settlement burials, arguably the oldest mode of interment in the Egyptian funerary repertoire; and an exclusion of the material testimonies of the majority of the ancient population due to status discrimination. Of all these misunderstandings, perhaps the last offers the greatest revelation within the present study's epistemological brief. Generally speaking, the marginalisation of children in Egyptian archaeological narratives does not appear to be an overt strategy of entrenched disciplinary ageism. Rather, it is a by-product of elitist excavation and publication practices, the outcomes of which have distorted our empirical dataset, biased our reconstructions of Egyptian society towards that of the elite adult male, and caused the loss of greater proportions of the extant archaeological record than all other transformation processes combined. It is not the young who have been marginalised in Egyptian archaeological narratives, rather the 'poor' or less-wealthy members of society whose material testimonies were deemed of insufficient worth to record for posterity. In the fullness of time, in our realisation that we can only access a fraction of Egypt's 'true' cultural heritage, it is we who are the poorer.

In light of these findings, inasmuch as the present study sought to demonstrate that engagements with archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories serve to identify the cause of authorial bias within the sample, they also function to mitigate its effect. Theoretical apparatus alleviate the dataset's inherent gaps and partialities, and enable detailed, nuanced, ethically-balanced interpretations of mortuary data. In terms of the featured case studies, such interpretations may eventuate in a recalibration of some of the central doctrines of Egyptology, including the promotion of ontological equity in engagements with all manner and forms of material culture, regardless of age associations; the integration of pot burials into Egyptian coffin typologies, as a recognition of their status as authentic funerary containers that are imbued with myriad cultural, philosophical, religious and economic meanings; the reintegration of settlement burial into normative mortuary behaviour, reflecting its deep antiquity, cultural investment and continuity; and a reconsideration of notions of wealth and poverty in archaeological narratives, in a manner which pares back modern sensibilities and reveals their authentic cultural situation. It can thus be seen that not only are CIFBs visible and viable in the Egyptian archaeological record, they represent a rich and varied source of archaeological data which provides fertile ground for contemporary research.

CHAPTER 11: CONCLUSION

This chapter will reflect on the extent to which this thesis has fulfilled the research aims and purpose established in Chapter 1. The chapter will then look beyond the present study to propose opportunities where further research may expand, enrich and elucidate interpretations of child, infant and foetal mortuary culture, as well as that of all individuals in ancient Egyptian society.

11.1 Research Aims

This research has found that current perceptions of CIF mortuary culture do not correspond with its actual nature and scope in published literature. The present study's archaeological survey identified significant numbers of CIFBs in published and, in the case of Helwan, unpublished Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom cemetery contexts. These findings contrast prevailing disciplinary sensibilities which espouse the absence of juvenile mortuary culture from published cemetery records.

The archaeological survey consistently produced data of resounding similarity to contemporary adult burials in every category of evidence, including bodily position, orientation and treatment, tomb architecture, associated features and grave goods. These similarities were observed in every age and socio-economic group, geographical region and chronological period canvassed by this research. Children, infants and foetuses appear to have been afforded access to the same range of mortuary treatment, at the same time, as that afforded to adults. These findings challenge current disciplinary paradigms which reconstruct children's lived experiences and cultural capacities as passive in social processes and ontologically subordinate to adults.

The outcomes of the archaeological survey were appraised via consultation of archaeological, mortuary, ethnographic and social theories to deliver qualitative analyses of CIF mortuary culture during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. At base, the very existence of juvenile burials – most often in independent graves – attests to their inclusion in communal afterlife beliefs, their importance in family/community networks and their status as individuals. When viewed through theoretical lenses, the lack of differentiation between child and adult mortuary culture infers that these groups were

perceived with ontological equity within their community/ies. The present study's finding that children were fully manifested social beings with equal cultural capacities to adults suggests that current disciplinary sensibilities require recalibration. Our perceptions of children need to shift from a position of 'nonpersonhood' to 'identity', from a value of 'worthless' to 'precious', and from an agency of 'passive' to 'active'.

Notwithstanding these findings, the present study discovered that the ritual context of burial does not appear to be a forum where children's lived experiences were articulated to the same extent as their cultural capacities. The burial ritual was orchestrated for the explicit function of facilitating the deceased's transition to the afterlife, with an underlying purpose of reconfiguring and reinforcing relationships during the process of grieving the deceased's physical removal from society. As such, it does not appear that the funerary nexus is overly forthcoming regarding the expression of children's lived experiences and worldviews. While the determination of equitable cultural capacity goes some way to illuminating aspects of children's social lives, perhaps children's bodies may provide more apposite means to access elements of their lived experiences through the funerary nexus. By embedding children's (and adults') osteobiographies within broader biocultural contexts, we can glean detailed insights into their diet, lifestyle, health, therapies, relationships, environment and geographical location across the life course.

By examining the historiographical underpinnings of Egyptian funerary archaeology, the present study sought to demonstrate that authorial bias has had a significant impact on researchers' abilities to generate accurate qualitative and quantitative analyses of CIF mortuary culture, and of ancient Egyptian mortuary culture at large. The cultural sensibilities of some authors and excavators led them to select and interpret their evidence in a manner which constructed archaeological narratives that more closely resembled their present than it did Egypt's ancient past. In terms of CIF mortuary culture, authorial bias has had profound effects on our understanding of several phenomena. Divergent ontological approaches towards miniature objects or objects associated with children have led to the cultural diminution of certain artefacts or artefact groups merely as 'toys' or indices of ascribed status, despite the appearance of identical items in adults' tombs. Modern, elite sensibilities regarding waste management and 'appropriate' funerary behaviour have discarded the ubiquitous category of pot burials – and their occupants – as cultural refuse, used only for 'children', by the 'poor'. Such sentiments have been perpetuated despite widespread published evidence that pot burials were utilised for all age groups, across all socio-economic strata, in all chronological periods of pre-pharaonic, pharaonic and post-pharaonic Egypt. Sensibilities regarding 'appropriate' funerary behaviour have also ostracised and disparaged the practice of settlement burials, particularly as pertains to CIF interments. This is despite the fact that as a mortuary tradition settlement burials are at least equal in age, if not older than, cemetery burials and bear the same hallmarks of cultural investment and inclusion. Finally, prevailing status anxieties in early excavators' contemporary cultural contexts prompted them to pursue excavation, recording and publication agendas focused on 'wealth'. Such praxes excluded the material testimonies of the 'poor', despite the fact that 'less wealthy' individuals would have comprised the overwhelming majority of the Egyptian burial population. In isolation and combination, these misunderstandings, precipitated from authorial bias, have relegated children to the margins of archaeological narratives and rendered them invisible and unviable in current reconstructions of life and death in ancient Egypt.

11.2 Research Purpose

By demonstrating how engagements with CIF mortuary data in all depositional contexts can enrich understandings of ancient Egyptian culture, the present study has advocated for more equitable approaches to funerary archaeology. It appeals to excavators, authors and scholars to honour the cultural specificity, agency and variability of Egyptian mortuary data in all stages of disciplinary praxes. By applying such methodologies, we exponentially enhance the likelihood that our datasets will more accurately represent the material testimonies of all demographic and socio-economic categories across the diverse cultural topography of the Egyptian mortuary landscape.

11.3 Opportunities for Future Research

This thesis represents the first comprehensive research into ancient Egyptian CIF mortuary culture. It has sought to initiate scholarly engagement with the juvenile demographic in Egyptian archaeology and reveal the broader benefits such engagements may bring to our understandings of mortuary behaviour. It also seeks to forge connections with the vast international research community devoted to the archaeology of children and childhood. Through its' representation of CIF death, burial and cultural capacity in ancient Egypt, it is hoped that this thesis may contribute to international knowledge of the expression of these phenomena across cultures. As a primary foray into this subject, this thesis has by no means extinguished all the questions to be posed of CIF mortuary culture in the Egyptian

archaeological record. A plethora of opportunities for future research exist within this topic area, including (but not limited to) the following:

- The chronological parameters of the research may be extended to encompass the Predynastic Period and the remainder of the pharaonic era. Such research would promote further understanding of the nature and scope of Egyptian CIF mortuary culture, and refine the interpretations levelled herein.
- The biological parameters of the research may be extended to encompass adolescents (individuals of ca. 13–16 years). Such research would complement the present study's dataset, refine its interpretations, and shed light on the materiality of another demographic group that has been somewhat neglected within Egyptian archaeology. The adolescent age category most likely represents the life course stage which encompasses physical and social transitions into adulthood. Biocultural data derived from mortuary contexts offers great promise to shed light on the experience of living and dying during this liminal phase.
- While the present study has anecdotally identified equity between child and adult mortuary culture during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods, it nonetheless recognises the need to carry out a comprehensive comparative study of adult burial data to explore these observations in greater detail.
- The present study offers an overarching regional perspective of CIF mortuary culture during the Early Dynastic to Middle Kingdom Periods. As is the case for all forms of funerary behaviour, it is accepted that no single interpretation of CIF mortuary data can represent every individual experience across the temporal and geographical expanses of Predynastic and Dynastic Egyptian culture. Detailed studies of specific sites may therefore enhance our understanding of the extent to which the trends described at national level may (or may not) have been locally expressed. 1449
- The high Young-to-Older Child mortality profile described by the present study contrasts expectations of high Infant mortality usually expected in pre-industrial populations. Considering that similar observations have been tabled by other studies, 1450 it is apparent that further research is required to clarify the status and experience of mortality and morbidity in ancient Egypt. Such a study would enhance understandings of manifold facets of ancient Egyptian life- and death-ways, including

See §4.1.1, fn. 367; §10.1.2, fn. 974.

For example, see Harrington (2007: 61). Cf. Stevenson's findings at el-Gerzeh, §10.2, fn. 984.

(but not restricted to) pre- and post-natal maternal and infant health, feeding and weaning practices, ambient living conditions and local socio-ecologies, family size, birth spacing, and projections of fertility, fecundity and life expectancy. From a broader perspective, data derived from such a study would elucidate Egypt's position in relation to cross-cultural expressions of child and infant mortality, and contribute to global palaeodemographic research agendas.

- The present study has not focused on the spatial distribution of CIFBs in individual cemetery contexts. Such analyses may ascertain if the clustering phenomenon noted in cemeteries such as Adaima, Ain el-Labakha, Douch, Elkab, Nag el-Hai, Naga ed-Deir, Sebaiya (East), el-Ghurab and Deir el-Medina were geographically/chronologically widespread. Such research may also situate this practice within the broader cultural framework of ontological equity across the demographic spectrum. 1451
- A detailed study of the attestation, typology, decoration and context of pot burials would refine our understanding of this phenomenon.
- The present study's finding of ontological equity between children and adults has farreaching implications for Egyptology. If we accept that children had a social position, value and agency equal to adults, we must also accept their equal capacity to make deliberate or inadvertent contributions to the formation of the archaeological record. It is often said that children contribute to the archaeological record "whether we are able to recognise them or not". To date, archaeological processes exhibit low levels of "practical consciousness" of children's materiality, especially considering the difficulties in identifying material traces of their *acts*, rather than the children themselves. As such, opportunities exist to develop 'child-friendly' research programs in Egyptology which hone our ability to identify children's agency, as opposed to that of other agents in the archaeological record.
- Notwithstanding the above, it is important to integrate disciplinary praxes which acknowledge the presence and agency of children into broad, interactive social processes of 'being' within ancient communities specifically, and within culture as a whole. To study children in isolation from adolescents and adults is as culturally

For comparative purposes, see Krzyżaniak (1984); Prominska (1984).

Lillehammer (2010: 29); cf. Chamberlain (1997: 249); Derevenski (1997); Scott (1999); Baxter (2006b: 77).

¹⁴⁵³ Giddens (1984: xxiii).

¹⁴⁵⁴ Baxter (2005: 114).

unrealistic and ethically unbalanced as studies which exclude children from analyses. Future studies may therefore follow the 'life course' model, which considers the interrelatedness and symbiosis of humans' biological, social and cultural situation from conception through to old age and death. Rather than focusing on differences between life stages, life course studies endorse that each phase can only be understood in relation to the others within a broader biocultural system.

Considerations of the life course allow us to conclude, as we began, under *The Instruction of Any's* counsel that life in ancient Egypt existed in a constant state of tension: between longevity and brevity. As we move beyond this thesis towards archaeological praxes which seek to explore the lived experiences and cultural capacities of *all* members of ancient Egyptian communities, it would seem that the life course approach may provide an apposite means to engage both modern *and* ancient sensibilities regarding matters of life and death: from the cradle to the grave.

Hockey & James (2003); Gowland (2006: 145); Kamp (2006: 120); Harlow & Laurence (2007).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

The following bibliography refers to the text of the present study only. References pertaining to the sample of child, infant and foetal burials are listed within their respective database entries. The database is included on a CD-ROM, attached as an Appendix to the inside back cover of this volume.

<u>A</u>

- Acsádi, G., & J. Nemeskéri (1970) History of Human Lifespan and Mortality, Budapest.
- Adams, B. (1987) The Fort Cemetery at Hierakonpolis, London.
- Adams, B. (2000) Excavations in the Locality 6 Cemetery at Hierakonpolis, 1979-1985, Oxford.
- Adams, M. D. (1997) "A Textual Window on the Settlement System in Ancient Egypt", in J. Lustig (ed.) *Anthropology and Egyptology: A Developing Dialogue*, Sheffield: 90-105.
- Adler, N. E., & J. M. Ostrove (1999) "Socioeconomic status and health: What we know and what we don't", *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 896: 3-15.
- Alanen, L. (1988) "Rethinking childhood", Acta Sociologica 31 (1): 53-67.
- Alekshin, V. A. (1983) "Burial Customs as an Archaeological Source", CA 24 (2): 137-149.
- Alexanian, N. (1999) Dahschur II. Das Grab des Prinzen Netjer-aperef. Die Mastaba II/1 in Dahschur, Mainz.
- Ali Choucri, S. (2003) "Trois saisons de fouilles dans la vaste nécropole de Kôm Firin (terrain de Silvago) dans le gouvernorat de Béheira", in Z. Hawass (ed.) Egyptology at the Dawn of the Twenty-First Century: Proceedings of the Eighth International Congress of Egyptologists, Cairo 2000, Volume I: Archaeology, Cairo: 123-129.
- Allen, S. J., & K. L. Wilson (1982) Excavations at Mendes, 1976-1979, Paris.
- Amélineau, E. (1899) Les nouvelles fouilles d'Abydos I, 1895-1896, Paris.
- Amélineau, E. (1904) Les nouvelles fouilles d'Abydos III, 1897-1898, Paris.
- Amis, P. (1995) "Making sense of urban poverty", EU7 (1): 145-158.
- Amis, P., & C. Rakodi (1994) "Urban poverty: Issues for research and policy", *Journal of International Development* 6 (5): 627-634.
- Anderson, W. (1992) "Badarian Burials: Evidence of Social Inequality in Middle Egypt During the Early Predynastic Era", *JARCE* 29: 51-66.
- Andrén, A. (1998) Between Artifacts and Texts: Historical Archaeology in Global Perspective, New York.
- Andrews, C. (1994) Amulets of Ancient Egypt, London.
- Andrews, C. (1998) Egyptian Mummies, 2nd Edition, London.

- Andrews, P., & S. Bello (2006) "Pattern in Human Burial Practice", in R. Gowland & C. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains, Oxford: 14-29.
- Appadurai, A. (1986) "Introduction: commodities and the politics of value", in A. Appadurai (ed.) *The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective*, Cambridge: 3-63.
- Ardren, T. (2006) "Setting the Table: Why Children and Childhood Are Important in an Understanding of Ancient Mesoamerica", in T. Ardren & S. R. Hutson (eds.) *The Social Experience of Childhood in Ancient Mesoamerica*, Boulder: 3-22.
- Ariès, P. (1962) Centuries of Childhood: A Social History of Family Life, Trans. R. Baldick, New York.
- Ariès, P. (1974) Western Attitudes to Death: From the Middle Ages to the Present, Trans. P. Ranum, Baltimore.
- Ariès, P. (1981) The Hour of Our Death, Trans. H. Weaver, London.
- Armstrong, D. (1986) "The invention of infant mortality", *Sociology of Health and Illness* 8 (3): 211-232.
- Armstrong, D. (1987) "Bodies of Knowledge: Foucault and the Problem of Human Anatomy", in G. Scambler (ed.) *Sociological Theory and Medical Sociology*, London: 59-76.
- Arnold, D. (1992) The South Cemeteries of Lisht, Volume 3, New York.
- Arnold, F. (1996) "Settlement Remains at Lisht-North", in M. Bietak (ed.) Haus und Palast im Alten Ägypten, Vienna: 13-21.
- Artin, G. (2008) "The jar burials of the Chalcolithic 'Necropolis' at Byblos", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 79-85.
- Ascher, R. (1961) "Analogy in Archaeological Interpretations", Southwestern Journal of Anthropology 17: 317-325.
- Aschwanden, H. (1982) Symbols of life: An analysis of the consciousness of the Karanga, Gweru.
- Assmann, J. (1972) "Neith spricht als Mutter und Sarg", MDAIK 28: 115-139.
- Assmann, J. (1976) "Das Bild des Vaters im Alten Ägypten", in H. Tellenbach (ed.) Das Vaterbild in Mythos und Geschichte, Stuttgart: 12-50.
- Assmann, J. (1989) "Death and initiation in the funerary religion of ancient Egypt", in J. P. Allen (ed.) *Religion and Philosophy in Ancient Egypt*, New Haven: 135-159.
- Assmann, J. (1992) Das kulturelle Gedächtnis: Schrift, Erinnerung und politische Identität in frühen Hochkulturen, Munich.
- Assmann, J. (2001) The Search for God in Ancient Egypt, Trans. D. Lorton, Ithaca.
- Aston, B. G., J. A. Harrell & I. Shaw (2000) "Stone", in AEMT: 5-77.
- Aufderheide, A. C. (2003) The Scientific Study of Mummies, Cambridge.
- Aufrère, S. (1990) "La nécropole sud de Qila' al-Dabba (Oasis de Dakhla, Secteur de Balat). Un palimpseste archéologique", *BIFAO* 90: 1-17

- Ayrton, E. R. (1904) "The Shuneh, Middle Fort and Deir", in E. R. Ayrton, C. T. Currelly & A. E. P. Weigall (eds.) *Abydos. Part III. 1904*, London: 1-5.
- Ayrton, E. R., & W. L. S. Loat (1908-1909) "Excavations at El Mahasna", *EEF Archaeological Report 1908-1909*, London: 5-7.
- Ayrton, E. R., C. T. Currelly, & A. E. P. Weigall (1904) Abydos, Part III, London.

В

- Bacvarov, K. (ed.) (2008a) Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford.
- Bacvarov, K. (2008b) "A long way to the West: Earliest jar burials in Southeast Europe and the Near East", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 61-70.
- Bagh, T. (2002) "Abu Ghâlib, an Early Middle Kingdom Town in the Western Nile Delta: Renewed Work on Material Excavated in the 1930s", MDAIK 58: 29-61.
- Baines, J. (1985) "Egyptian Twins", Orientalia 54: 461-482.
- Baines, J. (1989) "Communication and Display: The Integration of Early Egyptian Art and Writing", *Antiquity* 63: 471-482.
- Baines, J. (1991) "Society, Morality, and Religious Practice", in B. E. Shafer (ed.) Religion in Ancient Egypt. Gods, Myths, and Personal Practice, London: 123-200.
- Baines, J. (2004) "The earliest Egyptian writing: development, context, purpose", in S. D. Houston (ed.) *The First Writing. Script Invention as History and Process*, Cambridge: 189.
- Baines, J., & J. Malek (2002) Atlas of Ancient Egypt, 2nd Edition, Cairo.
- Baines, J., & P. Lacovara (2002) "Burial and the dead in ancient Egyptian society", Journal of Social Archaeology 2: 5-36.
- Baker, B. J., T. L. Dupras & M. W. Tocheri (2005) *The Osteology of Infants and Children*, Texas.
- Baker, M. (1997) "Invisibility as a Symptom of Gender Categories in Archaeology", in J. Moore, J. & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*, London & New York: 183-191.
- Bakr, M. I. (1988) "The new excavations at Ezbet el-Tell, Kufur Nigm: The first season 1984", in E. C. M. van den Brink (ed.) The Archaeology of the Nile Delta, Egypt: Problems and Priorities: Proceedings of the seminar held in Cairo, 19-22 October 1986, Amsterdam: 49-62.
- Bakr, M. I. (1989) "New Excavations of Zagazig University", in M. Bakr (ed.) L'Égyptologie en 1979. Axes prioritaires de recherches 1, Paris: 153-167.
- Bakr, M. I. (1992) Tell Basta I. Tombs and Burial Customs at Bubastis. The Area of the So-Called Western Cemetery, Cairo.
- Bakr, M. I. (1994) "Excavations of Kufur Nigm", in C. Berger, G. Clerc & N. Grimal (eds.) Hommages à Jean Leclant, Cairo: 9-17.

- Barber, P. (1988) Vampires, Burial and Death: Folklore and Reality, New Haven & London.
- Bard, K. (1988) "A Quantitative Analysis of the Predynastic Burials in Armant Cemetery 1400-1500", *JEA* 74: 39-55.
- Bard, K. (1994) From Farmers to Pharaohs. Mortuary Evidence for the Rise of Complex Society in Egypt, Sheffield.
- Bard, K. (1997) "Urbanism and the Rise of Complex Society and the Early State in Egypt", in L. Manzanilla (ed.) *Emergence and Change in Early Urban Societies*, New York: 59-86.
- Barkow, J. H., & N. Burley (1980) "Human fertility, evolutionary biology, and the demographic transition", ES 1: 163-180.
- Barley, N. (1994) Smashing Pots: Works of Clay from Africa, Washington.
- Barnes, J. (1956) Five Ramesseum Papyri, Oxford.
- Barrett, J. C. (1998) "The Living, the Dead and the Ancestors: Neolithic and Early Bronze Age Mortuary Practices", in J. C. Barrett & I. A. Kinnes (eds.) *The Archaeology of Context in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. Recent Trends*, Sheffield.
- Bárta, M. (2000) Abusir V: The Cemeteries at Abusir South I, Prague.
- Bar-Yosef, O., & A. Belfer-Cohen (1989) "The PPNB Interaction Sphere", in I. Hershkovitz (ed.) *People and Cultures in Change*, Oxford: 59-72.
- Basu, A. M. (1989) "Is discrimination in food really necessary for explaining sex differentials in childhood mortality?", PS 43: 193-210.
- Baud, C. A., S. Bang & J. M. Very (1977) "Minor elements in bone mineral and effects on its solubility", *Journal de Biologie Buccale* 5: 195-202.
- Baud, M. (2006) "The Relative Chronology of Dynasties 6 and 8", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 144-158.
- Baumeister, R. F., & M. R. Leary (1995) "The Need to Belong: Desire for Interpersonal Attachments as a Fundamental Human Motivation", *Psychological Bulletin* 117 (3): 497-529.
- Baxter, J. E. (2005) The Archaeology of Childhood: Children, Gender and Material Culture, Walnut Creek.
- Baxter, J. E. (2006a) "Introduction: The Archaeology of Childhood in Context", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) Children in Archaeology: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 1-9.
- Baxter, J. E. (2006b) "Making Space for Children in Archaeological Interpretations", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) Children in Archaeology: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 77-88.
- Beek, G. C. van (1983) Dental Morphology: An Illustrated Guide, 2nd Edition, London.
- Bell, C. (1992) Ritual Theory, Ritual Practice, New York.

- Bello, S., & P. Andrews (2006) "The Intrinsic Pattern of Preservation of Human Skeletons and its influence on the Interpretation of Funerary Behaviours", in R. Gowland & C. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains, Oxford: 1-13.
- Bernand, A. (1970) "La Béhéra Méridionale: Kôms à explorer", in A. Bernand (ed.) Le Delta égyptien d'après les textes grecs, Cairo: 1041-1057.
- Bietak, M. (1979) "Urban Archaeology and the 'Town Problem' in Ancient Egypt", in K. R. Weeks (ed.) Egyptology and the Social Sciences, Cairo: 97-144.
- Binder, S. (1995) "The Hereafter: Ancient Egyptian Beliefs with Special Reference to the Amduat", *BACE* 6: 7-30.
- Binford, L. R. (1971) "Mortuary Practices: Their study and potential", in J. A. Brown (ed.) *Approaches to the Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices*, Washington, D. C.: 6-29.
- Blackman, A. M. (1914) The Rock Tombs of Meir, Volume I: The Tomb Chapel of Ukh-Hotp's Son Senbi, London.
- Blackman, W. S. (1968) The Fellāhīn of Upper Egypt: their religious, social and industrial life with special reference to survivals from ancient times, London.
- Bloch, M. (2005) "Why trees, too, are good to think with: toward an anthropology of the meaning of life", in M. Bloch (ed.) *Essays in Cultural Transmission*, London: 21-38.
- Bloch, M., & J. Parry (1982) Death and the Regeneration of Life, Cambridge.
- Blumenthal, E. (1987) "Ptahhotep und der 'Stab des Alters' ", in J. Osing & G. Dreyer (eds.) Form und Mass. Festschrift für Gerhard Fecht, Wiesbaden: 84-97.
- Boddington, A. (1987) "From bones to population: the problem of numbers", in A. Boddington, N. Garland & R. C. Janaway (eds.) *Death, Decay and Reconstruction*, Manchester: 180-197.
- Boddy, J. (1982) "Womb as Oasis: the symbolic context of Pharaonic circumcision in rural Northern Sudan", *American Ethnologist* 9 (4): 682-698.
- Bolkenstein, H., & V. Hermann (eds.) (2002) Armut und Wohltätigkeit im Alten Ägypten, Frankfurt.
- Bonnichsen, R. (1973) "Millie's camp: an experiment in archaeology", WA 4: 277-291.
- Borghouts, J. F. (1978) Ancient Egyptian Magical Texts, Leiden.
- Boric, D., & S. Stefanovic (2004) "Birth and death: infant burials from Vlasac and Lepenski Vir", *Antiquity* 78 (301): 526-546.
- Bourdieu, P. (1984) Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste, Trans. R. Nice, Cambridge, MA.
- Bourdieu, P. (1990) The Logic of Practice, Trans. R. Nice, Stanford.
- Bourriau, J. (1991) "Patterns of change in burial customs during the Middle Kingdom", in S. Quirke (ed.) *Middle Kingdom Studies*, New Malden: 3-20.

- Bourriau, J. (2001) "Change of body position in Egyptian burials from the mid XIIth Dynasty until the Early XVIIIth Dynasty", in H. Willems (ed.) Social Aspects of Funerary Culture in the Middle and Old Kingdoms, Leuven: 1-20.
- Bourriau, J., & A. Millard (1971) "The Excavation of Sawâma in 1914 by G.A. Wainwright and T. Whittemore", *JEA* 57: 28-57.
- Bourriau, J., P. T. Nicholson & P. J. Rose (2000) "Pottery", in AEMT: 121-147.
- Bowen, G. (2003) "Early Christian Burial Practices at Kellis, Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt", The Artefact: The Journal of the Archaeological and Anthropological Society of Victoria 26 (1): 77-88.
- Brink, E. C. M. van den (1989) "A Transitional Late Predynastic-Early Dynastic Settlement Site in the Northeastern Nile Delta, Egypt", MDAIK 45: 55-108.
- Brown, J. A. (1981) "The Search for Rank in Prehistoric Burials", in R. Chapman, I. Kinnes & K. Randsborg (eds.) *The Archaeology of Death*, Cambridge: 25-37.
- Brumfiel, E. M. (2000) "On the archaeology of choice: Agency studies as a research stratagem", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 249-255.
- Brunner, H. (1952-1953) "Kôm Firîn", AfO 16: 387.
- Brunner, H. (1984) "Stab des Alters", LÄ V: 1224.
- Brunner-Traut, E. (1974) Die Alten Ägypter, Stuttgart.
- Brunton, G. (1924) Sedment I, London.
- Brunton, G. (1927a) Qau and Badari I, London.
- Brunton, G. (1927b) Qau and Badari III, London.
- Brunton, G. (1928) Qau and Badari II, London.
- Brunton, G. (1937) Mostagedda and the Tasian Culture, London.
- Brunton, G. (1939) "A First Dynasty Cemetery at Maadi", ASAE 39: 419-424.
- Brunton, G. (1948) Matmar, London.
- Brunton, G., & G. Caton-Thompson (1928) The Badarian Civilisation and Predynastic Remains Near Badari, London.
- Brunton, G., & R. Engelbach (1927) Gurob, London.
- Bruyère, B. (1937) Rapport sur les Fouilles de Deir el Médineh (1934-1935), Deuxième Partie, Cairo.
- Buchli, V., & G. Lucas (2000) "Children, gender and the material culture of domestic abandonment in the late twentieth century", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 131-138.
- Budin, S. (2011) Images of Woman and Child from the Bronze Age: Reconsidering Fertility, Maternity and Gender in the Ancient World, Cambridge.
- Buikstra, J. E., & D. H. Ubelaker (1994) Standards for Data Collection from Human Skeletal Remains, Fayetteville.
- Burke, P. (1992) History and Social Theory, Ithaca.

- Bußmann, R. (2004a) "Siedlungen im Kontext der Pyramiden des Alten Reiches", MDAIK 60: 17-39.
- Bußmann, R. (2004b) "Die Pyramidenstädte: Siedlungsarchäologie im Schatten der Pyramiden", in C. Hölzl (ed.) *Die Pyramiden Ägyptens Monumente der Ewigkeit*. Vienna: 167-173.
- Butler, B. H. (1974) "Skeletal remains from a Late Palaeolithic site near Esna, Egypt", in D. Lubell (ed.) *The Fakhurian, a Late Palaeolithic Industry from Upper Egypt*, Cairo: 179-183.
- Butler, J. (1988) "Performative Acts and Gender Constitution: An Essay in Phenomenology and Feminist Theory", *Theatre Journal* 40 (4): 519-531.
- Butler, J. (1990) Gender Trouble; Feminism and the Subversion of Identity, London.
- Butler, J. (1993) Bodies that Matter: On the Discursive Limits of Sex, London.
- Butzer, K. (1976) Early Hydraulic Civilization in Egypt. A Study in Cultural Ecology, Chicago.

\mathbf{C}

- Cagle, A. J. (2003a) "A Spatial Analysis of Deposits in Kom el-Hisn", in A. K. Eyma (ed.) A Delta-Man in Yebu: Occasional Volume of the Egyptologists' Electronic Forum 1, Boca Raton: 147-169.
- Cagle, A. J. (2003b) The spatial structure Kom el-Hisn: an Old Kingdom town in the Western Nile Delta, Oxford.
- Cain, M. (1978) "The household life cycle and economic mobility in rural Bangladesh", *PDR* 4: 421-438.
- Cain, M. (1981) "Risk and insurance: perspectives on fertility and agrarian change in India and Bangladesh", *PDR* 7: 435-474.
- Cain, M. (1982) "Perspectives on family and fertility in developing countries", PS 36: 160-175.
- Cain, M. (1983) "Fertility as an adjustment to risk", PDR 9: 688-702.
- Cain, M. (1986) "The consequences of reproductive failure: Dependence, mobility and mortality among the elderly of rural South Asia", *PS* 40: 375-388.
- Cain, M. (1991) "Widows, sons and old-age security in rural Maharashtra. A comment on Vlassoff", PS 45: 519-528.
- Carnarvon, Earl of, & H. Carter (1912) Five Years' Explorations at Thebes. A Record of Work Done 1907-1911, London.
- Carr, C. (1995) "Mortuary Practices: Their Social, Philosophical-Religious, Circumstantial and Physical Determinants", *JAMT* 2 (2): 105-200.
- Carr-Saunders, A. M. (1922) The Population Problem: A Study in Human Evolution, Oxford.
- Castel, G., J.-F. Gout & G. Soukiassian (1984) "Découverte de mines pharaoniques au bord de la mer Rouge", *Archéologia* 192-193: 44-57.

- Castillos, J. J. (1976) "An Analysis of the Tombs in a First Dynasty Cemetery at Sakkara", NSSEA 6 (4): i-xii.
- Castillos, J. J. (1977) "An Analysis of the Tombs in Cemeteries 1300 and 1400-1500 at Armant", NSSEA 7 (2): 4-23.
- Castillos, J. J. (1977-1978) "An Analysis of the Predynastic Cemeteries E and U and the First Dynasty Cemetery S at Abydos", *JSSEA* 8: 86-98.
- Castillos, J. J. (1981) "An Analysis of the Tombs in the Predynastic Cemeteries at Naqada", *JSSEA* 11: 97-106.
- Castillos, J. J. (1982a) A Reappraisal of the Published Evidence on Egyptian Predynastic and Early Dynastic Cemeteries, Toronto.
- Castillos, J. J. (1982b) "Analyses of Egyptian Predynastic and Early Dynastic Cemeteries. Final Conlusions", *JSSEA* 12: 29-53.
- Castillos, J. J. (1983) A study of the spatial distribution of large and richly endowed tombs in Egyptian Predynastic and Early Dynastic cemeteries, Toronto.
- Castillos, J. J. (1998a) "Inequality in Egyptian Predynastic Cemeteries", RdE 49: 25-36.
- Castillos, J. J. (1998b) "Wealth Evaluation of Predynastic Tombs", GM 163: 27-31.
- Castillos, J. J. (1998c) "Evidence for the appearance of social stratification in Predynastic Egypt", in C. J. Eyre (ed.) *Proceedings of the Seventh International Congress of Egyptologists*, Leuven: 255-259.
- Castillos, J. J. (2000) "Brèves communications: The Predynastic Cemeteries at Badari", *RdE* 51: 253-256.
- Caton-Thompson, G., & E. W. Gardner (1934) The Desert Fayum, London.
- Cauvin, J. (1989) "La néolithisation du Levant, huit ans après", Paléorient 15 (1): 174-178.
- Cenival, J. L. de (1973) L'Égypte avant les pyramides: 4^e millénaire. Exposition au Grand Palais, 29 mai-3 sept. 1973, Paris.
- Chamberlain, A. T. (1997) "Commentary: Missing Stages of Life Towards the Perception of Children in Archaeology", in J. Moore, J. & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*, London & New York: 248-250.
- Chamberlain, A. T. (2000) "Minor Concerns: A Demographic Perspective on Children in Past Societies", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 206-212.
- Chamberlain, A. T. (2006) Demography in Archaeology, Cambridge.
- Chandler, J. (1991) Women Without Husbands: an Exploration of the Margins of Marriage, London.
- Chang, C. (1988) "Nauyalik Fish Camp: An Ethnoarchaeological Study in Activity-Area Formation", AA 53 (1): 145-157.
- Chapman, J. (2000) "Tension at funerals. Social practices and the subversion of community structure in later Hungarian prehistory", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) Agency in Archaeology, London: 169-195.

- Chapman, R., & K. Randsborg (1981) "Approaches to the Archaeology of Death", in R. Chapman, I. Kinnes & K. Randsborg (eds.) *The Archaeology of Death*, Cambridge: 1-24.
- Chatterji, S., J. C. Wall & J. W. Jeffery (1972) "Changes in the Degree of Orientation of Bone Materials with Age in the Human Femur", *Experientia* 28: 156-157.
- Chen, L. C., M. Rahman & A. M. Sardar (1980) "Epidemiology and causes of death among children in a rural area of Bangladesh", *International Journal of Epidemiology* 9: 25-33.
- Chłodnicki, M., & K. M. Ciałowicz (2005) "Tell el-Farkha (Ghazala) Season 2004", *Polish Archaeology in the Mediterranean* 16: 131-145.
- Ciałowicz, K. M. (1985) "Predynastic Graves with Weapons Found in Egypt and Nubia (analysis of published material)", Fontes Archaeologici Poznanienses 34: 157-180.
- Claassen, C. (1992) "Questioning Gender: An Introduction", in C. Claassen (ed.), Exploring Gender Through Archaeology. Selected Papers from the 1991 Boone Conference, Madison: 1-9.
- Clark, J. E. (2000) "Towards a better explanation of hereditary inequality: A critical assessment of natural and historic human agents", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 92-112.
- Clarke, S. (1977) "Mortality trends in prehistoric populations", *Human Biology* 49: 181-186.
- Coale, A. J. (1984) "The demographic transition", *The Pakistan Development Review* 23: 531-552.
- Cole, D. (1986) "Obstetrics for the Women of Ancient Egypt", DE 5: 27-33.
- Cole, D. (1989) "The Woman of Ancient Egypt as a Child", DE 13: 29-37.
- Collier, M., & S. Quirke (eds.) (2004) The UCL Lahun Papyri: Religious, Literary, Legal, Mathematical and Medical, Oxford.
- Conkey, M. W. (1997) "Beyond Art and Between the Caves: Thinking About Context in the Interpretative Process", in M. W. Conkey, O. Soffer, D. Stratmann & N. G. Jablonski (eds.) *Beyond Art. Pleistocene Image and Symbol*, San Francisco: 343-367.
- Connolly, M., & J. Ennew (1996) "Introduction: children out of place", *Childhood* 3 (2): 131-147.
- Cowgill, G. L. (2000) "'Rationality' and contexts in agency theory", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 51-60.
- Crawford, S. (1991) "When do Anglo-Saxon children count?", *Journal of Theoretical Archaeology* 2: 17-24.
- Crawford, S. (1993) "Children, death and the afterlife in Anglo-Saxon England", Anglo-Saxon Studies in Archaeology and History 6: 83-91.
- Crawford, S. (1999) Childhood in Anglo-Saxon England, Stroud.

- Crawford, S. (2000) "Children, grave goods and social status in Early Anglo-Saxon England", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 169-179.
- Crawford, S. (2007) "Companions, Co-incidences or Chattels? Children in the Early Anglo-Saxon Multiple Burial Ritual", in S. Crawford & G. Shepherd (2007) *Children, Childhood and Society*, Oxford: 83-92.
- Crawford, S. (2008) "Special burials, special buildings? An Anglo-Saxon perspective on the interpretation of infant burials in association with rural settlement structures", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 197-204.
- Crawford, S. (2009) "The Archaeology of Play Things: Theorising a Toy Stage in the 'Biography' of Objects", *Childhood in the Past* 2: 56-71.
- Cronk, L. (1991) "Human behavioural ecology", ARA 20: 25-53.
- Crubézy, É. (2001) "Cognitive capacities, visual representations of a message and the invention of writing in Egypt", *Archéo-Nil* 11: 13-21.
- Crubézy, É., S. Duchesne & B. Midant-Reynes (2008) "The Predynastic cemetery at Adaïma (Upper Egypt). General presentation and implications for the populations of Predynastic Egypt", in B. Midant-Reynes & Y. Tristant (eds.) Egypt at its Origins 2. Proceedings of the International Conference "Origin of the State. Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt", Toulouse (France), 5th-8th September 2005, Leuven: 289-310.
- Crubézy, É., T. Janin & B. Midant-Reynes (2002a) Adaïma 2: La nécropole prédynastique, Cairo.
- Crubézy, É., T. Janin & B. Midant-Reynes (2002b) "Les sacrifices humains à l'époque prédynastique: apport de l'étude de la nécropole d'Adaïma", *Archéo-Nil* 10: 21-42.
- Curto, S. (1985) "Gebelein: Prospettive di ricerca", in P. Posener-Krieger (ed.) Mélanges Gamal Eddin Mokhtar, Cairo, 97.1: 167-175.

<u>D</u>

- Daly, M., & M. Wilson (1984) "A Sociobiological Analysis of Human Infanticide", in G. Hausfater, & S. B. Hrdy (eds.) Infanticide: Comparative and Evolutionary Perspectives, New York: 487-502.
- Darby, W. J., P. Ghalioungui & L. Grivetti (1977) Food: The Gift of Osiris, London.
- Dartevelle-Puissant, E. (1937) "Notes conchyliologiques africaines (IV). Quelques mollusques trouvés dans des tombes égyptiennes", *CdE* 12: 50-53.
- Darwin, C. (1859) The Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection, London.
- Das Gupta, M. (1987) "Selective discrimination against female children in India", *PDR* 13: 77-101.
- David, A. R. (1979) "Toys and Games from Kahun in the Manchester Museum Collection", in G. A. Gaballa, K. A. Kitchen & J. Ruffle (eds.) Glimpses of Ancient Egypt; Studies in Honour of H. W. Fairman, Warminster: 12-15.

- David, A. R. (1986) The Pyramid Builders of Ancient Egypt: A Modern Investigation of Pharaoh's Workforce, London.
- David, A. R. (2002) Religion and Magic in Ancient Egypt, London.
- David, N. (1992) "The Archaeology of Ideology: Mortuary Practices in the Central Mandara Highlands, Northern Cameroon", in J. Sterner & N. David (eds.) An African Commitment. Papers in Honour of Peter Lewis Shinnie, Calgary:181-210.
- Davies, D. (2002) Death, Ritual and Belief. The Rhetoric of Funerary Rites, 2nd Edition, London.
- Davies, W. V. (2001) Colour and Painting in Ancient Egypt, London.
- Davis, W. M. (1983) "Cemetery T at Naqada", MDAIK 39: 17-29.
- De Mause, L. (1974) (ed.) The History of Childhood: The Untold Story of Child Abuse, London.
- Debono, F., & B. Mortensen (1990) El Omari: a Neolithic Settlement and other Sites in the Vicinity of Wadi Hof Helwan, Mainz am Rhein.
- Delrue, P. (2001) "The Predynastic Cemetery at Naga ed-Dêr. A Re-evaluation", in H. Willems (ed.) Social Aspects of Funerary Culture in the Egyptian Old and Middle Kingdoms, Leuven: 21-66.
- DeMarrais, E. (2004) "The Materialization of Culture", in E. DeMarrais, C. Godsen & C. Renfrew (eds.) Rethinking Materiality. The Engagement of Mind with the Material World, Cambridge: 11-22.
- Derevenski, J. S. (1994) "Where are the Children? Accessing Children in the Past", ARC 13 (2): 7-20.
- Derevenski, J. S. (1997) "Engendering Children, Engendering Archaeology", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*, London & New York: 192-202.
- Derevenski, J. S. (2000) "Material Culture Shock: Confronting Expectations in the Material Culture of Children", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 3-16.
- Desroches-Noblecourt, C. (1986) La femme au temps des pharaons, Paris.
- DiMaggio, P. (1997) "Culture and Cognition", Annual Review of Sociology 23: 263-287.
- Djurić, M., K. Djukić, P. Milovanović, A. Janović & P. Milenković (2011) "Representing the children in excavated cemeteries: the intrinsic preservation factors", *Antiquity* 85: 250-262.
- Dobres, M.-A., & J. Robb (2000) "Agency in archaeology: Paradigm or platitude?", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 3-17.
- Dodson, A. (1988) "Egypt's first antiquarians?", Antiquity 62: 513-517.
- Dodson, A. (1993) "Something Old, Something New, Something Borrowed, Something Granite", *KMT* 4 (3): 59-69, 85.
- Donadoni Roveri, A.-M. (1969) I sarcofagi Egizi dalle Origini alla fine dell'Antico Regno, Rome.

- Donadoni Roveri, A.-M., E. D'Amicone & E. Leospo (1994) Gebelein. Il villagio e la necropolis, Torino.
- Dorman, P. F. (1999) "Creation on the Potter's Wheel at the Eastern Horizon of Heaven", in E. Teeter & J. A. Larson (eds.) Gold of Praise. Studies on Ancient Egypt in Honour of Edward F. Wente, Chicago: 83-99.
- Douglas, M., & A. B. Wildavsky (1982) Risk and culture: An essay on the selection of technical and environmental dangers, Berkeley.
- Downes, S. M. (1997) "Logical Positivism/Logical Empiricism", in D. Garrett & E. Barbanell (eds.) *The Encyclopedia of Empiricism*, London & Chicago: 218-224.
- Draper, P. (1975) "!Kung Women", in R. R. Reiter (ed.) Toward an Anthropology of Women, London: 77-109.
- Driel-Murray, C. van (2000) "Leatherwork and skin products", in AEMT: 299-319.
- Duchesne, S., C. Petit, N. Baudel, B. Midant-Reynes & É. Crubézy (2003) "Le rôle des parures dans le cérémonies funéraires au prédynastique: l'exemple des sépultures d'enfants à Adaïma", *BIFAO* 103: 133-166.
- Duday, H. (2006) "L'archéothanatologie de la mort (Archaeothanatology or the Archaeology of Death)", Trans. C. J. Knüsel, in R. Gowland & C. J. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains. Oxford: 30-56.
- Dupras, T. L., & M. W. Tocheri (2007) "Reconstructing infant weaning histories at Roman Period Kellis, Egypt using stable isotope analysis of dentition", *AJPA* 134 (1): 63-74.
- Dupras, T. L., H. P. Schwarcz & S. I. Fairgrieve (2001) "Infant feeding and weaning practices in Roman Egypt", *AJPA* 115 (3): 204-212.
- Durkheim, E. (1995) *The Elementary Forms of Religious Life*, Trans. K. E. Fields, New York.
- Dzierżykray-Rogalski, T. (1973) "Bones of Newborn Infants from the Church of the Citadel at Faras", ET 7: 238-243.
- Dzierżykray-Rogalski, T., & E. Promińska (1992) "Anthropological and Paleopathological Researches the Polish Centre of Mediterranean Archaeology of Warsaw University", in S. Jakobielski (ed.) Fifty Years of Polish Excavations in Egypt and the Near East; Acts of the Symposium at the Warsaw University, 1986, Warsaw: 93-95.

<u>E</u>

- Ebbell, B. (1937) The Papyrus Ebers. The Greatest Egyptian Medical Document, Copenhagen & London.
- Edel, E. (1966) "Vorbericht über die Arbeiten in den Gräbern der Qubbet el Hawa bei Assuan", ZÄS 93: 48-55.
- Edel, E., K.-J. Seyfried & G. Vieler (2008a) Die Felsgräbernekropole der Qubbet el-Hawa bei Assuan: I. Abteilung. Band 3: Architektur, Darstellungen, Texte, archäologischer Befund und Funde der Gräber QH 102 QH 209, Paderborn.

- Edel, E., K.-J. Seyfried & G. Vieler (2008b) Die Felsgräbernekropole der Qubbet el-Hawa bei Assuan: I. Abteilung. Band 1: Architektur, Darstellungen, Texte, archäologischer Befund und Funde der Gräber QH 24 QH 34p, Paderborn.
- Egan, G. (1996) Playthings from the Past. Lead Alloy Miniature Artefacts, c.1300-1800, London.
- Einwögerer, T., H. Friesinger. M. Händel, C. Neugebauer-Maresch, U. Simon & M. Teschler-Nicola (2006) "Upper Palaeolithic infant burials", *Nature* 444: 285.
- Einwögerer, T., M. Händel, C. Neugebauer-Maresch, U. Simon & M Teschler-Nicola (2008) "The Gravettian infant burials from Krems-Wachtberg, Austria", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 15-19.
- el-Banna, A. (1990) "Une nécropole inédite d'époque archaïque découvert, près de Hélouan, au Sud du Caire", *GM* 117-118: 7-54.
- el-Din, T. S. (1997) "The title 'mdw-j3wj', 'the staff of old age'", DE 37: 59-64.
- El-Khadragy, M. (2006) "New Discoveries in the Tomb of Khety II at Asyut", *BACE* 17: 79-95.
- El-Khouli, A. (1968) "A Preliminary Report on the Excavations at Tura", ASAE 60: 73-76.
- El-Khouli, A., & N. Kanawati (1989) Quseir el-Amarna. The Tombs of Pepy-ankh and Khewen-wekh, Sydney.
- Ellis, C. (1992) "A Statistical Analysis of the Protodynastic Burials in the 'Valley' Cemetery of Kafr Tarkhan", in E. C. M. van den Brink (ed.) The Nile Delta in Transition: 4th-3rd Millenium B.C.; Proceedings of the Seminar held in Cairo; 21st-24th October 1990 at the Netherlands Institute of Archaeology and Arabic Studies, Tel Aviv: 241-258.
- Ellis, C. (1996) "Expressions of social status: a statistical approach to the Late Predynastic/ Early Dynastic cemeteries of Kafr Tarkhan", in L. Krzyżaniak, K. Kroeper & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Interregional Contacts in the Later Prehistory of Northeastern Africa; Proceedings of the International Symposium Organized by the Archaeological Commission of the Polish Academy of Sciences, 8th-12th September, 1992, Poznań: 151-164.
- el-Sawi, A. (1979) "Some Objects Found at Tell Basta (Season 1966-67)", ASAE 63: 155-159.
- El-Shohoumi, N. (2004) Der Tod im Leben Eine vergleichende Analyse altägyptischer und rezenter ägyptischer Totenbräuche, Vienna.
- Emery, W. B. (1954) Great Tombs of the First Dynasty II, London.
- Engelbach, R. (1915) Riqqeh and Memphis VI, London.
- Engelbach, R. (1923) Harageh, London.
- Engelstad, E. (1991) "Images of power and contradiction: feminist theory and post-processual archaeology", *Antiquity* 65: 502-514.

- Erman, A. & H. Grapow (1926–1931, repr. 1971) Wörterbuch der aegyptischen Sprache, 6 volumes, Berlin.
- Erman, A. (1966) *The Ancient Egyptians. A Sourcebook of their Writings*, Trans. A, M. Blackman, New York.
- Evers, T., & T. Huffman (1988) "On Why Pots are Decorated the Way They Are", CA 29 (5): 739-741.

F

- Faerman, M., G. Kahila, P. Smith, C. Greenblatt, L. Stager, D. Filon & A. Oppenheim (1997) "DNA analysis reveals the sex of infanticide victims", *Nature* 385: 212.
- Fahlander, F. (2008) "A Piece of the Mesolithic. Horizontal Stratigraphy and Bodily Manipulations at Skateholm", in F. Fahlander & T. Oestigaard (eds.) *The Materiality of Death: Bodies, Burials, Beliefs*, Oxford: 29-45.
- Fahlander, F., & T. Oestigaard (2008) "The Materiality of Death: Bodies, Burials, Beliefs", in F. Fahlander & T. Oestigaard (eds.) *The Materiality of Death: Bodies, Burials, Beliefs*, Oxford: 1-16.
- Fairservis, W. A., M. A. Hoffman & K. R. Weeks (1971-1972) "Preliminary report on the first two seasons at Hierakonpolis", *JARCE* 9: 7-27, 67-68.
- Farid, S. (1964) "Preliminary Report on the Excavations of the Antiquities Department at Tell Basta (Season 1961)", ASAE 58: 85-98.
- Farina, G. (1929) "Notizie sugli scavi della mission Archaeologica Italiana a Gebelên 1930", Aegyptus 10: 291-294.
- Faulkner, R. O. (1973) The Ancient Egyptian Coffin Texts, Volume I, Warminster.
- Faulkner, R., O. Goelet & C. Andrews (1998) The Egyptian Book of the Dead. The Book of Going Forth By Day, Cairo.
- Fazekas, I. G., & F. Kósa (1978) Forensic Fetal Osteology, Budapest.
- Featherstone, L. (2003) Breeding and Feeding: A Social History of Mothers and Medicine in Australia, 1885-1925, PhD. Thesis, Macquarie University, Sydney.
- Feucht, E. (1980a) "Kind", in LÄ III: 424-437.
- Feucht, E. (1980b) "Kinderarbeit", in *LÄ* III: 438-440.
- Feucht, E. (1980c) "Kinderlosigkeit und –wunsch", in LÄ III: 440-441.
- Feucht, E. (1995) Das Kind im Alten Ägypten. Die Stellung des Kindes in Familie und Gessellschaft nach altägyptischen Texten und Darstellungen, Frankfurt & New York.
- Feucht, E. (2001a) "Childhood", in *OEAE* 1: 261-264.
- Feucht, E. (2001b) "Birth", in OEAE 1: 192-193.
- Feucht, E. (2001c) "Family", in *OEAE* 1: 501-504.
- Filer, J. M. (1995) Disease, London.

- Filer, J. M. (1998) "Mother and Baby Burials", *Proceedings of the Seventh International Congress of Egyptologists*, Leuven: 391-400.
- Filer, J. M. (2001) "Hygiene", in OEAE 2: 133-136.
- Finlay, N. (1997) "Kid Knapping: The Missing Children in Lithic Analysis", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*, London & New York: 203-212.
- Finlay, N. (2000) "Outside of Life: Traditions of Infant Burial in Ireland from *Cillin* to Cist", WA 31 (3): 407-422.
- Fischer, H. G. (1977) "Some iconographic and literary comparisons", in J. Assman, E. Feucht & R. Grieshammer (eds.) Fragen an die altägyptische Literatur. Studien zum Gedenken an Eberhard Otto, Wiesbaden: 155-170.
- Fischer-Elfert, H.-W. (2001) "Education", in OEAE 1: 438-442.
- Fluck, C., & K. Finneiser (2009) Kindheit am Nil. Spielzeug Kleidung Kinderbilder aus Ägypten in den Staatlichen Museen zu Berlin, Berlin.
- Forbes, D. (1995) "The Middle Kingdom Tomb Models of Vizier Meketre", *KMT* 6(3): 25-38.
- Forrer, R. (1901) Über Steinzeit-Hockergräber zu Achmim, Naqada etc, in Ober-Ägypten und über europäische Parallelfunde, Strassburg.
- Foucault, M. (1974) The Archaeology of Knowledge, London.
- Frankfort, H. (1930) "The cemeteries of Abydos: Work of the Season 1925-1926. II. Description of Tombs", *JEA* 16: 213-219.
- Frankfort, H. (1948) Kingship and the Gods, Chicago.
- Frankfort, H. (1975) Ancient Egyptian Religion. An Interpretation, New York.
- Frankfort, H., & J. D. S. Pendlebury (1933) The City of Akhenaten Part II, The North Suburb and the Desert Altars. The Excavations at Tell el-Amarna during the Seasons 1926-1932, London.
- Freed, R. E. (1974) "Cemetery at Naga el-Hai (Qena)", NARCE 91: 28.
- Friedel, E. (1975) Women and Men: An Anthropologist's View, New York.
- Friedman, F. D. (1994) "Aspects of domestic life and religion", in L. H. Lesko (ed.) *Pharaoh's Workers. The Villagers of Deir el Medina*, Ithaca & London: 95-117.
- Friedman, R. F. (1996) "The Ceremonial Centre at Hierakonpolis Locality HK29A", in J. Spencer (ed.) Aspects of Early Egypt, London: 16-35.
- Friedman, R. F., W. Van Neer & V. Linseele (2011) "The Elite Predynastic Cemetery at Hierakonpolis: 2009–2010 Update", in R. F. Friedman & P. N. Fiske (eds.) Egypt at Its Origins 3. Proceedings of the Third International Conference "Origin of the State. Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt", London, 27th July 1st August 2008, Leuven: 157-191.
- Fuentes, A. (2010) "The New Biological Anthropology: Bringing Washburn's New Physical Anthropology Into 2010 and Beyond The 2008 AAPA Luncheon Lecture", YPA 53: 2-12.

 \mathbf{G}

- Gale, N. H., & A. Stos-Gale (1981) "Ancient Egyptian Silver", JEA 67: 103-115.
- Gale, R., P. Gasson, N. Hepper & G. Killen (2000) "Wood", in AEMT: 334-371.
- Gallorini, C. (1998) "A Reconstruction of Petrie's Excavation at the Middle Kingdom Settlement of Kahun", in S. Quirke (ed.) *Lahun Studies*, New Malden: 42-59.
- Galloway, A., P. Willey & L. Snyder (1997) "Human Bone Mineral Densities and Survival of Bone Elements: A Contemporary Sample", in W. D. Haglund & M. H. Sorg (eds.) Forensic Taphonomy: The Postmortem Fate of Human Remains, Boca Raton: 295-317.
- Gardiner, A. H. (1933) "Tanis and Pi-Ra'messe: A Retraction", JEA 19: 122-128.
- Gardiner, A. H. (1935) The Attitude of the Ancient Egyptians to Death and the Dead, Cambridge.
- Gardiner, A. H. (1994) Egyptian Grammar. Being an Introduction to the Study of Hieroglyphs, Oxford.
- Garland, A. N. & R. C. Janaway (1989) "The taphonomy of inhumation burials", in C. Roberts, F. Lee & J. Bintliff (eds.) *Burial Archaeology: Current Research, Methods and Developments*, Oxford: 15-37.
- Garstang, J. (1901) El Arábah: A Cemetery of the Middle Kingdom: Survey of the Old Kingdom Temenos; Graffiti from the Temple of Seti, London.
- Garstang, J. (1902) "Excavations at Reqaqnah in Upper Egypt", Man 2: 65-66.
- Garstang, J. (1903) Mahâsna and Bêt Khallaf, London.
- Garstang, J. (1904) Tombs of the Third Egyptian Dynasty at Reqâqnah and Bêt Khallâf, Westminster.
- Garstang, J. (1905) "Note upon excavations made in 1904-1905", Man 5: 145-146.
- Garstang, J. (1907a) The burial customs of ancient Egypt: as illustrated by tombs of the Middle Kingdom, being a report of excavations made in the necropolis of Beni Hassan during 1902-3-4, London.
- Garstang, J. (1907b) "Excavations at Hierakonpolis, at Esna, and in Nubia", ASAE 8: 132-148.
- Garwood, P. (2007) "Vital Resources, Ideal Images and Virtual Lives: Children in Early Bronze Age Funerary Ritual", in S. Crawford & G. Shepherd (eds.) *Children, Childhood and Society*, Oxford: 63-82.
- Geertz, C. (1973) The Interpretation of Cultures. Selected Essays, New York.
- Gennep, A. van (1960) *The Rites of Passage*, Trans. M. B. Vizedom & G. L. Caffee, Chicago.
- Geus, F. (1984) "Excavations at El Kadada and the Neolithic of the Central Sudan", in L. Krzyaniak & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Origin and Early Development of Food Producing Cultures in North Eastern Africa, Poznań: 361-372.

- Ghilardi, M., & M. Boraik (2011) "Reconstructing the Holocene depositional environments in the western part of Ancient Karnak temples complex (Egypt): a geoarchaeological approach", *JAS* 38 (12): 3204-3216.
- Ghilardi, M., Y. Tristant & M. Boraik (forthcoming) "Nile River evolution in Upper Egypt during the Holocene: palaeoenvironmental implications for the Pharaonic sites of Karnak and Coptos", Géomorphologie: relief, processus et environnement 1.
- Giddens, A. (1984) The Constitution of Society, Cambridge.
- Giddy, L., & D. Jeffreys (1993) "The people of Memphis", EA 3: 18-20.
- Gilchrist, R. (2007) "Archaeology and the Life Course: A Time and Age for Gender", in L. Meskell & R. W. Preucel (eds.) *A Companion to Social Archaeology*, Malden: 142-160.
- Gill-King, H. (1997) "Chemical and Ultrastructural Aspects of Decomposition", in W. D. Haglund & M. H. Sorg (eds.) Forensic Taphonomy: The Postmortem Fate of Human Remains, Boca Raton: 93-108.
- Ginzburg, C., & C. Poni (1991) "The Name and the Game: Unequal Exchange and the Historic Marketplace", in E. Muir & G. Ruggiero (eds.) *Microhistory and the Lost Peoples of Europe*, Trans. E. Branch, Baltimore: 1-10.
- Glencross, B. A. (2011) "Skeletal Injury Across the Life Course. Towards Understanding Social Agency", in S. C. Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 390-409.
- Gobeil, C. (2009) "Inhumations d'enfants en zone d'habitat à Balat", BIFAO 109: 161-175.
- Goedicke, H. (1971) Re-Used Blocks from the Pyramid of Amenemhat I at Lisht, New York.
- Goedicke, H. (1988) "The High Price of Burial", JARCE 25: 195-199.
- Goffman, E. (1961) Asylums, Harmondsworth.
- Goffman, E. (1970) Stigma, Harmondsworth.
- Golden, M. (1990) Children and Childhood in Classical Athens, Baltimore & London.
- Gomaá, F. (1982) "Nekropolen des MR", in *LÄ* IV: 415-427.
- Goodfellow, C. (1993) The Ultimate Doll Book, London.
- Goodman, A. H. (1993) "On the Interpretation of Health from Skeletal Remains", CA 34 (3): 281-288.
- Goodman, A. H., & G. J. Armelagos (1989) "Infant and child morbidity and mortality risks in archaeological populations", WA 21: 225-243.
- Goodwin, M. H. (1997) "Children's linguistic and social worlds", *Anthropology Newsletter* 38 (4): 1, 4-5.
- Gordon, C. C., & J. E. Buikstra (1981) "Soil pH, Bone Preservation, and Sampling Bias at Mortuary Sites", AA 46 (3): 566-571.
- Gosden, C., & Y. Marshall (1999) "The Cultural Biography of Objects", WA 31 (2): 169-178.

- Gowland, R. (2006) "Ageing the Past: Examining Age Identity from Funerary Evidence", in R. Gowland & C. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains, Oxford: 143-154.
- Grajetzki, W. (2001) "Die Nekropole von el-Harageh in der 1. Zwischenzeit", SAK 29: 55-60.
- Grajetzki, W. (2003) Burial Customs in Ancient Egypt: Life in Death for Rich and Poor, London.
- Grajetzki, W. (2004a) Tarkhan. A Cemetery at the time of Egyptian State Formation, London.
- Grajetzki, W. (2004b) Harageh. An Egyptian Burial Ground for the Rich, around 1800 BC, London.
- Grajetzki, W. (2005) Sedment. Burials of Egyptian Farmers and Noblemen Over the Centuries, London.
- Grajetzki, W. (2007) "Multiple Burials in Ancient Egypt to the End of the Middle Kingdom", in S. Grallert & W. Grajetzki (eds.) Life and Afterlife in Ancient Egypt during the Middle Kingdom and Second Intermediate Period, London: 16-34.
- Greene, D. L., & G. J. Armelagos (1972) "The Wadi Halfa Mesolithic population", Department of Anthropology Research Papers, University of Massachusetts, Amherst.
- Greiss, E. A. M. (1955) "Anatomical identification of plant remains and other materials from 1) El-Omari Excavations at Helwan from Neolithic period: 2) The Excavations at Helwan from the First Dynasty", *BIE* 36: 227-235.
- Grendi, E. (1977) "Microanalisi e storia sociale", Quaderni storici 35: 506-520.
- Grieshammer, R. (1974) "Zum 'Sitz im Leben' des negativen Sündenbekenntnisses", Zeitschrift der deutschen morgenländischen Gesellschaft, Wiesbaden: 19-25.
- Griffith, F. L. (1898) Hieratic Papyri from Kahun and Gurob, London.
- Griffith, F. L. (1900-1901) Egypt Exploration Fund Archaeological Report 1900-1901, London.
- Grimal, N. (1991) "Travaux de l'IFAO en 1990-1991: Qila' el-Dabba", BIFAO 91: 269-284.
- Grimal, N. (1999) "Travaux de l'IFAO en 1998-1999. Chantiers archéologiques et programmes de recherche. Égypte pharaonique: Adaïma", *BIFAO* 99: 449-456.
- Griswold, W. A. (1992) Imports and social status: The role of long-distance trade in predynastic Egyptian state formation, PhD. Thesis, Harvard University.
- Gunn, S. (2006) History and Cultural Theory, Harlow.
- Gusfield, J. R. (1968) "On Legislating Morals: The Symbolic Process of Designating Deviance", *California Law Review* 56 (1): 54-73.
- Guy, H., C. Masset & C.-A. Baud (1997) "Infant Taphonomy", IJO 7: 221-229.

H

- Haarlem, W. M. van (2001) "Tell Ibrahim Awad", EA 18: 33-35.
- Haarlem, W. M. van (2003) "The Excavations at Tell Ibrahim Awad (Sharqiya Province) Seasons 1995-2000", in Z. Hawass (ed.) Egyptology at the Dawn of the Twenty-First Century: Proceedings of the Eighth International Congress of Egyptologists, Cairo 2000, Volume I: Archaeology, Cairo: 536-540.
- Haarlem, W. M. van (2005) "The First Intermediate Period cemetery and settlement at Tell Ibrahim Awad", in L. Pantalacci (ed.) Des Néferkarê aux Montouhotep. Travaux archéologiques en cours sur la fin de VI^e dynastie et la première période intermédiaire. Actes du colloque CNRS-Université Lumière-Lyon 2, tenu le 5-7 juillet 2001, Lyon: 195-202.
- Haarlem, W. M. van, & T. Hikade (2006) "Recent results of research at Tell Ibrahim Awad", in E. Czerny (ed.) *Timelines. Studies in Honour of Manfred Bietak 1*, Leuven: 389-398.
- Haas, J. D. (1990) "Mortality and morbidity consequences of variation in early child growth", in A. C. Swedlund & G. J. Armelagos (eds.) Diseases in Populations in Transition: Anthropological and Epidemiological Perspectives, New York: 223-247.
- Habachi, L. (1939) "A First Dynasty Cemetery at Abydos", ASAE 39: 767-781.
- Halcrow, S. E., & N. Tayles (2011) "The Bioarchaeological Investigation of Childhood", in S. C. Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) Social Bioarchaeology, Chichester: 333-360.
- Hall, E. S. (1977) "Harpocrates and Other Child Deities in Ancient Egyptian Sculpture", JARCE 14: 55-58.
- Halsall, G. (1997) "Archaeology and Historiography", in M. Bentley (ed.) Companion to Historiography, London: 805-827.
- Hamada, A., & M. el-Amir (1947) "Excavations at Kôm el-Ḥisn, Season 1943", ASAE 46: 101-111.
- Hamada, A., & S. Farid (1947) "Excavations at Kôm el-Hisn, Season 1945", ASAE 46: 195-205.
- Hamada, A., & S. Farid (1948) "Excavations at Kôm el-Ḥisn, Third Season 1946", ASAE 48: 299-308.
- Hamada, A., & S. Farid (1950) "Excavations at Kôm el-Ḥisn, Fourth Season 1947", ASAE 50: 367-379.
- Hammond, G., & N. Hammond (1981) "Child's play: a distorting factor in archaeological distribution", AA 46: 634-636.
- Hanawalt, B. (1977) "Childrearing among the lower classes of Late Medieval England", JIH 8: 1-22.
- Hannig, R., & P. Vomberg (1999) Wortschatz der Pharaonen in Sachgruppen, Hannig Lexica 2, Mainz.

- Hannig, R., & P. Vomberg (2006) Die Sprache der Pharaonen. Grosses Handwörterbuch Ägyptisch-Deutsch, Mainz.
- Harlan, F. J. (1982) "Excavations at Locality 11C", in M. A. Hoffman (ed.) The Predynastic of Hierakonpolis. An Interim Report, Giza: 14-25.
- Harlow, M., & R. Laurence (2007) "Age and ageing in the Roman Empire", in M. Harlow & R. Laurence (eds.) Age and Ageing in the Roman Empire, Portsmouth: 9-24.
- Harrington, N. (2005) "From the Cradle to the Grave: Anthropoid busts and ancestor cults at Deir el-Medina", in K. Piquette & S. Love (eds.) Current Research in Egyptology 2003. Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Symposium. Institute of Archaeology, University College London, 18-19 January 2003, Oxford: 71-88.
- Harrington, N. (2007) "Children and the Dead in New Kingdom Egypt", in R. Mairs & A. Stevenson (eds.) Current Research in Egyptology 2005. Proceedings of the Sixth Annual Symposium which took place at the University of Cambridge, 6-8 January 2005, Oxford: 52-65.
- Harrington, S. P. M. (1999) "Early Portugese Burial", Archaeology 52 (2): 30-31.
- Hart, G. (1986) A Dictionary of Egyptian Gods and Goddesses, London.
- Hart, N. (1998) "Beyond infant mortality: Gender and stillbirth in reproductive mortality before the Twentieth Century", *PS* 52: 215-229.
- Hartung, U., P. Ballet, F. Beguin, J. Bourriau, P. G. French, T. Herbich, P. Kopp, G. Lecuyot & A. Schmitt (2003) "Tell el-Fara'in Buto: 8. Vorbericht", *MDAIK* 59: 199-267.
- Hassan, F. (1978) "Demographic Archaeology", Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory 1: 49-103.
- Hassan, S. (1932) Excavations at Gîza. 1929 1930, Oxford.
- Hassan, S. (1936) Excavations at Gîza, Volume II: 1930 1931, Cairo.
- Hassan, S. (1941) Excavations at Gîza, Volume III: 1931 1932, Cairo.
- Hassanein, F., G. Lecuyot, A.-M. Loyrette & M. Nelson (1984-1985) "Une sépulture d'enfant de la Basse Époque", ASAE 70: 39-49.
- Hauschtech, E. (2004) "Goats in houses on Elephantine during the Middle Kingdom and Second Intermediate Period", *GM* 202: 59-70.
- Hayden, B., & A. Cannon (1983) "Where the Garbage Goes: Refuse Disposal in the Maya Highlands", *Anthropological Archaeology* 2: 117-163.
- Haydn, T. (1898) Haydn's Dictionary of Dates and Universal Information Relating to all Ages and Nations, 22nd Edition, London.
- Heer, D. (1968) "Economic development and the fertility transition", Daedalus 9: 447-462.
- Heinze, R.-I. (ed.) (2000) The Nature and Function of Rituals: Fire From Heaven, Westport & London.
- Helck, W., & E. Otto (eds.) (1975–1992) Lexikon der Ägyptologie, Volumes 1–7, Wiesbaden.

- Henderson, J. (1987) "Factors determining the state of preservation in human remains", in A. Boddington, A. N. Garland & R. C. Janaway (eds.) Death, Decay and Reconstruction: Approaches to Archaeology and Forensic Science, Manchester: 43-54.
- Hendrickx, S. (1984) "The late predynastic cemetery at Elkab (Upper Egypt)", in L. Krzyżaniak & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Origin and Early Development of Food Producing Cultures, Poznań: 1225-1230.
- Hendrickx, S. (1995) Analytical Bibliography of the Prehistory and the Early Dynastic Period of Egypt and Northern Sudan, Leuven.
- Hendrickx, S. (1998) "La nécropole de l'est à Adaïma. Position chronologique et parallèls", *Archéo-Nil* 8: 105-128.
- Hendrickx, S. (1999) "La chronologie de la préhistorie tardive et des débuts de l'histoire de l'Égypte", *Archéo-Nil* 9: 13-107.
- Hendrickx, S. (2006) "Predynastic-Early Dynastic Chronology", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 55-93.
- Hendrickx, S., & E. C. M. van den Brink (2002) "Inventory of Predynastic and Early Dynastic Cemetery and Settlement Sites in the Egyptian Nile Valley", in E. C. M. van den Brink & T. E. Levy (eds.) Egypt and the Levant. Interrelations from the 4th Through the Early 3rd Millenium BCE, London & New York: 346-399.
- Hendrickx, S., & L. Bavay (2002) "The Relative Chronological Position of Egyptian Predynastic and Early Dynastic Tombs with Objects Imported from the Near East and the Nature of Interregional Contacts", in E. C. M. van den Brink & T. E. Levy (eds.) Egypt and the Levant. Interrelations from the 4th Through the Early 3rd Millennium BCE, London: 58-80.
- Hendrickx, S., & P. Vermeersch (2000) "Prehistory: From the Palaeolithic to the Badarian Culture", in I. Shaw (ed.) *The Oxford History of Ancient Egypt*, Oxford: 17-43.
- Hendrickx, S., D. Huyge & E. Warmenbol (2003) "Un cimetière particulier de la deuxième dynastie à Elkab", *Archéo-Nil* 12: 47-54.
- Hertz, R. (1907) "Contribution à une étude sur la représentation collective de la mort", Année Sociologique 10: 48-137.
- Hertz, R. (1960) Death and the Right Hand, Trans. R & C Needham, Aberdeen.
- Hewlett, B. S. (1991) "Demography and childcare in pre-industrial societies", JAR 47: 1-37.
- Higginbotham, A. R. (1989) "Sin of the Age: infanticide and illegitimacy in Victorian London", Victorian Studies 32: 319-337.
- Hill, K., & A. M. Hurtado (1996) Ache Life History. The Ecology and Demography of a Foraging People, New York.
- Hill, K., & H. Kaplan (1999) "Life history traits in humans: Theory and empirical studies", *ARA* 28: 397-430.
- Hillier, J. K., J. M. Bunbury & A. Graham (2007) "Monuments on a migrating Nile", *JAS* 34 (7): 1011-1015.

- Himmelfarb, G. (1984) The Idea of Poverty. England in the Early Industrial Age, London.
- Hockey, J., & A. James (1993) Growing Up and Growing Old, London.
- Hockey, J., & A. James (2003) Social Identities Across the Life Course, Basingstoke.
- Hodder, I. (1982) The Present Past: an Introduction to Anthropology for Archaeologists, New York.
- Hodder, I. (1986) Reading the Past, Cambridge.
- Hodder, I. (1996) Theory and Practice in Archaeology, London & New York.
- Hodder, I. (2000) "Agency and individuals in long-term processes", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 21-33.
- Hodder, I., & C. Cessford (2004) "Daily Practice and Social Memory at Çatalhöyük", AA 69 (1): 17-40.
- Hoffman, M. A. (1979) Egypt Before the Pharaohs, New York.
- Holmes, D. L., & R. F. Friedman (1994) "Survey and Test Excavations in the Badari Region, Egypt", *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 60: 105-142.
- Hope, C. A. (1999) "The Excavations at Ismant el-Kharab in 1998/9: A Brief Report", BACE 10: 59-66.
- Hope, C. A., D. Jones, L. Falvey, J. Petkov, H. Whitehouse & K. Worp (2010) "Report on the 2010 Season of Excavations at Ismant el-Kharab, Dakhleh Oasis", *BACE* 21: 21-54.
- Hopwood, D. E. (2008) "The changing relationship between the living and the dead: Child burial at the site of Kenan Tepe, Turkey", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn:* Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford: 113-121.
- Horne, L. (1983) "Recycling an Iranian Village: Ethnoarchaeology in Baghestan", *Archaeology* 36 (4): 16-21.
- Hornung, E. (1992) Idea into Image: Essays on Ancient Egyptian Thought, New York.
- Hrdy, S. B. (1992) "Fitness tradeoffs in the history and evolution of delegated mothering with special reference to wet-nursing, abandonment and infanticide", ES 13: 409-442.
- Hrdy, S. B., & G. Hausfater (1984) "Comparative and Evolutionary Perspectives on Infanticide: Introduction and Overview", in G. Hausfater & S. B. Hrdy (eds.)
 Infanticide: Comparative and Evolutionary Perspectives, New York: xiii-xxxv.
- Hummel, S., & B. Hermann (1994) "Y-Chromosomal DNA from ancient bones", in B. Hermann & S. Hummel (eds.) Ancient DNA: Recovery and Analysis of Genetic Material from Palaeontological, Archaeological, Museum, Medical and Forensic Specimens. New York: 205-210.
- Humphrey, C., & J. Laidlaw (1994) The Archetypal Actions of Ritual: a theory of ritual illustrated by the Jain rite of worship, Oxford.
- Humphrey, L. (2000) "Interpretations of the Growth of Past Populations", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 193-205.

- Huntington, R., & P. Metcalf (1979) Celebrations of Death: The Anthropology of Mortuary Ritual, Cambridge.
- Hurren, E. T. (2004) "A Pauper Dead-House: The Expansion of the Cambridge Anatomical Teaching School under the late-Victorian Poor Law, 1870-1914", *Medical History* 48 (1): 69-94.
- Ikram, S. (1995) Choice Cuts: Meat Production in Ancient Egypt, Leuven.
- Ikram, S., & A. Dodson (1998) The Mummy in Ancient Egypt. Equipping the Dead for Eternity, Cairo.
- Ilan, D. (1995) "Mortuary Practices at Tell Dan in the Middle Bronze Age: a Reflection of Canaanite Society and Ideology", in S. Campbell & A. Green (eds.) *The Archaeology of Death in the Ancient Near East*, Oxford: 117-139.
- Iliffe, J. (1987) The African Poor. A History, Cambridge.
- Institute of Field Archaeologists (2004) Guidelines to the Standards for Recording Human Remains, Whiteknights.

<u>J_____</u>

- Jackes, M. (1992) "Palaeodemography: Problems and Techniques", in S. R. Saunders & M. A. Katzenberg (eds.) Skeletal Biology of Past Peoples: Research Methods, New York: 189-224.
- Jackes, M. (2011) "Representativeness and Bias in Archaeological Skeletal Samples", in S. C. Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 107-146.
- James, A. (1993) Childhood Identities. Self and Social Relationships in the Experiences of the Child, Edinburgh.
- James, A., & A. Prout (1990) (eds.) Constructing and Reconstructing Childhood, Basingstoke.
- James, A., C. Jenks & A. Prout (1998) Theorizing Childhood, Cambridge.
- Janik, L. (2000) "The construction of the individual among North European fisher-gatherer-hunters in the Early and Mid-Holocene", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 117-130.
- Janot, F. (2002) "Inhumations d'enfants au Nouvel Empire dans le secteur du complex dit 'de la Reine Blanche' ", *Memnonia* 12-13: 73-81.
- Janot, F. (2004) "Inhumations d'enfants au Nouvel Empire, à Deir el-Medineh" *Memnonia* 14: 173-180.
- Janssen, J. (1997) "Review: E. Feucht, Das Kind im Alten Ägypten", JEA 83: 228-231.
- Janssen, R. M. (1996) "Soft toys from Egypt", in D. M. Bailey (ed.) Archaeological Research in Roman Egypt; The Proceedings of The Seventeenth Classical Colloquium of The Department of Greek and Roman Antiquities, British Museum, Held on 1-4 December, 1993, Ann Arbor: 231-239.
- Janssen, R. M., & J. J. Janssen (1990) Growing Up in Ancient Egypt, London.

- Jeffreys, D. G. (2003) "All in the family? Heirlooms in Ancient Egypt", in J. Tait (ed.) Never Had the Like Occurred. Egypt's View of its Past, London: 197-211.
- Jeffreys, D., J. Malek & H. S. Smith (1986) "Memphis 1984", JEA 72: 1-14.
- Jenkins, R. (1996) Social Identities, London.
- Jenks, C. (1982) "Constituting the Child", in C. Jenks (ed.) *The Sociology of Childhood: Essential Readings*, London: 9-24.
- Jerardino, A., J. Sealy & S. Pfeiffer (2000) "An infant burial from Steenbokfontein Cave, West Coast, South Africa: Its Archaeological, Nutritional and Anatomical Context", *The South African Archaeological Bulletin*, 55 (171): 44-48.
- Jessee, E., & M. Skinner (2005) "A typology of mass grave and mass grave-related sites", FSI 152: 55-59.
- Jiao, T. (2001) "Gender Studies in Chinese Neolithic Archaeology", in B. Arnold & N. L. Wicker (eds.) Gender and the Archaeology of Death, Walnut Creek: 51-62.
- Johansson, S. R. (1984) "Deferred infanticide: Excess female mortality during childhood", in G. Hausfater & S. B. Hrdy (eds.) *Infanticide: Comparative and Evolutionary Perspectives*, New York: 463-185.
- Jones, J. (2002a) "The textiles from Abydos: new evidence", MDAIK 58: 323-340.
- Jones, J. (2002b) "Towards mummification: new evidence for early developments", *EA* 21: 5-7.
- Jones, J. (2007) "New perspectives on the development of mummification and funerary practices during the Pre- and Early Dynastic Periods", in J.-C. Goyon, C. Cardin, J.-F. Garrel & G. Zaki (eds.) *IX*^e Congrès International des Égyptologues. 6-12 septembre 2004, Grenoble-France, Leuven: 979-989.
- Jones, J. (2008) "Pre- and Early Dynastic Textiles. Technology, specialization and administration during the process of State formation", in B. Midant-Reynes & Y. Tristant (eds.) Egypt at its Origins 2. Proceedings of the International Conference "Origin of the State. Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt", Toulouse, 5th-8th September 2005, Leuven: 99-132.
- Jungmichel G., & N. Musick (1941) "Über Sarggeburt", Deutsche Zeitschrift für die gesamte Gerichtliche Medizin 34: 236–256.
- Junker, H (1912) Bericht über die Grabungen der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien, auf dem Friedhof in Turah. Winter 1909-1910, Vienna.
- Junker, H. (1919) Bericht über die Grabungen der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien auf den Friedhöfen von El-Kubanieh-Süd, Winter 1910-1911, Vienna.
- Junker, H. (1928) Bericht über die von der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien nach dem Westdelta entsendete Expedition (20. Dezember 1927 bis 25. Februar 1928), Vienna & Leipzig.

\overline{V}

Kahan, D. M. (in press) "Cultural Cognition as a Conception of the Cultural Theory of Risk", in S. Roeser, R. Hildebrand, P. Sandin & M. Peterson (eds.) Handbook of

- Risk Theory. Epistemology, Decision Theory, Ethics and Social Implications of Risk, New York: 1-47.
- Kahan, D. M., D. Braman, J. Gastil, P. Slovic & C. K. Mertz (2007) "Culture and Identity-Protective Cognition: Explaining the White Male Effect in Risk Perception", *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies* 4 (3): 465-505.
- Kaiser, W. (1985) "Ein Kultbezirk des Königs Den in Sakkara", MDAIK 41: 45-60.
- Kaiser, W., R. Avila, G. Dreyer, H. Jaritz, F. W. Rösing & S. Seidlmayer (1982) "Stadt und Tempel von Elephantine. Neunter/Zehnter Grabungsbericht", *MDAIK* 38: 272-344.
- Kamp, K. A. (1991) "Waste disposal in a Syrian village", in E. Staski & L. D. Sutro (eds.) The Ethnoarchaeology of Refuse Disposal, Arizona: 23-31.
- Kamp, K. A. (2000) "From Village to Tell: Household Ethnoarchaeology in Syria", *Near Eastern Archaeology* 63 (2): 84-93.
- Kamp, K. A. (2001) "Where Have All the Children Gone? The Archaeology of Childhood", *JAMT* 8 (1): 1-34.
- Kamp, K. A. (2006) "Dominant Discourses; Lived Experiences: Studying the Archaeology of Children and Childhood", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) *Children in Archaeology:* Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 115-122.
- Kanawati, N. (1993a) The Tombs of el-Hagarsa, Volume II, Sydney.
- Kanawati, N. (1993b) "El-Hagarsa and its Mummies", BACE 4: 29-40.
- Kanawati, N. (2006) "Recent work in the tomb of Djau at Deir el-Gebrawi", *BACE* 17: 69-78.
- Kanawati, N. (2007) Deir el-Gebrawi, Volume II: The Southern Cliff, The Tombs of Ibi and Others, Oxford.
- Kanawati, N. (2008) Mereruka and His Family. Part II: The Tomb of Waatetkhethor, Oxford.
- Kanawati, N., A. Woods, S. Shafik & E. Alexakis (2010) Mereruka and His Family, Part III/1, The Tomb of Mereruka, Oxford.
- Kaplan, H. (1996) "A theory of fertility and parental investment in traditional and modern human societies", YPA 39: 91-135.
- Kappeler, P. (2003) Primate Life Histories and Socioecology, Chicago.
- Karenburg, A., & C. Leitz (2002) "Aus alt mach jung: Medizinisches und Mentalitätsgeschichtliches zum Alter im Pharaonischen Ägypten", in H.-W. Fischer-Elfert (ed.) 'Magie und Medizin' und 'Der alte Mensch' in den antiken Zivilisationen des Mittelmeerraumes; Heilkunde und Hochkultur; 2; Naturwissenschaft, Philosophie, Geschichte, Münster: 221-244.
- Katzenberg, M. A., D.A. Herring & S. R. Saunders (1996) "Weaning and infant mortality: evaluating the skeletal evidence", *YPA* 39: 177-199.
- Kelly, J. (1992) "Infanticide in Eighteenth-Century Ireland", *Irish Economic Social History* 19: 5-26.

- Kemp, B. J. (1968) "Merimde and the theory of house burial in prehistoric Egypt", *CdE* 43: 22-33.
- Kemp, B. J. (1972) "Temple and town in ancient Egypt", in P. J. Ucko, R. Tringham & G. W. Dimbleby (eds.) *Man, Settlement and Urbanism*, London: 657-680.
- Kemp, B. J. (1977) "The Early Development of Towns in Egypt", *Antiquity* 51 (203): 185-200.
- Kemp, B. J. (1991) Ancient Egypt. Anatomy of a Civilization, London.
- Kendall, T. (2001) "Games", in OEAE 2: 1-3.
- Kerley, E. R., (1978) "The identification of battered-infant skeletons", JFS 23: 163-168.
- Kessler, D. (1982) "Nekropolen. Früzheit und AR", in LÄ IV: 395-414.
- King, S. M. (2006) "The Marking of Age in Ancient Coastal Oaxaca", in T. Ardren & S.R. Hutson (eds.) The Social Experience of Childhood in Ancient Mesoamerica, Boulder: 169-200.
- Kirk, D. (1996) "Demographic Transition Theory", PS 50: 361-387.
- Klasens, A. (1957) "The Excavations of the Leiden Museum of Antiquities at Abu-Roash. Report of the First Season: 1957, Part I", OMRO 38: 58-68.
- Klasens, A. (1960) "The excavations of the Leiden Museum of Antiquities at Abu-Roash: Report of the Third Season 1959", *OMRO* 41: 69-94.
- Klass, D., & T. Walter (2001) "Processes of Grieving: How Bonds are Continued", in M. Stroebe, R. Hansson, W. Stroebe & H. Schut (eds.) *Handbook of Bereavement Research: Consequences, Coping & Care*, Washington DC: 431-448.
- Klass, D., P. R. Silverman & S. L. Nickman (eds.) (1996) Continuing Bonds: New Understandings of Grief, New York.
- Klug, S. & K.-G. Beck (1985) "Preliminary Report on the Human Skeletal Remains from Maadi and Wadi Digla", MDAIK 41: 99-108.
- Knapp, A. B. (1998) "Which Way(s) to the Past? Archaeology, Ancient History and Postmodernism", in T. Hillard, R. A. Kearsley, C. E. V. Nixon & A. Nobbs (eds.) Ancient History in a Modern University, Volume I: The Ancient Near East, Greece and Rome, Sydney: 1-13.
- Kogălniceanu, R. (2008) "Child burials in intramural and extramural contexts from the Neolithic and Chalcolithic of Romania: The problem of 'Inside' and 'Outside' ", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford: 101-111.
- Köhler, E. C. (2003) "The New Excavations in the Early Dynastic Necropolis at Helwan", *Archéo-Nil* 13: 17-27.
- Kopytoff, I. (1986) "The cultural biography of things: commoditization as a process", in A. Appadurai (ed.) *The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective*, Cambridge: 64-91.

- Kóthay, K. A. (2002) "Houses and households at Kahun: Bureaucratic and Domestic Aspects of Social Organization During the Middle Kingdom", in H. Györy (ed.) Mélanges offerts à Edith Varga, "Le lotus qui sort de terre", Budapest: 349-368.
- Kroeper, K. (1988) "The Excavations of the Munich East Delta Expedition in Minshat Abu Omar", in E. C. M. van den Brink (ed.) The Archaeology of the Nile Delta: Problems and Priorities, Amsterdam: 11-46.
- Kroeper, K. (1992) "Tombs of the Elite in Minshat Abu Omar", in E. C. M. van den Brink (ed.) *The Nile Delta in Transition.* 4th 3rd Millennium B.C., Tel Aviv: 127-150.
- Kroeper, K. (1994) "Minshat Abu Omar. Pot burials occurring in the Dynastic Cemetery", *BCE* 18: 19-32.
- Kroeper, K. (2004) "Minshat Abu Omar. Aspects of the analysis of a cemetery", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 859-880.
- Kroeper, K., & D. Wildung (1985) Minshat Abu Omar. Münchner Ostdelta-Expedition Vorbericht 1978-1984, Munich.
- Kroeper, K., & D. Wildung (2000) Minshat Abu Omar II: Ein vor- und frühgeschichtlicher Friedhof im Nildelta. Gräber 115-204, Mainz.
- Krogman, W. M., & M. Y. İšcan (1986) The Human Skeleton in Forensic Medicine, 2nd Edition, Springfield.
- Krzyszkowska, O., & R. Morkot (2000) "Ivory and related materials", in AEMT: 320-331.
- Krzyżaniak, L. (1984) "The Neolithic habitation in Kadero (Central Sudan", in L. Krzyżaniak & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Origin and Early Development of Food-Producing Cultures in North-Eastern Africa, Poznań: 309-315.
- Kulemann-Ossen, S., & M. Novák (2000) "Kūbu und das 'Kind im Topf'", Altorientalische Forschungen 27: 121-131.
- Kus, S. (1992) "Toward and Archaeology of Body and Soul", in Gardin, J.-C. & C.S. Peebles (eds.) Representations in Archaeology, Indiana: 168-177.
- Laneri, N. (2007) "An archaeology of funeral rituals", in N. Laneri (ed.) Performing Death: Social Analyses of Funerary Traditions in the Ancient Near East and Mediterranean, Chicago: 1-13.
- Langer, W. L. (1974) "Infanticide: a social history", *History of Childhood Quarterly* 1 (3): 353-365.
- Laqueur, T. (1983) "Bodies, Death and Pauper Funerals", Representations 1: 109-131.
- Laqueur, T. (1990) Making Sex: Body and Gender from the Greeks to Freud, Cambridge.
- Larsen, C. S. (1997) Bioarchaeology: Interpreting Behaviour from the Human Skeleton, Cambridge.

- Lassen, C., S. Hummel & B. Hermann (1997) "Molekulare Geschlechtsbestimmung an Skelettresten früh- und neugeborner Individuen des Gräberfeldes Aegerten, Schweiz", *Anthropologischer Anzeiger* 55: 183-191.
- Latour, B. (1993) We Have Never Been Modern, Trans. C. Porter, New York.
- Lauer, J.-P. (1976) Saqqara. The Royal Cemetery of Memphis. Excavations and Discoveries Since 1850, London.
- Law, J., & K. Hetherington (1998) "Allegory and Interference: Representation in Sociology", Department of Sociology, Lancaster University, http://www.lancs.ac.uk/fass/sociology/papers/law-hetherington-allegory-interference.pdf, accessed 23.08.11.
- Law, J., & R. Benschop (1997) "Resisting Pictures: Representation, Distribution and Ontological Politics", in K. Hetherington & R. Munro (eds.) *Ideas of Difference:* Social Spaces and the Labour of Division, Oxford: 158-182.
- Le Mort, F. (2008) "Infant burials from Pre-Pottery Neolithic Cyprus: Evidence from Khirokitia", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 23-32.
- Le Vine, R. A. (1974) "Parental goals: a cross-cultural view", *Teachers College Record* 76: 226-239.
- Le Vine, R. A. (1977) "Child rearing as cultural adaptation", in P. H. Leiderman, S. R. Tulkin & A Rosenfeld (eds.) *Culture and Infancy*, New York: 15-27.
- Le Vine, R. A. (1980) "A cross-cultural perspective on parenting", in M. Fantini & R. Cardenas (eds.) *Parenting in a Multicultural Society*, New York: 17-26.
- Le Vine, R. A. (1983) "Fertility and child development: An anthropological approach", in D. A. Wagner (ed.) *Child Development and International Development*, San Fransisco: 45-55.
- Le Vine, R. A., S. Levine, S. Dixon, S. Richman, A. Leiderman, & C. Keefer (1994) *Child Care and Culture: Lessons from Africa*, Cambridge.
- Leclant, J. (1980) "Fouilles et travaux en Égypte et au Soudan, 1978-1979. Minschat Abou Omar", *Orientalia* 49: 356-357.
- Leclant, J., & G. Clerc (1985) "Fouilles et travaux en Égypte et au Soudan, 1983-1984. Maadi et Ouadi Digla", *Orientalia* 54: 360-361.
- Leclant, J., & G. Clerc (1986) "Fouilles et Travaux en Égypte et au Soudan, 1984-1985. Minschat Abou Omar", *Orientalia* 55: 248-249.
- Lee, K. A. (1994) "Attitudes and prejudices towards infanticide: Carthage, Rome and today", ARC 13: 65-79.
- Leeds, E. T. (1947) A Saxon Village at Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire. Third Report, Oxford.
- Lehner, M. (2001) "Excavations in Western Extension", *The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago Giza Plateau Mapping Project*, 2000-2001, http://oi.uchicago.edu/research/pubs/ar/00-01/giza.html, accessed 20.09.2010.

- Leprohon, R. J. (1999) "Middle Kingdom: Overview", in Bard, K. (ed.) Encyclopedia of the Archaeology of Ancient Egypt, London & New York: 47-53.
- Levi, G. (1991) "On Microhistory", in P. Burke (ed.) New Perspectives on Historical Writing, Cambridge: 97-119.
- Levine, N. E. (1987) "Differential child care in three Tibetan communities: Beyond son preference", *PDR* 13: 281-304.
- Lewis, M. E. (2002) Urbanisation and child health in Medieval and Post-Medieval England. An assessment of the morbidity and mortality of non-adult skeletons from the cemeteries of two urban and rural sites in England (AD 850-1859), Oxford.
- Lewis, M. E. (2007) The Bioarchaeology of Children: Perspectives from Biological and Forensic Anthropology, Cambridge.
- Lewis, M. E., & R. Gowland (2007) "Brief and precarious lives: Infant mortality in contrasting sites from Medieval and Post-Medieval England (AD 850-1859)", AJPA 134: 117-129.
- Lichtheim, M. (1975) Ancient Egyptian Literature, Volume I: The Old and Middle Kingdoms, Berkeley.
- Lichtheim, M. (1976) Ancient Egyptian Literature, Volume II: The New Kingdom, Berkeley.
- Lichtheim, M. (1988) Ancient Egyptian Autobiographies Chiefly of the Middle Kingdom. A Study and an Anthology, Göttingen.
- Lillehammer, G. (1989) "A Child is Born: The Child's World in an Archaeological Perspective", NAR 22 (2): 89-105.
- Lillehammer, G. (2000) "The World of Children", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 17-26.
- Lillehammer, G. (2010) "Archaeology of Children/Arqueología de la infancia", Complutum 21 (2): 15-45.
- Lillie, M. C. (1997) "Women and Children in Prehistory: Resource Sharing and Social Stratification in the Mesolithic-Neolithic Translation in Ukraine", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology, London & New York: 213-228.
- Lillie, M. C. (2008) "Suffer the children: 'Visualising' children in the archaeological record", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 33-43.
- Limme, L. (2000) "Report on the archaeological work at Elkab, 1999 Season", ASAE 75: 107-112.
- Littleton, J. (2011) "Moving from the Canary in the Coalmine. Modeling Childhood in Bahrain", in S. C, Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 361-389.
- Lloyd, A. B. (1989) "Psychology and Society in the Ancient Egyptian Cult of the Dead", in J. P. Allen, J. Assmann, A. B. Lloyd, R. K. Ritner & D. P. Silverman (1989) Religion and Philosophy in Ancient Egypt, New Haven: 117-133.

- Loat, L., & M. A. Murray (1905) Saggara Mastabas and Gurob, London.
- Longacre, W. A. (1975) "Population Dynamics at the Grasshopper Pueblo, Arizona", Memoirs of the Society for American Archaeology 30: 71-74.
- Loose, J. (1993) "Laborious 'Rites de Passage': Birth Crisis in This World and Beyond", Sesto Congresso Internazionale di Egittologia, Atti, Volume II, Torino: 285-289.
- Lord, C. G., L. Ross & M. R. Lepper (1979) "Biased assimilation and attitude polarization effects of prior theories on subsequently considered evidence", *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 37 (11): 2098-2109.
- Lortet, L. C., & C. Gaillard (1909) La faune momifiée de l'ancienne Égypte et recherches anthropologiques, Volume 2, Lyon.
- Lovell, N. C., & I. Whyte (1999) "Patterns of dental enamel defects at ancient Mendes, Egypt", *AJPA* 110: 69-80.
- Lucas, A., & J. R. Harris (1999) Ancient Egyptian Materials and Industries, Mineola.
- Lucas, G. (2002) "Disposability and Dispossession in the Twentieth Century", *Journal of Material Culture* 7 (1): 5-22.
- Lucy, S. (1994) "Children in Early Medieval Cemeteries", ARC 13 (2): 21-34.
- Ludwig-Maximillians-Universität München und Universität Heidelberg, *Aigyptos Literaturdatenbank*, http://www.aigyptos.uni-muenchen.de, accessed 2008–2011.
- Lyman, R. L., & G. L. Fox (1997) "A Critical Evaluation of Bone Weathering as an Indication of Bone Assemblage Formation", in W. D. Haglund & M. H. Sorg (eds.) Forensic Taphonomy: The Postmortem Fate of Human Remains, Boca Raton: 223-247.
- Lythgoe, A. M., & D. Dunham (1965) The Predynastic Cemetery, N7000, Naga-ed-Dêr, Part IV, Berkeley.

M

- MacDonald, D. H. (2001) "Grief and Burial in the American Southwest: The role of evolutionary theory in the interpretation of mortuary remains", AA 66 (4): 704-714.
- MacDonald, H. (forthcoming) "A body buried is a body wasted: The Spoils of Human Dissection", in S. Ferber & S. Wilde (eds.) The Body Divided: Human Beings and Human "Material" in the History of Medical Science, Ashgate.
- Mace, A. C. (1909) The Early Dynastic Cemeteries of Naga-ed-Dêr, Part II, Leipzig.
- Macramallah, R. (1940) Un cimetière archaïque de la classe moyenne du peuple à Saqqarah, Cairo.
- Malafouris, L. (2004) "The Cognitive Basis of Material Engagement: Where Brain, Body and Culture Conflate", in E. DeMarrais, C. Godsen & C. Renfrew (eds.) Rethinking Materiality. The Engagement of Mind with the Material World, Cambridge: 53-62.
- Manley, B., & A. Dodson (2010) Life Everlasting. National Museums Scotland Collection of Ancient Egyptian Coffins, Edinburgh.

- Maples, W. R. (1988) "Trauma analysis by the forensic anthropologist", in K. J. Reichs (ed.) Forensic Osteology: Advances in the Identification of Human Remains, Springfield: 218-228.
- Marlow, C. A. (2001) "Miscarriages and Infant Burials in the Dakhleh Cemeteries: An Archaeological Examination of Status", in C. A. Marlow & A. J. Mills (eds.) The Oasis Papers 1: The Proceedings of the First Conference of the Dakhleh Oasis Project, Oxford: 105-110.
- Marro, G. (1929) "L'esplorazione della necropoli di Gebelên", Atti della Societa Italiana per il Progresso delle Scienze 17: 592-636.
- Marshall, N. (forthcoming) "The Desert Hunt in the Middle Kingdom: An Official in King's Clothing?", BACE.
- Masali, M., & B. Chiarelli (1972) "Demographic Data on the Remains of Ancient Egyptians", *Journal of Human Evolution* 1: 161-169.
- Maspero, G. (1913) "El-Kab", in G. Maspero (ed.) Études de mythologie et d'archéologie égyptiennes, Volume 7, Paris: 121-126.
- Mathieu, B. (2002) "Travaux de l'Institut Français d'Archéologie Orientale en 2001-2002: Adaïma", *BIFAO* 102: 449-457.
- Mauss, M. (1990) The Gift. The Form and Reason for Exchange in Archaic Societies, Trans. W. D. Halls, London.
- Mawdsley, L. (2011) "Two labels of Aha: Evidence of a pre-mortuary administrative function for First Dynasty potmarks?", CCE 15: 51-64.
- Mayes, A. T., & S. B. Barber (2008) "Osteobiography of a High-status Burial from the Lower Río Verde Valley of Oaxaca, Mexico", *IJO* 18: 573-588.
- Mays, S. (1993) "Infanticide in Roman Britain", Antiquity 67: 883-888.
- Mays, S. (1998) The Archaeology of Human Bones, London.
- Mays, S. (2000) "The Archaeology and History of Infanticide, and its Occurrence in Earlier British Populations", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 180-190.
- McCafferty, G. G., & S. D. McCafferty (2006) "Boys and Girls Interrupted: Mortuary Evidence of Children from Postclassic Cholula, Puebla", in T. Ardren & S. R. Hutson (eds.) *The Social Experience of Childhood in Ancient Mesoamerica*, Boulder: 25-52.
- McDonald, M. A. (2009) "Increased sedentism in the Central Oases of the Egyptian Western Desert in the Early-Mid Holocene: Evidence from the Peripheries", AAR 26 (1): 3-43.
- McDowell, A. G. (1998) "Legal aspects of care of the elderly in Egypt to the end of the New Kingdom", in M. Stol & S. P. Vleeming (eds.) The Care of the Elderly in the Ancient Near East, Boston: 199-221.
- Menghin, O. (1932) "The Excavations of the Egyptian University at Ma'adi", Ancient Egypt 17: London: 108-109.

- Menghin, O. (1934) "Die Grabung der Universität Kairo bei Maadi", MDAIK 5: 111-118.
- Menghin, O., & M. Amer (1936) Excavations of the Egyptian University in the Neolithic Site at Maadi. Second Preliminary Report (Season of 1932), Cairo.
- Meskell, L. (1994) "Dying Young: The Experience of Death at Deir el Medina", ARC 13 (2): 35-45.
- Meskell, L. (1999a) "Archaeologies of Life and Death", AJA 103: 181-199.
- Meskell, L. (1999b) Archaeologies of Social Life: Age, Class, et cetera in Ancient Egypt, Oxford & Malden.
- Meskell, L. (1999c) "Review: Anthropology and Egyptology: A Developing Dialogue", AJA 103: 127-129.
- Meskell, L. (2000) "Cycles of Life and Death: Narrative Homology and Archaeological Realities", WA 31 (3): 423-441.
- Meskell, L. (2001) "The Egyptian Ways of Death", in M. S. Chesson (ed.) Social Memory, Identity and Death: Anthropological Perspectives on Mortuary Rituals, Arlington: 27-40.
- Meskell, L. (2002a) Private Life in New Kingdom Egypt, Princeton & Oxford.
- Meskell, L. (2002b) "The Intersections of Identity and Politics in Archaeology", ARA 31: 297-301.
- Meskell, L. (2004) Object Worlds in Ancient Egypt. Material Biographies Past and Present, Oxford.
- Meskell, L., & R. W. Preucel (2007) "Identities", in L. Meskell & R. W. Preucel (eds.) A Companion to Social Archaeology, Malden: 121-141.
- Midant-Reynes, B. (2000) The Prehistory of Egypt. From the First Egyptians to the First Pharaohs, Trans. I. Shaw, Malden.
- Midant-Reynes, B. (2003) Aux origins de l'Égypte. Du Néolithique à l'émergence de l'État, Paris.
- Midant-Reynes, B., & N. Buchez (2002) Adaïma 1: Économie et habitat, Cairo.
- Midant-Reynes, B., F. Briois, N. Buchez, M. de Dapper, S. Duchesne, B. Fabry, C. Hochstrasser-Petit, L. Staniaszek & Y. Tristant (2004) "Kom el-Khilgan. A new site of the Predynastic Period in Lower Egypt. The 2002 campaign", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 465-486.
- Milde, H. (1994) "'Going out into the day': Ancient Egyptian Beliefs and Practices Concerning Death", in J. M. Bremer, T. P. van den Hout & R. Peters (eds.) Hidden Futures: Death and Immortality in Ancient Egypt, Anatolia, the Classical, Biblical and Arabic-Islamic World, Amsterdam: 15-35.
- Miller, R. (1987) "Ash as an Insecticide", in B. Kemp (ed.) Amarna Reports IV, London: 14-16.

- Minault-Gout, A. (1992) Le Mastaba d'Ima-Pepi (Mastaba II). Fin de l'Ancien Empire, Cairo.
- Minault-Gout, A. (1995) "Les mastabas miniatures de Balat ou les cimetières secondaires du mastaba II", *BIFAO* 95: 297-328.
- Miosi, F. T. (1970-1971) "Two Additional Examples of Right-Side Breastfeeding", *JSSEA* 1 (3-4): 4-7.
- Mishina, T. (2008) "A social aspect of intramural infant burials' analysis: The case of EBA Tell Yunatsite, Bulgaria", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 137-146.
- Mizoguchi, K. (1992) "A historiography of a linear barrow cemetery: a structurationists' point of view", ARC 11: 39-49.
- Mizoguchi, K. (1993) "Time in the reproduction of mortuary practices", WA 25 (2): 223-235.
- Mizoguchi, K. (2000) "The child as a node of past, present and future", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 141-150.
- Molleson, T. I. (1991) "Demographic implications of age structure of early English cemetery samples", *Actes des Journées Anthropologiques* 5: 113-121.
- Mond, R., & O. H. Myers (1937) Cemeteries of Armant I, London.
- Montgomery, H. (2009) An Introduction to Childhood. Anthropological Perspectives on Children's Lives, Chichester.
- Moore, J. (1997) "Conclusion: The Visibility of the Invisible", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology, London & New York: 251-257.
- Moorrees, C. F., E. A. Fanning & E. E. Hunt (1963a) "Formation and resorption of three deciduous teeth in children", *AJPA* 21: 205-213.
- Moorrees, C. F., E. A. Fanning & E. E. Hunt (1963b) "Age variation of formation stages for ten permanent teeth", *Journal of Dental Research* 42: 1490-1502.
- Morenz, S. (1952) Die Zauberflöte. Studien zum Lebenszusammenhang Ägypten-Antike-Abendland, Münster.
- Morgan, H. de (1912) "Report on Excavations made in Upper Egypt during the Winter 1907-1908", ASAE 12: 25-50.
- Morgan, H. de (1984) "Archaeological Researches in the Nile Valley between Esna and Gebel el-Silsileh (1908)", in W. Needler (ed.) *Predynastic and Archaic Egypt in the Brooklyn Museum*, Brooklyn: 50-66.
- Morgan, J. de (1897) Recherches sur les origins de l'Égypte II: ethnographie préhistorique et tombeau royal de Negadah, Paris.
- Morris, E. F. (2007) "Sacrifice for the state: First Dynasty royal funerals and the rites at Macramallah's rectangle", in N. Laneri (ed.) Performing Death: Social Analyses of Funerary Traditions in the Ancient Near East and Mediterranean, Chicago: 15-37.
- Morris, I. (1992) Death-Ritual and Social Structure in Classical Antiquity, Cambridge.

- Morss, J. (1990) The Biologising of Childhood: Developmental Psychology and the Darwinian Myth, London.
- Mortensen, B. (1991) "Change in the settlement pattern and population in the beginning of the historical period", Ägypten und Levante 2: 11-37.
- Moses, S. (2008) "Çatalhöyük's foundation burials: Ritual child sacrifice or convenient deaths?", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 45-52.
- Mosley, W. H., & L. C. Chen (1984) "An analytical framework for the study of child survival in developing countries", *PDR*: Supplement: *Child Survival: Strategies for Research* 10: 25-45.
- Mueller, E. (1976) "The economic value of children in peasant agriculture", in R. G. Ridker (ed.) *Population and Development: The Search for Selective Interventions*, Baltimore: 98-152.
- Müller, W., & M. De Dapper (forthcoming) "The urban landscape of Aswan (Egypt) since the Predynastic Period: a geoarchaeological approach", in Y. Tristant & M. Ghilardi (eds.) Archéologie du paysage. L'Égypte et le monde méditerranéen, Cairo.
- Murray, C., & J. Frenk (2002) "Summary measures of population health in the context of the WHO framework for health system performance assessment', in C. J. Murray, J. A. Salomon, C. D. Matthews & A. D. Lopex (eds.) Summary Measures of Population Health: Concepts, Ethics, Measurement and Application, Geneva: 1-12.
- Murray, M. A. (1956) "Burial customs and beliefs in the hereafter in predynastic Egypt", *JEA* 42: 86-96.
- Myers, O. H., & H. W. Fairman (1931) "Excavations at Armant, 1929-31", *JEA* 17 (3/4): 223-232.

N

- Nag, M., B. White & R. C. Peet (1978) "Anthropological approach to the study of the economic value of children in Java and Nepal", CA 19: 293-306.
- Naumov, G. (2007) "Housing the Dead: Burials Inside Houses and Vessels in the Neolithic Balkans", in D. A. Barrowclogh & C. Malone (eds.) *Cult in Context. Reconsidering Ritual in Archaeology*, Oxford: 257-268.
- Naville, É. (1921) "Les cimetières de Koubanieh", Revue archéologique 14: 158-165.
- Naville, É., T. E. Peet, H. R. Hall & K. Haddon (1914) The Cemeteries of Abydos. Part I: 1909-1910. The Mixed Cemetery and Umm el-Ga'ab, London.
- Nawrocki, S. P. (1995) "Taphonomic Processes in Historic Cemeteries", in A. L. Grauer (ed.) Bodies of Evidence: Reconstructing History through Skeletal Analysis, New York: 49-66.
- Needler, W. (1984) Predynastic and Archaic Egypt in the Brooklyn Museum, Brooklyn.
- Neugarten, B. L. (1981) "Age Distinctions and Their Social Functions", *Chicago Kent Law Review* 57: 809-825.

- Nicholson, P. T., & I. Shaw (1995) British Museum Dictionary of Ancient Egypt, London.
- Nicholson, P. T., & J. Henderson (2000) "Glass", in AEMT: 195-224.
- Niwiński, A. (1984) "The Bab el-Gusus Tomb and the Royal Cache in Deir el-Baḥri", *JEA* 70: 73-81.
- Novotný, V. (1972) "Geschlechtsbestimmung durch Untersuchung der einzelnen Knochen des Skeletts", in H. Hunger & D. Leopold (eds.) *Identifikation*, Berlin: 113-161.
- Nugent, J. B. (1985) "The old-age security motive for fertility", PDR 11: 75-97.
- Nunn, J. F. (1996) Ancient Egyptian Medicine, London.

0

- O'Connor, D. (1972) "A Regional Population in Egypt to circa 600 B.C.", in B. Spooner (ed.) *Population Growth: Anthropological Implications*, Cambridge, Mass.: 78-100.
- O'Connor, D. (1991) "Boat Graves and Pyramid Origins", Expedition 33 (3): 5-17.
- O'Connor, D. (1995) "Urbanism in Bronze Age Egypt and Northeast Africa", in T. Shaw, P. Sinclair, B. Andah, & A. Okpoko (eds) *The Archaeology of Africa: Food, Metals and Towns*, London & New York: 570-586.
- O'Connor, D. (1997a) "Ancient Egypt: Egyptological and Anthropological Perspectives", in J. Lustig (ed.) *Anthropology and Egyptology: A Developing Dialogue*, Sheffield: 13-24.
- O'Connor, D. (1997b) "The Elite Houses of Kahun", in J. Phillips (ed.) Ancient Egypt, the Aegean and the Near East, San Antonio: 389-400.
- O'Shea, J. (1981) "Social Configurations and the Archaeological Study of Mortuary Practices: A Case Study", in R. Chapman, I. Kinnes & K. Randsborg (eds.) *The Archaeology of Death*, Cambridge: 39-52.
- Ockinga, B. (2007) "Use, reuse, and abuse of 'Sacred Space': Observations from Dra Abu al-Naga", in P. F. Dorman & B. M. Bryan (eds.) Sacred Space and Sacred Function in Ancient Thebes, Chicago: 139-163.
- Ogden, J. (2000) "Metals", in AEMT: 148-176.
- Okore, A. O. (1986) "Effect of changing mortality on the value of children to parents", in United Nations, *Consequences of Mortality Trends and Differentials*, New York: 52-59.
- Olson, S. (2001) "Burial Practices", in *OEAE* 1: 213-217.
- Orel, S. E. (2000) "A Re-examination of the 1943-1952 Excavations at Kôm el-Ḥisn, Egypt", GM 179: 39-49.
- Orrelle, E. (2008) "Infant jar burials A ritual associated with early agriculture?", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford: 71-78.

- Ortner, D. J. (1991) "Theoretical and methodological issues in palaeopathology", in D. J. Ortner & A. C. Aufderheide (eds.) *Human Palaeopathology: Current Syntheses and Future Options*, Washington: 5-11.
- Ovrevik, S. (1991) "Engendering archaeology", Antiquity 65: 738-741.
- Oxenham, M., H. Matsumura, K. Domett, K. D. Nguyen, K. T. Nguyen, L. C. Nguyen, D. Huffer & S. Muller (2008) "Childhood in Late Neolithic Vietnam: Bio-mortuary insights into an ambiguous life stage", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 123-136.

<u>P</u>_____

- Pader, E.-J. (1982) Symbolism, Social Relations and the Interpretation of Mortuary Remains, Oxford.
- Paine, R. R., & J. L. Boldsen (2002) "Linking age-at-death distributions and ancient population dynamics: A case study", in R. D. Hoppa & J. W. Vaupel (eds.) Palaeodemography: Age Distributions from Skeletal Samples, Cambridge: 169-180.
- Panelli, R. (2004) Social Geographies, London.
- Panning, G. (1941) "Sarggeburt", Deutsche Zeitschrift für die gesamte Gerichtliche Medizin 34: 257–264.
- Parker Pearson, M. (1982) "Mortuary practices, society and ideology: an ethnoarchaeological study", in I. Hodder (ed.) *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, Cambridge: 99-113.
- Parker Pearson, M. (1993) "The Powerful Dead: Archaeological Relationships between the Living and the Dead", Cambridge Archaeological Journal 3 (2): 203-229.
- Parker Pearson, M. (2003) The Archaeology of Death and Burial, 2nd Edition, Stroud.
- Parkinson, R. B. (1991a) Voices from Ancient Egypt: An Anthology of Middle Kingdom Writing, London.
- Parkinson, R. B. (1991b) "Review: Miriam Lichtheim, Ancient Egyptian Autobiographies Chiefly of the Middle Kingdom. A Study and an Anthology", Bibliotheca Orientalis 48 (5/6): 760-764.
- Patch, D. C. (1991) The Origin and Early Development of Urbanism in Ancient Egypt: A Regional Study, PhD. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania.
- Patch, D. C. (2004) "Settlement patterns and cultural change in the Predynastic Period", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 905-918.
- Patch, D. C. (2007) "Third Intermediate Period Burials of Young Children at Abydos", in Z. A. Hawass & J. Richards (eds.) The Archaeology and Art of Ancient Egypt. Essays in Honour of David B. O'Connor, Volume II, Cairo: 237-255.

- Peebles, C. S. & S. M. Kus (1977) "Some archaeological correlates of ranked societies", AA 42: 421-448.
- Peet, T. E. (1914a) The Cemeteries of Abydos, Part II, 1911-1912, London.
- Peet, T. E. (1914b) "The Year's Work at Abydos", JEA 1: 37-39.
- Peet, T. E., & C. L. Woolley (1923) The City of Akhenaten Part I. Excavations of 1921 and 1922 at el-'Amarna, London.
- Peet, T. E., & W. L. S. Loat (1913) The Cemeteries of Abydos, Part III 1912-1913, London.
- Perry, M. A. (2006) "Redefining Childhood through Bioarchaeology: Toward an Archaeological and Biological Understanding of Children in Antiquity", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) Children in Archaeology: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 89-111.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1890) Kahun, Gurob and Hawara, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1893) Ten Years' Digging in Egypt, 1881-1891, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1896) Nagada and Ballas, Warminster.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1898) Dendereh, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1901) Diospolis Parva: The Cemeteries of Abadiyeh and Hu, 1898-9, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1902) Abydos, Part I, 1902, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1905) Ehnasya, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1914) Tarkhan II, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1923) Social Life in Ancient Egypt, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1925) Tombs of the Courtiers and Oxyrinkos, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1927) Objects of Daily Life, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (1937) The Funeral Furniture of Egypt, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F. (2000) The Petrie Museum Archives: Sir William Matthew Flinders Petrie; Notebooks, Tomb Cards, Distribution List, Distribution List Index, Ancient Egyptian Glazing, Ancient Egyptian Glass, CD-ROM, University College, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F., & G. Brunton (1924) Sedment I, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F., & J. Quibbell (1896) Nagada and Ballas, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F., G. A. Wainwright & A. H. Gardiner (1913) *Tarkhan I and Memphis V*, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F., G. A. Wainwright & E. Mackay (1912) The Labyrinth, Gerzeh and Mazghuneh, London.
- Petrie, W. M. F., G. Brunton & M. A. Murray (1923) Lahun II, London.
- Pettitt, P. B. (2006) "The Living Dead and the Dead Living: Burials, Figurines and Social Performance in the European Mid Upper Palaeolithic", in R. Gowland & C. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains, Oxford: 292-308.

- Peust, C. (2008) "Texte aus Ägypten: Ein Orakelamulett (pTurin 1983)", in B. Janowski & G. Wilhelm (eds.) Omina, Orakel, Rituale und Beschwörungen, Gütersloh: 324-330.
- Picton, J., & I. Pridden (eds.) (2008) Unseen Images: Archive Photographs in the Petrie Museum, Volume 1: Gurob, Sedment and Tarkhan, London.
- Pilgrim, C. von (1996) Elephantine XVIII: Untersuchungen in der Stadt des Mittleren Reiches und der Zweiten Zwischenzeit, Mainz.
- Pilgrim, C. von (1997) "The Town Site on the Island of Elephantine", EA 10: 16-18.
- Pinch, G. (1993) Votive Offerings to Hathor, Oxford.
- Pinch, G. (1994) Magic in Ancient Egypt, London.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1934) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume IV: Lower and Middle Egypt (Delta and Cairo to Asyût), Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1937) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume V: Upper Egypt: Sites, Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1939) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume VI: Upper Egypt: Chief Temples (Excluding Thebes), Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1960) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume I: The Theban Necropolis, Pt. 1: Private Tombs, Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1964) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume I: The Theban Necropolis, Pt. 2: Royal Tombs and Smaller Cemeteries, Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1972) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume II: Theban Temples, Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1974) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume III: Memphis, Pt. 1: Abû Rawash to Abûsîr, 2nd Edition, Revised and Augmented by J. Málek, Oxford.
- Porter, B., & R. L. B. Moss (1981) Topographical Bibliography of Ancient Egyptian Hieroglyphic Texts, Reliefs and Paintings, Volume III: Memphis, Pt. 2: Saqqâra to Dashûr, 2nd Edition, Revised and Augmented by J. Málek, Oxford.
- Posener-Kriéger, P. (1983) "Les travaux de l'Institut français d'archéologie orientale en 1982-1983", BIFAO 83: 343-363.
- Posener-Kriéger, P. (1984) "Les travaux de l'Institut français d'archéologie orientale en 1983-1984", BIFAO 84: 347-365.
- Posener-Kriéger, P. (1985) "Les travaux de l'Institut français d'archéologie orientale en 1984-1985", BIFAO 85: 295-320.
- Posener-Kriéger, P. (1986) "Les travaux de l'Institut français d'archéologie orientale en 1985-1986", BIFAO 86: 367-397.

- Powell, B. B. (2009) Classical Myth, 6th Edition, New York.
- Power, R. K. (2007) Differential child and infant mortality and morbidity in Late Anglo-Saxon England (10th-12th Centuries AD), MSc Thesis, University of Bradford.
- Preucel, R. W., & L. Meskell (2007) "Knowledges", in L. Meskell & R. W. Preucel (eds.) A Companion to Social Archaeology, Malden: 3-22.
- Pritchett, J., & A. Pastron (1980) "Ceramic dolls as chronological indicators: implications from a San Francisco dump site", in A. Ward (ed.) Contributions to Anthropological Studies No. 3, Albuquerque: 321-334.
- Prominska, E. (1984) "The demography of the populations from Kadero (Central Sudan), in L. Krzyaniak & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Origin and Early Development of Food Producing Cultures in North Eastern Africa, Poznań: 327-331.

Q

Quibell, J. E. (1896) Ballas, London.

Quibell, J. E. (1898) El Kab, London.

- Quibell, J. E. (1923) Excavations at Saggara (1912-1914). Archaic Mastabas, Cairo.
- Quirke, S. (1998) "Figures of Clay: Toys or Ritual Objects", in S. Quirke (ed.) Lahun Studies, 141-151.
- Quirke, S. (2005) Lahun. A town in Egypt 1800 BC, and the history of its landscape, London.
- Qvortrup, J., M. Bardy, G. Sgritta & H. Wintersberger (1994) (eds.) *Childhood Matters.* Social Theory, Practice and Politics, Aldershot.

R

- Rampersad, S. R. (2003) "Report of the First Field Season at Tell el-Masha'la, Egypt, 2002", *JARCE* 40: 171-186.
- Rampersad, S. R. (2006) "Tell el-Masha'la: A Predynastic/Early Dynastic site in the Eastern Nile Delta", in K. Kroeper, M. Chłodnicki & M. Kobusiewicz (eds.) Archaeology of Early North Eastern Africa, Poznań: 789-816.
- Randall-MacIver, D. (1901) "A Prehistoric Cemetery at El Amrah in Egypt: Preliminary Report of Excavations", *Man* 1: 49-54.
- Randall-MacIver, D., & A. C. Mace (1902) El Amrah and Abydos 1899-1901, London.
- Rathje, W. & C. Murphy (eds.) (2001) Rubbish! The Archaeology of Garbage, Tucson.
- Raven, M. (2005) "Egyptian conceptions on the orientation of the human body", *JEA* 91: 37-53.
- Redford, D. B. (2000) "Report on the 9th Season of Excavation at Tell el-Rub'a/Mendes", *ASAE* 75: 17-24.
- Redford, D. B. (2004) Excavations at Mendes, Volume 1: The Royal Necropolis, Leiden.
- Redford, D. B. (2008) "History and Egyptology", in R. H. Wilkinson (ed.) *Egyptology Today*, Cambridge: 23-35.

- Rega, E., "Age, Gender and Biological Reality in the Early Bronze Age Cemetery at Mokrin", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*. London & New York: 229-247.
- Reher, D. (1995) "Wasted investments: some economic implications of childhood mortality patterns", PS 49: 519-536.
- Reisner, G. A. (1908) The Early Dynastic Cemeteries of Naga-ed-Dêr, Part I, Leipzig.
- Reisner, G. A. (1932) A Provincial Cemetery of the Pyramid Age. Naga-ed-Dêr, Part III, Berkeley.
- Reisner, G. A. (1936) The Development of the Egyptian Tomb Down to the Accession of Cheops, Cambridge, Mass.
- Renfrew, C. (1994) "Towards a cognitive archaeology", in C. Renfrew & E. B. W. Zubrow (eds.) *The Ancient Mind: Elements of Cognitive Archaeology*, Cambridge: 3-12.
- Renfrew, C. (2004) "Towards a Theory of Material Engagement", in E. DeMarrais, C. Godsen & C. Renfrew (eds.) *Rethinking Materiality. The Engagement of Mind with the Material World*, Cambridge: 23-31.
- Renfrew, C., & P. Bahn (2000) Archaeology: Theories, Methods and Practice, 3rd Edition, London.
- Rhine, S. (1995, unpublished) "Forensic Foetal Anthropology": 1-15.
- Richards, J. E. (1992) Mortuary Variability and Social Differentiation in Middle Kingdom Egypt, PhD. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania.
- Richards, J. E. (1997) "Ancient Egyptian Mortuary Practice and the Study of Socioeconomic Differentiation", in J. Lustig (ed.) Anthropology and Egyptology: A Developing Dialogue, Sheffield: 33-42.
- Richards, J. E. (2003) "The Abydos Cemeteries in the Late Old Kingdom", in Z. Hawass (ed.) Egyptology at the Dawn of the 21st Century: Proceedings of the Eighth International Congress of Egyptologists, Cairo, Cairo: 400-407.
- Richards, J. E. (2005) Society and Death in Ancient Egypt. Mortuary Landscapes of the Middle Kingdom, Cambridge.
- Richards, J. E. (2007) "The Archaeology of Excavations and the Role of Context", in Z. A. Hawass & J. E. Richards (eds.) *The Archaeology and Art of Ancient Egypt. Essays in Honor of David B. O'Connor*, Volume 2, Cairo: 313-319.
- Richardson, R. (2000) Death, Dissection and the Destitute, 2nd Edition, Chicago.
- Ritner, R. K. (2001) "Medicine", in OEAE 2: 353-356.
- Rizkana, I. (1952) "Centres of Settlement in Prehistoric Egypt in the Area between Helwan and Heliopolis", *Bulletin de l'Institut Fouad I du Désert* 2 (2): 117-130.
- Rizkana, I., & J. Seeher (1989) Maadi III. The Non-Lithic Small Finds and the Structural Remains of the Predynastic Settlement, Cairo.
- Robb, J. (2004) "The Extended Artefact and the Monumental Economy: a Methodology for Material Agency", in E. DeMarrais, C. Godsen & C. Renfrew (eds.) Rethinking

- Materiality. The Engagement of Mind with the Material World, Cambridge: 131-139.
- Robb, J. (2007) "Burial treatment as transformations of bodily ideology", in N. Laneri (ed.) Performing Death: Social Analyses of Funerary Traditions in the Ancient Near East and Mediterranean, Chicago: 287-297.
- Robben, A. C. G. M. (2004) "Death and Anthropology: An Introduction", in A. C. G. M. Robben (ed.) *Death, Mourning, and Burial: A Cross-Cultural Reader*, Malden: 1-16.
- Robins, G. (1993) Women in Ancient Egypt, London.
- Robins, G. (1994) "Review: R. M. Janssen & J. J. Janssen, Growing Up in Ancient Egypt", JEA 80: 232-235.
- Robins, G. (1994-1995) "Women and Children in Peril: Pregnancy, Birth and Infant Mortality in Ancient Egypt", *KMT* 5 (4): 24-35.
- Robins, G. (1997) The Art of Ancient Egypt, London.
- Robins, G. (2001) "Women", in OEAE 3: 510-516.
- Robinson, W. C. (1986) "High fertility as risk insurance", PS 40: 289-298.
- Roeder, G. (1959) Hermopolis 1929-1939. Ausgrabungen der Deutschen Hermopolis-Expedition in Hermopolis, Ober-Ägypten, Hildesheim.
- Rose, J. C. (1996) (ed.) Bioarchaeology of Ancient Egypt and Nubia: A Bibliography, London.
- Rose, J. C., G. J. Armelagos & J. W. Lallo (1978) "Histological enamel indicator of childhood stress in prehistoric skeletal samples", *AJPA* 49: 511-516.
- Rose, J. C., P. H. Benoit, T. L. Tucker & W. M. van Haarlem (2008) "Tell Ibrahim Awad: Biorchaeology, dental microwear and post-mortem chemical deposition", in B. Midant-Reynes & Y. Tristant (eds.) Egypt at its Origins 2. Proceedings of the International Conference "Origin of the State. Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt", Toulouse (France), 5th-8th September 2005, Leuven: 983-990.
- Rose, L. (1986) The Massacre of the Innocents: Infanticide in Britain 1900-1939, London.
- Rose, M. (2004) "Caring for the Dead", Archaeology 57 (2): 30-35.
- Rossenberg, E. van (2008) "Infant/Child burals and social reproduction in the Bronze Age and Early Iron Age (c. 2100-800 BC) of central Italy", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford: 161-173.
- Roth, A. M. (1992) "The *psš-kf* and the 'Opening of the Mouth' ceremony: A Ritual of Birth and Rebirth", *JEA* 78: 113-147.
- Roth, A. M. (1993) "Social Change in the Fourth Dynasty: The Spatial Organisation of Pyramids, Tombs and Cemeteries", *JARCE* 30: 33-55.
- Roth, A. M. (1995) A Cemetery of Palace Attendants, Boston.
- Roth, E. A. (1992) "Applications of demography models to palaeodemography", in S. R. Saunders & M. A. Katzenburg (eds.) *Skeletal Biology of Past Peoples: Research Methods*, New York: 175-188.

- Roveland, B. (2000) "Footprints in the clay: Upper Palaeolithic children in ritual and secular contexts", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 29-38.
- Rowland, J. M. (2003) "Trends in burial evidence: Evaluating expectations for the regional and temporal distribution of mortuary behaviour in Predynastic Egypt", in R. Ives, D. Lines, C. H. Naunton & N. Wahlberg (ed.) Current Research in Egyptology III, December 2001, University of Birmingham, Oxford: 63-68.
- Rowland, J. M. (2004) "The application of mortuary data to the problem of social transformation in the Delta from the terminal Predynastic to the Early Dynastic Period", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 859-880.
- Rowland, J. M. (2005) "The Transition to State Society in Egypt: Problems and Possibilities of Applying Mortuary Evidence", in A. Cooke (ed.) Current Research in Egyptology 2. January 2001, Oxford: 57-63.
- Rowland, J. M. (2006) "Grave consequences. Developing analytical methods to elucidate patterns of social differentiation at early Egyptian cemetery sites", in M. Bárta (ed.) The Old Kingdom Art and Archaeology. Proceedings of the conference held in Prague, May 31 June 4, 2004, Prague: 297-313.
- Rowland, J. M. (2007) "Death and the Origins of Egypt: Mortuary variability as an indicator of socio-political change during the Late Predynastic to Early Dynastic Period", in J.-C. Goyon & C. Cardin (eds.) Proceedings of the Ninth International Congress of Egyptologists, Grenoble, 6–12 September 2004, Leuven: 1629-1643.
- Sabry, S. (2010) "How poverty is underestimated in Greater Cairo, Egypt", EU 22 (2): 523-541.
- Sandison, A. T. (1980) "Frauenheilkunde und –sterblichkeit", in LÄ II: 295-297.
- Saunders, S. R. (2000) "Subadult skeletons and growth related studies", in M. A. Katzenberg & S. R. Saunders (eds.) *Biological Anthropology of the Human Skeleton*, New York: 135-161.
- Saunders, S. R., & L. Barrans (1999) "What can be done about the infant category in skeletal samples?", in R. D. Hoppa & C. M. Fitzgerald (eds.) *Human Growth in the Past: Studies from Bones and Teeth*, Cambridge: 183-209.
- Saunders, S. R., D. A. Herring & G. Boyce (1995) "Can skeletal samples accurately represent the living populations they come from?", in A. Grauer (ed.) *Bodies of Evidence: Reconstructing History through Skeletal Analysis*, New York: 69-89.
- Savage, S. H. (1995) Descent, power and competition in Predynastic Egypt: Mortuary Evidence from Cemetery N7000 at Naga-ed-Dêr, PhD. Thesis, Arizona State University.

S

- Savage, S. H. (1997) "Descent Group Competition and Economic Strategies in Predynastic Egypt", *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 16: 226-168.
- Saxe, A. A. (1970) Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices, Michigan.
- Scheuer, L. & S. Black (2000a) "Development and ageing of the juvenile skeleton", in M. Cox & S. Mays (eds.) *Human Osteology in Archaeology and Forensic Science*, London: 9-21.
- Scheuer, L., & S. Black (2000b) Developmental Juvenile Osteology, San Diego & London.
- Schiffer, M. (1976) Behavioral Archaeology, New York.
- Schlereth, T. J. (1990) Cultural History and Material Culture. Everyday Life, Landscapes, Museums, Ann Arbor.
- Schmidt, D., S. Hummel & B. Herrmann (2003) "Brief communication: Multiplex X/Y-PCR improves sex identification in aDNA analysis", *AJPA* 121: 337-341.
- Schneider, T. (2006) "The Relative Chronology of the Middle Kingdom and the Hyksos Period (Dyns.12-17)", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 168-196.
- Schultz, M. (1997) "Microscopic Structure of Bone", in W. D. Haglund & M. H. Sorg (eds.) Forensic Taphonomy: The Postmortem Fate of Human Remains, Boca Raton: 187-199.
- Schulz, F., K. Puschel & M. Tsokos (2005) "Postmortem fetal extrusion in a case of maternal heroin intoxication", *Forensic Science, Medicine and Pathology* 1: 273–276.
- Schutkowski, H. (1993) "Sex determination of infant and juvenile skeletons: I. Morphognostic features", *AJPA* 90: 199-205.
- Schutkowski, H. (2008) "Introduction", in H. Schutkowski (ed.) *Between Biology and Culture*, Cambridge: 1-11.
- Schwartz, L. L., & N. K. Isser (2000) Neonaticide, Infanticide, and Filicide, Boca Raton.
- Schwartz, J. (2006) "'Reduce, Reuse, Recycle.' Prolegomena on breakage and repair in ancient Jewish society: Broken beds and chairs in Mishnah Kelim", *Jewish Studies Internet Journal* 5: 147-180.
- Schwartzman, H. B. (2006) "Materializing Children: Challenges for the Archaeology of Childhood", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) Children in Archaeology: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 123-131.
- Scott, E. (1997) "Introduction: On the Incompleteness of Archaeological Narratives", in J. Moore & E. Scott (eds.) *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood Into European Archaeology*. London & New York: 1-12.
- Scott, E. (1999) The Archaeology of Infancy and Infant Death, Oxford.
- Scott, E. (2001) "Unpicking a Myth: the infanticide of female and disabled infants in antiquity", in G. Davies, A. Gardner & K. Locyer (eds.) TRAC 2000: Proceedings of the Tenth Annual Theoretical Roman Archaeology Conference, held at the

- Institute of Archaeology, University College London, 6^{th} - 7^{th} April 2000, Oxford: 143-152.
- Scrimshaw, S. C. M. (1984) "Infanticide in Human Populations: Societal and Individual Concerns", in G. Hausfater & S. B. Hrdy (eds.) *Infanticide: Comparative and Evolutionary Perspectives*, New York: 439-462.
- Sear, R., F. Steele, I. A. McGregor & R. Mace (2002) "The effects of kin on child mortality in rural Gambia", *Demography* 39: 43-63.
- Searle, J. R. (1995) The Construction of Social Reality, Hammondsworth.
- Seeher, J. (1992) "Burial customs in Predynastic Egypt: A view from the Delta", in E. C. M. van den Brink (ed.) The Nile Delta in Transition: 4th-3rd Millenium B.C.; Proceedings of the Seminar held in Cairo; 21.-24. October 1990 at the Netherlands Institute of Archaeology and Arabic Studies, Tel Aviv: 225-233.
- Seidlmayer, S. J. (1998) "Egypt's Path to Advanced Civilization", in R. Schulz & M. Seidel (eds.) Egypt: The World of the Pharaohs, Cologne: 9-23.
- Seidlmayer, S. J. (2001) "Die Ikonographie des Todes", in H. Willems (ed.) Social Aspects of Funerary Culture in the Middle and Old Kingdoms, Leuven: 103: 205-252.
- Seidlmayer, S. J. (2006a) "The Relative Chronology of Dynasty 3", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 116-123.
- Seidlmayer, S. J. (2006b) "The Relative Chronology of the First Intermediate Period", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 159-167.
- Selye, H. (1973) "The evolution of the stress concept", American Scientist 61: 692-699.
- Shackel, P. A. (2000) "Craft to wage labor: Agency and resistance in American historical archaeology", in M.-A. Dobres & J. Robb (eds.) *Agency in Archaeology*, London: 233-246.
- Shanks, M., & C. Tilley (1982) "Ideology, symbolic power and ritual communication: a reinterpretation of Neolithic mortuary practices", in I. Hodder (ed.) *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, Cambridge: 129-154.
- Shanks, M., & C. Tilley (1987) Social Theory and Archaeology, Cambridge.
- Shepherd, G. (2007) "Poor little rich kids? Status and selection in archaic Western Greece", in S. Crawford & G. Shepherd (eds.) *Children, Childhood and Society*, Oxford: 93-106.
- Sherman, D. K., & G. L. Cohen (2006) "The psychology of self-defense: Self-affirmation theory", *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 38: 183-242.
- Sherman, W. H. (2008) Used Books: Marking Readers in Renaissance England, Philadelphia.
- Sherratt, A. (1993) "The Relativity of Theory", in N. Yoffee, N. & A. Sherratt (eds.) Archaeological Theory: Who Sets the Agenda? Cambridge: 119-130.
- Shilling, C. (1993) The Body and Social Theory, London.

- Siegel, P. E., & P. G. Roe (1986) "Archaeo-Ethnography: Site Formation Processes and Archaeological Interpretation", WA 18 (1): 96-115.
- Simpson, W. K. (2003) The Literature of Ancient Egypt. An Anthology of Stories, Instructions, Stelae, Autobiographies, and Poetry, Cairo.
- Smith, B. H. (1991) "Standards of human tooth formation and dental age assessment", in M. A. Kelley & C. S. Larsen (eds.) *Advances in Dental Anthropology*, New York: 143-168.
- Smith, H. S. (1972) "Society and settlement in ancient Egypt", in P. J. Ucko, R. Tringham & G. W. Dimbleby (eds.) *Man, Settlement and Urbanism*, Cambridge, Mass.: 705-719.
- Smith, P., & G. Khalia (1992) "Identification of infanticide in archaeological sites: A case study from the Late Roman-Early Byzantine periods at Ashkelon, Israel", *Archaeological Science* 19: 667-675.
- Sofaer, J. R. (2006a) The Body as Material Culture: A Theoretical Osteoarchaeology, Cambridge.
- Sofaer, J. R. (2006b) "Gender, Bioarchaeology and Human Ontogeny", in R. Gowland & C. Knüsel (eds.) Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains, Oxford: 155-167.
- Sofaer, J. R. (2011) "Towards a Social Bioarchaeology of Age", in S. C, Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 285-311.
- Sørenson, M. L. S. (1988) "Is there a feminist contribution to archaeology?", ARC 7 (1): 31-50.
- Sørenson, M. L. S. (1997), "Reading dress: the construction of social categories and identities in Bronze Age Europe", *Journal of European Archaeology* 5 (1): 93-114.
- Sowada, K. (2010) "Forgotten Cemetery F at Abydos and Burial Practices of the Late Old Kingdom", in A. Woods, A. McFarlane & S. Binder (eds.) Egyptian Culture and Society. Studies in Honour of Naguib Kanawati, Volume 2, Cairo: 219-232.
- Spencer, A. J. (1993) Excavations at el-Ashmunein III: The Town, London.
- Spieser, C. (2008) "Cercueils d'enfants dans l'Égypte ancienne et tardive", in F. G. Jener, S. Muriel & C. Olària (eds.) Nasciturus, infans, puerulus vobis mater terra: la muerte en la infancia, Castellón: 501-538.
- St. Hoyme, L. E., & M. Y. İşcan (1989) "Determination of Sex and Race: Accuracy and Assumptions", in M. Y. İşcan & K. A. R. Kennedy (eds.) *Reconstruction of Life From the Skeleton*, New York: 53-93.
- Staski, E., & L. D. Sutro (1991) "The ethnoarchaeology of refuse disposal: Current research and future prospects", in E. Staski & L. D. Sutro (eds.) *The Ethnoarchaeology of Refuse Disposal*, Arizona: 1-4.
- Stevens, J. M. (1975) "Gynaecology from ancient Egypt: The Papyrus Kahun. A translation of the oldest treatise on gynaecology that has survived from the ancient world", *The Medical Journal of Australia* 2: 949-952.
- Stevenson, A. (2006) Gerzeh, an Egyptian cemetery shortly before history, London.

- Stevenson, A. (2009a) "Social Relationships in Predynastic Burials", JEA 95: 175-192.
- Stevenson, A. (2009b) The Predynastic Egyptian Cemetery of el-Gerzeh. Social Identities and Mortuary Practices, Leuven.
- Stinson, S. (1985) "Sex differences in environmental sensitivity during growth and development", YPA 28: 123-147.
- Stojanowski, C. M., R. M. Seidemann & G. H. Doran (2002) "Differential Skeletal Preservation at Windover Pond: Causes and Consequences" *AJPA* 119: 15-26.
- Stone, A. C., G. R. Milner, S. Pääbo & M. Stoneking (1996) "Sex determination of ancient human skeletons using DNA", *AJPA* 99: 231-238.
- Stone, L. (1979) The Family, Sex and Marriage in England 1500-1800, Harmondsworth.
- Stoodley, N. (2002) "Multiple Burials, Multiple Meanings? Interpreting the Early Anglo-Saxon Multiple Interment", in S. Lucy & A. J. Reynolds (eds.) *Burial in Early Medieval England and Wales*, London: 103-121.
- Stoof, M. (1978) "Die Darstellung des Kindes im alten Ägypten", Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift. Gesellschafts- und sprachwissenschaftliche Reihe 27: 115-121.
- Storey, R., & P. A. McAnany (2006) "Children of K'axob. Premature Death in a Formative Maya Village", in T. Ardren & S. R. Hutson (eds.) *The Social Experience of Childhood in Ancient Mesoamerica*, Boulder: 53-72.
- Strasser, S. (1999) Waste and Want: A Social History of Trash, New York.
- Strauss, C. (1977) "Ertrinken", in LÄ II: 17-19.
- Strouhal, E. (1992) Life in Ancient Egypt, Cambridge.
- Strouhal, E., & L. Bares (1992) Secondary cemetery in the mastaba of Ptahshepses at Abusir, Prague.
- Strudwick, N. C. (2005) Texts from the Pyramid Age, Leiden.
- Stutz, L. N. (2008) "More than Metaphor: Approaching the Human Cadaver in Archaeology", in F. Fahlander & T. Oestigaard (eds.) *The Materiality of Death:* Bodies, Burials, Beliefs, Oxford: 19-28.
- Sundick, R. I. (1978) "Human skeletal growth and age determination", *Homo* 29: 228-249.
- Sutter, R. (2003) "Nonmetric subadult skeletal sexing traits: I. A blind test of the accuracy of eight previously proposed methods using prehistoric known-sex mummies from Northern Chile", *JFS* 48: 1-9.
- Swinton, J. (2010) "Decoding Old Kingdom Wall Scenes: Force-Feeding the Hyena", in A. Woods, A. McFarlane & S. Binder (eds.) Egyptian Culture and Society: Studies in Honour of Naguib Kanawati, Volume 2, Cairo: 233-245.
- Szpakowska, K. (2008) Daily Life in Ancient Egypt, Malden.

Tainter, J. A. (1975) "Social Inference and Mortuary Practices: An Experiment in Numerical Classification", WA 7 (1): 1-15.

- Tainter, J. A. (1978) "Mortuary practices and the study of prehistoric social systems", in M. B. Schiffer (ed.) *Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory*, Volume 1, New York: 105-141.
- Tait, J. (2003) "Introduction "...Since the Time of the Gods", in J. Tait (ed.) 'Never Had the Like Occurred'. Egypt's View of its Past, London: 1-13.
- Takamiya, I. H. (2000) "[Settlement Patterns of the Naqada Culture. A Reconstruction from Cemeteries in the Badari Region, Middle Egypt][Japanese]", Bulletin of the Society for Near Eastern Studies in Japan (Nippon Oriento Gakkai) 43 (1): 1-18.
- Takita, Y. (2008) Departures, Shochiku Distributions, Tokyo.
- Tambiah, S. J. (1979) "A performative approach to ritual", *Proceedings of the British Academy* 65: 113-169.
- Tarlow, S. (1999) Bereavement and Commemoration. An Archaeology of Mortality, Oxford.
- Taylor, J. (2001) Death and the Afterlife in Ancient Egypt, London.
- Thomas, A. P. (1987) "Grave H45 at el Mahasna", DE 9: 55-62.
- Thomas, A. P. (2004) "Some comments on the predynastic cemetery at el Mahasna", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 1041-1054.
- Thomas, A., P. Chambon & P. Murail (2011) "Unpacking burial and rank: the role of children in the first monumental cemeteries of Western Europe (4600-4300 BC)", *Antiquity* 85: 772-786.
- Thomas, K. (2006) "The "Nature" of Childhood: Ethnography as a Tool in Approaching Children in Archaeology", in J. E. Baxter (ed.) Children in Archaeology: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood, Arlington: 41-50.
- Thomson, A. (1899) "The Sexual Differences of the Foetal Pelvis", *Journal of Anatomy and Physiology* 33: 359-380.
- Tibbetts, B. (2008) "Infant burials in Iron Age Britain", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory, Oxford: 189-194.
- Tilley, C. (1994) A Phenomenology of Landscape: Place, Paths and Monuments, Oxford.
- Tillier, A.-M. (2008) "Early deliberate child burials: Bioarchaeological insights from the Near Eastern Mediterranean", in K. Bacvarov (ed.) *Babies Reborn: Infant/Child Burials in Pre- and Protohistory*, Oxford: 3-14.
- Tonkinson, R. (1988) "'Ideology and domination' in Aboriginal Australia: A Western Desert test case", in T. Ingold, D. Riches & J. Woodburn (eds.) *Hunters and Gatherers*, Volume 2: *Property, Power and Ideology*, New York & Oxford: 150-164.
- Tooley, A. M. J. (1991) "Child's toy or ritual object?", GM 123: 101-107.
- Tooley, M. (1983) Abortion and Infanticide, Oxford.

- Trigger, B. G. (1979) "Egypt and the Comparative Study of Early Civilizations", in K. Weeks (ed.) Egyptology and the Social Sciences, Cairo: 23-56.
- Trigger, B. G. (2006) A History of Archaeological Thought, 2nd Edition, Cambridge.
- Trigger, B. G. (2007) "Cross-Cultural Comparison and Archaeological Theory", in L. Meskell & R. W. Preucel (eds.) A Companion to Social Archaeology, Malden: 43-65.
- Tringham, R. (1994) "Engendered places in prehistory", *Gender, Place and Culture* 1 (2): 169-203.
- Tringham, R. (1995) "Archaeological houses, housework and the home", in D. N. Benjamin, D. Stea & D. Saile (eds.) *The Home: Words, Interpretations, Meanings and Environments*, Aldershot: 79-107.
- Tucker, T. L. (2003) "Bioarchaeology of Kafr Hassan Dawood: Preliminary Investigations", in Z. Hawass (ed.) Egyptology at the Dawn of the Twenty-First Century: Proceedings of the Eighth International Congress of Egyptologists, Cairo 2000, Volume I: Archaeology, Cairo: 530-535.
- Turke, P. W. (1989) "Evolution and the demand for children", PDR 15: 61-90.
- Tyldesley, J. (1994) Daughters of Isis: Women of Ancient Egypt, London.
- Tylor, J. J., & F. L. Griffith (1894) The Tomb of Paheri at Elkab, London.

U

- Ubelaker, D. H. (1999) *Human Skeletal Remains: Excavation, Analysis, Interpretation*, 3rd Edition, Washington DC.
- Ucko, P. J. (1969) "Ethnography and the Archaeological Interpretation of Funerary Remains", WA 1 (2): 262-280.
- University of Oxford, Online Egyptological Bibliography, http://oeb.griffith.ox.ac.uk, accessed 2008–2011.
- Uphill, E. P. (2001) Egyptian Towns and Cities, Princes Risborough.

V

- Verner, M. (2006) "Contemporaneous Evidence for the Relative Chronology of Dynasties 4 and 5", in E. Hornung, R. Krauss & D. A. Warburton (eds.) *Ancient Egyptian Chronology*, Leiden: 124-143.
- Vinz, H. (1970) "Die Änderung der Festigkeitseigenschaften des kompakten Knochengewebes in Laufe der Altersentwicklung", *Morphologisches Jahrbuch* 115: 257-272.
- Vlassoff, C. (1990) "The value of sons in an Indian village. How widows see it", PS 44: 5-20.
- Voland, E. (1989) "Differential parental investment: some ideas on the contact area of European social history and evolutionary biology", in V. Standen & R. A. Foley (eds.) Comparative Socioecology: The Behavioural Ecology of Humans and Other Animals, Oxford: 391-403.

Voland, E., E. Siegelkow & C. Engel (1991) "Cost/benefit oriented parental investment by high status families: The Krummhörn case", ES 12: 105-118.

\mathbf{W}

- Wahrman, D. (2004) The Making of the Modern Self: Identity and Culture in Eighteenth-Century England, New Haven.
- Waldron, T. (1987) "The relative survival of the human skeleton: Implications for palaeopathology", in A. Boddington, A. N. Garland & R. C. Janaway (eds.) Death, Decay and Reconstruction: Approaches to Archaeology and Forensic Science, Manchester: 55-64.
- Waldron, T. (2001) Shadows in the Soil: Human Bones and Archaeology, Stroud.
- Waldron, T. (2007) St. Peter's, Barton-upon-Humber, Lincolnshire: A Parish Church and its Community, Volume 2: The Human Remains, Oxford.
- Walker, P. L. (1995) "Problems of preservation and sexism in sexing: Some lessons from historical collections for palaeodemographers", in S. R. Saunders & A. Herring (eds.) Grave Reflections: Portraying the Past through Cemetery Studies, Toronto: 31-47.
- Walker, P. L., & D. Collins-Cook (1998) "Brief communication: Gender and sex: Vive la différence", *AJPA* 106: 255-259.
- Walter, T. (1996) "A new model of grief: Bereavement and biography", *Mortality* 1 (1): 7-25.
- Walter, T. (2007) "Modern grief, postmodern grief", *International Review of Sociology* 17 (1): 123-134.
- Washington, H. C. (1994) Wealth and Poverty in the Instruction of Amenemope and the Hebrew Proverbs: a comparative case study in the social location and function of ancient Near Eastern wisdom literature, Atlanta.
- Watterson, B. (1991) Women in Ancient Egypt, Stroud & New York.
- Weaver, D. S. (1980) "Sex differences in the ilia of a known sex and age sample of fetal and infant skeletons", AJPA 52: 191-195.
- Weaver, D. S. (1998) "Forensic Aspects of Fetal and Neonatal Skeletons", in K. J. Reichs, K.J. (ed.) Forensic Osteology: Advances in the Identification of Human Remains, Springfield: 187-203.
- Weeks, K. R. (1979) "Art, Word and the Egyptian World View", in K. Weeks (ed.) Egyptology and the Social Sciences, Cairo: 59-81.
- Weeks, K. R. (2008) "Archaeology and Egyptology", in R. H. Wilkinson (ed.) *Egyptology Today*, Cambridge: 7-22.
- Weinstein, J. M. (1973) Foundation Deposits in Ancient Egypt, PhD. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania.
- Weiss-Krejci, E. (2011) "The Formation of Mortuary Deposits. Implications for Understanding Mortuary Behaviour of Past Populations", in S. C. Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 68-106.

- Welinder, S. (1998) "The cultural construction of childhood in Scandinavia 3500 BC-1350 AD", Current Swedish Archaeology 6: 185-204.
- Wendorf, F. W. (1968) "Site 117: a Nubian Final Palaeolithic graveyard near Jebel Sahaba, Sudan", in F. W. Wendorf (ed.) *The Prehistory of Nubia*, Dallas: 954-995.
- Wendorf, F. W., & R. Schild (1986) The Wadi Kubbaniya Skeleton: A Late Paleolithic Burial from Southern Egypt, Dallas.
- Wengrow, D. (2006) The Archaeology of Early Egypt, Cambridge.
- Wengrow, D., & J. Baines (2004) "Images, human bodies and the ritual construction of memory in late Predynastic Egypt", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins. Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference "Origin of the State. Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt", Kraków, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 1081-1113.
- Wenke, R. J. (1985) "Excavations at Kom el-Hisn, 1984", NARCE 129: 1-11.
- Wenke, R. J. (1997) "Anthropology, Egyptology, and the Concept of Cultural Change", in J. Lustig (ed.) *Anthropology and Egyptology: A Developing Dialogue*, Sheffield: 117-136.
- Wetering. J. van, & G. J. Tassie (2003) "Socio-political hierarchy in First Dynasty Sites: A ranking of East Delta cemeteries based on grave architecture", in A. K. Eyma & C. J. Bennett (eds.) A Delta-man in Yebu: Occasional Volume of the Egyptologists' Electronic Forum, Boca Raton: 123-146.
- Whale, S. (1989) The Family in the 18th Dynasty of Egypt, Sydney.
- Wheeler, S. M. (2009) Bioarchaeology of infancy and childhood at the Kellis 2 cemetery, Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt, PhD. Thesis, University of Western Ontario.
- White, E. M., & L. A. Hannus (1983) "Chemical Weathering in Archaeological Soils", AA 48 (2): 316-322.
- White, T. D., & P. A. Folken (1999) Human Osteology, 2nd Edition, New York.
- Wildung, D. (2003) "Looking back into the future: The Middle Kingdom as a bridge to the past", Trans. F. Handley, in J. Tait (ed.) 'Never Had the Like Occurred'. Egypt's View of its Past, London: 61-78.
- Wileman, J. (2005) Hide and Seek. The Archaeology of Childhood, Stroud.
- Wilfgong, T. G. (2001) "Marriage and Divorce", in *OEAE* 2: 340-345.
- Wilkie, L. (2000) "Not Merely Child's Play: Creating a Historical Archaeology of Children and Childhood", in J. S. Derevenski (ed.) *Children and Material Culture*, London: 100-113.
- Wilkinson, T. (2001) Early Dynastic Egypt, London & New York.
- Willems, H. (1988) Chests of Life: a Study of the Typology and Conceptual Development of Middle Kingdom Standard Class Coffins, Leiden.
- Willems, H. (1996) The Coffin of Heqata (Cairo JdE 36418): A Case Study of Egyptian Funerary Culture of the Early Middle Kingdom, Leuven.

- Willems, H. (2001a) "The social and ritual context of a mortuary liturgy of the Middle Kingdom (CT Spells 30-41)", in H. Willems (ed.) Social Aspects of Funerary Culture in the Middle and Old Kingdoms, Leuven: 253-372.
- Willems, H. (2001b) "Preface", in H. Willems (ed.) Social Aspects of Funerary Culture in the Middle and Old Kingdoms, Leuven: v-viii.
- Willems, H., M. de Meyer, D. Depraetere, C. Peeters, S. Hendrickx, T. Herbich, D. Klemm, R. Klemm, L. Op de Beeck & M. Depauw (2004) "Preliminary Report of the 2002 Campaign of the Belgian Mission to Deir al-Barsha", *MDAIK* 60: 237-283.
- Williams, B. B. (1994) "Security and the problem of the city in the Naqada Period", in D. P. Silverman (ed.) For His Ka. Essays Offered in Memory of Klaus Baer, Chicago: 271-283.
- Williamson, L. (1978) "Infanticide: An anthropological analysis", in M. Kohl (ed.) *Infanticide and the Value of Life*, New York: 61-75.
- Wood, C. S. (1983) "Early childhood: The critical stage in human interactions with disease and culture", *Social Science and Medicine* 17: 79-85.
- Wood, J. W., G. G. Milner, H. C. Harpending & K. M. Weiss (1992) "The osteological paradox: problems of inferring prehistoric health from skeletal samples", *CA* 33: 343-370.
- Wylie, A. (1991) "Gender theory and the archaeological record; why is there no archaeology of gender?", in J. M. Gero & M. W. Conkey (eds.) *Engendering Archaeology: Women and Prehistory*, Oxford: 31-54.

Y

- Yacoub, F. (1983) "Excavations at Tûra el-Asmant", JSSEA 13 (2): 103-106.
- Yacoub, F. (1988) "Excavations at Tûra El-Asmant. From the Old Kingdom to the Greco-Roman Period. Seasons 1965–1966", ASAE 67: 193-211.
- Young, B., & D. Papadatou (1997) "Childhood Death and Bereavement Across Cultures", in C. M. Parkes, P. Laungani & B. Young (eds.) Death and Bereavement Across Cultures, London: 191-205.
- Youssef, M. (1996) "A preliminary report on a new archaic mastaba at Saqqara", GM 152: 105-108.

Z

- Zeid, F. A (2004) "The predynastic cemetery of el-Adwa", in S. Hendrickx, R. F. Friedman, K. M. Ciałowicz & M. Chłodnicki (eds.) Egypt at its Origins: Studies in Memory of Barbara Adams. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Origin of the State: Predynastic and Early Dynastic Egypt', Krakow, 28th August 1st September 2002, Leuven: 199-211.
- Zelizer, V. A. (1985) Pricing the Priceless Child: The Changing Social Value of Children, New York.

- Zeller, A. C. (1987) "A role for women in hominid evolution", Man 22 (3): 528-557.
- Zillhardt, R. (2009) Kinderbestattungen und die soziale Stellung des Kindes im Alten Ägypten unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Ostfriedhofes von Deir el-Medine. Göttinger Miszellen: Beihefte 6, Göttingen.
- Zuckerman, M. K., & G. J. Armelagos (2011) "The Origins of Biocultural Dimensions in Bioarchaeology", in S. C. Agarwal & B. A. Glencross (eds.) *Social Bioarchaeology*, Chichester: 15-43.

"Parmi ces cadavres était celui d'une petite fille que ses parents n'avaient pas voulu laisser partir pour l'autre monde sans la munir au moins d'un scarabée et d'une autre amulette, voulant préserver leur petite enfant des dangers du grand voyage. Pauvres gens!"

"Among these bodies was that of a small girl whose parents had not wanted to let go to the next world without at least providing her with a scarab and one other amulet, wanting to keep their small child safe from the dangers of the great journey. Poor people!"

- Amélineau (1899: 31).